
 
 

 

 
Meeting of:   

 
Council 

Date: Wednesday, 16th December, 2020 
Time: 6.00 pm. 
Venue: Virtual meeting 

 
This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by 
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. 

Item 
No. 

AGENDA Page No 

1   Mayor's Communications   

 The Civic Mayor to make any appropriate announcements.  

2   Apologies   

 To receive any apologies for absence.  

3   Declarations of Interest   

 Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 

or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 

those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 

of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.    

 

4   Minutes  11 - 14 

 To authorise the signing of the minutes of the meeting of the Council 

held on 14 October 2020. 

 

5   Motions   

 To consider the following four motions. 

 

Motion 1 

Councillor O'Neil to move, Councillor Dutton to second. 

 

Public Document Pack



 

This council notes:  

1. On Tuesday 6 October, the Trade Union Conference (TUC) 

received a letter from the Department for Education saying that 

ministers have decided to end the Union Learning Fund from 

March 2021. 

2. The Union Learning Fund (ULF) was set up in 1998 to support 

trade unions to widen access to learning and training in 

workplaces for both union members and non-members. The 

fund supports workplace projects across England, and is 

coordinated by the TUC. 

3. Each year around 200,000 workers are supported into learning 

or training with union support through the ULF and the TUC. 

These learners undertake all sorts of job-relevant learning and 

training, including basic literacy and numeracy, ICT skills, 

apprenticeships and traineeships, vocational training, continuing 

professional development and many other informal and formal 

courses. 

4. In 2019–20, the ULF was worth £12m. If upheld this decision 

will effectively end union-brokered skills training, and will 

undermine key government skills and retraining priorities at a 

crucial moment for our economy.  

  

This council understands that: 

1. Union learning reaches people that other Department for 

Education programmes do not reach.  

2. There is an independent evaluation of the Union Learning Fund 

every two years. It was most recently evaluated by the 

University of Exeter in 2018. They spoke to 2,459 learners, and 

found: 

 Over two-thirds (68 per cent) of learners with no previous 

qualifications got a qualification. 

 47 per cent of those with entry level or level 1 

qualifications got a qualification at a higher level. 

 Four in five (80 per cent) said they had developed skills 



 
 

that they could transfer to a new job. 

 Two in three (62 per cent) said their new skills made 

them more effective in their current job. 

 One in five (19 per cent) said they had been promoted or 

given increased responsibility and one in 10 (11 per cent) 

got a pay rise. 

 

3. The 2018 independent evaluation found that union learning 

provided excellent value for money: 

 For every £1 spent on the Union Learning Fund, there is 

a return of £12.30: £7.60 to the worker, £4.70 to the 

employer. 

 The Union Learning Fund delivers an estimated net 

contribution to the economy of more than £1.4bn as a 

result of a boost to jobs, wages and productivity. 

 The return to the exchequer (through reduced spending 

on welfare benefits and other factors resulting from the 

boost to jobs and wages) is £3.57 for each £1 spent on 

the Union Learning Fund. 

 The £12m government funding levered in an additional 

£54m from employers, unions and training providers in 

2019–20. 

 

4. The government has said it will put reskilling workers at the 

heart of its economic recovery plans after the pandemic. In 

September 2020, the government announced a new fully 

funded entitlement to achieve a first level 3 qualification, 

delivered through the National Skills Fund. Union learning is 

ideally placed to support this aspiration, in two ways: 

 Directly, through delivering relevant level 3 courses to 

workplace learners, which is already a core function of 

the Union Learning Fund and was assessed as highly 

effective by the 2018 independent evaluation. 

 Directly, through enabling those with basic skills to learn 

and develop, putting them in a position to progress to 



level 3 skills. 

 

5. Successive governments of all parties have valued this role – 

and have supported the Union Learning Fund. As government 

funding, it is paid as a contract and is subject to stringent 

monitoring requirements. Union Learning Fund money can only 

be spent on the direct costs of getting working people into 

learning and skills training, and the associated costs of 

delivering this programme. 

6. ULF projects adapted quickly to delivering online learning and 

training for workers during the pandemic and have actually 

surpassed the number of outcomes expected by government 

since the beginning of April. 

 

This council resolves to: 

1. Express its public support for the continuation of the Union 

Learning Fund.  

2. Ask the Chief Executive to write to both local MPs and 

encourage them to call on the government to reverse its 

decision  

3. Ask the Chief Executive to make public the responses of local 

MP's at the next full council meeting. 

 

Motion 2 

Councillor Susan Smith to move, Councillor Meredith to second.  

 

This Council notes that in the face of continued uncertainty and 

disruption this means that sufficient funding and resources are made 

readily available to the NHS and other care providers to enable the 

delivery of care packages and programmes that work effectively and 

which work alongside existing health and social care services, thereby 

properly responding to people’s urgent mental health needs in these 

difficult times we are currently facing and in the months and years 

ahead. 



 
 

 

A considerable weight of evidence  has been gathered  to demonstrate 

the deleterious impact of Covid-19 on people’s mental health and 

wellbeing, together with the a huge psychological impact that is 

brought to bear on those people who are already adversely affected by 

mental health issues. This also includes children, who may feel 

particularly vulnerable at this time, and, it should be noted, there is 

evidence of increasing incidences of children who are self-harming and 

developing conditions such as severe anxiety and stress – which often 

require treatment. 

 

According to a recent survey on mental health provision, 98% of 

people who are currently suffering from a mental health condition have 

stated that their mental health has deteriorated since the onset of 

Covid-19. This is putting a huge strain on our already struggling 

medical and social services.  

 

The Council resolves that the Chief Executive write to the Secretary of 

State requesting the government intervene and prioritise the nation’s 

mental health; that the government take into account the large and 

increasing numbers of mental health issues are happening during the 

ongoing Covid-19 pandemic. The Council requests that the 

government is made fully aware of the negative impact that these 

issues are having on people, their families and also the additional 

strain that is being brought to bear on the National Health Service, 

especially at this current time when their resources are stretched close 

to breaking point. 

 

Motion 3 

Councillor Blundell to move, Councillor Dearnley to second 

 

This Council believes that the first duty of Members of the Council is to 

represent the citizens of the Borough who elected them and to act as 

their advocates in accessing Council services or raising complaints 

when something goes wrong.  



  

The Council is concerned that Members are not always able to 

effectively carry out this important cornerstone of democracy, because 

the Council’s procedures on handling Members’ requests for 

information are being operated in an overly restrictive way, is not 

transparent, are not aligned with the arrangements for dealing with 

Member enquires or service complaints.  

  

The Council acknowledges that members and officers must comply 

with data protection laws, but we believe the current balance of rights 

and responsibilities under Council procedures needs to be adjusted to 

allow Members to do their job in the best interests of the citizens of the 

borough. 

 

The Council therefore instructs the Chief Executive Officer to work with 

elected members to establish a working group including the members 

moving this motion to investigate these concerns, review the Council’s 

procedures and to make recommendations to Council and/or Cabinet 

as appropriate.  

 

Motion 4 

Councillor Davidson to move, Councillor David Bamford to second. 

 

This Council is committed to making our Borough a safer place for 

everyone. 

Council notes: 

 

Public sexual harassment is the most common form of violence 

against women and girls, restricting their freedom of movement and 

expression; That in surveys two-thirds of women and girls report they 

have faced street harassment in the UK; 

 That street harassment in the UK is not covered by any specific 

offence, unlike in Portugal, Belgium and France. 



 
 

 That stopping street harassment would be a powerful step in 

tackling inequality and keeping women safe. 

 The incredible work of Our Streets Now, and their petition which 

has attracted over 200,000 signatures to make street 

harassment a specific crime. 

 That according to a report by Our Streets Now, only 14 per cent 

of pupils have been taught about public sexual harassment at 

school, and that 47 per cent of them would not report an 

incident of public sexual harassment to their school because 

they were afraid or feared they would not be taken seriously by 

staff. 

 

Council recognises: 

 That we must create an environment where street harassment 

is seen and policed as a crime, and where girls feel safer on our 

streets. 

 That we need to work together with our schools to ensure that 

anyone who is harassed will feel confident that their report will 

be treated with the respect, care and seriousness that is 

required. 

 That changing the law, and education for our young people, are 

key planks in combating street harassment, establishing safer 

streets, and delivering equality. 

 

Council resolves to: 

 Promote the Our Streets Now campaign to make street 

harassment a crime, and encourage all elected members, and 

residents to sign the petition. 

 Ask the Chief Executive to write to the Home Secretary to ask 

her to make street harassment a specific crime. 

 Ask the Chief Executive to write to the two MPs who cover the 

Borough, and the Mayor of Greater Manchester / Police and 

Crime Commissioner, to ask them to show their support for this 

campaign by signing the petition and by lobbying ministers to 



make street harassment a specific crime. 

 Ask all schools colleges in the Borough to each develop a clear 

policy on tackling harassment, separate to their bullying policy. 

 Ask all local schools to include education around public sexual 

harassment as part of their PSHE education. 

 Ensure that the recommendations of the Our Schools Now 

report are communicated to schools with a view to integrating 

their recommendations into their PSHE teaching.  

6   Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026  15 - 69 

 To consider for approval the Authority’s Statement of Licensing Policy 

2021 – 2026. 

 

7   2040 Transport Delivery Plan/District Local Implementation Plan  70 - 677 

 To consider the 2040 Transport Delivery Plan/District Local 

Implementation Plan 

 

8   Appointment of Director of Commissioning /Director of Adult 

Social Services ('DASS')  

678 - 679 

 To consider the appointment of a Director of Commissioning  

9   Appointment of Independent Person  680 - 682 

 To consider the appointment of an Independent Person.   

10   Cabinet Portfolios and Responsibilities 2020/21  683 - 699 

 To receive notification of changes to Cabinet portfolios.  

11   Calculation of 2021-22 Taxbase  700 - 706 

 To consider the attached report of the Cabinet Member for Corporate 

Delivery / Chief Finance Officer. 

 

12   Council Tax Empty Property Charges  707 - 709 



 
 

 To consider the attached report of the Cabinet Member for Corporate 

Delivery / Chief Finance Officer. 

 

13   2021/22 Setting the Business Rate Base  710 - 714 

 To consider the attached report of the Cabinet Member for Corporate 

Delivery / Chief Finance Officer. 

 

 

Council Members 
Councillor Ali Ahmed Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed 
Councillor Shakil Ahmed Councillor Daalat Ali 
Councillor Sultan Ali Councillor David Bamford 
Councillor Tom Besford Councillor Jacqui Beswick 
Councillor John Blundell Councillor Malcolm Boriss 
Councillor Allen Brett Councillor Phil Burke 
Councillor Wendy Cocks Councillor Patricia Mary Dale 
Councillor Irene Davidson Councillor Ashley Dearnley 
Councillor Ray Dutton Councillor Neil Emmott 
Councillor Susan Emmott Councillor Janet Emsley 
Councillor Richard Farnell Councillor James Gartside 
Councillor John Hartley Councillor Kieran Heakin 
Councillor Michael Holly Councillor Jean Hornby 
Councillor Aftab Hussain Councillor Peter Joinson 
Councillor Andy Kelly Councillor Peter Malcolm 
Councillor Donna Martin E Councillor Rachel Massey 
Councillor Alan McCarthy Councillor Daniel Meredith 
Councillor Amna Mir Councillor Kathleen Nickson 
Councillor Kallum Nolan Councillor Shaun O'Neill 
Councillor Liam O'Rourke Councillor Rina Paolucci 
Councillor Faisal Rana Councillor Aasim Rashid 
Councillor Linda Robinson Councillor Sara Rowbotham 
Councillor Peter Rush Councillor Billy Sheerin 
Councillor Angela Smith Councillor Susan Smith 
Councillor Patricia Sullivan Councillor John Taylor 
Councillor Carol Wardle Councillor Jane Warne 
Councillor Shah Wazir Councillor June West 
Councillor Donna Williams Councillor Peter Williams 
Councillor Peter Winkler Councillor Elsie Wraighte 
Councillor Sameena Zaheer Councillor Mohammed Zaman 
 

For more information about this meeting, please contact  
Alison James 
01706 924872 
committee.services@Rochdale.Gov.UK 



COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING 
Wednesday 14th October 2020 

 
PRESENT:  Councillor Sheerin (the Mayor in the Chair); Councillors Ali 
Ahmed, Iftikhar Ahmed, Shakil Ahmed, Daalat Ali, Sultan Ali, Bamford, 
Besford, Blundell, Boriss, Brett, Burke, Dale, Davidson, Dearnley, Dutton, 
Neil Emmott, Susan Emmott, Emsley, Gartside, Hartley, Heakin, Holly, 
Hussain, Joinson, Kelly, Malcolm, Martin, Massey, Meredith, Mir, Nolan, 
O'Neill, O'Rourke, Paolucci, Rana, Rashid, Robinson, Rowbotham, Rush,  
Angela Smith, Susan Smith, Sullivan, Taylor, Wardle, Warne, Wazir, West, 
Donna Williams, Peter Williams, Winkler, Wraighte, Zaheer and Zaman 
 
OFFICERS: S. Rumbelow (Chief Executive), G. Hopper (Director of Children’s 
Services), D. Wilcock (Assistant Director – Legal, Governance and 
Workforce/Monitoring Officer), M. Garraway, A. James, N. Suleman and P. 
Thompson (Resources Directorate) 
 

14 MAYOR'S COMMUNICATIONS 
The Mayor reminded the Council of the recent death of former Mayor and 
Freeman of the Borough Alan Whitehead who passed in July 2020. Members 
of the Council observed a period of silence in honour of his memory. 
 

15 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
There were no declarations of interests. 
 

16 APOLOGIES 
Apologies were received from Councillor Beswick, Councillor Cocks, 
Councillor Farnell, Councillor Hornby, Councillor McCarthy and Councillor 
Nickson 
 

17 MINUTES 
 
 Resolved:  
That the minutes of the meetings of Council held 15th July and 2nd September 
2020 be approved and signed by the Mayor as correct records. 
 

18 PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS 
There were no submitted questions or petitions. 
 

19 NOTICES OF MOTION 
Birthing Unit 

a. It was moved by Councillor Rana and seconded by Councillor Zaheer 
that: 

 
“This Council warmly congratulates the Pennine Acute Trust for listening to 
local residents and agreeing to set up a birthing centre at the Rochdale 
Infirmary.  
 

Page 10

Agenda Item 4



The Council further congratulates the Friends of Rochdale Maternity Care for 
leading the campaign to return maternity services to the borough.  
 
The midwife-led birthing centre is expected to open soon and will be important 
facility for expectant mothers who do not have the space or privacy for a home 
birth.  
 
The Council supports continued investment in NHS maternity services to 
provide the most expert and safest care for mothers and babies during 
childbirth. However it also recognises the need to provide local facilities for 
uncomplicated births for those mothers who would like to give birth at home 
but are unable to do so.” 
 
On being put the vote, the motion was carried and it was RESOLVED 
accordingly. 
 
Recover, Retrain, Rebuild 

b. It was moved by Councillor O’Rourke and seconded by Councillor 
Burke that: 

 
“This Council notes the scheme announced by the Chancellor of the 
Exchequer on 24/09/2020 whereby the Job Retention Scheme in place since 
March 2020 and October 2020, where the Government covered 80% of 
wages if workers could not work due to Covid-19 will cease, and a new 
scheme where 22% of wages will be covered as long as at least one third of 
normal hours are worked. 
 
The Council believes that while the Job Retention Scheme was a historic 
investment of taxpayers' money to avert widespread job losses, this massive, 
unprecedented investment will, essentially, go to waste as millions of people, 
including thousands in the Borough of Rochdale, who have suffered 
throughout the Covid-19 crisis, now face the very real prospect of 
unemployment as their jobs are not viable to return to at this moment in time 
under Covid-19.  
 
This Council believes that we need a strategy that focuses on recovering jobs, 
retraining workers and rebuilding our country. This strategy must involve: 

1) A job Recovery Scheme that allows staff to work reduced hours, with 
the Government subsidising a proportion of wages for the rest of the 
week. The scheme should be designed to reward companies who bring 
back more workers part-time, rather than bringing some back full-time 
and letting others go. 

2) A nationwide Retraining Strategy for the unemployed and those facing 
unemployment. This strategy must help those whose hours have been 
cut to increase their skills to retrain, and enable people who have lost 
jobs to transition into new work. 

3) A business Rebuilding Scheme which must give businesses, who have 
taken advantage of Government loan schemes, the payments for which 
start in March, the confidence and security that they will be able to 
continue operating past March 2021, or else a whole new set of 

Page 11



businesses and workers may well be pushed back underneath then. 
The Council therefore instructs the Chief Executive to write to the 
Prime Minister and the Chancellor of the Exchequer to revisit their 
scheme, work with business and trade unions and create one that will 
help our towns, borough and country recover, retrain and rebuild.” 

 
On being put the vote, the motion was carried and it was RESOLVED 
accordingly. 
 
Council Contacts 

c. It was moved by Councillor Howard and seconded by Councillor 
Paolucci that:  

“That the Council introduce a facility to offer all residents wishing to access 
the Council's services, the option of doing so by more traditional means, 
namely via the postal service and the telephone, alongside web access and e-
mail links. This would also be included in all of the authority's marketing 
materials thereby ensuring that no one in the Borough is excluded from 
accessing Council services, especially the elderly and vulnerable, whose 
access to and understanding of the Internet may be more limited.” 
 
On being put the vote, the Motion was carried and it was RESOLVED 
accordingly. 
 

20 NON-ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS 
The Council was requested to consider and authorise an absence from 
attendance at meetings in accordance with S85 (1) of the Local Government 
Act 1972. 
 
The Council was advised that where a member is unable to attend any 
meeting of the authority for a period of six consecutive months following the 
date of their last attendance, they automatically cease to be a member of the 
authority, unless Council has resolved to approve a reason for an extended 
absence. 
 
Resolved: 
That having regard to the circumstances of the absence of Councillors Farnell 
and Hornby from Council meetings, Council agrees to waive the requirements 
of Section 85 (1) of the Local Government Act 1972, within the Municipal 
Year, or until as such time as the Council is able to hold meetings in person, 
suitable equipment is sourced for the Members, or the Local Authorities and 
Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority and 
Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 2020 
revoked. 
 

21 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY - ANNUAL REPORT 2019/2020 
The Council considered the Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report for 
2019/2020. 
 
Resolved: 
That the Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report for 2019/2020 be noted. 

Page 12



 
22 AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20 

The Council considered the Audit and Governance Committee Annual Report 
2019/2020. 
 
Resolved: 
That the Audit and Governance Committee Annual Report 2019/2020 be 
noted. 
 

23 SPECIAL URGENCY DECISIONS 
The Council received a report which detailed executive decisions taken under 
special urgency provision, by the Chief Executive between February and 
October 2020.   
 
The Chief Executive had taken special urgent decisions, in accordance with 
the Council’s Constitution, in consultation with Portfolio Holders and the 
relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chair. Decisions taken during this 
period were as a result of the limitations for Cabinet and other bodies to meet 
due to the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
Resolved: 
That the report be noted. 
 

24 APPOINTMENT OF MONITORING OFFICER 
The Council was informed that the Authority’s Monitoring Officer would be 
retiring at the end of December 2020. The Council was required to appoint an 
appropriate Officer to discharge the statutory functions associated with the 
position of Monitoring Officer, pursuant to the Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989. A recruitment process to identify a successor had taken place 
during September and October 2020 and a preferred candidate was identified. 
 
Resolved: 
That Mr. Asif Ibrahim be appointed as the Council’s Monitoring Officer, in 
accordance with the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, with effect 
from 1st January 2021. 
 

Page 13



 

Report to Council 
 

 

Date of Meeting 16 December 2020 
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Healthy Lives 
Report Author Nicola Rogers 
Public Document Public 

 

 

Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 
 

 

Executive Summary 

 
1. 
 
 
 
1.1 
 
 
1.2 

The Council has to determine and publish a Statement of Licensing Policy 
every 5 years in order to meets its statutory obligations. The determination and 
publishing of such is required to be undertaken by January 2021.  
 
The purpose of the policy statement is to define how the responsibilities under 
the Licensing Act 2003 are going to be exercised and administered. 
 
To report on the consultation responses received on the Council’s draft 
Statement of Licensing Policy and seek agreement from members on 
amendments where necessary and to recommend adoption of the policy to full 
Council. 

 

Recommendation 

 
2. That Council adopt the amended Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026.   

 

Reason for Recommendation 

 
3. Councils have a statutory duty to prepare and publish a statement of principles 

that they propose to apply in exercising their functions under the Licensing Act 
2003. This is valid for a five year period and therefore the Council is require to 
review its policy statement every five years to meet its statutory requirements 
and adopt and publish a statement of Licensing Policy. The existing statement 
was effective from 31 January 2016. 

 

Key Points for Consideration 

 
4. 
 
 
 

The existing statement of Licensing Policy has been reviewed and updated. 
The changes, by way of additional / revised content to the draft policy, are 
highlighted in red.  
 

Page 14

Agenda Item 6



4.1 
 
 
 
 
 
4.2 
 
 
4.3 
 
 
4.4 
 
4.5 
 
 
 
4.6 

In order to comply with statutory requirements, the Council has consulted 
with the Responsible Authorities under the Act, national bodies, 
representatives of licensees, residents and with representatives of 
businesses. A list of consultees forms part of the draft statement of licensing 
policy.  
 
The consultation period was from 20 July 2020 and ended on 11 September 
2020. 
 
A total of 1 response was received, the contents of which have been duly 
considered. 
 
The amended draft statement of licensing policy is detailed in Appendix 1. 
 
The detail of the consultation response and the response to such is detailed in 
Appendix 2. 
 
Alternatives Considered 
None; it is a statutory duty for all Council’s to determine and publish its 
statement of Licensing Policy and there is no alternative option to this.  
 

 

Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5. There are no financial implications. 

 

Risk and Policy Implications 

 
6. 
 
 
 
 
 
6.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.2 
 
6.3 
 
 
6.4 
 
 

The Licensing Act 2003 established a single integrated system for licensing 
premises that are used for alcohol, entertainment and late night refreshment. 
Under this legislation, each local authority is known as the ‘licensing authority’ 
and is responsible for licensing alcohol, entertainment and late night 
refreshment in its geographical area. 
 
When preparing its licensing policy, the Council is required to have regard to 
the following: 

 Promoting the 4 licensing objectives, namely: (a) the prevention of 
crime and disorder; (b) public safety; (c) the prevention of public 
nuisance; and (d) the protection of children from harm; 

 Statutory guidance issued by the Secretary of State; and 

 The 2003 Act.  
 
The draft updated policy has been drafted taking these into account. 
 
There are no legal implications other than the statutory duty already identified 
in the report. 
 
There are no personnel implications. 
 

Page 15



Consultation 

 
7. As stated in paragraphs 4.2 to 4.6 above. 

 

Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 

8. None  

 

For Further Information Contact: Nicola Rogers, Tel: 01706 924124, 
nicola.rogers@rochdale.gov.uk 

 

Page 16



 

DRAFT Statement of 
Licensing Policy  
2021-2026 
Licensing Act 2003 

 
 

Page 17



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 1 

Document Control 

 

Document Title: Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 – 
Licensing Act 2003 
     
Summary 
 

Publication Date January 2021 

Related Legislation / Applicable Section 
of Legislation 

Licensing Act 2003 

Related Policies, Strategies, Guideline 
Documents 

Statement of Licensing Policy 

Replaces Statement of Licensing Policy 2016-2021 

Joint Policy (Yes/No) No 

Name of Partner(s) if joint  

Policy Owner (Name/Position) Nicola Rogers (Head of Public Protection) 

Policy Author (Name/Position) Jahangir Alom (Licensing Operational Manager) 

Applies to Licensing Act 2003 

 
 

Review of Strategy 
 

Last Review Date January 2021 

Review undertaken by Jahangir Alom 

Next Review Date 31 January 2026 

 

Document Approvals 
 
This document requires the following approvals. 
 

Name Title Date of Issue Version Number 

    

    

    

    

Page 18



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 2 

STATEMENT OF POLICY 
Under Section 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Contents 
Item Page 

1. Glossary 3 

Background   

2. Introduction 6 

3. Overview of this Policy 7 

4. Consultation on this Policy 7 

5. The Integration of Policies / Strategic Links 8 

6. Tackling Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) 8 

7. Authority Profile 9 

8. Scope / Context of the Policy and Operating Schedules 9 

9. Licensable Activities 12 

  

Licensing Objectives   

10. Licensing Objectives – Prevention of Crime & Disorder 14 

11. Licensing Objectives – Promoting Public Safety 19 

12. Licensing Objectives – Prevention of Public Nuisance 20 

13. Licensing Objectives – Protection of Children from Harm 25 

  

Other Important Information  

14. Planning & Licensing  28 

15. Provisional Statements 28 

16. Compliance and Enforcement 28 

17. Conditions 29 

18. Special Occasions 29 

19. Premises Licences  29 

20. Club Premises Certificates 29 

21. Temporary Events notices (TENS) 30 

22. Late Night Levy 31 

23. Early Morning Restriction Orders 31 

24. Suspension of Premises Licences/Club Premises Certificates 31 

25. Personal Licences 32 

26. Adult Entertainment  32 

27. Alcohol Delivery Services 32 

28. Large Scale Events 33 

29. Tables and Chairs on the Highway 35 

30. Film Classifications 35 

31. Counter Terrorism 36 

32. Public Health 36 

33. The Licensing Process 37 

  

Appendices  

Appendix A – Consultees & Responsible Authorities 39-42 

Appendix B – Exercise & Delegation of Functions 43-44 

Appendix C – Statutory Qualifying Conditions for Clubs 45-47 

Appendix D – The Hypnotism Act 1952: Conditions 48 

Page 19



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 3 

 
1.  GLOSSARY 
 
1.1 Act 
 The Licensing Act 2003 as amended. 
 
1.2 Applicant – within the statement of licensing policy may mean applicant, licence  holder, club 

premises certificate holder as appropriate 
 
1.3 Designated premises supervisor/DPS 

Designated person with day to day control in premises that sell alcohol (specified on  the 
Premises Licence)  
NB there is no requirement for a DPS in premises operated through a club premises certificate 

 
1.4 Other Persons - ‘Interested Parties’ 

 persons who live, or are involved in a business, in the relevant licensing authority’s area; 

 a member of the relevant licensing authority. 

 
1.5 Licensing Authority (the Authority) 
 Rochdale Borough Council. 
 
1.6 Licensing Objectives 

Licensing Authority must carry out its functions under the Licensing Act 2003 with a view to 
promoting the licensing objectives:  

 
 a) The prevention of crime and disorder 
 b) Public safety 
 c) The prevention of public nuisance and 
 d) The protection of children from harm. 
 
1.7 The Licensing Register 
 The Licensing Register contains details of all Premises Licences and Club Premises 
 Certificates. The register is available online at:  
 http://licensing.rochdale.gov.uk/1/WcaHome   
 
1.8 Operating schedule 

Document prepared by an applicant as an essential part of the application. It will detail the 
licensable activities to be carried out at the premises, the hours of  operation which may be different 
for different activities, the steps to be taken to support the licensing objectives and where alcohol is 
sold details of the designated premises supervisor. 

 
1.9 Relevant Representations 

There are various types of applications that can be made under the Act, and in most cases 
representations are invited in relation to them. However, to be considered by an Authority they must 
be ‘relevant representations’ as defined by the Act. 

 
 A ‘relevant representation’ is one that is made in writing and: 

 is about the likely effect of the licence on the promotion of the licensing objectives; 

 has been made by a responsible authority, or other person as defined by the 

Act, within the relevant time period as prescribed by regulation; 

 has not been withdrawn; and 

Page 20

http://licensing.rochdale.gov.uk/1/WcaHome


 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 4 

 has not been determined by the Licensing Authority as frivolous or vexatious or repetitious. 

 
1.10 Responsible Authorities – bodies defined within the Act as detailed at Appendix A. 
 
1.11 Secretary of State’s Guidance 

Guidance issued under Section 182 of the Act. To which the Licensing Authority must  have 
regard in discharging its duties. 

 
1.12 The Policy 

The Statement of Licensing Policy as produced by Rochdale Borough Council  Licensing 
Authority. 

 
1.13 Appendices 
 A) Consultees and Responsible Authorities 
 B) Exercise and Delegation of Functions 
 C) Statutory Qualifying Conditions for Clubs 
 D) The Hypnotism Act 1952: Conditions  
 
1.14 Consultees  
 A list of consultees can be found at Appendix A. 
  
 Further details about the licensing and application process, including application  forms and/or any 

related licensing matter, can be obtained from: 
 
 Rochdale Borough Council 
 Licensing Service 
 Number One Riverside 
 Smith Street 
 Rochdale  
 OL16 1XU 
 
 Telephone: 01706 924114 
 Email: licensing.reg@rochdale.gov.uk  
 Website: www.rochdale.gov.uk  
 
 
1.15 Useful web links 

http://licensing.rochdale.gov.uk/1/WcaHome - Rochdale Council’s Licensing Authority Public 
Register 

 www.rochdale.gov.uk  – Rochdale Borough Council website 
 www.gov.uk  – contains the Licensing Act 2003 and associated regulations 
 
 
1.17 Please Note: Whilst this policy endeavours to reflect the legal requirements of the Licensing Act 

2003, the Act rather than the Policy will be the definitive reference  source for such requirements.  
 
 

 
Page 21

mailto:licensing.reg@rochdale.gov.uk
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/
http://licensing.rochdale.gov.uk/1/WcaHome
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/
http://www.gov.uk/


 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 5 

 
 
 
 

Background 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 6 

2.0 INTRODUCTION  
 
2.1  Rochdale Borough Council is the Licensing Authority for the Metropolitan area of Rochdale under 

the provisions of the Act and is responsible for the regulation of licensing matters within the 
borough.  

 
2.2  The Act requires the Council to produce a Statement of Licensing Policy every 5 years. This policy 

was published on XXXXX and will be due for review no later than 31 January 2026. It can be 
reviewed at any time during the 5 year period, with any changes being subject to statutory 
consultation.  

 
2.3  The Policy is published under Section 5 of the Act and states how Rochdale Borough Council, as 

the Licensing Authority, will exercise its licensing functions in order to promote the four Licensing 
Objectives which are:  

 

 The prevention of crime and disorder;  

 The prevention of public nuisance;  

 Public safety; and  

 The protection of children from harm. 

 
2.4 Each licensing objective is considered to be of equal importance within this Policy. They will be 

considered in relation to matters centred on the premises or within the control of the licensee and 
the effect if any, which the carrying on of that business has on the vicinity. 

 
2.5 The Authority recognises that the entertainment/leisure industry is a major contributor to the 

economy and cultural development of the Borough. 
 
2.6 The Authority wishes to encourage licensees to provide a wide range of entertainment activities 

within the Borough throughout their opening hours and to promote live music, dance, theatre etc., 
for the wider cultural benefit of the community, and will seek to monitor the effects of licensing on 
these activities. 

 
2.7 The Authority will endeavour to carry out its licensing functions in a way that ensures public safety, 

supports well managed premises where licence holders display sensitivity to the potential impact of 
activities on local residents and other businesses, and protects residents from detrimental effects. 

 
2.8 The Authority will have regard to how littering and fouling, noise, street crime and the capacity of the 

Authority’s infrastructure, resources and police resources impact on the licensing objectives. 
 
2.9 In adopting this policy, the Authority recognises that each application will be considered on its 

individual merits. 
 
2.10 The Authority will work in partnership with the police, residents and all local businesses to promote 

the licensing objectives, and to implement strategies to achieve them. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 7 

3.0 OVERVIEW OF THIS POLICY 
 
3.1 The overall aim of this policy is to actively promote the Licensing Objectives. It seeks to provide 

information and guidance to applicants, responsible authorities and any person who may be affected 
or interested in licensing matters. It clarifies the manner in which the Council will consider 
applications and how it will approach matters relating to licensing. It will also set out what the 
Licensing Authority expects of licence holders and how they can contribute to the promotion of the 
Licensing Objectives  

 
3.2  In preparing and publishing this policy, the guidance issued by the Secretary of State for the Home 

Office under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 has been taken into account along with good 
practice advice issued by approved government advisory bodies. 

 
3.3 The policy has regard for the Council’s statutory responsibility under the Health and Social Care Act 

2012 for the health of the population of Rochdale and notes that it is a public health priority to 
reduce alcohol related harm. 

 
3.4  The policy also takes into account the Council’s statutory duty under the Crime and Disorder Act 

1998 to have regard to the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder, 
misuse of drugs and alcohol reoffending in the area. 

 
3.5 The Licensing Authority will always have regard for its obligations under the Equality Act 2010, and 

will ensure that the policy does not disproportionately impact any particular equality group. 
 
3.6 The Licensing Authority has taken account of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, 

the Live Music Act 2012 and the Deregulation Act 2015, which brought in legislative changes to the 
Act which have been reflected in this Policy. 

 
3.7 The Licensing Authority is committed to protecting children from harm and recognises how an 

effective licensing regime can assist and inform other agencies in helping to tackle child sexual 
exploitation (CSE). 

 
 
4.0 CONSULTATION ON THIS POLICY 
 
4.1 In accordance with Section 5(3) of the Act, the following were consulted in order to  

finalise this policy:  
 

 The Chief Officer of Police in Rochdale;  

 The local Fire Authority;  

 Public Health Department  Rochdale Borough Council 

 Such persons the Licensing Authority considers to be representative of holders of  

Premises Licences in Rochdale; 

 Such persons the Licensing Authority considers to be representative of holders of Club Premises 

Certificates in Rochdale;  

 Such persons the Licensing Authority considers to be representative of holders of Personal 

Licences issued in Rochdale; and 

 Such other persons the Licensing Authority considers to be representative of businesses and 

residents in Rochdale. 

4.2 A list of the consultees can be found at Appendix A.  

Page 24



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 8 

5.0 THE INTEGRATION OF POLICIES / STRATEGIC LINKS  
 
5.1 Whilst the overall aim of this Policy is to promote the Licensing Objectives, it is recognised that there 

are other key Council policies, Government and partnership agency policies in place, which also 
contribute to the Council Plan. This Policy integrates as far as reasonably possible with those 
strategies/policies, such as: 

 

 Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy 

 Enforcement Concordat 

 Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy  

 National Drug Strategy & Local treatment Plans 

 Safer Nightlife 

 LACORS/TSI Code of Practice on Test Purchasing 

 Culture and Tourism Strategies 

 Greater Manchester Local Transport Policy 

 Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and documents prepared as part of the Local Development 

Framework 

 Rochdale Borough current Community Strategy 

 Rochdale Borough Local Neighbourhood Renewal Strategy 

 Rochdale Borough Economic Strategy 

 
5.2 Licensing regulation also forms part of an overall strategy to address issues generated by licensed 

premises. Licensing will work in partnership with other Council departments and agencies with a 
view to promoting the Licensing Objectives. Other controls include: 

 

 Planning control; 

 Positive measures to create safe and attractive town and district centres;  

 Powers of the Council to designate public areas where the consumption of  

alcohol is not permitted;  

 The confiscation of alcohol from adults and children in designated areas; 

 Police enforcement of disorder and anti-social behaviour;  

 Prosecution of personal licence holders and staff for selling alcohol to persons who are under 

age or drunk;  

 Police powers to close down instantly any licensed premises on the grounds of disorder or 

likelihood of disorder or excessive noise emanating from the premises;  

 Powers of the Council under the Environmental Protection Act and Health and Safety at Work 

Act;  

 Power of a Responsible Authority, or other person to seek a review of a licence; and 

 Alcohol misuse and dependency/Reducing alcohol related harm 

 
 
6.0 TACKLING CHILD SEXUAL EXPLOITATION (CSE)  
 
6.1 The Licensing Authority is committed to protecting children from harm. It recognises that alcohol 

use, misuse and abuse is one of the recurring key ‘parental factors’ in child protection and 

Page 25



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 9 

safeguarding, often contributing to parental neglect of children and domestic abuse and violence 
within families. 

 
6.2 Alcohol is also reported as a factor in CSE. Young people are encouraged or coerced into drinking 

alcohol, leaving them vulnerable to perpetrators of CSE. Licensed premises have been implicated 
nationally in the involvement with CSE, either taking place on the licensed premises or the premises 
being used for the purposes of grooming and enticement. 

 
6.3 The Licensing Authority will report any issues of concern regarding the safeguarding of children to 

the appropriate safeguarding authorities and will act on any reports from them accordingly in relation 
to the promotion of the Licensing Objectives. Where there are serious concerns and/or any criminal 
investigations in relation to the abuse of children in connection with a licensed premises, serious 
consideration will be given to lodging a review of the premises licence / certificate as it relates to the 
negative impact on the Licensing Objectives and in particular crime and disorder and the protection 
of children from harm. 

 
6.4 The Licensing Authority expects licence holders and operators of licensed premises: 
 

 To understand that the sexual exploitation of a child is a criminal offence;  

 To ensure that they and their employees are fully aware of the signs of CSE and how to report it; 

 To report any concerns to the appropriate authorities or to the Licensing Authority who will then 

flag up their concerns to the relevant safeguarding professionals on their behalf.  

 
 
7.0 AUTHORITY PROFILE 
 
7.1 The Authority is one of the 10 Metropolitan Districts of Greater Manchester. 
 
7.2 Rochdale is a large market town in Greater Manchester. It lies amongst the foothills of the Pennines 

on the River Roch, 5.3 miles north-northwest of Oldham, and 9.8 miles north-northeast of the city of 
Manchester. The Borough of Rochdale has an approximately total population of 218,400 (ONS UK 
Census 2017) people. It occupies an area of 16,100 hectares and is based on the townships of 
Rochdale, Middleton, Heywood and Pennines.  

 
7.3 The Authority currently licences: 
 

 482 Premises Licences with Alcohol 

 124 Premises Licences without Alcohol 

 52 Club Premises Certificates with the provision for Alcohol 

 2632 Personal Licence Holders  

 
 
8.0 SCOPE / CONTEXT OF THE POLICY AND OPERATING SCHEDULES 
 
8.1 Applications for new premises licences or variations need to be supported by an operating schedule. 

The schedule must specify (amongst other things) the steps which the applicant proposes to 
promote each of the Licensing Objectives. 

 
8.2  If no relevant representation is made with regard to the application, the Authority must grant the 

application as set out in the operating schedule, subject only to mandatory conditions under the Act. 

Page 26



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 10 

Steps proposed by the applicant within the operating schedule will become licence conditions. The 
licensing authority will have no discretion to refuse the application or to alter or add to the conditions 
arising from the operating schedule. 

 
8.3 Where there are relevant representations, then a Licensing Sub-Committee Hearing will normally 

follow. The Licensing Sub-Committee must, having regard to the representation and take such steps 
as it considers appropriate to promote the Licensing Objectives. These may include refusing the 
application, or adding to or modifying the conditions proposed in the operating schedule. 

 
8.4 In exercising its discretion, the Licensing Sub-Committee will have regard (amongst other things) to 

this Policy. In preparing their operating schedule, applicants are advised to read the Policy carefully. 
Where an operating schedule complies with this Policy, it is generally less likely that a responsible 
authority or other person will object to it. Compliance with this Policy is likely to assist the applicant 
to avoid the delay and expense of a contested hearing and the risk of a refusal or the addition of 
unwanted licence conditions. 

 
8.5 This is not to say that an opposed application which complies with the Policy will necessarily be 

granted or that an opposed application which does not comply with it will necessarily be refused. 
Where there have been relevant representations, the Authority will always consider the merits of the 
case for the promotion of the Licensing Objectives. Blanket or standard conditions will not be 
applied without regard to the merits of the individual case.  

 
8.6 The Policy represents the Authority’s view of the best means of securing the Licensing Objectives in 

most normal cases. It has been drawn up in consultation with other expert bodies and responsible 
authorities, together with community stakeholders. While the contents of the operating schedule are 
a matter for the applicant, where there is objection to a schedule which departs from the Policy, the 
Licensing Sub-Committee hearing an opposed application will normally expect to be given a good 
reason for the departure if it is to be asked to make an exception to the Policy. 

 
8.7  In this Policy, there are a number of references to the licensing Authority’s expectations of 

applicants. As explained above, the Policy is only engaged where the Authority has a discretion 
following the receipt of objections. In such cases, the Authority will not apply the policy rigidly, but 
will always have regard to the merits of the case with a view to promoting the Licensing Objectives. 

 
8.8 Further, the licensing authority may use this Policy when exercising other licensing functions. For 

example, when considering an application for review of a licence, the Authority is likely to view with 
concern premises which are being operated in clear breach of the terms of this Policy. 

 
8.9 In undertaking its licensing functions, the Authority will be mindful of other legislation which may 

impact on the promotion of the Licensing Objectives, for example: 
 

 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 in particular Section 17; 

 Environmental Protection Act 1990 (as amended); 

 Noise Act 1996; 

 The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014; 

 Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 (including powers for the Local Authority to 

issued fixed penalty notices to licensed premises emitting noise that exceeds the permitted level 

between 11pm and 7am); 

 Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006; 

 Police and Crime Act 2009; 

Page 27



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 11 

 Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011; 

 Health Act 2006; 

 European Union Services Directives; 

 Human Rights Act 1998; 

 Equality Act 2010 

 
8.10 The Authority will not attempt to regulate matters that are provided for in other legislation through its 

licensing functions. Duplication with other legislation and regulatory agencies will be avoided as far 
as possible and conditions will only be attached to licences which are appropriate for the promotion 
of the Licensing Objectives.  

 
8.11  The Policy sets out a general approach to the making of licensing decisions that are compatible with 

the Licensing Act 2003 and the associated guidance. It does not prevent any individual from making 
any application and having it considered on its individual merits. Nor does it seek to override the 
right of any person to make representations on an application or to seek a review where the Act 
allows them to do so. When considering applications the Authority will take into account all relevant 
representations, and the measures to support the licensing objectives taken by or proposed by the 
applicant through the operating schedule. The Authority recognises that unless relevant 
representations are received in respect of an application there is no provision for the Licensing 
Authority, to refuse an application or impose conditions on a licence other than those proposed 
within the application. 

 
8.12 The Policy is integral in managing the role licensed premises play throughout the 

Borough. A key aim of the Policy is to ensure that licensed premises have a positive impact on their 
locality. The Authority is aware of the need to avoid the imposition of conditions and other controls, 
which could deter some forms of live entertainment. Only proportionate and reasonable controls that 
are appropriate for the promotion of the Licensing Objectives will be considered. 

 
8.13 The Policy aims to strike a balance between the safety and amenity of residents, visitors, 

businesses and those working or engaged in normal activity in and around the Borough. It seeks to 
support the Borough as a desirable destination for the widest range of user groups. In embracing a 
vision for the development of a successful and vibrant night time and evening economies, it will 
encourage an entertainment and cultural offer with a diverse range of activity rather than premises 
focused mainly or exclusively on the sale of alcohol. The Policy and seeks to support the philosophy 
of Purple Flag. 

 
8.14 The Policy cannot detail every factor that influences the achievement of the Licensing 

Objectives nor can it detail all the control measures that may be appropriate. Individual applicants 
and licence holders must consider the licensing objectives and control measures with regard to the 
particular nature of their business. Additional opportunities for licensable activities must be matched 
by appropriate and proportional measures to support the Licensing Objectives. 

 
8.15  The Policy is designed to deal with matters within the control of the licence/club certificate holder on 

and in the vicinity of their premises. It is not a mechanism for the general control of anti-social 
behaviour by individuals once they are beyond the direct control of the licensee or licensed 
premises. 

 
8.16 Whilst the policy is prepared for the Authority’s area it will also take account of the position in 

adjoining Authorities where common boundaries are relevant in licensing terms. 
 

Page 28



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 12 

8.17 In some cases additional licences may be required under separate legislation, for 
example, sexual entertainment venue licences etc. 

 
8.18 The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 and the Health and Social Care Act 2012, 

amends the 2003 Act so as to include a Local Authority’s ‘Public Health’ department as a 
responsible Authority. As a responsible authority, the Public Health department can make 
representations in relation to applications for the grant, variation, minor variation or review of 
premises licences and club premises certificates; in addition, public health may themselves seek a 
review of a premises licence. Any representation must be specific to the premises and cannot be a 
general objection. Representations should be evidence-based and should demonstrably refer to one 
or more of the Licensing Objectives. As there is no Licensing Objective relating to public health, the 
public health department must ensure representations are relevant to one of the four existing 
objectives. 

 
 
9.0 LICENSABLE ACTIVITIES  
 
9.1 This policy relates to the licensable activities defined by the Act, namely:- 
 

a) retail sales of alcohol 
b) the supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club 
c) the provision of regulated entertainment, being: 
 
i) performance of a play 
ii) exhibition of a film 
iii) an indoor sporting event 
iv) boxing or wrestling entertainment 
v) performance of live music 
vi) playing of recorded music (excluding incidental music) 
vii) a performance of dance 
viii) entertainment of a similar description to that falling within v, vi and vii) 

where the entertainment takes place in the presence of an audience. 
 

d) the provision of late night refreshment at any time between 11.00pm and 5.00am for 
consumption on or off the premises. 

 
9.2 The meaning of the licensable activity ‘regulated entertainment’ is complex and has been subject to 

a series of Government deregulation measures. It covers live or recorded music, dance, plays, films 
and some sporting activities, however there are a number of exemptions and restrictions on the 
types of activities subject to licensing. In addition to this the Deregulation Act 2015 and Live Music 
Act 2012 means that live and recorded music at certain times of the day and in certain 
circumstances (for audiences less than 500 people and/or that which takes place between 8am and 
11pm), is no longer regulated. 

 
9.3 An authorisation for regulated entertainment is however always required for all of the above 

activities that take place before 8am and after 11pm, unless exempted under any other provision of 
the Act. 

 
9.4 Please contact the Licensing Authority for further information on such matters: 

Telephone: 01706 924114 
 Email: licensing.reg@rochdale.gov.uk  

Page 29

mailto:licensing.reg@rochdale.gov.uk


 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 13 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Licensing Objectives 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 30



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 14 

10.0 LICENSING OBJECTIVE – PREVENTION OF CRIME AND DISORDER 
 
10.1 Personal Licences 
 
 The Licensing Authority recognises it has very little discretion regarding the granting of these 

licences.  In general, provided an applicant has a qualification determined by the Home Office and 
does not have certain criminal convictions, the application must be granted.  

 
 If an applicant has a relevant conviction the police can oppose the application.  If an objection is 

lodged by the police, a hearing of the Licensing Authority’s Licensing Sub-Committee will be held. 
(For further information on Personal Licences, please refer to paragraph 25.0).  

 
Policy 

 
 At that hearing the Authority will consider carefully whether the grant of the licence will be in the 

interests of the crime prevention objective. It will consider the seriousness and relevance of the 
conviction(s), the period that has elapsed since the offence(s) were committed and any mitigating 
circumstances.  The Authority will only grant the application if it is satisfied that doing so will promote 
this objective. 

 
Reason 

 
 Prevention of crime is both an objective of the Licensing Act 2003 and an important responsibility of 

the Council under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998.  A person holding a personal licence should be 
a person who is not only properly qualified but a person who will assist the fight against crime.  
Granting a licence to a known criminal will in many cases undermine rather than promote the crime 
prevention objective. 

 
10.2 Prevention of Crime 
 
 Policy 
 
 In appropriate cases, the Authority will expect the applicant to indicate in his/her Operating Schedule 

the steps proposed to prevent crime and disorder, such as: 
 

 Use of CCTV both within and outside the premises. 

 Metal detection and search facilities. 

 Measures to prevent the use or supply of illegal drugs. 

 Employment and regulation of licensed door supervisors and other appropriately trained staff. 

 Active participation in an appropriate Pub & Club Watch Scheme, or other scheme designed to 

ensure effective liaison with the local community, the relevant authorities and other licensees. 

 Participation in a local radio/pager link scheme. 

 A Dispersal Policy. 

 
This list is not exhaustive and is provided, simply, to provide examples of appropriate proposals for 
inclusion in an operating schedule. 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 15 

Reason 
 
Prevention of crime is both an objective of the Licensing Act 2003 and an important responsibility of 
the Council under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998.  It is important, therefore, that the applicant be 
able to demonstrate to the Authority the practical steps that will be taken to further this objective. 

 
10.3 Cumulative Impact  
 
 Policy  
 
 Where the Licensing Authority receives representations from a responsible authority or an interested 

party that the cumulative effect of new licences is leading to an area becoming saturated with 
premises making it a focal point for large groups to gather in and circulate away from, and that this 
is creating exceptional problems of disorder and/or nuisance over and above the impact of the 
individual premises, the Licensing Authority can properly consider whether or not the granting of an 
additional licence might lead to one or more of the Licensing Objectives being undermined.  

 
 That said, nothing in this policy will seek to limit the number of licensed premises simply because 

the Authority, any interested party or responsible authority considers that there are enough licensed 
premises to satisfy demand.  This is properly a commercial decision for the applicant. The Authority 
also recognises that the economic regeneration of an area can have positive effects on issues such 
as crime and disorder. 

 
 However, the Authority recognises that a potential cumulative effect of a proliferation of late night 

entertainment premises (including night cafes) may result in an increase in numbers of people either 
walking through or congregating in streets during the night and this in turn may have a number of 
undesirable consequences, as set out below: 

 

 An increase in crime against both property and persons 

 An increase in noise causing disturbance to residents 

 Traffic congestion and/or parking difficulties 

 Littering and fouling 

 
This may result in the amenity of local residents being placed under severe pressure, and it will not 
always be possible to attribute a particular problem to customers of particular premises.  This means 
that, whilst enforcement action to ensure conditions are complied with is taken, this may not resolve 
all problems. 
 
The Authority recognises that only a minority of consumers may behave badly. 

 
 It should be re-iterated that the Licensing Policy is only one means of addressing the problems 

identified above. Other mechanisms include: 
 

 Planning controls 

 Powers of local authorities to designate parts of the local authority area as places where alcohol 

may not be consumed publicly and confiscation of alcohol in these areas 

 Police powers to close down premises or temporary events on the grounds of disorder, the 

likelihood of disorder or excessive noise 

 Prosecution of personal licence holders who sell alcohol to people who are drunk 

Page 32



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 16 

 Powers of the Police, responsible authorities or local residents or businesses to seek a review of 

a premises licence or club certificate 

 Police enforcement of the general law concerning disorder and anti-social behaviour 

 Use of CCTV 

 Metal detection and search facilities  

 Minimising risks from drink promotions and similar  

 Drug control policies, including installation of drug safes  

 Use of trained security and other staff  

 Participation in local trade liaison schemes, such as Pub & Club Watch where available and 

including radio/communications schemes  

 Consideration of use of Anti-Social Behaviour Orders 

 Transport provision  

 
 Where there is evidence that a particular area of the district is already suffering adverse effects 

arising from the concentration of late night premises, or that residential areas are under stress, this 
will be taken into account in determining any further application for premises within any area 
identified. 

 
As such, the Authority will take into account: 

 

 The character of the surrounding areas 

 The impact of the licence on the surrounding area, both individually and cumulatively with 

existing licences; and 

 The nature and character of the proposed operation 

 
In considering all licence applications, the Authority will consider the adequacy of measures 
proposed to deal with the potential for nuisance and/or public disorder and to support the licensing 
objectives. 

 
 Reason  
 
 The ‘cumulative impact’ of the granting of an additional/variations to premises licences on the 

promotion of the Licensing Objective to prevent crime and disorder is a proper matter for the 
Licensing Authority to consider under this policy.  

 
However the policy will not seek to limit the number of licensed premises which will be permitted, 
simply because the Licensing Authority considers that there are already enough licensed premises 
to satisfy the demand.   

 
10.4 Special Saturation Policy 
 
 Policy 
 

The Licensing Authority will consider adopting a special saturation policy if it considers that an area 
is already saturated with licensed premises.  Before a Special Saturation Policy is adopted, the 
following must take place:- 

 

 Identification of concern about Crime and Disorder or Public Nuisance; 

Page 33



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 17 

 Consideration of whether it can be demonstrated that Crime and Disorder and nuisance are 

arising and are caused by the customers of licensed premises, and if so identifying the area 

from which problems are arising and the boundaries of that area; or that the risk factors are 

such that the area is reaching a point when a cumulative impact is imminent; 

 Consultation with those specified by section 5(3) of the 2003 Act as part of the general 

consultation required in respect of the whole statement of licensing policy 

 Subject to that consultation, inclusion of a special policy about the future premises licence or 

club premises certificate applications from that area within the terms of this licensing policy. 

 Publication of the Special Policy as part of this licensing policy. 

 
If a Special Saturation Policy is adopted, it will be reviewed every three years to see if it is still 
needed or it has had the desired effect. 
 
Reason   
 
This section provides the framework to facilitate the Licensing Authority adopting a special 
saturation policy where this is deemed necessary to support the licensing objective of preventing 
crime and disorder.  

 
10.5 Sex-Related Activities  
 
 Where the activities proposed under the licence include those of a sex-related nature (e.g. topless 

waitresses, striptease, table dancing) the Authority will take into account the increased risk to the 
licensing objectives.  For the sake of convenience the term “striptease” in this part of the policy 
should be taken to refer to any entertainment or service involving exposure of private parts or the 
sexual stimulation of patrons. 

 
 Policy  
 
 It will be the policy of the Licensing Authority not normally to grant licences which involve a sex 

related element near schools, churches, hospitals, youth clubs or other sensitive premises where 
significant numbers of children are likely to attend.   
Where such licences are granted it will impose conditions designed to ensure that children are not 
admitted to and cannot witness these activities and to prevent crime and disorder problems.  For 
example: 

 
The area proposed for striptease shall: 

 

 be in a position where the performance cannot be seen from the street; 

 be in a designated area of the premises with segregation from the audience; 

 be in a position where the performers will have direct access to the dressing room without 

passing through or in close proximity to the audience. 

 
 Whilst striptease entertainment is taking place no person under the age of 18 shall be on the 

licensed premises and a clear notice shall be displayed at each entrance to the premises in a 

Page 34



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 18 

prominent position, so that it can be easily read by persons entering the premises, in the following 
terms: 

 
NO PERSON UNDER 18 WILL BE ADMITTED 

 
To prevent the possibility of children seeing unsuitable advertising material the Policy of the 
Authority will be to attach a condition to the effect that “Except with the consent of the Licensing 
Authority there shall be no external advertising of the striptease entertainment either at the premises 
or in its immediate vicinity.” In considering the grant of applications involving striptease the Authority 
will also have regard to the increased risk of nuisance to nearby residents and will consider rejecting 
the application or attaching appropriate conditions. 

 
 Reason  
 
 These policies are designed to further the licensing objective of protecting children by preventing 

them being exposed to unsuitable material or acts.  They are also designed to further the crime 
prevention and prevention of nuisance objectives by recognising the increased risk of nuisance or 
illegal activities posed by such activities. 

 
10.6 Drugs  
 
 Almost every recent survey indicates that more people are taking illegal drugs and are using a wider 

range than ever before.  This is particularly true of what are often referred to as ‘recreational drugs’.  
Their misuse can hold grave dangers and has even led to fatalities.  

 
 Other factors may have contributed to these deaths, such as lack of drinking water, excessive 

drinking of water, an overly hot environment with inadequate ventilation, or a lack of adequate 
information about drugs. 

 
 Drugs alter the way people behave, so their distribution and possession is controlled by law.  

Controlled drugs are usually manufactured and supplied illegally, which attracts criminal involvement 
in their distribution.  Drugs manufactured illegally often vary in quality and strength.  This puts 
people taking such drugs in danger. 

 
 The Authority recognises that drug-use by young people in a club environment is not something that 

is relevant to all licensed premises.  However, many entertainment venues such as night clubs and 
dance venues can be popular both with drug misusers and suppliers, and there is evidence of 
increased use of drugs even in traditional community-type public houses. 

 
 Policy  
 
 The Authority will expect licensees of venues likely to be affected by drug issues to take all 

reasonable steps to prevent the entry of drugs into licensed premises, to take appropriate steps to 
prevent drugs changing hands within the premises and to take practical measures to prevent 
tragedies as a result of drug misuse. 

 
 In particular, the Authority will expect licensees of such venues to be familiar with the contents of 

Chapter 4 (drug awareness) of the BIIAB Level 2 National Certificate for Entertainment Licensees 
and to be following the recommendations of that handbook.  The Authority will also expect licensees 
to be following the best practice guide on safer nightlife which builds on the safer clubbing published 
by the Home Office. 

Page 35



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 19 

 
 It is hoped that licensees will follow these recommendations on a voluntary basis as failure to do so 

could lead to the licence being reviewed with the possibility of revocation.  In appropriate cases the 
Authority will consider imposing the recommendations detailed in these documents by way of 
licence conditions. 

 As part of the Operating Schedule for the premises, the Authority may require written drug control 
policies, which document the control measures in place. 
 
Reason  

 
 The purpose of this policy is to further the crime prevention objective and to ensure public safety by 

preventing a tragic loss of life caused by drug abuse, overheating and other factors. 
 
 
11.0 LICENSING OBJECTIVE – PROMOTING PUBLIC SAFETY 
 
11.1 Venue Safety 
 
 Policy  
 
 The Authority will expect the premises to be constructed and maintained to the highest possible 

standards of safety.  It will expect the applicant to have addressed the requirements of Health and 
Safety at Work and Fire Safety legislation and where appropriate the Technical Standards published 
by the District Surveyors Association. 

 
Premises with large areas of ceiling that are unsupported, e.g. domed or vaulted ceilings to 
premises such as theatres, cinemas, etc. may require specific structural assessments on a 
programmed basis. 

 
The Authority will also expect that Operating Schedules will contain the significant findings of the fire 
risk assessments, including such matters as emergency evacuation, staff training and systems for 
ensuring the adequacy of safety equipment where appropriate. 

 
The Authority will also expect the Operating Schedule to detail how the premises will be properly 
managed and maintained to ensure public and staff safety at all times. 

 
Reason 

 
 Public safety is a very important licensing objective as it is about protecting the safety and the lives 

of patrons.  It is the intention of the Authority that anyone visiting a licensed venue can do so in 
complete safety, confident that they are visiting premises that have been constructed with safety in 
mind and that are well managed and maintained.  

 
11.2 Hypnotism 
 
 Policy 
 
 If an applicant wishes to have any performance of stage hypnotism at any time this should be 

addressed in the Operating Schedule.  In the event of any performance of stage hypnotism the 
Authority will normally require written notification 8 weeks prior to the performance taking place.  

Page 36



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 20 

Where consent is given for this type of entertainment the council will impose specific licence 
conditions. 
 
Reason 

 
It is recognised that Hypnotism poses specific risks and therefore additional licensing conditions 
should be covered within the Operating Schedule, designed to ensure the safety of the audiences 
and in particular to ensure that children are not admitted to and cannot participate in such activities.   

 
 Examples of conditions relevant to Hypnotism can be found in Appendix D.  
 
11.3 Drugs 
 

The Authority recognises that the management of drug issues is relevant to the Licensing Objective 
to protect Public Safety.  However the council’s policy in respect of drugs issues is outlined in 
paragraph 10.6.  

 
 
12.0 LICENSING OBJECTIVE – PREVENTION OF PUBLIC NUISANCE 
 
12.1 Licensing Hours 
 
 Policy  
 

The Authority recognises that widespread fixed closing times in certain areas can lead to peaks of 
disturbance and disorder when large numbers of people emerge onto the streets at the same time.  
Flexible licensing hours, particularly where alcohol is involved, may therefore be an important factor 
in reducing friction at late night food outlets, taxi ranks and other late night services. 

 
The Authority accepts the principle of activity taking place over 24 hours and 7 days a week. 
 
No general restriction or limitation on hours in any area is imposed by this policy. 

 
The hours requested by the applicant will normally be approved where the applicant can show that 
the proposal would not adversely affect the environmental quality, residential amenity and character 
of any particular area, and that the licensing objectives would not, in any other way, be 
compromised. 

 
Shops, stores and supermarkets will generally be permitted to sell alcohol during the normal hours 
they intend to open for shopping.  However, in the case of individual premises which are a focus for 
disorder and disturbance then, subject to representations, limitations may be appropriate. 

 
It will be necessary for applicants, who wish to vary the hours during which alcohol is sold for 
consumption on the premises, to include in the Operating Schedule the times when the premises 
will open, when sales of alcohol will commence and cease, and the time when the premises will be 
closed. This will, in effect, facilitate “drinking up time”. 

 
Where late hours are requested, particularly involving entertainment, the imposition of conditions 
may be necessary to ensure the achievement of the Licensing Objectives. 
 
 

Page 37



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 21 

Reason 
This policy is aimed at the fulfilment of the licensing objective of “preventing public nuisance”. 

 
 
12.2 Location and Impact of Activity  
 

This part of the policy is concerned with whether a proposal is appropriate in a location with 
particular regard to the impact on any residential areas.  In most of the Borough, which is 
predominantly residential, the policy will in appropriate cases limit the normal hours of opening for 
new licensed activities to a maximum time which is no later than midnight. 
Later opening hours are considered to be acceptable, in principle, for premises in commercial areas 
with high levels of public transport accessibility.  However, in all cases, the granting of a licence will 
depend on impact of an activity, particularly on local residents.  It is necessary to consider, amongst 
other things, the level of impact that could arise from noise and vibration, litter, parking, people 
coming and going, transport, crowds and queuing; and whether any impact is particularly 
unacceptable late at night. 
 
Policy  
 
If relevant representations are received, the Authority will normally expect a closing time of no later 
than midnight for licensed premises in residential areas, but a later closing time may be permitted 
for premises located: 
 

 in predominantly commercial areas, 

 where there is a high level of accessibility to public transport services; and 

 where there is an appropriate amount of car parking, readily accessible to the premises, and in 

places where vehicular movement will not cause demonstrable adverse impact to local 

residents; and 

 the Operating Schedule submitted with the application indicates that the applicant is taking 

appropriate steps to comply with the licensing objective of preventing public nuisance. 

 
Exceptions may be made to permit a later closing time/earlier opening time where it can be 
demonstrated that: 
 

 the licensed activities would not be likely to cause adverse impact especially on local residents, 

and that, if there is a potential to cause adverse impact, appropriate measures will be put in 

place to prevent it; and  

 there will not be any increase in the cumulative adverse impact from these or similar activities, 

on an adjacent residential area. 

 
Reason 
 
This part of the policy dealing with opening hours is based on a broad distinction between the 
approach to be taken in certain predominantly commercial areas, like parts of the town centres, and 
the rest of the Borough.   
 
Any activity involving public entertainment or eating or drinking on the premises has the potential to 
impact adversely on the surrounding area due to noise, smells, or congestion on the footway.  It 
may also be caused by the customers being noisy when leaving, leaving litter or taking up on-street 

Page 38



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 22 

car parking space in close proximity to residential premises. The impact of noise generated by these 
activities, especially customers departing either on foot or in cars, is particularly intrusive at night 
when ambient noise levels are much lower.  

 
12.3  Management of Potential Noise Nuisances  
 

Policy  
 
The applicant will be expected to propose practical steps to prevent disturbance to local residents in 
appropriate cases.  In relation to noise from within the building the Authority will expect the applicant 
to have considered the likelihood of any sound leakage from the premises.  This noise could relate 
not only to music but also to equipment or patrons.  If there appears to be a potential for sound 
leakage the applicant will be able to address this in practical ways such as: 
 

 Keeping doors and windows closed and providing adequate mechanical ventilation. 

 Reducing sound levels and installing a sound-limiting device to prevent sound exceeding the 

appropriate level. 

 Installing soundproofing measures to contain sound and vibration. 

 
The Authority will expect popular venues, which attract queues, to formulate a system to avoid 
disturbance to residents.  This can sometimes be achieved by simply ensuring that the direction of 
the queue is away from residential accommodation.  
 
However, excessive noise and/or disorder require more rigorous action.  It is important that queues 
formed later in the evening are supervised to keep noise to a minimum.  This action can also help 
stop drug dealers from supplying drugs during the queuing process but the prime purpose is to 
prevent noise and disturbance.  Door supervisors will generally carry out this role, but they must be 
given clear instructions as to their duties and responsibilities and be adequately supervised. 

 
In terms of patrons leaving the premises, particularly late at night or early in the morning, the 
Authority will expect the applicant to have included in the Operating Schedule any practical steps 
considered appropriate, such as the examples given below, although there will be few premises that 
need to address all these: 

 

 Erecting prominent notices at the exits to premises asking customers to leave quietly and not 

to slam car doors. 

 At appropriate times using the PA system to make announcements to the same effect. 

 Instructing door staff to ask customers leaving the premises to leave the area quietly. 

 Reducing the volume of music towards the end of the evening and where appropriate playing 

quieter, more soothing music as the evening winds down. 

 Availability of licensed Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles to take patrons from the 

premises. 

 In appropriate cases door supervisors or a manager patrolling nearby streets to assess for 

themselves whether there is a problem and how best to deal with it. 

Page 39



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 23 

 Banning from the premises people who regularly leave in a noisy fashion. 

 Increasing outside lighting levels, where practicable without causing further nuisance. 

 Where there is a private forecourt, preventing patrons from using it for eating and drinking etc. 

after 11pm, or ensuring it is vacated 30 minutes before the terminal hour. 

 Ensuring that customers are not permitted to take open bottles or glasses of alcohol out of the 

premises.   

 Taking appropriate steps where necessary to deal with noxious smells and light pollution. 

 
Reason  

 
One of the greatest irritations to residents trying to sleep is the sound of music escaping from 
licensed premises.  Such an escape of sound might preclude the grant of a licence or, if one has 
already been granted, for it to be reviewed with a view to possible revocation.  It might also lead to a 
Noise Abatement notice being issued under the Environmental Protection Act by the responsible 
authority.  Responsible applicants and licensees will wish to avoid the need for such action, as they 
will wish to comply with the licensing objective of preventing public nuisance. 

 
There can be little doubt that a well-managed licensed venue can benefit the local community.  On 
the other hand, there is clearly a risk of local residents being disturbed, particularly if the venue is 
open late at night. 

 
This is because people leaving the premises, particularly late at night or in the early hours of the 
morning, can be a significant problem.  Customers may be less inhibited about their behaviour and 
may be unaware of the noise they are creating.  

 
The area will be generally quieter and any noise will, therefore, be amplified and provide more 
disturbance for residents.  Clearly a responsible applicant or licensee will wish to further the 
licensing objective of preventing public nuisance by introducing practical measures, such as those 
referred to above, to prevent such nuisance. 

 
12.4  Consideration of the Impact of Licensed Activities 
 
 Policy   
 

When considering whether any licensable activity should be permitted, on receipt of any relevant 
representations, the Authority will assess the likelihood of it causing unacceptable adverse impact, 
particularly on local residents, by considering the following factors amongst other relevant matters: 

 

 the type of use, the number of customers likely to attend the premises and the type of customers 

at the time of the application;  

 the proposed hours of operation; 

 the level of public transport accessibility for customers either arriving or leaving  premises and 

the likely means of public or private transport that will be used by the customers; 

 the means of access to the premises, which should have customer entrances on the principal 

pedestrian routes;   

Page 40



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 24 

 the cumulative impact of licensed premises in an area;  

 the scope for mitigating any impact; 

 how often the activity occurs.  

 
and, in considering any application for a premises which is already licensed, the Authority will take 
into account any evidence: 

 

 of past demonstrable adverse impact from the activity, especially on local residents;  

or 

 that, if adverse impact has been caused, appropriate measures have been agreed and put into 

effect by the applicant to mitigate the adverse impact.   If, however, such measures have not 

been put into effect or there has been insufficient time to assess them, this could impact on the 

determination of the application; 

 
or 

 of past history of the premises, where there have been no relevant complaints or problems. 

 
Reason 

 
The prime purpose of this part of the policy is to achieve the licensing objective of preventing public 
nuisance.  In furtherance of this aim the policy lists particular matters that the Authority will take into 
account in considering whether a licensed activity is likely to cause an adverse impact, particularly 
to local residents: 

  

 The precise nature of the activity, especially for entertainment, will be a factor in considering the 

impact, principally in terms of the age and orderliness of the customers. 

 Levels of noise from licensed premises, which may be acceptable at certain times of day, may 

not be acceptable later in the evening or at night when ambient noise levels are much lower. 

 The Authority's preference is to see licensed activities located in places where customers are not 

reliant on private car use, and can walk or use public transport. The Borough varies 

considerably.  In town centres, a high use of public transport could be expected by the 

customers of licensed premises but, even there, car use is likely to increase when activities go 

on very late.  Consequently, there could be unacceptable parking and traffic in nearby residential 

areas.    

 The main impact of customers arriving, queuing and leaving should be confined to principal 

pedestrian routes as far as possible.  It would not be appropriate, for instance, to have licensed 

activities which cause large numbers of people to exit into a residential area as opposed to a 

situation where pedestrian movement takes place directly to and from nearby public transport 

services. 

 Car parking by customers of licensed premises can be a serious problem.  This affects local 

residents in terms of noise and their ability to find a parking space, particularly after the hours 

when any controlled parking zones are in operation.  It can also affect the movement of essential 

traffic on primary routes and delay bus and emergency services.  When considering the possible 

impact on residents, the Authority will look at the area within which the impact could be 

experienced, in particular the likely distance at which most customers arriving by car would seek 

to park.  The potential parking area for major entertainments can be substantial.  

Page 41



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 25 

 
With any adverse impact it may be possible to take steps to mitigate or prevent the impact and if 
such measures are reliable an activity may be licensed.  In accordance with Government advice, the 
decisions taken by the Authority will obviously be focused on matters within the control of individual 
licensees, and others granted relevant permissions, and the steps they can take to achieve the 
licensing objectives.  Accordingly, these matters will centre on the premises and places being used 
for licensable activities and the likely impact of those activities on members of public living, working 
or engaged in normal activity in the area concerned.  
 
In taking its decisions the Authority accepts the difficulty a licence holder has in preventing anti-
social behaviour by individuals, once they are beyond the direct control of that licence holder. 
However, it will also take into account that the licensing objective of preventing public nuisance will 
not be achieved if patrons from licensed premises regularly engage in anti-social activities to the 
detriment of nearby residents or businesses. Furthermore it will also take into account its 
responsibility under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 to do all it can to prevent crime and disorder in 
the Borough. 

 
The aim of the policy is, therefore, to achieve a balanced approach to these difficult issues. 

 
12.5 Cumulative Impact 
 

The Authority recognises that the issue of Cumulative Impact is relevant to the     Licensing 
Objective to prevent Public Nuisance.  However the Authority’s Policy in respect of Cumulative 
Impact is outlined in paragraph 10.3. 

 
12.6  Special Saturation Policy 
 

The Authority recognises that Special Saturation Policies are relevant to the Licensing Objective to 
prevent Public Nuisance.  However the Authority’s Policy in respect of Special Saturation Policies is 
outlined in paragraph 10.4. 

 
 
13.0 LICENSING OBJECTIVE – PROTECTION OF CHILDREN FROM HARM 
 
13.1  Children  
 
 Policy  
 

The Authority recognises that the Act allows for the free access of children to all licensed premises, 
subject to the licensee’s discretion and any conditions applied to the licence. There is also the 
proviso that children under the age of 16 must be accompanied by an adult over the age of 18 on 
premises licensed to sell alcohol. 
The Authority will not impose any conditions which specifically require access for children to be 
provided at any premises.  Under normal circumstances access by children will remain a matter for 
the discretion of the individual licensee or club, subject to there being no conflict with the licensing 
objective to protect children from harm. 

  
When considering applications for premises licences, the Authority will take into account the history 
of a particular premises and the nature of the activities proposed to be provided when considering 
any options appropriate to prevent harm to children.  For example: 

 

Page 42



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 26 

 Where there have been convictions of members of the current staff for serving alcohol to minors 

or with a reputation for underage drinking 

 With a known association with drug taking or dealing 

 Where there is a strong element of gambling on the premises, or 

 Where entertainment of an adult or sexual nature is commonly provided 

 
In these circumstances, conditions may be attached to any licence to:- 

 

 Limit the hours when children may be present 

 Restrict the age of persons allowed on a premises 

 Limit or exclude when certain activities may take place, or 

 Require an accompanying adult. 

 
In premises showing films a mandatory condition will restrict access only to those who meet the 
required age limit in accordance with any certificate granted by the British Board of Film 
Classification or, in specific cases, a certificate given to the film by the Authority. 
 
Where large numbers of unaccompanied children are likely to be present, for example, a children’s 
show or pantomime, conditions may be imposed requiring the presence of an appropriate number of 
adult staff to ensure public safety and protection from harm.  
 
For the purpose of this policy, the Licensing Authority recognises the following body as “the 
responsible body” to advise on matters relating to the protection of children from harm: 
 
Rochdale Borough Council Safeguarding Children Unit 
Number One Riverside 
Smith Street 
Rochdale 
OL16 1XU 
 
Reason 
 
These policies are designed to allow flexibility for the licensee to ensure that, where appropriate, 
licensed premises are “user friendly” for children, but also to ensure that they are adequately 
protected. 

 
13.2 Sex- Related Activities  
 

The Authority recognises that the provision of sex related activities is relevant to the Licensing 
Objective to protect Children from Harm.  However the Authority’s Policy in respect of provision of 
sex-related activities is outlined in paragraph 10.5.  

 
13.3 Proof of Age  
 

The consumption of alcohol by people under the age of 18 is a serious problem that the Authority is 
keen to address. Licensees are, therefore, encouraged to seriously consider the adoption of a policy 
within their Operating Schedule for the production of proof of age by young people attempting to 
purchase alcohol. It is suggested that any scheme adopted should comply with the PASS 
accreditation system, and should include passports and photo-driving licences. 
 

Page 43



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 27 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Other Important 
Information 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 28 

14.0 PLANNING AND LICENSING  
 
14.1 There are a number of key differences between licensing and planning control. Licensing is 

concerned with the operation and management of the premises whereas planning control relates to 
the use of the premises. 

 
14.2 The Licensing Authority recognises that there should be a clear separation of the licensing, planning 

and building controls to avoid duplication and inefficiency. Licensing applications should not be seen 
as a re-run of any planning application. Licensing Committees are not bound by decisions made by 
a planning committee and vice versa. 

 
14.3 The granting of a premises licence does not negate the need to obtain the appropriate planning 

permission and/or building control approval. 
 
14.4 When exercising its licensing functions, the Licensing Authority will not be influenced by a question 

of need, unless there is a Cumulative Impact Policy in place for the area in which the premises is 
situated. The issue of whether or not there is a need for a particular premises is a commercial matter 
and not relevant to the Licensing Authority’s considerations. 

 
14.5 There may be circumstances when, as a condition of planning permission, a terminal hour has been 

set for the use of premises for commercial purposes. Where these hours are different to the licensed 
hours, the earlier closing time must be observed. Any premises operating in breach of their planning 
permission would be liable to enforcement action under planning law. 

 
14.6 Building Regulations govern a variety of issues which directly contribute to the Licensing Objectives, 

including means of escape, structural integrity, accessibility and public safety. Building Regulation 
Approval and Completion Certificates may be required prior to the use of the premises for licensable 
activities. 

 
 
15.0 PROVISIONAL STATEMENTS  
 
15.1  The Authority recognises that in certain situations businesses and developers need to have security 

that a premises licence is likely to be granted following construction of new premises or alteration of 
existing unlicensed premises. 

 
The Authority will issue provisional statements in accordance with the Act and guidance. 

 
16.0 COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT  
 
16.1 If the need arises enforcement action will be taken in accordance with the Authority’s agreed 

Enforcement Policy.  
 

A protocol on the implementation of a shared enforcement role between the Authority, GMP and 
other agencies has been agreed by all parties. 

 
In general terms, enforcement will be targeted on agreed problem, and high-risk, premises/activities 
which require greater attention. Premises which are well run and managed, and therefore present a 
lower risk, will enjoy a greater degree of self-regulation. 
 

 

Page 45



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 29 

17.0 CONDITIONS  
 
17.1 The Authority will, as far as it is possible to do so, avoid imposing disproportionate and over-

burdensome conditions on premises. The Authority does not propose to implement standard 
conditions of licence across the board, but instead will draw upon the Model Pools of Conditions 
issued by the Home Office and attach conditions as appropriate given the circumstances of each 
individual case, where relevant representations are received. 

 
The Authority reserves the right to require the use of Door Supervisors, in appropriate cases, in 
order to support the Licensing Objectives. 

 
The Authority accepts the principle that conditions should not be imposed on licences to deal with 
issues that can be the subject of enforcement using existing legislation. 

 
18.0 SPECIAL OCCASIONS  
 
18.1 The Authority will follow any licensing hours orders made by the Secretary of State as regards to 

any special occasion. 
 
19.0 PREMISES LICENCES  
 
19.1 The Authority expects that, normally, there will be at least one Personal Licence holder on any 

licensed premises when alcohol is being sold or supplied. 
 

The Authority also expects that, normally, premises providing entertainment, eg public houses, 
nightclubs, theatres, cinemas, etc, will have maximum capacities stated on the licences, to assist in 
the achievement of public safety, unless their Operating Schedules satisfy the Responsible 
Authorities that maximum capacities are not necessary. Such premises will also need to consider 
the provision of sufficient, adequately-trained first-aiders. 

 
If it is intended to provide “special-risk” entertainments, which involve pyrotechnics, smoke, vapour, 
strobe lighting, lasers, etc., then it will be expected that these would be taken into account within the 
Operating Schedule. 

 
20.0 CLUB PREMISES CERTIFICATES  
 
20.1 The Act recognises that premises, to which public access is restricted and where alcohol is supplied 

other than for profit, give rise to different issues for licensing law than those presented by 
commercial enterprises selling direct to the public. For this reason, it preserves aspects of earlier 
alcohol licensing law as it applied to “registered members clubs”. These clubs are organisations 
where members have joined together for particular social, sporting or political purposes and then 
combined to buy alcohol in bulk as members of the organisation for supply in that context. 

 
20.2 Clubs have traditionally not been “licensed” because “sales” do not take place there. The grant of a 

club premises certificate means that a qualifying club is entitled to certain benefits. These include:  
 

 the authority to supply alcohol to members and sell it to guests on the premises to which the 

certificate relates without the need for any member or employee to hold a personal licence;  

 the absence of a requirement to specify a designated premises supervisor;  

 more limited rights of entry for the police and authorised persons because the premises are 

considered private and not generally open to the public;  

Page 46



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 30 

 the club premises not being subject to police powers of instant closure on grounds of disorder 

and noise nuisance (except when being used under the authority of a temporary event notice or 

premises licence) because they operate under their codes of discipline and rules which are 

rigorously enforced; and  

 not being subject to potential orders of the magistrates’ court for the closure of all licensed 

premises in an area when disorder is happening or expected. 

 
20.3 Previously, registered members clubs also enjoyed another privilege of being outside the normal 

licensing regime: the freedom to sell alcohol to minors and allow them to consume it on the club 
premises. Although in recent years most clubs have operated voluntary rules which prohibit sales 
and supply of alcohol to those under 18 years old, the Act has removed this privilege and the sale or 
supply of alcohol to children in such clubs is now unlawful. 

 
20.4 The new authority for the supply of alcohol, and provision of other licensable activities on qualifying 

club premises, is a club premises certificate and this is issued by the Licensing Authority. 
 
20.5 The arrangements for applying for, or seeking to vary, club premises certificates are extremely 

similar to those in respect of a premises licence. Club Operating Schedules prepared by clubs, as 
with Operating Schedules for premises licences, must include the steps the club intends to take to 
promote the licensing objectives. These will be translated into conditions included in the certificate, 
unless the conditions have been modified by the Licensing Authority, following consideration of 
relevant representations by responsible authorities or interested parties. 

 
20.6 The legislation detailing the statutory qualifying conditions for clubs is provided at Appendix C. 
 
 
21.0 TEMPORARY EVENT NOTICES (TENS) 
 
21.1 If a licensable activity is planned to take place on none licensed premises, the organiser can submit 

a Temporary Events Notice (TEN). A TEN can also be used to include additional licensable activities 
or alter the hours of operation on licensed premises. They can cover any period up to 168 hours. A 
TEN has to be served on the Police, Environmental Health and the Licensing Authority at least 10 
working days prior to commencement of the event, a longer period is preferable wherever possible. 
There is nothing to prevent simultaneous notification of multiple events at a single time so long as 
the first event is at least 10 working days away and there must be at least 24 hours between events. 
Only the Police and Environmental Health can object to a TEN. 

 
21.2 Standard TENs must be given a minimum of 10 working days prior to the first day of the event and 

the Licensing Authority recommend that wherever possible notice-givers submit their TEN a 
minimum of 28 days prior to the commencement of the event. There is provision for making an 
application for a late TEN. Such applications may be made no earlier than 9 working days before the 
event and no less than 5 working days before the event. The Licensing Authority understands this to 
mean 9 or 5 clear days exclusive of the day on which the event is to start and exclusive of the day 
on which the notice is given. 

 
21.3 Where one or more of the relevant statutory limits are exceeded, the Licensing 

Authority will serve a Counter-Notice to prevent the licensable activities from going ahead. There is 
no provision under the Act to appeal against the issue of a Counter-Notice. 
 

Page 47



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 31 

21.4 Greater Manchester Police or the Council’s Environmental Health service can issue an objection 
notice. The Licensing Authority will consider any such notice at a hearing (unless the objection 
notice is withdrawn before the hearing date). The hearing will be confined to consideration of the 
Licensing Objectives and will be held in accordance with the procedure. There is no provision for a 
hearing in the case of a late TEN. 
 

21.5 The Licensing Authority will notify the applicant of its decision at least 24 hours before the beginning 
of the event period specified in the temporary event notice. Depending on the nature and location of 
such events, these can have serious crime and disorder implications. Whilst accepting that the 
statutory notification period is a minimum of 10 days organisers of these events are encouraged to 
submit their notification as soon as reasonably practicable to enable the Police and the Authority to 
work with them. 

  
22.0 LATE NIGHT LEVY 
 
22.1 The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 introduced Late Night Levies. A Late Night 

Levy (LNL) enables Licensing Authorities to raise a contribution towards the costs of policing the 
Night Time Economy by charging a levy on holders of Premises Licences and Club Premises 
Certificates authorised to sell alcohol. 
 
It would apply across the whole Borough and be applicable to any premises licensed to operate 
from a fixed time between 00.00 hrs – 06.00 hrs. 
 
Any consideration for the introduction of a LNL would be the subject of separate formal consultation 
and, if it is to be introduced, must be adopted at a meeting of the full Council.  

 
 
23.0 EARLY MORNING RESTRICTION ORDERS  
 
23.1 The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 also introduced Early Morning Restriction 

Orders (EMRO) which is a power enabling the Licensing Authority to prohibit the sale of alcohol for 
a specified time period between the hours of midnight and 6am in the whole or part of its area, if it is 
satisfied that this would be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

 
23.2 EMROs are designed to address recurring problems such as high levels of alcohol related crime 

and disorder in specific areas at specific times, serious public nuisance and other instances of 
alcohol related anti-social behaviour which is not directly attributable to specific premises.  

 
23.3 The Licensing Authority may consider whether an EMRO is appropriate once all other avenues to 

resolve problems associated with licensed premises and the promotion of the licensing objections 
have been exhausted. The EMRO can only be an appropriate step to promote the licensing 
objectives on the basis that it is reasonable, justified and proportionate in the circumstances. 

 
 
24.0 SUSPENSION OF PREMISES LICENCES/CLUB PREMISES CERTIFICATES 
 
24.1  The Licensing Authority is required to suspend a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate if 

the annual fee has not been paid when it is due. Where a Premises Licence or Club Premises 
Certificate has been suspended, no licensable activities can be lawfully carried out at the premises 
until the annual fee has been paid. The suspension will be lifted immediately upon payment of the 
fee and the licensable activities can be resumed. 

Page 48



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 32 

25.0  PERSONAL LICENCES 
 
25.1 The Authority recognises it has very little discretion regarding the granting of personal licences. In 

general, provided an applicant has a qualification determined by the Home Office and does not have 
certain criminal convictions, the application must be granted. A person holding a personal licence 
should be a person who is not only properly qualified but a person who will assist the police and 
relevant authorities in the fight against crime. Granting a licence to a person with a criminal history 
may in some cases undermine rather than promote the crime prevention objective. 

 
25.2 If an applicant has a relevant conviction the police can oppose the application. If an objection is 

lodged by the police, a Licensing Sub-Committee will be held. The Licensing Sub-Committee will 
consider carefully whether the grant of the licence will be in conflict with the crime prevention 
objective. It will consider the seriousness and relevance of the conviction(s), whether the conviction 
is classed as spent under the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (as amended) the period that has 
elapsed since the offence(s) were committed and any mitigating circumstances. The Authority will 
only grant the application if it is satisfied that doing so will promote this objective. A person holding a 
personal licence should be a person who is not only properly qualified but a person who will assist 
the fight against crime.  
 

25.3 Under the Deregulation Act 2015, any Personal Licence falling for renewal on or after 1st April 2015 
will not now require to be renewed. Personal Licences will now remain in force indefinitely, unless 
surrendered, forfeited etc.  

 
26.0 ADULT ENTERTAINMENT  
 
26.1  Rochdale Borough Council has adopted the provisions of Schedule 3 Local Government 

[Miscellaneous Provisions] Act 1982 and has a separate policy which relates to adult entertainment 
venues and activities. Therefore, additional licences may be required under separate legislation for 
sexual entertainment venues.   

 
 
27.0 ALCOHOL DELIVERY SERVICES 
 
27.1  The Licensing Authority considers there are particular risks associated with delivery services for 

alcohol. In accordance with current statutory guidance, “persons who run premises providing 
‘alcohol delivery services’ should notify the relevant licensing authority that they are operating such 
a service in their operating schedule. This ensures that the licensing authority can properly consider 
what conditions are appropriate. Premises with an existing premises licence, which choose to 
operate such a service in addition to their existing licensable activities, should contact their licensing 
authority for its view on whether this form of alcohol sale is already permitted or whether an 
application to vary the licence will be required”.  

 
27.2 The Licensing Authority expects measures consistent with standards expected for licensed 

premises as outlined under ‘Licensing Objectives’.  
 
27.3 In addition, the Licensing Authority expects operators to implement age-verification procedures at 

both the point of sale and delivery stages, with a Challenge 25 policy implemented at the point of 
delivery. 

 
27.4 Particular attention should be paid to making it clear to customers that receipt of orders that contain 

alcohol must be by an adult. Retailers should ensure that delivery staff have been given appropriate 

Page 49



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 33 

training in procedures relating to requesting and identifying proof of age, and implement these 
procedures as standard. 
 

27.5 Any promotional material including the name of the business and website should be consistent with 
the responsible sale of alcohol. Additionally, any website URL or telephone number to be used for 
orders is expected to be given to the Licensing Authority. 

 
27.6 The delivery of alcohol to problematic house parties causing local nuisance and disorder has been a 

problem in some areas of the Borough. Operators are expected to use their discretion to ensure that 
deliveries are refused in situations experiencing alcohol-related nuisance or disorder and to ensure 
that alcohol is not given to persons who appear drunk. 

 
27.7 Where the Authority’s discretion is engaged following relevant representations, conditions restricting 

the operation of alcohol delivery services may be imposed by the Authority / Responsible Authorities 
where appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

 
27.8 A zero-tolerance approach to new psychoactive substances (NPS) is also expected of operators. 
 
 
28.0 LARGE SCALE EVENTS  
 
28.1 The Authority considers that there are specific risks associated with the holding of large public 

events, such as concerts and festivals. Therefore, this section sets out particular expectations 
regarding how such events are expected to be managed.  

 
28.2 For licensable events where the capacity exceeds 499 a premises licence will need to be applied 

for. A premises licence can be time limited so that it is only in effect for the duration of the event. 
Open air events may range from relatively small local events, like fairs, which may last for four or 
five days, to major pop festivals lasting one or more days. Despite the temporary duration of such 
major events, they can attract huge crowds of tens of thousands of people and the risks to public 
safety and to crime and disorder as well as public nuisance may be considerable. A temporary event 
likely to attract more than 499 people will require an application for a premises licence and will not 
be covered by the Temporary Event Notice provisions. 

 
28.3 If you wish to hold an event in a public space in the Borough of Rochdale, it is strongly 

recommended that you contact the Council’s Events Management Team / Safety Advisory Group 
(SAG) in the very first instance at least 6-9 months prior to the proposed event. This will allow the 
Council and other Partner Agencies sufficient time to assist the organisers to plan their events 
safely. Many events will give rise to special considerations in respect of the licensing objectives. 
Operating schedules should therefore reflect this. The Events Management Team will inform you as 
to whether any licence is required. Further guidance is available from the Licensing Authority. It is 
recommended that a licence application be made at least 3 months prior to the event.  

 
28.4 In considering applications for such events, the Licensing Authority will have particular regard to any 

track record of the event organiser as well as the comprehensiveness of the event arrangements.  
 
28.5 Licensees are expected to have regard to at least the following (this is not an exhaustive list); 
 a) Setting up a management group for the event comprising relevant agencies, including but not 

limited to all responsible authorities 
b) Overall event safety control 
c) Production details 

Page 50



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 34 

d) Medical and first aid provision 
e) Site management and the structural integrity of all temporary structures 
f) Crowd management, stewarding and security 
g) Fire safety and control 
h) Configuration and control of sound systems 
i) Management of any on-site and off-site car parking 
j) Management of concessions and franchises 
k) Provision and maintenance of water supplies 
l) Welfare and provision of information 
m) Provision and maintenance of sanitary facilities 
n) Reception, collection and removal of litter and other waste 
o) Liaison with local residents and businesses 

 
28.6 Relevant details in respect of the above may include: 

 The proposed capacity of the event 

 The provision of plans to agreed scales detailing exits, entrances, temporary bars, marquees 
and all facilities to be provided within the premises 

 Details of proposals for entertainments, together with information regarding any special effects 

 Details of proposals for concessionary activities, including food franchises, bars, restaurants and 
non-food retail sales 
 

 An alcohol management plan, which will include details of: 
 

o Responsible alcohol service 
o The designated premises supervisor 
o Personal Licence holders 
o Control of the sale of alcohol 
o Proof-of-age policy 
o Promotion of responsible drinking 
o Appropriate signage 

 

 A Safety Policy and Risk Assessment for the event 

 Details of arrangements for co-ordinating and controlling event safety on the site 

 A site safety plan, including site safety rules, requirements for construction and breakdown of 
site, structural safety calculations, drawings of temporary structures and safety barriers, details 
of electrical installations and lighting arrangements 

 Incident contingency and emergency plans (including a Major Incident Plan) 

 A crowd management, stewarding and security plan (taking into account the views of 
Greater Manchester Police) 

 A medical ambulance and first aid plan 

 A fire safety plan 

 A traffic management plan drawn up in consultation with the relevant departments of Rochdale 
Borough Council, Greater Manchester Police, Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue, North West 
Ambulance Service, TfGM and private sector partners. Where areas covered by other local 
authorities could be affected by the event, relevant departments of those respective authorities 
should also be included 

 A sound assessment with details and proposals for monitoring and controlling sound emission 

 Details for the provision of cleaning and maintenance of sanitary accommodation, washing 
facilities and drinking water 

 Details for management of litter and disposal of other waste 

Page 51



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 35 

 Details of welfare arrangement facilities and provisions for information on site 

 Details of the arrangements and facilities for disabled persons. 
 
28.7 Consideration should not solely focus on the activities taking place within the area of the licensed 

premises. Appropriate measures to address issues outside the licensable area include: 

 Putting in place plans that will help to minimise the day-to-day disruption of lives of local 
residents, businesses and existing operations for the period of the event 

 Providing a robust traffic and transport plan that takes into account the needs of the local 
community – and minimises the impact of visitors to the area for the event – while maintaining a 
safe and convenient point of access and egress for the attendees within the parameters of 
existing traffic, transport and parking provision 

 Putting in place a strategy for the control of access to and egress from the licensed premises for 
the control of disorderly behaviour 

 Providing facilities external to the licensed area that will assist in the management of the access 
and egress of visitors to the event, and minimise the impact on the existing public realm 
including, but not restricted to, additional toilet facilities and a designated park and ride area 

 Putting in place a cleansing strategy beyond the immediate perimeter of the licensed premises in 
association with the local authority 

 Providing communication channels for the local community that will enable residents and 
businesses to access sufficient detailed information prior to the event days 

 Providing a hotline and information phone number for residents and local businesses for the 
duration of the event. 

 
 
29.0 TABLES AND CHAIRS ON THE HIGHWAY 
 
29.1 Licensed premises that wish to provide tables and chairs on the public highway may only do so 

under permission of a Street Café Licence issued by Council’s Highways Service. These licences 
are subject to their own specific restrictions / conditions of use. Please contact the Council’s 
Highways Service for further information.  

 
 
30.0 FILM CLASSIFICATIONS  
 
30.1 Where a Premises Licence authorises the exhibition of films, the licence must include a condition 

requiring the admission of children to films to be restricted in accordance with: 
 

 Either the BBFC classification; 

 Or where the film is not classified by the BBFC, any recommendations made by the Licensing 
Authority. 

 
30.2 In accordance with the guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003, the Licensing 

Authority shall concern itself primarily with the protection of children from harm when classifying 
films. It will not use its powers to censor films save where there is clear cause to believe this is 
required to promote the licensing objectives. 

 
30.3 The Licensing Authority considers the classification system used by the BBFC to be nationally 

understood and accepted. It will, therefore, use this system as a reference point for determining its 
recommendation(s) on the restriction of access of children to the film(s). However, it should be 
noted that the Licensing Authority is not obliged to follow these guidelines. 

Page 52



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 36 

30.4 Requests for certification by the Licensing Authority should be made at least in writing 28 days in 
advance of the proposed screening date and submitted to the Licensing Authority. Requests should 
include: 

 

 A DVD copy of the film 

 Details of any existing classification issued by an existing classification body, whether 
within or outside the UK 

 A synopsis identifying the material within the film considered by the exhibitor to be likely to have 
a bearing on the age limit for the audience for exhibition of the film 

 Such recommendation as may have been made by the film-maker upon age limit for the 
intended audience for exhibition of the film 

 Proposal of age restriction by the applicant. 
 
 
31.0 COUNTER TERRORISM  
 
31.1 Crowded places, such as bars, pubs, nightclubs and music venues have been targets of acts of 

terrorism across the UK and the world. The National Counter Terrorism Security Office (NaCTSO) 
has produced guidance to operators of crowded places giving advice to operators to reduce the 
threat of attack. Applicants and licence holders are encouraged to have regard to this guidance in 
the design and operation of their premises. 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/3
74593/Pubs_and_Clubs_Reviewed.pdf  

 
31.2 ACT (formerly known as Project Griffin) is the national counter terrorism awareness initiative for 

organisations produced by NaCTSO to protect towns and cities and communities from the threat of 
terrorism. ACT aims to advise raise awareness among security personnel, managers and other front 
line staff about counter-terrorism measures so that everyone is better equipped to deal with security 
challenges on a day-to-day basis and in the event of a major incident. ACT E-Learning guidance /          
training is available at https://www.gov.uk/government/news/act-awareness-elearning  

 
 
32.0 PUBLIC HEALTH  
 
32.1 Section 104 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 amends the Licensing Act 

2003 by adding local directors of public health to the list of responsible authorities, meaning that 
local public health bodies are now consulted in respect of every licensing application processed by 
the Licensing Authority. 

 
32.2 As a responsible authority, the Council’s Public Health department can make representations in 

relation to applications for the grant, variation, minor variation or review of premises licences and 
club premises certificates. In addition, the Public Health department may themselves seek a review 
of a premises licence. Any representation must be specific to the premises and cannot be a general 
objection. 

 
32.3 Representations should be evidence-based and should demonstrably refer to one or more of the 

licensing objectives. As there is no licensing objective relating to public health, the Council’s Public 
Health department must ensure representations are relevant to one of the four existing objectives. 
 

 
 

Page 53

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/374593/Pubs_and_Clubs_Reviewed.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/374593/Pubs_and_Clubs_Reviewed.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/act-awareness-elearning


 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 37 

 
33.0 THE LICENSING PROCESS 
 
33.1 The duties of the Licensing Authority under the Act may be carried out by the Licensing Committee, 

by a Sub-committee or by one or more officers, acting under authority delegated to them by the 
Authority. The scheme of delegations of licensing functions under the Act can be found at Appendix 
B.  

 
33.2 It is expected that many of the functions of the Authority will be largely administrative in nature, with 

no perceived areas of contention. In the interests of efficiency and cost-effectiveness these will, for 
the most part, be carried out by officers. 

 
33.3 The Authority will expect applicants to address the Licensing Objectives in their Operating 

Schedules, having regard to the type of premises, the licensable activities proposed, the operational 
procedures, the nature of the location and the needs of the local community. 

 
33.4 Applicants are also encouraged to make themselves aware of any relevant planning and transport 

policies, tourism and cultural strategies or local crime and disorder strategies, and to have taken 
these into account, where appropriate, in the formulation of their Operating Schedules. 

 
33.5 The Authority will have regard to Guidance issued by the Home Office when determining 

applications. In particular, account will be taken of the need to encourage and promote live music, 
dancing and similar activities for the wider cultural benefit of the community as a whole, including 
such diverse art forms as street entertainment and circuses. If representations are made concerning 
the potential for disturbance in a particular neighbourhood, then those concerns will be carefully 
balanced against the wider benefits to the community. 

 
33.6 When attaching conditions to a licence, the Authority will be aware of the need to avoid, as far as 

possible, measures which might deter live music, dancing or theatre through the imposition of 
substantial indirect costs. It will also monitor the impact of licensing on regulated entertainment, 
particularly live music and dancing. 

 

 
  
 
 

Page 54



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 38 

 
 
 
 
 

Appendices 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 55



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 39 

APPENDIX A – CONSULTEES AND RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITIES 
 

Consultees 
 

Greater Manchester Police 
 Greater Manchester Fire Service 
 RBC – Children Safeguarding Unit 
 RBC – Environmental Health Service 
 RBC – Trading Standards Service 
 RBC – Development Control Service 
 RBC – Public Health 
 RBC - Building Control Service  
 Home Office (Immigration) 

Mark Foxley (Chairman of the Rochdale Pub and Club Watch) 
Rochdale Safer Communities Partnership 
Rochdale Town Centre Management 
Middleton Town Centre Management 
Rochdale Boroughwide Housing  
RBC Councillors 
J W Lees (Brewers) Ltd 
Manchester Golf Club Ltd (representative of local holders of club certificates) 
Hopwood Unionist Club (representative of local holders of club certificates) 
Amber Taverns 
Nectar Taverns 
County Estate Pubs  
Joseph Holt Ltd 
Hyde's Brewery 
Marstons PLC 
Frederick Robinson Ltd 
Compass Contract Services (UK) 
Scottish & Newcastle Pub Company 
Country Estate Management Pubs 
Demar Services Ltd 
Dingle Bank Management  
Discount Booze Ltd 
DPP Restaurants Ltd 
Freshway 
GP Retail Services Ltd 
Lidl UK 
Bargain Booze 
Punch Taverns 
Young & Smith Ltd 
Tesco Licensing Team 
Zoe Orford Ltd 
Association of Convenience Stores 
Association of License multiple retailers 
Association of Town Centre Managers 
British Board of Film Classification 
British Beer & Pub Association 
British Institute of Innkeeping 
British Retail Consortium 

Page 56



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 40 

Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
Cinema Exhibitors Association 
Equity 
Independent Street Arts Network 
Institute of Licensing 
Licensed Victuallers Association 
National Pubwatch 
National Association of Local Government Art Officers 
NOCTIS 
Daniel Thwaites  
Mitchells & Butler Leisure Retail Ltd 
JD Weatherspoons 
Co-Operative Group PLC 
Admiral taverns Ltd 
Asda Stores Ltd 
Aldi Stores Ltd 
Flint Bishop Solicitors 
Greens Solicitors 
Hillyer McKeown Solicitors 
Hammonds 
Hall & Co 
Shoosmiths 
John Gaunt & Partners 
JMC Licensing  
Joelson Wilson LLP 
JST Lawyers 
Keoghs Solicitors 
Kuit Solicitors 
Kenneth Curtis & Co 
Locking Solicitors 
Lockett & Co 
Maitland walker Solicitors 
Lawrence Graham LLP 
Licensed Solutions Ltd 
Lees Solicitors 
Licensing Legal 
Lin & Co Solicitors 
Lunn Groves Solicitors 
Matrix Solicitors 
McClellans Solicitors 
Nick Dickinson Licensing Ltd 
Norton & Co Solicitors 
Pearson Hincliffe Solicitors 
Pinsent Masons 
Poppleston Allan 
Ricksons Solicitors 
Rasiah & Co  
Steeles Solicitors 
Sherrards Solicitors 
Stephensons Solicitors 
Silver Fox Licensing Consultants Ltd 

Page 57



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 41 

Trethowans 
TLT Solicitors 
Turbervilles Solicitors 
Winckworth Sherwood 
Waldron & Schofield 
W Licensing Ltd  
Anthony Collin LLP 
Crutes LLP 
Hallsalls  
David Scholes Solicitors 
Hill Dickenson  
The Coach House Brewing Company 
Hardys and Hansons PLC 
G and J Greenall brewery 
Greene King Retailing ltd 
Rochdale Law Association 
Rochdale Safer Communities Partnership 
Rochdale Cultural Trust 
Heywood Middleton & Rochdale Primary Care Trust  
Rochdale Development Agency 
Rochdale Development Agency 
Berwin Leighton Pasiner 
Bevan Brittan 
Blake Lapthorn Tarlo Lyons 
Bond Pearce LLP 
Browne Jacobson LLP 
Camden Management Services Ltd 
Cobbetts 
Cripps Harries Hall LLP 
Daniel Hurd Associates 
Davies Wallace Foyster 
E A D Solicitors LLP 
Edwards Geldard Solicitors 
Forbes Solicitors 
Ford & Warren 
Fraser Brown Solicitors (Knights) 
Freeth Cartwright 
Forshaw Davies Solicitors 
George Davies Solicitors 
Gosschalks Solicitors 
Gordons LLP 
Harrison Clark LLP 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 58



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 42 

Responsible Authorities (Under the Act) 

 
Jahangir Alom 
Rochdale Borough Council  
Licensing Service 
Number One Riverside 
Smith Street 
Rochdale  
OL16 1XU 
Tel: 01706 924114 
Email: licensing.reg@rochdale.gov.uk  

PC Gary Grennan 
Greater Manchester Police 
Divisional HQ 
The Holme 
The Esplanade 
Rochdale 
OL16 1AG 
Tel: 0161 856 8485 
Email: rochdale.partnershipteam@gmp.police.uk  

Clive Smith 
GM Fire & Rescue Service  
Rochdale Central HQ 
Rochdale Fire Station 
Halifax Road 
Rochdale 
OL12 9BD 
Tel: 01706 900110 
Email: 
P&PAdminTeamBuryOldh@manchesterfire.go
v.uk  

Louise Dent 
Rochdale Borough Council 
Environmental Health Noise Nuisance 
Service  
Number One Riverside 
Smith Street 
Rochdale 
OL16 1XU 
Tel: 01706 924137 
Email: louise.dent@rochdale.gov.uk 

Gary Parkinson 
Rochdale Borough Council 
Environmental Health, Health & Safety 
Service  
Number One Riverside 
Smith Street 
Rochdale 
OL16 1XU 
Tel: 01706 924138   
Email: gary.parkinson@rochdale.gov.uk  
jackie.hall@rochdale.gov.uk    

Rochdale Borough Council 
Planning Service  
Number One Riverside 
Smith Street 
Rochdale 
OL16 1XU 
Tel: 01706 924134 
Email:  
Development.controlenforcement@rochdale.gov.uk  

Rochdale Borough Council 
Safeguarding Children Unit 
Number One Riverside 
Smith Street 
Rochdale  
OL16 1XU 
Tel: 01706 925395 / 925359 
Email: lee-anne.agard@rochdale.gov.uk  
 

Kerry Ambrose 
Rochdale Borough Council 
Trading Standards Service 
Number One Riverside 
Smith Street 
Rochdale  
OL16 1XU 
Tel: 01706 924167 
Email: Trading.standards@rochdale.gov.uk   

Wendy Meston 
Public Health 
Number One Riverside 
Smith Street 
Rochdale 
OL16 1XU 
Tel: 01706 652839 
Email: wendy.meston@rochdale.gov.uk   

Home Office Immigration  
Alcohol Licensing Team 
Lunar House 
40 Wellesley Road 
Croydon 
CR9 2BY 
Email: Alcohol@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk  

 

Page 59

mailto:licensing.reg@rochdale.gov.uk
mailto:rochdale.partnershipteam@gmp.police.uk
mailto:P&PAdminTeamBuryOldh@manchesterfire.gov.uk
mailto:P&PAdminTeamBuryOldh@manchesterfire.gov.uk
mailto:louise.dent@rochdale.gov.uk
mailto:gary.parkinson@rochdale.gov.uk
mailto:jackie.hall@rochdale.gov.uk
mailto:Development.controlenforcement@rochdale.gov.uk
mailto:lee-anne.agard@rochdale.gov.uk
mailto:Trading.standards@rochdale.gov.uk
mailto:wendy.meston@rochdale.gov.uk
mailto:Alcohol@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk


 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 43 

APPENDIX B – EXERCISE AND DELEGATION OF FUNCTIONS 
 
The Council Constitution delegates the governance arrangements in respect of the 
Licensing Act 2003 to the Licensing Sub-Committee except Policy issues which are reserved to Council by 
the Act. The delegated functions are exercised in accordance with this table:  
 

Matter to be dealt with Licensing Sub-Committee Officers 

 
Application for personal 
licence 
 

 
If a representation is made 

 
If no representation is made 
 

 
Application for personal 
licence with unspent 
convictions 
 

 
All cases 

 
 

 
Application for premises 
licence/club premises 
certificate 
 

 
If a representation is made 

 
If no representation is made 

 
Application for provisional 
statement 
 

 
If a representation is made 

 
If no representation is made 

 
Application to vary 
designated personal licence 
holder 

 
If a police representation 

 
All other cases 
 
 

 
Request to be removed as a 
designated personal licence 
holder 
 

  
All cases 
 
 
 

 
Application for transfer of 
premises licence 
 

 
If a police representation 

 
All other cases 
 
 

 
Application for Interim 
Authorities 
 

 
If police representation 

 
All other cases 
 
 

 
Application to review 
premises licence/club 
premises certificate 

 
All cases 

 
 
 
 

 
Decision on whether a 
complaint is irrelevant, 
frivolous, vexatious etc 

  
All cases 

 

Page 60



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 44 

 
Decision to object when local 
authority is a consultee and 
not the lead authority 
 

  
All cases 

 
Decision to object when local 
authority is a consultee  and 
not the lead authority 
 

 
All cases 

 

 
Determination of an objection 
to a temporary event notice 
 

 
All cases 

 

 
Determination of an 
application to vary premises 
licence at community 
premises to include 
alternative licence condition 

 
If police objection 

 
All other cases 

 
Decision whether to consult 
other responsible authorities 
on minor variation application 

  
All cases 

 
Determination of application 
for minor variation 
 

  
All cases 

 
Application for review by 
Licensing Authority 
 

  
All cases 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 61



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 45 

APPENDIX C – STATUTORY QUALIFYING CONDITIONS FOR CLUBS 
 
The following qualifying conditions for clubs are extracted from the Licensing Act 2003.  
 
62  The general conditions  
(1) The general conditions which a club must satisfy if it is to be a qualifying club in relation to a 

qualifying club activity are the following.  
 
(2) Condition 1 is that under the rules of the club persons may not —  
(a) be admitted to membership, or  
(b) be admitted, as candidates for membership, to any of the privileges of membership, without an 

interval of at least two days between their nomination or application for membership and their 
admission.  

 
(3) Condition 2 is that under the rules of the club persons becoming members without prior nomination 

or application may not be admitted to the privileges of membership without an interval of at least two 
days between their becoming members and their admission.  

 
(4) Condition 3 is that the club is established and conducted in good faith as a club (see section 63). 
 
(5) Condition 4 is that the club has at least 25 members. 
 
(6) Condition 5 is that alcohol is not supplied, or intended to be supplied, to members on the premises 

otherwise than by or on behalf of the club.  
 
63  Determining whether a club is established and conducted in good faith  
(1) In determining for the purposes of condition 3 in subsection (4) of section 62 whether a club is 

established and conducted in good faith as a club, the matters to be taken into account are those 
specified in subsection (2).  

 
(2) Those matters are —  
(a) any arrangements restricting the club’s freedom of purchase of alcohol;  
(b) any provision in the rules, or arrangements, under which —  
(i) money or property of the club, or  
(ii) any gain arising from the carrying on of the club,  

is or may be applied otherwise than for the benefit of the club as a whole or for charitable, 
benevolent or political purposes;  

(c) the arrangements for giving members information about the finances of the club;  
(d) the books of account and other records kept to ensure the accuracy of that information;  
(e) the nature of the premises occupied by the club.  
 
(3) If a licensing authority decides for any purpose of this Act that a club does not satisfy condition 3 in 

subsection (4) of section 62, the authority must give the club notice of the decision and of the 
reasons for it.  

 
64  The additional conditions for the supply of alcohol  
(1) The additional conditions which a club must satisfy if it is to be a qualifying club in relation to the 

supply of alcohol to members or guests are the following.  
 

Page 62



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 46 

(2) Additional condition 1 is that (so far as not managed by the club in general meeting or otherwise by 
the general body of members) the purchase of alcohol for the club, and the supply of alcohol by the 
club, are managed by a committee whose members: 

(a) are members of the club;  
(b) have attained the age of 18 years; and  
(c) are elected by the members of the club.  
 

This subsection is subject to section 65 (which makes special provision for industrial and provident 
societies, friendly societies etc.).  

 
(3) Additional condition 2 is that no arrangements are, or are intended to be, made for any person to 

receive at the expense of the club any commission, percentage or similar payment on, or with 
reference to, purchases of alcohol by the club.  

 
(4) Additional condition 3 is that no arrangements are, or are intended to be, made for any person 

directly or indirectly to derive any pecuniary benefit from the supply of alcohol by or on behalf of the 
club to members or guests, apart from —  

(a) any benefit accruing to the club as a whole, or  
(b) any benefit which a person derives indirectly by reason of the supply giving rise or contributing to a 

general gain from the carrying on of the club.  
 
65  Industrial and provident societies, friendly societies etc.  
(1) Subsection (2) applies in relation to any club which is —  
(a) a registered society, within the meaning of the Industrial and Provident Societies Act 1965 (c. 

12)(see section 74(1) of that Act),  
(b) a registered society, within the meaning of the Friendly Societies Act 1974 (c. 46) (see section 

111(1) of that Act), or  
(c) a registered friendly society, within the meaning of the Friendly Societies Act 1992 (c. 40) (see 

section 116 of that Act). 
 
(2) Any such club is to be taken for the purposes of this Act to satisfy additional condition 1 in 

subsection (2) of section 64 if and to the extent that: 
(a) the purchase of alcohol for the club, and  
(b) the supply of alcohol by the club,  

are under the control of the members or of a committee appointed by the members.  
 
(3) References in this Act, other than this section, to —  
(a) subsection (2) of section 64, or  
(b) additional condition 1 in that subsection, are references to it as read with subsection (1) of this 

section.  
 
(4) Subject to subsection (5), this Act applies in relation to an incorporated friendly society as it applies 

in relation to a club, and accordingly —  
(a) the premises of the society are to be treated as the premises of a club,  
(b) the members of the society are to be treated as the members of the club, and  
(c) anything done by or on behalf of the society is to be treated as done by or on behalf of the club.  
 
(5) In determining for the purposes of section 61 whether an incorporated friendly society is a qualifying 

club in relation to a qualifying club activity, the society is to be taken to satisfy the following 
conditions —  

(a) condition 3 in subsection (4) of section 62,  

Page 63



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 47 

(b) condition 5 in subsection (6) of that section,  
(c) the additional conditions in section 64.  
 
(6) In this section “incorporated friendly society” has the same meaning as in the Friendly Societies Act 

1992 (see section 116 of that Act).  
 
66  Miners’ welfare institutes  
(1) Subject to subsection (2), this Act applies to a relevant miners’ welfare institute as it applies to a 

club, and accordingly —  
(a) the premises of the institute are to be treated as the premises of a club,  
(b) the persons enrolled as members of the institute are to be treated as the members of the club, and  
(c) anything done by or on behalf of the trustees or managers in carrying on the institute is to be treated 

as done by or on behalf of the club.  
 
(2) In determining for the purposes of section 61 whether a relevant miners’ welfare institute is a 

qualifying club in relation to a qualifying club activity, the institute is to be taken to satisfy the 
following conditions —  

(a) condition 3 in subsection (4) of section 62,  
(b) condition 4 in subsection (5) of that section,  
(c) condition 5 in subsection (6) of that section,  
(d) the additional conditions in section 64.  
 
(3) For the purposes of this section —  
(a) “miners’ welfare institute” means an association organised for the social well-being and recreation of 

persons employed in or about coal mines (or of such persons in particular), and  
(b) a miners’ welfare institute is “relevant” if it satisfies one of the following conditions.  
 
(4)  The first condition is that —  
(a) the institute is managed by a committee or board, and  
(b) at least two thirds of the committee or board consists —  
(i) partly of persons appointed or nominated, or appointed or elected from among persons nominated, 

by one or more licensed operators within the meaning of the Coal Industry Act 1994 (c. 21), and  
(ii) partly of persons appointed or nominated, or appointed or elected from among persons nominated, 

by one or more organisations representing persons employed in or about coal mines.  
 
(5)  The second condition is that —  
(a) the institute is managed by a committee or board, but  
(b) the making of —  
(i) an appointment or nomination falling within subsection (4)(b)(i), or  
(ii) an appointment or nomination falling within subsection (4)(b)(ii), is not practicable or would not be 

appropriate, and  
(c) at least two thirds of the committee or board consists —  
(i) partly of persons employed, or formerly employed, in or about coal mines, and  
(ii) partly of persons appointed by the Coal Industry Social Welfare Organisation or a body or person to 

which the functions of that Organisation have been transferred under section 12(3) of the Miners’ 
Welfare Act 1952 (c. 23).  

 
(6) The third condition is that the premises of the institute are held on trusts to which section 2 of the 

Recreational Charities Act 1958 (c. 17) applies. 
 
 

Page 64



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 48 

APPENDIX D – THE HYPNOTISM ACT 1952  
 
Conditions  
 
1. The artiste shall be competent in the inducement of, and reversal of, a state of hypnosis. 
 
2. No exhibition, demonstration, or performance of hypnotism shall involve any person under the age of 18 
years. 
 
3. The exhibition, demonstration or performance of hypnotism shall not, either directly or indirectly, induce, 
suggest to, or direct any person to behave in a manner which is either - 
 
                a) obscene, indecent, or offensive, and/or 
                b) aggressive, and/or 
                c) demeaning to an extent which would be unacceptable to the 
                   ordinary common person. 
 
4. Any form of induced sleep or trance, under which any person is placed in the course of the exhibition, 
demonstration, or performance of hypnotism, shall be fully reversed immediately after that person’s part in 
the exhibition, demonstration, or performance is concluded. 
 
5. These Conditions form part of the authorisation, and shall be monitored/enforced by a responsible 
member of the management of the premises. 
 
6. The hypnotist must produce satisfactory evidence of current Public Liability Insurance cover, (to a 
minimum level of £1,000,000), to the management of the venue prior to the performance taking place. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 65



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 49 

  

Rochdale Borough Council 

Number One Riverside 

Smith Street 

Rochdale OL16 1YH 

 

  rochdale.gov.uk 

  01706 647474 

  council@rochdale.gov.uk 

Page 66



Schedule of Responses to draft Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026          
 

Reference  Respondent  Comments Action Taken / Comments 

 

Email received 
24 July 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

RBC Cllr Janet 
Emsley 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

‘it’s very wordy and may need an overhaul’; 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
‘typos – Suspension of Premises Licences / Club Premises 
Certificates should read Suspension of Premises’ Licences 
and Club Premises’ certificates and every other reference 
should be apostrophised’; 
 
‘not sure if I am happy’ with the definition of a sex- 
related nature (e.g. topless waitresses, striptease, table 
dancing). ‘This assumes that topless females are sex 
related but males aren’t’; 
 
‘does it need an extra bit about reserving the right to do 
everything differently in a pandemic?’  
 

Due regard has been given to the comments.  
 
The Licensing Act 2003 is a lengthy and 
complex piece of legislation. The statement 
of licensing policy is intending to reflect the 
statutory provisions of the Act and attempts 
to provide comprehensive information and 
guidance to applicants in their submission of 
applications, etc.  
 
Draft policy can be amended to correct the 
typos/grammatical errors that have been 
kindly identified. 
 
 
The examples of sex-related nature has been 
lifted from Government guidance, but the 
reference to ‘topless waitresses’ can be 
removed.  
 
The practices and processes under the 
Licensing Act 2003 are statutory and acting 
outside can be deemed ultra vires. The 
Licensing Authority is unable to do anything 
differently in light of the COVID-19 
pandemic, unless there is a change in 

P
age 67



 primary legislation or there is specific set of 
guidance provided by the Government to all 
local authorities.      
 
The Licensing Authority seeks to avoid any 
duplication with other statutory/regulatory 
systems. It is already a legal obligation to 
have Health & Safety risk assessments under 
existing legislation; therefore the policy 
should not be amended in this respect.   
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 68



 

Report to Council 
 

 

Date of Meeting 16 December 2020 
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Quality of Place 
Report Author Mark Robinson 
Public/Private Document Public 

 

 

GM 2040 Transport Delivery Plan/District Local Implementation 
Plan 

 

 

Executive Summary 

 
1. 

1.1 

 

 

 

 

 

1.2 

Introduction  

Alongside work to prepare a refreshed Greater Manchester Strategy (GMS) 
and the next version of the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF), 
Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) has been working with the GMCA, 
the ten Greater Manchester councils and the Greater Manchester Mayor to 
prepare new, and updated, transport strategy documents that cover our entire 
city-region.  

 

This work includes a refreshed version of our long-term, statutory local 
transport plan - the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 - and a final 
version of Our Five-Year Delivery Plan (2020-2025) which sets out the 
practical actions planned to deliver the Strategy over the next 5 years. In 
addition, ten new Local Implementation Plans have also been prepared (one 
for each Greater Manchester council) setting out transport priorities and 
smaller interventions to achieve these ambitions at a local level.  

 

Recommendation 

 
2. 
 
 
 
2.1 
 
 
 
 
2.2 

Members are recommended to endorse the refreshed Greater Manchester 
Transport Strategy 2040 and the final version of Our Five-Year Delivery Plan 
for approval by GMCA and publication in November 2020, alongside GMSF.   
 
Members are also recommended to approve the publication of the supporting 
Local Implementation Plan as an appendix to Our Five-Year Delivery Plan, 
acknowledging that these are “live” documents and will be subject to regular 
review and update as appropriate.   
 
Members are recommended to delegate amendments to the document to the 
Director of Economy in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Quality of 
Place. 

Page 69

Agenda Item 7



 

Reason for Recommendation 

 
3. To provide details of the content and publication arrangements for the 

refreshed Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040, Our Five Year 
Delivery Plan (2020-2025) and Local Implementation Plan. The report 
considers these documents alongside other planned strategic activities.  

 

Key Points for Consideration 

 
4. 
 

4.1 

4.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3 
 
 
 
 
 
4.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.6 
 
 
 
4.7 
 
 
 

The Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040  

First published in February 2017, the Greater Manchester Transport 

Strategy 2040 (hereafter referred to as the “2040 Transport Strategy”) is our 
city-region’s statutory transport plan. Over three years after the Strategy was 
first published, its 2040 Vision - for Greater Manchester to have ‘World 
class connections that support long-term, sustainable economic 
growth and access to opportunity for all’ – remains highly relevant. The 
steps that need to be taken to achieve this Vision have evolved significantly, 
however.  

The initial version of the 2040 Strategy made clear that we would ‘review our 
Strategy on a regular basis to respond to changing trends and new 
opportunities and priorities’.  The Strategy has therefore undergone a ‘light 
touch’ policy refresh to reflect work undertaken, and the changed context, 
since 2017.  

In particular, the refreshed 2040 Transport Strategy will include reference to: 
the “Right-Mix” ambition for at least 50% of all journeys to be made by active 
travel and public transport by 2040; details of the GM Mayor’s ‘Our Network’ 
plan to create an integrated, modern and accessible transport network; an 
increased emphasis on the importance of cycling and walking; the climate 
emergency declared by GMCA and all ten councils; and the development of 
the GM Clean Air Plan.  

The document has also been updated to reflect the contemporary devolution 
agenda, including publication of the Bus Reform business case and GM Rail 
Prospectus; ongoing work to develop our 2040 sub-strategies including: 
Streets for All, City Centre Transport Strategy, Local Bus Strategy, Rapid 
Transit Strategy, Freight Strategy; and further development of the Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework, including the growing emphasis placed on 
regenerating town centres. 

The refreshed 2040 Transport Strategy will be published in early December. 

Our Five-Year Delivery Plan 

The long-term approach to planning our transport network, set out in the 
2040 Transport Strategy, is underpinned by a series of five-year Delivery 
Plans. The first Delivery Plan (2016-2017 to 2021-2022) was published in 

Page 70



 
 
4.8 
 
 
 
4.9 
 
 

 
 
 
4.10 
 

4.11 
 
 

 
4.12 
 

4.13 
 
 
 
 
 

4.14 
 
 
 
4.15 
 
 
 
 
 

4.16 
 
 

4.17 
 
 
 
4.18  
 
 
 
 
 

2017, alongside the 2040 Transport Strategy.  

An updated, draft Delivery Plan was published for consultation – alongside 
the first version of the GMSF - in January 2019. A final version of this 
document has now been prepared. 

Our Five-Year Delivery Plan sets out the practical actions planned, over 
the next 5 years, to deliver the 2040 Transport Strategy and achieve the 
transport ambitions of the GMCA and the Mayor, in parallel with 
the development of the GMSF. The Delivery Plans have been presented 
under the following headings 

Committed transport schemes – those with funding secured and to be 
delivered within the next 5 years 

Within Rochdale Borough these include the South Heywood Junction 19 link 
road, Kingsway loop road, upgrade of M60/M62 Simister roundabout and 
completion of Castleton – Rochdale cycle corridor scheme..   

Complete business cases – those transport schemes for which business 
cases will be completed and funding sought for delivery 

These include the extension of South Heywood link road to include M66 
Junction 2 and 3 improvements, tram – train Rochdale to Heywood via 
Castleton, A58 Streets for All package in Heywood and Rochdale town 
centres, electrification of the Calder Valley rail line, Slattocks rail station, 
Rochdale station park and ride upgrade and Northern Gateway bus corridor.   

Develop Options – those emerging transport schemes for which further 
feasibility options will be developed in the next five years, including funding 
for business case development will be sought 

These include extension of the Metrolink to Middleton town centre, the 
extension of the Heywood tram – train to link to Bury town centre via 
Northern Gateway, more frequent suburban rail services along the Calder 
Valley rail line, Streets for All improvements within Middleton town centre, 
upgraded M66 Junction 3 and bus rapid transit links to serve the Northern 
Gateway.   

It is worth noting there will be flexibility in timings of schemes as the 
availability of external or private sector funding opportunities may lead to 
changes in the prioritisation or delivery of schemes. 

Together, these documents offer an integrated approach to transport and 
land use planning, by identifying the strategic transport interventions 
required to deliver the scale of growth set out in the GMSF.   

The Delivery Plan also helps to inform the continued development of the 
Greater Manchester Infrastructure Programme (GMIP). It provides details of 
GM’s updated transport asks of government when it comes to funding, 
powers and functions. The Delivery Plan is aligned with the National 
Infrastructure Commission’s recommendation for multi-year infrastructure 

Page 71



 

4.19     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.20 
 
 
 

4.21 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.22 

 
 
 
4.23 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

funding settlements to city-regions. 

Our Five-Year Delivery Plan supports the implementation of “Our 
Network”, a ten-year plan to create an integrated, modern and accessible 
transport network for Greater Manchester.  It brings together different modes 
of public transport - bus, tram, rail, tram-train - and cycling and walking, in 
an integrated, easy-to-use system with seamless connections, and 
simplified ticketing and fares. The Delivery Plan document also provides 
updates on Clean Air Plan proposals; Streets for All scheme delivery; the 
Bee Network and measures to support bus and rail reform.   

Our Five-Year Delivery Plan will be published in support of the GMSF 
consultation in early December.  

Local Implementation Plans  

Our Five-Year Delivery Plan is supported by ten Local Implementation Plans 
(LIPs) covering the period 2020 to 2025. Each of the ten councils that make 
up Greater Manchester has its own LIP. The Rochdale Borough LIP is 
designed to replace our 2014 Borough Transport Strategy and provide a 
basis for the Council/GMCA to seek funding for future transport schemes.  
The Rochdale LIP will therefore:   

 Complement the 2040 Transport Strategy and Our Five Year Delivery 
Plan, providing details of how their outcomes will be achieved locally 
in the Borough, focusing particularly on supporting local trips within 
neighbourhoods and to local centres;  

 Support wider GM and council strategy and policy documents (e.g. 
Local Plans, Town Centres, Rochdale Station Gateway and Rail 
Corridor Masterplans, as well as the GM Spatial Framework and GM 
Clean Air Plan);  

 Summarise key local transport issues and opportunities, providing an 
added layer of local detail that is not provided in the 2040 Transport 
Strategy document.  

The District LIPs will be included in an appendix to the final version of Our 
Five-Year Delivery Plan. They will be ‘live’ documents for a period of time, 
and will be updated as councils develop and publish transport plans and 
strategies, or as new schemes are developed or delivered.   

A Rochdale Borough LIP has therefore been prepared to support the 2040 
Delivery Plan and Right Mix targets and is appended to this report.  Work 
has taken place to best align the document with external funding 
opportunities and with our Council economic development and transport 
strategies, including our Growth Plan, Rail Corridor Strategy and Town 
Centre Masterplans, with the objective of encouraging walking and cycling 
as a natural choice for neighbourhood trips of less than two kilometres.  The 
LIP will support our work to become carbon neutral, promote healthier 
lifestyles, cleaner air and use of more sustainable modes of travel.  Within 
the LIP is a more detailed Implementation Map of the Borough’s transport 

Page 72



 
 
 
 
 
 
4.24 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.25 

 

 

 

 

4.26 

 

 

 

 

4.27 

schemes and programmes to be delivered across the Borough over the next 
5 years.  These include not only the major schemes with funding, or for 
which funding will be sought as listed above, but many smaller localised 
schemes which will be important to the successful delivery of the objectives 
in the 2040 Transport Strategy and Delivery Plan.   

These include development of Active Travel Neighbourhoods – to implement 
walking/cycling plans around schools, rail and Metrolink stations, Town 
Centres, deliver new or expanded park and ride around all railway stations 
and investment at these stations and improvements to local bus services.  
The LIP also includes planned maintenance programmes such as the 
enhancement of Queens Park Bridge, proposals for the implementation of 
HGV restriction measures such as within Heywood and Castleton centres as 
well as develop options to address congestion at pinch point such as 
Milnrow/Elizabethan Way and along the A58 through the Roch Valley and 
around Rochdale town centre.  The LIP also proposes the joining up of 
existing and planned cycle links to create a Borough wide Bee Network of 
routes linking neighbouhoods with town centres, rail and tram stations, 
colleges and major employment sites.  In addition to transport funding, it is 
hoped to secure contribution to the network from localised developments.  

Alternatives Considered 
The 2040 Transport Strategy and Delivery Plans, alongside the GMSF, will 
help articulate to residents and Government how we will deliver sustainable 
economic growth.  It will also identify transport improvements which will 
need to take place to support those strategic growth locations.  Together, 
these documents offer an integrated approach to transport and land use 
planning, by identifying the strategic transport interventions required to 
deliver the scale of growth set out in the GMSF.   

At a local level, it is also hoped that the LIP will enable us to better articulate 
the transport and minor interventions that need to be delivered or developed 
in the short term, to support the likes of our Growth Plan, Rail Corridor 
Strategy and Town Centre plans as well as Right-Mix and Carbon Reduction 
targets.  It will also be helpful when it comes to setting out a programme of 
priority local transport and minor works interventions for the next five years, 
and will help to provide a basis against which future local transport and 
minor works funding is allocated for local delivery, as well as support bids for 
other non GM funding.   

To not approve these documents could result in the loss of significant future 
external funding opportunities for the Borough.   

 
 

Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5. There are no costs implications arising from the recommendations in this 

report.  It is considered the documents offer the opportunity to attract 
significant investment and external funding for future transport infrastructure 
projects across the Borough.    
 

Page 73



 

 

Risk and Policy Implications 

 
6. There are no risk implications arising from the report.   

 

Consultation 

 
7. There is no specific statutory consultation required on these transport 

documents.  However, they will be published alongside the GMSF plan to 
support the next round of public consultation on the document.   

 

Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 

8.  Floor 3, Number One Riverside, Smith 
Street, Rochdale 

 

For Further Information Contact: Mark Robinson, , 
mark.robinson@rochdale.gov.uk –  
Tel: 01706 924308 

 

 

Page 74



 

   

 

FINAL DRAFT – 

subject to final 

adoption by GMCA 
October 2020 – Version 2.1 

Page 75



  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 1 

Contents 
Introduction by the  Greater Manchester Mayor ..................................................................... 2 

Purpose of this Delivery Plan ..................................................................................................... 5 

2040 Strategy Overview and Our Right Mix Vision ................................................................... 8 

Greater Manchester’s Plan for Homes, Jobs and the Environment ........................................ 15 

Delivery .................................................................................................................................... 17 

Our focus for the next five years ................................................................................. 17 

Developing future transport interventions .................................................................. 18 

Supporting the GMSF .................................................................................................. 18 

Structure of the Delivery sections ................................................................................ 18 

Our Metrolink ............................................................................................................. 31 

Our Rail ...................................................................................................................... 35 

Our Streets ................................................................................................................. 42 

Our Integrated Network .............................................................................................. 55 

Funding .................................................................................................................................... 63 

Current funding........................................................................................................... 63 

Scheme Prioritisation and Delivery .............................................................................. 67 

Future Capital Funding – Greater Manchester Infrastructure Programme (GMIP) ......... 68 

Further Transport Devolution ...................................................................................... 70 

Measuring Success................................................................................................................... 72 

Next steps ................................................................................................................................ 72 

Glossary ................................................................................................................................... 73 

APPENDIX A: List of Interventions ........................................................................................... 78 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) .................................... 78 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early delivery of… (Map 2) 94 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3) ......................................... 122 

Beyond this five year Delivery Plan, we will investigate… .............................................. 138 

APPENDIX B: Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 – Local Implementation Plans 141 

APPENDIX C: GMSF allocations and their transport interventions ....................................... 142 

APPENDIX D: 2040 Transport Strategy KPIs .......................................................................... 162 

 

Page 76



PURPOSE OF THIS DELIVERY PLAN  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 2 

Introduction by the  
Greater Manchester Mayor 

 

 

The Covid-19 pandemic has had a profound impact on the journeys we make and the way 
that we travel. It is unclear how long it will be before travel returns to previous levels, and 
the long-term impacts of Covid-19 on the economy, on the environment and on the way that 
we all live remain to be seen. However, now is not a time to pause. If Greater Manchester is 
to recover then we must press on and work harder than ever to realise the ambitious plans 
we have for our city region. 

Transport is absolutely essential to that recovery and that is why it remains one of my top 
priorities. In 2019 I launched Our Network, a vision to create an integrated, modern and 
reliable London-style transport system.  

Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan outlines the key challenges on our transport network 
– poor air quality, congestion, radically improving our buses, greater local say on our rail 
services and stations and boosting cycling and walking – and sets out the shorter-term 
measures and schemes needed to achieve the Our Network vision. Importantly, I want this 
plan to deliver real and tangible improvements to people’s everyday journeys.  

 

Page 77



PURPOSE OF THIS DELIVERY PLAN  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 3 

 

As is the Greater Manchester way, this plan has been developed in close co-operation with 
TfGM, GMCA and the local authorities to ensure our transport investments support and are 
supported by the new housing and commercial development sites in our Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework.  

The plan also has at its heart Greater Manchester’s commitments to tackle poor air quality 
and to be a carbon neutral city-region by 2038. There are key measures, therefore, to 
reduce the dangerous transport emissions that are a blight on communities and people’s 
health. There are also measures to reduce transport’s carbon footprint, but tackling climate 
change is a national problem and we will need Government action and funding to support 
this. 

In addition to publishing Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan we have also refreshed the 
GM Transport Strategy 2040, GM’s Local Transport Plan. This too has been updated to 
reflect our renewed focus on tackling climate change and clean air commitments along with 
key aspects of Our Network. 

To deliver the ambitions set out in Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan we will need 
further investment and reform, and we have made a strong argument for both to inform the 
Government’s Comprehensive Spending Review and Devolution White Paper. The case is 
now irrefutable that greater investment and devolution in the North, including in Greater 
Manchester, should be a national priority.  

The creation of the Northern Transport Acceleration Council is a statement of intent from 
the Government with Ministers and Northern leaders working together to bring forward the 

Page 78



PURPOSE OF THIS DELIVERY PLAN  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 4 

modern transport network the North has lacked for too long. This must now be matched 
with significant investment from Government if it is serious about levelling up and 
rebalancing the UK economy. 

Aside from much needed capital investment, the plan also sets out the importance of reform 
to key parts of the transport system itself. Devolution is starting to see Greater Manchester 
gaining some of the powers, if not all the resources, it needs. No city-region is in a better 
position to take advantage of the powers now available to improve and better integrate our 
transport. We continue to lead the way in this area, including exploration of the powers 
made available by the Bus Service Act, but there are further powers I want to see devolved 
to Greater Manchester and to local authorities, so we are genuinely able to provide the 
efficient transport network that businesses and residents need.  

This plan builds on the unprecedented levels of local investment seen over the past decade 
including the expansion of the Metrolink network and contactless ticketing, the ground-
breaking Leigh-Salford-Manchester guided busway, the development of new interchanges, 
major new highways schemes and the launch of the Bee Network - the UK’s most ambitious 
cycling and walking investment programme. 

All of this investment has delivered real benefits, now we must look to the future and what 
needs to be done in the years ahead to ensure Greater Manchester has the transport 
network it so sorely requires to recover, to grow and to prosper. 

That is why the Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan is critical - it is by no means the last 
word on our transport ambitions, and I will continue to push for greater investment and 
reform - but it does represent a significant step on the way to ‘building back better’ to a 
better connected, cleaner and greener Greater Manchester. 

Andy Burnham 
Mayor of Greater Manchester 

 

 

Page 79



PURPOSE OF THIS DELIVERY PLAN  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 5 

Purpose of this Delivery Plan 

1. Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan (2020–2025) details what Greater Manchester 
wants to achieve in the next five years as the first steps towards delivering our vision for 
transport. It sets out the practical actions planned to deliver the Greater Manchester 
Transport Strategy 2040 and achieve the ambitions of the Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority (GMCA) and the Mayor, providing a coordinated approach to transport 
investment. It is also intended to inform the development of the Greater Manchester 
Infrastructure Programme (GMIP). 

2. Covid-19 has had a massive health and economic impact on our city-region, affecting 
every person and business.  The impact from the pandemic has not been equal or fair, 
highlighting inequalities across Greater Manchester.  Travel demand remains well below 
levels prior to the pandemic and although they are increasing, we know our plans for 
transport and other policy areas will need to be adapt as we continue with the recovery.   

3. Even though Covid-19 has been harmful to both our health and our economy, it has 
brought some benefits. Neighbourhoods, communities and towns across Greater 
Manchester has experienced lower traffic and cleaner air, and some workers have been 
able to embrace flexible working and accessing high-quality digital services. We want a 
future where walking and cycling are the obvious choice for shorter journeys and where 
the past dependency on the car is superseded by reliable and responsive public 
transport, a London-style transport system.  Our Delivery Plan sets out those first steps 
from a transport and placemaking perspective so that we can support the recovery and 
create a stronger, sustainable and resilient Greater Manchester.  

4. Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan sits alongside the Greater Manchester Transport 
Strategy 2040 (hereafter referred to as the 2040 Transport Strategy).  The two 
documents form the Greater Manchester Local Transport Plan.  It is recommended that 
this Five Year Transport Delivery Plan is read alongside the full 2040 Transport Strategy, 
which provides the long-term policy framework for transport in Greater Manchester.  
Further details on the 2040 Transport Strategy is provided in the section below and at 
www.tfgm.com/2040.  

5. A significant amount of ongoing work is required to develop, appraise and prioritise the 
interventions in Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan – in other words to make tough 
choices about where limited funds can make the biggest difference. This work will be 
overseen by those responsible for transport in the region, including the GMCA and the 
GM Transport Committee. 

6. Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan supports the implementation of Our Network, a 
ten-year plan to create an integrated, modern and reliable London-style transport 
system for Greater Manchester.  It brings together different modes of public transport –- 
bus, tram, rail, tram-train and cycling and walking - in an integrated, easy-to-use system 
with seamless connections, and simplified ticketing and fares. 

Page 80

http://www.tfgm.com/2040


PURPOSE OF THIS DELIVERY PLAN  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 6 

 

7. Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM), on behalf of GMCA, has coordinated the 
preparation of Our Five Year Transport  Delivery Plan.  It has been developed in 
conjunction with, and reflects the priorities of, our key partners, each of whom have 
their own part to play in delivering the commitments set out in this document. They 
include: 

• The elected Mayor of Greater Manchester – responsible for the transport budget 
our city-region receives from Government and for setting priorities for transport;  

• The Greater Manchester Combined Authority – the GMCA is made up of the ten 
Leaders of the Greater Manchester Local Authorities and is chaired by the Mayor.  
It is responsible for delivery of a range of devolved functions including Fire, 
Waste, Police and Crime, Planning, Transport, Health and Economic Growth; 

• The ten Greater Manchester Local Authorities – as the highways and planning 
authorities, the local authorities are responsible for ensuring that roads are safe 
and usable, for producing Local Plans and considering all planning applications. 
They are also responsible for neighbourhood planning, licensing taxis and private 
hire vehicles and for leading on the delivery of services in their area; and 

• Wider Stakeholders – including Highways England, Network Rail, Transport for 
the North, neighbouring authorities, transport operators, emergency services, 
Manchester Airport and High Speed Two (HS2) Limited.  

8. In the document when we refer to “we” it includes the aforementioned organisations.  

Page 81



PURPOSE OF THIS DELIVERY PLAN  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 7 

9. Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan has been prepared to respond to the transport 
opportunities and challenges facing Greater Manchester, in parallel with the 
development of the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF). Together, these 
documents provide an integrated approach to transport and land use planning by 
identifying the strategic transport interventions required to deliver the scale of growth 
set out in the GMSF. It also supports the priorities of the Greater Manchester Strategy 
(2018).   

10. Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan is supported by Local Implementation Plans (LIPs) 
for 2020 to 2025 for each of the 10 GM Local Authorities. These Local Implementation 
Plans will: 

• Complement the 2040 Transport Strategy and Our Five Year Transport Delivery 
Plan, providing detail on how the local outcomes will be achieved in each local 
authority; 

• Support wider GM and local authority strategy and policy documents (e.g. Local 
Plans, town centre masterplans, GM Clean Air Plan, GM Spatial Framework); 

• Summarise key local transport issues and opportunities in each local authority, 
providing an added layer of local detail that is not provided in the 2040 Transport 
Strategy; 

• Focus on neighbourhood and town centre spatial themes, to complement the 
strategic focus of the 2040 Transport Strategy;  

• Set out a programme of priority local transport / minor works interventions for 
the next five years (including infrastructure, services and behaviour change work); 

• Provide the basis against which future local transport / minor works funding can 
be allocated to local authorities for local delivery. 

11. The LIPs are included in Appendix B.  It is intended that each Local Implementation Plan 
is kept as a ‘live’ document for a period of time and will be updated as local authorities 
develop and publish transport plans and strategy (for example, Local Plan documents), or 
as new schemes are developed or delivered.  

12. Further information on TfGM’s business priorities can be found in its Business Plan, 
which highlights how TfGM works with and supports the local authorities to deliver on 
improving and integrating transport operations. 

13. We are committed to reviewing and reporting progress on a regular basis to ensure we 
deliver our 2040 vision and will publish regular progress reports to update on the 
development and delivery of our transport policies and interventions, and to track 
progress against the key performance indicators. 

14. A glossary of the key terms in Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan is included on page 
7372. 

 

Page 82



2040 STRATEGY OVERVIEW 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 8 

2040 Strategy Overview and Our Right 
Mix Vision 

15. The Mayor’s and GMCA’s priorities are set out in the refreshed Greater Manchester 
Strategy (launched in autumn 2017) with a vision ‘to make Greater Manchester one of 
the best places in the world to grow up, get on and grow old’1. Key priorities include 
tackling climate change, creating a thriving economy, and supporting ‘world-class 
connectivity that keeps Greater Manchester moving’.  

16. The Greater Manchester Strategy is supported by the 2040 Transport Strategy and 
accompanying Five Year Delivery Plans.  The 2040 Transport Strategy was first published 
in February 2017, is our city-region’s statutory local transport plan. Over three years 
after the Strategy was first published, its 2040 Vision - for Greater Manchester to have 
‘World class connections that support long-term, sustainable economic growth and 
access to opportunity for all’ – remains highly relevant.  

Figure 1: Greater Manchester transport vision, 2040 Transport Strategy 

 

 
1 https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/ourpeopleourplace  

Page 83

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/ourpeopleourplace


2040 STRATEGY OVERVIEW 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 9 

17. The initial version of the 2040 Strategy made clear that we would ‘review our Strategy on 
a regular basis to respond to changing trends and new opportunities and priorities’.  The 
Strategy has therefore undergone a ‘light touch’ policy refresh to reflect work 
undertaken, and the changed context, since 2017.  

18. In particular, the refreshed 2040 Transport Strategy includes the Right-Mix ambition for 
at least 50% of all journeys to be made by active travel and public transport by 2040; 
details of the GM Mayor’s Our Network plan to create an integrated, modern and 
reliable London-style transport system; an increased emphasis on the importance of 
cycling and walking; the climate emergency declared by GMCA and all ten councils; and 
the development of the GM Clean Air Plan.  

19. The document has also been updated to reflect the contemporary devolution agenda, 
including publication of the Bus Reform business case and GM Rail Prospectus; ongoing 
work to develop our 2040 sub-strategies including: Streets for All, City Centre Transport 
Strategy, Local Bus Strategy, Rapid Transit Strategy, Freight Strategy; and further 
development of the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework, including the growing 
emphasis placed on regenerating town centres.  The refreshed 2040 Transport Strategy 
has been published alongside this Five Year Delivery Plan.  

20. In the 2040 Transport Strategy and Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan we set out a 
strong commitment to provide a transport system which: supports sustainable economic 
growth and tackles congestion; improves the quality of life for all by being integrated, 
affordable and reliable; protects our environment and improves air quality; and 
capitalises on new technology and innovation. 

Our Customer Focus 

21. Our customers are at the heart of our 2040 Transport Strategy, whether they are 
residents, businesses or visitors to Greater Manchester. We have identified some key 
principles that will be applied consistently across our networks over the period to 2040 
to ensure that our entire transport system is more customer-focused and able to 
respond effectively to the challenges that lie ahead. 

22. These network principles will be applied to all transport interventions to ensure that the 
transport system meets the needs of our residents, businesses and visitors. They are set 
out in the diagram below. 

  

Page 84



2040 STRATEGY OVERVIEW 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 10 

Figure 2: 2040 Transport Strategy Network Principles 

 

  

Page 85



2040 STRATEGY OVERVIEW 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 11 

Our Spatial Themes 

23. Our 2040 Transport Strategy was developed around spatial themes so that we can 
implement the most appropriate interventions for different parts of the city-region and 
for different journeys.  These interventions could range from transport improvements 
which improve global connectivity to support overseas trade, right down to local 
neighbourhood improvements to support trips that people make on a daily basis. 

Figure 3: Our Spatial Themes 

  

 

  

Page 86



2040 STRATEGY OVERVIEW 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 12 

Our Right Mix vision for 2040 

24. In the Draft Delivery Plan published in 2019 we set out our ambition to improve our 
transport system so that by 2040 50% of all journeys in Greater Manchester are made by 
public transport or active travel. This would mean a corresponding reduction in car use 
to no more than 50% of daily trips. This target would create one million more sustainable 
journeys every day in Greater Manchester by 2040, enabling us to deliver a healthier, 
greener and more productive city-region.  We call this the Right Mix.  Achieving the Right 
Mix is expected to lead to zero net growth in motor vehicle traffic in Greater Manchester 
between 2017 and 2040. 

25. Through the Right Mix, Greater Manchester has adopted an adaptive, vision-led 
approach to transport planning. This means that the steps needed to achieve our vision 
will be continually monitored and adjusted if needed to achieve our goal. This is 
important, given the potential for our plans to be affected by external events, such as 
Covid-19.  

Figure 4: The Right Mix vision for travel in 2040 

 

Page 87



2040 STRATEGY OVERVIEW 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 13 

Climate Emergency and Meeting our Carbon Targets  

26. Since the Right Mix vision was agreed by the Greater Manchester Combined Authority in 
2019, we have been reviewing the pathway to achieve it, particularly in the context of 
the climate emergency and Greater Manchester’s aim to be a carbon neutral city region 
by 2038.  We are currently undertaking additional work to identify how the Right Mix 
contributes towards achieving Greater Manchester’s carbon target and, importantly, our 
carbon budgets, alongside other measures to decarbonise the transport network, such as 
electric vehicles.  Decisive action will be needed in the next five years to make 
meaningful progress towards meeting our carbon targets.   

27. Recent evidence suggests that, to meet our carbon targets, we will need to significantly 
reduce motor vehicle traffic in GM, as well as decarbonising a large part of our transport 
system. This will be a huge challenge and will need co-ordinated action at both a national 
and a local level to invest in and incentivise sustainable travel, and to reduce incentives 
to travel by car.  Land use planning will also play an important role, as key facilities, such 
as shops, offices and services, will need to be built in accessible locations close to where 
people live, thereby reducing the need to travel by car. Further detail on this will be 
published soon.  

The outcomes we will aim for by 2025 

28. As noted above, our Right Mix vision wants to achieve an increase in the mode share for 
non-car travel from 39% to 50%. We estimate that accomplishing this will enable us to 
deliver Greater Manchester’s planned growth without an overall increase in motor 
vehicle traffic, despite an overall 10% increase in trips driven by a growing population. 
Achieving this target will be influenced by: 

• The quality of the transport offer, including the integration between modes; 

• Trends in travel behaviour, such as fewer young people choosing to get driving 
licences or more people travelling outside peak hours; 

• The spatial distribution of economic activity, with more concentrated 
development being easier to serve by sustainable modes; and 

• Trends in society such as increased remote working and online shopping. 

29. The interventions within Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan will influence the first two 
of these factors: developing the quality of the transport offer and influencing travel 
behaviour. Public policy such as spatial planning and where we locate public services, 
such as health facilities, will have some affect on the third factor by 2025, but we are 
unlikely to be able to influence or predict wider changes in society. 

30. Figure 5 sets out the targets for the Right Mix vision for the year 2030 for the main 
spatial themes, based on following the pathway to the 2040.  It shows we are aiming for 
increases in Neighbourhood and Regional Centre trips.  At the Neighbourhood level we 
want to see an increase in walking and cycling.  For the Regional Centre, both public 
transport and active travel mode share needs to increase. 

Page 88



2040 STRATEGY OVERVIEW 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 14 

31. Our targeted pathway position for 2030 is presented as a mid-way point to 2040.  It is 
also a point where we expect that many of the interventions set out in Our Five Year 
Transport Delivery Plan will have been implemented and influenced travel behaviour.  

Figure 5: The Right Mix vision for travel in 2030  

 

32. These 2030 targets will be reviewed in the light of evidence on the longer-term effects 
on travel of the Covid-19 pandemic. At present these are uncertain.  The uncertainty 
created by the pandemic illustrates the value of our adaptive approach to achieving the 
Right Mix, which involves reviewing progress and modifying our actions accordingly so 
that we remain on-track for achieving the 2040 vision. 

 

 

Page 89



GREATER MANCHESTER’S PLAN FOR HOMES, JOBS AND THE ENVIRONMENT  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 15 

Greater Manchester’s Plan for Homes, 
Jobs and the Environment  

33. Greater Manchester is already growing rapidly, and this growth is set to continue over 
the next twenty years. Greater Manchester’s ambition is to deliver that growth in a 
sustainable and inclusive way so that everyone benefits, and the quality of our 
environment is improved.    

34. Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan has been prepared alongside the Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework, following feedback from consultations on both the Draft 
GMSF and Draft 2040 Five Year Transport Delivery Plan. Further detail on supporting 
infrastructure for new allocations is contained within the GMSF transport evidence base.  

35. Greater Manchester’s Plan for Homes, Jobs and the Environment – The Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) – sets out a blueprint for the scale and 
distribution of housing and employment development over the next two decades. The 
majority of housing and employment growth is proposed within the core of the 
conurbation (Manchester, Salford and Trafford core areas), combined with housing and 
employment development to boost competitiveness in northern areas of Greater 
Manchester. There will be continued development around Manchester Airport, as the 
global gateway to Greater Manchester, and within a few key new allocations to sustain 
southern competitiveness. The southern part of Greater Manchester will see lower levels 
of housing growth than the northern area, with a redistribution of housing growth 
mainly to the core.  

36. The diagram below illustrates how the GMSF aims to create a settlement structure that 
can be serviced by public transport. This settlement structure aligns with the aspirations 
of the 2040 Transport Strategy, and our Right Mix vision to accommodate growth with 
no net increase in private motor-vehicle traffic by 2040.  

Figure 6: Greater Manchester Spatial Framework Key Diagram 

 

Page 90



GREATER MANCHESTER’S PLAN FOR HOMES, JOBS AND THE ENVIRONMENT  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 16 

37. Connectivity to public transport and active travel are key factors in the selection process 
that underpins the allocations within the GMSF and alongside other criteria, sites have 
been selected to maximise the potential for public transport access.   

38. To support the scale of housing and employment growth envisaged by the GMSF, the 
Greater Manchester local authorities and TfGM have examined the implications of the 
planned growth on the wider transport network. This work has been used to identify the 
portfolio of strategic transport interventions that may be brought forward to support the 
proposed housing and employment growth. The resultant interventions are included in 
Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan and summarised in Appendix C.  

39. The GMSF will also be supported by a Greater Manchester Infrastructure Framework. 
The Infrastructure Framework provides a blueprint for the future of Greater 
Manchester’s wider infrastructure and is aligned with Our Five Year Transport Delivery 
Plan. For example, the Infrastructure Framework will help ensure that Greater 
Manchester has the electricity needed to power electric vehicles.  

40. In addition, there will also be the need for more local interventions that will enable 
access to, or will mitigate the impact of, new GMSF allocations. Recommended local 
interventions are defined by each GM allocation policy, discussed within the GMSF 
Transport Locality Assessments and highlighted in the Local Implementation Plans in 
Appendix B. These are not included in Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan unless they 
have strategic significance. Local authorities and developers will work together through 
the planning applications process to deliver appropriate local interventions for specific 
allocations.   

41. There will also be continuing work with neighbouring authorities outside the Greater 
Manchester boundary to understand and mitigate the implications of their local plans on 
Greater Manchester’s transport network.   

 

Page 91



DELIVERY  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 17 

Delivery  

Our focus for the next five years 

42. Over the next five years we need to focus on tackling climate change, improving air 
quality, supporting recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic, tackling social exclusion and 
helping to deliver expected housing and employment growth. Our focus will therefore be 
on investing in walking, cycling and public transport networks; better integrating our 
existing transport system; and developing major sustainable transport schemes for 
delivery in the medium and long term. This will deliver the Our Network plan to create an 
integrated, modern and reliable London-style transport system.  In summary, our main 
programme includes: 

Programme Area 

Our Bus  

   Bus priority measures 

   Bus Rapid Transit 

   Introduction of Quality Bus Transit corridors 

   Town centre interchange development in Bury 

   Upgrades / renewals 

Our Metrolink  

   Enhanced passenger facilities and access to stops  

   New stops to support spatial growth priorities  

   Network capacity and resilience  

   Major schemes 

   Tram train early development  

   Upgrades / renewals 

Our Rail  

   Completing up to 4 Access for All rail station upgrades 

   Delivery of up to 2 new rail stations 

   Enhanced passenger facilities and access to stations  

   Port Salford Rail Link 

Our Streets  

   Next tranche of £1.5bn Bee Network beyond the £160m TCF allocation  

   Town Centre & Streets schemes  

   Pinchpoint schemes  

   Schemes that unlock delivery of the Existing Land Supply and GMSF sites  

   Major schemes, e.g. Wigan-Bolton HIF and Stockport A34 

   Upgrades / Renewals 

Our Integrated Network  

   Electric bus fleet and associated depot investment  

   Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure 

   ITS applications for Covid-19 recovery 

   Future Mobility Zone 

Page 92



DELIVERY  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 18 

Developing future transport interventions 

43. If our vision for Greater Manchester is to be realised, a long-term investment plan is 
needed to support sustainable growth across the city-region.  A range of large transport 
investments in Greater Manchester are already underway or are in advanced stages of 
development. There is still much to do, however, and we have identified studies and 
early concepts that need to be developed further in order to achieve our vision for 
transport. 

44. Our delivery programme, set out in the next sections, includes transport interventions 
that are at various stages of development. Transport schemes take time to develop and 
deliver, so it is crucial that we start work on our long-term delivery programme now. 

45. Generally, transport interventions will emerge from one of our transport studies, before 
work is undertaken to develop a detailed business case (or ‘investment case’) for them. A 
business case sets out the strategic, economic, financial, commercial, and management 
justification for the intervention – in short, whether the intervention is the right thing to 
do and delivers good value for money. In most circumstances, a successful business case 
will be a condition for the award of funding. In all cases, there needs to be a strong 
rationale and justification for each intervention before it can proceed. 

46. There will also be a process of prioritisation that we need to follow to align the available 
funding with the highest priority interventions. Future versions of the Delivery Plan will 
refine the programme of interventions – some may become priorities for delivery while 
others may prove to be unfeasible and won’t be progressed. This is discussed in more 
detail in the Funding section of this Delivery Plan. 

Supporting the GMSF 

47. Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan fully aligns with the new GMSF. In particular, it 
demonstrates a clear plan for delivering strategic transport interventions for the first five 
years of the GMSF plan period. Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan also lays the 
foundations in order to achieve the goals of the remainder of the GMSF period. 

Structure of the Delivery sections 

48. The following sections of this document present the delivery programme for achieving 
our long-term ambitions and Right Mix vision, with a focus on what is required in the 
next five years. 

49. Our activities are grouped under the thematic headings set out in Figure 7.  Delivery 
across these themes will need to be highly integrated and carefully co-ordinated to 
maximise the effectiveness and impact of future investment. 

Page 93



DELIVERY  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 19 

Figure 7: Structure of the Delivery sections 

 

50. Each section includes some explanatory text on the theme and provides a summary of 
the interventions and their stage in the development and delivery process.  These 
include committed, unfunded priorities for the next five years and our longer-term 
development priorities: 

• The interventions that are committed for delivery in the next five years – see Map 
1 and Appendix A  

These interventions have significant funding allocated and the case for change 
has already been demonstrated, although final funding arrangements and 
approval of the business case may still be needed. They also include some 
interventions with a degree of commitment in Network Rail or Highways England 
industry processes. 

• The interventions for which we aim to complete the business case in the next five 
years, in most cases to secure funding – see Map 2 and Appendix A  

These interventions are those with potential to be delivered by 2025 subject to 
scheme development funding, prioritisation, capital and revenue funding for 
construction or implementation and approval of a business case which 
demonstrates value for money. 

• Our longer term priorities that we will develop options for in the next five years – 
see Map 3 and Appendix A  

These are the interventions which need further investigation or development in 
order to identify future options and determine feasibility. This work may identify 
interventions that could be delivered by 2025, and we will aim to achieve that 
wherever possible, but most are longer term projects that could be delivered in 
later years.  

Future versions of this Delivery Plan will explain the evolution of these 
interventions – some may become priorities for delivery while others may be 
unfeasible and won’t be progressed.  

• And the interventions due to be investigated beyond this Five Year Delivery Plan – 
see Appendix A  

Our Bus

• Local Bus

• Quality Bus Transit

• Bus Rapid Transit

Our Metrolink

• Metrolink

• New Stops and 
Upgrades

• Tram-Train

Our Rail

• Rail

• High Speed Rail

• Stations

Our Streets 

• Walking and 
Cycling

• Local Highways

• Strategic Roads 
and Motorways

• Freight and 
Logistics

• Maintenance

• Town Centres 

Our Integrated 
Network

• Clean Air and 
Carbon

• Future Mobility 
and Innovation

• Interchnages

• Travel Hubs / Park 
& Ride

• Fares and 
Ticketing

• Behaviour change

• Safety and security

Page 94



DELIVERY  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 20 

51. We recognise that there are proposals that we would like to investigate, but which are 
unlikely to start in this Delivery Plan period. These may ultimately be needed to achieve 
our long-term vision for transport, but there are currently no plans to start investigation 
work before 2025. 

52. The three maps on the following pages illustrate our delivery programme.  

 

 

Page 95



M62

M
60

M60

M61

M
61

M58

M6

M
6

M6

M62

M56

M67

M
56

M60

M60

M
66

M62

Whitworth

Marsden

New Mills

Whaley
Bridge

Styal
Poynton

CHORLEY

ST HELENS

WILMSLOW

WARRINGTON

Culcheth

Lymm

Billinge

Haydock

Adlington

Skelmersdale

Newton-le-
Willows

RUNCORN

WIDNES

Handforth

Wigan

Bolton

Rochdale

Ashton-
under-Lyne

Bury

Stockport

Oldham

Altrincham

BOLTON

ROCHDALE

TAMESIDE
SALFORD

HALTON

LANCASHIRE

LANCASHIRE

CHESHIRE
EAST

WEST
YORKSHIRE

DERBYSHIRE

WARRINGTON

BLACKBURN
WITH DARWEN

MERSEYSIDE

MANCHESTER

STOCKPORT

WIGAN

TRAFFORD

BURY

OLDHAM

Exist
ing S

m
art 

Motorway

City centre

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering...

• Mayor’s Challenge Fund Cycling and Walking Schemes (see Map 4) including
   crossing points, junction upgrades, bike hire and Emergency Active Travel schemes 
• Development of a Clean Air Plan
• Implementation of the Congestion Deal
• Additional Metrolink vehicles (27 new trams) and associated infrastructure
• Metrolink service and ticketing enhancements
• Station accessibility improvements
• Implementation of the GM Freight and Logistics Strategy
• Electric vehicle charging network
• Behaviour change programmes
• Bus Stop Enhancements Programme
• Metrolink Renewals Programme

Other strategic interventions not shown on the map:

These interventions have significant funding allocated and the case for change has been demonstrated,
although final business case approval may still be needed.

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2020

Metrolink

Quality Bus Transit and bus network improvements

Rail infrastructure improvements

Rail service improvements

Motorway improvements

New highway links associated with new developments

Other new highway links

Local road network improvements

Town centre improvements, including interchanges and public realm

Asset Management and Maintenance Programmes

Existing land supply growth areas

MAP 1

GMSF site allocation

Subject to business case approval

16 October 2020

South Heywood
Link Road

M58
Link Road

M6 J21A–J26
Smart Motorway

M62 J20–J25
Smart Motorway

M60 J13/A572
improvements

M56 J6–J8
Smart Motorway

Carrington
Relief Road

Central Manchester/Castlefield
rail corridor improvements

Hope Valley Line
upgrade

Oldham Town Centre:
Accessible Oldham
Connectivity Package
(Phase 1)

Stockport
Interchange
redevelopment

A560 Cheadle and
Cheadle Heath
resilience and
reliability package

Drainage remediation work
along Wigan’s section of
GM’s Key Route Network    

KRN maintenance
A635 Ashton Old Road

Princess Road Roundabout
Improvement Scheme

A57 Hyde Road
Localised Widening

Oldham Way
KRN Structures
Refurbishment

MSIRR: Great
Ancoats Street
improvements

Trafford Road
junction
improvements

Stockport
Town Centre
Access Plan

Stockport Town Centre
Structure Enhancements

Network-wide
rail service
improvements

Network-wide
rail service
improvements

Trans-Pennine Route
upgrade electrification
to Stalybridge

Mills Hill station
upgrade and
Park & Ride

Mottram Moor
and A57(T) to A57
Link Roads

Salford Bolton
Network
Improvements

City Centre
North West:
New Bailey

Improved wayfinding,
pedestrian links and public
realm in the city centre

Metrolink capacity
improvements
(Bury – Altrincham)

Park & Ride
upgrades at
Radcliffe and
Whitefield

Metrolink capacity
improvements
(Shaw and Crompton –
East Didsbury)

Metrolink capacity
improvements
(Bury – Altrincham)

Withington
Park & Ride

Parkway
Park & Ride

M58/M6
interchange
upgrade

Daisy Hill access for all
improvements and
bridge deck replacement

Irlam access for all
improvements

Walkden access for all
improvements and
Park & Ride

Simister Island
improvements

Salford Central
station upgrade

Poynton
Relief Road

Kingsway Business Park
Northern Loop

M60 J21
improvements

Manchester
Airport

to Leeds

M602

P
age 96

marshj
Draft



M62

M
60

M61

M
61

M58

M6

M
6

M6

M62

M56

M67

M
56

M60

M60

M
60

M
66

M62

Whitworth

Marsden

New Mills

Whaley
Bridge

Styal
Poynton

CHORLEY

ST HELENS

WILMSLOW

WARRINGTON

Culcheth

Lymm

Billinge

Haydock

Adlington

Skelmersdale

Newton-le-
Willows

RUNCORN

WIDNES

Handforth

Wigan

Bolton

Rochdale

Ashton-
under-Lyne

Bury

Oldham

Royton

Stretford

Stalybridge

Hyde

Hattersley

Farnworth

Little Hulton Prestwich

Radcliffe

Leigh

Hindley

Swinton

Stockport

Altrincham

WIGAN

BOLTON

ROCHDALE

TAMESIDE

SALFORD

HALTON

LANCASHIRE

LANCASHIRE

CHESHIRE
EAST

WEST
YORKSHIRE

DERBYSHIRE

WARRINGTON

BLACKBURN
WITH DARWEN

MERSEYSIDE

MANCHESTER

STOCKPORT

BURY

TRAFFORD

OLDHAM

City centre

In the next five years, we aim to complete
business cases for early delivery of...

Subject to funding and business case approval

• Implementation of the Congestion Deal
• Smart, integrated ticketing
• Reform of the bus market
• Electric Bus Fleet Investment
• Metrolink reliability, capacity and
   service improvements, and stop upgrades
• Further investment in
   the Bee Network (see map 4)
• Clean Air Plan measures
• Streets for All network improvements
• Travel Hubs/Park & Ride upgrades
• Highways maintenance and renewal programmes
• Partnership options for management
   and improvement of local rail stations
• Station accessibility improvements
• Support for new technologies,
   e.g. Mobility as a Service
• Bus Stop Enhancements, Bus Marginal Gains
   and Bus Pinch Point Programmes
• Implementation of the GM Freight
   and Logistics Strategy 

Other strategic interventions
not shown on the map:

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2020  
16 October 2020

Metrolink and
Metro/Tram-Train services

Streets for All & Quality Bus Transit and
bus network improvements

Town and city centre improvements,
including interchanges and public realm

Rapid Transit

Rail infrastructure improvements

Streets for All & bus corridor upgrade
and new bus corridors

High speed rail

New highway links associated
with new developments

Motorway improvements

Other new highway links

Local road network improvements

Asset Management and
Maintenance Programmes

Rail service improvements

These interventions are those with potential to be delivered by 2025.

MAP 2

Existing land supply growth areas

GMSF site allocation

Potential new or
replacement stations

Potential new Metrolink stops
Manchester

Airport

Additional buses
on LSM Busway

Tram-Train
Pathfinder project:
Manchester–Hale

Tram-Train Pathfinder project:
Manchester Airport–Wilmslow

Metrolink
extension
to Terminal 2

Wigan East-West
road infrastructure

Beal Valley/
Broadbent Moss
Spine Road

Further phases of
Western Gateway
Infrastructure Scheme
(WGIS)

Implementation of
Stockport Station
Masterplan Stockport Town Centre West

Accessibility Package

Stockport Town Centre East
Accessibility Package

South Stockport
rail infrastructure
improvements 

Greenfield station
disabled access
improved

Trans-Pennine
route upgrade

Godley Green
and Hattersley
pedestrian/cycle
bridge connection

Manchester Airport
station upgrade

M60 J24–J4
Motorway improvements

Wigan HS2
Growth Strategy
(early interventions)

Manchester Piccadilly HS2
Growth Strategy (early
interventions and powers)

City Centre Transport
Strategy interventions

Stockport HS2
Growth Strategy
(early interventions)

M60 J19
improvements

Oldham Town Centre:
Accessible Oldham
Connectivity Package
(Phase 2)

Improve Piccadilly–
Victoria Metrolink
frequency

Denton Island
improvements

Manchester
Northern Gateway
bus corridor

M62 North-East Corridor
(Northern Gateway)
local bus network

M62 North-East Corridor
(Northern Gateway)
express bus corridor

Sale West
bus corridor

New Carrington
bus corridor

A57 Regent Road
KRN Carriageway
resurfacing   

Elton Reservoir
Link Road

Elton Reservoir
Metrolink stop
and Travel Hub/
Park & Ride

S4A & QBT
(Bolton–Bury
Rochdale)

S4A & bus corridor upgrade
(A57 Manchester–Hattersley)

A6 Stockport to High Lane
Streets for All and Bus Route
Improvement Package

S4A & QBT
(Wigan–Bolton)

S4A
(Farnworth)

S4A (Stretford)

S4A & QBT
(MediaCityUK–
Salford Crescent)

S4A & QBT
(A6 Manchester–
Little Hulton)

S4A & QBT
(Wigan–
Hindley–Leigh)

S4A & QBT
(Rochdale–
Oldham–Ashton)

Cop Road Metrolink stop
and Travel Hub/Park & Ride

Rochdale Station Travel Hub/
Park & Ride upgrade

Bus Rapid Transit
(Airport to the east)

M62 North-East Corridor
(Northern Gateway)
Distributor Road

Bredbury Economic Corridor
Improvement Package A560 Stockport Rd/

Mottram Old Rd
Travel Corridor 

Oldham Mumps
area and access
to Southlink
development site

Mancunian Way
Resurfacing and
Refurbishment
Scheme

Timperley Wedge/
Roundthorn Medipark
proposals

Heywood
Queens Park Bridge
major structure
enhancements

Manchester Street
Viaduct refurbishment,
Oldham

Bolton Town Centre
junction improvements

Bolton KRN Structures
refurbishment

Radcliffe
Town Centre
improvements

A58 St Marys Gate/
Manchester Road
Streets for All Package 

Salford Quays
Northern Access

City of Salford
Community Stadium
Access Enhancements

A34 Area Access
Package

Metrolink extension
towards Davenport Green

(including Metrolink
stop upgrade)

Bury Interchange
redevelopment

Rochdale Station
Gateway improvements

Streets for All
improvements:
St Mary’s Way

Bury Town Centre
Streets for All

S4A
(Deansgate)

New Guided Busway
stop north of
Mosley Common

Streets for All
improvements:
Hyde Town Centre

Streets for All
improvements: Wharfside

Streets for All
improvements:
Trafford Civic Quarter

Warrington line
improvements

M6 J23
improvements

Eccles New Road/
South Langworthy Rd
refurbishment 

Structures Improvement
Package – Stockport   

A58 Angouleme Way
and Peel Way major
maintenance/renewal   

Rochdale line electrification

Tram-Train Pathfinder project:
Oldham to Heywood via Rochdale

Sandhills
Metrolink stop

Electrification from
Bolton to Wigan

M602

Manchester Airport
highway improvements

P
age 97

marshj_1
Draft



M62

M602

Whitworth

Marsden

New Mills

Whaley
Bridge

Styal

Handforth
Poynton

CHORLEY

WILMSLOW

WARRINGTON

Wigan

Stockport

Culcheth

Lymm

Billinge

Haydock

Adlington

Skelmersdale

Newton-le-
Willows

RUNCORN

WIDNES

Rochdale

Bury

Altrincham

Bolton

Ashton-
under-Lyne

Oldham

Stalybridge

Heywood

Middleton

BOLTON

ROCHDALE

OLDHAM

TAMESIDEMANCHESTER

HALTON

LANCASHIRE

LANCASHIRE

CHESHIRE
EAST

WEST
YORKSHIRE

DERBYSHIRE

WARRINGTON

BLACKBURN
WITH DARWEN

MERSEYSIDE

STOCKPORT

WIGAN

SALFORD

TRAFFORD

BURY

M
60

M61

M
61

M58

M6

M
6

M6

M62

M56

M67

M
56

M60

M60

M60

M
66

M62

SEJS

SEJS

SEJS

NWQS

NWQS

NWQS

NWQS

NWQS

City centre

NWQS

SEJS

TPTS Trans-Pennine Tunnel Study

M60 South East Junction Study

North West Quadrant Study

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2020

SEMMMS South East Manchester Multi-Modal
Study (SEMMMS) Refresh

Metrolink and
Metro/Tram-Train services

Rapid Transit

Rail infrastructure improvements

High speed rail

Streets for All & Quality Bus Transit and
bus network improvements
Streets for All & bus corridor upgrade
and new bus corridors

Motorway improvements

New highway links associated
with new developments

Other new highway links

Local road network improvements

Town centre improvements,
including interchanges and
public realm

In the next five years, we will develop options for...

Looking beyond this five year development
programme, we will investigate potential
rapid transit corridors:
• Airport – Carrington – Irlam
• Ashton – Oldham
• Bolton – Bury / Bolton – Radcliffe
• Marple – Stockport
• Oldham – Grotton – Greenfield
• Oldham – Royton
• Tyldesley – Hindley Green – Wigan  

MAP 3

These are the interventions which need further investigation or development
in order to identify future options and determine feasibility. This work may
identify interventions that could be delivered by 2025, and we will aim to
achieve that wherever possible, but most are longer term projects that would
be delivered in later years.

Existing land supply growth areas

GMSF site allocation

Subject to funding and business case approval

16 October 2020

Station Alliance stations

Other strategic interventions not shown on the map:
• Further investment in the Bee Network (see Map 4)
• Streets for All network improvements
• Further Travel Hubs/Park & Ride proposals
• Further electrification of rail lines
• New stations
• Platform lengthening
• Station accessibility improvements
• Metrolink reliability, capacity and service improvements,
   and stop upgrades
• Support for new technologies, e.g. Mobility as a Service
• Further Freight & Logistics programmes
• Integrated Rail Plan interventions
• Further metro/tram-train routes
   linked to the Regional Centre metro tunnel

Manchester
Airport SEMMMS

SEMMMS

SEMMMS

Tintwistle and
Hollingworth:
further interventions

A6 to M60
Relief Road

Regional centre
Metro tunnel

HS2 Tunnel

High Speed 2

High Speed 2

North West Manchester
Rail Study improvements

North West
Manchester
Rail Study
improvements

Manchester Airport:
HS2 and NPR station
and Growth Strategy

Manchester Piccadilly:
HS2 and NPR station
and Growth Strategy

Chat Moss and West Coast
Rail Study improvements

Port Salford
rail freight link 

Improved links between
Eccles rail & Metrolink

North East Manchester
Rail Study improvements

South Manchester
Rail Study improvements

South East Manchester
Rail Study improvements

Stockport –
Station Alliance
Enhancement
Program

Mossley station
accessibility
improvements

South Manchester
Highway and 
Transport Study

M60 J9–J14
improvements

M60 J21–J24
Smart Motorway

Metro/Tram-Train
on the Atherton line

Metrolink extension
towards Port Salford/
Salford Stadium

Metrolink connection
MediaCity–Salford Crescent

Further new Metrolink
connections between
Salford Crescent,
Inner Salford
and the City Centre

Metrolink extension
to Stalybridge

Metro/rail/Tram-Train
Stockport to Tameside
via Denton and Reddish

Metro/Tram-Train
on the Glossop line

Wigan HS2
Growth Strategy

Northern
Powerhouse
Rail to Sheffield

Northern Powerhouse
Rail to Liverpool

Northern Powerhouse
Rail to Leeds

Metro/Tram-Train
on the Marple line

Metro/Tram-Train
Stockport to
Manchester Airport

Metro/Tram-Train
Cornbrook to Manchester
Airport via Timperley

Bus Rapid Transit
(Manchester Airport
to Altrincham)

Metro/Tram-Train
East Didsbury to
Stockport/Hazel Grove

Manchester Airport
Metrolink Western Leg

The Quays further
connectivity
improvements

Oldham Mumps
Interchange
redevelopment

M60 J8 link road
improvements

Metro/Tram-Train
on the Warrington line

Bus Rapid Transit extension
to Lowton and Golborne

Metrolink
connection
to Middleton

Metrolink connection
Middleton to Oldham

M61 J6
Link Road

Ashton-in-Makerfield
Interchange upgrades

Metro/Tram-Train
Rochdale–Heywood–Bury

Bredbury area
highway
improvements

A49 Standish
Link Road

Lane Head
improvements

M66 improvements
including J3

Stalybridge Town Centre
transport interchange

M66 J2
improvements M62 J19

improvements

Streets for All
improvements:
Heywood Town Centre

Streets for All
improvements:
Middleton
Town Centre

S4A & bus corridor upgrade
(A56 Bury–Ramsbottom)

S4A bus corridor
upgrade (A56
Manchester–Bury)

S4A & bus corridor upgrade
(A56 Manchester–Altrincham)

S4A & QBT
(Ashton–
Stockport)

S4A & QBT (A6 Manchester–
Stockport College)

A57–M62
link road

Westhoughton
Multi-Modal
Package

Salford Crescent
masterplan
access package

Stockport HS2
Growth Strategy

Manchester Airport
Western Link

Metro/Tram-Train
Manchester Airport to
the west and southwest
(Mid Cheshire)

M6 J25
all-movements
junction

Bus Rapid Transit from
M62 North-East Corridor
(Northern Gateway) and
surrounding towns to the
Regional Centre

TPTS

TPTS

P
age 98

marshj_2
Draft



DELIVERY | OUR BUS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 26 

Our Bus 

Summary 

53. Local bus, Quality Bus Transit and bus rapid transit are integral to the delivery of the Our 
Network concept set out by the Mayor of Greater Manchester in June 2019 and in our 
2040 Transport Strategy.  

54. Over the next five years we aim to develop an ambitious investment programme to 
ensure that buses play their full role in delivering a more integrated and sustainable 
transport system. This will include: 

• Developing detailed proposals for a 95-mile network of Quality Bus Transit 
corridors across Greater Manchester which will improve the whole-journey 
experience for local bus trips;  

• Developing detailed proposals for bus rapid transit services that build on the 
success of the Guided Busway service on the Leigh - Salford - Manchester bus route; 
and 

• Measures to tackle bus pinch points on the highway network to improve the 
reliability of bus journeys.   

55. Alongside physical improvements to the highway network, bus waiting facilities and 
interchanges, we will aim to deliver a range of complementary measures to increase the 
number of sustainable journeys made in Greater Manchester. In the next five years these 
will include: 

• Delivery of measures that support Our Network for bus by making services 
integrated, accessible and affordable, including continued consideration of Bus 
Reform and trial of Our Pass, allowing free bus travel for the city-region’s 16-to-18-
year olds; 

• Development of cleaner and improved bus services to serve new housing and 
employment sites. 

56. Committed schemes, unfunded priorities (for the next five years) and longer-term 
development priorities for bus are summarised on Maps 1, 2 and 3, respectively and in 
Appendix A. 

57. Bus interventions that will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions, associated with the GMSF allocations are summarised in Appendix C.   

 

  

Page 99



DELIVERY | OUR BUS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 27 

Introduction to Our Bus 
58. This section summarises the local bus, Quality Bus Transit and bus rapid transit delivery 

programme. Buses plays a vital role in tackling congestion and providing access to work, 
leisure and other destinations. Increasing bus patronage through improved services and 
infrastructure is key to achieving our Right Mix 2040 vision of zero net growth in motor 
vehicle traffic.   

 

Local Bus  

59. Bus is by far our most dominant public transport mode, accounting for four in every five 
public transport journeys in Greater Manchester, and it plays a vital role in reducing 
congestion and improving accessibility for people who have no access to a car. However, 
there is the potential for bus to contribute even more effectively to our overall public 
transport strategy, with 58% of our residents either using the bus occasionally, or would 
consider using the bus if a good service was provided. 

60. A number of barriers prevent the bus reaching its potential in Greater Manchester. These 
include a fragmented bus market with multiple operators, a complex and ever-changing 
ticketing offer, lack of confidence that buses will turn up or arrive at destinations on 
time, and the perception that the bus is slow compared to other modes. Commercial and 
subsidised bus mileage also continues to decline (reducing by 21% and 33% respectively 
between 2010 and 2018), impacting residents who rely on buses to access work, school, 
essential services and leisure. Combined with changes such as the introduction of 
Metrolink, these challenges have contributed to a reduction in bus use, with patronage 
declining by 17% between 2008-09 and 2017-18. 

Page 100



DELIVERY | OUR BUS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 28 

61. Overcoming these barriers is essential to enabling bus to play its part in realising our aim 
for a fully integrated transport system that encourages people out of their cars. To 
achieve this, over the next five years we will need to invest in our bus network to better 
integrate services with other modes, such as rail, Metrolink, walking and cycling, deliver 
a simple and integrated fares system, improve the customer experience on the bus, and 
continue to grow our network. As with other public transport modes Covid-19 has 
resulted in a reduction in bus patronage.  We will continue to review patronage levels 
following recovery from the pandemic and any potential medium to longer term 
influences on bus travel that may affect Greater Manchester’s investment decisions. The 
following outlines key steps in our bus investment plans to achieve this up to 2025.   

62. Bus Reform: Following the introduction of the Bus Services Act (2017), the GMCA asked 
TfGM to carry out an assessment of a bus franchising scheme. After its completion and 
the conclusion of an independent audit the GMCA decided to proceed to consultation on 
a proposed franchising scheme which ran from 14 October 2019 to 8 January 2020. The 
Covid-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on Greater Manchester’s bus market, 
including timetables, revenues, passenger numbers and the public’s attitudes to public 
transport. Due to this, further work will be undertaken to assess the impact of 
coronavirus on the bus reform process.  

63. Concessionary support: TfGM, on behalf of the GMCA, will continue to provide access to 
government funded concessionary fares for  elderly and disabled people. It also funds 
concessionary fares for children and for some women affected by changes in the state 
pension age In September 2019, Our Pass was launched as a 2-year pilot providing young 
people aged 16-18 free travel on local bus services. Please see the Fares and Ticketing 
section (page 58) for more information. 

64. Supported services: The majority of Greater Manchester bus services are run by 
operators on a commercial basis. TfGM, on behalf of the GMCA, will continue to provide 
funding for parts of the bus network that operators consider not commercially viable but 
which are essential to connect people with work and local services such as education, 
healthcare, shopping and leisure.  With a continuing reduction in commercial mileage 
there remains pressure on the supported network to maintain service provision with no 
additional funding available. In order to maximise the benefit to passengers obtained 
from limited funds, there will be a continued process of refining the criteria used to 
decide which services to support.  Challenges include how to develop a sustainable 
network that supports the night-time economy and meets the needs of night-time 
workers as well as other passengers. TfGM will work with bus operators and major 
employers such as the Airport to achieve this.  

65. Accessible Transport: TfGM, on behalf of the GMCA, funds and manages the delivery of 
the Ring and Ride service, which provides door-to-door, demand responsive transport to 
Greater Manchester residents who find it difficult to use conventional public transport 
due to disability or limited mobility.  TfGM will ensure key service performance standards 
are maintained in order to meet the service’s social inclusion objectives.  Commitment to 
this service is highlighted by the support of the Combined Authority to procure twenty 
new vehicles for the fleet.   

66. TfGM also funds flexible transport services under the Local Link brand for local journeys 
in areas where fixed-route public transport services are limited. TfGM is currently 

Page 101



DELIVERY | OUR BUS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 29 

reviewing Accessible Transport across the region to ensure that it is delivered in the most 
cost-effective manner: that includes exploring the introduction of new flexible bus 
services serving rail stations and Metrolink stops.  Mobility as a Service is also an 
important concept in how Demand Responsive Transport evolves (see the Future 
Mobility section for more detail).  

67. School Travel: As of November 2020, TfGM, on behalf of the GMCA, provides dedicated 
school bus services to 119 education establishments: one primary school, 114 secondary 
schools and four further education colleges.  The provision of these services is 
undertaken through around 300 contracts which provide nearly 700 daily school 
journeys and carry approximately 30,000 passengers per day. TfGM also owns a fleet of 
78 Yellow School Buses. These services promote modal shift and help to reduce 
congestion by providing dedicated transport to schools. TfGM is currently reviewing 
school services across the city-region to maximise their potential to reduce congestion 
and to ensure they deliver benefits to students and schools as cost-effectively as 
possible. 

68. Draft GMSF new allocations: The draft GMSF includes a number of large new allocations 
of land to accommodate economic and population growth.  These have the potential to 
support new or improved bus services – for example, New Carrington and the M62 
North-East Corridor.  The Locality Assessments carried out for the GMSF allocations have 
developed potential investments required to support good public transport accessibility 
to the sites.  These interventions are summarised in Appendix C.  Further studies will be 
required to test the detailed feasibility, potential routing, operating costs and funding 
mechanisms for new or improved bus services to these locations.  

Quality Bus Transit 

69. Quality Bus Transit Corridors and Bus Corridor Upgrades: TfGM is undertaking a study 
of potential Quality Bus Transit Corridors that create a step-change in the experience of 
taking the bus for local journeys, and for access to the rapid transit network and town 
centres. These corridors will be delivered through whole-route upgrades of key bus 
routes, transforming orbital and radial connections between local centres across Greater 
Manchester.  There will be a strong focus on journey quality, reliability and integration of 
bus into an attractive urban realm.  

70. Quality Bus Transit will include bus priority measures, attractive and comfortable waiting 
areas, and creation of a more attractive urban realm that will encourage the high-density 
land-uses that bus travel facilitates.  Attention will also be paid to improving access to 
bus stops from homes and destinations, through enhancements to the surrounding 
walking and cycling networks.  Quality Bus Transit will be particularly important to 
support the regeneration of our town centres and for travel across the wider city-region. 

71. Quality Bus Transit is initially being investigated for the Rochdale-Oldham-Ashton 
corridor, with additional corridors being developed over the next five years: 

• Wigan-Bolton 

• Bolton-Bury-Rochdale 

• MediaCityUK-Salford Crescent 

Page 102



DELIVERY | OUR BUS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 30 

• A6 Manchester City Centre-Little Hulton  

• Wigan-Hindley – Leigh 

72. Alongside Quality Bus Transit, a number of bus corridor upgrade routes have been 
identified for development in Greater Manchester. Typically corridors that have less 
interaction with town centres and residential neighbourhoods, these routes will focus on 
delivering improvements to bus journey time and reliability, through bus priority 
measures. Figure 8 below shows the proposed network of Quality Bus Transit and bus 
corridor upgrades to be developed over the next five years. 

Bus Rapid Transit: 

73. Following the success of the guided busway service on the Leigh-Salford-Manchester 
corridor we are exploring options for new bus rapid transit links for longer and middle-
distance journeys.  Potential services include a network of routes from the Airport to the 
east (towards southern areas of the borough of Stockport) and a service to the west 
(from the Airport HS2 station towards Altrincham and Carrington) and also new links to 
the M62 North-East Corridor development area. There could be potential to extend the 
Leigh-Salford-Manchester Guided Busway service further west, for example towards 
Wigan.  

74. Further studies will be required to test the detailed feasibility, potential routing, and 
operating costs of new bus rapid transit links to these locations. Increasing the reach, 
reliability and capacity of our bus rapid transit network will also help us to reduce 
congestion, air pollution and greenhouse gas emissions by providing a fast and reliable 
alternative to the car. This will include exploring options to better connect bus rapid 
transit stops through travel hubs that support journeys by cycling, walking and emerging 
options, such as e-scooters or hire bikes, alongside park and ride facilities. 

Figure 8: Greater Manchester’s Future Quality Bus Transit and Bus Corridor Upgrade 
Routes 

  

Page 103



DELIVERY | OUR METROLINK 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 31 

Our Metrolink 
Summary 

75. Metrolink, and its evolution through the use of tram-train technology, is a key element in 
the delivery of Our Network.   

76. Our Prospectus for Rail (published in 2019) sets out what is needed for a 
transformational change in Metrolink light rail services – alongside National Rail services 
– so that all rail-based travel can play a full part in the future prosperity of Greater 
Manchester. Greater Manchester’s record of success with Metrolink shows that you can 
deliver high quality rail-based services when those who design and deliver them 
understand and are accountable to the local customers they serve.  

77. Over the next five years we plan to improve reliability, capacity, and customer 
experience on Metrolink. We aim to achieve this through: 

• Investing and renewing our Metrolink fleet assets through 27 new trams and 
associated infrastructure; 

• Improving the Tram Management System and communications network, and 
providing turnback facility enhancements to increase capacity and resilience across 
the network; 

• Developing and introducing new stops to support new developments, enhancing 
passenger facilities at existing stops and providing better access to stops; and 

• Exploring opportunities for new Metrolink connections, including testing the 
feasibility of tram-train on existing rail lines. 

78. These activities represent a significant investment in the quality, capacity and reach of 
public transport in Greater Manchester, providing an attractive alternative to the private 
car and supporting our 2040 Transport Strategy vision.  

79. Our Metrolink committed schemes, unfunded priorities (for the next five years) and 
longer-term development priorities are summarised on Maps 1, 2 and 3, respectively and 
in Appendix A. 

80. Our Metrolink interventions that will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and 
developer contributions, associated with the GMSF allocations are summarised in 
Appendix C.   

  

Page 104



DELIVERY | OUR METROLINK 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 32 

Introduction to Our Metrolink 

81. Our public transport network plays a vital role in tackling congestion and providing 
access to work, leisure and other destinations. Increasing the use of public transport is 
key to achieving our Right Mix objectives of a non-car mode share of at least 50% of trips 
in Greater Manchester by 2040, and zero net growth in motor vehicle traffic in Greater 
Manchester.  

 

Metrolink 

82. Fixed-track rail (including Metrolink and tram-train) and bus rapid transit (which in this 
Delivery Plan means using bus technology to create services with some of the same 
characteristics as rail-based rapid transit) services are popular alternatives to car for 
longer journeys.  They form an important element of our integrated and comprehensive 
network. Greater Manchester has invested heavily in its rapid transit network in recent 
years, as demonstrated by the recent opening of the Metrolink Trafford Park line and the 
Leigh-Salford-Manchester guided busway service. 

83. Our Network Phase 1: Metrolink introduced contactless payment in July 2019, enabling 
a daily fare-cap for journeys on the network; the Trafford Park Line opened in early 2020; 
an additional 27 new trams have been ordered, adding 15% more capacity to the 
network; further Metrolink extensions are being explored, including an extension of the 
Airport line to Terminal 2 and Airport City, completion of the ‘Western Leg’ of the Airport 
line, and longer-term proposals to consider new connections to Port Salford, Middleton, 
Stalybridge and Stockport; the travel hub concept – including expanded park and ride 

Page 105



DELIVERY | OUR METROLINK 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 33 

provision – is being developed; and three tram-train Pathfinder development projects 
are underway (see below). A draft feasibility study of tram-train services on the Atherton 
line has also been completed. 

84. Building on Metrolink’s success: Following a decade of expansion and associated 
patronage growth, the Metrolink operation is now focused on improving reliability, 
capacity and the customer experience of the existing network in order to further grow 
ridership and revenue. The renewals programme will invest in timely asset renewal. 
Particularly high standards will be applied to the maintenance and renewal of ‘golden 
assets’ - those that are critical to the operation of the system, such as signals or 
overhead lines. The Tram Management System project will be completed: this provides 
capacity improvements and real time passenger information. Other interventions will be 
implemented to improve customer experience at existing Metrolink stops.  

85. More trams: Service frequency has increased on services to Ashton-under-Lyne, and the 
network will also benefit from the 27 additional trams and associated infrastructure to 
be delivered through the Transforming Cities Fund during 2020 and 2021. These will be 
used to increase the number of double units on the busiest services.  

86. New Metrolink connections: The Metrolink network has recently successfully opened a 
further expansion, through the completion of the new £350m Trafford Park Line in early 
2020. A bid was submitted to Government in December 2017 to extend Metrolink to an 
expanded Terminal 2 and the Airport City development at Manchester Airport, as the 
first phase of completing the Western Leg of the Airport Line. When complete, the 
Western Leg could serve Wythenshawe Hospital, the MediPark development, existing 
and proposed housing at Newall Green and Timperley Wedge, the proposed HS2/NPR 
Airport Station and surrounding development, Terminal 2, Airport City and the existing 
Interchange at Manchester Airport. The Western Leg is envisaged as a core component 
of unlocking a network of future services to the Airport zone using tram-train 
technology.  A number of other potential new Metrolink connections have been 
proposed (see Map 3). These require further prioritisation to determine the sequencing 
of scheme development activity.  The emerging Rapid Transit sub-strategy, which we 
intend to publish in the coming months, will play a prominent role in that prioritisation.  
This will allow us to focus our finite scheme development resources on those 
interventions that most effectively deliver our Right Mix targets. 

87. Improved Metrolink Connections: There is also an intention to provide increased 
Metrolink frequency between Piccadilly and Victoria stations. In the HS2 and NPR 
Growth Strategy2, we set out a plan to reposition Metrolink in a new integrated Piccadilly 
Station which will allow for significant future growth – this will enable additional 
metro/tram-train service development and further the GMCA’s intention to provide 
direct services from Rochdale and Oldham into Piccadilly. 

New Stops and Upgrades 

88. Upgrades have already been made at Cornbrook and Shudehill, and further Metrolink 
stop improvements are planned. With an initial focus on the Bury line, improvements at 
some stops will include measures such as new track crossings and access routes to stops, 
better lighting and CCTV, shelter renewals and carbon reduction measures. The 

 
2 https://www.tfgm.com/press-release/hs2-npr-growth-strategy 

Page 106

https://www.tfgm.com/press-release/hs2-npr-growth-strategy


DELIVERY | OUR METROLINK 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 34 

interventions listed in the Fares and Ticketing section of this document (see page 58) will 
also help us to build on Metrolink’s success.  Expansion of the Cornbrook stop will be 
investigated in association with additional track to enhance the operational flexibility 
and capacity of this major junction on the Metrolink System. 

89. Business cases are being developed for new Metrolink stops to serve existing 
populations and potential new developments at Cop Road on the Oldham-Rochdale line 
and at Elton Reservoir on the Bury Line.  

Tram-Train  

90. We are currently studying the feasibility of testing tram-train technology in Greater 
Manchester, enabling new light rail vehicles to run on the same rail lines as trains. Tram-
train technology and operations are common in other countries and will initially be 
tested through pilot Pathfinder projects on the Oldham to Heywood via Rochdale, 
Manchester to Hale via Timperley and Manchester Airport to Wilmslow via Styal sections 
of the network. A vehicle manufacturer market engagement exercise will take place to 
understand what technologies and suppliers could be available to help deliver a tram-
train vehicle in the future as part of a wider rapid transit network. If successful, this could 
pave the way for a further expansion of the Metrolink network to make much better use 
of and create direct connections with our existing, extensive rail network, by the 2020s 
and 2030s.  

91. Whilst it is a potentially transformational solution to increase the reach of our rapid 
transit network, there are significant hurdles to be overcome before tram-train 
technology can be implemented. We will need to consider the integration with long-
distance rail passenger and freight services; the impact on existing rail and Metrolink 
contracts; and the financial and operational management of the new services. As such, 
we are working closely with Network Rail to progress this and embed the concept into 
the existing network. 

92. Regional Centre Metro Tunnel: Increasing demand on the rapid transit network will in 
the long-term need to be accommodated by a major increase in rapid transit capacity in 
the city centre. Besides providing a step-change in capacity, a Regional Centre metro 
tunnel would improve rapid transit services between locations throughout Greater 
Manchester through conversion of shorter-distance-focused suburban rail lines to create 
a network of high-capacity metro services. It should however be noted that a Regional 
Centre metro tunnel is a major undertaking and would take a long time to develop and 
years to deliver from the start of construction.  

93. A high-capacity metro system for Greater Manchester would provide fast and frequent 
rail-based services with excellent access to network hubs including Manchester City 
Centre.  New sections of segregated infrastructure – probably involving tunnelling – 
would deliver a step-change in capacity through permitting longer vehicles than are 
feasible on the Metrolink system at present. 

 

 

 

Page 107



DELIVERY |OUR RAIL 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 35 

Our Rail 
Summary 

94. Rail is the third key element in the delivery of the public transport aspirations of Our 
Network. The following activities represent a significant long-term investment in the 
capacity and connectivity of public transport in Greater Manchester.  

95. Whilst HS2 and NPR are potentially transformational in terms of increased capacity and 
economic growth, further investment is needed in advance of these interventions to 
meet passenger needs.  Greater Manchester believes that if rail is to offer more 
convenient journeys and higher capacity in the long term, a step-change in ‘metro’ 
capacity is needed, namely turn-up-and-go services offering excellent access to network 
hubs. A higher-capacity metro network would boost the growth of the city-region and 
provide capacity in Manchester City Centre to operate most or all of the metro services. 

96. Metro conversion of suburban rail lines would release capacity on the National Rail 
network for improved services on other routes, including inter-urban services. Access to 
HS2/NPR at Manchester Piccadilly would be much-improved and would not be impaired 
by the capacity constraints that will otherwise adversely affect rail access to Manchester 
City Centre by 2040.  However, metro conversion is a long-term project, and there are 
urgently-needed improvements to the National Rail network in Greater Manchester in 
the short to medium term.  Many National Rail services will not be suitable for metro 
conversion, and long-term investment will be needed in the infrastructure used by these 
services 

97. Over the next five years, working with rail industry partners, we plan to progress a 
number of key priorities for GM and continue to develop long-term, large-scale projects 
that will improve the reliability, capacity and customer experience of rail travel through: 

• Central Manchester Rail Network (including Castlefield corridor) enhancements; 

• Stockport area rail infrastructure improvements; 

• A programme of rail improvements on key rail corridors such as the Warrington rail 
(CLC) line;  

• Station enhancements including access for all improvements and platform 
lengthening; 

• Train lengthening and introduction of new rolling stock; 

• Development of new stations proposals; and 

• HS2 / NPR (Northern Powerhouse Rail) including growth strategies at Piccadilly, the 
Airport, Stockport and Wigan, as well as Northern Chord and Golborne Link. 

Page 108



DELIVERY |OUR RAIL 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 36 

98. Rail committed schemes, unfunded priorities (for the next five years) and longer-term 
development priorities are summarised on Maps 1, 2 and 3, respectively and in Appendix 
A. 

99. Rail interventions that will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions, associated with the GMSF allocations, are summarised in Appendix C.   

Introduction to Our Rail 

100. The National Rail network in GM has seen sustained growth in passenger and freight 
volumes over the last 20 years, as a result of the growth of the city-region and in 
particular the Regional Centre.  Passengers are dependent on rail to access jobs, 
education, leisure and other opportunities available across the area. The current rail 
offering includes local services for commuters, regional services between core cities and 
to the city- region’s airport, and long-distance services that connect GM with the rest of 
the country. 

101. The network doesn’t always meet passenger expectations, however, and customer 
satisfaction is low.  GM launched its Our Prospectus for Rail in 2019, a masterplan to 
transform rail-based transport and deliver a doubling of the number of rail-based 
journeys in the city-region by 2040.  In support of Our Prospectus for Rail, this section (as 
well as many of the improvements outlined in the previous Our Metrolink chapter) 
outlines the committed, planned investments and longer-term priorities for rail in 
Greater Manchester, including improvements to the classic rail network, new rail 
stations, and looking ahead to High Speed Rail.  

 

Page 109



DELIVERY |OUR RAIL 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 37 

Our Prospectus for Rail 

102. In September 2019, the Mayor (on behalf of the GMCA) launched Our Prospectus for 
Rail, which sets out Greater Manchester’s requirements for a transformational change in 
rail-based modes in the city region. 

103. It made the case for greater devolution, and an alignment of governance procedures 
across TfGM, Transport for the North, HS2 Ltd and the Department for Transport. It also 
outlined a delivery plan and time frame for integrating fares and ticketing across all 
modes, reshaping rail franchises, introducing additional rolling stock, longer and more 
frequent trains, and for testing tram-train operation in Greater Manchester.  

104. The Rail Prospectus makes clear Greater Manchester’s ambition for a world-class metro 
system - similar to those found in other successful city-regions - which is high-capacity, 
high-quality, fast, frequent, reliable, accessible, and fully integrated with the wider 
transport network.   

105. In addition to these interventions, we also view the delivery of High Speed 2 – including 
to Manchester Piccadilly, Manchester Airport, Stockport and Wigan – as a committed 
intervention. High Speed 2 will be delivered beyond the timescales of this Delivery Plan, 
with Phase 1 now due to be complete between 2028-2031, and Phase 2 complete 
between 2035-2040. HS2 is illustrated on Map 3.  

106. The most recent Northern and TransPennine Express rail franchises - which commenced 
in 2016 - were contracted to deliver an additional 40,000 seats on services every day 
across the North by December 2019. This commitment - and other franchise 
commitments, such as major investment in new rolling stock for local services, and a 
‘step-change’ in service levels on many local routes - represented a significant step 
towards achieving many of Greater Manchester’s strategic rail priorities.  Whilst these 
operators have faced many well-publicised challenges – culminating in Northern’s 
franchise being terminated early, and replaced by a government-run Operator of Last 
Resort (OLR) - Greater Manchester’s position is that we will continue to work with the 
Government, the Rail North Partnership and Transport for the North to ensure these 
substantial improvements are delivered for the benefit of Greater Manchester’s 
residents.  

107. In future, it is hoped that the rail operations can be shaped so that they are better 
aligned with Greater Manchester’s wider objectives. Taking the opportunity of reform in 
the railway industry being brought about by the Williams Review, we are pursuing 
greater devolution for rail – as set out in the Prospectus.  This work will be aligned and 
consistent with progress being made by TfN for further devolution of powers from 
central Government, which would enable the North of England and potentially TfGM to 
shape future rail arrangements around our specific requirements, make better use of 
funding, and take firmer control over the management of rail service delivery. 

108. Rail Capacity Studies: We are conducting a number of studies to understand where 
improvements are needed on our rail network and where we can work with Network Rail 
and train operators to provide more seats and more journeys. These include routes in 
Greater Manchester but also look at how we better connect with our neighbours in 
Merseyside, Lancashire, Cheshire, Yorkshire and across the North. These studies are 
crucial to building a strong evidence base to explore options for meeting future demand 

Page 110



DELIVERY |OUR RAIL 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 38 

and will help make the case for rail investment for the future. In addition, Rossendale 
Borough Council has undertaken a study to investigate options to introduce rail 
passenger services between Greater Manchester and Rossendale. Greater Manchester 
may offer its support in the future, should a sound business case be demonstrated.  

109. Rail Infrastructure: TfGM will continue to work with the rail industry to develop options 
for further electrification to address capacity and crowding issues as well as in reducing 
the carbon footprint and air-quality impact of rail operations.  Greater Manchester 
supported the development of the 2015 ‘Northern Sparks’ report which identified a 
prioritised list of electrification projects and will continue to press the case for cost-
effective electrification on routes which would offer the greatest benefits for the city-
region. We will also continue to work with Network Rail and operators to deliver the 
Salford Central station upgrade. Investing now to deliver a fit-for-purpose station for the 
needs of the future is a key short-term delivery objective. 

110. The upgrade of the Trans-Pennine route to Leeds is a national priority, with up to £3bn of 
investment earmarked by the Secretary of State for medium-term delivery in advance of 
Northern Powerhouse Rail. Electrification from Manchester to Stalybridge is committed.  
In Greater Manchester we would like to see this extended to Huddersfield / Leeds 
coupled with enhanced local train service frequency from Manchester on this route. In 
July 2020, the scheme was allocated an additional £600m by Government to ease 
congestion and improve reliability along the route, with an ambition for full 
electrification, digital signalling and additional freight capacity.   

111. The rail network is extremely congested around central Manchester, leading to conflicts 
between services and unreliability both in Greater Manchester and the North of England.  
Previously, the solution to this problem was the full implementation of the ‘Northern 
Hub’ proposals. Certain parts of these proposals have been constructed - such as the 
Ordsall Chord - but not the most critical element: the reconfiguration of Manchester 
Oxford Road station and new platforms 15 and 16 at Piccadilly station. The impact of this 
partial provision of Northern Hub planned infrastructure was evident with the 
implementation of the May 2018 timetable which saw an increase in trains along the 
Castleford Corridor (the line between Manchester Piccadilly, Oxford Road and 
Deansgate), but without the supporting infrastructure, and resulted in a major 
deterioration in train performance. 

112. In recognition of this poor performance, the cross-industry Manchester Recovery Task 
Force (MRTF) was set up late 2019 with a remit to examine both short and long-term 
solutions. TfGM is a key stakeholder in the task force and continues to provide technical 
direction and support to the process in order to achieve improved levels of train 
performance in the short term, and to press for the necessary investment in additional 
infrastructure in the longer term. 

  

Page 111



DELIVERY |OUR RAIL 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 39 

113. The case for intervention to improve the situation is already made and we will support 
industry and government in making these interventions at the earliest opportunity; 
including the case for expanding/redesigning Manchester Piccadilly so that it is fit for 
purpose for generations to come. There are still significant operational challenges which 
make it difficult to run the Castlefield Corridor reliably.  Planned frequency 
enhancements are undeliverable, and to address this, and to get better, more reliable 
use from the corridor, the following changes are needed:  

• Improved day to day operational fixes; 

• A comprehensive review of services operating along the corridor; 

• Tactical infrastructure interventions to support and optimise a revised effective, 
reliable service pattern; and 

• Long-term investment in the Castlefield Corridor.  

114. A Transport and Works Act Order for new platforms 15 and 16 at Piccadilly was 
submitted for consideration by the Secretary of State in 2015. We are yet to hear a 
conclusion from this process, pending further options analysis by Network Rail at the 
request of the Secretary of State. Greater Manchester is a key stakeholder in this analysis 
and will continue to apply pressure for the original solution proposed. 

115. Restore Your Railways: At the start of 2020 the Department for Transport launched the 
Restoring Your Railway Fund. This is an invitation for MPs, local councils and community 
groups across England and Wales to propose how they could use funding to reinstate 
axed local services and restore closed stations.  Through this programme, a study is 
underway to investigate reinstating passenger services on the Bury-Heywood-Rochdale 
lines.  Greater Manchester is awaiting the outcome of bids associated with other rail 
corridors in the city-region.  

116. Stations Alliance: TfGM has developed alternative proposals to test working in 
partnership with operators and other industry stakeholders at many Greater Manchester 
rail stations. The key benefits set out in the GMCA Case for Change for these proposals 
include the ability to undertake station improvement and community developments; 
strategic development and regeneration; targeted accessibility improvements; and 
improved station operations and multi-modal staffing. In parallel, TfGM is exploring the 
option of gaining a station licence at Horwich Parkway which will allow us to take over 
responsibility for the management and operation of the station, improving customer 
service, strengthening our management capabilities, creating efficiencies and enabling 
more multi-modal working. 

HS2 & Northern Powerhouse Rail:  

117. Development work is underway to ensure that the phased arrival of HS2 from 2028 to 
2040 brings the maximum possible benefits to Greater Manchester. This includes the 
preparation of Growth Strategies to capitalise on the benefits of HS2 at Manchester 
Piccadilly, Manchester Airport, Wigan and Stockport, and working with Transport for the 
North to develop a compelling case for investment in east-west rail connections through 
Northern Powerhouse Rail (NPR). Greater Manchester’s aspirations for high-speed rail 
are summarised in our recent HS2 and NPR Growth Strategy. The Greater Manchester 

Page 112



DELIVERY |OUR RAIL 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 40 

authorities support HS2 and NPR and want to ensure that the proposals have no 
detrimental impact on local services. TfN is also investigating the potential for a 
Manchester Airport Western Rail Link from the rail station at Manchester Airport to the 
Mid-Cheshire line near Knutsford; this would likely serve a strategic role beyond Greater 
Manchester – for example facilitating faster services from Manchester to Chester and 
North Wales. 

118. The anticipated arrival of HS2 will put pressure on capacity on the conventional rail 
network at Stockport and more widely in South Manchester.  The capacity pressure will 
be most significant during the period in which HS2 utilises the conventional rail network 
between Crewe and Manchester, before the opening of the new route via Manchester 
Airport.  The network is already operating at capacity in the area, with it proving difficult 
for the railway to accommodate additional planned train services.  We will continue to 
press for complementary interventions in the conventional network that will allow the 
full benefits of the major projects to be achieved, as well as providing additional capacity 
to improve local and regional services in the longer term. 

New stations and stops 

119. New stops and stations may be required to serve major new developments proposed in 
the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF). There is also potential for adding 
new stops and stations to serve large towns that are presently not served by rail-based 
transport.   

120. Following on from earlier work, we are further exploring the location of potential new 
stations in Greater Manchester. The ultimate purpose of this work is to provide new 
public transport options for people who live and work in the city region, contributing to 
modal shift and reducing pressure on the highway network where this can be shown to 
be viable. Findings from this work continue to emerge, but the intention is to progress 
sites with a positive economic and strategic case over the next five year period.  

121. Over the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for the early delivery of 
stations in the areas of Leigh, Lostock Parkway, Little Hulton, Golborne, Slattocks, 
Dewsnap, Gamesley, Stanley Green and Cheadle. Continued engagement with rail 
industry partners and central government is a crucial element of this ongoing process, in 
order to identify opportunities to deliver and fund these new stations. It should be noted 
that only a small number of them could feasibly be delivered between now and 2040 due 
to operational constraints, including the need to maintain a reliable and workable 
timetable. Greater Manchester will have to ensure all issues are considered before 
determining which are to be taken forward to delivery. 

122. In the next five years, we will also develop options to enhance station facilities across 
Greater Manchester. This work will be focussed on access to and from stations, and will 
support efforts to provide residential, commercial and community facilities (including 
those proposed in the GMSF). It is proposed that - subject to planning approvals and 
developer contributions - existing stations will undergo major redevelopment, and in 
some cases, there is the potential for a new station to support development. Work 
across Greater Manchester is being undertaken in collaboration between the Greater 
Manchester Station Alliance, individual local authorities, Network Rail, Northern Rail, 
TfGM, the GMCA and transport regeneration body LCR.  

Page 113



DELIVERY |OUR RAIL 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 41 

123. Beyond the five year time period covered by this Delivery Plan, we will investigate 
opportunities for new stations where demand for rail travel has increased - and where 
investment in the network makes this possible - in locations such as Diggle, White City 
and Timperley East.  

124. Station Accessibility: In April 2019, Department for Transport announced 73 stations to 
be awarded funding through the Access for All programme. In Greater Manchester, two 
stations were successful: Daisy Hill and Irlam. In March 2020 Government announced 
funding to create step-free access at Walkden station. TfGM will be working closely with 
Department for Transport, Network Rail and the train operator to progress these 
important projects. All work at successful stations is to be completed by the end of 
March 2024. 

125. In addition to these significant improvements, in October 2019, TfGM (in partnership 
with Northern Rail) applied for Department for Transport Access for All Mid-Tier 
programme funding. The £20m programme was focussed on stations where accessibility 
improvements (such as the introduction of handrails) could be delivered with up to £1 
million of Government support. TfGM and Northern were successful in their nomination 
of small-scale improvements at 22 stations in GM. It is anticipated that all interventions 
that make up that programme will be delivered by April 2024.  

 

Page 114



DELIVERY | OUR STREETS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 42 

Our Streets  
Summary 

126. Transforming Greater Manchester’s streets will be an essential component of achieving 
our Right Mix target and the network principles of our 2040 Transport Strategy. We will 
apply our Streets for All framework for everything we do on our streets.  This approach 
will deliver changes across all types of street in Greater Manchester, including 
neighbourhood streets, high streets, connector streets and strategic roads and 
motorways.  The ambition is to enable more people to walk, cycle and use public 
transport, and improve reliability for, in particular, buses and freight vehicles on the key 
route network serving our towns and Regional Centre. 

127. Over the next five years we aim to invest in the GM highway network to deliver change 
that meets the aims of Streets for All. This will include: 

• Opening 420 miles of the Bee Network through construction of £275 million of 
high-quality walking and cycling schemes, and development of an additional £215 
million of schemes proposed by the 10 local authorities; 

• Implementation of town centre Streets for All schemes that unlock regeneration, 
make streets accessible to all, and support journeys by sustainable modes at 
Farnworth and Stretford, and development of 15 further town centre schemes 
across Greater Manchester; 

• Realisation of the City Centre Transport Strategy through delivery of proposals 
including Streets for All schemes on Deansgate, Whitworth St as well as public 
realm improvements in key city centre squares such as Albert Square and Piccadilly 
Gardens;  

• Developing Quality Bus Transit Corridors that will provide reliable, attractive bus 
facilities on bus routes across Greater Manchester, prioritising connections 
between Rochdale, Oldham and Ashton – See Our Bus section; 

• Delivery of 55 miles of new routes and 140 new crossings across Greater 
Manchester by December 2021; 

• Implementation of a Greater Manchester Bike Hire scheme, the first phase in the 
regional centre, will aim to provide access to public bikes within 500 metres of 
100,000 households; and 

• Delivery of £17m of Emergency Active Travel Measures across Greater Manchester, 
including over 60km of high quality cycling and walking routes enabled (subject to a 
successful funding bid).  

Page 115



DELIVERY | OUR STREETS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 43 

128. Our Streets committed schemes, unfunded priorities (for the next five years) and longer-
term development priorities are summarised on Maps 1, 2 and 3, respectively and in 
Appendix A. 

129. Our Streets interventions that will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and 
developer contributions, associated with the GMSF allocations are summarised in 
Appendix C.   

Introduction to Our Streets  

130. We need to plan and manage how we use our roads and streets to enable more people 
to travel by public transport, walking and cycling. Growth in motorised vehicle use has 
resulted in congestion, air and noise pollution, road traffic injuries and increased 
severance between communities due to high traffic levels and speeds. We cannot build 
our way out of congestion; we have to tackle it by delivering a reliable bus network that 
competes with private car travel in terms of journey times and comfort, and a walking 
and cycling network that enables people to leave the car at home for short trips. 

131. Delivery of the 2040 vision will require developing new approaches to designing and 
managing streets across Greater Manchester. To establish this, TfGM and local 
authorities have been working to deliver pilot schemes that support the Streets for All 
objectives detailed in the 2040 Transport Strategy. These include development of the 
Bee Network, undertaking Streets for All Corridor Studies on some of the busiest roads 
in Greater Manchester, establishing new ways of managing freight and deliveries, and 
applying Streets for All principles within town centre regeneration projects.  

132. New approaches to appraising and developing new highways schemes will be required to 
support our Right Mix and zero-carbon objectives, to ensure new developments 
prioritise sustainable trips, and to make best use of our assets. Importantly, where 
schemes provide capacity for motor traffic, improvements will be delivered for walking, 
cycling and public transport by integrating new facilities, and where communities are 
bypassed, ‘locking-in’ benefits through measures to reallocate provide more space to 
active travel and public transport to ensure that traffic does not return to these streets. 

133. To support this new approach, GM will be publishing a Streets for All Strategy. This 
strategy will set out why a change in how Greater Manchester’s streets are designed and 
used is needed, the aims and objectives of Streets for All, and TfGM’s approach to 
delivery. This strategy will be complemented by a Streets for All Design Guide, which will 
support the application of this new approach. This will establish key principles for new 
infrastructure on our streets based on street type and local needs, identify best practice 
to support scheme design, delivery and maintenance, and provide an audit tool to 
ensure proposals meet the needs of all people who use our streets.  Key street types to 
Greater Manchester are shown in Figure 9 and sections below. 

  

Page 116



DELIVERY | OUR STREETS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 44 

Figure 9: Our Types of Street in Greater Manchester  

 

134. Building on this work, as part of the Congestion Deal, TfGM is updating our Sustainable 
Communities Guidance that seeks to guide delivery of sustainable transport measures 
within new development. This will form an essential tool in realising the growth set out 
in the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework, ensuring new development in the city-
region enables and prioritises healthy, sustainable journeys through the delivery of well-
connected places that support the Streets for All aims. 

135. The following sections provide an overview of how we will deliver Streets for All through 
our ambitious walking and cycling programme, activities to transform journeys across 
our multiple street types, and our approach to managing our streets, including freight 
and maintenance. Details on individual schemes are provided in the supporting 
information for Maps 1: committed schemes to be delivered in the next five years, Map 2 
- schemes for business case development and Map 3 – schemes for option development. 

Cycling and Walking 

136. The provision of world-class walking and cycling infrastructure, supported by strong 
community engagement, will enable active travel to become the natural choice for short 
journeys and, in turn, will make Greater Manchester a healthier, cleaner and safer place 
to live.  The interventions in this section will primarily target shorter distance journeys of 
5km or less and will contribute to achieving our Right Mix vision of 50% of trips to be 
undertaken by walking, cycling or public transport by 2040, as well as the objectives of 
Streets for All. 

 

Page 117



DELIVERY | OUR STREETS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 45 

 

137. Greater Manchester’s Walking and Cycling Investment Plan sets out bold plans to 
enable the majority of the 1 million more sustainable journeys needed each day to meet 
the Right Mix target to be made by foot and bike. This document set out the vision for 
the Bee Network, Greater Manchester’s masterplan to transform travel on foot and by 
bike. The network is the longest planned walking and cycling network in the UK and, 
when complete, it will connect every neighbourhood of Greater Manchester. Developed 
through extensive consultation in 2018, the network will cost an estimated £1.5bn to 
deliver, and is made up of three core components:  

• Protected Space: 435 miles of main road corridors and town centre streets with 
protected links, junctions and public realm improvements  

• Removing points of severance: 2,400 crossings of busy roads or other points of 
severance (including rivers, canals and railway infrastructure) to connect quieter 
streets, providing 1,397 miles of the Network  

• Filtered neighbourhoods: 17 identified to date where walking and cycling is 
prioritised. 

138. Adhering to extremely high design standards, adopting and indeed going beyond those 
required in the Government's recently published on Cycle Infrastructure Design 
Guidance, and alongside a comprehensive wayfinding system, these elements will deliver 
a network that removes many of the barriers currently preventing Greater Manchester 
residents from walking and cycling for short, everyday journeys. 

139. An updated Bee Network was published in June 2019 (see below). The network will 
ultimately connect all neighbourhoods, but early priority is intended for routes to key 
destinations such as town centres and major employment areas. The network will be 
regularly reviewed and updated in consultation with local people.  

140. Mayor’s Challenge Fund (MCF): The GMCA has allocated £160m from 2018-2022 to fund 
the first phase of delivery of the Bee Network through the Transforming Cities Fund. At 

Page 118



DELIVERY | OUR STREETS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 46 

the time of writing, six rounds of scheme applications have been approved for 
programme entry by the GMCA, totalling 82 schemes with a total value of around 
£493m. With the existing available funds, Transforming Cities funding, combined with a 
total of £135m in local contributions, there is a funding gap of around £200m. 

141. The current funding package will deliver approximately 10% of the Bee Network and the 
ambition is to deliver 10% of the network per year so it is complete within 10 years, 
estimated to require a further £1.3 billion in funding to deliver.  

142. Map 4 presents the specific major schemes that have been given programme entry 
through MCF. A range of other specific walking and cycling interventions to deliver the 
full Bee Network will be identified, funded and delivered throughout the life of this 
Delivery Plan. 

 

143. Emergency Active Travel Fund (EATF): Two Tranches of Emergency Active Travel 
measures with a value of £17m will be committed for delivery before March 2021, 
subject to a successful Tranche 2 funding bid. These will enable over 60km of walking 
and cycling routes, schemes in seven town/city centres across GM, and over 50 modal 
filters restricting through motor traffic on local streets that will help address immediate 
challenges presented by Covid-19. These proposals will support town and city centres 
and access to employment and services, in particular for the most deprived 
communities. The measures will also help tackle longer-term critical public health 
challenges associated with physical inactivity and road safety, the climate emergency and 
the impact of congestion on the city-region’s economy. 

144. Bike Hire: Alongside the Bee Network, the GMCA is committed to delivering a network of 
easy access hire bikes. 74% of households in Greater Manchester do not have access to a 

Page 119



DELIVERY | OUR STREETS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 47 

bicycle, limiting their travel options. Greater Manchester Bike Hire seeks to address this 
issue and make accessing a bicycle more convenient. The first phase is planned to 
provide public bikes within 500 metres of 100,000 households. The scheme will be an 
important element of Our Network, with a phased approach to delivery. Phase 1 will 
focus on the regional centre which will help to develop the right model for a Greater 
Manchester-wide approach. 

145. Highways England Designated Funds: There is also potential to secure additional funding 
from Highways England’s Designated Funds for walking and cycling improvements. This is 
particularly the case where opportunities are identified to overcome barriers caused by 
heavily trafficked strategic roads, or where there are opportunities for people to switch 
to walking or cycling from existing short car journeys on the Strategic Road Network. 
Please refer to the Motorways and Trunk Roads section for further details. 

Local Highways 

146. To realise the aims of the Streets for All and 2040 Transport Strategy, we need to 
transform how Greater Manchester’s local highways perform for people who travel 
along or spend time on them. This includes improving the way in which roads move 
people and goods across the city, but also their functionality as High Streets, 
neighbourhoods and local destinations where people live, shop, work and spend time.  

147. To achieve this change, Greater Manchester is working to develop a more holistic 
approach to the delivery of street infrastructure that improves journeys for all users, 
alongside wider measures to better manage traffic and road safety. To support this 
change, a street typology approach is being developed through Streets for All that will 
seek to ensure that infrastructure we deliver meets the needs of all people, communities 
and businesses that live on and use our streets. 

Active Neighbourhoods 

148. Neighbourhood journeys are the most numerous type of trip identified under the four 
2040 Transport Strategy spatial themes. These currently account for around 2.5 million 
journeys every day made in Greater Manchester, and it is expected that these and will 
need to increase by 20% by 2040 to meet our spatial theme targets.  

149. Defined as local trips under 2km in length, these neighbourhood trips have highest 
potential to be made by foot and bike. However, 45% of these journeys are currently 
made by private car. To meet Right Mix targets, by 2040, we want many long trips to be 
replaced by short trips in Greater Manchester, with people having better access to local 
services close to where they live, and for at least 64% of these short journeys to be made 
by active travel.  We will focus on delivering a significant shift to walking and cycling for 
these journeys from private car over the next five years. 

150. To achieve Active Neighbourhoods, local streets need to be pleasant places to live and 
provide a safe and attractive environment for people to make every day local journeys by 
foot and bike: neighbourhoods where it comes naturally to travel actively as it is simply 
easier than getting the car out. In the next five years we will deliver Active 
Neighbourhoods projects across all 10 local authorities, alongside wider measures such 
as School Streets, and local road safety schemes. 

Page 120



DELIVERY | OUR STREETS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 48 

151. More detail on our GM-wide approach to enabling this change is provided in the Walking 
and Cycling section of this document, with locally specific approaches and schemes 
presented in the appended Implementation Plans for each of 10 GM local authorities.  

Town Centres  

152. Greater Manchester’s town centres contain many of our Destination Places and High 
Streets, which are essential to supporting our local economies and the quality of life of 
our residents. Transforming these places will be essential to enabling economic growth 
across Greater Manchester, as well as increasing the number of people travelling to 
them on foot, by bike and by public transport. 

153. A renewed focus on town centre vitality and regeneration will result in more people 
living in and around our town centres and high streets.  This will help to support local 
shopping, health, education and leisure facilities. Regeneration initiatives need to be 
underpinned by Streets for All principles, with a strong focus on improving the 
experience of walking, cycling, using public transport and spending time on streets, while 
ensuring other essential functions, such as deliveries, can happen efficiently and reliably.  

154. Achieving this will require measures to improve walking, cycling and public transport 
infrastructure, minimise the impact of motorised traffic on people and public spaces, and 
improvements to the public realm. Significant investment in access to town centres is 
committed through the Mayor’s Challenge Fund for cycling and walking improvements, 
Growth Deal for public space and accessibility improvements, and new public transport 
interchange facilities such as in Stockport. 

155. Work has also been undertaken as part of Streets for All Corridor Studies to develop 
opportunities to improve access by foot, bike and public transport at town centres and 
high streets located along some of the most heavily used roads in Greater Manchester. 
Following these studies, proposals to transform streets at Farnworth and Stretford have 
been submitted as part of Future High Street Fund bids to secure additional investment 
in the vitality, accessibility and attractiveness of these town centres. Further transport 
interventions to support the Mayor’s Town Centre Challenge towns will be developed 
alongside regeneration proposals at Prestwich, Swinton, Stockport, Stalybridge, 
Stretford, Rochdale, Leigh and Royton. 

156. More information on plans to integrate town centres with our public transport network 
can be found in the Our Rail, Our Metrolink, and Our Bus sections of this document. 
Quality Bus Transit will play a particularly important role in connecting our town centres, 
providing an accelerated programme that will strengthen links between bus and local 
centres through reliable, attractive services, integrated within wider public realm and 
active travel networks. 

157. Details on challenges and future plans for key of town centres across Greater 
Manchester are provided in more detail within the appended Implementation Plans for 
each of 10 GM districts. 

City Centre Streets  

158. Formed of streets across the Greater Manchester street typology, from Destination 
Places to Strategic Roads, streets within the city centre are the most used in GM. To 

Page 121



DELIVERY | OUR STREETS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 49 

transform streets within the city centre, a new City Centre Transport Strategy is being 
prepared to set out a masterplan to provide the city centre with a world-class transport 
system, and make it a better place to live, work, invest and relax.  

159. The measures within the Draft City Centre Transport Strategy include an action plan for 
infrastructure investment to support the vision for “a well-connected, zero carbon city 
centre at the heart of the North, offering our residents, employees and visitors a great 
place to work, live and visit.”  This will deliver on the central aim for at least 90% of all 
trips to the city centre to be made by walking, cycling or using public transport before 
2040, and for walking to become the main mode of travel within the city centre.  

160. Key investment priorities for city centre streets within the strategy include 
redevelopment of Albert Square as one of the finest civic spaces in Europe, formalise the 
temporary arrangement that has removed traffic along Deansgate to make it a more 
attractive street for people on foot, and new and enhanced city centre cycle routes, 
including the Northern Quarter Cycle Route and Chapel Street. More information on 
schemes planned on city centre streets is available within the Draft City Centre Transport 
Strategy. 

Connector Roads (including the Key Route Network and Major Route 
Network) 

161. Connector Roads perform the widest number of roles across Greater Manchester. These 
roads support the movement of people across the city-region and beyond by bus, bike, 
foot, taxi and private cars, enable freight and goods to be delivered, while also providing 
place functions when they pass through local centres and residential neighbourhoods. 
Change in how these roads function will be essential to enabling people to travel by 
active and sustainable modes, while also reducing the impacts of congestion and 
supporting new residential and commercial development. 

162. Key Route Network: A significant proportion of connector roads in Greater Manchester 
are part of the 600km Key Route Network. TfGM are responsible for monitoring and 
evaluating performance of this network and working with our local Highway and Traffic 
authorities to develop shared approaches to management and investment. Work to 
enhance this network include a continued programme of maintenance, incorporation of 
Streets for All principles within new infrastructure, and measures to support new 
development. More information on these approaches are in sections below. 

163. Streets for All Corridors: Applying the Streets for All approach across Greater 
Manchester’s highways network will be essential to increasing the number of sustainable 
journeys made by foot, bike and public transport. TfGM has undertaken seven Streets for 
All Corridor studies across 72 miles of the Key Route Network and highways in Greater 
Manchester. These studies have identified opportunities to improve these streets for all 
users, enhancing integration and quality of public transport on our roads, access to town 
centres and rapid transit hubs, and connectivity to and within local neighbourhoods.  We 
will look for opportunities to develop and deliver these ideas and to study opportunities 
on other parts of the Key Route Network.   

164. Road improvements to support new development: There are currently nine major 
street schemes, programmed for delivery within this plan that benefit from Growth Deal 
funding from Government. Each is linked to specific growth areas within Greater 

Page 122



DELIVERY | OUR STREETS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 50 

Manchester or to address specific congestion bottlenecks. These schemes willl apply the 
principles of Streets for All in design, and will deliver facilities to manage severance, 
support people travelling by foot or by bike, and improve public transport reliability and 
comfort.  

165. Proposed new routes include new east-west connections in Wigan and Bolton; 
Carrington Relief Road, to enable the development of the Carrington growth area; and 
further phases of the Western Gateway Infrastructure Scheme (WGIS) to facilitate 
development at Trafford Waters and the tri-modal freight terminal at Port Salford. 
Integration of Streets for All principles will be essential to these schemes, and facilities to 
improve walking, cycling, and public transport journeys will be required on both new and 
bypassed routes.  

166. These proposals will only be taken forward when there is an evidence base that shows 
the development proposals would not be deliverable without them, even with other on- 
and off-site mitigations. Where new roads are built to remove traffic from heavily 
congested local communities, projects will reallocate space on existing streets from 
motor vehicles to walking, cycling and public transport as well as providing new and 
improved public spaces, to ‘lock in’ the benefits for local communities. 

167. Major Road Network: The Government has established a Major Road Network (MRN) for 
England. This consists of the busiest and most economically important local authority 
roads across the country and is intended to complement the SRN. The MRN is supported 
by dedicated funding provided through the National Roads Fund, which utilises money 
raised through Vehicle Excise Duty.  We have worked with Transport for the North to 
advise Government on priorities for investment in the first five years of the MRN (2020-
2025). We will continue to work with Government and TfN to ensure that the MRN in 
Greater Manchester meets the requirements of our economy and residents, and to 
identify potential interventions for funding that apply the Streets for All principles (for 
example supporting buses on key corridors and overcoming severance by foot and bike). 

168. Congestion Deal: The Mayor’s Congestion Deal (2018) identified five clear causes of 
congestion: too many people travelling at the same time; too many short journeys by 
car; roadworks; poorly timed traffic signals; and people having no alternative to driving.  
The actions identified in the Congestion Deal embedded in this Delivery Plan will 
continue to  be implemented over the next few years, including further investment in 
smart traffic signals, improvements to sustainable alternatives to cars and road freight, 
and working with businesses and communities to support people to make changes to 
when, how and where they travel so that they are less affected by congestion. 

Strategic Roads & Motorways 

169. Greater Manchester’s network of motorways and trunk roads (forming part of the 
national Strategic Road Network) is managed by Highways England. Over the next five 
years, we will continue to work with Highways England to tackle congestion and deliver 
improvements to the network, particularly where such improvements can help directly 
to unlock new development. We will also work with Highways England through its Route 
Strategy process to identify the requirements for the SRN in Greater Manchester in the 
next Road Period (2025-30). 

Page 123



DELIVERY | OUR STREETS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 51 

170. Smart Motorways: Highways England has delivered Smart Motorway projects on the 
M60 through the north and west of Greater Manchester (junctions 8 to 18) and M62 
over Chat Moss (junctions 10 to 12) and is planning to convert further stretches of 
motorway to Smart Motorway in Greater Manchester, including on the M6, M56, and 
the M62 over the Pennines. Smart motorway projects increase road capacity and 
reliability faster and at less cost than traditional road widening schemes. They do this by 
using the space within the current motorway boundaries. Highways England, working 
with the Department for Transport, will also deliver actions emerging from the recent 
stocktake of safety on Smart motorways, including stopped vehicle detection and other 
technology enhancements. These actions focus on making smart motorways even safer 
and increasing public confidence in their operation. Smart Motorways will not fully 
address congestion issues, however, so a wider series of interventions across all modes 
are set out in this Delivery Plan. 

171. M60 North West Quadrant: The next five years will see the completion of the M60 North 
West Quadrant Strategic Study which will produce proposals for action on and off the 
strategic road network. The next phase will focus on identifying packages of small 
schemes that can be developed to support the M60. Delivery of these interventions is 
likely to start in the late 2020s. Within this study area Highways England is already 
committed to delivery of an improvement scheme at Simister Island (the junction of the 
M60, M62 and M66), work on which will commence in the next five years. 

172. Trans-Pennine Road Connections: Highways England will shortly be delivering the 
Mottram Moor and A57(T) to A57 Link Roads, as part of a package to improve Trans-
Pennine road connectivity between Greater Manchester and South Yorkshire. Options 
for the longer term are currently being considered as part of the Trans-Pennine Tunnel 
Strategic Study. 

173. Airport Growth: Improvements to access Manchester Airport by road are planned to 
support its future growth. In addition to the implementation of Smart Motorway on the 
M56 between Junctions 6 and 8, Manchester Airport have planning obligations to 
upgrade the road network serving the Airport from the west via Junction 6 of the M56. 
The timing of this project is dependent on passenger growth, which will be influenced by 
the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on air travel. Their design and implementation will 
need to be coordinated with highway access for the proposed HS2 station.  It is likely 
that in the longer term, an increase in motorway capacity will also be required to 
accommodate the growth of the Airport. Highways England is leading a study to 
determine the interventions required to address demands in the airport area. We will 
continue to work closely with Highways England on this and future studies to determine 
the interventions required and to ensure that the role of and impact on local roads and 
sustainable travel are fully understood. 

174. Designated Funds: Department for Transport has allocated £900m to Highways England 
over the six-year period from 2015 to 2021 to support a set of national Designated Fund’.  
These currently cover air quality; cycling, safety and integration; environment; 
innovation; and growth and housing. Greater Manchester has already benefited from 
these funds, especially for projects to reduce the severance impacts of the motorway 
network for people walking and cycling. Highways England’s business plan for 2020-25 
confirms that £936m will be allocated to a restructured set of Designated Funds covering 
safety and congestion; users and communities; environment and well-being; and 

Page 124



DELIVERY | OUR STREETS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 52 

innovation and modernisation. Confirmation is awaited of the exact criteria for allocating 
these funds. 

175. Environment: Highways England is starting a speed limit trial to improve air quality at 
four locations on the motorway network in England, including on the M602 in Salford. 
The new reduced 60mph speed limit on the M602 between Junctions 1 and 3. We will 
continue to cooperate with Highways England to understand the environmental impacts 
of the SRN in Greater Manchester and the scope for and impacts of mitigation such as 
this speed limit restriction. 

Managing Our Streets 

176. Moving traffic offences: Moving traffic offences such as blocking yellow box junctions 
can contribute to congestion but currently need to be enforced by police officers. We 
will continue to promote the need to secure the powers from government for local 
Highway Authorities to enforce moving traffic offences that contribute to congestion 
because it would be a more cost-effective way of policing. 

177. Road Safety: To achieve our ambition of Streets for All, we need to tackle the dangers 
that result in road collisions with the consequential loss of lives, serious injuries and the 
perception of these dangers that discourage cycling and walking. The 2040 Transport 
Strategy has set out our ambition to reduce deaths on our roads as close as possible to 
zero. Please refer to the Safety and Security section (page 62) for further details. 

178. Network Management: Congestion can represent a significant barrier to economic 
growth, or blight surrounding communities. We need to increase the reliability of our 
existing network to ensure future growth is not constrained, with a particular focus on 
better managing the use of available road space and providing information to road users.  
Encouraging more sustainable and space-efficient modes of travel, as well as improving 
the connections between locations are other key elements.  

179. The ten Greater Manchester local authorities, TfGM and Highways England will continue 
to work together to create a more integrated approach to the management of the 
highways network to minimise the impact of congestion on local communities, including 
managing longer routes that cross districts, a 24/7 control centre to manage the traffic 
lights, and better management of roadworks. 

180. Maintenance: Each of the ten local authorities, in their capacity as Highways Authorities, 
has a statutory duty to maintain their highway, with TfGM coordinating strategic asset 
management of the Key Route Network through a KRN Asset Management Strategy 
developed in collaboration with the ten local Highway Authorities.  

181. An indicative five year maintenance investment programme to 2022/23 has been 
developed for the main assets on the Key Route Network. Asset management 
investments for the maintenance of the key route network will focus on increasing 
preventative and planned maintenance, while reducing long-term reactive maintenance. 
A common scheme prioritisation framework will help determine future priorities, 
including a shared approach to bridge maintenance. 

Page 125



DELIVERY | OUR STREETS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 53 

182. It is important to continuously monitor and manage key components.  The performance 
of the key highway assets on the KRN will be reported and benchmarked wherever 
possible against similar regional KRNs.  This involves regular reviews and checks to 
implement improvements quickly.  Success is monitored through: 

• Assessing annual condition survey results of key assets; 

• Ensuring accurate and up to date data; 

• Evaluating performance targets and service levels for key assets; 

• Evaluating claims for compensation through injury or vehicle damage; and, 

• Evaluating the results of the National Highway and Transport customer 
satisfaction surveys. 

183. Asset Management: Ensuring that the transport system is in good condition is essential 
to supporting people to walk, cycle and use public transport more and continue to travel 
safely by car. TfGM is directly responsible for the maintenance and renewal of a range of 
transport assets, including: the Metrolink fleet and stops, bus stations, interchanges, 
offices, commercial estates, cycle hubs and car parks. TfGM continues ensure that we are 
making the best use of capital investment, and operating budgets are efficiently applied 
to extend asset life and sustain long-term performance. 

184. Electronic Traffic Equipment Asset Management Strategy: TfGM also act, on behalf of 
the GMCA, as owners and maintainers of electronic traffic equipment across the region. 
TfGM has deployed an Electronic Traffic Equipment Asset Management Strategy for 
2018, to further embed integrated management for the long-term maintenance of these 
assets. Lifecycle plans and renewal strategies will now be developed through scheduled 
asset condition surveys to ensure we undertake the right treatment/renewal at the right 
time. 

Freight and Logistics  

185. Changes in consumer behaviour and the rise of omni-channel retailing - where customers 
engage with brands using a combination of different platforms, including physically, 
using a laptop and via smartphone - has a significant impact on the movement of goods. 
Balancing the needs of freight and passenger demand on our transport network will be 
increasingly important as freight continues to grow. A key challenge over the next five 
years will be how to deal with the growing demand for deliveries into Manchester city 
centre as it expands as a location for both retail, employment and residential 
development. 

186. Influencing the movement of heavy and light goods vehicles on our roads is a key focus 
of this Delivery Plan. We will need to maximise the benefit to the economy while also 
managing the negative impacts on our local road networks and communities. In 
particular, enabling freight deliveries to be made more efficiently in urban areas could 
help us achieve major air quality benefits (see the Clean Air and Carbon section on page 
56).  

187. Working with partners: Giving practical assistance to developers and other organisations 
to minimise, re-mode or re-time freight, or to use more environmentally friendly and 

Page 126



DELIVERY | OUR STREETS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 54 

safer vehicles, will continue to be an important project over the next few years. For 
example, we will work with retailers to reduce the number of delivery vehicles serving 
premises at peak times, and with town and city businesses with the aim of reducing the 
number of waste collection trips. Given the levels of growth in housing and jobs planned 
over the coming years, it will also be important to work with developers to carefully 
manage the impact of major construction sites on our roads and local communities, 
through the implementation of construction logistics plans.   

188. Consolidation: TfGM and the 10 local authorities will also work with the freight and 
logistics industry and large public sector organisations such as the NHS to introduce 
sustainable distribution where possible, including consolidation in urban areas and for 
public sector organisations. We will work with couriers and other delivery companies to 
support micro-consolidation and ‘last mile’ using greener vehicles. 

189. Rail freight: The movement of freight is a national and international issue, and the 
growth of the sector will have implications across Greater Manchester boundaries. A 
TfGM commissioned rail freight study showed significant opportunity for future rail 
freight growth in Greater Manchester if additional capacity on the network could be 
secured. TfGM will work with both private and private sector stakeholders, such as TfN, 
to adopt a pan-Northern approach to grow the market for rail freight. 

190. We will also support activities to increase the amount of freight using the Manchester 
Ship Canal from the Port of Liverpool in order to minimise road miles. The opportunity to 
introduce rail and waterborne freight into Port Salford will be key to facilitate the 
delivery of Port Salford as a tri-modal logistics hub. This is included in the Rail section. 
We will also support the development of rail connections at other proposed and existing 
freight terminals which are brought forward by the private sector. 

 

 

Page 127



DELIVERY | OUR INTEGRATED NETWORK 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 55 

Our Integrated 
Network  
Summary 

191. This section sets out the work in Greater Manchester that is progressing across a wide 
range of wider initiatives, in addition to the Our Bus, Metrolink, Rail and Streets 
interventions, to ensure that the transport system as a whole works more effectively; to 
reduce carbon and create cleaner air as well as to eliminate barriers to travel; and to 
proactively respond to changing transport innovations.  

192. Over the next five years we aim to invest in developing and delivering interventions in 
the following key areas: 

• Clean Air - a package of interventions forming the Clean Air Plan that are 
reasonably expected to reduce NO2 concentrations to legal levels and have wider 
air quality benefits; 

• Carbon Reduction – measures that support the 2040 Right Mix, Five Year 
Environment Plan and the long-term aim for carbon neutrality by 2038; 

• Innovation - Roll-out and mainstreaming of future mobility technologies that 
support the  2040 Transport Strategy Network Principles; 

• Fares & Ticketing - Further phases of Greater Manchester’s smart ticketing; 

• Behaviour Change – targeted behaviour change activities through established 
programmes;   

• Safety and security – road safety measures and programmes to make our transport 
network safe and secure for all users; and  

• New multi-modal interchange facilities and travel hubs, including in Bury.  

193. Our Integrated Network committed schemes, unfunded priorities (for the next five years) 
and longer term development priorities are summarised on Maps 1, 2 and 3, respectively 
and in Appendix A. 

194. Our Integrated Network interventions that will be subject to appropriate planning 
approvals and developer contributions, associated with the GMSF allocations are 
summarised in Appendix C.    

Page 128



DELIVERY | OUR INTEGRATED NETWORK 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 56 

Introduction to Our Integrated Network  

195. Previous sections of this Delivery Plan have focused on projects specific to key modes of 
transport or enhancing infrastructure on our streets to improve the quality of places.  
The Our Bus, Metrolink, Rail and Streets interventions are proposed as they will also 
contribute to reducing carbon and creating cleaner air.  We are also progressing a wide 
range of wider initiatives intended to ensure that the transport system as a whole works 
more effectively, to reduce carbon and create cleaner air as well as to eliminate barriers 
to travel and proactively exploring transport innovations. These activities are all in 
support of achieving the seven Network Principles set out in out 2040 Transport Strategy 
(see Page 10).  

196. Motorised transport has brought great benefits to society, giving wide access to a range 
of employment, leisure and other activities, but its impact on the environment is 
damaging. Poor air quality is the largest environmental risk to public health in the UK and 
the evidence suggests that long-term exposure to air pollution contributes to the deaths 
of many people. The health impacts of air pollution impair residents’ quality of life, 
reduce productivity and increase demand on public services. Cleaning up Greater 
Manchester’s air is therefore a key priority for the Mayor, the local authorities and 
TfGM.  

197. In the next five years, across the Our Integrated Network programme, we are committed 
to delivering a range of schemes including a number of clean air schemes (such as 
working with operators to retrofit buses) and customer-facing schemes (such as the 
smart ticketing programme and Mobility as a Service (MaaS) trials). Beyond the next five 
years, we will also be delivering a TravelSafe partnership and continuing our work to 
provide travel information and delivering innovation projects. 

Clean Air and Carbon 

198. Our proposals for a Clean Air Plan and reducing greenhouse gas emissions (including 
carbon dioxide) are crucial to improving the air we breathe and to protecting our planet 
for future generations.  

199. Greater Manchester is currently developing a Clear Air Plan to tackle roadside nitrogen 
dioxide (NO2) concentrations and to bring them down to legal levels.  Our proposal, 
submitted to Government in March 2019, identified a package of interventions that are 
reasonably expected to reduce NO2 concentrations in the ‘shortest possible time’, as 
required by Government. These measures, which propose a Class C Clean Air Zone with a 
daily penalty for non-compliant buses, taxis/PHV and HGVs from 2022 will extend to non-
complaint LGVs from 2023. Further details on the policy behind the Clean Air Plan can be 
found on the GMcleanair.com website. Support for people who drive non-compliant 
vehicles will be provided in the form of Vehicle Renewal Schemes supported by a Clean 
Freight Fund, Clean Taxi Fund, Clean Bus Fund and Loan Finance. This will be assisted by 
ongoing activity, as summarised in previous sections, to improve Greater Manchester’s 
active travel and public transport networks.   

200. It should be noted that the Greater Manchester local authorities have been directed to 
identify measures for reducing NO2 concentrations within the ’shortest possible time’. 
Therefore, although the interventions below are included in this Five Year Delivery Plan, 

Page 129



DELIVERY | OUR INTEGRATED NETWORK 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 57 

the ‘shortest possible time’ is likely to be well before 2025 and the interventions below 
are likely to be delivered much earlier than this. 

201. Greater Manchester is committed to playing its part in delivering the international Paris 
Agreement target of containing rising global temperatures to well below 20C. Many 
interventions in this Delivery Plan contribute towards achieving our vision of creating a 
carbon efficient, climate resilient city-region with a thriving natural environment.  

202. One of the ways Greater Manchester is acting is through the 5-Year Environment Plan 
(launched in 2019, at the second Greater Manchester Green Summit). The Environment 
Plan includes key priorities for improving our air quality and reducing emissions caused 
by travel, including reducing the distance we need to travel, increasing the use of public 
transport and active travel, phasing out fossil fuelled vehicles, establishing a zero-
emissions bus fleet and decarbonising road freight transport.  

203. Greater Manchester has also demonstrated clear commitment, alongside global cities, to 
tackling climate change by becoming a signatory to three international commitments on 
climate change: The Integrated Covenant of Mayors, The Compact of Mayors, and the 
Under 2 Memorandum of Understanding. 

204. In summary our commitments include: 

• Investment in and expansion of the electric vehicle charging network: to support 
the transition to electric vehicles in Greater Manchester; 

• Assessing and developing a roadmap to deliver a zero-emission bus fleet from 
2025: electrification of the bus fleets will deliver significant emissions savings. 
Public transport is also far more carbon efficient on a per person basis; 

• Transformation of cycling and walking infrastructure in Greater Manchester: 
Encouraging walking and cycling could significantly reduce fossil fuel use for short 
local journeys (see interventions in the Walking and Cycling section on page 
44Error! No bookmark name given.); and 

• Reducing freight emissions: Assessing and developing a roadmap to reduce 
freight emissions through modal shift, increased efficiency and alternative fuels 
for heavy vehicles: goods vehicles are essential to our city-region but have limited 
zero emission alternatives. Low emission fuels and changes to logistics 
infrastructure could significantly reduce emissions output (see interventions in 
the Freight and Logistics section on page 53) 

Future Mobility  

205. Greater Manchester has a strong record in supporting and testing innovative transport 
solutions.  We developed a Future Transport Zone bid in 2019 and although not 
successful in securing funding we plan to take forward many of the planned initiatives if 
funding can be secured.  Our Future Mobility work would aim to test and trial transport 
innovations where they support our 2040 Transport Strategy ambitions such as: dynamic 
demand responsive public transport, e-mobility solutions (including e-bikes and e-
scooters), first/last mile mobility hubs, autonomous transport services, dynamic kerbside 
management, e-freight consolidation, car clubs and a mobility platform that integrates 

Page 130



DELIVERY | OUR INTEGRATED NETWORK 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 58 

existing and new services bringing together customers and providers in new ways. We 
intend to pilot a new mobility platform, with the potential to bring together all mobility 
services from public and private transport providers, allowing people that live and work 
in GM to make end to end trips using different modes, charged against a personal 
mobility account.  

206. In addition, we are involved in ongoing trial projects which explore how transport 
infrastructure, including smart bus stops, lighting and air quality monitoring can be 
connected to the ‘Internet of Things’.  Digital connectivity and technology are vital to 
enabling people to choose the best option for their journey. TfGM, working jointly with 
GMCA, will build on GM’s strong digital industry to deliver a clear strategic vision on 5G, 
super-fast fibre optic, and commercial opportunities to maximise the value of GM assets.  

Interchanges 

207. In recent years Greater Manchester has invested in interchanges in a number of our 
town centres.  There are projects in construction, committed schemes and those in 
development.  Investing in key interchanges not only facilitates the integration of 
different modes of transport but also supports wider regeneration of key centres in 
Greater Manchester.  The development of new interchanges, including in Stockport and 
Bury, is in our programme for the next five years.  

Travel Hubs / Park and Ride 

208. Future work in Greater Manchester will develop the concept of travel hubs – an 
evolution of the existing approach to park and ride. Travel hubs intend to take a more 
rounded view of improving the access to rapid transit stops and stations. The aim is to 
increase rapid transit customer numbers and support the Right Mix vision, while de-
carbonising the access to our rapid transit stops and stations. 

209. Subject to feasibility and business case, the travel hubs ambition extends beyond 
traditional park and ride to include integration of active travel, public transport, demand-
responsive transport, such as Local Link, shared mobility, such as bike hire, and pick-
up/drop-off provision. Features to be investigated include parking, storage and electric 
charging infrastructure for both private and shared vehicles. Facilities that benefit our 
customers and could generate net revenue for TfGM such as commercial businesses and 
logistics will also be investigated. 

210. Parkway on the Trafford Park Metrolink Line is an example of a park and ride that is 
currently under construction, while Rochdale station is a candidate for developing the 
travel hubs approach. 

Fares and Ticketing 

211. TfGM has developed its get me there smartcard and Metrolink zonal fare structure to 
better integrate travel across Greater Manchester. Over the next few years, we will also 
be continuing work with Transport for the North to collaborate on ticketing initiatives 
that make travel by public transport across the North. 

212. Further phases of Greater Manchester’s smart ticketing initiative: TfGM are 
undertaking further work to  explore wider ticketing & payment opportunities within 

Page 131



DELIVERY | OUR INTEGRATED NETWORK 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 59 

Greater Manchester. In particular, and in line with the principles of the 2040 Transport 
Strategy, there may be a strong strategic case for expanding contactless, pay-as-you-go 
on Metrolink  including to other modes of transport which would result in a multi-modal 
ticketing customer offering across Greater Manchester. At present, the powers of the 
Mayor and the GMCA to introduce such a system are limited and may depend on the 
preferred option for the potential reform of bus in Greater Manchester. With that in 
mind, TfGM will continue to develop new opportunities for modern payment methods 
which travelling customers will increasingly want and expect for all modes 

213. On behalf of the Mayor and the ten local authorities, TfGM provides funding for young, 
old and disabled people to travel at reduced fares or for free. Recently launched 
initiatives include: 

• Our Pass: Launched as a two-year pilot in 2019, the pass entitles young people 
aged 16-18 to free travel on local bus services, as well as access to a range of 
exclusive opportunities.  

• The Women’s Concessionary Travel Pass: Launched in 2018, the pass entitles 
thousands of women affected by the change in the state pension age to free off-
peak travel on bus, train and tram. 

• Access to Apprenticeships: TfGM is supporting apprentices across the region with 
a free 28-day travel pass valid on bus and tram services. 

214. In 2017, TfGM launched the get me there smartcard, which complements the get me 
there Metrolink app launched in 2016. This enables passengers to make integrated 
journeys by purchasing multi-operator and multi-modal products which are loaded on to 
the get me there smartcard. In July 2018, the GMCA approved a new zonal fare structure 
for Metrolink. This reduced the number of different types of fares available from 8,556 
to just 10. This simplified the offer to customers, and also helps to achieve the full 
benefits of contactless pay-as-you-go ticketing by replacing return tickets with zonal daily 
capping. The zonal fare structure was introduced on Metrolink in January 2019 and was 
followed up later that year with Contactless pay-as-you-go on Metrolink, which provides 
a convenient and simple way to pay for travel, enabling customers to simply ‘touch in’ 
and ‘touch out’ with their debit/credit cards. The daily price is capped, and customers 
don’t need to carry a separate travel card or ticket. 

215. We are now seeing increasing numbers of people working or studying on a part-time, 
flexible or short-term contract basis, or home-working on some days. This means that 
flexible ticketing options are vitally important to support our rapidly changing economy.  
In response to this, TfGM has introduced the Clipper Metrolink ticket to enable 
customers to save money if they are working more flexibly or travelling less often than 
the conventional Monday to Friday working week. Clipper tickets can be purchased for 
use with get me there smart cards. Customers can touch-in before boarding and touch-
out at their destinations, using the smart readers at Metrolink stops. It is hoped that this 
will make public transport more affordable, and easier to use, for flexible workers, part-
time workers or anyone who travels regularly but not every day. 

  

Page 132



DELIVERY | OUR INTEGRATED NETWORK 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 60 

Customer Information  

216. We have a vision to enable the provision of accurate, reliable and easy to understand 
travel information to residents, businesses and visitors of Greater Manchester when and 
how they choose – so they can make informed choices and get the most out of our 
transport networks. This supports TfGM’s objective to make travel easier as well as 
meeting TfGM’s legal requirements around information provision.  

217. As part of this, we aim to provide consistent information to customers, engage with 
owners of external communication channels, make use of technology, and apply a 
dynamic approach to responding to the changing needs and expectations of our 
customers.   

218. In recent years, TfGM has made significant steps towards meeting these goals. This 
includes:  

• Enabling Metrolink accessibility information to be available on Google Maps; 

• Releasing Metrolink fares as Open Data; 

• Increasing the number of bus operators with real time data available on TfGM 
channels; and 

• Building relationships with our external partners. 

219. We have an established roadmap of improvements that follow the Customer Travel 
Information vision and principles which are wholly aligned to the organisational vision for 
the future.  

220. The way customers access travel information continues to change, increasingly moving 
away from paper information to digital platforms – especially journey planners such as 
Google. Therefore greater emphasis is being placed on providing data to 3rd party 
developers so that more of our customers may access our travel information.  We 
continue to develop our Open Data offering which will include a broader range of data 
on an updated Open Data Portal.  

221. In addition, we are reacting to the impact of Covid-19 in recognising and developing new 
solutions to important customer requirements which aim to build confidence in 
travelling on Public Transport including: 

• Providing tailored customer travel advice; 

• Maintaining the regularly changing provision of timetable data for internal and 
3rd party use; 

• Greater visibility of cleaning routines across the different modes of transport  

• Information regarding patronage and how busy the different modes of public 
transport are expected to be; and  

• Increased information around the availability of cycling and walking schemes. 

Page 133



DELIVERY | OUR INTEGRATED NETWORK 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 61 

Behaviour Change 

222. TfGM’s offers a free business travel advice service which encourages business, school 
and community engagement, and supports organisations that promote walking, cycling, 
public transport, flexible working and car sharing to employees. Benefits for 
organisations include sustainable travel grants (e.g. to pay for facilities or equipment), 
Personal Travel Planning for employees, and public transport ticket offers.  Our 
Sustainable Journeys Team are developing and testing different approaches to 
supporting sustainable travel to schools to inform the best long term approach and have 
worked with a number of primary schools across Greater Manchester. The team is also 
implementing a programme of support for communities, especially those close to Bee 
Network infrastructure, including bespoke work with community groups and an Open 
Streets programme enabling residents to experience what their street would be like with 
less traffic. 

223. Embedding Behaviour Change: In addition to the specific behaviour change 
interventions and engagement with school, business and community groups, we will also 
embed behaviour change and road safety elements into the delivery of other 
programmes (shown in other sections), such as: 

• Major town centre improvement packages, including in Stockport; 

• Implementation of a Clean Air Plan; 

• Delivery of new public transport and walking and cycling infrastructure; 

• Delivery of the Mayor’s Town Centre Challenge; 

• Cycle parking provision at public transport interchanges; 

• Further phases of Greater Manchester’s smart ticketing initiative; 

• Assisting planning authorities with an online toolkit to improve the process and 
quality of travel plans associated with new developments; and 

• Developing ways to better integrate with other third sector cycling and walking 
delivery partners 

224. Behaviour change activities are targeted in the areas where they will have the biggest 
impact in reducing congestion, reducing roadside air pollution and increasing levels of 
physical activity. TfGM focuses on providing support and advice to encourage more 
sustainable ways of travelling or to reduce the number of trips (for example by 
homeworking); travel at different times to avoid travel in peak periods; or choosing a less 
busy or less polluted route. 

225. Best practice and behavioural change theory have informed our priorities and helped to 
define the most appropriate audiences, locations and times for attention. These include: 

• People commuting to work or travelling on business using our most congested 
roads who may be open to alternative, less congested options; 

Page 134



DELIVERY | OUR INTEGRATED NETWORK 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 62 

• People who are undertaking a life change, such as changing job location, starting 
a new school, or moving house and therefore are open to thinking about new 
daily journey; and 

• People who live or work close to sustainable transport infrastructure or services 
who may not yet have considered how they can use it. 

Safety and security  

226. The 2040 Transport Strategy sets out our ambition to improve road safety and reduce 
deaths on our roads as close as possible to zero. Reducing road danger is a fundamental 
requirement for delivering Streets for All, and we are committed to working hard to 
achieve this ambition. TfGM is seeking to develop proposals for a new framework to 
eliminate road deaths and serious injuries. This new framework would be part of our 
overall Streets for All agenda, plans to improve walking and cycling infrastructure and 
our strategy to improve the bus offer and clean up the city-region’s air.  

227. TfGM is already supporting Safer Roads Greater Manchester (SRGM) by working with 
Greater Manchester partners to reduce road danger. We continue to work in partnership 
with the local authorities, Greater Manchester Police, Greater Manchester Fire and 
Rescue Service and other safer roads stakeholders to deliver road safety campaigns and 
physical measures to improve the safety of the Greater Manchester’s road network. 
Examples of recent areas of work include campaigns and interventions such as BikeSafe 
and motorcycling assessments; younger and older driver events; awareness of excess or 
inappropriate speed; people sharing road space; driver distraction & impairment etc. 
using geodemographic segmentation to prioritise resources where appropriate. 

228. In Greater Manchester people are at the highest risk of being Killed or Seriously Injured 
(KSI) in a road collision (relative to the proportion of journeys travelling by that mode) 
when riding a motorcycle. In order, they are followed by people cycling, walking, young 
car drivers and car passenger. Safer Roads Greater Manchester are taking a road danger 
reduction approach which tackles danger at source with a focus on ensuring vehicles are 
being driven safely, at safe speeds which, in turn, makes cycling and walking feel safer. 

229. Public transport is a safe way to travel, but some people are deterred from using it by 
the fear of crime and anti-social behaviour.  We will continue to tackle this issue through 
the TravelSafe Partnership.  In addition, TfGM continues to work closely with KeolisAmey 
Metrolink, the operator of Metrolink, to respond to industry recommendations from the 
Rail Accident Investigation Branch, including those from the investigation in to the 
overturning of a tram in Croydon in 2016, as well as implementing and ensuring 
compliance with a range of regulatory security requirements as determined by the 
Department for Transport. 

 

 

Page 135



FUNDING  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 63 

Funding 

230. This section sets out how Greater Manchester is developing its future transport 
programmes in terms of strategic planning, funding and delivery. 

Current funding 

231. Delivery of Greater Manchester’s aspirations set out in this plan will require long-term 
funding.  This funding will need to be made up of: 

• Revenue funding to carry on planning and developing proposals, running and 
maintaining services and providing direct revenue support for transport services; 
and 

• Long-term capital funding to invest in new transport infrastructure and make 
improvements to our current networks. 

Revenue Funding 

232. Greater Manchester’s revenue funding for transport comes from a number of sources, 
including: 

• From the ten Greater Manchester local authorities in the form of a Transport Levy 
and a precept that the Greater Manchester Mayor sets on the local authorities for 
undertaking statutory transport planning duties on their behalf. 

• Net revenues from transport operations owned by TfGM, after allowing for 
operating costs from Metrolink and some bus services. 

• Revenue grants from Government as part of the Earn Back arrangement, and 
grants for work on the rail network and for specific projects like HS2 
development. 

• From GMCA reserves for specific initiatives. 

• Local Authorities utilise their own revenue funding to maintain the highway 
network, to provide street lighting, cleaning and winter gritting. 

233. This funding is agreed on an annual basis with GMCA and set against specific priorities. 
These priorities include: 

• Concessionary travel schemes for the young, the disabled and the elderly. 

• Provision of socially necessary bus services in the form of the tendered network, 
accessible transport and school services. 

• Operational costs of providing the services we deliver, covering staff costs; 
operating and maintaining infrastructure; safety and security; the traffic signal 
network; and passenger information. 

• Financing costs related to the loans GMCA has taken out to fund improvements, 
e.g. Metrolink. 

Page 136



FUNDING  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 64 

• Work to develop the next set of ideas and interventions for improving the 
transport network and on devolution related activities. 

• Local Authority capital funding to support highway maintenance and 
improvement.  

234. Further information on the TfGM’s budget for 2020/21 is given on the GMCA website3.  

235. GMCA and TfGM budgets are, as is standard practice for Greater Manchester’s public 
sector, agreed on a year-by-year basis and so future budgets beyond 20/21 have yet to 
be set. 

236. TfGM and partners are continuing to incur significant revenue costs funded from GMCA 
reserves to support scheme development and feasibility work on known GMCA priorities, 
including the development of potential transport solutions that will support the city-
region’s growth agenda and the development of the Greater Manchester Infrastructure 
Programme (see below). 

Impact of Covid-19 on Public Transport Revenue Funding 

237. As with other public transport modes, the onset of Covid-19 in March 2020 resulted in a 
dramatic reduction in bus patronage, falling to below 10% of normal levels in April.  
Some relaxing of the social distancing restrictions on buses during Summer 2020 allowed 
capacity to increase to c.50% of seating.  Bus is now showing the largest growth out of 
public transport modes, though increasing at a slower rate than road traffic. 

238. Central government initially put in place the Covid-19 Bus Services Support Grant 
(CBSSG) to provide temporary funding for the industry to cover the deficit caused by 
running close to normal operations, while experiencing significantly reduced revenues.  
Based upon CBSSG returns, TfGM estimates that public funding in Greater Manchester in 
August 2020 accounted for in excess of 50% of total costs.  There is currently a rolling 
CBSSG funding deal in place with eight weeks’ notice of any termination, but it is unclear 
how long this support will be in place. 

239. Therefore, planning for the future is still severely limited.  Along with other urban 
transport authorities, GMCA proposes a more sustainable package of government 
support to allow the bus network to get back to a position of stability to ensure Covid-19 
recovery, and has co-signed a letter to the Secretary of State from the Urban Transport 
Group (UTG) members. TfGM and UTG propose the establishment of new arrangements 
that would route all public funding / subsidy for bus via city-region transport authorities, 
such as TfGM.  This would allow such authorities to use that funding to buy those 
services from private operators that best deliver on the needs of the places they serve on 
the condition that fares are simple and more affordable.  

240. A similar situation exists on Metrolink.  During the outset of Covid-19 demand reduced to 
5% to 10% of normal levels. During September 2020, patronage returned to up to 50% of 
pre-Covid-19 levels, and available capacity is limited by ongoing social distancing 
requirements.  

 
3 https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/who-we-are/accounts-transparency-and-governance/council-tax/council-tax-
transport-funding/ 

Page 137



FUNDING  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 65 

241. Therefore, due to the impact of Covid-19, Metrolink has suffered a significant reduction 
in farebox revenues.  For financial planning purposes, GMCA is assuming that the 
projected ongoing reductions in net revenues for Metrolink will be met from further 
government funding for the remainder of this financial year, with the risk of any overall 
shortfall net of Government grants being mitigated from reserves earmarked for the 
capital financing of Metrolink over the medium to long term.  This use of reserves would 
not be a sustainable source of funding in subsequent years if Government do not 
continue to provide funding to cover ongoing shortfalls in Metrolink net revenues.  TfGM 
proposes a more stable three-year package of government support for Metrolink to 
allow the network to get back to a position of financially sustainability, over the medium 
term. 

Capital Funding 

242. Transport improvements for Greater Manchester’s local networks are funded via the 
GMCA capital programme, which is in turn funded by a combination of grants and 
borrowings. This capital programme excludes improvements on the national rail and 
motorway networks, which are funded by Network Rail and Highways England 
respectively.   

243. The current GMCA capital programme is made up of a series of different funding sources, 
some local, some national, the spending of which has been prioritised locally. Table 1 
below shows the current capital programme through to March 2021. The Greater 
Manchester capital programme up to 2020/21 is funded by: 

• The Greater Manchester Transport Fund 1, including Earn Back4, which has 
funded the A6 to Manchester Airport Relief Road and Trafford Park Metrolink 
line. 

• The Growth Deal, which is delivering c.£400m of improvements through schemes 
such as Stockport Town Centre Accessibility Improvements, Salford Bolton 
Network Improvements and Tameside interchange. 

• Transforming Cities Fund, Cycle City Ambition Grant and the Emergency Active 
Travel Fund, which are together delivering over £200m of major walking and 
cycling improvements across Greater Manchester. 

• Transforming Cities Fund is also funding £83m towards 27 new Metrolink trams 
and supporting infrastructure, which will come into service between 2020 and 
2021. 

• The Government’s Clean Air Early Measures Fund, from which Greater 
Manchester has secured c.£3m to deliver additional electric vehicle charging 
points. 

• In February 2018, Greater Manchester, was awarded £3m from the national 
Clean Bus Technology Fund to help reduce harmful emissions from the region’s 
bus fleet. 

 
4 The Greater Manchester Transport Fund 1 allowed Greater Manchester to ‘earn back’ a portion of additional tax revenue 
from GVA increases resulting from local investment in infrastructure. Earn Back provides an incentive for Greater 
Manchester to prioritise local government spending to maximise GVA growth. 

Page 138



FUNDING  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 66 

• Highways Maintenance capital improvements, with the ten local authorities 
spending approximately £90m between them over the next three years. 

• The Greater Manchester Housing Package included commitment from 
Government to progress key Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) bids through to 
co-development stage. Initial funding is being used to develop infrastructure 
schemes that will aid the delivery of housing in Wigan/Bolton, 
Salford/Manchester, and Stockport/Cheshire East. 

244. In March 2018 GMCA successfully secured £23.8m from the Department for Digital, 
Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) to deliver full fibre broadband to 1,500 public sector 
sites across Greater Manchester.  Table 1 below shows the work that is left to do on 
delivering these programmes. 

Table 1: GMCA Transport Capital Programme  

 

245. Funding for the Highways England projects in this Delivery Plan is agreed with 
Government and is set out in the Road Investment Strategy (RIS) which covers five year 
periods.  RIS2, which covers the period from 2020 to 2025, is supported by funding of 
£27.4 bn.  This is drawn from the new National Roads Fund (NRF) created from receipts 
from Vehicle Excise Duty and which also funds improvements to the Major Road 
Network. 

246. Within this funding settlement, and in addition to major committed schemes such as the 
Smart Motorways and Simister Island Improvement, Highways England has discretion to 
fund a range of smaller projects through its Designated Funds, for which £936m has been 
allocated in the next five years. We will work with Highways England to identify 
opportunities in Greater Manchester where use of Designated Funds may be appropriate 

Sum of Value (£k) Column Labels

Row Labels 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Grand Total

Our Bus Network £15,671 £8,075 £3,447 £3,461 £13,171 £43,825

Bus Priority £12,140 £5,923 £3,248 £3,461 £13,046 £37,817

Bus Rapid Transit £3,531 £2,152 £199 £125 £6,007

Our Metrolink Network £79,558 £92,821 £113,890 £104,935 £47,708 £438,912

Metrolink Enhancements £5,449 £2,362 £23,609 £19,743 £25,836 £76,999

Metrolink Extensions £69,574 £88,310 £89,220 £82,962 £15,079 £345,145

Metrolink Resilience £4,535 £2,149 £1,061 £2,230 £6,793 £16,768

Our Rail Network £1,137 £10 £202 £420 £2,981 £4,750

Park & Ride £435 £435

Rail Stations Improvements £1,137 £10 £202 £420 £2,546 £4,315

Our Streets £80,088 £77,678 £70,259 £52,135 £70,396 £350,555

Active Travel £3,952 £2,958 £8,306 £5,608 £28,355 £49,179

Growth Deal 3 Local Authorities £1,369 £1,369

Highway Improvements £955 £1,571 £4,362 £9,843 £14,824 £31,555

Highway New Links £52,536 £49,967 £29,907 £13,149 £11,841 £157,399

Highway Resilience £1,433 £1,433

Minor Works £6,357 £8,980 £12,316 £16,349 £8,062 £52,064

Town Centre Streets for All £16,288 £14,202 £15,368 £7,186 £4,512 £57,556

Our Integrated Network £19,875 £14,822 £16,172 £18,436 £15,199 £84,505

Decarbonisation of the Fleet £121 -£7 £351 £1,113 £5,206 £6,784

Interchange Programme £16,377 £13,756 £15,202 £14,788 £9,949 £70,072

Smart Ticketing £2,477 £1,073 £620 £2,535 £44 £6,749

Information Systems £900 £900

Grand Total £196,329 £193,406 £203,970 £179,387 £149,455 £922,547

Page 139



FUNDING  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 67 

to deliver infrastructure.  We will also work closely with Highways England on their Route 
Strategy process which is expected to commence in 2021 and which will inform the 
determination of funding needs and priorities for the next RIS which will commence in 
2025. 

Scheme Prioritisation and Delivery 

247. This Delivery Plan includes a range of potential transport investments: from projects 
already being delivered and submitted to Government; through to initial ideas and 
concepts that still need further study. A large amount of work is required to develop, 
appraise and prioritise the transport interventions in this Delivery Plan – in other words, 
to make tough choices about where the limited funds available can make the biggest 
difference. This work will be overseen by senior transport leaders in the region, including 
the GMCA, the TfGM Committee and the TfGM Board. 

248. The further work to develop the emerging investment programme will be guided, at the 
highest level, by Greater Manchester’s 2040 Transport Strategy. Although the 2040 
Transport Strategy provides the guiding principles to help Greater Manchester develop, 
appraise and prioritise transport investment, it is necessarily high-level. More detailed 
sub-strategies are therefore being prepared by TfGM, the Greater Manchester local 
authorities and other key stakeholders for specific modes or geographical areas. For 
example, the Airport and Piccadilly HS2 Growth Strategy5 was published in 2018.  Other 
sub-strategies, such as the City Centre Transport Strategy, Streets for All Strategy and 
Rapid Transit Strategy are in development. Each sub-strategy will identify specific 
ambitions that support the delivery of the 2040 Transport Strategy.  

249. It will also be important to ensure that the development, appraisal and prioritisation 
process for the investment programme runs in parallel with the planning processes and 
ongoing studies of Greater Manchester’s partners, including Highways England’s Road 
Investment Strategy (RIS) periods, Network Rail’s rail improvements pipeline, and the 
Strategic Development Corridor (SDC) studies currently being led by Transport for the 
North. 

250. In pursuit of GM’s 2038 aim of becoming a carbon neutral city-region, TfGM, on behalf of 
the GMCA in delivering this plan and the associated infrastructure, will work 
collaboratively with all those involved in creating and managing infrastructure assets to 
reduce carbon throughout the value chain (whole life carbon management).  

251. Through initially determining if there is a need for new infrastructure, evaluating the 
potential for re-use of current assets and developing digital solutions, only building when 
necessary and ensuring that low carbon solutions are considered at all stages of the 
development, including future energy needed to operate the development, GM will lead 
by example and be on a pathway toward meeting the 2038 carbon neutral target.  

  

 
5 https://assets.ctfassets.net/nv7y93idf4jq/4sSHKQVxGMQuM488IMsWqG/cdc77581d9f6ce8d407b07976a2417e0/17-
1060_HS2_Growth_Strategy.pdf 

Page 140



FUNDING  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 68 

Future Capital Funding – Greater Manchester Infrastructure 
Programme (GMIP) 

252. The Independent Prosperity Review6, published in March 2019, undertook a detailed and 
rigorous assessment of the current state, and future potential, of Greater Manchester’s 
economy. It identified GM’s: 

i. Key strengths (health innovation, advanced materials/manufacturing, 
digital/creative/ media and clean growth); and  

ii. Barriers to prosperity (skills, infrastructure, leadership & management, 
innovation adoption and health inequality). 

253. In particular, the IPR identified that infrastructure investment can boost productivity and 
employment, creating prosperous towns linked to a strong economy – with GM’s towns 
and cities mutually reinforcing each other.  

254. To achieve this, GM needs the right integrated infrastructure to alleviate transport 
bottlenecks, support 200,000 new homes and meet future carbon targets, and five 
million square metres of new employment land via an integrated Infrastructure Plan. 
Without this infrastructure, we cannot deliver the homes or economic growth we need, 
and/or risk massive greenbelt development.  The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 
will set the blueprint for this activity.  

255. The Greater Manchester Infrastructure Programme (GMIP) enables infrastructure to be 
developed in a comprehensive, placed-based manner, looking both at local schemes and 
the strategic programmes that support them at a city-region level.  

256. The aim is for full integration of the process that links planning, prioritisation and then 
funding and delivery.  

257. GMIP is based on the following key themes: 

• A Place-based approach: integration of transport, housing and regeneration to 
give place-based investment packages/interventions; 

• GM-wide strategic investment packages: delivering at scale, supported by 
integrated procurement, and strong integration with national agencies, 
infrastructure providers and utilities; and 

• Strong governance: over 10 years experience of robust governance and delivery, 
and an ability to manage and deliver investment with flexibility and hence more 
quickly. 

258. GMIP is accountable to an official-led Delivery Executive chaired by the GMCA Chief 
Executive and attended by external partners such as United Utilities and the 
Infrastructure and Projects Authority. This regularly reports to the Combined Authority, 
chaired by the Mayor. 

 
6 https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/economy/greater-manchester-independent-prosperity-review/ 

Page 141



FUNDING  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 69 

259. Greater Manchester’s overall ambitions are summarised on the map below, which brings 
together GM’s plans for: 

• Growth through the Spatial Framework; 

• Connectivity through the 2040 Transport Plan; 

• Innovation assets through Innovation GM; and 

• World-class connectivity through our Full Fibre programme. 

 

 

260. Greater Manchester is also asking Government to adopt of the National Infrastructure 
Commission's (NIC) recommendation for multi-year infrastructure funding settlements to 
city regions who have developed the necessary strategic planning capability and 
governance. The NIC noted that the efficient planning and delivery of infrastructure is 
badly affected by uncertainty of funding. Through the publication of plans, such as this 
five year transport Delivery Plan, GM has put in place the strategic planning and 
governance required for an ambitious infrastructure programme that would unlock 
pipelines of future housing and connectivity. 

  

Page 142



FUNDING  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 70 

Table 2: GMIP Funding Programme  

 

Further Transport Devolution 

261. Further devolution of transport functions from central Government is required, to equip 
Greater Manchester with the ability to create and efficiently manage a cleaner, more 
efficient and integrated transport network.  Greater Manchester’s ambition is to deliver 
a truly London-style transport system within four years, with radically improved bus 
services, investment to support the Clean Air Plan and a rapid reduction in carbon 
emissions, and local control of rail stations.  This will reduce car dependency, clean up 
our air, and give our residents real choice about how they travel within an increasingly 
'mode blind' transport system.   

262. To deliver on this GM needs to work with government on areas including: 

• More influence over the rail system, including control over stations; 

• Powers to deliver a consistent, clean and welcoming taxi and private hire fleet; 

Programme Area

Phase 1

21/22 to 

22/23

£m

Phase 2

23/24 to 

25/26

£m

Total

£m

Our Bus 129          367             497             

   Bus priority measures 32.6         47.4            80.0            

   Bus Rapid Transit 6.5            5.0              11.5            

   Introduction of Quality Bus Transit corridors 60.0         140.0         200.0         

   Town centre interchange development in Bury 20.0         160.0         180.0         

   Upgrades / renewals 10.0         15.0            25.0            

Our Metrolink 185          625             810             

   Enhanced passenger facilities and access to stops 35.0         55.0            90.0            

   New stops to support spatial growth priorities -           40.0            40.0            

   Network capacity and resilience 20.0         75.0            95.0            

   Major schemes 70.0         300.0         370.0         

   Tram train early development 23.0         132.0         155.0         

   Upgrades / renewals 37.0         23.0            60.0            

Our Rail 14             69               83               

   Completing up to 4 Access for All  rail station upgrades 3.0            10.0            13.0            

   Delivery of up to 2 new rail stations 1.0            39.0            40.0            

   Enhanced passenger facilities and access to stations 10.0         10.0            20.0            

   Port Salford Rail Link -           10.0            10.0            

Our Streets 385          767             1,152         

   Next tranche of £1.5bn Bee Network beyond the £160m TCF allocation 63.0         272.0         335.0         

   Town Centre & Streets schemes 26.5         30.0            56.5            

   Pinchpoint schemes 26.4         25.0            51.4            

   Schemes that unlock delivery of the Existing Land Supply and GMSF sites 11.3         42.6            53.9            

   Major schemes, e.g. Wigan-Bolton HIF and Stockport A34 87.3         92.7            180.0         

   Upgrades / Renewals 170.0       305.0         475.0         

Our Integrated Network 152          180             332             

   Electric bus fleet and associated depot investment 100.0       150.0         250.0         

   Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure 23.0         -              23.0            

   ITS applications for Covid-19 recovery 9.0            -              9.0              

   Future Mobility Zone 20.0         30.0            50.0            

Total Capital Ask £m 865          2,009         2,873         

Page 143



FUNDING  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 71 

• New powers to manage our road network; and 

• A reformed and electrified bus system. 

 

Page 144



MEASURING SUCCESS | NEXT STEPS  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 72 

Measuring Success  

263. As we make Our Delivery Plan a reality, we will need to assess whether the measures and 
policies we develop are ultimately helping to deliver our 2040 Transport Strategy. In 
order to do this, we are measuring performance through a series of key performance 
indicators (KPIs). These represent progress towards ‘desired outcomes’ and our 
adherence to the seven network principles outlined in the 2040 Transport Strategy. 

264. In the tables in Appendix D are two types of indicators:  

1. Customer Responses or ‘demand-side’ indicators that tell us what’s happening in the 
travel market: patronage, mode split, satisfaction, propensity to use etc.  

2. Operational or ’supply-side’ is about how much we do (and how well we do it) to 
affect customer choices and perceptions.  

265. Both need to be considered together because although customer data shows what 
works, the results lag behind our actions, so we need to know that those actions are 
happening according to plan in real time.  Ultimately, our key goal is to make real 
progress towards our “Right Mix” ambitions, with far more trips being made by active 
travel and public transport.      

 

Next steps 

266. Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan shows how, over the next five years, we will make 
real progress towards the vision we set out in our 2040 Transport Strategy and delivering 
the ambition set out in Our Network.  This Delivery Plan sets out concrete proposals for 
this large investment programme, to support driving this change across Greater 
Manchester. It shows, in detail, the investment Greater Manchester needs to achieve 
better, cleaner and more connected transport for all. 

267. The investment programme set out in this Delivery Plan will also directly support the 
Greater Manchester Spatial Framework, our Clean Air Plan and meeting our carbon 
targets. 

268. TfGM, the GMCA and the ten local authorities are therefore united in their call to 
Government to take action and agree a new funding and devolution deal for Greater 
Manchester to make this Delivery Plan a reality. 

 

Page 145



  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 73 

Glossary 

Term Definition  

2040 Transport 
Strategy 

See Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040. 

Bee Network Greater Manchester’s vision for the first fully joined up network of 
cycling and walking routes. The Bee Network comprises 1800 miles of 
planned routes which will connect every community in GM with a 
guaranteed high quality route to walk or cycle.  

Bus Rapid Transit  A bus service that is mainly focussed on middle distance trips of 6km 
to 40km and is significantly faster than the usual, all-stops bus 
service. The Leigh-Salford-Manchester guided busway is an example 
of Bus Rapid Transit in Greater Manchester. 

City Centre The economic core of the city-region, which includes the area within 
the Manchester and Salford Inner Relief Route (MSIRR), the Oxford 
Road Corridor and the University of Salford area. The City Centre 
forms part of the Regional Centre, which is a larger area (see map 
below this table). 

Cycle City 
Ambition Grant 
(CCAG) 
programme  

A £262m national investment programme to make cycling easier and 
safer and give more people the confidence to take up cycling. Greater 
Manchester secured £42m of CCAG funding, which has delivered 
improvements such as the new-look Oxford Road corridor. 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
(GMCA) 

Greater Manchester’s sub-regional political authority, made up of the 
ten Greater Manchester local authorities and Mayor. The GMCA is 
run jointly by the leaders of the ten authorities and the Mayor of 
Greater Manchester. 

Greater 
Manchester 
Spatial 
Framework 
(GMSF) 

The joint spatial development plan for Greater Manchester, which 
will set out the spatial strategy for providing the land for jobs and 
homes across the city-region. 

Greater 
Manchester 
Strategy (GMS) 

The new plan for Greater Manchester, written by all ten local 
authorities, the Mayor, the NHS, transport, the police, and the fire 
service. It covers health, wellbeing, work and jobs, housing, transport, 
skills, training and economic growth. 

Greater 
Manchester 
Transport 
Strategy 2040 
(GMTS2040) 

Greater Manchester’s long-term transport strategy, developed by 
TfGM on behalf of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority. Its 
vision for Greater Manchester is to have ‘world-class connections 
that support long-term, sustainable economic growth and access to 
opportunity for all’. 

High Speed 2 
(HS2) 

The planned new high-speed railway line which will connect London 
to the North of England. Phase 2, which will connect London and the 
West Midlands to the north, has been split into: 

• Phase 2a: (West Midlands to Crewe): to be completed by 
2027 

Page 146



  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 74 

• Phase 2b (full network to Manchester and Leeds): to be 
completed by 2033 

Key town centres Greater Manchester’s principal urban centres outside the Regional 
Centre. The eight key town centres are Altrincham, Ashton-under-
Lyne, Bolton, Bury, Oldham, Rochdale, Stockport and Wigan. 

Key Route 
Network (KRN) 

Greater Manchester’s local authorities have defined a Key Route 
Network making up nearly 400 miles of Greater Manchester’s busiest 
roads. While this is just seven per cent of the total length of the 
highways network, it carries some two-thirds of peak-time traffic. 
TfGM have strategic oversight and management responsibility for the 
Key Route Network, which includes monitoring and reporting on 
performance, and developing policies that will keep traffic moving. 
For a plan of the current network see Figure 10. 

Manchester 
North West 
Quadrant (NWQ) 

The stretch of the M60 between Junctions 8 to 18, which experiences 
high levels of congestion at present. A strategic study to develop 
solutions for the North West Quadrant, sponsored by the 
Department for Transport, is currently being undertaken by Highways 
England, Transport for the North and TfGM. 

Metro Turn-up-and-go electrically-powered rail-based rapid transit 
providing excellent access to the rapid transit hubs that it serves.  

Mobility as a 
Service (MaaS)  

The integration of various forms of transport services into a single 
mobility service, accessible on demand. To meet a customer’s 
request, a MaaS operator offers a range of transport options, such as 
public transport, ride-, car- or bike-sharing, taxi or car rental/lease, or 
a combination thereof. The MaaS user is offered a single application 
with a single payment channel to access these mobility services. 

Manchester and 
Salford Inner 
Relief Route 
(MSIRR) 

The inner relief route around the City Centre, comprising the A57(M) 
Mancunian Way, A6042 Trinity Way, A665 Great Ancoats Street and 
A635 Ring Road. 

Major Road 
Network (MRN) 

The middle tier of England’s busiest and most economically important 
local authority ‘A’ roads. The Department for Transport has dedicated 
a specific funding stream to improvements on MRN roads as part of 
the National Roads Fund.   

Northern 
Powerhouse Rail 
(NPR) 

A major strategic rail programme being developed by Transport for 
the North, designed to transform connectivity between the key 
economic centres of the North. NPR will include a combination of 
new routes with upgrades of existing infrastructure, over and above 
short and medium-term proposals for network upgrades. 

Quality Bus 
Transit  

Whole-route upgrades of key bus corridors, with a strong focus on 
quality, reliability, and integration into the urban realm.  

Rapid transit Any public transport service that offers significantly faster journeys 
than a stopping bus service for middle-distance trips. Examples in 
Greater Manchester to date include the Metrolink network and the 
Leigh-Salford-Manchester guided busway. 

Regional Centre Greater Manchester’s primary economic centre. It includes the City 
Centre, The Quays to the west and the Etihad Campus / Central Park 
area to the east (see Figure 11). 

Page 147



  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 75 

 

 

Right Mix   

Road Investment 
Strategy (RIS) 

A long-term approach to improve the Strategic Road Network. The 
first RIS (RIS1) covers the period 2015-2020. Highways England is 
currently carrying out studies to prepare for the second RIS (RIS2), 
which will cover the period post 2020. 

Strategic Road 
Network (SRN) 

The national network of motorways and trunk roads managed by 
Highways England. 

Streets for All Streets for All is Greater Manchester’s new approach for delivering 

the 2040 Strategy vision, through a people-centred approach to 

decisions we make about how our streets are designed and managed. 

Our ambition to shift more travel to walking, cycling and public 

transport is essential to ensuring the prosperity of GM. We can only 

achieve this change in how people travel by creating streets in which 

people feel welcome to move through and spend time.   

 

Town Centre 
Challenge  

The Town Centre Challenge is a brand new proactive approach to 
urban development, with the Mayor pledging to bring together public 
and private landowners, developers, investors, housing providers, 
community groups and other key stakeholders. 

Tram-train Tram-train is a light-rail public transport technology enabling light rail 
vehicles with street-running capability to run onto main-line railway 
lines, which are shared with conventional trains. Tram-train 
technology is relatively common in countries such as Germany and 
France, but is novel in the UK; the first tram-train in the UK, between 
Sheffield and Rotherham, started operations in October 2018. 

Transport for the 
North (TfN) 

England’s first Sub-National Statutory Transport Body formed to 
transform the transport system across the North of England. TfN 
brings together the North’s nineteen bodies which are responsible for 
co-ordinating transport services – one of these is Greater 
Manchester. 

Page 148



  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 76 

Figure 10: Motorway, Trunk Road and Key Route Network 

 

 

  

Page 149



  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 77 

Figure 11: Definition of the City Centre and the Regional Centre 

 

 

Page 150



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 78 

APPENDIX A: List of Interventions  

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Our Bus 

Local Bus 

Bus Reform: assessment 
and implementation (if 
approved) 

To consider realistic options for 
reforming the bus market in Greater 
Manchester as a potential mechanism 
to help achieve the vision for bus from 
the 2040 Strategy. 
 

GM Wide  

Salford Bolton Network 
Improvements 

To create shorter, more reliable 
journey times for all road users and 
deliver better access to employment 
and local facilities for bus passengers 
as well as active travel measures. 
 

Bolton/ 
Salford 

 

Bus stop enhancements 
programme to improve 
waiting facilities at stops 

Improve accessibility to encourage 
mode shift by increasing the 
attractiveness of bus networks. 
 

GM Wide  

Concessionary fares 
scheme 

To provide free or reduced cost travel 
for specific groups including the 
elderly, young and disabled people. 
This will also encourage mode shift in 
Greater Manchester. 
 

GM Wide  

Socially necessary bus 
transport services delivery 
and review (including 
supported bus services, 
Ring & Ride and Local 
Link) 

To provide socially necessary public 
transport services which are not 
commercially viable, using where 
possible zero tailpipe Emission 
Capable (ZEtC) vehicles. 
 

GM Wide  

School transport services 
delivery and review 

To deliver opportunities for more 
efficient school transport across 
Greater Manchester, using where 
possible zero tailpipe Emission 
Capable (ZEtC) vehicles. 
 

GM Wide  

Page 151



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 79 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

City Centre North West: 
Deansgate – New Bailey – 
Chapel St Area 

To improve the streets in the area for 
walking, cycling and placemaking, 
along with the reliability of bus 
journey times.  Improvements include 
public realm enhancements, 
temporary measures and bus gate 
improvements. 
 

Manchester  

Our Metrolink 

Metrolink 

Additional Metrolink 
vehicles (27 new trams) 
and associated 
infrastructure – enabling 
the use of more double 
unit vehicles between 
Bury and Altrincham, and 
Shaw and East Didsbury 

To increase Metrolink capacity into 
and through the Regional Centre, in 
order to facilitate continuing 
economic growth and access to 
services and encourage mode shift. 

GM Wide Other 

Tram Management 
System 

To provide capacity improvements 
through the city centre and real time 
passenger information. 

GM Wide Other 

Metrolink Renewals 
Programme 

To intelligently invest in timely asset 
replacement. 

GM Wide Phase 1 
& 2 

New Stops and Upgrades 

Shelter and Lift Renewals To provide Metrolink shelter upgrades 
and lift renewals across Greater 
Manchester. 

GM Wide  

Our Rail 
Rail 

Hope Valley Line 
improvements (to 
Sheffield) including new 
passing facilities  

To increase capacity so that the line 
can continue to carry mixed traffic 
and complement NPR services. Line 
improvements will improve reliability 
of services between Manchester and 
Sheffield. 

Manchester  

Central Manchester Rail 
Network (including 
Castlefield corridor) 
enhancements- early 
interventions 

To begin to address the critical 
capacity constraints on the rail 
network in the Regional Centre, which 
will need to grow further to 
accommodate the forecast levels of 
employment growth. 

Manchester  

Page 152



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 80 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Salford Central station 
upgrade  

To provide additional capacity by re-
opening disused platforms (3, 4 and 
5). This will improve access to this 
part of the City Centre by rail, 
reducing pressure on neighbouring 
stations/ corridors. 

Salford Phase 1 
& 2 

Daisy Hill Station Access 
for all Improvements 

To maximise existing rail assets to 
provide better facilities, improve 
transport integration and deliver 
community benefits. 

Bolton  

Irlam Station Access for all 
Improvements 

To maximise existing rail assets to 
provide better facilities, improve 
transport integration and deliver 
community benefits. 

Trafford  

Walkden Station Access 
for all Improvements 

To maximise existing rail assets to 
provide better facilities, improve 
transport integration and deliver 
community benefits. 

Manchester  

Rail Station Accessibility 
Programme to delivery 
accessibility 
improvements at Mills Hill 
Station 

To maximise existing rail assets to 
provide better facilities, improve 
transport integration and delivery 
community benefits. 

Rochdale/ 
Oldham  

Phase 1 
& 2 

Daisy Hill Station bridge 
deck replacement 

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and liveability 
of the city-region by maintaining the 
network in good condition. 

Bolton  

Our Streets 

Walking and Cycling 

GM Emergency Active 
Travel Schemes 
Programme 

To support creating a safe 
environment for walking and cycling 
that supports social distancing.  

GM Wide Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 1: B6226 Chorley 
New Road 

Bee Network delivery into the 
northwest of Bolton town centre 

Manchester Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Bolton Town 
Centre Phase One (East) 

Bee Network delivery in Bolton town 
centre 

Bolton Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Westhoughton 
Bee Network Phase 1 

Bee Network delivery in 
Westhoughton 

Bolton Phase 1 

Page 153



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 81 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Astley Bridge-
Crompton Phase 1 

Bee Network delivery in Astley Bridge 
and Crompton 

Bolton Phase 1 

Mayor’s Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5 Active 
Neighbourhoods: Oldhams 
Estate 

Active Neighbourhood delivery in 
North Bolton. 

Bolton Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 1: New and 
Upgraded Crossing Points 
and Junctions, Bury 

Targeted Bee Network junctions and 
crossings in Bury 

Bury Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Fishpool 
Neighbourhood Bee 
Network 

Bee Network delivery in Fishpool Bury Phase 1 

Mayor’s Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5 Active 
Neighbourhoods: 
Prestwich 

Active Neighbourhood delivery in 
Prestwich. 

Bury Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Elton 

Bee Network delivery in Elton Bury Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Pimhole 

Bee Network delivery in Pimhole Bury Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Radcliffe 
Central 

Bee Network delivery in Radcliffe Bury Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 1: Manchester to 
Chorlton 

Busy Beeway delivery between 
Chorlton-cum-Hardy and Manchester 
City Centre. 

Manchester Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: Levenshulme: 
Our Active Streets 

Active Neighbourhood in 
Levenshulme. 

Manchester Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: Mancunian 
Way - Princess Way 
Junction 

Major junction improvement, 
including transformational cycling and 
walking facilities at Mancunian 
Way/Princess Rd. 

Manchester Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: Rochdale Canal 
Bridge 88-80a 

Bee Network delivery through canal 
towpath upgrade in East Manchester. 

Manchester Phase 1 

Page 154



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 82 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: 
Route86(Northern 
Quarter Piccadilly-
Victoria) 

Bee Network delivery in Manchester 
city centre. 

Manchester Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Northern and 
Eastern Gateway  

Bee Network delivery in Ancoats/New 
Islington.  

Manchester Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Beswick 
Filtered Neighbourhood  

Active Neighbourhood in Beswick. Manchester Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Manchester 
Cycleway 

Upgrade of Fallowfield Loop to Bee 
Network standard. 

Manchester Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 1: King Street 
foot/cycle bridge 
refurbishment, Oldham 

Key Bee Network connection into 
Oldham town centre through bridge 
refurbishment. 

Oldham Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 1: Union Street 
West foot/cycle bridge 
refurbishment, Oldham 

Key Bee Network connection into 
Oldham town centre through bridge 
refurbishment. 

Oldham Phase 1 

Mayor’s Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5 Active 
Neighbourhoods: Busk 

Active Neighbourhood delivery in 
Busk 

Oldham Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Oldham Town 
Centre Improvements 

Bee Network delivery in Oldham town 
centre. 

Oldham Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Chadderton 
Improvements 

Bee Network delivery in Chadderton. Oldham Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Royton Town 
Centre Connection 

Bee Network delivery in Royton. Oldham Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 1: Castleton Local 
Centre Corridor 

Busy Beeway delivery between 
Castleton and Rochdale 

Rochdale Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: Castleton 
Rochdale Town Centre 
Phase 2 

Busy Beeway delivery between 
Castleton and Rochdale 

Rochdale Phase 1 

Page 155



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 83 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Mayor’s Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5 Active 
Neighbourhoods: 
Milkstone and Deeplish 

Active Neighbourhood delivery in 
Milkstone and Deeplish 

Rochdale Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 1: Chapel Street 
East Phase 1 
Demonstrator Project 

Busy Bee route delivery in Salford city 
centre. 

Salford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 1: SBNI - A6 
Broad Street / B6186 
Frederick Road 

Junction upgrade to facilitate Bee 
Network connections in the Salford 
University area. 

Salford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 2: Swinton 
Greenway 

Busy Bee route delivery in Swinton 
through upgrade of former rail 
alignment. 

Salford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
for walking and cycling 
Tranche 2: Trinity 
Way/Springfield Lane 
Junction Upgrade 

Junction upgrade to facilitate Bee 
Network connections. 

Salford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 3: Trafford Road 

Busy Bee route on Trafford Road, 
Salford Quays. 

Salford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: Barton 
Aqueduct 

Reinstatement of towpath on historic 
Aqueduct, providing a key Bee 
Network connection between 
Trafford Park and Eccles/Barton-
upon-Irwell. 

Salford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
for walking and cycling 
Tranche 4: Liverpool 
Street Corridor 

Busy Beeway delivery on Liverpool St 
to facilitate a major cycling and 
walking connection to the city centre 
from the west. 

Salford  Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Broughton 
Cycleway Enhancements 

Busy Bee route delivery through 
upgrade of existing light segregation 
on Great Clowes St/Blackfriars Rd 
corridor. 

Salford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Chapel Street 
East Phase 2 

Busy Bee route delivery in Salford City 
Centre. 

Salford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Chapel 
Street/Trinity Way 

Junction improvement for cycling and 
walking to facilitate Bee Network 
connections. 

Salford Phase 1 

Page 156



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 84 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Gore Street 
Connection 

Bee Network delivery in Salford City 
Centre. 

Salford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Oldfield Road 
Corridor 

Busy Bee route delivery in Salford City 
Centre. 

Salford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Ordsall Chord 
Riverside Connection 

Bee Network delivery in Salford City 
Centre. 

Salford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: RHS Links 

Bee Network connections to new RHS 
Bridgewater site in Worsley. 

Salford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: St. Johns to 
New Bailey Bridge 

New pedestrian and cycle bridge 
across the Irwell providing a new Bee 
Network connection between Salford 
and Manchester city centres 

Salford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 1: Gillbent Road - 
Crossing Upgrade, 
Stockport 

Upgraded Bee Network crossing 
delivery in Bramhall/Cheadle Hulme. 

Stockport Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 2: Hazel Grove 
Bee Network Phase 1 

Bee Network delivery in Hazel Grove. Stockport Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: A6 MARR Links 
Phase 1 

Bee Network links connecting 
communities to the cycle/walking 
route alongside the A555 in Bramhall, 
Cheadle Hulme and Hazel Grove.  

Stockport Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: Bramhall Park 
to A6 

Busy Beeway delivery on the A5143 
corridor between Bramhall and Hazel 
Grove. 

Stockport Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: Stockport 
crossings package 

Bee Network crossings delivery in 
Stockport. 

Stockport Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: Heatons Link 
Phase 1 

Bee Network delivery in the Heatons. Stockport Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: Ladybrook 
Valley 

Bee Network delivery in the 
Ladybrook Valley, Cheadle Hulme. 

Stockport Phase 1 

Page 157



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 85 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: Stockport 
Interchange 

Delivery of Bee Network connections 
as part of the Stockport Interchange 
project, including linking Stockport 
station to Stockport town centre.  

Stockport Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Stockport to 
Offerton 

Bee Network Delivery between 
Offerton and Stockport to provide a 
route into the town centre from the 
south east.  

Stockport Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Romiley 
Neighbourhoods & Links 
Phase 1 

Active neighbourhood delivery in 
Romiley. 

Stockport Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Thomson 
Street Bridge Phase 1 

Bee Network connections to Thomson 
Street Bridge in Edgeley and Stockport 
town centre. 

Stockport Phase 1 

Mayor’s Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5 Active 
Neighbourhoods: Cheadle 
Heath 

Active Neighbourhood Delivery in 
Cheadle Heath 

Stockport Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 1: Tameside 
Active Neighbourhoods 

Active Neighbourhoods delivery in 
Tameside. 

Tameside Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: Crown Point 

Major junction improvement for 
cycling and walking to facilitate Bee 
Network connections in Denton. 

Tameside Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Ashton South 

Bee Network delivery in Ashton town 
centre. 

Tameside Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Ashton 
Streetscape Scheme 

Bee Network delivery in Ashton town 
centre. 

Tameside Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: A57 Denton to 
Hyde 

Busy Beeway delivery on the A57 
corridor between Denton and Hyde. 

Tameside Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 1: A5014 Talbot 
Road 

Busy Beeway delivery through 
upgrade of the existing light 
segregation provision on the A5014 in 
Talbot Road in Old Trafford 

Trafford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 2: Talbot Road 
Junction Upgrades 

Busy Beeway delivery through 
upgrade of the existing light 
segregation provision on the A5014 in 
Talbot Road in Old Trafford 

Trafford Phase 1 

Page 158



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 86 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: Wharfside Way 
- Moss Road 

Busy Beeway delivery on Wharfside 
Way and Moss Rd in Trafford Park.  

Trafford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Urmston Area 
Active Neighbourhood 

Active Neighbourhoods delivery in 
Urmston 

Trafford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Seymour Grove 
Phase 1 

Busy Beeway delivery on Seymour 
Grove in Old Trafford/Firswood 

Trafford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: North 
Altrincham Bee Network 

Bee network delivery in North 
Altrincham, including connecting 
Altrincham town centre to the 
Bridgewater Way 

Trafford Phase 1 

Mayor’s Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5 Active 
Neighbourhoods: Sale 

Active Neighbourhood Delivery in Sale Trafford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 1: Victoria 
Street/Warrington Road 
Junction Improvements, 
Wigan 

Junction improvement for cycling and 
walking to facilitate Bee Network 
connections to the west of Wigan 
town centre. 

Wigan Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 2: Standish 
Mineral Line 
Enhancements 

Bee network delivery through 
connections and upgrades to the 
existing Standish Mineral Line facility 
between Standish and Wigan. 

Wigan Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 3: Toucan 
Crossings - Wigan Central 

Bee Network crossing delivery in 
Wigan town centre. 

Wigan Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: Leigh Atherton 
Tyldesley 

Bee Network delivery in the Leigh, 
Atherton and Tyldesley area. 

Wigan Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Standish to 
Ashton  

Busy Beeway delivery linking Standish, 
Wigan and Ashton-in-Makerfield. 

Wigan Phase 1 

Mayor’s Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5 Active 
Neighbourhoods: 
Golborne and Lowton 

Active Neighbourhood delivery in 
Golborne and Lowton 

Wigan Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: GM Bike hire 
phase 1 

Public bike hire scheme to increase 
access to bikes, starting in the 
regional centre and surrounding area. 

GM Wide Phase 1 

Page 159



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 87 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: GM Active 
Neighbourhoods Support 

Delivery of ten further active 
neighbourhoods across Greater 
Manchester  

GM Wide Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: GM Safety 
Camera Digitisation and 
Upgrade 

Digitisation of safety cameras and 
introduction of new camera locations 
targeted at the Bee Network to make 
streets safer for walking and cycling 

GM Wide Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Bee Network 
Crossings 

Bee Network delivery through 
targeted clusters of new or upgraded 
crossings of major roads across 
Greater Manchester. 

GM Wide Phase 1 

Local Highways 

Trafford Road junction 
improvements 

To support the continued growth of 
Salford Quays by improving traffic 
flow through junction and enhancing 
walking and cycling facilities on 
Trafford Road 

Trafford  

Carrington Relief Road To support growth in the Carrington 
area by improving accessibility to new 
developments. To support creating a 
safe environment for walking, cycling 
and public transport. 

Trafford  

A560 Cheadle and Cheadle 
Heath Corridor resilience 
and reliability package.   

To address capacity and resilience 
issues on the A560 corridor through 
Cheadle. 

Stockport  

Poynton Relief Road To address capacity and resilience 
issues on Cheshire East border 

Stockport  
 

Traffic control 
enhancements, including 
continued roll-out of 
smart signalling 
technology at traffic 
signals 

To reduce delays and minimise 
congestion at junctions, and improve 
reliability, thereby supporting 
economic growth and reducing 
impacts of traffic on communities 
through, for example, emissions. 

GM Wide  

Network management 
improvements, including 
corridor management, a 
24/7 control centre, and 
better management of 
roadworks 

To reduce delays and minimise 
congestion at junctions, and improve 
reliability, thereby supporting 
economic growth and reducing 
impacts of traffic on communities 
through, for example, emissions. 

GM Wide  

Page 160



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 88 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Better management of 
transport arrangements 
for major events, such as 
mid-week football match 
nights  

To reduce congestion and minimise 
disruption on the road network. 

GM Wide  

Minor Works programme 
(see GM Local 
Implementation Plans in 
Appendix B for more 
information) 

To improve town centre connectivity, 
local access to public transport, access 
to development sites and active travel 
schemes through small-scale 
interventions 

GM Wide  

Review of all non-essential 
roadworks to explore 
ways of working to 
minimise disruption 

To complete works as quickly as 
possible and make travel as easy as 
possible for affected commuters.  

GM Wide  

Enhanced roadworks 
permit scheme for greater 
coordination and control 
to limit disruption 

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and liveability 
of the city-region by maintaining the 
network in good condition. 

GM Wide  

Drainage remediation 
work along Wigan’s 
section of GM’s Key Route 
Network    

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and liveability 
of the city-region by maintaining the 
network in good condition. 

GM Wide  

Kingsway Loop Road The completion of Michael Faraday 
Avenue to release land for 30,000m2 
of employment space, 60 homes and 
improve access to Kingsway Metrolink 
stop 

Rochdale  

Oldham Way KRN 
Structures Refurbishment: 
Waterloo Street and 
Wellington Street Bridge 
works 
 
 
 

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and liveability 
of the city-region by maintaining the 
network in good condition. 

Oldham  

Strategic Roads and Motorways  

M60 J13/A572 
improvement to support 
the RHS Bridgewater 
growth site 

To support the RHS Bridgewater 
growth site and improve the 
operation of this congested junction. 

Salford  

Page 161



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 89 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

A57 Hyde Road Localised 
Widening 

To address a highways “pinchpoint” 
on the Hyde Road. 

Manchester  

M58 Link Road To provide better east-west 
connectivity between the M6, Wigan 
town centre and growth areas further 
east. 

Wigan  

South Heywood M62 J19 
Link Road  

To relieve congestion and support 
long-term development proposals in 
Heywood, including 1,000 new homes 
off Pilsworth Road. 

Rochdale  

M58/M6 junction upgrade 
(short term) 

To increase the capacity of the 
M58/M6 interchange, providing 
better connectivity into Wigan and to 
the Port of Liverpool and support 
delivery of the M58 Link Road. 

Wigan  

M56 Junctions 6-8 Smart 
Motorway 

To address existing congestion and 
reliability issues on the SRN and 
provide the capacity for the 
anticipated scale of growth both 
within the city-region and in 
neighbouring authorities. 

GM Wide  

M6 Junctions 21A-26 
Smart Motorway 

To address existing congestion and 
reliability issues on the SRN and 
provide the capacity for the 
anticipated scale of growth both 
within the city-region and in 
neighbouring authorities. 

GM Wide  

Mottram Moor and A57(T) 
to A57 Link Roads 

As part of the wider Trans-Pennine 
Upgrade, to reduce journey times and 
improve reliability between the 
Greater Manchester and Sheffield 
City-Regions, reduce traffic impacts 
on local communities and improve 
safety. 

Tameside / 
GM Wide 

 

M62 Junctions 20-25 
Smart Motorway 

To address existing congestion and 
reliability issues on the SRN and 
provide the capacity for the 
anticipated scale of growth both 
within the city-region and in 
neighbouring authorities. 

GM Wide  

Page 162



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 90 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Simister Island 
Improvements 

To address existing congestion and 
reliability issues on the SRN and 
provide capacity for future growth  

Manchester  

A663 Broadway/M60 J21 
junction upgrade 

To reduce congestion and improve 
safety on the Strategic Route 
Network. 

Oldham  

Freight and Logistics 

Develop and implement 
Delivery and Servicing 
Plans for large 
organisations and retailers 

To minimise the need to for road 
freight deliveries, thereby reducing 
congestion and improving air quality. 

GM Wide  

Freight accreditation 
schemes e.g. Construction 
Logistics and Community 
Safety (CLOCS) and Fleet 
Operator Recognition 
Scheme (FORS) 

To reduce the social and 
environmental external impacts of 
freight traffic. 

GM Wide  

Influence Procurement 
practices such as waste 
collection 

To minimise the need to for road 
freight deliveries, thereby reducing 
congestion and improving air quality. 

GM Wide  

Support micro-
consolidation in regional 
and town centres 

To minimise the need to for road 
freight deliveries, thereby reducing 
congestion and improving air quality. 

GM Wide  

Town Centres 

Manchester and Salford 
Inner Relief Route: Great 
Ancoats Street 
improvements 

To minimise the severance impacts of 
the MSIRR for pedestrians and cyclists 
and enable the expansion of the 
regional centre outside of the MSIRR. 

Manchester  

Princess Road Roundabout 
Improvement Scheme  

To improve the Princess Road / 
Medlock Street roundabout beneath 
the Mancunian Way for all road users.  

Manchester  

Stockport Town Centre 
Structure Enhancements  

To tackle congestion in and around 
Stockport town centre and remove 
barriers to movement for all modes. 

Stockport  

Stockport Town Centre 
Access Plan 

To tackle congestion in and around 
Stockport town centre and remove 
barriers to movement for all modes. 

Stockport  

Page 163



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 91 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Oldham Town Centre 
Accessible Oldham 
Connectivity Package 
(Phase 1) 

To facilitate development and 
regeneration in Oldham Town Centre 
and to improve the attractiveness of 
Oldham Town Centre for pedestrians, 
cyclists and public transport users, 
and maintain the integrity of the 
highway network within and around 
Oldham Town Centre. 

Oldham  

St. Mary's Way Streets for All scheme on St Mary’s 
Way, Oldham. 

Oldham Phase 1 

Other minor works 
programmes (e.g. from 
the Greater Manchester 
Growth Deal) that support 
town centre regeneration 

To support future facilitation of 
development and regeneration in 
town centres in Greater Manchester 
and improve the attractiveness of 
town centres for pedestrians, cyclists 
and public transport users.  

GM Wide  

Maintenance 

Enhanced maintenance 
programme through 
successful bids to Pothole 
Fund and other initiatives   

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and liveability 
of the city-region by maintaining the 
network in good condition. 

GM Wide  

Committed long-term 
highway maintenance 
programme for Key Route 
Assets, to be delivered by 
the local authorities    

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and liveability 
of the city-region by maintaining the 
network in good condition. 

GM Wide Phase 1 
& 2 

KRN Network 
Maintenance along the 
A635 Ashton Old Road 
and A5145 Barlow Moor 
Road. 

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and liveability 
of the city-region by maintaining the 
network in good condition.  

GM Wide  

Our Integrated Network 

Clean Air and Carbon 

Early expansion of electric 
vehicles network charging 
points, including for use 
by private hire vehicles 
and taxis  

To improve air quality in the regional 
Centre and other areas and improve 
the health of GM residents and 
visitors. 

GM Wide  

Page 164



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 92 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Retrofitting or renewing 
buses to comply with 
more stringent emissions 
standards and/or zero 
emission standards 

To improve air quality in the Regional 
Centre and other areas and improve 
the health of GM residents and 
visitors. 

GM Wide  

Community clean air and 
electric vehicle awareness 
campaigns  

To improve air quality in the Regional 
Centre and other areas and improve 
the health of GM residents and 
visitors. 

GM Wide  

Future Mobility and Innovation 

Mobility as a Service 
(Maas) projects, including 
the delivery of MaaS trials 
in Greater Manchester 

To support the integration of various 
forms of transport services (e.g. taxi, 
public transport and cycle hire) into a 
single customer experience, which is 
accessible on demand and uses a 
single payment application.  

GM Wide  

Connected and 
Autonomous Vehicles 
(CAVs) projects, including 
pilot projects  

To support the development of new 
technologies to support improvement 
of the transport network in Greater 
Manchester.  

GM Wide  

A series of collaborative 
projects with UK and 
international cities to 
ensure Greater 
Manchester remains at 
the forefront of transport 
innovation 

To support the development of new a 
transport network that is at the 
forefront of technological advances 
and innovative thinking. 

GM Wide  

Interchanges 

Pendleton town centre 
bus passenger facilities 
improvement (part of the 
Salford Bolton Network 
Improvements 
programme) 

To make bus travel earlier and more 
attractive for local residents in the 
Pendleton area.  

Bolton/ 
Salford 

 

Stockport Interchange 
redevelopment 

To increase the accessibility of bus 
and rail from nearby destinations and 
increase the attractiveness of the 
Interchange as the focal point for 
intra-urban growth in Stockport town 
centre. 
 

Stockport  

Page 165



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 93 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Travel Hubs/ Park and Ride 

Travel Hubs/Park & Ride 
upgrades e.g. Mills Hill, 
Parkway, Radcliffe, 
Walkden, Whitefield and 
Withington 

To provide better access to public 
transport through Travel Hub / Park 
and Ride facilities. This in turn will 
encourage modal shift in Greater 
Manchester.  

GM Wide Phase 1 
& 2 

Fares and Ticketing 

Provision of integrated 
travel information services 

To provide integrated travel 
information to the travelling public. 
This in turn will encourage a modal 
shift in Greater Manchester. 

GM Wide  

Behaviour Change 

Business and community 
engagement programme 

To reduce, re-mode, re-time or re-
route journeys away from peak-hour 
congestion where possible, and to 
improve health. 

GM Wide  

Travel information and 
travel planning support 
programme 

To reduce, re-mode, re-time or re-
route journeys away from peak-hour 
congestion where possible, and to 
improve health. 

GM Wide  

Development of behaviour 
change support packages 
for major infrastructure 
schemes 

To reduce, re-mode, re-time or re-
route journeys away from peak-hour 
congestion where possible, and to 
improve health. 

GM Wide  

Safety and Security 

TravelSafe Partnership, 
including on-going 
security initiatives and the 
introduction of civil 
injunctions 

To improve personal safety and 
security for the travelling public, and 
tackle crime and anti-social 
behaviour.  

GM Wide  

Partnership working 
through Safer Roads 
Greater Manchester 
(SRGM) 

To improve safety on the highways 
network 

GM Wide  

Renewal of gullies and 
drainage assets - 
combined scheme for 
Wigan & Bolton 

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and liveability 
of the city-region by maintaining the 
network in good condition. 

Wigan/ 
Bolton 

 

 

  

Page 166



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 94 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Our Bus 

Local Bus 

Streets for All and Bus Corridor 
upgrade: A57 Manchester - 
Hattersley 

To improve reliability and speed 
of buses between Manchester 
City Centre – Hattersley 
corridor, which forms part of 
one of the radial Streets for All 
corridors. 

Manchester 
/ Tameside 

Phase 1 
& 2 
(Bus 

Corrido
r 

Upgrad
e 

Interve
ntions) 

A6 Stockport to High Lane 
Streets for All and Bus Route 
Improvement Package 

“To improve reliability and 
resilience of A6 corridor and to 
support new residential 
development at High Lane and 
in Derbyshire by: improving 
reliability and speed of buses 
between Manchester City 
Centre and High Lane; 
improving walking and cycling 
provision to and along the A6; 
formalising on-street parking 
provision; and providing 
localised junction 
improvements for all modes”.   
 

Stockport Phase 1 
& 2 
(Bus 

Corrido
r 

Upgrad
e 

Interve
ntions) 

Further programme of bus 
stop enhancements to 
improve waiting facilities at 
stops  

Improve accessibility to 
encourage mode shift by 
increasing the attractiveness of 
bus networks. 

GM Wide Phase 1 
& 2 
(Bus 
Stop 

Enhanc
ement 
Progra
mme) 

Bus Marginal Gains  A programme of small measures 
to mitigate highway operational 
issues on the bus network 

GM Wide Phase 1 
& 2 

 

Page 167



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 95 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

across Greater Manchester to 
avoid delays to bus services.  

Bus Pinch Point  To tackle known barriers on the 
local highway network that are 
restricting the movement of 
buses, facilitating enhanced bus 
journey reliability and easing 
congestion.  To encourage 
greater use of bus on key 
corridors across the city region 
where demand is high, ensuring 
available road space is used 
efficiently. 

GM Wide Phase 1 
& 2 

 

Electric bus fleet investment 
 

To support the bus fleet in GM 
and contribute to carbon 
reduction and improving air 
quality.  

GM Wide Phase 1 
& 2 

 

Bus Corridor Upgrade: 
Altrincham – Carrington 

To serve new development at 
Carrington with improved public 
transport links. 

Trafford Phase 1 
– 

Altrinch
am – 

Carring
ton bus 
priority 

Sale West Improved Bus 
Services (Altrincham-Sale 
West-Sale) 

A new busway enabling buses to 
get from Sale West to West 
Timperley avoiding traffic 
congestion on the A56. 

Trafford Phase 1 
– Sale 

West to 
Broadh

eath 
Bus 
way 

Northern Gateway express bus 
corridor between Manchester 
and Heywood/Langley 
including new bus services 
connecting Bury/Rochdale 
Northern Gateway to its local 

To support the GMA1 allocation 
by providing good public 
transport access, as well as 
improving wider public 
transport connectivity in the 
north of Greater Manchester. 

Manchester
/  Bury/ 

Rochdale 

 

Page 168



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 96 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

area and nearby key centres 
e.g. Oldham 

Manchester Northern 
Gateway bus corridor 

To provide a high-quality public 
transport corridor connecting 
the Manchester Northern 
Gateway development to the 
Regional Centre. 

Manchester  

New Guided Busway stop to 
serve North of Mosley 
Common 

To support the North of Mosley 
Common land allocation, 
providing dedicated access to 
the Guided Busway. 

Wigan Phase 2 

Extension of bus services to 
GMSF sites – See LIP 

 GM Wide  

Package of measures to 
support the Timperley Wedge 
/ Roundthorn Medipark 
allocation, including busway 
alongside spine road through 
allocation 

To provide high quality public 
transport facilities to the 
Timperley Wedge allocation and 
also to provide a BRT 
connection between Altrincham 
and Manchester Airport.  

Trafford  

City Centre Transport Strategy: 
bus routing, services and 
interchange improvements, 
Phase 1 

To ensure the regional centre 
has the right balance between 
terminating and through bus 
services, minimise the negative 
impacts of bus movements on 
pedestrian and cycle 
movements, and better 
integrate the bus network with 
the Metrolink and rail network. 

Manchester Phase 1 
- City 

Centre 
Bus 

Strateg
y 

Quality Bus Transit 

Quality Bus Transit on key bus 
corridors: Wigan-Bolton 

Whole-route upgrade of the 
Wigan - Westhoughton - Bolton 
bus corridor, with the emphasis 
on quality, reliability, and 
integration into the urban 
realm.   QBT will offer similar 
quality of design to that of best-
practice street-running LRT, 

Wigan/ 
Bolton 

Phase 1 
& 2 

(Advan
ce 

works 
on 

other 

Page 169



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 97 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

with bus priority to achieve 
reliable services, attractive 
waiting environments, and high-
quality vehicles.  
 
The Westhoughton section to 
be implemented as part of 
Westhoughton Multi-modal 
Package.   Subject to DfT 
approval, the Wigan - Hindley 
section to be implemented as 
part of Wigan east - west road 
infrastructure. 

corrido
rs) 

Quality Bus Transit on key bus 
corridors: Bolton-Bury-
Rochdale 

Whole-route upgrade of the 
Bolton – Bury - Rochdale bus 
corridor, with the emphasis on 
quality, reliability, and 
integration into the urban 
realm. QBT will offer similar 
quality of design to that of best-
practice street-running LRT, 
with bus priority to achieve 
reliable services, attractive 
waiting environments, and high-
quality vehicles.  
 
To provide an attractive 
alternative to orbital car 
journeys on the Bolton - Bury – 
Rochdale corridor, by delivering 
improvements to quality and 
reliability of local bus journeys, 
public realm within town 
centres, and the cycling and 
walking environment. 

Bolton/ 
Bury/ 

Rochdale 

Phase 1 
& 2 

(Advan
ce 

works 
on 

other 
corrido

rs) 

Page 170



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 98 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Quality Bus Transit on key bus 
corridors: Rochdale-Oldham-
Ashton 

Whole-route upgrade of the 
Rochdale – Oldham - Ashton 
bus corridor, with the emphasis 
on quality, reliability, and 
integration into the urban 
realm.   QBT will offer similar 
quality of design to that of best-
practice street-running LRT, 
with bus priority to achieve 
reliable services, attractive 
waiting environments, and high-
quality vehicles.  
 
To provide an attractive 
alternative to orbital car 
journeys on the Rochdale - 
Oldham - Ashton corridor, by 
delivering improvements to 
quality and reliability of local 
bus journeys, public realm 
within town centres, and the 
cycling and walking 
environment. 
 
To include delivery of works in 
Oldham and Royton town 
centres to support masterplan 
and regeneration projects. This 
will deliver a high-quality urban 
realm environment that 
encourages people to visit and 
spend time in Oldham and 
Royton Town Centres. 

Rochdale/ 
Oldham/ 
Tameside 

Phase 1 
& 2 

Quality Bus Transit on key bus 
corridors: MediaCityUK-Salford 
Crescent 

Whole-route upgrade of the 
Media City – Salford Crescent 
bus corridor, with the emphasis 
on quality, reliability, and 

Salford Phase 1 
& 2 

(Advan
ce 

Page 171



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 99 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

integration into the urban 
realm. QBT will offer similar 
quality of design to that of best-
practice street-running LRT, 
with bus priority to achieve 
reliable services, attractive 
waiting environments, and high-
quality vehicles.  
 
A substantially higher non-car 
mode share is needed to sustain 
the growth of Salford Quays / 
MediaCityUK. The intervention 
will link Salford Quays/ Media 
CityUK with the National Rail 
Network on the north side of 
Greater Manchester by 
frequent and reliable Quality 
Bus Transit services to Salford 
Crescent Station, plus 
improvements to walking and 
cycling. This could then be 
transformed into a Metrolink 
connection in the longer term. 

works 
on 

other 
corrido

rs) 

Quality Bus Transit on key 
corridors: A6 Manchester City 
Centre-Little Hulton  

Whole-route upgrade of the A6 
Manchester City Centre – Little 
Hulton bus corridor, with the 
emphasis on quality, reliability, 
and integration into the urban 
realm. QBT will offer similar 
quality of design to that of best-
practice street-running LRT, 
with bus priority to achieve 
reliable services, attractive 
waiting environments, and high-
quality vehicles. To provide an 
attractive alternative to car 

Manchester
/ Salford 

Phase 1 
& 2 

(Advan
ce 

works 
on 

other 
corrido

rs) 

Page 172



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 100 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

journeys on the Manchester 
City Centre - Little Hulton 
corridor, by delivering 
improvements to quality and 
reliability of local bus journeys, 
public realm within town 
centres, and the cycling and 
walking environment. 

Quality Bus Transit on key bus 
corridors: Wigan-Hindley – 
Leigh 
 

Whole-route upgrade of the 
Wigan - Hindley - Leigh bus 
corridor, with the emphasis on 
quality, reliability, and 
integration into the urban 
realm.   QBT will offer similar 
quality of design to that of best-
practice street-running LRT, 
with bus priority to achieve 
reliable services, attractive 
waiting environments, and high-
quality vehicles.  Subject to DfT 
approval, to be implemented as 
part of Wigan east - west road 
infrastructure. 

Wigan  

Bus Rapid Transit 

Additional buses on the Leigh-
Salford-Manchester guided 
busway 

To accommodate growing 
demand and offer more 
frequent services into the city 
centre and beyond. 

Salford/ 
Manchester 

Phase 1 

Bus Rapid Transit network to 
connect Manchester Airport to 
housing developments in the 
east 

To provide better public 
transport access to proposed 
GMSF developments and 
existing residential areas, and to 
help achieve the step-change in 
non-car mode share needed to 
support the growth of the 
Airport area.  
 

Trafford  

Page 173



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 101 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Our Metrolink 

Metrolink 

Extension of the Airport 
Metrolink line to Terminal 2 

To sustain the Airport and 
facilitate its continued growth, 
including Airport City – by 
connecting passengers and staff 
more effectively to the rail and 
metro networks, and helping to 
increase the effective 
population catchment area of 
the Airport. 

Manchester Phase 1  

Interventions to improve 
Metrolink capacity and 
reliability e.g. 
- Velopark Turnback Upgrade 
- Victoria Turnback Upgrade  
- Sheffield St. Turnback 
Upgrade 
- Shudehill Crossing Upgrade 
- Highway Junctions Upgrades 
- Eccles Line Power Upgrades 
- Signalling Reliability 
Upgrades 
- Journey Time Upgrades 
- Depot Capacity Upgrades 
- Depot Control System 
Upgrades 
- Twin-Tracking Upgrades 

To increase Metrolink capacity 
and reliability for the whole of 
Greater Manchester through a 
series of interventions. 

GM Wide Phase 1 
& 2 

Improved Metrolink frequency 
between Piccadilly and 
Victoria stations, including to 
address the GMCA’s intention 
to provide direct services from 
Rochdale and Oldham into 
Piccadilly  

To increase service-frequency 
and provide a key link from the 
north of Greater Manchester 
(Oldham and Rochdale) to 
Piccadilly Station 

GM Wide  

Extension of the Airport 
Metrolink line from 

To provide a rapid transit 
service that better connects the 

Manchester
/ Trafford 

Phase 2 

Page 174



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 102 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Roundthorn towards 
Davenport Green (Western 
Leg Phase 2) 

Regional Centre, existing 
residents on the west side of 
Wythenshawe, key employment 
centres near Wythenshawe 
Hospital, and future 
developments in the area as 
part of the Timperley Wedge 
and the Manchester Enterprise 
Zone. 

New Stops and Upgrades 

Metrolink Stop Improvements 
Package 

Package of stop improvements 
to improve the customer 
experience 
 

GM Wide Phase 1 
& 2 

Cop Road Metrolink stop and 
Park & Ride/ Travel Hub 

To support the Beal Valley and 
Broadbent Moss land 
allocations, providing a fast and 
frequent rapid transit option 
into the Regional Centre. 

Oldham Phase 2 

Elton Reservoir Metrolink stop 
and Park & Ride / Travel Hub 

To support the Elton Reservoir 
land allocation, providing a fast 
and frequent rapid transit 
option into the city centre.  
 

Bury Phase 2 

Sandhills Metrolink stop to 
serve the Manchester 
Northern Gateway growth 
area 

To support the Manchester 
Northern Gateway growth 
location, providing a fast and 
frequent rapid transit option 
into the Regional Centre. 

Manchester  

Tram-Train 

Tram-Train Pathfinder North: 
Oldham to Heywood via 
Rochdale 

A pilot scheme to maximise 
utilisation of the existing 
Metrolink network in order to 
accommodate rapid transit 
demand growth. Will also 
facilitate testing of the tram-
train concept for wider 

Oldham/ 
Rochdale 

Phase 2 

Page 175



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 103 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

application in Greater 
Manchester. Includes Restore 
Your Railways study to 
investigate reinstating 
passenger services on the Bury-
Heywood-Rochdale lines. 

Tram-Train Pathfinder South: 
South Manchester to Hale via 
Altrincham 

A pilot scheme to maximise the 
utilisation of the existing 
Metrolink capacity in order to 
accommodate rapid transit 
demand growth to and through 
the Regional Centre.  Will also 
facilitate testing of the tram-
train concept for wider 
application in Greater 
Manchester. 

Manchester
/ Trafford 

Phase 3 

Tram-Train 'Pathfinder' 
Airport: Manchester Airport to 
Wilmslow via Styal 

A pilot scheme to maximise 
utilisation of the existing 
Metrolink network in order to 
accommodate rapid transit 
demand growth.  Will also 
facilitate testing of the tram-
train concept for wider 
application in Greater 
Manchester. 
 

Manchester 
/ Cheshire 

Phase 3 

Our Rail 
Rail 

Partnership options for 
management and 
improvement of local rail 
stations 

To maximise existing rail assets 
to provide better facilities, 
improve transport integration 
and deliver community benefits. 
 
 

GM Wide  

Capacity, connectivity and 
journey time improvements: 
Warrington rail (CLC) line  

The Warrington rail line also 
known as the Cheshire Lines 
Committee (CLC) line study 

GM Wide  

Page 176



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 104 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

recommended investments 
such as resignalling. Such 
improvements will improve 
connectivity, increase service 
frequencies at many stations 
and improve reliability. 
 

Accessibility Improvements at 
Greenfield Station  

To improve access for disabled 
people at Greenfield Station – 
the expectation is that this will 
be delivered as part of the 
TransPennine Route Upgrade 
but if electrification of the line 
between Greenfield and 
Huddersfield does not form part 
of TPRU, alternative options are 
being explored. 

Oldham  

Manchester Airport Classic 
Station Capacity 
Increase/Upgrade 

To allow for longer/ additional 
trains at Manchester Airport, 
maintaining present rail 
connectivity and 
accommodating future demand 
growth to/ from the Regional 
Centre of Greater Manchester. 
 

Manchester  

Rochdale Station Gateway 
Improvements 

To improve Rochdale Station as 
a key multimodal gateway to 
the town centre 

Rochdale  

Rochdale Line Electrification Electrification of the route 
between Manchester Victoria 
and Rochdale to support 
increased operational flexibility 
and reduced emissions 

Rochdale  

Central Manchester rail 
network enhancements-
Further Works 

To further expand the capacity, 
capability and reliability of the 
rail network to and through 
Central Manchester. 

Manchester  

Page 177



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 105 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Godley Green and Hattersley 
pedestrian/cycle bridge 
connection (potentially 
including Hattersley station 
south-facing access). 

To support the development of 
the Godley Green allocation. 

Tameside  

Trans-Pennine Route Upgrade 
to Leeds (pre-Northern 
Powerhouse Rail) 

To address medium-term 
capacity constraints and speed 
up journeys between 
Manchester and Leeds, through 
potential electrification of the 
full route, delivering wider 
economic benefits in both 
conurbations. 

GM Wide  

Electrification between Bolton 
and Wigan  

This intervention will improve 
connectivity and capacity on a 
key rail corridor in Greater 
Manchester. It will also improve 
access to HS2/NPR services 
connecting GM residents to the 
rest of the UK. 

Bolton/ 
Wigan 

 

High Speed Rail 

Delivery of High Speed 2, 
including to Manchester 
Piccadilly, Manchester Airport, 
Stockport and Wigan. 

To deliver transformational 
change to Greater Manchester’s 
city-to-city rail offer, resulting in 
wider benefits for the city 
region as a result of the 
improved connectivity. 

GM Wide  

Initial Stockport area rail 
infrastructure improvements 

To undertake essential renewals 
and use the opportunity to 
upgrade the rail corridor for 
National Rail/HS2/potential 
Metro/tram-train services. 

Stockport Phase 1 

Wigan HS2 Growth Strategy 
(early interventions) 

 Wigan  

Manchester Piccadilly HS2 
Growth strategy (early 
interventions) 

 Manchester  

Page 178



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 106 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Stockport HS2 Growth 
Strategy (early interventions) 

 Stockport  

Stations 

New stations (tranche 1)  Potential early delivery of 
stations in the areas of Leigh, 
Lostock Parkway, Little Hulton, 
Golborne, Slattocks, Dewsnap, 
Gamesley, Stanley Green and 
Cheadle to provide a new public 
transport option, contributing 
to modal shift and reducing 
pressure on the highway 
network where this can be 
shown to be viable. 
 

GM Wide Phase 2 

Our Streets 

Walking and Cycling 

A long-term Local Cycling and 
Walking Infrastructure Plan 
(LCWIP) for Greater 
Manchester 

To increase the number and 
proportion of short journeys 
made on foot and by bicycle, 
thereby reducing the impacts of 
traffic on local roads.  

GM Wide Phase 2 

City Centre Transport Strategy: 
Pedestrian Improvements – 
pedestrian priority areas, 
crossing improvements and 
enhanced public space 

To create improved and more 
space for people walking and 
spending time in the city centre.  

GM Wide Phase 2 

Bromley Cross to Bolton Town 
Centre 

Bee Network delivery between 
Bromley Cross and Bolton Town 
Centre 

Bolton Phase 2 

Astley Bridge and Crompton 
Phase 2 

Active Neighbourhood Bolton Phase 2 

Westhoughton Phase 2 Active Neighbourhood Bolton Phase 2 

Logistics North Connections  Links to Logistics North 
including a Busy Beeway 
through Four Lane Ends and 

Salford/ 
Wigan 

Phase 2 

Page 179



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 107 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

potentially a new bridge over 
the M60. 

Westhoughton to Bolton M61 
Bridge 

New cycling and walking bridge 
over the M61 to complete the 
missing link between 
Westhoughton and Bolton.  

Bolton Phase 2 

Pilsworth Delivery of Bee Network in 
Pilsworth area through Active 
Neighbourhood interventions 

Bury Phase 2 

Bury Bridges Upgrades to Milltown St and 
Nuttall Hall bridges 

Bury Phase 2 

GM Public Rights of Way 
upgrades 

Upgrades to various PROW in 
GM 

GM Wide Phase 2 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Oldham Road 
(Inner Radial) 

Busy Beeway delivery on 
Oldham Road in Miles Platting.  

Manchester Phase 2 

North Manchester Primary 
Schools Access 

Bee Network and school access 
measures in north Manchester. 

Manchester Phase 2 

North Manchester Secondary 
Schools Access 

Bee Network and school access 
measures in north Manchester. 

Manchester Phase 2 

City Centre Transport Strategy: 
Cycle Measures – Deansgate & 
Whitworth St (see Streets for 
All corridor improvements) 

To support safe cycling in the 
city centre and delivery of the 
Bee Network  

Manchester Phase 2 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Park Bridge - NCN 
626 - Ashton under Lyne 

New cycling and walking bridge 
to deliver an improved traffic 
free Bee Network connection 
between Oldham and Ashton 
town centres.  

Oldham Phase 2 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Higginshaw Link to 
Royton 

Bee network delivery in Royton. Oldham Phase 2 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Chadderton - 
Broadway Canal Link 

Bee network delivery in 
Chadderton. 

Oldham Phase 2 

Page 180



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 108 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Active Neighbourhoods in 
Oldham 

Active Neighbourhoods planned 
for communities in the Borough 
of Oldham.  

Oldham Phase 2 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: 
Rochdale/Manchester/Oldham 

Busy Beeway delivery on the 
Oldham Road and Lightbowne 
Road corridors delivering a 
major Bee Network connection 
to the city centre from the 
northeast 

Oldham Phase 2 

Spotland Masterplan Bee Network in the Spotland 
area  

Rochdale Phase 2 

Mayor's Challenge Fund for 
walking and cycling Tranche 2: 
Monton 

Bee Network delivery in 
Monton. 

Rochdale Phase 2 

Mayor's Challenge Fund for 
walking and cycling Tranche 4: 
Ordsall Neighbourhood 

Active Neighbourhood delivery 
in Ordsall. 

Salford Phase 2 

Swinton Neighbourhood Active Neighbourhood scheme 
in Swinton 

Salford Phase 2 

Innovation Triangle Bee Network delivery in 
University/Eccles/Salford Quays 
area 

Salford Phase 2 

Walkden Crossings Bee Network delivery in 
Walkden area 

Salford Phase 2 

Trafford Greenway New Bee Network connection 
linking Irlam to Altrincham 
along the former Cheshire Lines 
rail alignment. 

Trafford Phase 2 

A34 Parallel Route Potential Bee Network delivery 
parallel to the A34 in 
Cheadle/Gatley 

Stockport Phase 2 

Cheadle Corridor 
Improvements 

Bee Network delivery in 
Cheadle Heath 

Stockport Phase 2 

Middlewood Way 
Improvements 

Upgrade to surfacing and 
lighting from Rose Hill to 
Middlewood Station  

Stockport Phase 2 

Page 181



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 109 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Heatons Active 
Neighbourhoods 

Active Neighbourhood delivery 
in the Heatons 

Stockport  Phase 2 

Mottram Road, Stalybridge Bee Network delivery in 
Stalybridge 

Tameside Phase 2 

Manchester Road Link Bridge New cycling and walking bridge 
over Manchester Road and 
Metrolink in Audenshaw 

Tameside Phase 2 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: National Cycle 
Network Upgrades  

Upgrades to various sections of 
National Cycle Network in 
Greater Manchester to achieve 
Bee Network standards 

Wigan Phase 2 

Active Neighbourhood: 
Hindley and Hindley Green 

To include new active-only links 
between South Hindley and 
A577.  Subject to DfT approval, 
to be implemented as part of 
Wigan east - west road 
infrastructure. 

Wigan  

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Park Road - NCN 
626 - Town Centre Connection 

Bee Network delivery 
connecting Oldham Town 
Centre to National Cycle 
Network Route 626 to Ashton 
under Lyne. 

Oldham Phase 2 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Sale to Sale Moor 
to Sale Water Park 

Busy Beeway delivery between 
Sale town centre and Sale 
Water Park 

Trafford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Seymour Grove 
Phase 2 

Busy Beeway delivery on 
Seymour Grove in Old 
Trafford/Firswood 

Trafford Phase 2 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 1: Welkin Road - Town 
Centre Severance Package, 
Stockport Phase 1 

Bee Network delivery in 
Brinnington/Portwood. 

Stockport Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Heaton Norris Park 
Bridge Phase 1 

Bee Network delivery in Heaton 
Norris. 

Stockport Phase 1 

Page 182



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 110 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: WR Heatons 
Neighbourhoods & Links Phase 
1 

Active neighbourhood delivery 
in the Heatons. 

Stockport Phase 2 

GMSF Allocations walking and 
cycling improvements – See 
LIPs 

 GM Wide  

Local Highways 

Wigan east-west road 
infrastructure  

To provide an alternative route 
for traffic to cross Wigan, 
providing existing communities 
with relief from congestion and 
noise pollution and improving 
air quality; support future 
growth and housing delivery; 
enhance active travel; and 
facilitate improvements to bus 
services. 
 
Subject to DfT approval, the 
scheme could include the 
following: 
- Wigan - Hindley section of 
Wigan - Bolton Quality Bus 
Transit 
- Wigan - Hindley - Leigh Quality 
Bus Transit 
- Hindley and Hindley Green 
Active Neighbourhood 

Wigan Phase 1 

Oldham Mumps Area & Access 
to Southlink Development Site 

To improve network 
performance and resilience, 
road safety, air quality and 
support new development.  

Oldham Phase 1 

Quays Northern Access 
(Broadway Street/ Langworthy 
Road), The Quays 
 

To upgrade the junction of 
Broadway with S Langworthy 
Road to reduce delays 
(including delays to trams), 

Salford Phase 1 

Page 183



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 111 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

improve conditions for 
sustainable modes and support 
development in The Quays. 
Passive provision will be made 
for delivery of MediaCityUK-
Salford Crescent Quality Bus 
Transit. 
 

Liverpool Road/ Stadium Way, 
Peel Green 
 

To remodel the A57 / Stadium 
Way junction, widen the 
existing bridge on Stadium Way 
south of the A57 junction and 
provide a stadium internal 
access road, reducing delays on 
the A57 and supporting further 
development in the local area. 
 

Salford Phase 1 

Bolton KRN Structures 
refurbishment 

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and 
liveability of the city-region by 
maintaining the network in 
good condition. 

Bolton  

Manchester Street Viaduct 
Refurbishment, Oldham  

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and 
liveability of the city-region by 
maintaining the network in 
good condition. 

Oldham  

Heywood Queens Park Bridge 
Major Structure 
Enhancements 

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and 
liveability of the city-region by 
maintaining the network in 
good condition. 

Rochdale  

Highway Trees Improvement 
Programme 

To support improved air quality 
and local environmental quality 
across the borough.  

GM Wide  

Street Lighting Column 
Replacement Programme 

To improve resilience of the 
street lighting network and 

GM Wide  

Page 184



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 112 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

increase opportunities for 
‘smart uses’ 

Manchester Airport expansion 
highway improvements 

To improve the reliability of 
journey times to the Airport, 
enhancing its function as the 
primary global gateway for the 
North of England, to be 
coordinated with longer term 
highway improvements 
required to support HS2 and 
NPR Growth Strategy at 
Manchester Airport.  

Manchester  

A58 St Marys 
Gate/Manchester Road Streets 
for All Package 

Package of measures to 
improve cycle facilities and 
reduce pedestrian severance 
along the A58 dual carriageway 
to the west and north of 
Rochdale Town Centre 

Rochdale  

A34 Area Access Package To improve multi-modal access 
to existing and planned 
residential, employment and 
education locations along the 
A34 corridor between 
Handforth, Cheadle and Heald 
Green.  Focus is on improving 
cycling and walking connectivity 
and reducing severance impact 
of the A34, plus junction 
improvements to provide access 
to GMSF development sites for 
all modes and potential new 
public transport hub at Stanley 
Green 

Stockport Phase 1 

A560 Stockport Road / 
Mottram Old Road Travel 
Corridor, Hattersley Phase 1 

Reducing former trunk road to 
single carriageway, with 
improvements to walk, cycle, 

Tameside  

Page 185



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 113 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

and public realm, reducing 
severance in Hattersley 

A560 Stockport Road / 
Mottram Old Road Travel 
Corridor, Hattersley Phase 2a 
and 2b 

Creating walk and cycle route 
alongside A560 at Godley Green 
Garden Village, junction 
improvements to facilitate that 
development, and replacement 
of life-expired bridge over 
railway line to facilitate 
separate carriageways for active 
travel and general traffic. 

Tameside  

Elton Reservoir Link Road (to 
support development and 
relieve town centre 
congestion) 

To support the Elton Reservoir 
allocation and significantly 
improving network resilience in 
Bury. 

Bury  

Northern Gateway Distributor 
Road (enabling highway 
access) 

To support the Northern 
Gateway allocation, facilitating 
access into and through the 
development from the M62 and 
M66.  

Manchester  

Beal Valley / Broadbent Moss 
Spine Road 

To support delivery of the Beal 
Valley and Broadbent Moss 
allocations GM14 and GM15. 

Oldham  

Strategic Roads and Motorways  

Bredbury Economic Corridor 
Improvement (BECI) Package 

To support delivery of new 
industrial development and 
GMSF housing growth by 
providing a new link between 
the M60 and Bredbury 
Gateway, J25 signalisation, 
widening of railway bridge to 
improve access for freight 
vehicles, pedestrians and 
cyclists, better linkages from 
residential areas of Bredbury, 
Romiley and Woodley to the 
M60 and Bredbury Gateway, 

Stockport Phase 1 
& 2 

Page 186



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 114 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

upgrading of cycling and 
walking networks across the 
area, and passive provision to 
enable delivery of Ashton-
Stockport Quality Bus Transit. 

Denton Island improvements To address congestion and 
resilience issues on this key part 
of the SRN and accommodate 
anticipated growth. 

Manchester
/ Tameside 

 

M6 J23 improvement To address existing congestion 
and reliability issues on the SRN 
and adjoining LRN and provide 
the capacity for the anticipated 
scale of growth both within the 
city-region and in neighbouring 
authorities. 

Manchester
/ Wigan 

 

A555 Electronic Signs and 
Information System 

To improve signage and traffic 
management along the A555 
and surrounding routes.  

Manchester  

Improvements to local 
junctions to mitigate traffic 
associated with potential 
GMSF developments – see LIPs 

 GM Wide  

Further phases of Western 
Gateway Infrastructure 
Scheme (WGIS) 

To facilitate future growth in 
the Western Gateway including 
Port Salford and Trafford 
Waters; provide relief to the 
M60 J10 and J11; relieve 
residential areas such as Peel 
Green; and improve network 
connectivity and resilience. 
 
New highway links to facilitate 
future growth in the Western 
Gateway including Port Salford 
and Trafford Waters; provide 
relief to the M60 J10 and J11; 

Salford/ 
Trafford 

 

Page 187



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 115 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

through a package of 
complementary improvements 
to bus, walk, and cycle, improve 
non-car connectivity and 
improve the environment of 
residential areas such as Peel 
Green; and improve highway 
network connectivity and 
resilience. 

M60 Junction 19/A576 
Improvements 

Improvements to M60 J19 to 
reduce congestion and facilitate 
growth 

Rochdale  

Trafford Greenway/ Cheshire 
Lines Connection 
 

Includes Carrington Relief Road 
and improvements to various 
junctions around the site, 
including along the A56 

Trafford  

Freight and Logistics 

Optimise traffic signals for 
freight traffic using smart 
signalling technology where 
appropriate  

To reduce the social and 
environmental external impacts 
of freight traffic, including 
better Air Quality, increased 
fuel efficiency and reduced 
noise. 

GM Wide  

Town Centres 

City Centre North West: 
Deansgate Streets for All 
proposal (part of Deansgate / 
Chapel St Area Improvements) 

To improve the streets in the 
area for walking, cycling and 
placemaking, along with the 
reliability of bus journey times.  
Improvements include public 
realm enhancements, cycle 
facilities and bus gate 
improvements. 

Manchester Phase 1 

City Centre Transport Strategy: 
Streets for All Corridor 
Improvements – Deansgate, 
Whitworth St and A34 

To improve the streets for 
walking, cycling, public 
transport and placemaking 
whilst tackling issues such as 

Manchester Phase 1 

Page 188



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 116 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

congestion, air pollution, bus 
service reliability. 

Bolton Town Centre Junction 
Improvements 

Improvements to key junctions 
in Bolton Town Centre for all 
road users.  

Bolton Phase 1 

Radcliffe Town Centre Relief 
Scheme 

To improve the operation of 
junctions to the east of Radcliffe 
town centre, relieving existing 
congestion and providing 
capacity for new development.  

Bury  

Oldham Town Centre 
Accessible Oldham 
Connectivity Package (Phase 2) 

To facilitate development and 
regeneration in Oldham Town 
Centre and to improve the 
attractiveness of Oldham Town 
Centre for pedestrians, cyclists 
and public transport users, and 
maintain the integrity of the 
highway network within and 
around Oldham Town Centre.  

Oldham  

Town Centre Streets for All 
Improvements: Farnworth 

Town Centre Streets for All 
works to support increased 
footfall, more journeys by 
sustainable modes, and 
regeneration of town centre, 
through delivery of enhanced 
public realm, and improved 
pedestrian, cycle and bus 
facilities. 

Bolton Phase 1 

Stockport Town Centre West 
Accessibility Package 

To include delivery of new 
connectivity hubs, active 
neighbourhoods, slow streets, 
public realm improvements, EV 
charging and car club 
expansion. To include early 
delivery of A6 Railway Road 
junction remodel to include 

Stockport  

Page 189



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 117 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

increased capacity and east-
west cycle route   

Stockport Town Centre East 
Accessibility Package 

To include delivery of new 
connectivity hubs, active 
neighbourhoods, slow streets, 
public realm improvements, EV 
charging and car club 
expansion. To include early 
delivery of Mersey Square 
remodel to improve bus 
movements.   

Stockport  

Stockport Town Centre SUDS 
Package 

Steppingstone spaces, Slow flow 
Streets, Stockport Southbank 
Sponge Promenade, Wearside 
Slipway and Grey water 
harvesting, Mersey Habitat 
Corridor 

Stockport  

Streets for All – Hyde Town 
Centre 

Streets for All approach to 
improving public realm, walking 
and cycling links, and reducing 
traffic within Hyde Town 
Centre. To link with masterplan 
work currently being 
undertaken in Hyde. 

Tameside  

Stretford Town Centre Streets 
for All Improvements 

To support walking, cycling and 
bus movements in Stretford 
town centre (including 
pedestrian movements to 
Stretford Metrolink stop) and to 
support the regeneration of 
Stretford. 

Trafford  

Streets for All Improvements: 
Trafford Civic Quarter area  

Pedestrian, cycle and public 
realm improvements to increase 
connectivity by foot, bike, bus 
and Metrolink, reduce through 
traffic and congestion and 

Trafford  

Page 190



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 118 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

address road safety and air 
quality issues. 

Streets for All Improvements: 
Trafford Wharfside  

Pedestrian, cycle and public 
realm improvements to increase 
connectivity by foot, bike, bus 
and Metrolink, reduce through 
traffic and congestion and 
address road safety and air 
quality issues. 

Trafford  

Leigh Town Centre   Improvement of cycling, walking 
and public transport facilities at 
Leigh Centre. Includes proposals 
to deliver town centre 
improvements in Leigh to 
reduce impact of through traffic 
and to improve the public 
realm, including potential bus 
gate within Leigh Town Centre. 

Wigan  

Maintenance 

Structures Improvement 
Package - Stockport 

To support maintenance and 
resilience of key structures 
across the Stockport network, 
including:  
-Queens Road Bridge 
-Travis Brow Footpath Retaining 
wall  
-River Tame Footbridge 
-Stanley Road Footbridge 

Stockport Phase 1 

A58 Angouleme Way Major 
Maintenance/Renewal  

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and 
liveability of the city-region by 
maintaining the network in 
good condition. 

Bury  

A58 Peel Way Major 
Maintenance/ Renewal 

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and 
liveability of the city-region by 

Bury  

Page 191



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 119 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

maintaining the network in 
good condition. 

Eccles New Road/South 
Langworthy Road 
Refurbishment 

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and 
liveability of the city-region by 
maintaining the network in 
good condition. 

Manchester  

Mancunian Way A57(M) – 
Resurfacing and Viaduct 
Strengthening & 
Refurbishment Scheme 

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and 
liveability of the city-region by 
maintaining the network in 
good condition. 

Manchester  

A57 Regent Road KRN 
Carriageway resurfacing 

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and 
liveability of the city-region by 
maintaining the network in 
good condition. 

Manchester  

Our Integrated Network 

Clean Air and Carbon 

Measures that will be 
identified within the Greater 
Manchester Clean Air Plan and 
identified as necessary to 
protect public health. 

To improve air quality in the 
Regional Centre and other areas 
and improve the health of GM 
residents and visitors. 

GM Wide  

Continued expansion of 
electric vehicles network 
charging points, including for 
use by private hire vehicles 
and taxis  

To improve air quality in the 
Regional Centre and other areas 
and improve the health of GM 
residents and visitors. 

GM Wide Phase 1 

Retrofitting or upgrading 
buses to comply with more 
stringent emissions standards 
and/or zero emission 
standards (continuation 
programme) 
 
 

To improve air quality in the 
Regional Centre and other areas 
and improve the health of GM 
residents and visitors. 

GM Wide  

Page 192



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 120 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Future Mobility and Innovation 

Further Mobility as a Service 
(Maas) and Connected and 
Autonomous Vehicles (CAVs) 
projects, as the market for 
these technologies matures 

To further develop the 
integration of various forms of 
transport services into a single 
customer experience, which is 
accessible on demand and uses 
a single payment application.  

GM Wide 
 

Phase 1 
& 2 

Further collaborative projects 
with UK and international 
cities to ensure Greater 
Manchester remains at the 
forefront of transport 
innovation 

To further support the 
development of new a transport 
network that is at the forefront 
of technological advances and 
innovative thinking. 

GM Wide  

The roll-out of integrated 
private hire standards across 
Greater Manchester 

To respond effectively to recent 
technological advance in the 
private ire sector to ensure 
consistency of standards for 
Greater Manchester customers. 

GM Wide  

Interchanges 

Bury Interchange 
redevelopment 

To provide multi-modal upgrade 
(to include Metrolink, bus, 
active travel) to increase the 
attractiveness and the efficiency 
of the Interchange as the focal 
point for urban growth and 
regeneration in Bury town 
centre. 

Bury Phase 1 
& 2 

Travel Hubs/ Park and Ride 

Travel Hubs/Park & Ride 
proposals, e.g. Rochdale 
Station 
 

To provide better access to 
public transport through Travel 
Hub/Park & Ride facilities. 
 

GM Wide Phase 2 

Fares and Ticketing 

Further phases of Greater 
Manchester’s smart ticketing 
initiative 

To make it easier for customers 
to plan, make and pay for their 
journeys using different modes, 
thereby making the overall GM 

GM Wide  

Page 193



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 121 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

public transport offer more 
attractive. This in turn will 
encourage a modal shift in 
Greater Manchester.  

Pan-northern integrated and 
smart ticketing, working with 
TfN 

To make it easier for customers 
to plan, make and pay for their 
journeys using different modes, 
thereby making the overall GM 
public transport offer more 
attractive. This in turn will 
encourage a modal shift in 
Greater Manchester. 

GM Wide  

Piloting of other targeted 
ticket offers to promote the 
use of public transport  

To encourage people to travel 
at quieter times and to increase 
the accessibility of the public 
transport network to specific 
groups of travellers. 

GM Wide  

Safety and Security 

Road Safety – Minor works 
improvement package (see 
GM Local Implementation 
Plans in Appendix B for more 
information) 

To improve road safety at key 
points and junctions across GM, 
including improvement of safety 
signs.  

GM Wide  

 

  

Page 194



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 122 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Our Bus 

Local Bus 

Streets for All/Bus Corridor 
Upgrade: A56 Manchester–
Bury  

To improve reliability and speed of 
buses on A56 between Manchester 
City Centre – Bury corridor, which 
forms part of one of the radial 
Streets for All corridors.  

Manchester
/ Bury 

Phase 2 
(Bus 

Corrido
r 

Upgrad
e 

Interve
ntions) 

Streets for All/Bus Corridor 
Upgrade: A56 Bury-
Ramsbottom 

To improve reliability and speed of 
buses on A56 between Bury – 
Ramsbottom corridor, which forms 
part of one of the radial Streets for 
All corridors. 

Bury Phase 2 
(Bus 

Corrido
r 

Upgrad
e 

Interve
ntions) 

Streets for All and Bus 
Corridor upgrade: A56 
Manchester - Altrincham 

To improve reliability and speed of 
buses between Manchester City 
Centre – Altrincham corridor, which 
forms part of one of the radial 
Streets for All corridors. 

Manchester Phase 2 
(Bus 

Corrido
r 

Upgrad
e 

Interve
ntions) 

Using new technologies to 
introduce, where feasible, 
new flexible bus services 
into rail stations and 
Metrolink stops  

To provide an alternative to the car 
for journeys into the Regional Centre 
where current public transport 
options are either non-existent or 
lacking in quality and frequency. 

GM Wide  

City Centre Transport 
Strategy: bus routing, 
services and interchange 
improvements – Phase 2.  

Phase 2 package of longer-term 
proposals to ensure the regional 
centre has the right balance 
between terminating and through 
bus services, minimise the negative 
impacts of bus movements on 
pedestrian and cycle movements, 

GM Wide Phase 2 

Page 195



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 123 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

and better integrate the bus 
network with the Metrolink and rail 
network. 

Further viable bus 
improvements to support 
the transport requirements 
of growth areas and GMSF 
allocations, identified 
through the planning 
process  

To support future growth in Greater 
Manchester as set out in the new 
draft of GMSF. 

GM Wide  

Quality Bus Transit 

Future phases of Quality 
Bus Transit routes  

Whole-corridor upgrades of major 
bus corridors, delivering 
improvements to their quality and 
reliability and integrating bus, 
walking and cycling into a high-
quality urban realm. Interventions to 
be determined. 

GM Wide  

Quality Bus Transit on key 
bus corridors: Ashton-
Stockport 

Whole-route upgrade of the Ashton 
- Stockport bus corridor, with the 
emphasis on quality, reliability, and 
integration into the urban realm. 
QBT will offer similar quality of 
design to that of best-practice 
street-running LRT, with bus priority 
to achieve reliable services, 
attractive waiting environments, and 
high-quality vehicles.  
 
To provide an attractive alternative 
to car journeys between the Ashton 
– Stockport corridor, by delivering 
improvements to quality and 
reliability of local bus journeys, 
public realm within town centres, 
and the cycling and walking 
environment. 

Tameside/ 
Stockport 

Phase 2 
(Advan

ce 
works 

on 
other 

corrido
rs) 

Quality Bus Transit on key 
corridors: A6 Manchester 

Whole-route upgrade of the A6 
Manchester City – Stockport College 

Manchester
/ Stockport 

Phase 1 
& 2 

Page 196



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 124 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

City Centre-Stockport 
College  

bus corridor, with the emphasis on 
quality, reliability, and integration 
into the urban realm. QBT will offer 
similar quality of design to that of 
best-practice street-running LRT, 
with bus priority to achieve reliable 
services, attractive waiting 
environments, and high-quality 
vehicles. To provide an attractive 
alternative to car journeys on the 
Manchester City Centre - Stockport 
College corridor, by delivering 
improvements to quality and 
reliability of local bus journeys, 
public realm within town centres, 
and the cycling and walking 
environment. 

(Advan
ce 

works 
on 

other 
corrido

rs) 

Bus Rapid Transit 

Bus Rapid Transit extension 
(to Lowton and Golborne, 
via Leigh or A580) 

To provide a more attractive 
alternative to the car on the 
Regional Centre – Lowton – 
Golborne Corridor, particularly for 
the associated new developments. 

Wigan  

Bus Rapid Transit corridor 
(Manchester Airport / HS2 
to Altrincham) 

To provide a more attractive 
alternative to the car for orbital 
journeys between Altrincham and 
the Airport, and to support the 
Timperley Wedge allocation. 

Manchester
/ Trafford 

 

Bus Rapid Transit corridor 
linking the Northern 
Gateway allocation and 
surrounding towns to the 
Regional Centre 

To effectively serve the major 
Northern Gateway allocation with 
rapid public transport links, 
particularly to and from the Regional 
Centre, as well as nearby key centres 
e.g. Oldham. 

Manchester  

Our Metrolink 

Metrolink 

Further interventions to 
improve Metrolink capacity 

To increase Metrolink capacity and 
reliability for the whole of Greater 

GM Wide  

Page 197



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 125 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

and reliability, e.g. 
 
- Altrincham Line Upgrade 
- Cornbrook Upgrade 
- Irk Valley Junction 
Upgrade 
- Network Power Upgrades 
- Next Generation of Longer 
Metrolink Vehicles 
- Third Depot 
- Twin-Tracking Upgrades 

Manchester through a series of 
interventions. 

Metrolink extension to 
Stalybridge 

To provide communities east of 
Ashton with an alternative rapid 
transit option into the Regional 
Centre, thereby reducing pressure 
on the A635 and other roads. 

Tameside  

Metrolink connection to 
Middleton 

To provide communities in and 
around Middleton with an 
alternative rapid transit option into 
the Regional Centre, thereby 
reducing pressure on local roads. 

Rochdale  

Oldham-Middleton 
Metrolink Extension 

To provide a more attractive 
alternative to the car in this corridor, 
thereby reducing pressure on the 
A669 and other local roads. 

Oldham/ 
Rochdale 

 

Metrolink connection 
(MediaCityUK-Salford 
Crescent) 

A substantially higher non-car mode 
share is needed to sustain the 
growth of Salford Quays / Media 
City, which will require faster links to 
key interchange nodes in and 
around the Regional Centre.  

Salford Phase 2 

Further new Metrolink 
connections between 
Salford Crescent, Inner 
Salford and the City Centre 

To provide enhanced rapid transit 
connectivity and capacity to /from 
the city centre. 

Salford  

Completion of the Airport 
Metrolink Line (Western 
Leg Phase 3) 

To join up rapid transit connections 
achieved in earlier stages of the 
Metrolink Western Leg and facilitate 
future connections using tram-train 

Manchester  

Page 198



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 126 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

technology – to help achieve the 
step-change in non-car mode share 
required to sustain and support the 
growth of the wider Airport area, 
including a potential new stop at 
Timperley Wedge.  

Metrolink extension 
towards Port 
Salford/Salford Stadium 

To effectively serve the major 
developments of Trafford Waters, 
and potentially Salford Stadium and 
Port Salford which are currently not 
connected to rapid transit. 

Salford  

Improved link between 
Eccles Metrolink stop and 
rail station 

To increase the accessibility 
between Eccles Metrolink and heavy 
rail stations to ensure it becomes a 
more significant transport hub. 

Salford  
 
 

New Stops and Upgrades 

Further Metrolink Stop 
Improvements Package 

Package of stop improvements to 
improve customer experience. 

GM Wide  

Tram-Train 

Metro/Tram-Train from 
Manchester to Glossop 

To provide much greater capacity 
and frequency on the Glossop 
corridor, both to address existing 
crowding issues and to facilitate 
further growth. 

Manchester
/ Tameside/ 
Derbyshire 

 

Metro/Tram-Train from 
Manchester to Marple 

To provide much greater capacity 
and frequency on the Marple 
corridor, both to address existing 
crowding issues and to facilitate 
further growth. 

Stockport  

Metro/Tram-Train from 
Manchester to Wigan via 
Atherton 

To provide much greater capacity 
and frequency on the Atherton 
corridor, both to address existing 
crowding issues and to facilitate 
further growth. 

Wigan  

Metro/Tram-Train from 
Manchester to Warrington 
(CLC) 

To provide much greater capacity 
and frequency on the Warrington 
corridor, both to address existing 

Manchester
/ Trafford/ 
Warrington 

 

Page 199



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 127 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

crowding issues and to facilitate 
further growth. 

Metro/Tram-Train from  
Stockport to Hazel Grove  

To provide much greater capacity 
and frequency for rapid transit to 
and from Stockport and/or Hazel 
Grove, both to address existing 
crowding issues and to facilitate 
further growth. 

Stockport  

Metro/Tram-Train from 
Stockport to Manchester 
Airport 

To improve access to the Airport 
from the Stockport, Cheadle and 
Gatley area, and encourage 
sustainable travel to it. 

Stockport/ 
Manchester 

 

Metro/Tram-Train from 
Bury to Rochdale via 
Heywood  

To complete the connection 
between Heywood and Bury 
following successful implementation 
of the early pathfinder North 
scheme between Oldham and 
Heywood via Rochdale.  

Bury/ 
Rochdale 

 

Metro/ Tram-Train from the 
west and southwest (Mid 
Cheshire) to Manchester 
Airport 

To improve access to the Airport 
from the Altrincham and Hale area 
and 
from towns in Cheshire, to 
encourage sustainable travel to it. 
See also: Manchester Airport 
Western Link. 

Manchester
/ 

Trafford/ 
Cheshire 

 

Metro/Tram-Train 
from Stockport to Ashton 
via Denton and Reddish 

To connect poorly served Denton 
and Reddish to strategic 
opportunities for employment, 
education and health at both ends of 
a freight line that has been without a 
regular passenger service since the 
early 1990s. 

Stockport/ 
Tameside 

 

Metro/Tram-Train from 
Cornbrook to Manchester 
Airport via Timperley 

To improve access to the Airport 
from the Timperley, Sale and 
Stretford area, and encourage 
sustainable travel to it (also: relieve 
Altrincham line crowding). 

Manchester
/ Trafford 

 

Page 200



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 128 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Regional Centre Metro 
Tunnel 

To deliver a step-change in rapid 
transit capacity to and through the 
Regional Centre in order to: 
 

• accommodate increasing 
demand on existing Metrolink 
lines 

• release capacity in the city 
centre to accommodate 
increased service frequencies, 
e.g. on the Bury line and to 
MediaCityUK via the Trafford 
Park line 

• facilitate conversion of shorter-
distance-focused suburban rail 
lines to metro/tram-train 
operation, radically improving 
services on those corridors and 
releasing capacity on the 
National Rail network in the 
Regional Centre, so that it can 
reliably accommodate 2040 
demand 

• provide the capacity to enable 
the rapid transit network to 
serve a wider range of middle-
distance trips in Greater 
Manchester and to maximise the 
benefits of integrated fares. 

GM Wide  

Our Rail 
Rail 

Rail capacity improvements 
on key commuting 
corridors: South East 
Manchester 

To provide increased frequency and 
capacity for journeys into the 
Regional Centre, facilitating new 
developments and contributing to 
modal shift.  

Manchester  

Rail capacity improvements 
on key commuting 

To provide increased frequency and 
capacity for journeys into the 

Manchester
/ Salford 

 

Page 201



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 129 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

corridors: Chat Moss and 
West Coast 

Regional Centre, facilitating new 
developments and contributing to 
modal shift.  

Rail capacity improvements 
on key commuting 
corridors: North West 
Manchester 

To provide increased frequency and 
capacity for journeys into the 
Regional Centre, facilitating new 
developments and contributing to 
modal shift. 

Manchester  

Rail capacity improvements 
on key commuting 
corridors: North East 
Manchester 

To provide increased frequency and 
capacity for journeys into the 
Regional Centre, facilitating new 
developments and contributing to 
modal shift. This could potentially 
include improvements between 
Rawtenstall and Manchester. 

Manchester  

Rail Capacity Improvements 
on key commuting 
corridors; South 
Manchester (including HS2 
readiness) 

To provide increased frequency and 
capacity for journeys into the 
Regional Centre, facilitating new 
developments and contributing to 
modal shift, and prepare for the 
arrival of HS2. 

GM Wide  

Platform lengthening and 
increases in passenger 
capacity at stations, 
including through future rail 
commitments 

To maximise existing heavy rail 
network capacity in order to 
accommodate growth in rail travel. 

GM Wide  

Manchester Airport 
Western Rail Link 

A new heavy rail link to the Mid-
Cheshire line could release capacity 
on an already constrained network 
and provide greater rail access to 
Manchester Airport for those west 
and southwest of the conurbation 
(Cheshire and North Wales). See 
also: Metro/tram-train to 
Manchester Airport from the west 
(Mid Cheshire). 

Manchester
/ Cheshire 

 

Stockport - Station Alliance  
Enhancement Programme 

To identify regeneration 
opportunities at Bramhall, Cheadle 
Hulme, Rose Hill Marple and Hazel 

Stockport  

Page 202



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 130 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Grove stations. Seeking to enhance 
station facilities focusing on the 
access to and from stations, 
alongside work to provide 
residential, commercial and 
community facilities. 

Rochdale - Station Alliance  
Enhancement Programme 

Redevelopment opportunities at 
Mills Hill, Slattocks, Castleton, 
Smithy Bridge, Littleborough and 
Rochdale stations. Seeking to 
enhance station facilities focusing on 
the access to and from stations, 
alongside work to provide 
residential, commercial and 
community facilities. 

 
Rochdale 

 

Glossop Line Enhancements To deliver an improved service on 
the Glossop line consistent with a 
potential longer-term metro/tram-
train future for this line. 

Manchester
/ Tameside/ 
Derbyshire 

 

Mossley Station 
accessibility improvements 

Upgrade of passenger facilities at 
Mossley station 

Tameside  

Port Salford rail freight link To facilitate the delivery of Port 
Salford as a tri-modal logistics hub, 
reducing the impact of freight 
movement on the city region’s 
congested motorway network. 

Salford Phase 1 
& 2 

High Speed Rail 

Manchester Airport HS2 
and NPR Growth Strategy 

To deliver transformational change 
to Greater Manchester’s global rail 
offer from this new high-speed rail 
hub, and to ensure good onward 
public transport connections from 
across Greater Manchester to 
deliver wider benefits for the city-
region as a result of the improved 
connectivity. 

Manchester  

Stockport HS2 Growth 
Strategy  

To address medium-term capacity 
constraints on the West Coast Main 
Line and at Stockport station, which 

Stockport  

Page 203



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 131 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

will become more pressing between 
2026 and 2033, when HS2 trains will 
start to arrive, but new tunnel to 
Piccadilly (HS2 Phase 2b) will not yet 
be complete. 

Wigan HS2 Growth Strategy To better integrate Wigan Wallgate 
and North Western and therefore 
make the rail offer more attractive, 
creating a secondary long-distance 
rail hub for the city-region as an 
alternative to Manchester Piccadilly, 
particularly in the context of HS2. 

Wigan  

HS2 Northern Chord A new link to facilitate trains running 
Manchester Piccadilly – Manchester 
Airport – Wigan – points north. This 
would provide a step change in 
journey-time from Manchester 
Airport to Wigan and Scotland, and 
relieve capacity on the Manchester – 
Bolton – Preston and Manchester -
Newton-le-Willows corridors, as well 
as in Manchester City Centre and 
Airport line. 

GM Wide  

Northern Powerhouse Rail To link Greater Manchester to the 
other economic centres of the 
North, support the growth of 
Manchester Airport and fully exploit 
opportunities to integrate with HS2.  

GM Wide  

Stations 

New stations (tranche 2)   To provide a new public transport 
option, contributing to modal shift 
and reducing pressure on the 
highway network where this can be 
shown to be viable. 

GM Wide  

Our Streets 

Walking and Cycling 

Cheadle Access Package  New signal or priority junction with 
pedestrian and cycle links to Mill 

Stockport Phase 2 

Page 204



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 132 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Lane and Cheadle District Centre and 
to improve cycling and walking 
access to the new proposed station 
in Cheadle. 

White City Circle Delivery of a major junction 
improvement to facilitate Bee 
network connections at White City 
Circle in Old Trafford 

Trafford Phase 2 

City Centre Wheel – cycle 
improvements on key 
corridors serving the city 
centre 

To support safe cycling to / from the 
city centre and delivery of the Bee 
Network 

GM Wide Phase 2 

Beeways Longer term 
delivery 

Delivery of the remaining crossings 
and quiet streets identified on the 
Bee Network Map 

GM Wide Phase 2 

Busy Beeways Longer term 
delivery 

Delivery of the remaining ‘Busy 
Beeway’ major road corridors 
identified on the Bee Network Map  

GM Wide Phase 2 

Active Neighbourhoods 
Longer term delivery 

Delivery of Active Neighbourhoods 
across Greater Manchester 

GM Wide Phase 2 

The Quays further 
connectivity improvements  

   

Wigan to Skelmersdale Bee Network delivery between 
Wigan, Orrell, Billinge and 
Skelmersdale  

Wigan Phase 2 

Local Highways 

Westhoughton Multi-Modal 
Package  

To improve east-to-west 
connections, forming an extension 
of the Wigan E-W route (LLM); 
providing relief to Westhoughton 
town centre, enabling 
improvements for sustainable travel; 
and supporting local growth. 

Bolton Phase 2 

Interventions to support 
the delivery of the Crescent 
masterplan 

Interventions to support public 
transport and active travel as part of 
the sustainable regeneration and 
development of this key growth 
area. 

  

Page 205



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 133 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Improvements to local 
junctions to mitigate traffic 
associated with potential 
GMSF developments – see 
LIPs 

 GM Wide  

Strategic Roads and Motorways  

Manchester Airport 
expansion highway 
improvements 

To improve the reliability of journey 
times to the Airport, enhancing its 
function as the primary global 
gateway for the North of England, to 
be coordinated with longer term 
highway improvements required to 
support HS2 and NPR Growth 
Strategy at Manchester Airport.  

Manchester  

A58/M66 Junction 2 
Improvements 

To reduce congestion and improve 
reliability of journeys to/from M66 
and along the A58 between 
Rochdale, Heywood and Bury, and to 
support growth including that at 
Northern Gateway. 

GM Wide  

A6 to M60 Relief Road To address capacity and resilience 
issues from A6MARR to the M60 and 
facilitating reduced flows on the A6 

Manchester  

A49 Standish Link Road 
(Almond Brook Road to 
Kingshill Court)  
 

To provide relief to Standish town 
centre, reducing through traffic and 
enabling improvements for 
sustainable modes; and to 
accommodate growth due to local 
housing developments. 
 
Lane Head bypass from Atherleigh 
Way to Winwick Lane to reduce 
congestion and improve air quality 
at Lane Head junction. 
 
Landgate bypass, from Wigan Road 
to Bryn Road to bypass problem 
junction of Bryn Cross. Would also 

Wigan  

Page 206



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 134 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

bring further housing at Landgate 
development site. 

Lane Head Improvements Measures from Atherleigh Way to 
Winwick Lane to reduce congestion 
and improve air quality at Lane Head 
junction. 

Wigan  

M60 Junctions 21-24 Smart 
Motorway 

To address existing congestion and 
reliability issues on the SRN and 
provide the capacity for the 
anticipated scale of growth both 
within the city-region and in 
neighbouring authorities. 

Manchester
/ Oldham/ 
Tameside 

 

M66 improvements 
including improvements to 
Junction 3 

To address existing congestion and 
reliability issues on the SRN and 
adjacent LRN and provide the 
capacity for the anticipated scale of 
growth both within the city-region 
and in neighbouring authorities. 

Bury  

Further interventions to 
tackle congestion issues in 
Tintwistle and Hollingworth 

To address congestion issues on the 
strategic A628 corridor and improve 
journey times and journey time 
reliability to South Yorkshire. 

Tameside  

M6 J25 all-movements 
junction 

To address congestion issues on this 
part of the Strategic Road Network 
and adjacent Key Route Network 
and increase access to the M6 
Corridor. 

Stockport  

Further improvements to 
the motorway network, to 
be delivered through 
Highways England’s future 
Road Investment Strategy 
process (RIS3) 

To support major growth in Greater 
Manchester and across the North of 
England. Details to be determined 
through Highways England’s 
planning processes, in consultation 
with local partners.  

GM Wide  

Strategic road 
improvements between 
Greater Manchester and 
Sheffield City Regions, to be 
determined through TfN 

To transform city region-to-city 
region highway connectivity across 
the North of England, in line with 
TfN’s vision for an efficient highway 
network that effectively connects 

GM Wide  

Page 207



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 135 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

and Highways England’s 
Trans-Pennine Tunnel Study 

the labour markets of the North’s 
major cities. 

Multi-modal interventions 
to tackle congestion on the 
M60 North West Quadrant  

To address existing congestion and 
reliability issues on the SRN and 
adjoining LRN through a package of 
multi-modal connectivity and 
capacity enhancements, enabling 
anticipated growth both within the 
city-region and in neighbouring 
authorities. 

Manchester
/ Bolton/ 

Bury/ 
Manchester

/ Salford 
and Wigan 

 

M60 South East Junctions 
Study 

To address existing congestion and 
reliability issues on the SRN and 
adjoining LRN and provide the 
capacity for anticipated growth both 
within the city-region and in 
neighbouring authorities, supporting 
the proposed Hs” / NPR station at 
Manchester Airport. 

Manchester
/ Trafford 

 

South Manchester Highway 
and Transport Study  

To maintain journey times and 
reliability for traffic using the M56, 
including trips to/from Manchester 
Airport, enhancing its function as the 
primary global gateway for the 
North of England. 

Manchester  

M62 J19 Improvements  Rochdale  

A57-M62 Link Road To link the A57 at Barton with the 
M62 via a new motorway junction, 
supporting development at Port 
Salford and need to consider effects 
on local highway network. 

Salford/ 
Manchester 

 

M61 J6 Link Road for West 
of Wingates 

To support the M61 Junction 6 West 
of Wingates Allocation 

Bolton  

M60 Junction 8 link road 
improvements  

To support growth in the Carrington 
area by improving accessibility to 
new developments.  

Trafford  

Freight and Logistics 

The creation of urban 
consolidation centres 

To minimise the need to for road 
freight deliveries, thereby reducing 

GM Wide  

Page 208



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 136 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

congestion and improving air 
quality. 

Measures to reduce impact 
of goods vehicles in centres 

To reduce the social and 
environmental external impacts of 
freight traffic. 

GM Wide  

Key enhancements to 
regional rail to support 
freight growth in Greater 
Manchester 

To reduce the social and 
environmental external impacts of 
freight traffic. 

GM Wide  

Demonstrating the 
potential of alternative fuel 
transport, aiming to achieve 
regionally and nationally 
competitive solutions 

To reduce the social and 
environmental external impacts of 
freight traffic. 

GM Wide  

Support joint procurement 
frameworks to reduce 
freight deliveries 

To minimise the need to for road 
freight deliveries, thereby reducing 
congestion and improving air 
quality. 

GM Wide  

Town Centres 

Heywood Town Centre 
Streets for All 
Improvements 

Following completion of J19 link 
road, the scheme proposes to 
reduce levels of through traffic 
through town centre, and introduce 
new bus priority, cycling and walking 
schemes through the town.  

Rochdale  

Middleton Town Centre 
Streets for All 
Improvements 

Streets for All proposals seek to 
remove and rationalise roundabouts 
on the A576 to deliver improved 
pedestrian and cycle crossings, and 
improved traffic flows, alongside 
delivering enhanced cycling and 
walking environment, and new 
entrance to the bus station along 
the links. 

Rochdale  

Our Integrated Network 

Clean Air and Carbon 

Retrofitting or upgrading 
Local Authority fleet 

To improve air quality in the 
Regional Centre and other areas and 

GM Wide  

Page 209



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 137 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

improve the health of GM residents 
and visitors. 

Private hire and taxi 
alternative fuels  

To improve air quality in the regional 
centre and other areas and improve 
the health of GM residents and 
visitors. 

GM Wide  

Future Mobility and Innovation 

Further future mobility and 
transport innovation 
priorities for Greater 
Manchester 

To make travel easier across Greater 
Manchester through potential 
introduction of MaaS and new travel 
hubs.  

 GM Wide   

Interchanges 

Oldham Mumps 
Interchange redevelopment 

To increase the accessibility of 
Metrolink and bus from nearby 
destinations and increase the 
attractiveness of the Interchange as 
the focal point for intra-urban 
growth in Oldham town centre. 

Oldham  

New Stalybridge town 
centre transport 
interchange  

Provision of a new transport 
interchange in Stalybridge which 
would better link the existing 
railway, bus and future Metrolink 
services together at a single location 
probably adjacent to the station.      

Tameside  

Ashton-in-Makerfield bus 
interchange upgrade 

To increase the accessibility of 
Ashton-in-Makerfield by public 
transport and increase the 
attractiveness of bus services for 
local residents. 

Wigan  

Travel Hubs/ Park and Ride 

Further Travel Hub/ Park & 
Ride Proposals 

To provide better access to public 
transport through Travel Hub/Park & 
Ride facilities. 

GM Wide  

 

  

Page 210



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 138 

Beyond this five year Delivery Plan, we will investigate…  
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Our Bus Our Metrolink 

Bus Rapid Transit Metrolink & Tram-Train 

In most cases, these interventions will require further investigation in order to determine 
the appropriate transport mode (‘Rapid Transit Corridor’). For some, a likely mode is 
clearer and this is stated where relevant (‘Metrolink Extension’ or ‘Bus Rapid Transit 
Extension’). 

Airport-Carrington-Irlam 
Rapid Transit Corridor 

To improve access to the Airport 
from the Carrington and Irlam 
areas,  making use of a former rail 
corridor to encourage sustainable 
travel to it.  

Manchester
/ 

Trafford/ 
Salford 

 

Ashton-Oldham 
Rapid Transit Corridor 

To provide a more attractive 
alternative to the car in this 
corridor, thereby reducing pressure 
on the M60, A627 and other local 
roads. 

Oldham/ 
Tameside  

 

Bolton-Bury 
Rapid Transit Corridor 

To provide a more attractive 
alternative to the car in this 
corridor, thereby reducing pressure 
on the A58 and other local roads. 

Bolton/ 
Bury 

 

Bolton-Radcliffe 
Rapid Transit Corridor 

To provide a more attractive 
alternative to the car in this 
corridor, including journeys to 
Manchester, thereby reducing 
pressure on the M61, M60, A665, 
A6053, A56 and other local roads. 

Bolton/ 
Bury 

 

Marple-Stockport 
Rapid Transit Corridor 

To provide a more attractive 
alternative to the car in this 
corridor, 
thereby reducing pressure on the 
A626 and other local roads. 

Stockport  

Oldham-Grotton-Greenfield 
Metrolink Extension 

To provide a more attractive 
alternative to the car in this 
corridor, including journeys to 
Manchester, 
thereby reducing pressure on the 
A669 and other local roads. 

Oldham  

Page 211



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 139 

Beyond this five year Delivery Plan, we will investigate…  
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Oldham-Royton 
Metrolink Extension 

To provide a more attractive 
alternative to the car in this 
corridor, including journeys to 
Manchester, 
thereby reducing pressure on the 
A671, A663 and other local roads. 

Oldham  

Tyldesley-Hindley Green-
Wigan Bus Rapid Transit 
Extension 

To link major growth areas with 
the Regional Centre and Wigan 
Town Centre, including the HS2 
station and associated 
developments there. 

Wigan  

Our Rail 
Rail 

Further electrification of 
rail lines to reduce carbon 
emissions and increase 
capacity 

To reduce carbon emissions and 
increase capacity 

GM Wide  

Explore the feasibility and 
business case for improved 
connections from the 
Airport to the South  

Improved heavy rail services south 
of the Airport towards and beyond 
Crewe, to increase Airport 
catchment and encourage 
sustainable travel to it. 
See also: Tram-Train Pathfinder 
Airport (Manchester Airport to 
Wilmslow via Styal). 

GM Wide  

Explore options for further 
increased rail network 
capacity in the Regional 
Centre 

To transform city-to-city and 
suburban rail connectivity from 
Preston, Wigan and Liverpool to 
Manchester, addressing key 
constraints to capacity into the 
Regional Centre. 

GM Wide  

Further new rail stations 
from tranche 2 

New stations that have not been 
identified as early priorities could 
well become more relevant as 
demand for rail travel increases 
and investment in the network 
creates opportunities for changes 
to rail services. 
 
 
 

GM Wide  

Page 212



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 140 

Beyond this five year Delivery Plan, we will investigate…  
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Our Streets    

Local Highways 

M62 - Carrington - M60 
Link 

To address existing congestion 
issues on the SRN and provide the 
capacity for the scale of 
development proposed both within 
the city region and in neighbouring 
authorities. 

GM Wide  

High Lane and Disley Bypass A bypass of the settlements of High 
Lane and Disley, promoted by 
Cheshire East Council.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 213



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 141 

APPENDIX B: Greater Manchester 
Transport Strategy 2040 – Local 
Implementation Plans  

  

Page 214



 

1 

Bolton Summary GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20 

1. Introduction  

This Implementation Plan sets out how we will work towards our priorities including 
economic growth, improving the environment and social inclusion by building on 
Bolton’s planned and current transport projects, many of which are set out in the 
Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 5-Year Delivery Plan (2020-2025).   

While the 5-year Delivery Plan tends to consider large, medium- and long-term future 
transport schemes, this Implementation Plan is mainly focussed on local, 
neighbourhood level priorities and interventions to 2025.  

Bolton Council in its Corporate Plan 2019 to 2021 outlines a vision where “Bolton will 
be a vibrant place, built on strong cohesive communities, successful businesses, and 
healthy residents. It will be a welcoming place where people choose to study, work 
and put down roots”. As part of the Place function the Council looks to “deliver on 
key regeneration areas across the borough” and “lead on the development of a more 
cleaner and greener borough”.  

This document sets out the steps Bolton will take with partners to make good 
progress towards its transport vision and priorities in the short-term.   

Alongside investment in health, education and homes, improvements in Bolton’s 
transport connectivity and public realm are essential to realising these aims. To 
achieve these ambitions, we have set five key transport-related outcomes which we 
would wish to see achieved by 2025.  These are:  

• Outcome 1: Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 

made by foot and by bike in the 5 townships of the Borough of Bolton; 

• Outcome 2: Enhance connections within Bolton town centre to support town 

centre master plan intervention area; 

• Outcome 3: Enhanced connections to and within the centres of Farnworth, 

Westhoughton, Horwich and Little Lever; 

• Outcome 4: Improvements to public transport, cycling, walking and highways 

network to support growth around Junction 6 M61 and along the De Haviland 

Way corridor; 

• Outcome 5: Accelerate the uptake of low emission vehicles and reduce 

emission of air pollutants from vehicle traffic across the Borough. 

This document sets out some of the steps Bolton will seek to take with partners 
to make good progress towards these outcomes in the next 5 years.   The steps are 
ambitious and the development and delivery of the interventions set out will require a 
significant level of resource and funding. This will require us to prioritise measures and 
to continue working with the GMCA and TfGM to secure the required funding from 
Government to develop and deliver these schemes.

Page 215



 

2 

2. Bolton Borough Strategic Transport Issues 

 

Page 216



 

3 

 

Page 217



 

4 

2.1. Bolton’s Delivery Plan Scheme 2020-2025 

Map 1 below shows interventions proposed within Bolton, included in the Five-Year Delivery Plan.  

 

P
age 218



 

5 

2.2. Bolton’s ambitions and existing strategic allocations 

Map 2 below sets out ambitions for the land supply and transport network within Bolton. This includes strategic employment allocations 
identified as part of GMSF, local road network improvements including improved east/west connectivity between the strategic road network, 
and town centre improvements offering new homes and employment opportunities. 

 

P
age 219



 

6 

3. Spatial Theme Challenges and Opportunities 

3.1. Neighbourhoods 

Of all trips that start in Bolton, neighbourhood trips are shared with wider city region 
trips as the most frequent type at 48% of all trips. Of these trips neighbourhood trips 
are less than 2km in length, 28% are made by private car (slightly higher than GM 
average) for which the majority of these could be walked or cycled (source: TRADS 
2016/2017 database). 

Road traffic levels and speeds have significant impact on walking and cycling for 
local trips, including actual and perceived levels of safety. Major roads create 
barriers and cause severance between neighbourhoods and destinations as well as 
pavement parking which restricts footway space and accessibility.  

There are numerous challenges in areas with dense populations outside Bolton town 
centre, e.g. Farnworth, Horwich, Westhoughton and Little Lever. Within these areas 
are examples of traditional terraced rows where streets tend to be narrow and on 
street car parking at a premium to residential areas that act as ‘rat-runs’ to avoid 
congestion on the key route network and junctions operating over capacity in peak 
network periods. Despite this in some of our economically challenged areas there is 
a disproportionately high level of no car ownership and residents are reliant on public 
transport, taxis and active travel as their only means of getting to local centres and 
key destinations. However key destinations are difficult to access on foot and by 
cycle due to road traffic, severance caused by highway infrastructure and a lack of 
direct dedicated cycle and walking infrastructure and wayfinding within the borough’s 
neighbourhoods.  

Opportunities to address these issues will be delivered through the development of 
the Bee Network and access to and within new development that prioritises active 
travel following “Streets for All” design principles creating streets for people not just 
traffic. The emerging District Centre Masterplans for Horwich, Little Lever and 
Westhoughton will make linkages to these principles as in the approved Farnworth 
Master Plan where ‘Streets for All’ treatment to has been proposed for Market Street,  

3.2. Bolton Town Centre 

Within the context of The Bolton Economy: Our Strategy for Growth 2016-2030, the 
Council has adopted a Town Centre Strategy including a masterplan framework and 
key intervention areas.  These documents set out Bolton’s ambition and vision to 
achieve a £1bn regeneration of the town centre, creating more than 2000 new 
homes, 7,400 new jobs to sustain its immediate future to the benefit of the wider 
Borough and its residents, supported by £100m direct investment from the Council.  
Private sector partners and investors are signed up to the redevelopment of 
Crompton Place Shopping Centre, as well as Trinity Quarter, Church Wharf, Croal 
Valley, Cheadle Square and Blackhorse St.   
 
The town centre has recently benefited from significant investment in a new bus 
station linked to the existing rail station to create a transport hub. This has included 
the installation of a cycle hub for secure cycle parking.  

Page 220



 

7 

Key transport issues for Bolton town centre include:  

• Congestion on the town centre outer highway box and at key junctions across 

the town centre.  

• Barriers to walking and cycling into and across the town centre due to 

congestion and lack of facilities to support active travel. 

• Traditional road layout impeding development opportunities. 

 

It is estimated that the number of journeys to the town centre has fallen by 6% since 
2010 which has resulted in a reduction in footfall (Source: TRADS). It is also 
estimated that only 45% of AM Peak journeys to Bolton Town Centre are made by 
active travel and public transport modes (Source: TRADS). Whilst most Town 
Centres across Greater Manchester has shown a decline, clearly the transport 
issues identified above has impacted on mode of transport used to get to the centre. 
It is also estimated that 72% of those travelling to Bolton Town Centre believed the 
town centre to be pleasant to walk around or spend time in (lower than the GM 
average) and 66% suggested they felt safe during the day and 23% during the night.  

In support of the Town Centre Master Plan the Council is reviewing the Town Centre 
Transport Strategy with support of a town centre AIMSUM model. The model is able 
to estimate the impact of traffic generation from proposed development on the 
existing town centre highway network. Work is ongoing to identify mitigation 
measures to relieve congestion whilst implementing Bee Network and high-quality 
cycling and walking infrastructure to support modal shift and improve access to and 
around the town centre by active and sustainable modes.  

Bolton council has set up a Town Deal Board to steer a bid as part of the Towns 
Fund, to be submitted in October 2020. The bid focuses on the key intervention area 
Cheadle Square, known as the Civic and Cultural district, and will include public 
realm improvements to ‘bind’ the schemes together. Proposals will be selected 
following consultation with residents and businesses carried out in August 2020. 

£1m accelerated Towns Funding has been awarded to Bolton to bring forward 
schemes before the end of March 2021. Following consultation with the Towns 
Board and Cabinet, a public realm improvement scheme has been put forward, 
linking existing historical and cultural assets in the towns fund area, specifically 
Ashburner Street upgrades and meanwhile use of the site known as the former 
Odeon Cinema. 

Bolton Council has submitted a second bid for £24.6m from the Ministry of Homes, 
Communities and Local Government’s Future High Street Fund, in addition to the 
Farnworth bid, to transform the north of Bolton Town Centre introducing new 
activities – aligned with the Bolton Town Centre Masterplan – to animate the area 
day and night and drive increased footfall, vibrancy and natural surveillance.  

Designed to tackle challenges (including falling town centre footfall, limited evening 
economy, and growing levels of serious crime) and take advantage of opportunities 
(including the availability of sites for development and willing private sector partners), 
the scheme will diversify the town centre offer and improve safety and connections 
by; Strengthening the town centre cultural offer by providing a new facility to be used 

Page 221



 

8 

by communities; Creating a new town centre residential neighbourhood bringing 
back young professionals and families (Church Wharf); and improving connectivity 
between new developments and the wider town centre. 

3.3. Wider-City Region 

48% of trips starting in Bolton borough are to the Wider City Region, for example to 
Bury or Wigan. 83% of these trips are made by private car, less than 15% of Wider 
City Region City trips made by PT (source: TRADS database). 

There are poor alternatives to private car for accessing town centres and 
neighbourhoods apart from Bolton Town Centre (particularly Farnworth, 
Westhoughton, Horwich, Little Lever), which leads to high levels of car use for wider-
city journeys. Key challenges with public transport include: Frequency; Punctuality; 
Capacity; most notably in the current pandemic to achieve social distancing.   

Motorway traffic causes additional congestion and severance for other modes (bus, 
cycle, walking), for example, De Havilland Way. Particular issues at Junction 5 of the 
M61 is a barrier to cycling and walking from Westhoughton to Bolton town centre and 
surrounding area requiring a pedestrian, cycle and possibly bus bridge over the M61 
in this location. Congestion and capacity at Junction 6 of the M61 and the adjoining 
De Havilland Way creates both significant delays to vehicle traffic but also 
discourages cycling and walking along this corridor which provides access to 
significant amounts of employment, retail and leisure uses.  

There are currently 21 publicly available EV charge points across the borough. To 
enable an accelerated uptake of EV vehicles, particularly supporting residents with 
no off-road parking, we plan to enlarge this network across the borough. Due to 
limited availability on-street to deliver charging points on our residential roads, the 
primary focus will be on delivering charging points within public car parks.  

Farnworth 

The Council approved an ambitious and transformational Masterplan for the town 
centre in 2019. This Masterplan aims to repurpose vacant retail space into: a mixed 
use community of over 203 homes,  a high quality, flexible community hub from 
which a range of services can be delivered; new commercial floorspace  which will 
deliver job opportunities; a new public square and improved pedestrian and cycle 
connections; and deliver an extended and improved Leisure Centre to support health 
and wellbeing outcomes for the community.  

The council submitted a Business Case, in June 2020, to MHCLG for Future High 
Streets Funding (FHSF) to transform Farnworth Town Centre into a vibrant, high 
quality place to live, work and visit. The scale of transformation, from existing 
conditions will be significant, and the economic and social benefits far reaching, 
delivering a high level of value for money for public investment. The amount being 
sought from FHSF is £19.25m. 

A key project for implementation in the Masterplan is the redevelopment of a large 
site in the centre of the town, known as the Market Precinct. The FHSF money will 
be used, amongst other things to deliver the redevelopment of this key development 

Page 222



 

9 

site along with ‘Streets for All’ connectivity interventions to improve pedestrian and 
cycle access to the town. These interventions will transform the town centre. The 
improvements will create a new housing market in the town centre, which will raise 
property values and create viable conditions for further inward investment. This will 
enable a further six development sites to come forward delivering over 240 additional 
homes. 

3.4. District Centres 

In October 2019, following a competitive tendering exercise via the Chest, BDP were 
successfully appointed to develop Masterplans and key development proposals for 
the District Centres of Horwich, Little Lever and Westhoughton. The draft 
Masterplans and key development proposals were taken out to a period of public 
consultation in January and February 2020. The masterplan reports are being 
finalised and will be presented for approval by Executive Cabinet Member in Autumn 
2020.  

In all 3 areas, common issues relating to transport have been identified. These 
include the need for remodelling of main streets in each of the district centres to 
improve access for pedestrians and cyclists and supporting the development of a 
café culture; developing a car parking strategy which takes account of capacity and 
usage, charging and EV points and public realm works. 

3.4.1. Other Development Sites 

Whilst Bolton Town Centre is a key focus for new residential development, retail and 
leisure, there is clearly a demand for B2/B8 employment along the M61 corridor. This 
is demonstrated by the rapid delivery of Logistics North that has come forward 
quicker than anticipated and has no available development plots left. Bolton Council 
is supporting 3 employment allocations along this corridor:  

GM04 Bewshill Farm is for 21,000m2 of employment space situated adjacent to 
Logistics North at unction 4 of the M61. Given is size and previous highway 
improvements as part of Logistics North no further highway mitigation is required to 
bring this site forward. 

GM05 North of Chequerbent is for 25,000m2 of employment space situated between 
the A6, A58 Snydale Way and M61 at Junction 5. Highway mitigation will be required 
to bring this site forward. Options are available to consider in more detail at the 
planning application stage, although the recent approval by the Secretary of State for 
the Hulton Park development, includes infrastructure that should be sufficient to 
accommodate trip generation from this allocation. However, the Hulton Park 
development is still subject to a successful Ryder Cup bid and timings of 
development and infrastructure will need to be further considered.  

GM06 West of Wingates is for a 440,000m2 of employment space situated adjacent 
to the existing Wingates industrial estate off the A6 and accessible to Junction 6 of 
the M61. Part of the site is already the subject of a planning application that has 
been approved by planning committee and is now subject to a Secretary of State call 
in. Further analysis of highway mitigation will be required at the planning application 
stage although investigation of a new link road to Junction 6 via A6/De Havilland 

Page 223



 

10 

Way junction is being considered set against additional measures at existing 
junctions along the A6. 

An initial assessment of the interventions that may be required to support these sites 
has been undertaken within the Locality Assessments prepared as part of the 
GMSF, and potential interventions are listed within the Appendix of the 2020-2025 
Delivery Plan. 

  

Page 224



 

11 

4. Bolton 5-Year LIP Outcomes 

The following outlines Bolton’s Five-Year LIP outcomes and priorities for investment 
to achieve these. Map 3 below shows proposed Bee Network schemes within Bolton 
for the next 5-year period, and Map 4 shows local investment priorities to meet these 
outcomes.  

Outcome 1: Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 
made by foot and by bike in the 5 townships of the Borough of Bolton 

In the next 5 years this means delivering street improvements that create attractive, 
safe neighbourhoods that are pleasant for people to spend time in, and support 
people to make local trips by foot or by bike rather than by private car.  

Priorities for investment over the next 5-years: 

Scheme Name  Description 

Active neighbourhoods implemented 
across the borough of Bolton 

Measures to deliver low-traffic, active 
neighbourhood across Bolton, including 
Farnworth, Little Lever, Westhoughton, 
Horwich, and neighbourhoods around Bolton 
Town Centre. 

School streets programme across 
Bolton borough 

Establish and progress delivery of a School 
Streets programme across Bolton borough. 

Bee Network walk and cycle 
schemes 

Programmed Bee Network schemes at: 

• Doffcocker to Bolton town centre 

• Bolton town centre East Scheme 

• Westhoughton Bee Network and Active 

Neighbourhood Scheme 

• Astley Bridge/Crompton Bee Network 

and Active Neighbourhood Scheme 

Bee Network supported regeneration 
of town centres 

Bee Network Schemes to support regeneration 
in Farnworth, Horwich and Little Lever, through 
delivery of measures to support active modes 
and improved public space. 

Wayfinding for local journeys Wayfinding for local journeys across the 
Borough. 

Borough-wide maintenance 
programme 

Borough-wide maintenance programme on 
neighbourhood streets to improve the quality of 
local walking and cycling journeys. 

  

Page 225



 

12 

 
Map 3: Bee Network Proposals in Bolton Borough  

P
age 226



 

13 

Outcome 2: Enhance connections within Bolton town centre to support town 
centre master plan intervention areas. 

In the next 5 years this means creating “Streets for All” in the Bolton town centres to 
support town centre regeneration and increased journeys by active travel to key 
destinations.  

Priorities for investment over the next 5-years: 

 

Scheme Name  Description 

Tranche 5 Bee Network scheme 
implementation supported by SBNI 
scheme for main junctions along 
Trinity Street and Newport Street. 

Seven new crossings will be included, as well as 
two upgraded junctions which will make it safer 
for pedestrians and cyclists to cross key roads. 
Two-way cycle tracks on one-way streets will 
make it safer to cycle and extra cycle parking will 
also be included. 

Town Centre Junction Improvements Junction improvement schemes to reduce 
congestion and improve air quality, supported by 
improved walking and cycling facilities. 

Town Centre Regeneration Road closures or narrowing’s in support of town 
centre regeneration schemes. 

Improved connectivity with the 
Education Quarter 

Measures to support connections by walking, 
cycling and public transport to and from Bolton’s 
Education Quarter. 

Outcome 3: Enhanced connections to and within the centres of Farnworth, 
Westhoughton, Horwich and Little Lever 

In the next 5 years this means creating streets for all in the centres of Farnworth with 
similar initiatives at Horwich, Westhoughton and Little Lever through improvements 
to the Public Realm.  Access to the centres will also be improved by bus, walking 
and cycling. 

Priorities for investment over the next 5-years: 

Scheme Name  Description 

Farnworth Masterplan proposals Streets for All improvements in Farnworth town 
centre to increase connectivity by foot, bike, rail 
and bus, improvements to the public realm, 
reduce through traffic and congestion and address 
road safety and air quality issues. 

Westhoughton Masterplan proposals Streets for All improvements in Westhoughton 
town centre to increase connectivity by foot, bike, 
rail and bus, improvements to the public realm, 

Page 227



 

14 

Scheme Name  Description 

reduce through traffic and congestion and address 
road safety and air quality issues.  

Horwich Masterplan proposals Streets for All improvements along Winter Hey 
Lane to increase connectivity by foot, bike and 
bus, improve the public realm, reduce through 
traffic and congestion in the town centre and 
address road safety and air quality issues.  

Little Lever Masterplan Proposals Pedestrian and cycle infrastructure improvements, 
including junction and public realm improvements 
to increase connectivity to the town centre by foot 
and bike and address road safety and air quality 
issues.  

Borough-wide maintenance 
programme. 

Borough-wide maintenance programme on town 
centre streets to improve the quality of local 
walking and cycling journey, and quality of public 
space in these destinations. 

Outcome 4: Improvements to public transport, cycling, walking and highways 
network to support growth around Junction 6 M61 and along the De Haviland 
Way corridor  

In the next 5 years this means developing and delivering measures along De 
Haviland Way to support new development in Bolton. This will include measures to 
enable people to travel by foot, bike and public transport, as well as improving the 
resilience of the highway network, and reducing its impact on the local area, such as 
congestion.  

This will build on the existing VISSIM model to develop and deliver measures at: 

• Rivington Chase Link Road 

• Beehive Roundabout Junction Improvement Scheme 

• Spirit of Sport Roundabout 

We will also look to identify solutions for the A6/De Haviland Way roundabout in 
conjunction with GMSF West of Wingates Allocation. 

  

Page 228



 

15 

Outcome 5: Accelerate the uptake of low emission vehicles and reduce 
emission of air pollutants from vehicle traffic across the Borough 

Bolton will aim to reduce the environmental impact of roads in Bolton Borough 
through interventions that accelerate the uptake of low emission vehicles and reduce 
emission of air pollutants from vehicle traffic across the Borough. 

Priorities for Investment over the next 5-years: 

Scheme Name  Description 

Air Pollution Reduction Actions Measures to reduce emission of pollutants 
in areas that are expected to exceed, or are 
at risk of exceeding air quality thresholds, 
for example the A58. 

Increasing the number of electric 
vehicle charging points across the 
Borough 

Programme to increase the number of 
electric vehicles charging points across the 
Borough. 

Page 229



 

16 

 
Map 4: Bolton Implementation Plan Schemes 

P
age 230



 

17 

5. Indicators 

Bolton Council and TfGM will work together to develop a monitoring framework to 
measure the success of the interventions within this Plan. It is anticipated that this 
will include aims and targets to measure success against the 5-Year Local 
Implementation Plan outcomes, carbon targets, and changes in mode-share to meet 
Right Mix targets. 

 

Page 231



 

1 

Bury Summary GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20 

1 Introduction  

1.1 Purpose of the Local Implementation Plan  

Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) has been working with the Greater 

Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA), the ten Greater Manchester councils and 

the Greater Manchester Mayor to prepare new, and updated, transport strategy 

documents that cover the entire city-region. This work includes a refreshed version 

of the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 and a final version of TfGM’s 

Five-Year Delivery Plan (2020-2025) which sets out the practical actions planned to 

deliver the Transport Strategy over the next 5 years. Map 1 below shows 

interventions proposed within Bury Borough within the 5-year Delivery Plan. 

To further support the Refreshed Transport 2040 Strategy and Delivery Plan, a Local 

Implementation Plan (LIP) has been prepared for each district, including Bury. 

This Implementation Plan enables Bury, in partnership with TfGM and others, to set 

out the Council’s position at a more fine-grained level, focussing on the town-

level and neighbourhood priorities, particularly on active travel: walking and cycling 

which, for the most part, does require local level interventions.   

The LIP has been designed to:   

• Complement the 2040 Transport Strategy and the Five Year Delivery 
Plan, providing details of how their outcomes will be achieved locally, 
focusing particularly on supporting local trips within neighbourhoods and 
to local centres;  

• Support wider Greater Manchester (GM) and council strategy and policy 
documents (e.g. Local Plans, Town Centre Masterplans, GM Clean Air 
Plan and the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF));  

• Summarise key local transport issues and opportunities in each local 
authority, providing an added layer of local detail that is not provided in 
the 2040 Transport Strategy document.  

The LIP will be ‘live’ document and will be updated as the Council develops its 

transport plan and strategy or as new schemes are developed or delivered.  

At the heart of Bury Council’s growth ambitions is the goal to ensure that the 

residents of Bury are able to access family, friends, jobs, education, recreation and 

health in an efficient, economic and eco-friendly way. Growth must be inclusive and 

create vibrant and thriving communities that are well connected.  It is therefore 

important that infrastructure is delivered alongside new developments to support 

sustainable neighbourhoods and to create a competitive local economy within a high 

quality built and natural environment. All modes of transport are important and due 

consideration needs to be given to improving each one. 

Page 232



 

2 

Our collective aim is to ensure that growth is planned for in a managed way that 

embraces all the key ingredients that make each township unique. Growth involves 

not only physical development that caters for an increasing population, but is also 

about creating the right circumstances for fostering growth through economic 

development initiatives, supporting social growth and creating thriving, healthy and 

equitable communities. At the same time, it requires interventions to address issues 

associated with climate change and to mitigate against negative environmental 

impacts. 

Transport investment will be key in achieving sustainable neighbourhoods. It is 

important that the Council works in partnership with TfGM to encourage greater use 

of public transport, walking and cycling and the provision of infrastructure for the 

refuelling of low and ultra-low emission vehicles; and to develop a fully inclusive, 

integrated and affordable sustainable transport system for all.  

We have set four key transport outcomes which we would wish to see achieved by 

2025. These are: 

• Outcome 1: Increase the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 

made by foot and by bike across the borough of Bury 

• Outcome 2: Enhance connections to/from and within the centres of Bury, 

Prestwich, Radcliffe, Ramsbottom, Tottington and Whitefield by foot, bike, and 

public transport 

• Outcome 3: Create clean, green streets, and relieve local communities from 

the impacts of congestion 

• Outcome 4:  Improve access to Metrolink for residents, workers and visitors 

This document sets the steps we will seek to take to make good progress towards 

these outcomes in the next 5 years.   The steps are ambitious, and the development 

and delivery of the interventions set out will require a significant level of resource and 

funding. This will require us to prioritise measures and to continue working with the 

GMCA and TfGM to secure the required funding from Government to develop and 

deliver these schemes.  

The document is also helpful when it comes to setting out a programme of priority 

local transport and minor works interventions for the next five years, and will help to 

provide a basis against which future local transport and minor works funding is 

allocated for local delivery. 

  

Page 233



 

3 

2 Strategic Transport Issues in Bury 

 

Page 234



 

4 

 

Page 235



 

5 

 

Map 1: GMTS 5-Year Delivery Plan Interventions  

P
age 236



 

6 

2.1 Covid-19 Recovery 

The Coronavirus pandemic represents the biggest challenge for Bury since the 

Second World War. To enable the borough to ‘build back better’, we are 

implementing a number of measures to enable Covid-19 recovery, including:   

 

• Continued support to develop strategic housing and 
commercial development;  

• The Council has also approved around a dozen pavement café licences under 
the new Business and Planning Act 2020.  This is to allow food and drink 
related businesses to conduct their operations outside of their premises on 
the highway.  This provides some support for them through these difficult 
economic and public confidence times. 

• Delivering temporary or semi-permanent measures to support cycling and 
walking as an alternative to public transport as part of 
the #SafeStreetsSaveLives campaign and the Department for 
Transport’s Emergency Active Travel Fund (EATF);  
 

EATF was launched on 23/5/2020. On 2/7/20 it was announced that GM was to be 
awarded £3.2m in Tranche 1 and indicatively £12.7m in Tranche 2. The EATF seeks 
to deliver measures that will address immediate challenges presented by COVID-19, 
such as reduced public transport capacity and its adverse economic impact on town 
centres and on access to employment and services for the most deprived 
communities. The measures will also help tackle longer-term critical public health 
challenges associated with physical inactivity and road safety, the climate 
emergency and the impact of congestion on the local economy. Some of the 
measures we are seeking to implement are set out later in this Plan. Bury’s share of 
Tranche 1 was around £0.3m. Bury has also bid for £0.75m in Tranche 2. 

Alongside this work, major strategic projects such as the regeneration of the 
borough’s town centres remain the key focus of the council’s growth agenda. 
Officers are continuing to support development of these sites, including planning 
transport measures to support and unlock development.  

3 Spatial Theme Challenges and Opportunities 

3.1 Neighbourhoods 

The majority (52%) of trips made in the Borough that start in the district are at the 

neighbourhood level and are under 2km in length. While a significant number of 

these journeys are made by foot (46%), 48% are made by private car and only 1% 

by bike.1  As these journeys could be completed on foot in around 20 minutes or 

cycled in 8 minutes, there is significant potential to shift these trips from cars to 

active modes of travel. 

However, many people are discouraged from walking and cycling due to high levels 

of road traffic; lack of dedicated cycling infrastructure and signage; and major roads 

 
1 Source: TRADS database). 

Page 237

https://tfgm.com/safestreets
https://news.tfgm.com/news/gbp-3-1-million-schemes-confirmed-to-enable-thousands-more-journeys-on-foot-or-by-bike-through-first-phase-of-emergency-active-travel-measures


 

7 

which create severance between neighbourhoods and destinations. Many areas are 

also blighted by having vehicles parked on pavements, which restricts footway space 

for people walking.  

These challenges are particularly pronounced in areas with dense populations 

outside Bury’s main centres, such as Fishpool and Pimhole. They also have a 

particular impact on the third of households in Bury who do not have access to a car, 

and rely on making trips by foot, bike and public transport, while also exacerbating 

prevalence of the environmental and health issues that are caused by short car 

trips.  

Opportunities to address these challenges include development and delivery of the 

Bee Network (The Bee Network is a proposed Greater Manchester network of safe 

walking and cycling routes built to agreed standards https://tfgm.com/bee-network/) 

and active neighbourhoods (including better crossing provision on main roads), 

continued roll-out of traffic calming and 20 mph zones, and new 

development/regeneration prioritising active travel, for example in work around the 

Bury Town Centre and Prestwich (Longfield Centre) masterplans and Radcliffe 

Strategic Regeneration Framework. The proposed allocation of new areas for 

development within the borough being considered through the Greater Manchester 

Spatial Framework (GMSF), for example Elton Reservoir and Northern Gateway, will 

also be expected to deliver strategic cycle and walking connections, to enable 

sustainable journeys to and from these sites. 

3.2 Bury Town Centre 

Bury Town Centre is an established retail centre in Greater Manchester, attracting a 

high, and increasing, number of visitors. There has been a growth of 12% in the 

number people of travelling to the town centre between 2013 and 20172 . We will 

seek to continue to build on this success to develop the town centre as a destination 

for retail and employment, as well as increasing the number of homes built within or 

close to the town centre. 

However, despite the success of Bury Town Centre, there are a number of 

challenges arising. These include a high proportion of journeys made to the town 

centre by private car (45%), and a poor perception of safety at night (89% of people 

visiting Bury felt safety was good during the day, dropping to 35% at night3). Key 

issues for Bury Town Centre include 

• Severance due to the Ring Road (Angouleme Way, Jubilee Way and Peel 
Way) which separates Bury Town Centre from neighbourhoods on all sides, 
particularly by foot or by bike.  Crossings are often poor, with limited space on 
central islands for example; where subways are provided (e.g. under 
Angouleme Way) they are sometimes perceived as being unsafe. 

• Poor permeability of Bury town centre for cycling, given major road barriers 
and a ban on cycling in pedestrian areas. 

 
2 GM Town Centre Cordon Counts 
3 GM Town Centre Perception Surveys 

Page 238

https://tfgm.com/bee-network/


 

8 

• The poor connectivity between Bury Interchange and the Rock shopping and 
leisure area, with a lack of coherent walking routes (particularly when the 
Millgate Shopping Centre is closed). 

• The River Irwell to the west which creates major severance due to limited 
crossing points. The single vehicular crossing at Bury Bridge is severely 
congested during peak periods; and 

• Unreliable bus links to the town centre from surrounding neighbourhoods 
which lead to a large number of these relatively local journeys being made by 
taxi or private car. 

Work is in progress on developing a masterplan for Bury Town Centre. This will 

complement delivery of the new Interchange (on which we are working with TfGM), 

support new high-density homes on brownfield sites in the Town Centre, and seek to 

provide better connectivity to and from the town centre to local neighbourhoods and 

the wider city region, alongside maximising the potential of community, visitor and 

heritage assets such as Bury Market and the East Lancashire Railway. 

3.3 Wider-City Region & Regional Centre Access 

Compared to the GM average, Bury has a high number of trips that are made across 
the Wider City Region (43%).  These are trips over 2km to destinations that are not 
the regional centre, such as to the Districts town centres, to and 
from the district’s employment sites, or to Rochdale or Bolton for example.  

Across Bury there are poor alternatives to the private car for accessing some of the 

Borough’s town centres and neighbourhoods, particularly Ramsbottom and 

Tottington, and for journeys to the east (Rochdale and Heywood) and west (Bolton).  

Alongside capacity, reliability and connectivity challenges for the public transport 

networks this leads to high levels of car use for wider-city region journeys with 78% 

of these trips made by private car, 13% bus, 4% Metrolink, and 2% cycling and 

walking.4 

3.3.1 Other District Town Centres 

The following table outlines transport related challenges and opportunities within 

Bury’s wider town centres.  

Centre Challenges Opportunities 

Prestwich A56 has been recently improved to 
support pedestrian movement and 
public realm. However, the road is 
heavily trafficked and still forms a 
barrier to sustainable journeys to the 
town centre. 

There is poor access to/from 
Prestwich Metrolink stop by foot, 

The Council is currently 
developing plans to 
regenerate the Longfield 
Centre. These include 
potential measures to 
improve access to the 
Metrolink stop. 
 

 
4 Source: TRADS database 

Page 239



 

9 

Centre Challenges Opportunities 

and the stop is not visible from 
around the town centre. 

The imminent EATF 
scheme will improve the 
A56 south of Prestwich for 
cycling. It will also provide 
new controlled crossings of 
the A56. 
 

Radcliffe Town Centre has been in decline, 
and there are high levels of vacant 
retail property. 

There has been recent investment 
in the Market and bus station, 
however walking and cycling routes 
between the town centre core and 
Metrolink stop are unclear and poor 
quality. 

A Strategic Regeneration 
Framework has been 
prepared for the town.  

One of the key themes of 
this framework is car 
parking and the 
development of a detailed 
Transport Strategy.  

The Framework seeks to 
deliver an integrated 
approach to regeneration in 
Radcliffe, including 
investment in infrastructure 
alongside improvement in 
education, skills and 
employment. The proposed 
infrastructure investment 
includes measures to 
improve access to the 
Metrolink stop.In addition 
the MCF T6 scheme under 
development will improve a 
route from Milltown St to 
Radcliffe Station. 

Ramsbottom The town centre suffers from traffic 
congestion at peaks and at 
weekends, especially around Bolton 
Road West. 

Parking for cars and coaches is 
insufficient given the attractiveness 
of the town as a visitor destination. 

A Town Plan is proposed 
for Ramsbottom, which will 
build on the town’s success 
and tourism assets 
(including the ELR).  This 
will need to include a 
parking and transport 
strategy to help local 
businesses whilst ensuring 
free flowing traffic. 
 

Whitefield The town centre suffers from high 
levels of peak period congestion on 
the A56 Manchester Road.   

There are a number of 
development opportunities 
for Whitefield, to provide 

Page 240



 

10 

Centre Challenges Opportunities 

The A56 also creates severance for 
pedestrians and cyclists through the 
working day and hinders access to 
Metrolink stop from the west. 

some social infrastructure.  
This includes a review of 
the facilities at Uplands. 
 

3.3.2 Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) 

Housing, commercial and job growth have taken place in recent years in Bury, and 

this is expected to continue. The Bury Growth Plan and the Greater Manchester 

Spatial Framework (GMSF) set out Bury’s plans for growth in sustainable locations 

by 2037. 

The draft GMSF sets a target for delivery of 7,667 new homes in Bury by 2037, 

alongside about 500,000 sqm of industrial and warehousing floorspace, and 

40,000 sqm of office floor space. This excludes the nationally significant employment 

site at the Northern Gateway, just over the boundary with Rochdale, which seeks to 

deliver 700,000sqm of employment workspace up to 2037, around 490,000sqm of 

which falls within Bury.  

If unmitigated, this proposed level of development has the potential to bring extra 

vehicular traffic to Bury’s roads, so new infrastructure would be needed to support 

this growth in a sustainable manner, maximising access by walking, cycling and bus 

and for people who live in or travel to or from Bury, alongside wider improvements to 

the road network. Map 2 sets out the existing transport network alongside GMSF 

land supply allocations. 

An initial assessment of the interventions that may be required to support these sites 

has been undertaken within the Locality Assessments prepared as part of the 

GMSF, and potential interventions are listed within the Appendix of the 2020-2025 

Delivery Plan. 

Page 241



 

11 

  

Map 2: Bury Transport Network and Land Supply 

P
age 242



 

12 

3.4 Public Transport Challenges 

Alongside challenges within town centres, there are number of public transport 

reliability, capacity and connectivity challenges in Bury. 

There has been steady growth in Metrolink patronage.  This has created issues with 

peak period overcrowding on trams and led to demand for the available park and 

ride spaces at stops in the Borough exceeding supply. There are also issues arising 

due to the age of Bury Interchange and other stops along the Bury line which are 

now quite dated relative to other stops on the Metrolink network.  While there are 

high frequency bus services on the primary east-west (Bolton, Rochdale) and north-

south (Regional Centre) corridors, these services can be unreliable and the network 

of services away from the main corridors has been significantly reduced in recent 

years.    

The key challenges for public transport in Bury can be summarised as follows: 

• Peak-period overcrowding issues on trams caused by growth in Metrolink 

patronage; 

• The dated form and design of Bury Interchange, which was one of the first to 

be built in Greater Manchester and is now over 40 years old;  

• The form and design of Metrolink stops in the Borough, which are largely as 

they were in the days of heavy rail operation and do not meet current 

passenger expectations of quality or accessibility; 

• Poor east-west public transport connectivity, and poor connectivity with East 

Lancashire to the north of the Borough. Connections to Rochdale or Bolton 

are particularly poor and reliant on a small number of bus services which, 

whilst frequent on some routes, are also slow and unreliable;  

• Low levels of, or no public transport connectivity to key employment sites 

including Pilsworth and Heywood Distribution Park/ Hareshill, and to Fairfield 

Hospital. 

• Poor first mile/last mile links to Metrolink stops at Radcliffe, Whitefield, 

Prestwich and Heaton Park; 

• Ticketing, integration and affordability issues, which discourage people from 

taking public transport; and 

• Park and Ride capacity at Metrolink stops, with current facilities at Bury 

Interchange, Radcliffe and Whitefield operating at capacity. 

A number of proposed development allocations with significant potential for housing 

and commercial development identified in the GMSF are also poorly connected to 

the wider-city region by public transport. Key allocations which will require public 

transport interventions include Northern Gateway, Elton Reservoir and Walshaw. 

Interventions needed for these sites will be identified/ through the GMSF process. 

 

 

Page 243



 

13 

3.5 Local Highways Challenges 

Car availability is higher in Bury than Greater Manchester as a whole. 76% of 

households have access to a car (compared with 69% across Greater Manchester 

as a whole) and around a third of households have access to more than one car. 

This contributes to the high proportion of trips being made by private car in Bury. 

Key challenges arising from this high level of car use include: 

• Congestion – As levels of car travel has increased congestion on Bury’s road 

network has become more prevalent. Weekend congestion associated with 

the success of the retail and leisure offer has become an issue in Bury town 

centre. Congestion has a significant effect on journey times and reliability, 

which are particularly costly to business and bus users, and increases air 

pollution.  Key areas of traffic delay include the A56 and A58 corridors, around 

the junctions with the M66 (Heap Bridge and Pilsworth) and M60 (at Simister 

Island and Whitefield), and on other routes around and through the Boroughs 

town centres, and connecting routes to the M60 and M66 such as A56 Bury 

New Road/Manchester Road, A58 Rochdale Road and Hollins Brow/Croft 

Lane, which often suffer additional problems when there are incidents on the 

M60 and M66. 

• Maintenance – Bury continues to deliver a programme of capital investment 

in highways maintenance, prioritising areas in accordance with highway asset 

management principles and best practice. However, considerable investment 

is needed to deliver footway maintenance address surface condition issues 

with the carriageways of the unclassified network and long-term structures 

work on the Key Route Network.  Over the 6 year period of 2017/18 to 

2022/23, Bury will have invested an additional £20 million pounds into 

improving the condition of the highway network through Tranches 1 & 2 of its 

Highway Investment Strategy which will see over 40 km of carriageway 

resurfaced, many more roads receiving preventative maintenance treatments 

and thousands of potholes repaired. 

• Road Safety - Road safety challenges exist across the borough, with 

particular hotspots at Bury and Prestwich Centres. While planned 

schemes such as those being delivered through the Bee Network will deliver 

improvements at some locations, further funding will be needed to resolve 

local safety issues across the borough. 

• Freight – Bury has a number of areas which generate significant freight traffic, 

such as Pilsworth, and is impacted by major commercial development beyond 

its boundary including the Heywood Distribution Park. Nearly all freight in Bury 

is carried by road. This increases the economic impact of congestion, but also 

results in more vehicles on our roads, carbon emissions, poor air quality, 

noise pollution and conflict with vulnerable road users. 

• Borough Cycle Network - Although some high quality cycle facilities have 

been delivered or are planned in the future, the facilities on our current cycle 

network are not to a consistently high standard and the network does not yet 

provide the required connectivity, limiting new journeys to be made by 

Page 244



 

14 

bike between neighbourhoods and the Wider City Region. Focus for the next 

5 years will be unlocking this network. 

• Electric Vehicle Charging – There are currently public access EV charging 

points in various locations across the borough, with the majority of 

these located around our town centres. Due to the large number of streets 

across the borough without off-street parking, a significant increase in public 

access charging points will be required to support the uptake in electric 

vehicles needed to meet local and GM carbon and clean air targets. 

  

Page 245



 

15 

4 Bury 5-Year LIP Outcomes 

The following outlines Bury Borough’s 5-Year outcomes and priorities for investment 

to achieve these. Map 3 below shows proposed Bee Network schemes within Bury 

for the next 5-year period, and Map 4 shows local investment priorities to meet these 

outcomes. 

Outcome 1: Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 

made by Active Travel (by foot and by bike) across the Borough of Bury 

In the next 5 years this means delivering street improvements that create attractive, 

safe neighbourhoods that are pleasant for people to spend time in, and support 

people to make local trips on foot or by bike rather than by private car, though 

delivery of a first class walking and cycling network (the “Bee Network”).  

The Emergency Active Travel Fund (EATF) launched by Government in May 2020 

has enabled us to move forward with the implementation of a number of 

interventions to support active travel (see Section 2.1 above for further information 

on EATF).  Tranche 1 of the EATF has provided funding for measures in Bury.  Bids 

included in Tranche 2 include proposals for the Fishpool and Pimhole Active 

Neighbourhoods as referenced below. 

Priorities for investment over the next 5-years: 

Investment Priority   Description  

Fishpool Active 
Neighbourhood 

Scheme to make it easier, safer and more pleasant for 
people to travel by bike or on foot in and around the 
Fishpool area of Bury, through the introduction of 
measures such as new/upgraded crossings, new cycle 
parking, protected cycle infrastructure and modal filters. 
 
Proposals for interventions at Pimhole and Fishpool 
were submitted for MCF funding as they are considered 
to be good target areas for encouraging walking and 
cycling, being close to Bury Town Centre.  

Metrolink Walking and 
Cycling Accessibility  

Development of Local walking/cycling investment plans 

to better connect local neighbourhoods to Bury 

Interchange and with the Metrolink stops in Radcliffe, 

Whitefield, Besses, Prestwich and Heaton Park (“first 

mile-last mile”).   

School Streets  School streets programme across the borough, 

including roll-out of further 20 mph zones. 

Bury Metrolink cycle 
parking 

Sheffield stands with lighting and CCTV in highly visible 
and accessible locations along the Bury Metrolink Line. 
This will make it easier for people to complete part of 
their journey by bike before they join the Metrolink 
network. 

Page 246



 

16 

Investment Priority   Description  

Crossings and junctions 
in Bury 

New and upgraded junctions across the borough 
(Jubilee Way/Manchester Road, Kersal Vale Road), 
making it easier and safer for people on foot or on a 
bike to cross busy roads. 

Pimhole Cycling & 
Walking Scheme 

To develop a network of walking and cycling routes 
between Pimhole, Bury town centre and the Pilsworth 
Industrial Estate, including new/upgraded crossing 
points, 20mph zones, traffic calming and filtered 
neighbourhood features. 
 
Proposals for interventions at Pimhole and Fishpool 
were submitted for MCF funding as they are considered 
to be good target areas for encouraging walking and 
cycling, being close to Bury Town Centre 

Rectory Lane link The scheme provides links from residential and 
employment areas to south of the River Irwell into 
Radcliffe town centre and Metrolink stop, incorporating 
a new bridge over the Irwell and linking with other 
recent projects. 

Bury-Radcliffe link This scheme will complete a pleasant, direct route from 
Bury to Radcliffe via the canal towpath, providing a new 
3.5m-wide bridge over the River Irwell and restoring 
Bank Top bridge over the canal. A shared path for 
pedestrians and cyclists will provide direct, convenient 
access to both town centres and local schools. 

Radcliffe Central New crossings and walking infrastructure within the Bell 
Lane area. 

New Development Development led and funded measures, to deliver high 
quality cycle and walking infrastructure within new 
development. To include layout design, strategic links, 
changes to the local highway network and 
complementary measures, such as cycle parking and 
behaviour change activities make it more convenient 
and attractive to walk and cycle than drive. To be 
reflected in the GMSF, and Local Plan policies.  

District Wayfinding  Wayfinding for local journeys across the Borough as 
part of the Bee Network way finding programme.  

Neighbourhood Street 
Maintenance  

Footways and carriageways will continue to receive 
resurfacing, patching, pothole repairs and surface 
treatments as a consequence of programmes of 
planned, preventative and reactive maintenance 

Behaviour Change 
Activities  

Deliver behaviour change to support the Bee Network, 

active neighbourhoods, and new development. To 

include cycle training to primary school children. 

  

Page 247



 

17 

 
Map 3: 5-Year Bee Network proposals   

P
age 248



 

18 

Outcome 2: Enhanced connections to/from and within the centres of Bury, 

Prestwich, Radcliffe, Ramsbottom, Tottington and Whitefield by foot, bike, and 

public transport 

In the next 5 years this means creating streets for all in the Borough’s town centres, 

through improvements to the Public Realm and the design of our streets, including 

the allocation of space, which focus more on the needs of people rather than 

vehicles. Further details of this “Streets for All” initiative can be found in the 2040 

Delivery Plan.    

Access to these centres will also be improved by bus, walking and cycling. For bus 

this means focusing on improving the reliability, comfort and attractiveness of bus 

journeys, including those on the key corridors of the A56 and A58,  

Proposals to enhance sustainable travel that emerge from the Bury Town Centre 

Masterplan and Bury Interchange development will support this outcome.  Bury 

Council are working with TfGM on the design and business case for the new 

Interchange at Bury, the Metrolink Additional Capacity Programme (additional trams 

and power infrastructure), expansion of park and ride at Radcliffe and Whitefield, and 

Metrolink stop improvements, and have contributed to the TfGM Bus Opportunities 

Study which considered bus connections to/from Northern Gateway. This work is 

reflected in the GMTS2040 Delivery Plan 2020-2025 which also includes, for 

example, development and delivery of Quality Bus Transit corridors to Bolton and 

Rochdale, direct links from Northern Gateway to Bury and Oldham town centres, and 

further development of a Northern Gateway Bus Rapid Transit service, linking the 

Regional Centre with Heywood and Norden/Bamford.  

Priorities for investment over the next 5-years: 

Investment Priority   Description  

A56/ A58 Ring Road 
Crossings 

Improvement of pedestrian and cycle crossings of the 

A56/ A58 Ring Road, around Bury Town Centres to 

connect surrounding neighbourhoods. 

Angouleme Way Streets 
for All 

Development and delivery of Streets for All proposals 

for Angouleme Way, including potential reallocation of 

space for cycling and walking, new crossings for 

pedestrians and cycles from the south of Bury Town 

Centre, and junction improvements for bus and general 

traffic.  

Prestwich Longfield 
Centre Regeneration 

Development and delivery of regeneration plans for 

Prestwich, applying principles of Streets for All. 

Radcliffe Strategic 
Regeneration 
Framework 

Development and delivery of Radcliffe Strategic 
Regeneration Framework, including measures to 
improve public realm, accessibility by foot, bike and 
public transport within Radcliffe Town Centre (see 
section 3.3.1 for further information).  

Page 249



 

19 

Investment Priority   Description  

Town Centre Bus 
Connectivity 

Enhancement of bus links to town centres from 
surrounding local neighbourhoods, for example 
expansion of Local Links service to wider communities. 

Development of Bus 
Priority Measures 

Develop and deliver opportunities to deliver bus priority 
across the borough, including delivery of Quality Bus 
Transit corridors to Bolton and Rochdale, as well as Bus 
Corridor Upgrades to Manchester City Centre. 

Enhanced Bus 
Connectivity to 
neighbourhoods and 
town centres 

Improved bus connections to key destinations in the 
borough outside Bury TC (especially the other five town 
centres, key employment zones, and Fairfield Hospital). 

Structures Maintenance  Continued investment in structures using the Bridges 
Asset Management system and inspections, including 
Angouleme Way and Peel Way, to ensure resilience 
and maintain safety for all users. 

Outcome 3: Create clean, green streets, and relieve local communities from 

the impacts of congestion 

In the next 5 years, this means reducing the environmental, economic, and health 

impacts of roads and motor traffic in the Borough. To achieve this, we will deliver 

interventions that accelerate the uptake of low emission vehicles, enable an increase 

in sustainable journeys, reduce motor traffic on neighbourhood and town centre 

streets, and tackle congestion hotspots that delay bus services and goods deliveries, 

and create air pollution. 

Strategic interventions to deliver this outcome within the GMTS2040 Delivery Plan 

2020-2025 include delivery of measures at M66 Junction 2 to relieve congestion and 

reduce its impact on bus journey times, and further development of the Elton Link 

Road, which would support growth at the Elton Reservoir GMSF allocation. Local 

priorities for investment over the next 5-years include: 

Investment Priority   Description  

Delivery of Clean Air 
Plan Measures 

Measures to reduce emission of pollutants in areas that 

are expected to exceed, or are at risk of exceeding air 

quality limits, for example the A58 and clean air zone. 

 

LED Streetlight 
Replacement 
Programme 

Replacement of existing streetlights with more efficient 

LED units which will contribute to reducing the council’s 

carbon footprint. 

Delivery of Electric 
Charging Network 

Increasing the number of electric-vehicle charging 

points across the Borough, and particularly in Bury 

Town Centre. 

Page 250



 

20 

Investment Priority   Description  

Pinch Point Removal Improvements to the road network to address key 

hotspots and improve network reliability including a 

scheme to improve the operation of the Wash Lane and 

A58 junction, and development of options for 

improvements at M66 Junctions 2 and 3.  

Bury Bridge Multi-modal 
Improvements 

Explore opportunities to make operational 

improvements at Bury Bridge which will contribute to 

improving air quality; including congestion relief, 

measures to improve  bus journey times, and 

enhancement of bus facilities. 

eHubs  Delivery of eHub trials which provide access for 

residents and businesses to electric car club vehicles, 

publicly accessible EV charging points, and electric 

cargo bike /e-scooter facilities. Potential sites include 

Ramsbottom, Bury Town Centre, Fairfield Hospital, and 

Prestwich. 

Signal and Traffic 
Management 
Technology  

Working with TfGM to explore approaches to improve 

the efficiency at junctions for all users, including 

incident/ accident reporting, retiming of signals to match 

demand, video activated pedestrian and cycle signals.  

Hollins Brow/Hollins 
Lane Junction 
Improvement 

Signalisation of the junction to support local growth 

through GMSF. 

Outcome 4:  Improve access to Rapid Transit for residents, workers and 

visitors 

In the next 5 years this means delivering improvements to the accessibility and 

capacity of Metrolink, supporting more residents, workers and visitors to travel to and 

from the Borough by sustainable modes and enabling new public transport focussed 

developments to be created where appropriate around our existing and proposed 

infrastructure. 

Strategic interventions to deliver this outcome included within the GMTS2040 

Delivery Plan 2020-2025 include delivery of a new interchange in Bury town centre, 

increased capacity on Metrolink services and increased park and ride capacity at 

Metrolink stops; and development of proposals for Northern Gateway Bus Rapid 

Transit, linking the GMSF Northern Gateway site; tram-train connection to Heywood 

and Rochdale, and a Metrolink connection to Bolton.  

Local priorities for investment over the next 5-years include: 

Page 251



 

21 

Investment Priority   Description  

Cycling and Walking 
links to Metrolink 

Improving walking, cycling and public transport links to 

all Metrolink stops from surrounding neighbourhoods. 

Metrolink Mobility Hubs/ 

eHubs 

Mobility hubs at key Bury Metrolink stops, focusing on 

shared mobility interventions (bike, car club, cargo 

bike), provision of information on journeys, 

improvements to interchanges and EV charging 

facilities. 

Prestwich Metrolink 

Stop Access and 

Wayfinding 

Improvements in access to Prestwich Metrolink station, 

delivered alongside Longfield Centre regeneration, 

including wayfinding and legibility from the town centre. 

  

Page 252



 

22 

 
Map 4: Bury Implementation Plan Schemes  

P
age 253



 

23 

5 Indicators  

Bury Council and TfGM will work together to develop a monitoring framework to 

measure the success of the interventions within this Plan. It is anticipated that this 

will include aims and targets to measure success against the 5-Year Local 

Implementation Plan outcomes, carbon targets, and changes in mode-share to meet 

Right Mix targets. 

Page 254



 

 1 

Manchester Summary GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20 

1. Introduction to Implementation Plan  

This Implementation Plan sets out how we will work towards our priorities including 

economic growth, improving the environment and social inclusion by building on 

Manchester’s planned and current transport projects, many of which are set out in 

the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 5-Year Delivery Plan (2020-2025). 

It complements the GM-level transport interventions in the 5-year Delivery Plan by 

focusing particularly on more local neighbourhood and district centre priorities to be 

prioritised for delivery in the period to 2025.   Map 1 below shows interventions 

proposed within Manchester in the 5-year Delivery Plan. 

The transport interventions and initiatives set out in this Delivery Plan should be 

seen as more than just measures to make it easier to move around the city. By 

enabling walking and cycling to become the most convenient positive choice for 

shorter trips, we hope to improve our air quality, make our district centres and 

neighbourhoods more attractive, prosperous places and make Manchester a more 

pleasant, greener, people-friendly place to live.  

The neighbourhoods of the most successful cities of the 2020s and beyond will be 

focused not on the private car but on walkable, breathable streets, green spaces and 

sufficient footfall and population to support a diverse range of shops, culture and 

other aspects of daily life. This Delivery Plan aims to set the context for investment 

priorities to achieve these goals.  

1.1.  Our Manchester Strategy 

Manchester City Council sets out its overall priorities and objectives, and how they 

will be achieved, in the Our Manchester Strategy (2016). This strategy provides a 

framework for actions not just by the City Council but by partners working across 

Manchester in collaboration. The Our Manchester Strategy organises its objectives 

and outcomes into the following topics: 

• A thriving and sustainable city  

• A highly skilled city 

• A progressive and equitable city  

• A liveable and low carbon city 

• A connected city 

The interventions set out in the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040, its 5-

year delivery plan (2020-2025) and this Local Implementation Plan will all be key to 

achieving these cross-cutting aims, by fostering economic growth through increased 

connectivity, moving towards zero carbon by 2038 and creating a more liveable and 

sustainable city.  

Page 255



 

 2 

To achieve these ambitions, we have set four key transport-related outcomes which 

we would wish to see achieved by 2025.  These are:  

• Outcome 1 - Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) made by 
foot and by bike across the city 

• Outcome 2: Enhancing sustainable travel to and from district centres and improving 
Manchester’s streets and public realm 

• Outcome 3: Manchester is Clean and Green and will support innovation 

• Outcome 4: Improved access to bus services across Manchester   

This document sets out some of the steps Manchester City Council will seek 

to take with partners to make good progress towards these outcomes in the next 5 

years.   The steps are ambitious and the development and delivery of 

the interventions set out will require a significant level of resource and funding. This 

will require us to prioritise measures and to continue working with the GMCA and 

TfGM to secure the required funding from Government to develop and deliver these 

schemes. 

1.1.  Covid-19 Recovery  

The Council is at the early stages of a reset of the Our Manchester Strategy, in the 

context of the time elapsed since it was published, progress to date, and responding 

to the changing economic and social circumstances of the COVID-19 crisis and its 

aftermath. 

Page 256



 

 3 

2. Manchester Strategic Transport Issues / Challenges  

 

Page 257



 

 4 Page 258



 

 5 

2.1. Manchester’s Delivery Plan Schemes 2020 – 2025 

Map 1 below sets out schemes committed for delivery, business case development or option development in the GMTS2040 Delivery Plan. 

 

P
age 259



 

 6 

 
2.2. Achieving 2040 Right Mix 

The Right-Mix aim is for 50% of trips to be made by sustainable modes across GM. 

This will require zero net growth in motor vehicle traffic between 2017 and 2040, and 

non-car mode share to increase from 39% of all trips in 2017 to 50% of trips in 2040. 

Currently 39% of all trips that start in Manchester are made by car or van, 15% by 

public transport and 43% by active travel, which is more than the GM average) 

(source: TRADS database). A reduction in the number of trips made by private 

vehicle is needed to meet Right Mix Targets and ensure health and air quality 

benefits for people who live in Manchester. Manchester is performing well against 

the Right Mix targets, but for GM as a whole to achieve the Right Mix vision, the city 

will need to take advantage of its geography at the centre of the city-region and 

reach a figure significantly in excess of 50% of all trips being made by sustainable 

modes. 

Of commute trips starting in Manchester, 42% are made by car or van, 24% are 

made by public transport, 20% are made by walking and 11% by cycling (source: 

TRADS database). 

2.3. Zero Carbon 

In November 2018, the Council agreed to the establishment of science-based 

carbon-reduction targets for Manchester. This requires the city to become zero-

carbon by 2038. The targets are based on work undertaken by the Tyndall Centre for 

Climate Change Research, which established a carbon budget of 15million tonnes of 

carbon dioxide (CO2) for the city up to 2100. The Climate Change Framework 2020-

25 was adopted by the Council in March 2020. 

Manchester is working to reduce the carbon impact of transport, including supporting 

measures to increase sustainable journeys, increase public transport capacity and 

coordinate strategic interventions in the city centre. 

Ground transport accounts for 32% of Manchester’s direct CO2 emissions, therefore 

decarbonising the way we travel is an essential component of meeting the city’s zero 

carbon goal. Staying within the city’s carbon budget in order to reach zero carbon by 

2038 will necessitate a 50% reduction in direct emissions between 2020 and 2025. 

The headline ground transport actions set out in the Climate Change Framework are 

to increase walking and cycling, increase public transport use and to use electric 

vehicles where private car travel is necessary. 

The City Council is working with TfGM and GM districts to deliver the GM Clean Air 

Plan, and will be delivering electric vehicle charging with 30 new charging points 

funded through the Clean Air Plan, located in the city centre and around the city. 

The GMEV network has predominantly focused on public car parks and destination 

locations although it does include a small number of on-street locations such as 

Chorlton. The Council is working with TfGM to develop plans to expand the network 

further to support a range of vehicles, including taxis. 

Page 260

http://www.manchesterclimate.com/sites/default/files/Manchester%20Climate%20Change%20Framework%202020-25.pdf
http://www.manchesterclimate.com/sites/default/files/Manchester%20Climate%20Change%20Framework%202020-25.pdf


 

 7 

Further EV charging infrastructure will not be funded through Clean Air Plan funds, 

but government has committed to working with TfGM and GM districts to access 

funding from the Office of Low Emission Vehicles (OLEV) streams.  

 

2.4. Road Safety 

There were 122 road collisions that resulted in 137 people being killed or seriously 

injured in Manchester in 2019 (37% decrease on 2005-2009 baseline) (source: 

GMTU reports); 

The Council works in close partnership with TfGM and Greater Manchester Police to 

improve the safety of our highway network, including investment in infrastructure to 

reduce accidents, and targeted enforcement operations to prevent dangerous 

driving.  

Existing data shows a 60% decrease in the rate of people being killed or seriously 

injured on our roads between 2005 and 2015. However, between 2015 and 2018 

there was a marked increase of 34%, with a rate of 345 per one million population 

killed or seriously injured in 2018, but this has seen a significant reduction to 250 in 

2019.  

Interventions to improve road safety will be a priority for investment as set out in 

Outcome 5 below.  

 

2.5. Air Quality 

Clean Air Plan – Greater Manchester is a single Air Quality Management Area where 

concentrations of nitrogen dioxide are forecast to exceed legal limit values beyond 

2020 (locations) (GM Clean Air Plan Mapping); 

The Council is working with the other nine GM districts and TfGM to deliver a Clean 

Air Plan with a charging zone for non-compliant commercial vehicles to be 

Page 261



 

 8 

implemented from 2022, with the aim of bringing nitrogen dioxide levels to within 

legal limits in the quickest possible timescale.  

2.6. Supporting Economic Growth with Strategic Infrastructure 

The city of Manchester lies at the heart of a major European city region of almost 

three million people. It is home to a fast-growing residential population and the 

largest student campus in Europe. It is the most important commercial, retail and 

entertainment location in England outside of London, and is the main engine for the 

region’s economy. 

Planning for the future of the city requires us to balance a number of, sometimes 

competing, demands, accounting for additional pressure on transport systems and 

city streets with limited space for growth. 

Page 262



 

 9 

2.7. Manchester’s Existing Transport Network and Spatial Allocations –  

Map 2 below sets out the current land supply and transport network within Manchester. 

 

P
age 263



 

 10 

3. Manchester Spatial Portrait Themes and Opportunities 

Spatially, the Council seeks a rebalancing within the city, with the focus of 

development of and investment in infrastructure, homes and jobs on the north and 

eastern sides of Manchester, in order to reduce the inequalities in prosperity and 

quality of life that exist.  

Increasing capacity on public transport and for active travel will be vital in delivering 

a zero carbon city and achieving the Right Mix vision. Ensuring all of Manchester’s 

residents are able to access job and leisure opportunities across the city is a critical 

objective, including the Airport, Wythenshawe, Regional Centre and other clusters of 

activity.    

One of the key transport priorities for Manchester is to improve the capacity of 

national rail through the city centre, in order to improve services and increase 

connectivity across the North of England and beyond. An Integrated Rail Plan is 

needed, to combine the benefits of Castlefield Corridor capacity improvements at 

Piccadilly and Oxford Road stations, HS2 Phase 2b completing high speed rail 

connection between London, Manchester and the airport, and Northern Powerhouse 

Rail (NPR) connecting Manchester and the airport with other major cities across the 

north. 

The redevelopment of Piccadilly station and the surrounding area to deliver HS2 and 

NPR is supported by a Strategic Regeneration Framework. It is essential that full 

advantage is taken of this opportunity to maximise growth benefits for the Piccadilly 

area, wider city and UK as a whole. The City Council has been and will continue to 

work with partners through Transport for the North (TfN) and make the case to 

central government for investment to deliver these strategic priorities. 

The strategic interventions that the Council wishes to deliver with TfGM in Metrolink, 

Rapid Transit and Local Bus are set out in the 2040 Transport Strategy and the 

associated Delivery Plan (2020-25).  

The Council has eight ‘Bee Network’ cycling schemes with funding approval through 

the Mayor’s Challenge Fund, all of which the Council has committed to starting on 

site by the end of 2020. Two further schemes have been proposed by neighbouring 

authorities in partnership with the Council, which would involve infrastructure on the 

city’s roads.  

3.1. Neighbourhood level 

Only 36% of trips made in Manchester that start in the District are at the 

neighbourhood level compared to 44% across GM. Whilst this is below the GM 

average it is still significant. Neighbourhood trips are under 2km. The majority of 

these trips are made by walking (60%) but 18% are made by private car – a large 

number of these short car trips could be walked or cycled (source: TRADS 

database).  

Manchester’s Bee Network proposals will examine the potential for quieter streets to 

provide connections from residential neighbourhoods to district centres through 

Page 264



 

 11 

interventions such as modal filters and improved crossing points to enable shorter 

neighbourhood-level journeys for local shopping, school travel and leisure. New 

developments and planned changes to road corridors will follow ‘Streets for All’ 

design principles creating streets for people not just traffic.   

The key challenges for Manchester at a neighbourhoods level include  

- Increasing active travel for short trips,  

- Regeneration of north and east Manchester,  

- Bus reform bringing improved bus services to those areas not served by 

Rapid Transit, particularly for orbital routes,  

- Improving walking and cycling infrastructure at neighbourhood level for 

shopping, education and leisure  

There are significant opportunities to achieve the Right Mix goals at neighbourhood 

trip level, from further bids to the Mayor’s Challenge Fund to enable active travel for 

shorter trips to schools and colleges, local shopping and leisure.   

3.2. City Centre level  

The city centre of Manchester and Salford lies at the heart of a major European city 

region of almost three million people. It is the most important commercial, retail and 

entertainment location in England outside London and is the main engine for the 

region’s economy. The City Centre is unique in Greater Manchester in its role not 

just for Manchester but for the GM districts, and further afield. 

The City Councils of Manchester and Salford, with TfGM are producing a City Centre 

Transport Strategy, to set out the strategic direction of policy and intervention in the 

city centre. Full details of committed measures and future objectives are set out in 

the draft City Centre Transport Strategy 2040 (include web link when live) 

In order to guide the development of a number of key sites and areas of opportunity 

in the City Centre, the Council has produced Strategic Regeneration Frameworks. 

Overall, it is estimated that the city centre will see an increase of jobs from 140,000 

to 250,000 by 2040, with 100,000 residents, an increase from the current 67,000. 

Redevelopment plans on key sites set out in SRFs could see 12,500 of the current 

supply of 30,000 off-street car parking spaces repurposed. 

The key challenges for Manchester at city centre level are:  

- Economic recovery for city centre as engine of regional economy,  

- Capacity of rail through Castlefield Corridor,  

- Making the most of HS2/NPR/Piccadilly redevelopment,  

- Improving Rapid Transit and Local Bus to City Centre,  

- Improving the liveability of city centre with more space for walking and 

cycling in order to meet the zero carbon goal  

3.3. North Manchester  

Page 265



 

 12 

Northern Gateway: Manchester’s Northern Gateway comprises a 155 Hectare land 

area made up of the adjacent neighbourhoods of New Cross, the Lower Irk Valley 

and Collyhurst. It is the largest and most ambitious residential led development 

opportunity that the city has taken forward in recent years and has the capacity to 

deliver up to 15,000 new homes over the next 15-20 years. This equates to 28% of 

the entire City of Manchester target as set by the draft Greater Manchester Spatial 

Framework (GMSF), within an expanse of existing brownfield land that is close to the 

conurbation core. A new Metrolink station at Sandhills is being considered in order to 

serve the new neighbourhoods.  

The northern part of the city extends from the city centre to the city’s northern 

boundary. The key transport challenges in the area include: 

• Lack of quality in the design of the built form and the public realm – new 

strategic development in the Northern Gateway SRF area offers an opportunity 

to remedy this  

• Access to job opportunities restricted by both lack of integrated public transport 

and road congestion, 

• Some wards with above average car ownership (65% in Moston) and some 

with low low levels (42% in Harpurhey, 44% in Miles Platting and Newton 

Heath),  

• Most residents in Manchester live within walking distance of a district centre, 

but residents in Higher Blackley and Charlestown wards live on average at least 

1.5km away, meaning accessing local shops and services without a car may 

be more difficult. 

Significant areas within the northern part of the city were severely affected by 

economic recessions up to the early 2000s. These led to a heavy decline in 

manufacturing industries and loss of employment that resulted in depopulation and a 

lower demand for housing. Investment has been made in district centres, Metrolink 

and bus infrastructure, but the northern area remains behind the rest of the city in 

terms of deprivation. The redevelopment of North Manchester General Hospital, to 

include new housing and medical / bioscience employment space is a strategic 

priority for rebalancing the local economy. 

3.4. Central Manchester outside the city centre 

The central part of the city extends out eastwards and to the south of the city centre. 

The key transport challenges in the area include 

• Managing the impacts from the expansion of the city centre, 

• Congestion along key arterial routes into the city centre. 

Parts of the Central area are undergoing major physical transformation and 

residential development, including the Grove Village PFI, Brunswick PFI and the 

West Gorton regeneration masterplan. Increasing numbers of students are also 

choosing to live in the area, attracted by the proximity to the university campuses 

(particularly the new Birley Fields campus located within the ward) and the lifestyle 

Page 266



 

 13 

offer of the city centre. The area contains five district centres in Hulme, Gorton North, 

Levenshulme, Longsight, and Rusholme. 

3.5. South Manchester  

The southern part of the city consists of neighbourhoods covering Chorlton, Whalley 

Range, West Didsbury, Didsbury Village, East Didsbury, Levenshulme, and the 

eastern part of Withington (around Withington district centre). These are 

characterised as high-quality neighbourhoods. Further south across the Mersey 

valley are Northenden, Wythenshawe, and Manchester Airport. The key transport 

challenges in the area include: 

• Providing better links by active travel and bus from east to west across the area 

and the southern-most areas of central Manchester, between district centres, 

i.e. Longsight and Levenshulme to Chorlton, Withington and Didsbury, and 

opportunities for leisure, employment and training. 

• Managing congestion and allocation of road-space between different modes on 

key corridors, including Oxford Road/Wilmslow Road, A34 Upper Brook 

Street/Anson Road/Birchfields Road/Kingsway, A5103 Princess Road. 

The area has some of the most popular and sought-after residential properties and 

neighbourhoods in the city. There are also a number of key employment locations, 

such as the internationally significant Christie NHS Foundation Trust, Siemens UK, 

University Hospital South Manchester, and Manchester Airport. In addition, the area 

is the home of Manchester Airport City Enterprise Zone, which is one of the largest 

investment and employment opportunities in the North of England. It provides a unique 

environment in which to attract global business, entrepreneurs and a highly skilled 

workforce, creating new employment opportunities and stimulating economic growth 

– locally, regionally and nationally. 

4. Outcomes 

Outcome 1 - Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 

made by foot and by bike across the city 

In the next five years this means delivering street improvements that create 

attractive, safe neighbourhoods that are pleasant for people to spend time in, and 

support people to make local trips by foot or by bike rather than by private car.  

In addition to committed schemes, the following are priorities for investment:  

Investment Priority Description 

City Centre Triangle Safe cycling route between major railway stations in the 

city centre – Piccadilly to Victoria; Victoria to Oxford 

Road and Oxford Road to Piccadilly using the Northern 

Quarter, Deansgate and Whitworth Street. 

Page 267



 

 14 

Wythenshawe Walking 

and Cycling 

Improvements 

Safe cycling route between Wythenshawe District Centre 

and the Regional Centre via safe segregated cycle lanes 

to connect with upgraded existing cycle routes to link with 

the Bridgewater Canal off-road route to the Regional 

Centre. 

City Centre Wheel Series of segregated cycle routes on radial routes (to be 

selected) between the city centre and the 

Manchester/Salford Intermediate Relief Route. 

North Manchester 

Connectivity 

Joint Bee Network scheme with Oldham and Rochdale 

Councils to connect the city centre with Moston and Mills 

Hill Station. 

North Manchester 

schools routes 

Routes to be confirmed – measures to enable safe 

walking and cycling access to primary and secondary 

schools in north Manchester. 

Other schools routes Other safe routes to primary and secondary schools. 

Local connections… 

(District Centres) 

Measures to improve safe walking and cycling access to 

and between District Centres. 

GM Bike Hire Scheme Support the Greater Manchester-wide bike hire scheme 

as a positive opportunity for people to avoid the use of 

cars for short trips and to facilitate active travel. Phase 1 

will include locations in the city centre, Chorlton, Moss 

Side, Rusholme, Fallowfield and Beswick.   

Page 268



 

 15 

 
Map 3: Bee Network in Manchester 

P
age 269



 

 16 

Outcome 2: Enhancing sustainable travel to and from district centres and 

improving Manchester’s streets and public realm.  

In the next five years this means Manchester’s streets will be safer and more 

pleasant to walk around. The Council will work to implement the measures set out in 

the City Centre Transport Strategy and the recommendations of the District Centres 

Subgroup Report which was approved by the Economy Scrutiny Committee in March 

2020.  

This report and the associated research by the Institute of Place Management 

identified 25 indicators of viability and vitality for district centres, of which many are 

directly or indirectly affected by the way people travel to, from and within the centre.  

Our aim is to create a positive feedback loop for district centres in which a coherent, 

walking and cycle friendly environment leads to greater footfall and more 

diversification, leading to favourable outcomes for local businesses.  

Priorities for investment over the next 5 years: 

Investment Priority Description 

Footways 

Improvements 

Interventions to improve footways in key locations in the 

city centre and district centres through bids to Mayor’s 

Challenge Fund and other funding opportunities. 

Crossings 

Improvements 

Improved crossing facilities at points of severance 

caused by major roads and junctions. 

To improve road safety and make the city more 

pleasant and attractive to walk around. 

Corridor Studies Corridor studies of strategic routes, including A34, 

A664, A62 in order to inform strategic regeneration 

plans.  

 

Outcome 3: Manchester is Clean and Green and will support innovation 

Wider objectives around increasing the share of trips undertaken by active travel and 

public transport will be crucial to achieving the city’s goal of being Zero Carbon by 

2038. However, private motor vehicles will continue to have a significant role in the 

network. 

The Right Mix vision involves no net growth in motor vehicle trips by 2040, but they 

will still account for 50% of all trips if the vision is to be achieved. Therefore, a move 

from internal combustion engine (ICE) to Electric Vehicle (EV) will be crucial in order 

Page 270



 

 17 

to reduce the carbon emissions from this mode, which will still play a crucial role in 

how people move around the city. 

Priorities for investment over the next five years: 

Investment Priority Description 

Expand the network of 

charging infrastructure 

for electric vehicles in 

a coordinated manner 

across the city 

Work alongside TfGM to deliver EV charging 

infrastructure around the city through expansion of the 

GMEV network, using Office for Low Emission Vehicles 

funding streams and any other funding available, 

including developer contributions from new development. 

Expand the network of 

car club vehicles 

available 

Work with the city’s Car Club operator and TfGM to 

expand car club provision as an alternative to private 

ownership of motor vehicles, including expansion of EV 

charging infrastructure for exclusive use of car club 

vehicles. 

Encourage innovation 

in trials of electric 

vehicle co-location 

Work with TfGM on e-Hubs project, which will deliver 

EVs for the car club and rental e-cargo bikes for hire at 

three locations in Manchester in 2021.  

Outcome 4: Improved access to bus services across Manchester   

In the next 5 years this means focusing on improving bus provision on key corridors 
including the A62 Oldham Road, A664 Rochdale Road, A57 Hyde Road, A6 
Stockport Road, and other corridors where appropriate. It also means improving bus 
routing in the city centre to better integrate into improved public realm through City 
Centre Transport Strategy measures. 

Priorities for investment over the next five years: 

Investment Priority Description 

A6 Stockport Road Streets for All and Quality Bus Corridor study to suggest 

improvements to bus capacity and reliability as part of 

wider package of corridor improvements 

Northern Gateway bus 

improvements around 

A62, A664 and A665 

 Investigate measures as part of Northern Gateway 

strategic regeneration to improve bus capacity and 

reliability through integrated package of public realm and 

urban design interventions 

Bus routing in city 

centre  

Package of improvements to bus routing within the city 

centre, to improve service reliability and integrate into 

City Centre Transport Strategy measures  

Page 271



 

 18 

  
Map 4: Manchester Implementation Plan Schemes Map 

P
age 272



 

 19 

5. Indicators  

Manchester City Council and TfGM will work together to develop a monitoring 

framework to measure the success of the interventions within this Plan. It is anticipated 

that this will include aims and targets to measure success against the 5-Year Local 

Implementation Plan outcomes, carbon targets, and changes in mode-share to meet 

Right Mix targets. 

 

Page 273



 

1 

Oldham Summary GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20 

1. Introduction 

This Implementation Plan sets out how we, as Oldham Council, will work towards our 

priorities - including economic growth, improving the environment and social 

inclusion - by building on our planned and current transport projects, many of which 

are set out in the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 5-Year Delivery Plan 

(2020-2025).   

While the 5-year Delivery Plan tends to consider large, medium- and long-term future 

transport schemes (shown on Map 1), this Implementation Plan is mainly focussed 

on local, neighbourhood level priorities and interventions that could be delivered 

across Oldham up to 2025.  

Oldham Councils ‘Creating a Better Place’ Vision sets out the Council’s approach to 

supporting inclusive growth, thriving communities and the co-operative agenda by: 

• Building quality homes; 

• Providing opportunities to learn and gain new skills; 

• Providing opportunities to grow local businesses and create jobs; 

• Ensuring Oldham is the greenest borough; 

• Embedding sustainability, energy efficiency and low (zero) carbon; 

• Improving life-chances and the health and well-being of all our residents and 

local communities. 

This vision is set within the context of the Oldham Model, as defined in The Oldham 

Plan 2017-22 and illustrated in the diagram below.  

 
Image 1: The Oldham Model 

Page 274



 

2 

Alongside investment in health, education and homes, improvements in transport 

connectivity and public realm are essential to realising the Council’s vision. This is 

reflected in the emerging Team Oldham Plan, which will replace the Corporate Plan 

and is in the process of being developed to reflect Covid-19 recovery planning.  

The draft Team Oldham Plan includes the priority ‘to make it easier for people to get 

around’, which commits Oldham Council to delivering innovative and quality 

transport links, creating efficient transport infrastructure that makes it easier to get to 

work, do business, reduce isolation and connect with each other. This 

Implementation Plan sets out the steps Oldham Council will take with partners to 

make good progress towards its transport vision and priorities in the short-term. It is 

a live document that will be updated to reflect the development of an Oldham local 

transport strategy, which will be aligned with the Greater Manchester 2040 Transport 

Strategy, and other policy documents such as an updated Local Plan.  

To achieve Oldham’s ambitions, we have set out five key transport-related outcomes 

that we will aim to achieve by 2025. These are:  

• Outcome 1: More neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) will be made by foot 

and by bike in Oldham; 

• Outcome 2: Connections to Oldham’s town centres, employment sites and 

key destinations will be enhanced by foot, bike and public transport; 

• Outcome 3: Streets in Oldham will be cleaner and greener; 

• Outcome 4: Oldham residents, workers and visitors will have good access to 

safe, reliable, affordable, high quality public transport connections; 

• Outcome 5: Streets in Oldham will be safer, well-maintained, resilient, reliable 

and accessible by all. 

This document sets out some of the steps Oldham Council will take with its partners 

to make good progress towards achieving these outcomes in the next 5 years.  The 

steps are ambitious and the development and delivery of the interventions set out 

will require a significant level of resource and funding. This will require us to prioritise 

measures and to continue working with GMCA and TfGM to secure the required 

funding from Government to develop and deliver schemes. We would also like to see 

longstanding funding issues addressed, such as the lack of funding for us to deliver 

programmes of locally determined minor works and safety schemes, which were 

previously funded through direct allocations of the Integrated Transport block, and 

the annual nature of capital maintenance allocations to local authorities, which 

makes it difficult for us to adopt the recommended lifecycle planning principles and a 

planned approach to maintenance.  

 

  

Page 275



 

3 

2. Oldham’s Strategic Transport Challenges  

 

Page 276



 

4 

 

Page 277



 

5 

2.1. Oldham’s Delivery Plan Schemes 2020 – 2025 

Map 1 below sets out schemes committed for delivery, business case development or option development in Oldham in GMTS2040. 

P
age 278



 

6 

2.2. Oldham’s Existing Transport Network and Spatial Allocations  

Map 2 sets out the current land supply and transport network within Oldham. This includes the Oldham and Rochdale Metrolink Line to 
Manchester City Centre, that runs at 1 tram every 12 minutes at peak time and the Strategic Road Network in Oldham, alongside existing land 
supply for residential, office and industry space, and future GMSF allocations.  
 

 

P
age 279



 

7 

3. Spatial Theme Challenges and Opportunities 

3.1. Neighbourhoods 

The majority of trips made in Oldham that start in the borough are at the 

neighbourhood level and are under 2km in length (51%). While most of these 

journeys are walked (49%), a high number are made by private car (28%), and only 

1% are made by bike (source: TRADS database). While many of these vehicle trips 

could be walked in under 20 minutes or cycled in 8 minutes, there are number of key 

barriers to walking and cycling in Oldham that result in a high proportion of 

neighbourhood trips being driven. 

Key challenges to cycling and walking for local journeys in Oldham include: 

• Traffic speed and volumes - high traffic volumes and speeds create poor 

levels of actual and perceived safety for people who walk and cycle; 

• Severance - a lack of safe, comfortable crossing points of major roads creates 

severance for local journeys by active modes;  

• Road widths - there is limited opportunity to introduce continuous cycle 

facilities on main road corridors due to road widths, limited space at junctions, 

and the presence of on-street parking associated with terraced housing and 

local shops and businesses; 

• Wayfinding - a lack of wayfinding across neighbourhoods and local 

destinations is a barrier to people making trips for the first time by active 

travel; 

• Footway accessibility - high levels of footway parking on narrow terraced 

streets in residential areas creates accessibility challenges on many of 

Oldham’s neighbourhood streets for all users; 

• High levels off drop off by car at schools and associated congestion and air 

quality issues; 

• The weather and the hilly nature of Oldham, which can act as barriers to 

cycling and walking.  

These issues have a particular impact on the third of households in Oldham who do 

not have access to a car and rely on making trips by foot, bike and public transport, 

while also exacerbating the prevalence of the environmental and health issues that 

are caused by short car trips. 

To enable improvements in the health, wellbeing and quality of life of our residents, 

we are working to encourage an increase in walking and cycling for neighbourhood 

journeys. This includes work underway to progress seven Bee Network schemes in 

Oldham, including active neighbourhoods, connectivity and route-based schemes 

which are being funded through the Mayor’s Cycling and Walking Challenge Fund. 

We are also looking to further develop our cycling and walking plans as part of the 

development of the Oldham Transport Strategy and by incorporating plans for active 

travel within our emerging Local Plan.  

Page 280



 

8 

The school journey can have a significant impact on local traffic and transporting 

children to school by car also contributes to reduced levels of fitness and increasing 

obesity. There are more than 100 schools located in the Oldham borough, including 

86 primary schools, 13 secondary schools and 7 special schools, as well as several 

independent schools, while Oldham Town Centre is the focus of further and higher 

education establishments, being home to the Oldham Sixth Form College, the 

Further Education College and University Campus Oldham.  

The Council will continue to promote sustainable travel to school by providing road 

safety education, training and publicity and cycle training to all primary schools and 

helping schools to develop and implement travel plans, including travel plans 

associated with new secondary schools: Leesbrook (Oasis Academy) due to open in 

November 2020; the relocation of Saddleworth School from Uppermill to Diggle, 

construction of which started in summer 2020; and the new Blue Coat II school 

proposed in Oldham Town Centre. 

3.2. Oldham Town Centre 

Oldham Council has set out ambitious plans in its Creating a Better Place vision to 

regenerate Oldham Town Centre. This vision aims to deliver 2,000 new homes, 

1,000 new jobs, better access to amenities and services and a wider offer for social 

and leisure activities for families, young professionals, older people and surrounding 

communities. A focus of these plans is to enhance the twilight and night-time 

economy of Oldham Town Centre, as well as delivering better access by foot, bike 

and public transport. Key outcomes of the Town Centre Vision include:  

• ‘A place that thrives by providing a safe, healthy and friendly environment’ - 

delivering full accessibility to the town centre, increased footfall and dwell 

time, decreased road travel and enabling Active Streets;  

• ‘A place that thrives by being green’ – delivering a town centre that increases 

access to integrated public transport, increases dwell time and footfall and 

sets a high clean street standard.  

 

To enable growth in homes, leisure and the cultural offer within the town centre, 

Oldham Council is committed to ensuring that public transport, walking and cycling 

are the go-to choice for journeys to the town centre. However, there are a number of 

transport related challenges that create barriers to achieving this outcome, including:  

• A high level of trips to the town centre are currently made by private car. It is 

estimated that currently only 39% of journeys to Oldham Town Centre are 

made by sustainable modes (the lowest of all GM town centres); 

• A poor perception of safety in the town centre, particularly in the evening 

when there are low levels of activity and footfall. 71% of people surveyed in 

2019 stated they felt safety is good during the day, while only 34% stated they 

felt safe at night; 

• Car parks are located centrally within the town, creating high levels of traffic 

and congestion close to the core of Oldham Town Centre. This impacts on the 

Page 281



 

9 

quality of the public realm, and access by people travelling bus, foot and bike, 

as well as by car;  

• There are multiple points of severance for sustainable journeys, including 

Oldham Way, the Metrolink Line, St Mary’s Way, and the Oldham Mumps 

junction at Lees Road/Cross Street; 

• There are also poor-quality links to the south and east of Oldham Town 

Centre including to Southlink Business Park, Alexandra Retail Park and the 

proposed Northern Roots site due to the severance effects of Oldham Way, 

which need to be addressed. 

 

Oldham Council is currently working to overcome these challenges by, for example, 

developing a comprehensive masterplan for the town centre, delivering Growth Deal 

2 and 3 schemes to improve access to and within Oldham Town Centre, improving 

cycle and walking access through the Mayor’s Challenge Fund schemes, delivering 

Future High Streets Fund projects (subject to business case approval by 

Government), and delivering the Quality Bus Transit corridor between Rochdale, 

Oldham and Ashton-Under Lyne, including Streets for All measures in Oldham Town 

Centre.  

Oldham has also been selected to develop a Town Deal worth up to £25 million and 

is in the process of producing a Town Investment Plan for Oldham Town Centre, 

which will include transformational projects such as the Northern Roots Urban Farm 

and Eco-Park and the Town Centre District Heat Network.  

As part of our ongoing response to Covid-19, we will continue to make Oldham Town 

Centre as safe and easy to get around as possible and ensure that Oldham is ‘open 

for business’. We want people to feel confident in accessing town centre services, to 

feel they are able to get there safely, particularly by active travel modes, and can 

move around safely when they arrive. We have put a number of measures in place 

to assist with social distancing, including signing and lining and are relocating taxi 

ranks from Yorkshire Street and St Mary’s Way to new shared facility bays and an 

extended rank on Henshaw Street.  

3.3. Wider-City Region and Regional Centre Access 

Compared to the GM average, Oldham has a high number of trips that are made 

across the Wider City Region (38%). These are trips over 2km to destinations that 

are not the regional centre, such as to the neighbouring boroughs of Rochdale and 

Tameside, to and from the borough’s employment sites, to Oldham Town Centre or 

to the borough’s six district centres of Chadderton, Failsworth, Hill Stores, Lees, 

Shaw and Uppermill, which play an important role in providing day-to-day retail and 

other services to residents. 

With the exception of trips to Oldham Town Centre, there are typically poor 

alternatives to the private car for making these types of journeys. This results in a 

high number of these trips being made by private car (78%), only 18% by public 

transport and less than 1% by bike (source: TRADS database). The following 

paragraphs outline some of Oldham’s transport challenges and opportunities.  

Page 282



 

10 

3.3.1. Royton 

Royton is the second largest town centre in the Oldham borough, and is our Greater 

Manchester Mayor’s Town Centre Challenge area. In 2018, a Masterplan was 

developed and adopted for Royton, which sets out a 10-year vision for improvement. 

This forms a framework for delivering works to improve the public realm and 

streetscape, enhanced connectivity, including new walking and cycling links, 

supporting businesses, and retaining and enhancing the character of the town 

centre. 

The A671 through Royton provides a valuable route to Oldham and Rochdale town 

centres, including by frequent bus services. However, the layout of the town centre 

and volume of traffic along this road creates a number of challenges. These include: 

• High levels of air pollution that are at risk of exceeding legal limits of NOx by 

2020; 

• Poor quality public realm, particularly in Market Square and around Royton 

Town Hall; 

• Severance for people using the town centre or travelling across it, caused by 

poor crossing facilities and a high prevalence of guard railing. 

Work has started to deliver on the aims of the Mayor’s Town Centre Challenge and 

the Royton Masterplan, including acceleration of a scheme to install new crossing 

facilities in the town centre as part of the SaferStreetsSaveLives campaign. Further 

opportunities to support the local economy and create a stronger local centre in 

Royton through transport focused measures include delivery of Quality Bus Transit 

measures within the town centre, delivery of Bee Network walking and cycling 

connections, and delivery of streetscape plans within the Royton Masterplan.  

3.3.2. GMSF Allocations 

Eight allocations in the GMSF are located entirely within the Oldham borough. There 
is also a cross boundary allocation at Stakehill which is being jointly proposed by 
Oldham and Rochdale Councils, with Oldham’s part of the Stakehill allocation 
proposed for employment use. The Oldham allocations are shown on map 2 and 
listed in table 1 below. It should be noted that the allocation figures for Stakehill 
included in the table relate only to the Oldham allocation. 
 

Table 1: Oldham GMSF allocations  

Site Allocation 

GMA2 Stakehill  120,000 sqm employment 

GMA12 Beal Valley Around 480 homes  

GMA13 Bottom Field Farm (Woodhouses) Around 30 homes 

GMA14 Broadbent Moss Around 1,450 homes with 
around 500 of these delivered 
post 2037 

Page 283



 

11 

Table 1: Oldham GMSF allocations  

Site Allocation 

GMA15 Chew Brook Vale (Robert Fletchers) Around 170 homes 
6,000 sqm commercial, leisure 
and retail land use 

GMA16 Cowlishaw Around 460 homes  

GMA17 Hanging Chadder Around 260 homes 

GMA18 Land south of Coal Pit Lane (Ashton 
Road)  

Around 255 homes 

GMA19 South of Rosary Road Around 60 homes  

In order for these sites to come forward, interventions will be needed on the transport 

network, including measures to support public transport, active travel and improve 

local junctions. An initial assessment of the interventions that may be required has 

been undertaken within the Locality Assessments prepared as part of the GMSF. As 

and when the sites come forward for development more detailed assessment will be 

needed which could result in changes to the measures currently proposed. 

An initial assessment of the interventions that may be required to support GMSF 
sites has been undertaken within the Locality Assessments prepared as part of the 
GMSF, and potential interventions are listed within the Appendix of the 2020-2025 
Delivery Plan. 

Examples of local highway network interventions to support Oldham’s GMSF 

allocations currently include: 

• B6194 Heyside / Water Street / Bullcote Lane junction improvement (GMA12, 

GMA14); 

• Beal Valley / Broadbent Moss Spine Road (GMA12, GMA14); 

• A663 Broadway / Shaw Road / A671 Oldham Road junction improvement 

(GMA12, GMA14, GMA16); 

• A663 Crompton Way / Rochdale Road / Beal Lane junction improvement 

(GMA12, GMA14, GMA16); 

• A627 (M) / Chadderton Way / A663 Broadway interchange improvements 

(GMA12, GMA14, GMA16, GMA17); 

• A635 Holmfirth Road access junction (GMA15); 

• Chew Brook Vale access road and bridge over Chew Brook (GMA15); 

• A671 Rochdale Road / B6195 High Barn Road / A671 Oldham Road / B6195 

Middleton Road junction improvements (GMA16); 

• A627 Ashton Road / Coal Pit Lane junction improvement (GMA18); 

• Coal Pit Lane improvements (GMA18). 

In some cases, interventions will also be needed on Highway’s England’s Strategic 

Route Network (SRN), such as at the M62 junction 20 in Rochdale to support GMA2. 

Page 284



 

12 

Improvements will also be needed to make the allocations more accessible by public 
transport, cycling and walking, such as a new Metrolink Stop and associated Park 
and Ride facility at Cop Road / Bullcote Lane and a Metrolink overbridge needed to 
support delivery of the Beal Valley and Broadbent Moss allocations, and 
improvements to local bus services, such as a new bus service to better connect 
Oldham and Rochdale to Stakehill. Allocations will also need to be connected to 
local cycling and walking networks such as the Public Rights of Way and the Bee 
Network by cycling and walking facilities designed in accordance with standards 
applicable at the time. Examples of walking and cycling interventions to support 
Oldham’s GMSF allocations currently include: 
 

• Improvement of walking and cycling facilities on Heyside and Cop Road via 

new Metrolink overbridge (GMA12); 

• Traffic calming on Vulcan Street (GMA14); 

• Pedestrian and cycle route between Coal Pit Lane / Ashton Road junction and 

White Bank Road (GMA18). 

Further details of the transport interventions that may be needed to support 
Oldham’s GMSF allocations can be found in Appendix C to the GM2040 Delivery 
Plan ‘GMSF allocations and their transport interventions’. 
 
In addition to interventions associated with GMSF developments, other schemes and 

programmes in the GM2040 Delivery Plan will help to support sustainable access to 

GMSF allocations, such as the Ashton-Oldham-Rochdale Quality Bus Transit 

Corridor, which is anticipated to see a general improvement to service reliability and 

facilities along the A627 Ashton Road that will support allocation GMA18. 

There is also a need to ensure that Oldham residents can access employment 

opportunities at GMSF allocations outside the borough as these come forward, such 

as the Bury/Rochdale Northern Gateway allocation (GMA1). Oldham Council will 

work with its GM2040 partners to achieve this.  

3.3.3. Public Transport 

Alongside challenges within town centres, Oldham faces a number of public 

transport reliability, capacity and connectivity challenges. Due to a comparatively 

high prevalence of households with no access to a car against UK and Greater 

Manchester levels, Oldham residents are more reliant on public transport for 

journeys, and deficiencies in this network can have a particularly high impact on 

access to opportunities and quality of life. The affordability of public transport, 

particularly for those on low incomes, is also a key issue for Oldham residents. 

Bus has the largest mode-share for public transport in Oldham. Key challenges on 

Oldham’s bus network include: 

• A considerable drop in scheduled bus services - between 2013 and 2018 

there was a 17% drop in annual scheduled bus mileage in Oldham, compared 

to 7% across GM; 

Page 285



 

13 

• A reduction in off-peak bus services – between 2016 and 2018, weekday 

departures from Oldham bus station declined by 13.8%, whilst Sunday 

departures have reduced by 15.5%; 

• Poor bus journey time reliability and journey times across the bus network – 

on the strategic bus corridor between Oldham and Rochdale, 23% of buses 

do not run on time and journey times are longer by bus than car; 

• Outside Oldham Town Centre, there are low levels of bus connectivity to key 

destinations and neighbourhoods with some of the highest levels of 

deprivation – there are, for example, poor links for Oldham residents to 

employment opportunities at Stakehill Industrial Estate. 

 

Metrolink has been the largest change for transport in Oldham since its introduction 

in 2013. Patronage has been increasing year upon year, and this has had a 

significant impact on Oldham’s economy and quality of life for residents. However, 

while Metrolink provides a quality service, it only serves parts of the borough and 

connectivity to stops limits its potential to serve more residents. Key issues include 

poor walking and cycling networks to stops, lack of interchange facilities to bus 

services, capacity issues at park and ride facilities at Derker,  Mumps and 

Hollinwood Metrolink stops, overcrowding on the Oldham-Rochdale Metrolink line, 

particularly during peak hours, high levels of anti-social behaviour on the Oldham-

Rochdale line and at stops such as King Street in Oldham Town Centre and no 

direct Metrolink (or rail) access from Oldham to Manchester Piccadilly Rail Station.  

Similarly, while the three rail stations that serve Oldham (Greenfield, Mills Hill and 

Moston) have seen long term increases in patronage, better links to surrounding 

neighbourhoods and destinations are needed. Other key rail issues include 

infrequent and overcrowded services, particularly at peak times, on the Trans-

Pennine and Calder Valley rail lines and lack of disabled access at Greenfield 

Station. 

Key opportunities to improve connectivity to Metrolink and rail services include 

continued delivery of the Bee Network, development of multi-modal transport hubs at 

stops and stations, and integration with the Oldham Town Centre Masterplan and 

GMSF plans.  

Access to jobs at some of the major employment sites in Greater Manchester, such 

as Manchester Airport and the adjacent Enterprise Zone and Trafford Park is limited 

by public transport, with journeys taking significantly longer than most people would 

be prepared to spend travelling to work. 

Access to public transport for Oldham residents decreased significantly during the 

Covid-19 lockdown and although there have subsequently been some significant 

improvements, there is a need to ensure that accessibility does not remain below 

pre-lockdown levels. Bus network coverage and direct bus links must return to pre-

lockdown levels as a minimum if the borough is to recover from the pandemic. The 

situation is made even more challenging by the social distancing requirements that 

will reduce the capacity of bus, Metrolink and rail services, many of which were 

overcrowded pre-lockdown.  

Page 286



 

14 

We are also looking at how we might better re-route buses in and around Oldham 

Town Centre to improve safety in pedestrian areas, both as part of our response to 

Covid-19 and in the longer term as part of the Accessible Oldham programme. Our 

Emergency Active Travel fund scheme in Oldham Town Centre will, for example, see 

buses re-routed around West Street bus station to give pedestrians more space on 

West Street. 

3.3.4. Highway Network 

Providing a safe, reliable highway for all users, that supports the transition to a zero-

carbon borough, is essential to realising our environmental, quality of life and 

economic objectives, as well as achieving the Right Mix Vision in Oldham. Key 

challenges to achieving this include: 

• Congestion – as levels of car travel have increased, congestion on Oldham’s 

road network has become more prevalent. While levels of delays are less than 

the GM average, congestion has a significant effect on journey times and 

reliability, which are particularly costly to business and bus users1. Much of 

the borough’s main road network and junctions experience traffic delays, 

particularly at peak times, including: 

 A669 Middleton Road; 

 A669 Lees Road / Oldham Road; 

 A672 Ripponden Road; 

 A62 Huddersfield Road; 

 A62/A627/A627(M) Oldham Way / Chadderton Way; 

 A62 Manchester Road; 

 A663 Broadway / Shaw Road / Crompton Way; 

 A671/A627 Rochdale Road / Oldham Road / Ashton Road; 

 A6048 Featherstall Road; 

 B6194 Shaw Road / Higginshaw Lane/Heyside, particularly at 

junctions. 

• Strategic Route Network (SRN) – there are several roads in the borough that 

are managed by Highways England, including A663 Broadway Trunk Road, 

the A627 (M) and the stretch of the M60 motorway in Oldham, including 

junctions 21 at Broadway and 22 at Hollinwood. Highways England is 

planning to carry out a scheme to address congestion at the A663 Broadway / 

M60 junction, currently planned for 2023/24. Access to junction 22 at 

Hollinwood is restricted, with no eastbound access from the A62 northbound 

or southbound and the surrounding road network can experience congestion 

and delay. We will work with Highways England to help identify the scope for 

improvements around junction 22 that would reduce congestion on the 

motorway and surrounding Key Route Network and could be brought forward 

in future Route Investment Strategies. Roads in the Saddleworth area can 

also experience significant levels of congestion when traffic is diverted off the 

M62 onto the local road network as a result of roadworks or accidents;  

 
1 Oldham’s Local Economic Assessment 2019 - Section 3: Transport and Business Connectivity 

Page 287



 

15 

• Maintenance – Oldham continues to deliver a programme of capital 

investment to maintain the existing highway network, including roads, 

footways, bridges, retaining walls, culverts and other infrastructure, with 

limited resources targeted to maximum effect in line with the Council’s 

Highway Asset Management Policy. Following delivery of the Gateway 

Corridor Improvement Programme in 2018/19, which focused resources on 

the main road network, the Council is investing a further £12 million over the 

3-year period 2019/20 – 2021/22 on maintaining highways, including 

secondary corridors and residential roads and traffic calming schemes in need 

of repair. However, considerable investment is still needed to deliver essential 

footway and carriageway maintenance repairs and to deal with the backlog of 

essential maintenance needed to highway structures such as bridges and 

retaining walls if road closures and weight restrictions are to be avoided; 

• Retaining walls – the Pennine nature of the borough means there are 

extensive lengths of highway retaining walls (31km in total), many of which 

were built over 100 years ago, in urgent need of repair for which there is no 

funding available;  

• Road safety – over the last 20 years, Oldham has seen a steady decline in 

road traffic collisions involving all types of road users with a reduction of two 

thirds from over 900 to around 300. During this period the number of people 

being killed or seriously injured fell by 30%. Collisions involving child 

pedestrians have also reduced significantly since 1999, with the number of 

casualties having reduced by 705 and now at an all-time low. This is a result 

of the Council’s evidence-based data-led approach to road safety. Despite 

this success, there are still many road safety hotspots in the borough, 

including: St Mary’s Way; A669 Middleton Road, Chadderton; A669 Lees 

Road, Clarksfield; A670 Uppermill Centre; A669, Lees Centre; A663 / A671 

junction, Royton; Burnley Lane / Eustace Street / Belmont Street Area; 

Copster Hill Road, Hathershaw; A62 Oldham Road, Failsworth; and A627 

Ashton Road, Hathershaw. There is however, no longer any dedicated 

funding available for local safety schemes. While planned schemes such as 

the Bee Network and the A627 / A671 Quality Bus Transit project will deliver 

improvements at some of these locations, funding will be needed to resolve 

local safety issues across the borough; 

• Freight – the vast majority of freight in Oldham is carried by road. This 

increases the economic impact of congestion, but also results in more 

vehicles on our roads, carbon emissions, poor air quality, noise pollution and 

conflict with vulnerable road users; 

• Last mile freight - an increase in last mile freight is particularly challenging in 

Oldham. This has increased the number of smaller commercial vehicles on 

our roads, resulting in more traffic and potential for collisions with vulnerable 

road users. Due to the complexities of these operations, a co-ordinated 

approach is needed to manage last mile freight, including new infrastructure 

and policies, especially in town centres and neighbourhoods; 

Page 288



 

16 

• Borough Cycle Network - although high quality cycle facilities have been 

delivered at some locations, particularly around Oldham Town Centre, the 

current cycle network does not link all parts of the borough thereby limiting 

new journeys by bike between neighbourhoods and the Wider City Region. 

The focus for the next 5 years will be unlocking this network around town 

centres and the west of the borough, where the topography better lends itself 

to cycling; 

• Electric Vehicle Charging Network – there are currently public access EV 

charging points in 23 locations across Oldham, with the majority of these 

located around Oldham Town Centre. Due to the large number of streets in 

the borough without off-street parking, a significant increase in public access 

charging points (both rapid and residential) will be required through the 

expansion of the GMEV network to support the uptake in electric vehicles 

needed to meet local and GM carbon and clean air targets. We are working 

with TfGM on several projects to expand the EV charging network in Oldham, 

including the provision of dedicated charging points to support taxi and private 

hire vehicle drivers to switch to electric vehicles, with work underway to 

identify suitable locations. 

   

Page 289



 

17 

4. Oldham 5-Year LIP Outcomes 

Outcome 1: More neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) will be made by foot 

and by bike in the borough of Oldham 

In the next 5 years this means delivering improvements that create attractive, safe 

neighbourhoods that are pleasant for people to spend time in and supporting people 

to make local trips by foot or by bike rather than by private car.  

Our local priorities for investment in scheme delivery, development or investigation 

over the next 5 years, subject to funding in some cases, include: 

Investment Priority  Description 

King Street Foot and 
Cycle Bridge 

Bee Network: full refurbishment of King Street cycling 
and walking bridge to retain this direct route into Oldham 
Town Centre from residential areas to the south. 

Union Street West 
Foot and Cycle Bridge 

Bee Network: completion of the bridge refurbishment 
scheme, including a new high-quality surface to make it 
easier and safer for people to use. 

Broadway to Rochdale 
Canal Link 

Bee Network: upgrading an existing off-highway path 
linking Chadderton to the Rochdale Canal to improve 
walking and cycling access to key local destinations such 
as Radclyffe School, Mills Hill Primary, Chadderton 
Integrated Care Unit and the Firswood Park residential 
area. 

Chadderton Pedestrian 
and Cycle Access 
Improvements 

Bee Network: upgrading crossings and enhancing 
walking and cycling routes in the Chadderton area to 
improve safety and enable more local trips, especially to 
schools and public transport links, to be made by bike or 
on foot. 

Higginshaw Link to 
Royton 

Bee Network: a new parallel signalised crossing at 
Salmon Fields to connect existing routes, creating a safe 
off-road walking and cycling route from Royton to the 
Shaw Road/Higginshaw Lane industrial area. 
Improvements will also include a new off-road surface 
and re-grading of the existing steeply sloped path up to 
Higginshaw Lane. 

Oldham Town Centre 
Improvements 

Bee Network: a scheme to improve pedestrian and cycle 
access within and around Oldham Town Centre, 
including around the busy bus station area. 

Park Bridge - Ashton-
under-Lyne Link 

Bee Network: restoration of the Park Bridge viaduct route 
for pedestrians and cyclists on NCN 626 to create a flat, 
easy-to-navigate, direct route between Oldham and 
Ashton, plus a new Bee Network crossing point on Kings 
Road. 

Page 290



 

18 

Investment Priority  Description 

Park Road - NCN 626 
to Town Centre 
Connection 

Bee Network: a scheme to enable more cycling and 
walking trips by delivering a missing link to connect 
Oldham Town Centre with the NCN 626 route through to 
Ashton-under-Lyne and the Lees Linear Park cycle route, 
overcoming an existing heavily-trafficked pinch point.  

Royton Town Centre 
Connection 

Bee Network: A Streets for All town centre improvement 
scheme to increase the number of local walking and 
cycling journeys into Royton Town Centre. This will 
include a number of improvements to the town centre 
environment, two crossing upgrades, a wider footway 
and a contraflow cycle lane. The plans aim to reduce the 
severance impact of the A671 Rochdale Road. 

Bee Network 
Crossings 

Bee Network: delivery of a programme to upgrade 
existing / install new pedestrian and cyclist crossings to 
remove severance points as part of a GM-wide Bee 
Network crossings programme – potential locations 
include: 

• Wellyhole Street, Greenacres; 

• Salmon Fields; 

• Well-i-Hole, Greenfield; 

• Chadderton Hall Road. 

Active 
Neighbourhoods 

Bee Network: identification of suitable locations and 
delivery of Active Neighbourhood schemes in Oldham. 

Public Rights of Way 
Network 

Improvements to the borough’s network of Public Rights 
of Way to support active travel. 

School Streets Identification of suitable locations and delivery of School 
Streets schemes in Oldham. 

A669 Lees Road / 
Moorhey Street 
junction 

Signalisation of this busy junction on the A669 Lees 
Road to reduce accidents and support active travel by 
incorporating new controlled pedestrian crossing 
facilities. 

Saddleworth Linear 
Walking and Cycling 
Route 

Off-road route upgrade to create a safe walking and 
cycling route between the villages of Greenfield and 
Uppermill, including the replacement of bridges at Church 
Road and Station Road. 

Northern Roots Identifying and delivering cycling and walking routes to 
the Northern Roots Urban Farm and Eco-Park. 

DfT Emergency Active 
Travel Fund 2 
 

Delivery of measures, potential locations including: 

• Coal Pit Lane point closure; 

• Routes to Royal Oldham Hospital (including 
Westhulme Avenue); 

• Lees Linear Park parallel crossings; 

• Salmon Fields; 

• Sandy Lane/Rochdale Lane; 

Page 291



 

19 

Investment Priority  Description 

• Dobcross – footway widening across a narrow 
bridge. 

District wayfinding  Wayfinding for local journeys across the Borough. 

Neighbourhood street 
maintenance  

Boroughwide maintenance programme to support cycling 
and walking.  

Behaviour change 
activities  

Delivering behavioural change to support the Bee 
Network, active neighbourhoods and new development.  

Cycle training Delivering Bikeability cycle training to all primary schools 
in the borough including those schools where pupils have 
additional needs. 

School safety zones  Minor traffic management/traffic calming schemes to 
improve safety for pedestrians and cyclists on the journey 
to school. 

Minor works Delivery of an annual programme of minor works 
including safety schemes and junction improvements, 
traffic management schemes and pedestrian 
improvements. 

Outcome 2: Connections to Oldham’s town centres, employment sites and key 

destinations will be enhanced by foot, bike and public transport 

In the next 5 years this means working to deliver “Streets for All” improvements 

within and around Oldham’s town and district centres, employment sites, schools 

and higher education sites, hospitals and leisure sites, that enable people to travel 

by sustainable, healthy modes and support our local economy. 

Oldham Town Centre is the Council’s priority regeneration area, with a number of 

projects already completed or underway and many more planned through 

opportunities such as the Future High Streets Fund and the Town Deal. 

Improvements in transport and the public realm are an integral part of the work 

needed to regenerate the town, with schemes having already been delivered 

through, for example, the Local Growth Deal and the Cycle City Ambition Grant.  

Highway and public realm schemes to improve accessibility and connectivity to and 

around Oldham Town Centre are being delivered as and when funding opportunities 

arise through the Accessible Oldham programme, which is a package of measures 

designed to support the growth aspirations of Oldham Town Centre. Accessible 

Oldham Phase 1 has already secured £6 million of Growth Deal 3 funding and 

gained Programme Entry status for further funding from the Mayor’s Cycling and 

Walking Fund, with a decision on further funding from the Government’s High Street 

Fund pending. Phase 2 requires further development to identify the package of 

works that will best support the emerging Town Centre Masterplan and post-Covid-

19 recovery. Further phases of Accessible Oldham will be developed in response to 

the ongoing regeneration of the town. 

Page 292



 

20 

The GMTS 2040 Delivery Plan includes the following schemes for Oldham Town 

Centre: 

• Accessible Oldham Town Centre Connectivity Package Phase 1 including: 

Hunters Lane; Waterloo Street / Rhodes Bank junction; Henshaw Street / 

Albion Street public realm; and access to Southlink development site; 

• Accessible Oldham Town Centre Connectivity Package Phase 2 – this could 

include public realm/Streets for All improvements around Southgate Street, 

Market Place, George Street / Manchester Chambers, access to Northern 

Roots and a town centre multi-storey car park to consolidate existing 

fragmented parking facilities and release further land for regeneration: 

• St Mary’s Way Streets for All scheme; 

• Oldham Mumps Area Improvements and access to Southlink Development 

Site; and  

• Oldham Mumps Interchange improvements. 

The A671 / A627 Rochdale – Oldham – Ashton Quality Bus Transit project will also 

include the delivery of works in Oldham and Rochdale town centres to support town 

masterplans and regeneration projects. 

Alongside the schemes within the GMTS 2040 Delivery Plan, our local priorities for 

investment in scheme delivery, development or investigation over the next 5 years, 

subject to funding in some cases, include: 

Investment Priority  Description 

Mumps Growth Deal 2 
public realm works 

Completing delivery of Growth Deal 2 funded public 
realm works around Mumps Metrolink stop. 

Oldham Town Centre 
Bee Network  

Bee Network scheme in and around Oldham Town 
Centre including: 

• King Street bridge refurbishment; 

• Union Street West bridge – completion of 
refurbishment; 

• Accessible Oldham - High Street, Lord Street 
and Rock Street. 

Accessible Oldham: 
Future High Street Fund 

Delivery of further elements of Accessible Oldham. 

Oldham Way Mumps – 
new pedestrian / cyclist 
crossing 

Replacement of pedestrian bridge across Oldham Way 
recently demolished for health and safety reasons. 
 

Oldham Town Centre 
Transport Strategy 

Development of an Oldham Town Centre Transport 
Strategy as part of the development of a boroughwide 
transport strategy. 

Accessible Oldham  Development of further phases of Accessible Oldham 

St Mary’s Way accident 
reduction scheme 

Delivery of an accident reduction scheme at the 
Henshaw Street and Lord Street junctions to assist 

Page 293



 

21 

Investment Priority  Description 

pedestrian access to the town centre and protect 
pedestrians from vehicle turning manoeuvres.  

Town centre 
maintenance 

Town centre maintenance programme.   

Town centre wayfinding Wayfinding for local journeys across the Borough. 

Safer Streets Save 
Lives fund 

Delivery of a programme of lining, markings and signing 
at various locations to promote social distancing in and 
around Oldham Town Centre and district centres. 

DfT Emergency Active 
Travel Fund 1  

Delivery of a scheme to reallocate road space to 
pedestrians (including a zebra crossing) on West Street. 

DfT Emergency Active 
Travel Fund 2 
 

Delivery of the Wellington Street ‘Quiet Route’ scheme 
by re-allocating road space to allow pedestrians and 
cyclists to access the town centre via a new ‘quiet 
route’. 

Electric Vehicle Charge 
Point Network 

Expansion of the electric vehicle charging point network 
in Oldham and other key centres, including dedicated 
taxi and private hire vehicle charging points, supporting 
the wider switch to electric vehicles.   

Royton Town Centre 
Bee Network 
Connection 

Bee Network / Streets for All scheme delivery in and 
around Royton Town Centre.  

Sandy Lane/Rochdale 
Lane, Royton 

Pedestrian safety and traffic calming scheme. 

Outcome 3: Streets in Oldham will be cleaner and greener  

In the next 5 years this means reducing the environmental impact of roads in 

Oldham through interventions that accelerate the uptake of low emission vehicles 

and reduce the emission of air pollutants from vehicle traffic across the borough.  

Oldham Council, along with the other nine Greater Manchester local authorities, is 

now subject to a Ministerial direction dated 16 March 2020 requiring the submission 

of a GM Clean Air Plan Interim Full Business Case (along with confirmation that all 

public consultation activity has completed) as soon as possible and by no later than 

30 October 2020. Under this direction Oldham Council along with the other nine 

Greater Manchester local authorities is under a legal duty to ensure that the GM 

Clean Air Plan (Charging Clean Air Zone Class C with additional measures) is 

implemented so that NO2 compliance is achieved in the shortest possible time and 

by 2024 at the latest and that human exposure is reduced as quickly as possible. 

 

A study undertaken of the main road network in Oldham in 2017 identified 

congestion hotspots and we will continue to deliver a programme of measures to 

Page 294



 

22 

address these locations, working in partnership with the Greater Manchester Mayor’s 

Corridor Manager appointed as part of the GM Congestion Deal. 

Our local priorities for investment in scheme delivery, development or investigation 

over the next 5 years, subject to funding in some cases, include: 

Investment Priority  Description 

Clean Air Plan Schemes Introduction of the GM Clean Air Plan to reduce NOx at 
the roadside in the shortest possible time in conjunction 
with the other Greater Manchester authorities. 

Council fleet Changing the Council fleet to electric vehicles or, where 

that is not practical, vehicles that are compliant with the 

Greater Manchester Clean Air plan criteria.  

Minimum Licensing 
Standards 

Development of a common set of minimum standards 

for taxi and private hire services in conjunction with the 

other Greater Manchester authorities. 

Electric Vehicle Charge 
Point Network 

Expansion of the electric vehicle charging point 

network, including dedicated charging points for taxi 

and private hire vehicles, across Oldham, supporting 

the wider switch to electric vehicles.   
Congestion hotspots Programme of schemes to manage and reduce 

congestion at various locations in order to keep traffic 

moving such as part-signalisation of Featherstall Road 

Roundabout. 

Tree planting  Delivery of a major tree planting programme to absorb 
carbon. 

Outcome 4: Oldham residents, workers and visitors will have good access to 

safe, reliable, affordable, high quality public transport connections  

In the next 5 years this means delivering improvements to the accessibility and 

capacity of Oldham’s public transport network, supporting more residents, workers 

and visitors to travel to and from Oldham by sustainable modes, and enabling new 

neighbourhoods to be built around our existing and proposed infrastructure. 

Public transport proposals within the GMTS2040 Delivery Plan that will benefit 

Oldham include: 

• delivery of the Quality Bus Transit scheme to Rochdale and Ashton, including 

Streets for All improvements in Oldham and Rochdale town centres; 

• a new Metrolink stop and associated Park and Ride facility at Cop Road / 

Bullcote Lane on the Oldham-Rochdale line to support the delivery of GMSF 

allocations at Beal Valley and Broadbent Moss; 

• the introduction of more double Metrolink units on the Shaw and Crompton to 

East Didsbury Metrolink line to provide additional capacity; 

Page 295



 

23 

• development of a business case and delivery of a direct Metrolink service 

from Rochdale and Oldham into Piccadilly Rail Station (requires additional 

Metrolink capacity between Piccadilly and Victoria Metrolink stops by TfGM); 

• Oldham Mumps Interchange improvements; 

• completion of improvements at Mills Hill Rail station including disabled access 

and cycle parking (Network Rail) and enhanced park and ride facilities 

(TfGM); 

• Trans-Pennine Route Upgrade to Leeds (pre-Northern Powerhouse Rail) 

potentially including full disabled access at Greenfield Station, by Network 

Rail. 

We would also like improvements at Metrolink stops in Oldham to be included in 

TfGM’s Travel Hubs/Park and Ride investment programme and Metrolink Stop 

Improvements Package, including additional park and ride capacity at Derker and 

Hollinwood and improvements at the Failsworth stop. 

In addition, our local priorities for investment in scheme delivery, development or 

investigation over the next 5 years, subject to funding in some cases, include: 

Investment Priority  Description 

Local bus pinch point 
and reliability schemes  

Working with TfGM to tackle known barriers on the local 
highway network that are restricting the movement of 
buses, enabling enhanced bus journey reliability and 
easing congestion.   

Bus stop enhancements  Upgrading existing bus stops in Oldham as part of a GM 
wide programme to improve accessibility, including 
supporting complementary measures such as 
pedestrian refuges to improve routes to bus stops.  

TravelSafe Partnership Working with partners to address crime and anti-social 
behaviour on the Metrolink service and at Metrolink 
stops in Oldham. 

Disabled access 
improvements at 
Greenfield Station 

Provision of full disabled access at Greenfield Station – 
the expectation is that this will be delivered as part of 
the TransPennine Route Upgrade but in the event that 
electrification of the line between Greenfield and 
Huddersfield is not carried out by Network Rail, 
alternative options are being explored. 

Oldham Council’s longer-term aspirations for the public transport network, which we 

will continue to make the investment case for as and when the opportunity arises, 

include: 

• A new Metrolink connection from Oldham Town Centre to Middleton, 

providing an orbital connection to Bury;  

• A new Metrolink connection from Oldham Town Centre to Ashton Town 

Centre; 

Page 296



 

24 

• A new rail station at Diggle – Oldham Council’s Local Plan will continue to 

safeguard land for a new railway station at Diggle, the delivery of which would 

be dependent on improvements to wider railway infrastructure. The 

opportunity could be presented by the forthcoming TransPennine Route 

Upgrade and potential Northern Powerhouse Rail schemes; and 

• Electrification of the Calder Valley Rail to facilitate an increase the capacity 

and frequency of local services. 

Outcome 5: Streets in Oldham will be safer, well-maintained, resilient, reliable 

and accessible by all 

Oldham Council places a high significance on its transport network, which is its most 

valuable asset. The network is vital to the economic wellbeing of residents and 

businesses. The comfort and safety provided by our roads and streets is important to 

the quality of life in Oldham.  

As a highway authority, Oldham Council has a statutory duty to maintain, operate 

and improve the local highway network on behalf of all its residents. Through our 

highways capital programme, we will continue to maintain Oldham’s roads and 

highways to the highest possible standard. Our programme has previously focused 

heavily on maintaining main routes and corridors, but we are now also improving our 

secondary routes and unclassified network, using data from our Annual Engineering 

Inspection survey to help target investment most effectively.  

We also have accident reduction duties under Section 39 of the Road Traffic Act 

1988, including to prepare and deliver a programme of measures designed to 

promote safety and to prevent the occurrence of road accidents.  

Our local priorities for investment in scheme delivery, development or investigation 

over the next 5 years, subject to funding in some cases, include: 

Investment Priority  Description 

Highway maintenance  Continued Council capital investment in the structure of 
the highway by way of an asset management-
based approach to road resurfacing ranging from small 
scale repairs to full reconstruction.  

Footway repair 
programme 

Data-led programme of footway maintenance at various 
locations across the borough. 

Principal structures 
inspections 

Inspections of the borough's structural assets. 

Bridges and structures 
maintenance  

Scheme development and continued investment in 
bridges and other structures, including retaining walls 
and culverts.   

Oldham Way KRN 
structures 
refurbishment: Waterloo 
Street and Wellington 
Street bridge works  

Maintenance and refurbishment of Oldham Way Bridge 
structures at Waterloo Street and Wellington Street with 
Central Government Challenge Fund award. 

Page 297



 

25 

Investment Priority  Description 

Oldham Way KRN 
structures 
refurbishment: 
Manchester Street 
Viaduct 

Maintenance and refurbishment of Oldham Way 
structure at Manchester Street Viaduct. 

Flood water 
management and 
drainage schemes 

Ongoing investigative works, development of business 
cases and delivery of a programme of flood water 
management and drainage schemes, working in 
partnership with the Environment Agency. 

Safety barrier 
replacement 
programme 

Enhancement/replacement of defective existing safety 
barriers on a priority basis across the borough. 

Road accident reduction 
schemes  

Preparation and delivery of a programme of measures 
designed to promote road safety and prevent the 
occurrence of road accidents. 

Vehicle Activated Signs Consolidation and repair of the existing network of 
Vehicle Activated Signs and installation of new signs in 
accordance with revised policy criteria.  

Lining refresh 
programme 

A boroughwide annual programme to refresh road 
markings. 

Disabled access 
improvements 

Measures to improve access to the network for the 
mobility impaired. 

Traffic management 
schemes 

Minor traffic signing/lining and highway modification 
schemes. 

The GM2040 Delivery Plan also includes a Highways England scheme to upgrade 

the Broadway / M60 junction (junction 21) to reduce congestion, improve safety and 

support delivery of the Broadway Green development. Highways England is aiming 

to deliver this scheme in 2023/24

Page 298



 

26 

 

We would also like the 

following interventions to be 

investigated, business cases 

developed and schemes 

delivered at the earliest 

opportunity: 

• Derker Metrolink Stop 
Mobility Hub and Park 
and Ride; 

• Hollinwood Metrolink 
Stop Mobility Hub / 
Park and Ride; 

• Failsworth Metrolink 
Stop Improvements; 

• Diggle Rail Station. 

 

Map 3: Oldham Implementation Plan Schemes 

P
age 299



 

27 

Map 4: Oldham Bee Network Schemes 

P
age 300



 

28 

5. Indicators 

Oldham Council and TfGM will work together to develop a monitoring framework to 
measure the success of the interventions within this Plan. It is anticipated that this 
will include aims and targets to measure success against the 5-Year Local 
Implementation Plan outcomes, carbon targets, and changes in mode-share to meet 
Right Mix targets  

Page 301



 

1 

Rochdale Summary GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20 

1. Introduction  

This Implementation Plan sets out how we will work towards our priorities including 

economic growth, improving the environment and social inclusion by building on 

Rochdale’s planned and current transport projects, many of which are set out in 

the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 5-Year Delivery Plan (2020-2025). 

While the 5-year Delivery Plan tends to consider large, medium and long-term 

transport schemes, this Implementation Plan is mainly focussed on local, 

neighbourhood level priorities and interventions to 2025. A summary of strategic 

schemes within the 5-Year Delivery Plan are included on Map 1.  

Rochdale Council in its Corporate Plan 2019-2022 “Prosperous People and Places” 

outlines a vision of “Making our Borough a great place to grow up, get on and live 

well”. It places an emphasis on prosperity for people who are healthy, safe, happy 

and available to participate fully in life, in places that grow and change to provide 

strong local economies providing opportunities and enhance quality of life. Indicators 

of success in achieving this are: 

• Accessible quality highways and transport options including cycling and 
walking; 

• Air and land, free from pollution and infrastructure that protects against climate 
change by using natural and renewable resources; 

• More people are physically active including the over 50’s; 

• People have access to good or outstanding places of learning; 

• Reduced crime and anti-social behaviour. 
 
To strive for this prosperity the Council consistent with the GM Strategy is seeking to 
provide: 
 

• Growth in housing, quality employment space and good jobs that are 
sustainable and provide opportunities to progress and develop; 

• a thriving and productive economy that both gets people in to work and 
delivers high value jobs and businesses in all parts of the borough; 

• Continuous improvements towards delivering “World Class” connectivity to 
keep the Borough moving and enhance access opportunities for people and 
goods to jobs amenities and markets; 

• A green environmentally sustainable Borough that meets its carbon targets. 
 
To achieve these ambitions, we have set six key transport-related outcomes which we 

would wish to see achieved by 2025.  These are:  

• Outcome 1: Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 

made by foot and by bike in all townships of the borough of Rochdale 

Page 302



 

2 

• Outcome 2: Enhanced connections to / from and within Heywood, Middleton, 

Littleborough and Rochdale Town Centres by foot, bike, and public transport 

• Outcome 3: Improved access to bus services across Rochdale Borough 

• Outcome 4: Streets in Rochdale Borough will be clean and green 

• Outcome 5: Rochdale Borough residents, workers and visitors have good 

access to Rapid transit connections 

• Outcome 6: Streets in Rochdale are well maintained and in good condition for 

all people who live in or travel within Rochdale 

This document sets out some of the steps Rochdale borough will seek to take with 

partners to make good progress towards these outcomes in the next 5 years. The 

steps are ambitious and the development and delivery of the interventions set out will 

require a significant level of resource and funding. This will require us to prioritise 

measures and to continue working with the GMCA and TfGM to secure the required 

funding from Government to develop and deliver these schemes. 

1.1.  Covid-19 Recovery  

Rochdale Council’s Highways Service have closely monitored the network 

throughout the period affected by COVID-19. The initial key concern was to keep the 

network functioning for emergency and essential services to be able to get about 

quickly. During the lifting of restrictions and early recovery the Highways Service 

have temporarily closed Packer Street in Rochdale Town Centre to provide additional 

space for businesses to use as extra outdoor space where indoor capacity has been 

limited. 

Rochdale Council have submitted bids to Tranche 2 of the EATF for a walking and 

cycling scheme in Milnrow Town Centre, reallocating road space and St Leonard’s 

Street in Middleton which have two point closures put in effectively making it an 

active neighbourhood area. 

Page 303



 

3 

2. Rochdale Borough Strategic Transport Issues  

 

Page 304



 

4 

 

Page 305



 

5 

2.1. Rochdale’s Delivery Plan Schemes 2020 – 2025 

Map 1 below sets out schemes committed for delivery, business case development or option development in Rochdale in GMTS2040 Delivery 

Plan. 

  

P
age 306



 

6 

2.2. Rochdale’s Existing Transport Network and Spatial Allocations –  

Map 2 sets out the current land supply and transport network within Rochdale. This includes the Oldham and Rochdale Metrolink Line to 
Manchester City Centre, that provides a tram every 12 minutes, the Calder Valley Rail Line and the Strategic Road Network in Rochdale, 
alongside existing land supply for residential, office and industry space, and future GMSF allocations.  
 

  

P
age 307



 

7 

3. Spatial Theme Challenges and Opportunities 

3.1. Neighbourhoods 

The majority of trips made in Rochdale Borough that 

start in the District are at neighbourhood level (52%), 

48% of these are under 2km and made by private car. 

Most of these trips are short enough to be taken on 

foot or by bicycle. (Source: TRADS database). 

Road traffic levels and speeds have a significant 

impact on walking and cycling local trips, through 

actual and perceived levels of safety, driver attitudes 

which lack consideration for other users. Major roads 

also create a barrier and cause severance between 

neighbourhoods and destinations and pavement 

parking restricts footway space and pedestrian / cycle 

accessibility. 

There are challenges in areas with dense populations 

outside Rochdale Borough’s main centres, e.g. Milkstone and Deeplish; Langley; 

Kirkholt and Wardleworth. Street patterns mean residences in these areas live close 

together with narrow roads restricting 2-way traffic flows with significant levels of on-

street parking. Despite this, these areas have low levels of car ownership and poor if 

any public transport services in part due to this street design and the inability of 

larger vehicles to pass along the local road network. 

Key destinations, such as Town Centres, are difficult to access on foot and by cycle 

due to road traffic, severance caused by highway infrastructure, the lack of direct 

dedicated cycle / walking infrastructure and wayfinding. Locations where these 

issues occur include Hollingworth Lake, Rochdale Infirmary, Rochdale Railway 

Station, Fairfield Hospital, a number of Schools, and Rochdale, Heywood, Middleton 

and Littleborough town centres). 

Opportunities to address these issues will be delivered through the development of 

the Bee Network and access to and within new development that prioritises active 

travel following “Streets for All” design principles creating streets for people not just 

traffic. Rochdale Station Gateway, Castleton, Middleton, Heywood and Littleborough 

Town Centre Masterplans will also prioritise these principles in their detailed 

development. 

3.2. Rochdale Town Centre 

The Council is continuing to develop a town-core masterplan for Rochdale Town 

Centre following the completion of the first Phase of the Rochdale Riverside project 

in March 2020. This will support delivery of new high-density homes on brownfield 

sites in the Town Centre, better connectivity to and from the town centre to local 

Page 308



 

8 

neighbourhoods, the wider city region, and the regional centre, alongside enhancing 

community and heritage assets. 

Plans for regeneration of Rochdale Town Centre also include potential for 2,000 new 

homes across the wider centre, including a new neighbourhood on Central Retail 

Park Rochdale and Rochdale Riverside Phase 2 and a further 1,000 homes and 

6,250m2 of employment, retail and commercial space planned as part of the 

Rochdale Station Gateway and the former Rochdale Canal Basin. 

 

Key issues for Rochdale Town Centre include: 

- The A58 causes severance from Rochdale Town Centre for neighbourhoods 

to the north, particularly for those making trips on foot or by bike. In 

particular a number of subways present a poor perception of local personal 

safety to / from Spotland, Falinge and other residential areas west of 

Whitworth Road; 

- There are a limited number of routes that cross the railway line to / from 

Rochdale Town Centre from neighbourhoods to the south of the town 

extending the length of trips made on foot and by bike; 

- Distance and topography between Rochdale Railway Station and the town 

centre core is a barrier enhanced by the lack of coherent walking routes;  

- Poor public transport connectivity to the town centre for local trips leads to a 

large number of these short journeys being made by taxi or private car. 

It is estimated that journeys to Rochdale town centre have reduced by 24% since 

2010, 54% of AM peak journeys to Rochdale Town Centre are made by foot, bike 

and public transport (increasing from 48% in 2017, and 35% in 2003) (source: 

TRADS). Continued development of the town centre will maintain the aim of 

attracting people back for retail, commercial and tourism activities, encouraging 

them to travel by sustainable modes of travel.  

3.3. Wider-City Region and Regional Centre 

42% of trips starting in Rochdale borough are to the Wider City Region, for example 

to Bury or Oldham. 47% of these trips are made by private car and only 14% of wider 

City Region City trips made by public transport (source: TRADS database). Rochdale 

also has a lower than average trips to the Regional Centre than other GM boroughs 

(4% compared the GM average of 15%) (source: TRADS database). 

The alternatives to the private car for accessing town centres and neighbourhoods 

are poor, apart from Rochdale Town Centre (particularly to Heywood, Middleton, 

Norden and Bamford and Littleborough). This creates capacity and connectivity 

challenges along the radial and inter-urban routes in the Borough with high levels of 

car use for wider-city and Regional Centre journeys resulting in delays on the 

highway network, affecting public transport services. 

There are several Park and Ride opportunities emerging through recent land 

acquisitions and masterplan development work. e.g. at Rochdale, Castleton, 

Page 309



 

9 

Littleborough and Smithy Bridge Railway Stations, as well as improving access to 

stations, contributing to business cases to justify improved rail services and 

passenger facilities in the Borough 

3.3.1. Wider Town Centres 

In addition to challenges within Rochdale town centre, there are a number of 

challenges across Rochdale’s wider town centres of Middleton, Heywood, 

Littleborough, Castleton, Mills Hill, Smithy Bridge and Slattocks. These are 

summarised in the table below. 

Town Centre Challenges Opportunities 

Middleton 2 950 new homes and around 10 
hectares of commercial and 
employment land planned to be 
delivered by 2035.  
 
Key issues include: 
 
- Severance caused by the highway 

network, particularly the 
roundabout network at the north of 
the town centre and Long Street 

- Poor links to Alkrington Hall and 
Middleton Bus Station 

- Poor public transport connections 
to Rochdale, Bury and Oldham 
town centres, the Regional 
Centre, Mills Hill station, and 
Northern Gateway GMSF site. 

New Masterplan for 
Middleton developed 

Significant level of planned 
development 

Potential to develop 
Metrolink to Middleton 
Town Centre from the 
Bury Line 

Rochdale Rail Corridor 
Strategy (see below) 

Heywood 1,922 new homes and 700,000 m2 of 
commercial and employment land will 
be delivered by 2035. 
 
Key issues in Heywood include: 
 
- The town centre does not meet its 

full potential, and key challenges 
include: 

- A58 York Street has high levels of 
traffic, including high levels of 
commercial vehicles that conflict 
with high street users and poor 
urban realm; 

- Poor wayfinding 

New Masterplan for 
Heywood is currently in 
development. 

M62 Junction 19 Link 
Road will remove traffic 
from the town centre, 
providing opportunities to 
deliver Streets for All 
improvements, enhance 
the commercial, shopping, 
visitor and recreational 
environment. 

The Northern Gateway 
GMSF allocation provides 
an opportunity to introduce 
new rapid transit services 

Page 310



 

10 

Town Centre Challenges Opportunities 

- Footways are narrow and 
constrained, leaving little space 
for shops to spill out; 

- Poor sustainable inter-urban links 
with nearby centres (with the 
exception of bus links to Rochdale 
and Bury) 

- There is currently no direct link 
between Heywood and the 
Regional Centre.   

between Heywood and the 
Regional Centre, and 
Tram Train links to Bury 
and Castleton. 

Rochdale Rail Corridor 
Strategy (see below) 

Littleborough Potential to deliver 645 homes in 
Littleborough, including mixed use 
development around the rail station 
set out in the Rochdale Rail Corridor 
Strategy. 
 
Key issues in Littleborough include: 
 
- Hare Hill Road is heavily trafficked 

and needs a better balance of 
movement and place to better fulfil 
its purpose as Littleborough’s 
main shopping street. 

- Littleborough station has poor 
access to its entrance and public 
realm, capacity issues at the 
station car park causes parking 
management issues and 
congestion in the town centre; 

- There are poor cycling and 
walking connections around the 
town centre and station. 

Littleborough Station 
Masterplan is at an early 
stage and as deliverable 
outcomes emerge then 
they will be included in this 
implementation strategy 
and supporting delivery 
plan. 

Rochdale Rail Corridor 
Strategy (see below) 

Castleton, 
Mills Hill, 
Smithy 
Bridge, 
Slattocks 
 

Projected that over 4,000 homes will 
be built that are accessible to these 
Stations over the next 10 years (2020 
Rochdale Rail Corridor Strategy). 
 
Key issues across these town centres 
include the need to enhance stations 
as a transport hubs for local areas, 
and develop strong sustainable 
transport links to town centres and 
development opportunities. 
 

Development of 
masterplans at each of 
these town centres. 

The GMCA is currently 
undertaking a feasibility 
study into the potential 
development of a new 
station on the railway line 
at Slattocks.   

Rochdale Rail Corridor 
Strategy (see below) 

Page 311



 

11 

An initial assessment of the interventions that may be required to support GMSF 

sites in and around these town centres has been undertaken within the Locality 

Assessments prepared as part of the GMSF, and potential interventions are listed 

within the Appendix of the 2020-2025 Delivery Plan. 

3.3.2. Rochdale Rail Corridor Strategy 

The 2020 Rochdale Rail Corridor Strategy also sets out ambitious plans to deliver 

around 7,000 new homes and commercial space along the Calder Valley Rail 

Corridor, with associated infrastructure investment, including a new station at 

Slattocks.  The Strategy’s focus is on delivering high density living around each 

station on the Calder Valley Railway Line, utilising brownfield sites, increasing 

patronage and bringing the Borough much closer to Manchester City Centre, 

improving access and reducing travel times to wider employment opportunities and 

the local housing market; 

To ensure development contributes to meeting carbon commitments, investment is 

needed along the corridor to improve capacity and quality of rail services (increasing 

frequency and length of trains, new station gateways), alongside new cycling and 

walking networks and other “last mile” access measures connecting local 

communities in Rochdale borough to key destinations, such as e-scooters, car clubs 

and bike hire. 

To support this vision, the GMCA is currently undertaking a feasibility study into the 

potential development of a new station on the railway line at Slattocks.  Following the 

completion of this work, the Council and the GM Stations Alliance will prepare a 

Masterplan to support the development of a station at this location with new and 

improved walking and cycle links to Hopwood Hall College, Stakehill Industrial Estate 

and the surrounding area.  

 

3.3.3. Public Transport 

There has been steady but continuous growth in Rail and Metrolink patronage.  Rail 

Station usage in the Borough has risen on average by over 5% a year over the last 

decade (Source ORR Rail Station Usage data) and Metrolink Patronage has more 

than doubled since the Oldham - Rochdale Line opened in February 2014. Station 

Masterplans demonstrate capacity to deliver up to 7,000 new homes within 800 

metres walking distance of the Borough’s railway stations, together with the 

proposed new station at Slattocks, along this key rail corridor which will continue to 

increase trip demand to / from Regional Centre.  

Key local challenges for public transport also include: 

• Addressing low levels, or no public transport connectivity to destinations, 

neighbourhoods and employment sites outside Rochdale Town Centre 

(including Stakehill Industrial Estate and Heywood Distribution Park / Hareshill 

Business Park, Kingsway Business Park, Fairfield and North Manchester 

Hospitals); 

Page 312



 

12 

• Poor access to rail and tram links to Rochdale Town Centre from surrounding 

neighbourhoods with a significant number of trips made by taxis; 

• Bus connections to Bury and Oldham are slow and unattractive; 

• Potential growth sites are currently poorly connected to the wider-city region 

by public transport e.g. Northern Gateway, Stakehill Industrial Estate / 

Slattocks; 

• Ticketing, integration of services and unaffordable fares discourage people 

from taking many public transport journeys particularly if they have access to 

alternative forms of transport or they can make journeys on foot. 

There are a number of public transport related factors which contribute to low levels 

of journeys to the Regional Centre from Rochdale, and impact our residents access 

to opportunities and quality of life. These include: 

• A lack of direct public transport links and options to Manchester City Centre 

particularly from Heywood; 

• The Calder Valley Railway Line is at capacity at peak times from all the 

Borough stations resulting in people on occasions being unable to board trains 

to Manchester in the morning due to crowding; 

Unreliable line operations and ageing rolling stock also leads to services not 

running or skipping stops. Despite this, passenger demand continues to grow 

and will increase through delivery of future housing growth; 

• At Rochdale Railway Station, the Park and Ride facility demand is over its 

capacity, passenger facilities are poor and its role as a major gateway to and 

from the town, needs to be enhanced; 

Bus access to the south of the station is also poor and there are opportunities 

to provide new bus access for residents from the south of Rochdale into the 

station; 

• Demand for Park and Ride at the Borough’s other railway stations is also 

increasing. The Council has secured land adjacent to Smithy Bridge Railway 

Station and working with the GM Stations Alliance to provide a new facility 

which is expected to be delivered by 2025; 

Increases in Park and Ride capacity is being delivered as part of the Mills Hill 

Railway Station Improvements and the Bee Network scheme in Castleton, as 

well as proposals to expand provision at Littleborough through a new 

masterplan. A major park and ride opportunity accessible to the strategic 

motorway network could be provided through a new station at Slattocks.    

It is important that increased parking provision is controlled so passengers who walk 

or cycle short distances to / from stations continue to do so and are not attracted to 

transfer to car travel due to availability of parking, while also discouraging “rail 

heading” where passengers in neighbouring local authorities drive to a station in 

Greater Manchester. 

Page 313



 

13 

Additionally, currently there is no direct rail / tram access from Rochdale Borough to 

Manchester Piccadilly and Manchester Airport leaving residents with a choice of 

lengthy, difficult journeys by public transport with multiple interchanges or to travel by 

car which is more convenient if carrying heavy baggage. 

3.3.4. Highway Challenges 

The A58 route through the Borough offers an unattractive cycling and walking 

environment, with congestion, particularly at peak times, leading to delays to bus 

journeys, therefore poor access to rail / Metrolink stations and town centres as well 

as to freight and general traffic. There are congestion issues at the junctions with 

Smithy Bridge Road, Albert Royds Street, Featherstall Road, Townhead and Heap 

Bridge roundabout; 

Motorway traffic causes additional congestion and severance for sustainable modes 

(bus, cycle, walking), for example, major flows of through traffic from East Lancashire 

via Whitworth to access M62, as well as the M66 and adjacent local roads used by 

traffic to / from Rossendale, Norden and Bamford, accessing the regional centre via 

Heywood.  

Particular issues of congestion and delay occurs between Littleborough and M62 

Junction 21 via Milnrow, Around M60 Junction 19 and Heywood Old Road, and at 

M62 Junction 18. 

There are low numbers of EV charge points both off and on streets particularly where 

there is no off-road parking which restricts the potential uptake of electric vehicles; 

There are a number of committed projects within Delivery Plan 2020-2025 which will 

contribute in addressing some of these issues. They include M62 Junction 19 Link 

Road, Bee Network proposals, Rochdale Rail Corridor Strategy, Rochdale Station 

Gateway and Castleton Station Masterplans, as well as a potential A58 Residential 

Relief Road, Smithy Bridge. Highways England are also proposing to consult on their 

proposals to tackle capacity issues at the M62 / M66 Simister Island Motorway 

Interchange to be delivered by 2025. 

4. Rochdale 5-Year LIP Outcomes 

This section presents transport related outcomes that Rochdale Council aim to 

achieve over the next 5 years. Each outcome includes a set of priorities investment 

over this timeframe, including schemes to be delivered or developed. These 

schemes are included in Map 4. 

Outcome 1: Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 

made by foot and by bike in all townships of the borough of Rochdale 

In the next 5 years this means delivering street improvements that create attractive, 

safe neighbourhoods that are pleasant for people to spend time in, and support 

people who want or have to make local trips by foot or by bike rather than by private 

car. This will build on the delivery of the Castleton Local Centre Corridor and 

Page 314



 

14 

continuation of the route to Rochdale Town Centre through the MCF programme.  

Map 3 below provides an overview of how the Bee Network will be developed over 

the next 5 years, based on current priorities.  

Priorities for investment over the next 5-years include: 

Investment Priority Description 

Active Neighbourhoods At least one active neighbourhood scheme implemented 
across for each of the townships in Rochdale Borough. 

Rail and Metrolink 
Walking and Cycling 
Links 

Local walking and cycling investment plans better 
connecting residential areas with each Railway Station 
and Metrolink stop. 

School Streets Establish and progress delivery of a School Streets 
programme across Rochdale borough. 

Spotland Masterplan Bee Network in the Spotland area  

Wildhouse Lane Delivery of Bee Network in the Milnrow/Hollingworth 
Lake area  

Littleborough Free 
School 

Bee Network and school access measures associated 
with new school development 

Heywood Old Road Bee Network delivery in the Heywood area 

Mainway Bee Network delivery in Alkrington Garden Village 

Castleton to Rochdale 
town centre, 

Bee Network Proposals to connect Castleton to 
Rochdale town centre. 

Hollingworth Lake Cycle 
Corridor 

Bee Network proposals to deliver cycling and walking 
connections at Hollingworth Lake. 

Valley of the Stone 
Cycleway 

Completion of the Valley of the Stone Cycleway from 

Bacup – Rawtenstall south to Rochdale Town Centre. 

Rochdale Royal 
Infirmary Walking and 
Cycling Links 

Improvement in pedestrian and cycle access to 
Rochdale Royal Infirmary. 

District Wayfinding Wayfinding for local journeys across the Borough. 

Neighbourhood Street 
Maintenance 

Borough-wide maintenance programme. 

Behaviour Change 
Activities 

Deliver behaviour change to support the Bee Network, 
active neighbourhoods, and new development. 

Page 315



 

15 

 
Map 3: Rochdale Committed and Priority Bee Network and Map   

P
age 316



 
 

16 

Outcome 2: Enhanced connections to / from and within Heywood, Middleton, 

Littleborough and Rochdale Town Centres by foot, bike, and public transport 

In the next 5 years this means creating “Streets for All” in the town centres of 

Heywood, Littleborough, Middleton and Rochdale, including at Rochdale Station 

Gateway, through improvements to the Public Realm.  

Access to these centres will also be improved by bus, walking and cycling, as well as 

delivery of the South Heywood link road using an approach that incorporates Streets 

for All principles, detailed within the 2020-2025 Delivery Plan. Priorities for 

investment over the next 5-years include: 

Investment Priority  Description 

Heywood Town Centre 
Masterplan 

Development and delivery of Heywood Town Centre 
Masterplan, applying Streets for All principles to 
improve access by foot, bus, and by bike. 

Littleborough Town 
Centre Masterplan 

Development and delivery of Littleborough Town Centre 
Masterplan, applying Streets for All principles to 
improve access by foot, bus, and by bike. 
 
Phase 1 will include multi-modal package of 
interventions to support Littleborough Town Centre 
Masterplan. Improvements to complex junction to 
alleviate congestion and accommodate development-
generated growth 

Middleton Town Centre 
Masterplan 

Development and delivery of Middleton Town Centre 
Masterplan, applying Streets for All principles to 
improve access by foot, bus, and by bike. 

Rochdale Station 
Gateway Masterplan 

Programme of improved surface level crossings for 
pedestrians and cyclists on the A58 in Rochdale, in 
particular around the Town Centre and links to/from the 
Railway station. 

Town Centre Street 
Maintenance 

Borough-wide maintenance programme. 

 

Outcome 3: Improved access to bus services across Rochdale Borough 

In the next 5 years this means focusing on improving bus provision on the key 

corridors of the A58, A671 and A664 / A6046 and improved access to bus stops in 

the townships in Rochdale Borough. 

Alongside proposals to deliver Quality Bus Transit between Bury and Oldham, and a 

Northern Gateway Bus Rapid Transit service (providing direct connections between 

Heywood and the Regional centre), detailed in the Delivery Plan, priorities for 

investment over the next 5-years: 

Page 317



 
 

17 

Investment Priority Description 

Demand Responsive 
Bus Services – 
Rochdale Town Centre 

Demand responsive bus service to Rochdale Town 
Centre to serve communities surrounding Rochdale, 
reducing the need to travel by private vehicle. 

Enhanced Bus 
Connectivity 

Improved bus connections to key destinations in the 
borough outside Rochdale Town Centre (Littleborough, 
Middleton, Heywood, Fairfield Hospital, Kingsway 
Business Park, Hollingworth Lake). 

Streets for All 
Improvements to Key 
Bus Corridors 

Streets for All improvements to the key bus corridors of 
the A58, A671 and A664 / A6046 to improve reliability, 
quality of bus stops and improved connections to stops 
by foot and bike. 

Addressing Service and 
Fares Issues 

Address fragmentation and dis-integration of bus 
services and unaffordable fares for many journeys. 

Outcome 4: Streets in Rochdale Borough will be clean and green 

In the next 5 years this means reducing the environmental impact of road traffic in 

Rochdale Borough through interventions that accelerate the uptake of low emission 

vehicles and reduce emission of air pollutants from vehicle traffic across the 

Borough. 

Alongside the M62 Junction 19 Link Road Scheme and schemes to deliver Streets 

for All Town Centre proposals detailed in Outcome 2, and improvement of cycling 

and walking connections to Metrolink and Rail Stations, detailed in outcome 1, 

priorities for Investment over the next 5-years are: 

Investment Priority Description 

Air Pollution Reduction 
Actions 

Measures to reduce emission of pollutants in areas that 
are expected to exceed, or are at risk of exceeding air 
quality thresholds, for example the A58. 

Castleton HGV Traffic 
Reduction Measures 

Reduce HGV traffic through Castleton by implementing 
Streets for All / Bee Network improvements. 

Electric Vehicle Charge 
Point 

Programme to increase the number of electric vehicles 
charging points across the Borough. 

E-Scooters To trial a model for shared mobility across the Borough 
to improve first / last mile connectivity to / from transport 
hubs, employment areas and town centres 

Rochdale Valley 
Corridor Improvements 
(Albert Royds St – 
Smithy Bridge Road) 
 

New road to serve new residential areas, avoiding 
increased traffic on A58, on which a Rochdale - 
Littleborough Bus Corridor Upgrade will be implemented 
as part of the improvements.  Includes cycle 
infrastructure alongside new road, with links to 
surrounding cycle network. 

 

Page 318



 
 

18 

Outcome 5: Rochdale Borough residents, workers and visitors have good 

access to Rapid transit connections 

The Rochdale Rail Corridor Strategy identifies land for around 7,000 new homes and 

new employment space to be laid out within 800 metres of the Borough’s existing rail 

stations and will support delivery of a new station at Slattocks to serve Stakehill 

Industrial estate, Hopwood Hall College and surrounding areas.  To support these 

plans, in the next 5 years this means delivering improvements to the accessibility 

and capacity of Rochdale Borough’s rapid transit network, supporting more 

residents, workers, shoppers and visitors to travel to and from the Borough by 

sustainable modes, and enable new Transit Orientated Neighbourhoods to be built 

around our existing and proposed infrastructure.  It will also require new or improved 

walking and cycling routes to be provided into/from rail stations and Metrolink stops 

to promote first/last mile connectivity by foot as well as infrastructure improvements 

at stations.   

Alongside strategic measures in the longer term to improve connectivity to/ from 

Rochdale from cross-GM, such as Northern Gateway Bus Rapid Transit, a rail 

station at Slattocks, Middleton Metrolink and delivery of improved Park and Ride at 

Rochdale Station, Castleton, Smithy Bridge, and Littleborough, alongside 

improvements to rail capacity in Rochdale Borough, priorities for investment over the 

next 5 years are: 

Investment Priority Description 

Rail and Metrolink 
Walking and Cycling 
Links 

Local walking / cycling investment plans to improve 
active travel connections between residential areas with 
each Rail / Metrolink stations.   

Kingsway Mobility Hub Mobility hub at Kingsway Hub, focusing on shared 
mobility interventions and improvements to interchange. 

Rochdale Station 
Mobility Hub 

Mobility hub at Kingsway Hub, focusing on shared 
mobility interventions and improvements to interchange. 

 

Outcome 6: Streets in Rochdale are well maintained and in good condition for 

all people who live in or travel within Rochdale 

This means continuing to invest in maintaining Rochdale’s streets and roads for all 

people who use them, from fixing footways, crossings and potholes at the 

neighbourhood level to essential maintenance to structures on Rochdale’s Key Road 

Network.  

Priorities for investment over the next 5-years: 

Page 319



 
 

19 

Investment Priority Description 

Pothole Repair  Local walking / cycling investment plans to improve 
active Delivery of Central Government Pothole funding 
programme. 

Highway Maintenance Continued Council capital investment in the structure of 
the highway by way of an asset management-based 
approach to road resurfacing. 

Structures Maintenance Continued investment in structures using the Bridges 
Asset Management system and inspections. 

Forward Planning 
Maintenance 

Develop a plan and deliver how Highway Maintenance 
will be delivered in Rochdale from 2022 onwards at the 
conclusion of the current Highways Maintenance Term 
Service Contract. 

Page 320



 
 

20 

 
Map 4: Rochdale Implementation Plan Schemes 

P
age 321



 
 

21 

5. Indicators 

Rochdale Council and TfGM will work together to develop a monitoring framework to 

measure the success of the interventions within this Plan. It is anticipated that this 

will include aims and targets to measure success against the 5-Year Local 

Implementation Plan outcomes, carbon targets, and changes in mode-share to meet 

Right Mix targets 

Page 322



 

1 

Salford Summary GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20 

1. Introduction to Implementation Plan 

Salford has a vision for a ‘better and fairer Salford for all’, identifying a set of 8 key 

priorities: 

• Tackling poverty and inequality – Significant levels of poverty continue to exist 

in many parts of Salford. Working with our partners, we will take action to 

make things better for the many households struggling to make ends meet. 

We must also look to prevent people from falling into poverty in the first place, 

building on what we know is already working, as well as developing new ways 

of doing things. 

• Education and skills – Developing skills and a strong education offer. We want 

productive local jobs with real career progression and opportunities to develop 

skills and talents. 

• Health and social care – Working with our partners to improve health and 

wellbeing. 

• Economic development – Investment that provides jobs with decent wages. 

We will use our power and influence to target employers who have a 

commitment to giving something back in return – those who offer local jobs, 

look after their employees and pay them well. 

• Housing – Tackling soaring rents and a lack of affordable housing. 

• Transport – Connecting affordable transport with jobs and skills. 

• A transparent effective organisation – Delivering effective and efficient council 

services. 

• Social impact – Using social value to make the most difference in Salford. 

Making sure council money gets the most 'bang for its buck' for Salford 

residents. 

This Implementation Plan sets out how local transport will work toward these 

priorities, expanding upon Salford’s planned and current transport projects, set out in 

the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 5-Year Delivery Plan (2020-2025). 

this Implementation Plan is focussed on local, neighbourhood level priorities and 

interventions to be delivered across the Metropolitan Borough of Salford up to 2025. 

This provides an update to the previously published plans including Transport in 

Salford 20251, and the Central Salford Integrated Transport Strategy2. This sits 

within Salford’s wider growth ambition to deliver 40,000 new homes and 40,000 new 

jobs, by 2040. 

 
1 Salford City Council (2013) Transport in Salford 2025. Available: 

https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/386561/transport_in_salford_2025.pdf 
2 Salford City Council (2009) Central Salford Integrated Transport Strategy. Available: 
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/387349/central_salford_integrated_transport_strategy.pdf 

Page 323

https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/386561/transport_in_salford_2025.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/387349/central_salford_integrated_transport_strategy.pdf


 

2 

To achieve these ambitions, we have set four key transport-related outcomes which 

we would wish to see achieved by 2025.  These are:  

• Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys made by foot and by bike 

across Salford. 

• Enhancing sustainable travel opportunities to employment, education and 

health and social care services for Salford residents. 

• Strengthening connections between deprived residential areas with existing 

and emerging employment opportunities. 

• Supporting new sustainable housing development opportunities across 

Salford. 

These are consistent with the Delivery of Salford’s Local Plan, set out within a 

combination of the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (including land 

allocation), and development management policies and designations3. A summary of 

strategic schemes within the Transport Strategy 2040 5-Year Delivery Plan (2020-

2025) are provided below. 

1.1 Salford Publication Local Plan (2020) 

To create a fairer Salford, accessibility goals have been identified through the 

Publication Local Plan (2020): 

• Improving access for everyone to employment, retail and leisure opportunities 

within and around Salford. 

• Providing increased opportunities for walking and cycling, helping to support 

healthier lifestyles and reduce the costs of travel. 

• Increasing the proportion of trips that can be made by public transport, to 

increase inclusivity (especially for the 37% of Salford households that do not 

have access to a car) and reduce reliance on the private car. 

• Minimising the negative impacts of car use on quality of life.

 
3 Salford City Council (2020) Publication Local Plan: Development Management Policies and Designations. 
Available: https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/394997/publication-salford-local-plan-slpdmp-jan-2020.pdf 

Page 324

https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/394997/publication-salford-local-plan-slpdmp-jan-2020.pdf


 

3 

2. Strategic Transport Issues in Salford 

 

Page 325



 

4 

 

 

Page 326



 

5 

 

Map 1: Strategic Transport Interventions in Salford (2040 5-Year Delivery Plan 2020-2025)

P
age 327



 

6 

 

Map 2: Salford future land supply and existing strategic transport network (GMSF 2020, ELS 2018) 

P
age 328



 

7 

2.1. Covid-19 Recovery 

The Coronavirus pandemic represents a significant challenge for Salford residents, 

business and visitors. A detailed engagement was conducted during 2020 to 

understand resident’s top priorities, identifying almost 800 suggestions on the 

priorities for #SafeStreetsSaveLives, to address place and movement challenges. 

Over 2 weeks, the platform received over 4,000 visitors and 4,455 contributions for 

immediate interventions as part of national government’s drive to implement 

emergency active travel improvements.  

 
Map 3: Feedback from Salford’s engagement exercise  

Salford City Council were awarded £500,000 from the Greater Manchester Mayor’s 

Challenge Fund programme for temporary cycling and walking improvements and 

implemented a range of transport measures to safely enable Covid-19 recovery. This 

was further supported by an initial £1.5m allocation from the government’s 

Emergency Active Travel fund. This funding has enabled the delivery of active travel 

interventions such as modal filters to reduce through-traffic flows in busy or 

residential areas as well as protecting cycle lanes with improved segregation. Work 

has been completed at locations including Blackfriars Street, Liverpool Street, Irwell 

Street and in the Trinity and Islington area. 

Page 329



 

8 

Table 1: Key issues and proposals from Salford engagement exercise 

 

Emergency Active 
Travel Scheme 

Description 

Cycle Parking Additional short stay on-street cycle parking and residential 
cycle parking for households without space to store bikes. 

Barrier Removals Including overgrown vegetation, bollards and gates that 
you have to unnecessarily touch. Significant Vegetation 
cutbacks have been identified along busy highways. 

Modal Filters / 
Filtered 
Neighbourhoods 

Additional Modal filters to create Filtered Neighbourhoods 
in residential areas, reducing vehicle speeds, limiting 
people using residential streets as a cut through by non-
local vehicle traffic, and improve the local walking 
environment. 

Table 2: Emergency Active Travel Schemes and Descriptions 

This collaborative model of engagement worked well to inform an initial set of 

evidenced and supported emergency active travel measures, in response to the 

COVID-19 emergency. These interventions are being delivered alongside wider 

support services provided through the ‘Spirit of Salford’, a helpline for all residents to 

discuss a wide array of immediate issues that may arise through the period. Looking 

beyond, major strategic projects, including the interventions listed within this Local 

Implementation Plan, will ensure Salford can ‘build back better’, developing a 

pipeline of sustainable initiatives to stimulate the local economy. 

3. Spatial Themes, Challenges and Opportunities 

3.1. Trips made in Salford: 2040 Right Mix Vision 

Greater Manchester has an ambition that by 2040, that at least 50% of trips made 

within our city-region will be made by sustainable modes such as walking, cycling 

and public transport, and accounting for economic growth means one million more 

sustainable journeys every day in Greater Manchester by 2040. Achieving the Right 

Issues Proposals 

• Speeding 

• Gates you must touch to open 

• Not able to maintain 2m distance 
from others 

• Behaviour of road users  

• Volumes of traffic 

• Barriers that restrict access 

• Spaces to sit and wait 

• More parking 

• Better crossings 

• Temporary cycle path 

• Prevent through traffic 

• More space to walk 

• Reduce parking 

• Close street to cars 

• More space to cycle 

• Extend pavement 

• Reduce Traffic Speed  

Page 330



 

9 

Mix is expected to lead to zero net growth in motor vehicle traffic. This is known as 

the “Right Mix”.   

Salford is already making great steps toward this and at present approximately 40% 

of trips made in Salford are made by sustainable modes. The Greater Manchester 

2040 Transport Strategy introduces ‘spatial themes’ to segment the types of travel 

made to plan the most appropriate interventions. 

The most significant category of trips within Salford are Neighbourhood Trips (47%) 

where distances are under 2km. Approximately 33% of these trips are made by 

private car (driver or passenger) 4, yet many could be walked in just over 20 minutes, 

or even quicker by bicycle. There is the greatest scope for rapid modal shift 

progressing toward the ‘Right Mix’ if attractive opportunities are created for walking 

and cycling these trips. 

Further information on identifying and addressing specific connectivity issues across 

Greater Manchester can be found within the individual spatial themes are recorded 

within the GMSF Transport Study Reports5.  

  Neighbourhood 
Wider City 
Region 

Regional 
Centre 

City to 
City 

Salford 47% 32% 19% 1% 

GM 44% 38% 15% 4% 

 

 

Image 1 and 2: Salford’s current modeshare and GM Right Mix objectives 

 
4 TfGM (2020) TRADS years 3, 4 5. 
5 TfGM (2018) GMSF Spatial Framework Transport Study: Understanding the Issues (Part 1). Available: 
https://downloads.ctfassets.net/nv7y93idf4jq/4UjNKtvwXmxMPpsKXBJw7p/b9711987da7aa3b18326f208430efa8
2/GMSF_Transport_Study_Understanding_the_Issues_Report_Collated.pdf 

Page 331

https://downloads.ctfassets.net/nv7y93idf4jq/4UjNKtvwXmxMPpsKXBJw7p/b9711987da7aa3b18326f208430efa82/GMSF_Transport_Study_Understanding_the_Issues_Report_Collated.pdf
https://downloads.ctfassets.net/nv7y93idf4jq/4UjNKtvwXmxMPpsKXBJw7p/b9711987da7aa3b18326f208430efa82/GMSF_Transport_Study_Understanding_the_Issues_Report_Collated.pdf


 

10 

3.2. Strategic Development Areas 

As part of Salford’s ambition to deliver 40,000 new homes and jobs by 2040, there 

are several key growth areas and priority locations for transport investment that will 

deliver this growth in the City which are illustrated in the figure below. 

 
Map 4: Salford Strategic Development Map 

3.2.1. Salford City Centre 

The vision for City Centre Salford to 2040 is captured in the following objectives for 

this place: 

• A Great Place to live 

• A growing and diverse employment offer 

• A destination for culture and leisure 

• Conveniently connected 

• Urban lifestyle and outdoor life 

As the most significant location of housing and employment growth within Salford, 

and the converging point of a wide variety of transport infrastructure and services 

across North West England, a detailed review of travel challenges, opportunities, 

alongside a specific plan for transport, has been prepared for the adjacent city 

centres of Salford and Manchester. This can be found within the City Centre 

Transport Strategy. 

Development already complete in this area has started its transformation into a 

vibrant residential neighbourhood and increased the commercial office space at 

locations including Greengate and New Bailey. There has already been 

Page 332



 

11 

consolidation and removal of commuter parking spaces as part of the development 

of the area and it is well placed to take advantage of public transport links. These 

include rail stations at Salford Central and Salford Crescent and an extensive 

network of bus services that link this area to Greater Manchester and beyond. 

Salford has already delivered interventions in the area including the delivery of 

sustainable infrastructure improvement at New Bailey Street. This infrastructure 

project reallocated road space to deliver an enhanced pedestrian environment 

alongside sustainable drainage features. New Bailey also supports access for bus 

services including the Cross City Vantage service that deliver large volumes of 

passengers to and from the regional centre on a daily basis. 

Walking and cycling will be key modes for 

movement around this area in the future, 

especially for those who choose to live and 

work in this area. The delivery of a 

programme of enhancements to create a safer 

walking and cycling network has started with 

more to be delivered over the coming years. 

Examples of work to create more pedestrian 

and cycle friendly environments can already 

be seen at Bloom Street and Carpinio place. 

This will be complemented by the 

development of filtered neighbourhoods that 

seek to limit the impact of through traffic on 

residential areas to help support walking and 

cycling in these locations where many 

residents don’t own a car. Ultimately these 

projects will be linked to deliver safe routes 

through the area as part of Greater 

Manchester’s Bee Network proposals. 

Salford Central and Salford Crescent Rail Stations are key arrival points to Salford 

City Centre. A major upgrade of platform facilities at Salford Central Station is 

planned in the coming years to support greater passenger numbers and improved 

connections. Similarly, as part of the Salford Crescent masterplan further 

enhancements at the Crescent station, linked to our ambition for a new Metrolink line 

to Salford Quays will help to support more sustainable journey choices to support the 

growth of this area. 

The emerging Salford Crescent masterplan will see the transformation of the area 

around the University with the ambition to create an urban innovation district. This 

has the potential to deliver an additional 2500 homes and 6,500 jobs as the 

proposals are delivered over the next decade and beyond. Sustainable travel will be 

key to supporting this growth and key infrastructure ambitions include: 

• Bringing Metrolink to the Crescent to connect to Salford Quays and ultimately 

the Regional centre. This would create a transport hub at the Crescent that 

Image 3: New Bailey Street 
Gateway 

Page 333



 

12 

will also benefit from proposals to increase passenger capacity on the 

suburban rail network serving this rail line. 

• Linking both sides of the University Campus on Frederic Road to create 

Salford Rise, a podium structure linking a new innovation district and 

supporting access to the university campus by sustainable modes on a traffic 

free route. 

Upgrading the A6 at the Crescent to prioritise Walking, Cycling and Public 

Transport, initially to support existing high frequency bus transport but 

ultimately to accommodate Metrolink services. 

 
Map 5: Draft City Centre Bee network 

3.2.2. Salford Quays including MediaCityUK 

Salford Quays is a regeneration success story and is maturing into a diverse 

neighbourhood where people work, live and play. It has transformed an obsolete, 

derelict docklands to create the region’s premier waterfront destination.  

The Quays benefits from a number of key visitor attractions including the Lowry 

Centre and is the home to BBC Sports and Children’s departments. The BBC is 

based at a purpose built digital and tech hub and the wider MediaCityUK 

development includes the media campus for Salford University.  The arrival of 

MediaCityUK has provided the impetus needed to attract the next generation of jobs 

and has acted as a launch pad for even more ambitious growth.    

Page 334



 

13 

Salford Quays is once more positioned to take another leap forward, creating a 

dynamic and active centre that is an attraction for people who live there as well as 

visitors. It has the potential to deliver 3,000 new homes every three years and a 

doubling of current jobs by 2040. 

The area already benefits from the Eccles Metrolink line and the recently opened 

Trafford park line has stops within walking distance. The area is also served by key 

highway links and a bus services that link to Salford University and Regional centre. 

However, it is clear that the scale of development at Salford Quays will need to be 

supported by further investments in public transport capacity in the future to enable 

more trips to be made by sustainable modes. The Trafford Road project will support 

this ambition through the delivery of an upgraded corridor to for all users with the 

introduction of protected cycling facilities on this busy corridor.   Salford’s ambition is 

for a new Metrolink Line to be delivered to link the Quays to the heavy rail network at 

Salford Crescent and ultimately beyond into the regional centre.  

3.2.3. Greater Manchester’s Western Gateway including Port Salford 

Adjacent to the Manchester Ship Canal, the Western Gateway looks towards the 

Port of Liverpool and recent investments to accommodate post-panama sized 

vessels from around the world, enabling a direct global trading link for Salford. Port 

Salford is identified as a major economic opportunity for the City of Salford and 

Greater Manchester. Currently under construction, once completed it will include a 

tri-modal freight hub, improving the sustainability of Greater Manchester’s distribution 

and supply chain activity. 

This will be enabled through the provision of an inland port, rail spur, and improved 

highway access to the Strategic Road Network with 150,000m2 of employment 

floorspace. A further 370,000m2 of employment floor space is included in the 

Greater Manchester Spatial Framework to deliver a second phase of logistics 

development. This site could potentially deliver up to 5,000 jobs across both phases 

and creates one of the most significant new warehouse and logistics sites in the UK. 

The transportation elements are essential to its success, and further future 

expansion has been identified through the GMSF. 

While the area is close to the motorway network new highway infrastructure is 

needed to ensure provide efficient connections to the new port and rail facilities. The 

option to move significant volumes of freight by rail and water has the potential to 

make a significant reduction to carbon emissions associated with the movement of 

goods to and from Greater Manchester as well as providing efficient connections to 

an increasingly global market. A highway solution delivered here will need to 

adequately address local and strategic highway requirements, ensuring effective 

operation of both. The location falls within the scope of areas considered as part of 

Highways England study into the M60 Manchester North West Quadrant. Salford will 

continue to work with partners to seek the delivery of the infrastructure needed to 

support the continuing growth of the Western Gateway.  

The Western Gateway is also home to Salford Community Stadium where the 

surrounding land is anticipated to generate further development opportunities that 

could support and additional c500 jobs at this location. Key to maximising the 

Page 335



 

14 

potential of this location will be strengthening public transport connections and 

Salford’s ambition is for this area to be connected to the Metrolink network via an 

extension of the Trafford Park line. 

An initial assessment of the interventions that may be required to support this site 

has been undertaken within the Locality Assessments prepared as part of the 

GMSF, and potential interventions are listed within the Appendix of the 2020-2025 

Delivery Plan 

 

Image 4: Port Salford Phase 1 + Phase 2 

3.2.4. RHS Garden Bridgewater 

The RHS will open their fifth national garden, RHS Garden Bridgewater, in Salford in 

2021 on the 154-acre former Worsley New Hall site. The site is expected to attract 

around 700,000 visitors annually by 2031, supporting an estimated 326 jobs. To help 

encourage visitors to use sustainable transport modes to visit the site a cycling and 

walking route from Walkden train station is proposed, linking to local communities 

and also connecting the site to the Bridgewater Canal towpath. Close by are 

Salford’s extensive Mossland habitats which form the largest open area of land in the 

City and have the potential to act as a green lung for the City. Salford’s investments 

in traffic free walking and cycling routes, including the Salford Greenway, have 

demonstrated the potential to increase access for recreation in this area by foot and 

by bike in the future to support work to protect and enhance this important landscape 

for future generations to enjoy. 

3.3. Salford’s Towns and Neighbourhoods 

Salford’s towns of Eccles, Swinton and Walkden are relatively small compared to 

some of the larger towns in Greater Manchester but each has a district centre that 

serves a wider established residential area. Salford’s towns face a number of 

challenges through changes in shopping habits and the catchment areas for these 

centres include both affluent and deprived neighbourhoods. Whilst not matching the 

Page 336



 

15 

scale of growth elsewhere in Salford there is potential for further residential growth in 

these areas. The centres of these town present the opportunity for sustainable 

residential growth as retail uses have declined. All three towns have a rail station 

and are well connected by bus services. 

Ensuring that residents have safe routes to access these centres on foot and by bike 

is an important part of our aspirations for the Bee Network in Salford. 

Salford’s ambition for its towns is that by 2040 at least 50% of trips will be made by 

sustainable modes such as walking, cycling and public transport in line with the Right 

Mix aspirations for Greater Manchester. This will require more support for active 

modes and public transport supporting greater access to and around our towns 

without the need to use a car. 

Through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework, the local centres of Little 

Hulton and Boothstown are also prioritised for residential growth due to their 

proximity to strategic local transport links where development can be accommodated 

most sustainably. Existing strategic transport corridors and the interventions 

proposed within the 5-Year Delivery Plan to strengthen them such as the Leigh-

Salford-Manchester Bus Rapid Transit Corridor, Wigan via Atherton Rail Corridor, 

and M61 corridor are fundamental to accommodating this growth. Further 

information on these allocations can be found within the GMSF and respective 

Transport Locality Assessments. 

A range of policy standards are proposed within Salford to encourage sustainable 

travel behaviours in new developments. These include, but are not limited to, electric 

vehicle charging provisions, maximum general car parking space provisions, as well 

as minimum bicycle parking standards. 

3.3.1. Locations beyond Salford 

Growth beyond the borough will also place pressure on Salford’s transport networks. 

The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework provides a coordinated approach 

between the 10 local authorities to facilitate this growth through the accompanying 5-

year Delivery Plan. Outside of Greater Manchester, developments within Warrington 

at Stretton, Grappenhall, Omega, Haydock and within St Helens at Parkside and 

Newton-le-Willows will increase demand on the existing corridors of the M62, A57, 

and CLC and Chat Moss heavy rail lines. Salford will continue to work with partners 

such as neighbouring authorities and national transport bodies to identify and deliver 

appropriate solutions to mitigate the impacts of new development. 

3.4. Salford Transport Policy Priorities 

3.4.1. Highways 

A summary of achievements of Salford’s current Highway Investment Programme is 

provided. Since 2011/12, investment in the highway network has achieved: 

• Highways in critical condition have fallen from 9.3% to 8%; 

Page 337



 

16 

• Highways where maintenance will be soon required has fallen from 48.1% to 

40%. 

• Highways in a good overall condition has risen from 42.6% to 52%. 

• Resurfacing 1329 Roads. 

• Resurfacing or reconstructing 627 Footways. 

Continued investment in the Drainage Network since 2012 has achieved: 

• 1945 gullies cleared and running freely  

• 986 seized gully covers freed, greased and operational 

• 567 collapsed gully connections repaired 

• 1428 defective gully pots replaced 

• 662 damaged gully covers replaced 

• 362 general highway drainage repairs removing localised flooding issues 

Since the start of the Culvert Investment over the last three years the works have 

safeguarded areas of Salford from flood risk, ensuring proactive cost effective 

repairs and desilting works have avoided disruptive and more significant reactive 

repairs in future. This has led to a demonstrable reduction in reactive maintenance 

orders to repair defects (those which could cause harm or injury to persons or 

property) across the City’s highways network from 17,600 issued in 2011/12 to 7,651 

issued in 2019/20. 

Salford’s suite of highway policy and strategy provides local detail building on 

Greater Manchester’s Streets for All approach: 

• Highway infrastructure asset management plan (HIAMP) 

o Salford's highway infrastructure is an asset valued at £1.2 billion and it 

is vitally important that it is protected and maintained efficiently within 

the constraints of currently available resources so that a defined level 

of service can be provided for road users.  

• Highway policy and strategy 

o Provides a summary of the available policy statements which support 

the highways infrastructure asset management plan.  

• Salford City Council highway inspection code of practice 

o Demonstrating how Salford City Council will inspect and repair the 

highway to reduce risk and provide a safe serviceable highway network 

to comply with Section 41 Highways Act 1980.  

• Operational standards document 

o The operational policies and standards of Salford City Council for the 

management of its highway assets, identifying good practice in line 

with the recommendations in the national code of practice. 

• Salford local flood risk management strategy 

o A framework for the effective management of local flood risk in Salford. 

• Winter weather maintenance plan 

o To provide safe movement of traffic on trunk, principal, classified and 

district roads in the city of Salford, minimising delays and incidents 

caused by adverse winter weather. 

• Skid resistance policy 

Page 338



 

17 

o Details of Salford's skid resistance policy including the investigation 

process. 

• Resilient Highway Network 

o The roads prioritised within the Salford city boundary that are required 

to be operational in severe weather conditions to allow essential 

services to function reliably and safely and to ensure movement of 

traffic within Salford.  

• Weekly roadworks bulletin 

o Enabling the general public to view planned major road works on the 

highway network in Salford or affecting Salford's network. It is 

distributed to relevant stakeholders, including local and national media 

outlets for wider communication.  

• Statutory instrument - The Traffic Management Act (Salford City 

Council) Permit Scheme Order 2013 

o The 'Greater Manchester Permit Scheme' under Section 33A (2) of the 

Traffic Management Act 2004 includes information on how utility 

companies should operate in Salford. Details of Greater Manchester 

Road Activities Permit Scheme (GMRAPS)  

 

3.4.2. Public Transport 

Salford has a substantial network of bus and rail services that provide access to and 

around the City. Recent investment in cross city Vantage bus services has seen as 

many as 70,000 passengers in a week chose to use this frequent bus service along 

the guided busway and A580. However, these services are concentrated mainly on 

radial routes meaning that some locations are difficult to access due to the lack of 

corridors enabling North-South (orbital) movement across Salford. This often leads 

to private vehicles being a more attractive option than public transport resulting in 

congestion on our highway network. Salford’s ambition is for more investment in our 

wider bus network to bring the benefits enjoyed on the Vantage service to a wider 

set of routes linking our communities to leisure and employment opportunities. 

Our rail network has significant potential to support additional trips by sustainable 

modes but need significant investment to help it reach this potential. Investment is 

needed both in station infrastructure and train services, with an increase in capacity 

and frequency of services to help these routes reach their potential. Salford’s 

aspiration is for our rail network to aspire to a Metrolink standard of modern rail 

facilities providing a fast and frequent journey’s for residents of our established 

towns and residential communities. The Metrolink network in Salford serves key 

employment leisure destinations at Salford Quays and also one of our important 

town centres at Eccles. Salford’s ambition is for an expansion of the Metrolink 

network in Salford to link Salford Quays and the Crescent with the regional centre 

and also to extend the Trafford Park line to serve Salford Community Stadium in the 

Western Gateway. 

 

 

Page 339



 

18 

3.4.3. Active Travel  

Salford has been making excellent progress in delivering the first elements of a high 

quality cycling and walking network, and these services and support to help 

residents and visitors benefit from it across the borough, as part of Greater 

Manchester’s Bee Network ambition, and the aspirations set out by Chris Boardman 

in Made to Move.  

Salford has recently improved its network of quality traffic-free cycling and walking 

infrastructure to encourage physical activity in recent years, including: Roe Green 

Loopline, Linnyshaw Loopline, Tyldesley Loopline, Ellenbrook Loopline, Port Salford 

Greenway and the Bridgewater Way. These routes will be strengthened further 

through the tying in of further projects identified within section 5. Beyond corridor 

improvements, it is also essential to deliver safer and more attractive crossings and 

junctions. For example, many main roads, such as the Inner Relief Route or Broad 

St, have limited crossing points and currently sever the communities on either side of 

these busy roads. This is why a number of interventions set out in section 5 include 

interventions designed to reduce the severance impact of these routes.  

However, there are still issues of severance caused by the Manchester Ship Canal 

and the River Irwell where movement is limited to a few crossings. 

  

Map 6: Salford Looplines traffic free network 

Page 340



 

19 

Opportunities are provided to support residents to get active, including through 

Salford’s Health Improvement Services, providing organised group activities 

including walking, running cycling and dog walking groups. Engagement with 

Salford’s residents has been critical to developing plans, and the Cycling and 

Walking forum provides regular open discussions and a recognised engagement 

channel for members to raise issues and make suggestions. 

3.5. Preparing for changing travel needs and transport innovations 

Salford recognises that the needs of its residents are changing and, for example, 

smaller numbers of the next generation are learning to drive. This same generation 

are much more likely to use technology to broaden their travel options and the 

adoption of new technology can help us to make the best use of our existing 

transport assets. Salford is working on a number of projects that will help to give 

more opportunities for residents to make different and more effective journey 

choices: 

• A trial of e-scooters starting at Salford University with the potential to expand 

to cover a wider operating area as the trial develops. 

• Using smart sensors to determine near real time activity on our network, 

including counting the numbers of pedestrians and cyclists to influence both 

the operation and future development of our transport networks. 

• Expanding our network of electric vehicle charging points to support the wider 

adoption of electric vehicles on our network. 

• Working with Transport for Greater Manchester to trial the use of 5G 

communications technology and Artificial Intelligence to improve the efficiency 

of our traffic signals; 

• Working with partners including Salford university to understand the impact of 

Connected and Autonomous Vehicles on our network. 

• Supporting the potential to develop Mobility as a Service applications for 

residents following a successful trial supported by Transport for Greater 

Manchester. 

• Continuing to develop Salford’s car club to reduce the need for individual car 

ownership 

• Working with partners to support the development of smart and multimodal 

ticketing to encourage more use of our public transport network. 

 

Page 341



 

20 

 
Image 5: E-Scooter Trial Scooters  

Page 342



 

21 

4. 5-Year Local Implementation Plan Outcomes for Salford 

Ambition, Engagement and Collaboration 

Critical to delivering real change against Salford’s 8 priorities will be high quality, 

resilient and sustainable solutions that improve the quality of place, encouraging 

sustainable behaviours consistent with Greater Manchester’s Right Mix Vision. 

As part of citizen led approach to highway network development, residents and 

visitors to Salford have voiced their thoughts on the key priorities. This began 

through the drafting and redrafting of Greater Manchester’s Bee Network, which 

attracted over 4,000 public comments to propose an ambitious 1,800 mile network. 

Following the lessons learned during the Bee Network development, community 

engagement was continued on Covid-19 recovery measures, noted in section 3. 

 
Map 7: Greater Manchester Bee Network Map comments 

The outcomes below will be achieved through a continued and overarching principle 

of community engagement and collaboration. This feedback will reinforce an 

evidenced and supported set of prioritised interventions that meet the needs of local 

communities, while learning from best practice previously applied elsewhere. 

 

 

 

Page 343



 

22 

4.1. Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys made by foot and by 

bike across Salford 

Following ongoing public engagement following the initial development of Greater 

Manchester’s Bee Network proposal, Salford has developed a comprehensive set of 

future highway schemes to encourage cycling and walking, for delivery over the next 

5 years to help achieve this fundamental outcome. Continued consultation will help 

refine detailed design of these further, alongside the generation of further scheme 

proposals for neighbourhoods utilising methods like the Commonplace platform. 

The schemes committed for delivery in the next 5 years, are as follows: 

A set of additional local priorities have been identified for business case 
development: 

Scheme Name Description 

Mayor's Challenge Fund: Chapel 
Street East Phase 1 Demonstrator 
Project 

Busy Bee route delivery in Salford city 
centre. 

Mayor's Challenge Fund: SBNI - A6 
Broad Street / B6186 Frederick Road 

Junction upgrade to facilitate Bee 
Network connections in the Salford 
University area. 

Mayor's Challenge Fund: Swinton and 
Walkden 

Junction upgrades for cycling and walking 
in Swinton and Walkden. 

Mayor's Challenge Fund: Swinton 
Greenway 

Busy Bee route delivery in Swinton 
through upgrade of former rail line. 

Mayor's Challenge Fund: Trafford 
Road 

Busy Bee route on Trafford Road, Salford 
Quays. 

Mayor's Challenge Fund: Barton 
Aqueduct 

Reinstatement of towpath on historic 
Aqueduct, providing a key Bee Network 
connection between Trafford Park and 
Eccles/Barton-upon-Irwell. 

Mayor's Challenge Fund: RHS Links Bee Network connections to new RHS 
Bridgewater site in Worsley. 

Mayor’s Challenge Fund: City Centre 
Bee Network Package 

Including interventions at: 

• Broughton Cycleway 
Enhancements 

• Chapel Street/Trinity Way 

• Chapel Street East Phase 2 

• Gore Street Connection 

• Oldfield Road Corridor 

• Ordsall Chord Riverside 
Connection 

• St. Johns to New Bailey Bridge 

Page 344



 

23 

Scheme Name  Description 

Mayor's Challenge Fund: Monton Bee Network delivery in Monton. 

Mayor's Challenge Fund: Trinity 
Way/Springfield Lane Junction Upgrade 

Junction upgrade to facilitate Bee 
Network connections. 

Mayor’s Challenge Fund: Liverpool 
Street Junctions 

Junction upgrades to MCF standard 
(Albion Way and Cross Lane) 

Mayor's Challenge Fund: Liverpool 
Street Corridor 

Busy Beeway delivery on Liverpool St to 
facilitate a major cycling and walking 
connection to the city centre from the 
west. 

Mayor's Challenge Fund: Ordsall 
Neighbourhood 

Active Neighbourhood delivery in 
Ordsall. 

Little Hulton and Walkden 
Neighbourhoods 

Active Neighbourhood scheme in Little 
Hulton and Walkden 

Swinton Neighbourhood Active Neighbourhood scheme in 
Swinton 

Pendleton Neighbourhood (Cross lane-
Langworthy Road area) 

Active Neighbourhood scheme in 
Pendleton 

Innovation Triangle Bee Network delivery in 
University/Eccles/Salford Quays area 

Walkden Crossings Bee Network delivery in Walkden area 

Cheshire Lines Connection (Trafford 
Greenway) 

New Bee Network connection linking 
Irlam to Altrincham along the former 
Cheshire Lines rail alignment, crossing 
the Manchester Ship Canal at 
Cadishead. 

 

Page 345



 

24 

 
Map 8:   Salford’s Bee Network Proposals including Committed and 5-Year Priority Active Travel Schemes

P
age 346



 

25 

4.2. Enhancing sustainable travel opportunities to employment, education 

and health and social care services for Salford residents 

Local connections to and from stations, including walking routes, cycle parking and 

links to bus services are of variable quality, and must be improved to further 

encourage people to use sustainable transport. While settlements like Little Hulton 

may be located close to rapid transit corridors, access to services are currently 

limited, and upgraded access to stations, or new stations where possible, will be 

pursued. 

The delivery of a park and ride and travel hub facility at Walkden Railway station will 

completement plans to deliver modern station facilities to support more people to use 

the station. Government funding from the Access for All programme will be used to 

install a new lift at Walkden and will form part of a package of improvements for the 

area which includes 107 park and ride spaces, disabled and cycle parking and 

electric vehicle charging points close to the station. The work also includes the 

provision of new walking and cycling routes to link Walkden with the soon to open 5th 

national garden, RHS Garden Bridgewater. This programme of work will further 

support this busy station to play a key transport role supporting local communities 

helping them to make sustainable journey choices. This integrated approach to rail 

station infrastructure and access will guide further work at other rail stations to 

support a growth in rail journeys in the future. 

Salford Royal Hospital is a key provider of healthcare to our communities and the 

wider region. The Hospital is well connected via the bus network and is also served 

by the Eccles tram line. The hospital is expanding its services with the development 

of a new Acute Receiving Centre which will incorporate a helipad for patients arriving 

by air ambulance. Proposals for an intermediate care unit on Stott Lane have also 

been approved by the City Council. Work as part of this expansion and our Bee 

Network programme will look at how the hospital can be better connected to local 

neighbourhoods to encourage more trips to be made by active modes, particularly 

for those who commute to the hospital to work. 

As a key part of Salford’s innovation triangle links to Salford University and Salford 

Quays are important to ensuring that collaboration between the key organisations at 

these locations is sustained and supported. Enhancing access to this area will 

include considering opportunities for bus rapid transit services and how current 

services can be better connected to our key transport hubs. 

Salford has been working in partnership with the NHS for a number of years to co-

locate Council and NHS services at key Gateway centres. Eccles, Pendleton, 

Swinton, Broughton and Walkden all benefit from this approach where key services 

are accessed by the public in a single building. These buildings are located in our 

town centres benefiting from key public transport links that help to make these 

services more accessible to residents. These locations will benefit further as 

proposals for active neighbourhoods and the bee network of cycle routes are 

delivered enhancing access for communities to key local services. 

 

Page 347



 

26 

4.3. Strengthening connections between deprived residential areas with 

existing and emerging employment opportunities 

Local access to employment sites is critical. There are instances where severance 

caused by significant infrastructure such as the Manchester Ship Canal limited job 

opportunities for Salford residents. Salford has been successful in recent years 

securing new crossings to join residents and employment as new development is 

identified, for example new local highway crossings at the Western Gateway at 

Trafford Park, and bridges to connect MediaCityUK to the War Museum and the 

connection From Greengate to Manchester Cathedral. These crossings support 

active journeys by making direct links between residential, employment and leisure 

destinations. Salford will look for further opportunities as development comes 

forward to pursue connectivity improvements, for example the aspiration for a 

sustainable transport crossing of the Ship Canal to serve the communities of Irlam 

and Cadishead, unlocked by new development opportunities at Irlam and Carrington. 

The ambition to enhance our bus and rail networks set out in section 4.3.2 above is 

also a key factor in supporting more journeys to our employment sites for those who 

might not own a car. There are a number of key routes that are included for further 

study in the 2040 delivery plan that could benefit from 

4.4. Supporting new sustainable housing development opportunities across 

Salford 

Housing is one of the most pressing issues in modern Britain and Salford is no 

different. Over the past 40 years we have not been building enough homes to 

replace ageing stock and accommodate the needs of an increasing population. 

In Salford our problem is acute, partially because of the huge economic growth our 

city has seen in recent years. This has included an increase in population as 

residents, who otherwise would have left, stay on in our city to work and make it their 

home and others move to Salford to gain employment. 

Salford’s growth ambition is to deliver an additional 40,000 homes in the city by 

2040. To deliver this growth we will focus on supporting the delivery of housing 

where residents are well connected to public transport links as well as our walking 

and cycling network. The bulk of our anticipated housing growth is anticipated to be 

delivered in the core areas of Salford that are well served by public transport links 

and many facilities are within a short walk or bike ride. 

Many residents in these areas already live without a car and new developments will 

have limited car parking in recognition of the public transport links that serve these 

key development areas. Similarly, new developments will be expected to deliver 

facilities that encourage walking and cycling as the natural mode choice for shorter 

journeys either on site, for example by providing bike parking facilities, and through 

connections to local cycling and walking networks.  

 

 

Page 348



 

27 

4.5. Ensuring local centres and streets are safe, well-maintained, and 

attractive, through a Streets for All approach. 

Learning from successful schemes already implemented, for example where high-

quality public realm, has been combined with green infrastructure and sustainable 

drainage to encourage people to dwell and enjoy places, such as New Bailey Street, 

will shape the next phase of interventions. 

The proposed scheme for Chapel Street East for example, incorporates high quality 

public realm with clearly delineated street space including continuous uninterrupted 

cycling facilities, bus stop by-passes, SUDS through associated green space and 

continuous side street crossings to prioritise people walking and cycling through 

Salford City Centre. This exciting example demonstrates the opportunities available 

to develop locally tailored schemes appropriate to their communities, across Salford. 

 

Image 6: Chapel Street East Proposals 

 

Page 349



 

28 

 
Map 9: Salford’s Local Implementation Plan Priorities

P
age 350



 

29 

5. Indicators  

Salford Council and TfGM will work together to develop a monitoring framework to 

measure the success of the interventions within this Plan. It is anticipated that this 

will include aims and targets to measure success against the 5-Year Local 

Implementation Plan outcomes, carbon targets, and changes in mode-share to meet 

Right Mix targets. 

Page 351



 

 1 

Stockport GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20 

1. Introduction  

This Implementation Plan sets out how we will work towards our priorities including 

economic growth, improving the environment and social inclusion by building on 

Stockport’s planned and current transport projects, many of which are set out in the 

Greater Manchester Transport Strategy (GMTS) 2040 5-Year Delivery Plan (2020-

2025).  

While the 5-year Delivery Plan tends to consider large, medium and long-term 

transport schemes, this Implementation Plan is mainly focussed on local, 

neighbourhood level priorities and interventions to 2025. A summary of strategic 

schemes within the 5 Year Delivery Plan are included in Map 1.  

Stockport Council has been developing strategic transport interventions between 

Stockport borough and northern parts of Cheshire East (including Manchester 

Airport) since the South East Manchester Multi-Modal Strategy (SEMMMS) was 

developed in 2001. Now in its second iteration, the draft SEMMMS Refresh (2019) is 

continuing to develop transport interventions and improvements to support the 

growth plans and objectives of the adopted Cheshire East Local Plan and the 

emerging Greater Manchester Spatial Framework. The preparation of the strategy 

has involved engagement with TfGM and neighbouring authorities in Greater 

Manchester, as well as Derbyshire County Council, the High Peak Borough Council 

and the Peak District National Park Authority. 

The draft SEMMMS Refresh sets out a clear vision to deliver a transport network that 

supports inclusive sustainable growth, improves quality of life and protects the 

environment. Three primary objectives are identified which include:  

- Support sustainable economic growth and promote urban regeneration 

- Improve quality of life, safety, health and quality of opportunity 

- Contribute to protecting the built and natural environments.  

To achieve these ambitions the following key transport-related outcomes have been 

identified to achieve by 2025: 

Outcome 1 Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 
made by foot and by bike in Stockport’s district and local centres 

Outcome 2 Enhanced connections to and within Stockport town centre by foot, 
bike, and public transport 

Outcome 3 Improved rail capacity and improved facilities across Stockport 

Outcome 4 Transport Network in Stockport will be clean and green and well-
maintained 

Page 352



 

 2 

Outcome 5 Stockport residents, workers and visitors have good access to 
Rapid transit connections and local public transport connectivity 

Outcome 6 Stockport’s highway network will be well-maintained and 
congestion pinch-points will be addressed to support active travel 
and public transport.   

The remainder of this plan presents how Stockport Council will work with its transport 

partners and stakeholders to make good progress towards these outcomes in the 

next 5 years. The steps are ambitious, and the development and delivery of the 

interventions will require a significant level of funding and resource. This will require 

all partners to continue to work closely together to secure the required funding from 

Government to develop and deliver these schemes.  

As the longer-term impacts of covid-19 on travel and transport become clearer, the 

identified outcomes and measures will continue to be reviewed.

Page 353



 

 3 

1.1. Stockport’s Delivery Plan Schemes 2020 – 2025 

Map 1 below sets out schemes committed for delivery, business case development or option development in Stockport in GMTS2040 Delivery 

Plan.  

 

P
age 354



 

 4 

2. Stockport Borough Strategic Transport Issues  

Right Mix and Carbon Neutral by 2038 

TfGM’s current Right-Mix aim is for 50% of trips to be made by sustainable modes 

across GM, as set out of the GMTS 2040.  However, with only 39% of trips currently 

being made by sustainable modes, the number of journeys being made by walking, 

cycling or public transport will have to increase in order to meet the GM ambition for 

the city-region to be carbon neutral by 2038. 

In recognition of these issues, Stockport Council has declared a climate emergency 

and has committed towards ensuring that the borough is carbon neutral by 2050, 

and that the Council is carbon neutral by 2038. 

In addition, the Council are continuing to identify and deliver ways of reducing the 

carbon impact of transport, including supporting measures to increase sustainable 

journeys, especially for shorter trips, and investing more in infrastructure such as the 

Bus Interchange and several cycling and walking MCF schemes. 

Currently 62% of all trips that start in Stockport Borough are made by car or van, 

11.9% by public transport and 25.3% by active travel (4.3% lower than GM 

average).1 Local reductions in car-based trips are therefore needed to meet TfGM’s 

Right Mix targets and to ensure health and air quality benefits for people living in 

Stockport.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Image 1: Stockport’s current modeshare and GM Right Mix objectives 

 
1 TRADS database 

Page 355



 

 5 

Stockport has also been working on several programmes to support the Right Mix 

aims. The Council’s Play Streets Policy, adopted in 2013, explains how residents 

can set up temporary road closures to allow children to play on the street outside 

where they live, restricted to specific days or time durations. Stockport is the only 

district in Greater Manchester to have such a policy and has issued temporary street 

play orders for three different residential streets in Stockport to date.  

Moreover, Stockport has recently developed its Cycling and Walking Plan which was 

adopted in 2019. The Plan sets out the council’s ambition for delivering a high quality 

and fully connected walking and cycling network to enable walking and cycling to 

become the natural choices for all ages and abilities. The Plan is expected to be 

reviewed after 5 years to take account of changing priorities after the early 

implementation phases of the Bee Network/Mayoral Challenge Fund and LCWIP 

proposals. 

Supporting Economic Growth (employment and housing growth) 

Stockport has recently seen growth in its town centre residential offering, with 74 

homes having been completed at a part of the Covent Garden Village development 

in 2019, with the scheme expected to deliver around 200 new homes when 

complete. This has been complemented by the growth of the town centre office 

market, with Phase 3 of Stockport Exchange having been completed in June 2020. 

Significant further housing growth is also expected, with up to 3,000 homes being 

built as a part of Stockport Town Centre West regeneration, in addition to in the 

region of a further 3,000 homes being delivered elsewhere in the town centre, 

including 196 flats being built as a part of the Stockport Interchange. 

Out of the town centre, in 2018 the A6 Manchester Airport Relief Road (A6MARR) 

was opened and now provides a new 10km link between Hazel Grove and 

Manchester Airport. This has opened up new employment opportunities at the 

Airport as a result of improved connectivity with the wider road network and south 

Manchester generally. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 356



 

 6 

Further infrastructure will also be required to support access by sustainable modes 

to the proposed GMSF allocations, including: 

• Bredbury Park Extension 

• Former Offerton High School 

• Heald Green 1 

• Heald Green 2 

• Woodford Aerodrome 

• High Lane 

• Hyde Bank Meadows 

These sites will support the council’s growth ambitions across the borough over the 

coming years. 

Enhancing Air Quality  

Parts of Stockport borough are found within the Greater Manchester Air Quality 

Management Area (AQMA), which measures exceedances in levels of nitrogen 

dioxide (NO2) across the region. Detailed analysis indicates that sections of the A34 

and A6, as well as numerous road links around Stockport town centre, and on the 

road network near to M60 J25 in Bredbury, could potentially be in breach of 2020 

legal NO2 limits.2  

Despite this, Stockport shows a downwards trend in Nox readings across the 

network3, with compliance likely to occur by 2023 in Stockport – a year ahead of the 

predicted compliance date for GM.4 This reduction in nitrogen dioxide exceedances 

will be supported by ongoing work taking place across the borough and GM, 

including the ongoing delivery of a GM Clean Air Plan, the early stage delivery of 

GM’s EV charge point network and the cycling and walking Beelines Network.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
2 SEMMMS Refresh 
3 2019 Air Quality Annual Status Report  
4 http://democracy.stockport.gov.uk/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=154148 

Page 357

http://democracy.stockport.gov.uk/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=154148


 

 7 

Greater Manchester’s particulate matter (PM) PM10 AQMA was revoked in 2006 

(Greater Manchester Air Quality Action Plan 2016-2021), although TfGM continue to 

monitor both PM10 and PM2.5 as a significant proportion of fine particulate 

emissions continue to be caused by non-exhaust sources, such as tyre and brake 

wear, road abrasion and suspended material (Ibid). Monitoring of particulate matter 

and NO2 will ensure no further air quality exceedances occur. 

Improving the Quality of Life/Reducing Inequalities Across the Borough  

Although Stockport borough has a higher than average life expectancy and lower 

than average mortality from cardiovascular disease compared to England, pockets of 

inequality still exist (Public Health England). Brinnington and parts of the town centre 

are located within the 10% most deprived neighbourhoods in the country, in contrast 

to the more affluent suburbs in the south of the borough (IMD 2019 LSOA Online 

Map).  

Demography is also another issue effecting Stockport, with 19.8% of the borough’s 

residents over the age of 65 – higher than the figure for GM, the North West and 

England (Public Health England). This figure is expected to increase in the future, with 

an increasing proportion of people over this age (Public Health England). This could 

place greater pressure on public transport provision and community transport, along 

with an increase in food and medical supplies being delivered to people with 

restricted mobility or who are disabled.  

In terms of road incident casualties, there has been a 17% decrease (based on 

2005-2008 baseline) in the number of people being killed or seriously injured (KSI) in 

Stockport, with 64 KSIs in 2018 (GMTU Report, 2009). This indicates road safety in 

the borough is improving, although more work needs to be done to reduce this 

number further.   

The M60 motorway running east-west across the borough acts as a barrier to 

movement, especially for people wanting to access Stockport town centre from 

established residential areas to the north. Similarly, the severance caused by the 

borough’s major roads such as the A6 and A34 makes accessing local amenities on 

foot or by bike increasingly difficult. The River Mersey, Goyt and Tame also act as 

barriers to movement, although improvements to the borough’s walking and cycling 

network continue to be made, such as the recent installation of Woodbank Park 

Bridge improving connectivity between Bredbury and Little Moor. 

  

Page 358

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/life%20expectancy#page/3/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000002/ati/102/are/E08000007/iid/90362/age/1/sex/1/cid/4/page-options/car-do-0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/life%20expectancy#page/3/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000002/ati/102/are/E08000007/iid/90362/age/1/sex/1/cid/4/page-options/car-do-0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/life%20expectancy#page/3/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000002/ati/102/are/E08000007/iid/90362/age/1/sex/1/cid/4/page-options/car-do-0


 

 8 

In order to reduce inequalities across the borough, the Council has developed an 

Active Communities Strategy (adopted in 2019) which aims to take a ‘whole system’ 

approach to identifying and prioritising actions to improve health and wellbeing 

throughout the borough. The Strategy utilises both national and local guidance and 

legislation to promote physical activity; promotes ways of enhancing natural and built 

cycling and walking networks; and sets out how the council works with partners and 

community groups, involves individuals, and listens and responds to the 

communities’ needs.  

Public Transport Reliability, Capacity and Connectivity  

Public transport provision in Stockport suffers from reliability and capacity issues with 

poor connectivity within the borough as well as to neighbouring district centres 

outside the borough too. Moreover, towards the south of the borough towards the 

High Peak and rural parts of Cheshire, access to public transport can be severely 

limited.  

Stockport has an advantageous location on the West Coast Main Line and benefits 

from strategic routes (London-Manchester and beyond) which enhance the station’s 

image as a ‘Southern Gateway’ into Greater Manchester and the north.  

However, capacity improvements on the local railway network have struggled to 

keep up with demand. Infrastructure pinch-points on the network include Slade Lane 

Junction (Airport Line joins WCML), Heaton Norris Junction (to Reddish South, 

Guide Bridge and Stalybridge), Stockport Station platform configuration and Edgeley 

Junctions 1 (Hazel Grove / Buxton) and 2 (Mid-Cheshire). These pinch-points affect 

capacity utilisation in the Stockport area, with the network between Manchester 

Piccadilly, Stockport and southwards to Cheadle Hulme and Hazel Grove at >90% 

capacity (although south of this, capacity constraints are less severe). The network’s 

track layout exacerbates this problem and contributes towards significant conflicting 

train movements too (Information taken from South Manchester CMSP Question 

ITSS Workshop).   

Stockport also suffers from long east-west bus journeys, with some services not 

serving local residential areas as best they could. Similarly, journeys times into 

Manchester city centre are slow and can be made worse by congestion caused by 

local traffic. Airport connectivity by bus and other modes is also poor and is not 

reflective of travel patterns of passengers and staff.    

Highways Congestion 

Stockport suffers from high levels of congestion, with traffic frequently queuing along 

the A6 and A34, with Gatley crossroads a particularly bad junction for queues. In 

addition, the road network surrounding the M60 suffers from severe air quality 

exceedances caused by queuing traffic, with the M60 frequently delayed too.    

Page 359



 

 9 

Congestion in Stockport is caused by several factors, including high levels of vehicle 

ownership (527 cars per 1000 people) and single vehicle occupancy (approximately 

78% of journeys in the morning peak are driver only), and a high proportion of 

Stockport residents (50%) who are managers and directors or in professional 

occupations who travel longer distances than lower skilled workers. Stockport’s 

major roads also act as a corridor for people commuting from Cheshire and 

Derbyshire to Manchester and is reflected in the cross-boundary travel patterns 

between these different areas (Census 2011. See here, SRAD Report 1961 

Transport Statistics Stockport 2017, Stockport Economic Overview 2019 Edition. 

Data taken from Annual Population Survey, NOMIS (2018)).  

As a result of this congestion, average vehicle speeds are slightly lower in Stockport 

compared to GM: 

• Average AM peak (8:00 – 09:00) vehicle speeds across Stockport have 

decreased by one mph between 2006/07 and 2017 to 13 mph (average for GM is 

14 mph) (SRAD Report 1961 Transport Statistics Stockport 2017).   

• Average PM peak (17:00 – 18:00) vehicle speeds across Stockport have 

decreased by two mph between 2006/07 and 2017 to 14 mph (average for GM is 

14 mph) (SRAD Report 1961 Transport Statistics Stockport 2017).   

 

In recent years, the Council has worked to alleviate congestion in the town centre 

and around the M60 by improving roads and junctions through its Town Centre 

Access Plan (TCAP). Schemes have included the widening of St Marys Way and 

Hempshaw Lane, junction improvements along King Street West and the creation of 

a link road between the A6 and Travis Bow.  

Figure 1 below sets out the current land supply and transport network in Stockport. 

New transport infrastructure and capacity improvements are needed to enhance this 

network and support growth in a sustainable manner, by enabling and enhancing 

access by walking, cycling, bus, rail and Metrolink, alongside improvements to the 

strategic highway network where sustainable transport improvements are not 

sufficient to address all these access issues.  

Improved connections by sustainable, active modes of travel are also needed to 

support the regeneration of Stockport town centre and the borough’s district centres. 

This will in turn support living, shopping, civic, commercial and cultural life across 

Stockport in the future.  

 

Page 360

https://www.racfoundation.org/assets/rac_foundation/content/downloadables/car%20ownership%20rates%20by%20local%20authority%20-%20december%202012.pdf


 

 10 

 

Figure 1: Stockport Current Transport Network and Planned Developments. 

P
age 361



 

 11 

3. Spatial Theme Challenges and Opportunities 

3.1. Neighbourhoods 

At the neighbourhood level, 43.4% of trips that start in Stockport are less than 2km in 

length, with 44.1% of these trips made by private car (driver and passenger) – these 

trips could be reasonably walked or cycled (TRADS database). The predominance of 

vehicles and vehicle-based trips can cause severance between neighbourhoods and 

destinations, impact actual and perceived safety and can restrict footway space and 

accessibility as a result pavement parking.   

Key destinations in Stockport can be difficult to access by public transport, including 

parts of the town centre. Stockport’s district centres also suffer from transport 

challenges; both Cheadle and Gatley suffer from congestion, where localised traffic 

mixes with traffic attempting to access the M60. Cheadle also suffers from poor 

public transport provision, with no railway station and long, infrequent bus journeys 

into central Manchester.  

Like the above district centres, Cheadle Hulme also suffers from congestion, 

particularly along Station Road. However, the area does benefit from a railway 

station, with direct links to Manchester Piccadilly.  

Bramhall also suffers badly from congestion with Bramhall Lane South the 6th most 

delayed corridor outside of London according to INRIX (SEMMMS Refresh). The area 

also suffers from poor connectivity to Manchester Airport, with no direct means of 

accessing the airport by bus or by rail (SEMMMS Refresh). 

In Edgeley, Stockport Station and the West Coast Main Line impede east-west 

walking and cycling movements, with people having to take extended journeys in 

order to reach the eastern side of the town centre. Parking is also a major problem, 

with a large proportion of the residential streets near Edgeley Park found within a 

Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) as a result of pressures associated with visitor 

matchday parking at Stockport County Football Club.  

Similarly, at Stepping Hall Hospital in Hazel Grove, issues around non-residential 

parking exists on residential streets surrounding the hospital. Congestion is also a 

problem in the area, although the district centre does benefit from good public 

transport links including a park and ride terminus.  

Marple suffers from poor public transport connectivity, with no direct rail services to 

Stockport town centre. Moreover, although direct rail services do operate between 

Marple and Manchester Piccadilly, the journey takes approximately 30 minutes and 

train services can be regularly delayed and overcrowded. Romiley, the next stop 

along from Marple, also suffers from similar connectivity issues, which increases 

reliance on private car for people living in these district centres.  

For all district centres, maintenance of roads, including both footways and 

carriageway is ongoing, with Stockport’s Highways Improvement Programme (HIP) 

carrying out repairs in targeted areas until early 2022/23 (Stockport Highways 

Investment Programme Mid Term Review).   

Page 362



 

 12 

3.2. Wider-City Region 

Connectivity to the wider city region is poor, with a significant lack of public transport 

options to employment centres outside the borough. Slow, unattractive journeys 

towards Denton and Ashton in the east and the Trafford Centre and Salford Quays in 

the west makes accessing employment opportunities by public transport unpopular, 

which increases car dependency for those with access to a vehicle. 

This problem is more acute towards the southern outskirts of the borough, where 

more rural settlements such as Woodford and High Lane are served by less frequent 

public transport outside of peak periods, with some routes running with financial 

support from TfGM and the Council. Rail services are frequently overcrowded and 

although some rural stations have step free access, many stations are not staffed, 

and the majority do not have wheelchairs available on the station platform. A lack of 

timetable integration and ticketing between different transport modes also affects 

passengers and means that even if commuters have made it on to the train, onward 

journeys remain complicated and can often be expensive too. All these factors 

contribute to high levels of car use for wider city region journeys.  

North-south radial routes such as the A6 and the A34 face high levels of congestion 

which causes long delays to freight and general traffic, as well as delays to buses; 

both these routes also offer unfavourable walking and cycling environments too. 

These problems are intensified by motorway-related traffic which adds to congestion 

and causes severance along Kings Street West, Wood Street and Chestergate in the 

town centre.  

At present, a significant absence from Stockport’s current public transport mix is 

Metrolink connectivity, which causes challenges for people wanting to visit local 

centres and travel to neighbouring district centres by public transport. In the absence 

of Metrolink and a well-connected bus service, medium-length journeys will continue 

to be made by car causing localised congestion and air quality issues.  

Access to Manchester Airport is also an issue, with no direct rail link and only a slow 

bus service operating between Stockport and the airport. A Metrolink service would 

improve access to the site and enhance city-region connectivity generally. 

3.3. Town Centre 

Stockport town centre suffers from high traffic flows along the A6, which causes 

severance between Stockport Rail Station to the west and Mersey Square and the 

Market/Underbanks area to the east and creates an unpleasant environment for 

pedestrians and cyclists. Congestion is also a problem along King Street West as a 

result of vehicles queuing onto the M60 motorway. Residents living on the periphery 

of the town centre in Edgeley also suffer from severance as a result of the station’s 

footprint and rail sidings connecting to the West Coast Main Line, with people having 

to make extended journeys in order to access the town centre on the eastern side of 

the station.  

Page 363



 

 13 

Similarly, the presence of the M60 motorway also causes severance between areas 

of the Heatons to the north and Stockport town centre to the south, with only limited 

crossing points across it. The topography of the town centre also makes accessing 

the town centre by foot difficult for disabled users, people with mobility impairments 

and parents with prams.  

Although the total number of vehicles crossing Stockport town centre’s cordon has 

decreased by 18% since 2008, the central location of the town centre’s car parks 

contributes to an increase in vehicle movements and results in an inefficient use of 

space in an area where there are competing interests for land (TfGM SRAD Report 

2021 Transport Statistics 2018-2019). The number of people visiting the town centre 

by bus has also decreased by 36% from 5,983 to 3,828 between 2003 and 2018 

(TfGM SRAD Report 2021 Transport Statistics 2018-2019). 

One of the most significant developments taking place in the town centre is the 

development of the Mayoral Development Corporation’s (MDC) Town Centre West – 

a mixed-use urban village comprising 3,000 new homes and 100,000 m2 of 

employment floorspace. The Strategic regeneration Framework (regeneration 

masterplan) for the development proposes the creation of a neighbourhood which 

caters for pedestrians and cyclists ahead of vehicles, reduces vehicle dominance 

and car dependency and supports a modal shift in the way people access local 

facilities and services.  

Pivotal to the MDC area is the redevelopment of Stockport Station as the station’s 

existing size and configuration is expected to struggle to accommodate the 

significant housing and employment growth planned for the Town Centre West area. 

The redevelopment of the station and the station’s vicinity will make Stockport a 

‘Southern Gateway’ into Manchester, accommodate future rail investment proposals 

such as HS2, and improve connectivity between the MDC area and the Bus 

Interchange.  

In addition, Stockport town centre is expected to accommodate up to an additional 

3,000 homes over the next 15-20 years spread across a series of sites. This will be 

accompanied by infrastructure improvements in the town centre, including further 

walking and cycling improvements as a part of TCAP, public realm enhancements to 

Stockport’s Old Town and the redevelopment of the Merseyway Shopping Centre 

and Mersey Square. These improvements will allow the MDC area and adjacent 

Stockport town centre to integrate with one another and form a transit-oriented 

growth hub.  

3.4. Regional Centre 

Stockport residents have varied levels of access to Manchester city centre across 

the borough. Frequent, direct rail services operate between Stockport Station and 

Manchester Piccadilly (16 trains per hour during peak periods) and are 

supplemented by local stopping services too. 

Residents living to the south of the borough near the A6 are served by a high 

frequency bus service operating between Hazel Grove and Manchester Piccadilly. 

Page 364



 

 14 

The 192 service also has a park and ride terminus in Hazel Grove and benefits from 

bus priority measures along the A6 (although inevitably the service is still sometimes 

delayed by congestion). Several bus services also operate between Stockport town 

centre and Manchester city centre serving local residential areas, but these services 

often have longer journey times. 

In more rural parts of the borough, bus routes are less extensive with few services 

operating directly to Manchester city centre. Those services that do operate to 

Manchester city centre can be infrequent and do not always run late into the evening 

or on Sundays. Similarly, although some rail services in the rural parts of the 

borough do offer a direct service to Manchester Piccadilly, they are often not very 

frequent or can be delayed, making journeys to central Manchester increasingly 

difficult.  

Stockport’s absence of Metrolink also reduces accessibility to Manchester city 

centre, especially for people who do not live within close proximity of a railway 

station. This means that the majority of journeys made to the regional centre are 

made by either car or by rail. As a result of this, accessing other areas in the regional 

centre such as Media City is more challenging and contributes to a reliance on cars.  

  

Page 365



 

 15 

4. Stockport 5-Year DLIP Outcomes 

This section presents transport-related outcomes for the next 5 years. Each outcome 

includes a set of priorities for investment over this timeframe, including schemes to 

be delivered or developed. These schemes are included in map 2. 

Outcome 1: Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 

made by foot and by bike in Stockport’s district and local centres  

In the next 5 years this means progressing the aims and objectives of the Stockport 

Cycling and Walking Plan by delivering street improvements that create attractive, 

safe neighbourhoods that are pleasant for people to spend time in, and support 

people to make local trips by foot or by bike rather than by private car. These 

neighbourhoods will also be safe and usable for people with disabilities and mobility 

impairments, providing them with access to the local amenities they need. Priorities 

for investment over the next 5 years include: 

Scheme Name  Description 

Bee Network Phase 1: 
Active 
Neighbourhoods 

Delivery of measures to remove through traffic from 
local streets and deliver high quality environments for 
walking and cycling. To include early delivery of 
improvements in Romiley and the Heatons.   

Bee Network Phase 2: 
Active 
Neighbourhoods 

Delivery of measures to remove through traffic from 
local streets and deliver high quality environments for 
walking and cycling (including Edgeley, Marple, Marple 
Bridge/Mellor, Hazel Grove and Cheadle) 

Bee Network Phase 1: 
Beeway routes 

Delivery of severance mitigation/crossing points and 
wayfinding to link up existing quiet and traffic free C&W 
routes 

Bee Network Phase 2: 
Beeway routes 

Delivery of severance mitigation/crossing points and 
wayfinding to link up existing quiet and traffic free C&W 
routes 

Bee Network Phase 1: 
Busy Beeway routes 

Delivery of high-quality cycling and walking provision on 
major road corridors 

Bredbury and Woodley 
Cycling and Walking 
Improvement Package 

To improve cycling and walking access to existing and 
potential new developments in Bredbury and Woodley  

Cheadle Station 
Access Package 

To improve cycling and walking access to the new 
proposed station in Cheadle, including new signal or 
priority junction with pedestrian and cycle links to Mill 
Lane and Cheadle District Centre.  

Stockport Canals 
Improvement Package 

To improve lighting and surfacing along the canal 
network as a high quality, off road cycling and walking 
network in the east of the borough.  

Page 366



 

 16 

Scheme Name  Description 

Middlewood Way 
Improvements 

Upgrade to surfacing and lighting from Rose Hill to 
Middlewood Station  

Outcome 2: Enhanced connections to and within Stockport town centre by 

foot, bike, and public transport 

In the next 5 years this means supporting the sustainable growth of Stockport town 

centre and improve walking, cycling and public transport connectivity for local 

communities to ensure that everyone has access to facilities and opportunities in the 

Town Centre. Priorities for investment over the next 5 years include: 

Scheme Name  Description 

Stockport Interchange 
redevelopment  

To increase the accessibility of bus and rail from 
nearby destinations and increase the attractiveness 
of the Interchange as the focal point for intra-urban 
growth in Stockport town centre. Scheme will also 
include improved pedestrian and cycle links to 
Stockport Station. 

Stockport Town Centre 
Access Plan 

To tackle congestion in and around Stockport town 
centre and remove barriers to movement for all 
modes. 

Town Centre West 
Accessibility Package 

To include delivery of new connectivity hubs, active 
neighbourhoods, slow streets, public realm 
improvements, EV charging and car club 
expansion. To include early delivery of A6 Railway 
Road junction, remodelled to include increased 
capacity and east-west cycle route   

Town Centre East 
Accessibility Package 

To include delivery of new connectivity hubs, active 
neighbourhoods, slow streets, public realm 
improvements, EV charging and car club 
expansion. To include early delivery of Mersey 
Square, remodelled to improve bus movements.   

Town Centre SUDS 
Package 

Stepping stone spaces, Slow flow Streets, 
Stockport Southbank Sponge Promenade, 
Wearside Slipway and Grey water harvesting, 
Mersey Habitat Corridor 
 

Underbanks/ Hillgate / old 
town sustainable transport 
Package   
 

Package of cycling and walking improvements in 
the Old Town, including around Market Place, 
Underbanks and Hillgate.  

Page 367



 

 17 

  
Map 2: Schemes with programme entry within the Mayors Challenge Fund and the future Bee Network within Stockport

P
age 368



 

 18 

Outcome 3: Improved rail capacity and improved facilities across Stockport 

In the next 5 years this means focusing on addressing key capacity challenges on 

the rail network in Stockport, delivering new stations, and supporting the 

redevelopment of Stockport Station. Priorities for investment over the next 5 years 

include: 

Scheme Name  Description 

Stockport Station 
Redevelopment  

To address immediate capacity constraints on the 
West Coast Main Line, which will become more 
pressing between 2027 and 2033, when HS2 trains 
will arrive from Crewe, but new infrastructure to 
Piccadilly will not yet be complete. Also includes 
highway layout including measures for walking and 
cycling and the redevelopment of the station to 
improve facilities and access.  

Stockport area rail 
infrastructure improvements 
including Greek Street 
Bridge Replacement 

To upgrade the rail corridor for National Rail / HS2 / 
potential Metro/tram-train services, improve local 
highways, and facilitate a high quality gateway to 
the Town Centre West MDC area. To undertake 
essential maintenance, and use the opportunity 

Further Mobility Hub / Park 
and Ride upgrades 
emerging from the Mobility 
Hub / Park and Ride Study 

To provide better access to public transport through 
Mobility Hub / Park and Ride facilities 

Local rail stations, explore 
partnership options for 
management and 
improvement 

To maximise existing rail assets to provide better 
facilities, improve transport integration and deliver 
community benefits. Includes working with existing 
Friends groups and Community Rail Partnerships 

New Stations Delivery 
Tranche 1 and 2 

Delivery of new train stations (subject to business 
case) at Cheadle, Stanley Green, High Lane and 
Adswood) to provide a new public transport option, 
contributing to modal shift and reducing pressure 
on the highway network where this can be shown to 
be viable. 

Station Alliance Station 
Enhancement Programme 

To identify regeneration opportunities at Bramhall, 
Cheadle Hulme, Rose Hill Marple and Hazel Grove 
stations. Seeking to enhance station facilities 
focusing on the access to and from stations, 
alongside work to provide residential, commercial 
and community facilities. 

Mid-Cheshire Line 
Redoubling 

To deliver additional capacity and resilience on the 
mid-Cheshire line 

Page 369



 

 19 

Scheme Name  Description 

Rose Hill Marple to Hazel 
Grove Line Reinstatement 

Improvement of closed and existing railway lines to 
facilitate rail-based travel between Marple, Romiley 
and Stockport and improve orbital public transport 
services.  

Rail capacity improvements 
on key commuting corridors: 
South East Manchester 

To provide increased frequency and capacity for 
journeys into the Regional Centre, facilitating new 
developments and contributing to modal shift.  

Ashton to Stockport Line 
Improvement 

The expansion and upgrading of the current 
mainly single-track freight route between Stockport 
(Heaton Norris Junction) and Guide Bridge/Ashton 
Moss Junction to improve opportunities for orbital 
passenger services. 

Hope Valley Line 
improvements (to Sheffield) 
including new passing 
facilities  

To increase capacity so that the line can continue to 
carry mixed traffic and complement NPR services. 
Line improvements will also improve journey times 
and reliability between Manchester and Sheffield. 

Outcome 4: Transport Network in Stockport will be clean and green and well-

maintained  

In the next 5 years this means reducing the environmental impact of the transport 

network across Stockport through interventions that accelerate the uptake of low 

emission vehicles and reduce emission of air pollutants from vehicle traffic across 

the Borough. This will also involve measures that make the transport network in 

Stockport more resilient to the impacts of climate change and flooding. Clean air and 

carbon priorities over the next 5 years include: 

Scheme Name  Description 

Implement the Greater 
Manchester Clean Air Plan 

To improve air quality in the regional centre and 
other areas and improve the health of GM residents 
and visitors. 

Retrofit or upgrade buses to 
comply with more stringent 
emissions standards 
(continuation programme) 

To improve air quality in the regional centre and 
other areas and improve the health of GM residents 
and visitors. 

Electric buses introduced to 
support Clean Air Plan and 
other environmental 
agendas - linked to Bus 
Reform and programme of 

To improve air quality in the regional centre and 
other areas and improve the health of GM residents 
and visitors. 

Page 370



 

 20 

Scheme Name  Description 

BRT, QBT and Bus Corridor 
Improvements 

Continued expansion of 
electric vehicles network 
charging points, including for 
use by private hire vehicles 
and taxis (continuation 
programme) 

To improve air quality in the regional centre and 
other areas and improve the health of GM residents 
and visitors. 

Electrifying Stockport 
Package 

Package of electric vehicle charging opportunities 
in the town centre to include car charging points, 
bus charging, e-bike charging, van charging and 
taxi charging. These will be delivered as part of the 
connectivity hubs proposals, with opportunities to 
integrate with battery storage and energy 
generation schemes. 

Retrofit or upgrade Local 
Authority fleet 

To improve air quality in the regional centre and 
other areas and improve the health of GM residents 
and visitors. 

Outcome 5: Stockport residents, workers and visitors have good access to 

Rapid transit connections and local public transport connectivity  

In the next 5 years this means delivering improvements to the accessibility and 

capacity of Stockport’s rapid transit network, supporting more residents, workers and 

visitors to travel to and from Stockport by sustainable modes as part of the wider GM 

Rapid Transit network. Priorities for investment over the next 5 years include: 

Scheme Name  Description  

Quality Bus Transit on key 
bus corridors: Ashton-
Stockport 

To provide an attractive alternative to car journeys 
between the Ashton – Stockport corridor, by 
delivering improvements to quality and reliability of 
local bus journeys, public realm within town 
centres, and the cycling and walking environment. 

Quality Bus Transit on key 
corridors: A6 Manchester 
City Centre-Stockport 
College  

To provide an attractive alternative to car journeys 
on the Manchester City Centre - Stockport College 
corridor, by delivering improvements to quality and 
reliability of local bus journeys, public realm within 
town centres, and the cycling and walking 
environment. 

A6 Stockport to High Lane 
Streets for All and Bus 
Route Improvement 
Package 

To improve reliability and resilience of A6 corridor 
and to support new residential development at 
High Lane and in Derbyshire by: improving 
reliability and speed of buses between Manchester 
City Centre and High Lane; improving walking and 

Page 371



 

 21 

Scheme Name  Description  

cycling provision to and along the A6; formalising 
on-street parking provision; and providing localised 
junction improvements for all modes. To address 
capacity and resilience issues in the High Lane 
area. 

Bus Rapid transit corridor 
(Stockport-Ashton) 

To provide a more attractive alternative to the car 
for orbital journeys between these key centres, 
thereby reducing pressure on the M60, A6017 and 
other local roads 

Bus Rapid Transit corridor 
(Airport to the east) 

A bus rapid transit connection from the Airport (with 
rail connections for the Regional Centre) to major 
new proposed GMSF allocations and existing 
residential areas, both presently poorly served by 
public transport.  It will help achieve the step-
change in non-car mode share needed to support 
the growth of the Airport area. 

Metro / tram-train services 
to Hazel Grove and 
Stockport / East Didsbury 

Complementary to a city-centre metro tunnel in 
providing network-wide capacity benefits to rail-
based rapid transit plus benefits to specific 
corridors.  Tram-train operation provides an 
alternative approach to metro operation. 

Metro / tram-train services 
Manchester to Marple 

Complementary to a city-centre metro tunnel in 
providing network-wide capacity benefits to rail-
based rapid transit plus benefits to specific 
corridors.  Tram-train operation provides an 
alternative approach to metro operation. 

Metro / tram-train services 
(Stockport town centre to 
Manchester Airport) 

A rapid transit connection from the Airport to 
Stockport and other locations to the north-east of 
Manchester Airport, needed to facilitate the growth 
of Manchester Airport area, which requires a step-
change in non-car mode share. 

Stockport to Denton/ 
Stalybridge Service 
Improvement Package 

Including improved facilities and services to 
Reddish South 

Metro/ tram train services 
Stockport to Marple 

A rapid transit connection from Stockport to 
Marple, needed to improve public transport 
connectivity and improve accessibility to Stockport 
town centre 

 

 

 

Page 372



 

 22 

Outcome 6: Stockport’s highway network will be well-maintained and 

congestion pinch-points will be addressed to support active travel and public 

transport.   

In the next 5 years this means delivering upgrades and enhancements to existing 

infrastructure assets to improve safety, air quality and the local environment and 

designing highways solutions to ease traffic congestion and support active travel and 

public transport. Asset management and infrastructure priorities over the next 5 

years include: 

Scheme Name  Description  

Road Maintenance Fund 
To support the economic performance, resilience 
and liveability of the city region by maintaining the 
current network in good condition. 

Drainage Improvement and 
Flood Risk Mitigation 
Package 

To support resilience by improving drainage and 
addressing key flood risk points including:  

- Torkington Park 
- Adswood Park  
- Rosevale Park 
- Shearwater Estate, Offerton 
- Heaton Moor Culverts Rehabilitation 
- Schools Hill and Bruntwood Park  
- High Lane Drainage and Sewers 

Rights of Way Improvement 
Programme 

To support resilience of the Rights of Way network 
and support delivery of the ROWIP 

Highway Trees Improvement 
Programme 

To support improved air quality and local 
environmental quality across the borough.  

Street Lighting Column 
Replacement Programme 

To improve resilience of the street lighting network 
and increase opportunities for ‘smart uses’ 

A555 Electronic Signs and 
Information System 

To improve signage and traffic management along 
the A555 and surrounding routes.  

Road Safety – Minor 
improvement package 

To improve road safety at key points and junctions 
across the borough, including improvement of 
safety signs.  

Road Safety Around 
Schools Package 

To improve road safety around schools 

A34 Area Access Package 

To improve capacity at key locations along the A34 
between Handforth and Cheadle and improve 
conditions for walking and cycling, supporting and 
unlocking growth potential. 

A560 Cheadle and Cheadle 
Heath Corridor resilience 
and reliability package.   

To address capacity and resilience issues on the 
A560 corridor through Cheadle. 

Page 373



 

 23 

Scheme Name  Description  

Poynton Relief Road To address capacity and resilience issues on 
Cheshire East border 

Bredbury Economic Corridor 
Improvement (BECI) 
Package 

To support delivery of new industrial development 
and GMSF housing growth by providing a new link 
between the M60 and Bredbury Gateway, J25 
signalisation, widening of railway bridge to improve 
access for freight vehicles, pedestrians and cyclists, 
better linkages from residential areas of Bredbury, 
Romiley and Woodley to the M60 and Bredbury 
Gateway, upgrading of cycling and walking 
networks across the area, and passive provision to 
enable delivery of Ashton-Stockport Quality Bus 
Transit 

GMSF Delivery Package Package of improvements to facilitate delivery of 
GMSF sites 

Stockport Structure 
Enhancements Package 

To support maintenance and resilience of key 
structures across the Stockport network 

A6 to M60 Relief Road To address capacity and resilience issues from 
A6MARR to the M60 and facilitating reduced flows 
on the A6 

M60 South East Junctions 
Study 

To address existing congestion and reliability 
issues on the SRN and adjoining LRN and provide 
the capacity for anticipated growth both within the 
city-region and in neighbouring authorities. 

Page 374



 

 24 

4.1. Stockport’s Delivery Plan Schemes 2020 – 2025 

Map 3 below shows schemes listed as priorities for investment within the outcomes above, that are not included within the GMTS 2040 Delivery 

Plan (Map 1). 

 

P
age 375



 

 25 

5. Indicators 

Stockport Council and TfGM will work together to develop a monitoring framework to 

measure the success of the interventions within this Plan. It is anticipated that this 

will include aims and targets to measure success against the 5-Year Local 

Implementation Plan outcomes, carbon targets, and changes in mode-share to meet 

Right Mix targets. 

Page 376



 

1 

Tameside Summary GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 

1. Introduction  

This Implementation Plan sets out Tameside’s transport priorities for the next five 

years, as part of the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 5-Year Delivery 

Plan (2020-2025). While the 5-year Delivery Plan tends to consider large, medium 

and long-term future transport schemes, this Implementation Plan is mainly focussed 

on local neighbourhood and town-level priorities and interventions to be delivered 

across Tameside up to 2025. A summary of strategic schemes within the 5-Year 

Delivery Plan (2020-2025) for Tameside are provided in Map 1 below. 

Tameside Council and NHS Tameside & Glossop Clinical Commissioning Group 
have come together to form one organisation – Tameside & Glossop Strategic 
Commission Group. We have developed together a new corporate plan ‘Our People 
Our Place Our Plan – Corporate Plan for Tameside & Glossop’ that reflects the 
priorities and guiding principles for our joint work in the area. This is the first 
corporate plan to pull together the objectives of the Strategic Commission, outlining 
the authority’s aims and aspirations for the area, its people and how we commit to 
work for everyone, every day.  

Our Corporate Plan has helped to inform the key outcomes, included within this 
Implementation Plan, that we wish to see achieved by 2025. These are:  

• Outcome 1: Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 
made by foot and by bike in Tameside;  

• Outcome 2: Enhanced connections to/from and within Tameside’s town 
centres, employment sites and key destinations by foot, bike, and public 
transport to support regeneration; 

• Outcome 3: Streets in Tameside will be clean, green and relieve local 
communities from the impacts of congestion;  

• Outcome 4: Streets in Tameside are safe, well maintained and in good 
condition for all people who live in or travel within Tameside and current and 
future assets are looked after. 

Further details of the specific interventions which will enable us to achieve these 
outcomes are summarised later in this Plan.  

This document sets out some of the steps Tameside Council will take with its 

transport partners and other stakeholders to make good progress towards its 

transport vision and priorities in the short-term. The steps are ambitious, and the 

development and delivery of the interventions set out will require a significant level of 

resource and funding. Inevitably, there is likely to be a need for some prioritisation, 

but Tameside will continue to work with the GMCA and TfGM to secure the required 

funding from the Government. 

  

Page 377

https://www.tameside.gov.uk/corporateplan
https://www.tameside.gov.uk/corporateplan


 

2 

2. Strategic Transport Issues in Tameside 

 

Page 378



 

3 

  

Page 379



 

4 

 

Map 1: Strategic Transport Interventions in Tameside (2040 5-Year Delivery Plan 2020-2025) 

P
age 380



 

5 

 

Map 2: Tameside future land supply and existing strategic transport network (GMSF 2019 data sourced from the GMCA)

P
age 381



 

6 

2.1 Covid-19 Recovery 

The Coronavirus pandemic represents the biggest challenge for Tameside since 

World War 2. To enable the borough to ‘build back better’, Tameside Council are 

undertaking a number of measures to enable Covid-19 recovery, including:  

• Continued support to develop strategic housing and commercial development; 

• Delivering temporary or semi-permanent measures to support cycling and 

walking as an alternative to public transport as part of the 

#SafeStreetsSaveLives campaign and the Department for Transport’s 

Emergency Active Travel Fund; 

• Accelerating the design and delivery of the Mayor’s Challenge Fund scheme 

on Albion Way in Ashton-under-Lyne town centre.  

Proposals for temporary and semi-permanent measures include the delivery of 

segregated cycling facilities along two strategic routes to the Regional Centre, (the 

A57 Hyde Road and A635 Ashton Old Road) and orbital links to Stockport and 

Oldham, alongside implementation of modal filters to create low traffic 

neighbourhoods, support for schools and measures to improve town centre 

accessibility through creating additional footway space by addressing pinch-points, 

adding safe crossings and removing street clutter. 

Alongside this work, major strategic projects such as the regeneration of the 

borough’s town centres, and the proposed Garden Village at Godley Green remain 

the key focuses of the council’s growth agenda. Officers are continuing to support 

development of these sites, including planning transport measures to support and 

unlock development. 

3 Spatial Theme Challenges and Opportunities 

3.1 Neighbourhoods 

46% of all trips that start in Tameside can be defined as ‘neighbourhood trips’ (short 

and local trips under 2km in length). This is slightly above the GM average (44%) for 

journeys of this type. A significant proportion of these short, local trips are made by 

sustainable, active modes (52% walking and cycling, 4% public transport), however 

42% of these journeys are still being made by private car or van (source: TRADS 

database). While many of these trips could be walked in under 20 minutes or cycled 

in 5 minutes, there are several key barriers to walking and cycling in Tameside that 

result in a high proportion of neighbourhood trips being driven, including:   

• Severance – the lack of safe crossing points of the Strategic Road Network, 

railway and Metrolink lines create severance for those local journeys made by 

active modes;  

• Traffic volumes and speeds – high traffic volumes and speeds create poor 

levels of actual and perceived safety for people who walk or cycle; 

• Topography of Tameside – the topography is a challenge towards the east of 

the borough e.g. Mottram and Mossley where the western end of the 

Pennines encroach into the borough; 

Page 382

https://tfgm.com/safestreets
https://news.tfgm.com/news/gbp-3-1-million-schemes-confirmed-to-enable-thousands-more-journeys-on-foot-or-by-bike-through-first-phase-of-emergency-active-travel-measures


 

7 

• Footway accessibility – high levels of pavement parking creates accessibility 

issues on many of Tameside’s neighbourhood streets and is a particular 

problem around schools where a high proportion of school trips are made by 

private car; 

• Infrastructure quality - the existing cycle infrastructure is of varying quality and 

some areas (e.g. Mossley, Mottram and Stalybridge) lack significant 

coverage, which can act as a deterrent to participating in active travel.  

These issues have a significant impact on the third of households in Tameside who 

do not have access to a car, and rely on making trips by foot, bike and public 

transport. Additionally, short car trips exacerbate environmental and health issues 

through the creation of hostile environments for pedestrians and cyclists and 

generating hotspots of poor air quality. 

To enable improvements in the health, wellbeing and quality of life of our residents, 

we are working to encourage an increase in walking and cycling for neighbourhood 

journeys. To achieve this vision we are focussing on the delivery of the Bee Network 

across the borough, influencing new developments to implement active travel routes 

designed to Streets for All design principles and working with Highways England to 

develop and deliver a £1.95m cycle route between Hyde and Hollingworth, that runs 

parallel to the M67. 

3.2 Ashton-under-Lyne Town Centre 

Tameside Council continues to work with partners to deliver the multi-million-pound 

masterplan, Vision Tameside, in order to attract new business and create new jobs 

and future opportunities for Tameside residents. Vision Tameside is an ambitious 

redevelopment strategy to bring greater economic prosperity and transform learning 

and skills across the Borough. In Ashton alone, through its Vision Tameside 

initiative, some £250m has and is currently being spent on the regeneration of the 

major retail and administrative centre for the town. This includes the recently opened 

Ashton Interchange, which provides passengers with an easier way of switching 

between different modes of transport, as well as creating a far more pleasant 

travelling experience.  

To support town centre regeneration, Tameside Council are committed to enhancing 

the connections to/from and within the district centre by foot, bike and public 

transport to ensure that these are the go-to travel options. Cordon count data shows 

that there has been an 11% increase in trips made to the town centre between 2013 

and 2018, and a significant proportion of these trips are made by non-car modes 

(65%). Despite this, there are several transport related challenges that are currently 

creating barriers to achieving this outcome, including:  

• Congestion – high levels of congestion in and around the town centre has a 

negative impact on journey times for bus users, creates a hostile environment 

for pedestrians and cyclists and leads to air quality issues. Ashton’s close 

proximity to the M60 exacerbates these issues due to the impact on the town 

centre of queuing motorway traffic at the M60 Junction 23; 

Page 383



 

8 

• Severance and road safety – major roads (e.g. A635 Park Parade and A6043 

Albion Way) and junctions (e.g. the A627 Oldham Road/A6043 Wellington 

Road junction) create significant severance between surrounding 

neighbourhoods and the town centre leading to road safety issues for the 

most vulnerable users.  

• Town centre development – new developments, including the Ashton Moss 

West GMSF site, require improved public transport and active travel linkages 

to both Ashton town centre and the residential areas around it;  

• Public transport connectivity – although served by bus, Metrolink and rail, 

there is poor public transport connectivity from surrounding neighbourhoods 

(e.g. by bus to Stalybridge) especially in the evenings, on Sundays and early 

mornings.  

• Parking provision – high levels of residential parking provision, especially in 

the Waterloo area, impacts local roads and unless managed effectively will be 

worsened with the planned high levels of development in and around Ashton-

under-Lyne.  

Tameside Council are working to overcome these challenges and we are focussed 

on delivering projects that prioritise people over traffic. The delivery of the MCF and 

Growth Deal proposals on the A6043 Albion Way will provide segregated cycle 

lanes, an enhanced walking environment and improved linkages reducing the 

severance between the town centre, railway station and the residential areas to the 

north of the town. The recent completion of the new Ashton Interchange will be 

complemented by the delivery of the Quality Bus Transit corridors between 

Rochdale-Oldham-Ashton and Ashton-Stockport.  

3.3 Wider City Region 

49% of all trips that start in Tameside are ‘wider-city region’ trips (for example Hyde 

to Stockport). This is significant when compared to the GM average for this type of 

trip (38%).  

Ashton-under-Lyne, Denton, Hattersley and Hyde typically have strong public 

transport links to complete these types of journeys, however the communities and 

neighbourhoods in the east of the borough have more limited public transport 

options. This leads to a high dependence on the private car for wider-city region 

journeys (84%), with only 13% made by public transport and 3% by active travel.  

Tameside’s wider town centres all suffer from their own individual challenges but 

there are some common transport barriers that result in a high proportion of wider-

city region trips being undertaken by private car:  

• Considerable decline in scheduled bus services – bus frequency and 

connectivity has seen a rapid decline in recent years with many areas 

(particularly in the east) suffering from a reduced service provision in the 

evenings and on Sundays; 

• Orbital bus routes – orbital connections to neighbouring districts are well 

served by frequent bus services but, many of these services are significantly 

affected by traffic congestion resulting in slow and unattractive journeys; 

Page 384



 

9 

• Some key destinations e.g. Tameside General Hospital and the Tame Valley 

employment area have low levels, or no public transport connectivity, resulting 

in car dominated destinations that are inaccessible to many Tameside 

residents;  

• Rail network – there are 13 rail stations in the borough but only three have full 

disabled access. There is also a lack of stopping services at some stations 

e.g. Mossley and overcrowding on the Glossop line; 

• Metrolink network – there is a lack of interchange facilities to bus services 

(with the exception of the new Ashton Interchange) and capacity issues at 

Park and Ride facilities at Metrolink stops e.g. Ashton Moss; 

• Ticketing – the lack of integration of services and unaffordable fares 

discourage people from taking many public transport journeys particularly if 

they have access to alternative forms of transport (reliance on the private car); 

• Vacant retail space – this creates poor levels of actual and perceived safety 

and reduces the dwell time of visitors to the town centres; 

• Town centre severance – major roads through and around the town centres 

and a lack of suitable crossing points are responsible for poor cycling and 

walking connectivity, especially between transport hubs, residential and 

employment areas;  

• Road safety – there is a need to provide local traffic management and road 

safety schemes within Tameside to reduce the number of accidents. In 

addition, there needs to be increased road safety education and training 

within schools. 

  

Page 385



 

10 

3.3.1 Other District Town Centres 

The following table outlines the transport challenges and opportunities within 

Tameside’s wider town centres. 

 

Centre Challenges  Opportunities 

Hyde The M67 separates Hyde 
town centre from the 
residential and 
employment areas to the 
north which has resulted in 
a limited number of access 
points for all road users to 
the town centre creating 
connectivity issues.  
 
Market Street is the main 
high street running through 
the town centre, but it 
currently serves as through 
route to the westbound 
M67 adding to existing 
town centre congestion 
and severance issues.  
 
There is poor pedestrian 
accessibility to Hyde 
Central station and the 
surrounding residential and 
employment areas and 
Hyde town centre.  

The Council was successful in 
securing £100,000 of funding from 
the inaugural One Public Estate / 
British Property Federation bidding 
round. The bid proposes a 
regenerated and condensed town 
centre, improved public realm and 
enhanced pedestrian environment to 
support the vision that Hyde can be a 
thriving town centre. 
 
We continue to work with Highways 
England to deliver a cycle route 
along the main east-west corridor 
between Hyde and Mottram / 
Hollingworth to complement the MCF 
proposal to deliver the A57 Denton to 
Hyde segregated cycle route. 

Denton The town suffers with 
significant levels of 
congestion due to its 
proximity to the 
M60/M67/A57 Junction 24 
(Denton Island Junction).  
 
This has a negative impact 
on all road users and has 
resulted in high levels of 
air pollution along nearby 
roads that are at risk of 
exceeding legal limits of 
NOx by 2020. 
 
The M67 separates 
Denton town centre from 
the residential, retail and 

The Council has 3 successful MCF 
schemes in development:  
- the A57 Denton to Hyde 

segregated cycling route;  
- the A57 Crown Point junction 

upgrade scheme which proposes 
to deliver an innovative Cyclops 
junction; 

- the Ross Lave Lane scheme will 
improve sections of the Trans 
Pennine Trail to enhance 
connections between Denton and 
Reddish Vale and further on to 
Stockport town centre. 

Page 386



 

11 

Centre Challenges  Opportunities 

employment areas to the 
north which has resulted in 
a limited number of access 
points for all road users to 
the town centre creating 
connectivity issues  
 

Stalybridge Stalybridge is the busiest 
and most important rail 
station in Tameside but it 
suffers from poor access 
by active modes from 
residential and 
employment areas around 
the town, insufficient 
frequency of local stopping 
services and deficient 
parking provision which 
has led to significant 
parking issues both around 
the station and in the town 
centre.  

Stalybridge is Tameside’s focus for 
the GM Mayor’s Town Centre 
Challenge. A Stalybridge Town 
Centre Challenge Board has been 
established to develop plans for the 
town’s regeneration. Following a 
consultation period, the February 
2020 ‘Stalybridge: Our Place, Our 
Plan’ document was published which 
sets out the Board’s vision for the 
town, a proposed strategy, an action 
plan and forms the basis of ongoing 
funding bids.  
 
Stalybridge has been successful in 
securing a share of the £95m fund 
for Historic England’s High Streets 
Heritage Action Zones initiative with 
their outline proposal for a Heritage 
Walk from the Railway Station to the 
Heritage Quarter improving the street 
scene and routing. 
 
A major review of the existing bus 
station and the creation of a fully 
integrated transport interchange in 
and around the railway station will 
prove a massive regeneration 
initiative for the town. 

Droylsden Droylsden suffers from 
significant severance 
issues caused by busy 
roads, Manchester Road 
and Ashton Road, and the 
Metrolink line, especially at 
the junction with Market 
Street. This severance 
means there is poor 
connectivity in the town 

The Council have delivered a 
number of active travel schemes in 
Droylsden, providing cycle friendly 
routes through a combination off 
street and traffic calmed residential 
areas. 
 
We are committed to enhancing 
these connections and extending 
these routes to a wider area of 
Tameside through delivering the 

Page 387

https://www.tameside.gov.uk/TamesideMBC/media/policy/J002446-Stalybridge-Town-Centre-Challenge-Strategy-V5-NO-FOREWORD.pdf
https://www.tameside.gov.uk/TamesideMBC/media/policy/J002446-Stalybridge-Town-Centre-Challenge-Strategy-V5-NO-FOREWORD.pdf


 

12 

Centre Challenges  Opportunities 

centre, especially for those 
travelling by active modes.  

The Manchester Road/ 
Ashton Road/ Market 
Street junction in the 
centre of Droylsden 
operates above vehicular 
capacity severely affecting 
Metrolink reliability in the 
vicinity. 

MCF cycle schemes currently in 
development. 

3.3.2 GMSF Allocations 

Tameside has three strategic GMSF sites across the borough; Ashton Moss West 

(160,000m2 employment floorspace), Godley Green Garden Village (2,350 dwellings) 

and Land South of Hyde (440 dwellings). Further information on the GMSF and 

these sites can be found at https://www.tameside.gov.uk/GMSF.  

The GMSF will be hugely important for the future prosperity of Tameside and 

proposes:  

• To prioritise the regeneration of brownfield land within the urban area for 

homes and jobs; 

• To help meet the housing need of our residents by providing much needed 

affordable homes, with the Godley Green site creating a new, vibrant and 

sustainable community based upon established Garden Village principles; 

and 

• The identification of the physical and social infrastructure that is required to 

support new development, such as new roads, public transport, and education 

and health facilities.  

Tameside Council continues to work with the GMCA, TfGM and other stakeholders 

to progress the development and delivery of the GMSF. An initial assessment of the 

interventions that may be required to support GMSF sites has been undertaken 

within the Locality Assessments prepared as part of the GMSF, and potential 

interventions are listed within the Appendix of the 2020-2025 Delivery Plan. 

  

Page 388

https://www.tameside.gov.uk/GMSF


 

13 

4 Tameside 5-Year Outcomes 

This section presents transport related outcomes that Tameside Council aim to 

achieve over the next 5 years. Each outcome includes a set of priorities for 

investment over this timeframe, including schemes to be delivered or developed.  

There are further transport related outcomes which are included within the wider 5 – 

Year Delivery Plan which have not been included here. 

Outcome 1: Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 

made by foot and by bike in Tameside Borough 

In the next 5 years this means delivering street improvements that create attractive, 

safe neighbourhoods that are pleasant for people to spend time in and encourage 

more local trips by foot or by bike rather than by private car. Helping to support 

healthy lifestyles and reduce carbon emissions whilst providing better access to 

facilities, services and retail.  

Tameside Council are working closely with TfGM to deliver these improvements 

through the delivery of the Bee Network and the GM Local Cycling and Walking 

Infrastructure Plan (a major evidence-based piece of work guided by the Department 

for Transport). Map 4 shows the Committed and Priority Bee Network within 

Tameside. 

The Emergency Active Travel Fund (EATF) launched by Government in May 2020 

has enabled us to move forward with implementation of a number of interventions to 

support active travel. The EATF seeks to deliver measures that will address 

immediate challenges presented by Covid-19, such as reduced public transport 

capacity and its adverse economic impact on town centres and on access to 

employment and services for the most deprived communities. The measures will 

also help tackle longer-term critical public health challenges associated with physical 

inactivity and road safety, the climate emergency and the impact of congestion on 

the local economy. Relevant EATF schemes in Tameside are referenced below.  

Priorities for investment over the next 5-years: 

Scheme Name  Description 

EATF Schemes 

Tranche 1 of EATF schemes in Tameside includes ‘pop 
up’ cycle lanes along the A635 Manchester Road and 
two road closures near Stalybridge in residential areas 
to open the streets up for people and remove rat running 
traffic.  

Hyde to 
Mottram/Hollingworth  

A Highways England funded cycle scheme providing a 
safe cycle route linking Hyde town centre to Mottram 
and Hollingworth along the A57 Corridor.   

Parklets / Pocket 
Parks 

Using public engagement to identify potential locations 
for parklets and pocket parks, which could provide 
seating, greenery and cycle parking and enhance a 

Page 389



 

14 

Scheme Name  Description 

variety of street types to increase dwell time and work 
for people rather than vehicles. 

GMSF allocations 
walking and cycling 
improvements 

Improvements to walking and cycling connections, 
including Public Rights of Way, bounding or near to the 
GMSF allocations (detailed proposals to be determined 
at planning application stage). 

Page 390



 

15 

  

Map 3: Tameside Committed and Priority Bee Network 

P
age 391



 

16 

Outcome 2: Enhanced connections to/from and within Tameside’s town 

centres, employment sites and key destinations by foot, bike, and public 

transport to support regeneration 

A third of households in Tameside have no access to a car and depend on active 

modes and the public transport network to make their everyday journeys, 

deficiencies on the network can have a severe impact on access to opportunities and 

quality of life.  

In the next 5 years this means creating Streets for All in Tameside’s town centres 

through improvements to the public realm and design of our streets, which focus 

more on the needs of people rather than vehicles. Further details of the Streets for 

All initiative can be found in the 2040 Delivery Plan.  

The three strategic GMSF allocations within Tameside need to be connected to the 

wider-city region by public transport and have enhanced active travel connections to 

the rapid transit network. Interventions needed for these sites will be identified/ 

through the GMSF process. 

Priorities for investment over the next 5-years: 

Scheme Name  Description 

Streets for All – Hyde 
Town Centre 

The development of a business case for a Streets for All 
approach to improving public realm, walking and cycling 
links, and reducing traffic within Hyde Town Centre. To 
link with masterplan work currently being undertaken in 
Hyde. 

Streets for All – Town 
Centres 

The development of options for a Streets for All 
approach to improving public realm, walking and cycling 
links, and reducing traffic within Ashton-under-Lyne, 
Stalybridge, Droylsden and Denton. To link with 
masterplan work to be undertaken in these towns. 

Walking and Cycling 
connectivity to rapid 
transit networks 

To provide improved access to rapid transit networks by 
active travel modes from the surrounding residential, 
employment and retail areas.   

Masterplans  
Town centres for which masterplans are under 
development include Ashton-under-Lyne, Stalybridge, 
Hyde, Droylsden and Denton. 

Park & Ride / Travel 
Hubs at Audenshaw / 
Ashton Moss on the 
Ashton Metrolink Line 

To provide better access to public transport through 
Travel Hub/Park & Ride facilities. These locations will 
serve the Ashton Moss West GMSF site and will help to 
improve access to the Regional Centre and the wider 
GM area. 

Page 392



 

17 

Scheme Name  Description 

Bus services to 
support GMSF 
allocations 

The development of new, extended and enhanced bus 
services and infrastructure to serve the GMSF 
allocations where required (detailed service design to be 
determined at planning application stage). 

Outcome 3: Streets in Tameside will be clean, green and relieve local 

communities from the impacts of congestion 

In the next 5 years this means reducing the impacts of roads and motor traffic in 

Tameside to help us realise our environmental, carbon, economic and quality of life 

objectives, as well as achieving our Right Mix targets. To achieve this, Tameside 

Council will deliver interventions that accelerate the uptake of low emission vehicles 

and tackle congestion hotspots that do not create an attractive and safe environment 

for people walking and cycling, delay bus services and create air pollution.  

Priorities for Investment over the next 5-years: 

Scheme Name  Description 

Air Pollution Reduction 
Actions  

Measures to reduce emission of pollutants in areas that 
are expected to exceed or are at risk of exceeding air 
quality thresholds.  

Behaviour Change  

Introduction of Car Clubs, cycle training, publicity etc. to 
positively influence and reduce car usage. Increasing 
the number of people making active journeys is 
essential to responding to the numerous health issues 
and low level of physical activity within the Borough and 
we are working to support this through delivery of the 
Bee Network and associated behavioural change 
activity. 

New junctions to 
access the strategic 
development sites 
across the borough 

Alexandria Drive and Lord Sheldon Way access 
junctions to Ashton Moss West.  

The creation of two new access points along the A560 
Mottram Old Road for Godley Green.  

Improvements to local 
junctions to mitigate 
traffic associated with 
potential GMSF 
allocations  

A number of junctions on the local road network have 
been identified through the GMSF Locality Assessments 
as potentially requiring improvements in order to 
accommodate the generated traffic from allocations and 
provide facilities for all users (specific junctions/designs 
to be determined at planning application stage). 

A635 Manchester 
Road/ 
B6390/Audenshaw 

Improvements to these linked junctions to reduce peak 
hour traffic congestion. 

Page 393



 

18 

Scheme Name  Description 

Road/Ashton Hill Lane 
junction, Audenshaw. 

A670 Mossley Road 
Corridor, Ashton 

Package of Streets for All measures on the A670 
Mossley Road, Ashton, including the A670 Mossley 
Road/ Crickets Lane/ Beaufort Road junction and the 
A670 Mossley Road/ Darnton Road/ Queens Road/ 
Montague Road junction and the length of Mossley 
Road between the two links 

A627 Oldham 
Road/A6043 
Wellington Road 
junction, Ashton 

Improvements to this junction to reduce significant traffic 
congestion and incorporate improved cycle crossing 
provision. 

A6140 Lord Sheldon 
Way / Notcutts / A6140 

Necessary local mitigation to support the development 
of the Ashton Moss West allocation. 

 

Outcome 4: Streets in Tameside are safe, well maintained and in good 

condition for all people who live in or travel within Tameside and current and 

future assets are looked after 

This means continuing to invest in maintaining Tameside’s streets and roads for all 

road users, from fixing footways, crossings and potholes at the neighbourhood level 

to essential maintenance to structures on Tameside’s Key Road Network.  

Priorities for investment over the next 5-years: 

Scheme Name  Description 

Pothole Repair 
Local walking / cycling investment plans to improve 
active Delivery of Central Government Pothole funding 
programme. 

Structures 
Maintenance 

Continued investment in structures using the Bridges 
Asset Management system and inspections. The 
Medlock Valley Flood Scheme includes the replacement 
of the Bardsley Road Bridge over the River Medlock, 
culver refurbishment and retaining wall replacement.   

Hattersley Viaduct 
Refurbishment and 
Widening 

Refurbishment of Hattersley Viaduct which requires 
major works to ensure its long term continued use and 
additionally to widen the structure to provide segregated 
cycle and pedestrian facilities across it. 

 

Page 394



 

19 

 

Map 4: Tameside Local Implementation Plan Schemes 

P
age 395



 

20 

5 Indicators  

Tameside Council and TfGM will work together to develop a monitoring framework to 

measure the success of the interventions within this Plan. It is anticipated that this 

will include aims and targets to measure success against the 5-Year Local 

Implementation Plan outcomes, carbon targets, and changes in mode-share to meet 

Right Mix targets. 

Page 396



 

1 
 

Trafford Summary GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20 

1. Introduction  

1.1 This Implementation Plan sets out how we will work towards our priorities 

including economic growth, improving the environment and social inclusion by 

building on Trafford’s planned and current transport projects, many of which 

are set out in the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 5-Year 

Delivery Plan (2020-2025). 

1.2 While the 5-year Delivery Plan tends to consider large, medium and long-term 

transport schemes, this Implementation Plan is mainly focussed on local, 

neighbourhood level priorities and interventions to 2025. 

1.3 The Trafford Council Corporate Plan (2018-2022) sets outs the Council’s 

vision and priorities, including ‘Maximising our green spaces, transport and 

digital connectivity’. The following elements of this Corporate Plan priority are 

relevant to the LIP: 

• To make it easier to move around the Borough; 

• To improve transport links across the Borough; 

• To reduce the impacts of climate change. 

 

1.4 An effective, sustainable transport system will help Trafford residents to 

achieve a good work/life balance by providing improved infrastructure for 

public and private transport, improving links to work and leisure destinations. 

A sustainable transport network will also be integral to delivering a low carbon 

future, a key priority for Trafford following its declaration of a Climate 

Emergency in November 2018.  

1.5 Trafford is bringing forward significant housing and employment growth 

through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework and the Trafford Local 

Plan. Delivering sustainable transport access to development sites and 

improving the existing network will be integral to achieving successful, 

sustainable development and in meeting Trafford’s low carbon growth 

ambitions. 

1.6 This Local Implementation Plan presents how Trafford Council, with its 

transport partners and stakeholders, will deliver infrastructure improvements 

and contribute to achieving these priorities.  It complements the Greater 

Manchester-level transport interventions set out in Our Delivery Plan, as 

shown in Map 1, below.   

1.7 To achieve these ambitions, we have set five key transport-related outcomes 

which we would wish to see achieved by 2025.  These are:  

 

Page 397



 

2 
 

• Outcome 1: Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 

2km) made by foot  

• Outcome 2: Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 

2km) made by foot and bike and enhancing connections between and 

within the Borough’s town centres  

• Outcome 3: Improved access to bus services across Trafford 

• Outcome 4: Streets in Trafford will be clean and green 

• Outcome 5: Improving access to Railway Stations and Metrolink Stops  

• Outcome 6: Streets in Trafford are well-maintained and in good condition  

1.8 This document sets out some of the steps Trafford borough will seek 

to take with partners to make good progress towards these outcomes in the 

next 5 years.   The steps are ambitious and the development and delivery of 

the interventions set out will require a significant level of resource and 

funding. This will require use to prioritise measures and to continue working 

with the GMCA and TfGM to secure the required funding from Government to 

develop and deliver these schemes. 

 

  

Page 398



 

3 
 

2. Trafford Strategic Transport Issues  

 

  

Page 399



 

4 
 

  

Page 400



 

5 
 

  

Map 1: Trafford GMTS 2040 Delivery Plan schemes 

P
age 401



 

6 
 

 
Map 2: Trafford future land supply and existing strategic transport network (GMSF 2019 data sourced from the GMCA)   

P
age 402



 

7 
 

3. Spatial Theme Challenges and Opportunities 

Neighbourhoods 

 

3.1 A significant proportion of the trips which start in Trafford are at 

neighbourhood level (42%), 53% of these trips are made by private car whilst 

1% are made by public transport (source: TRADS database).Most of these 

trips are short enough to be taken by foot or bike and there is significant 

scope to increase the current 43% mode share of active travel trips. 

3.2 Road traffic has a significant impact on walking and cycling, including actual 

and perceived safety. Major roads also cause severance between 

neighbourhoods and destinations whilst pavement parking restricts footway 

space and accessibility.  

3.3 The A56 through the Borough presents a particular challenge of severance, 

limiting east - west movements and regeneration, and is heavily trafficked. 

Opportunities exist to improve areas seriously affected such as Stretford 

through the ‘Streets for All’ initiative, the Stretford Masterplan and the 

emerging Stretford Area Action Plan.  

3.4 A key challenge is improving sustainable transport access to key employment 

locations like Trafford Park, which is home to one of the largest 

concentrations of businesses in northern England. High volumes of freight, 

congestion on the M60 and a severance effect are particular challenges to 

regeneration ambitions in this location.  

3.5 Trafford also has transport dilemmas at specific facilities and times, for 

example trips generated by major sporting attractions including Lancashire 

Cricket Club and Manchester United Football Club in Old Trafford.  These 

issues are being considered in the emerging Civic Quarter Area Action Plan 

proposals. 

3.6 Parts of Trafford are currently poorly served by public transport; this includes 

areas such as Carrington, Partington and Sale West. GM wide bus reform 

measures could potentially improve the frequency of services to these areas, 

providing improved connections to surrounding town centres and employment 

locations. Proposals for the Trafford Greenway are currently being developed 

linking Altrincham, Carrington and Partington, as well as an opportunity to 

cross the Manchester Ship Canal to Irlam. This would provide a significant 

benefit to Partington with the potential for a cycle link from Partington to Irlam 

station from where people can travel by train to the Regional Centre.   

3.7 The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) includes proposals for 

two major development sites at New Carrington and Timperley Wedge. 

Ensuring these sites are properly served by public transport, walking and 

cycling will be integral to the success of these development sites. 

Development at both sites should provide an improved service to 

Page 403



 

8 
 

neighbouring, existing communities – particularly at Carrington where much of 

the area is somewhat isolated from the public transport network.   

3.8 Place plans for Sale Moor and Hale, together with the emerging Flixton 

neighbourhood plan, will highlight issues and opportunities to enhance the 

public realm and improve movement witin these places.    

3.9 A key issue is discouraging people from driving their children to school. One 

way in which this can be minimised is the continuation of work, with Sustrans, 

on active neighbourhood schemes. It is possible to get more people cycling 

and walking without expensive initiatives and Trafford Council/TfGM is keen to 

work with local neighbourhoods in promoting walking and cycling. An example 

is the Urmston Active Neighbourhood where relatively low-cost, quick 

interventions are being considered to increase active travel options.  

Town and district centres 
 

3.10 A number of Trafford’s town and district centres are difficult to access and 

move around by pedestrians due to road traffic, severance caused by 

highway infrastructure, lack of dedicated infrastructure and wayfinding. Key 

issues are as follows.  

Altrincham 

3.11 Altrincham is the main town centre in Trafford and the Altrincham Town 

Centre Neighbourhood Business Plan was adopted in 2017 which covers the 

town centre area. In recent years there has been major investment in the 

Altrincham Interchange (rail/metrolink/bus) and in public realm improvements 

in the town centre.  

3.12 Key issues include: 

• Vehicle movements and car parking; 

• Further improvements to signage and wayfinding; 

• Making the town centre more attractive for pedestrians and cyclists, by 

improving historic ginnels and alleyways, creating large pedestrianised 

areas, green walkways and additional cycleways.   

Sale 

3.13 Sale is identified as a town centre in the Trafford Core Strategy 

(2012)..Considerable investment has been made in public realm 

improvements and facilities for cyclists and pedestrians in the town centre, 

including linkages along and to the Bridgewater Canal corridor. The Sale 

Public Realm and Movement Strategy (2018) identified proposals to improve 

the public realm and provide a better environment for pedestrians and 

cyclists.   

3.14 Key issues include: 

Page 404



 

9 
 

• Making the town centre even more attractive for pedestrians and 

cyclists;   

• A lack of connectivity with the surrounding residential areas. 

Stretford 

3.15 Stretford is identified as a town centre in the Trafford Core Strategy (2012). 

The Refreshed Stretford Masterplan (2018) identifies key actions required to 

deliver major regeneration of the area, including improved public realm and 

promoting sustainable modes of transport at the town centre. An Area Action 

Plan for Stretford is being prepared which aims to deliver around 700 new 

homes in the town centre. 

3.16 Key issues include: 

• Severance caused by the A56, which divides the main shopping area, 

Stretford Mall, from other areas of commercial activity such as 

shopping frontages on Edge Lane; 

• The need for key improvements for pedestrians and cyclists to enhance 

the town centre for users.  

Urmston 

3.17 Urmston is identified as a town centre in the Trafford Core Strategy (2012) 

and an active neighbourhood is being created in the Urmston area which aims 

to make walking and cycling a natural choice for short journeys. 

3.18 Key issues include: 

• Maximising generally good public transport access with the train station 

and bus network; 

• The centre lacks a strong public realm but Eden Square provides a 

somewhat functional ‘town square’.  

• The need for key improvements for pedestrians and cyclists to enhance 

the town centre for users; 

• Need for fully segregated cycle routes along some of the busiest roads 

• New crossings of busy roads or other physical barriers that divide 

communities 

Hale  

3.19 Hale is identified as a district centre in the Trafford Core Strategy (2012). The 

draft Hale Village Place Plan was published for consultation in January 2020 

and will provide a framework for the centre ensuring good transport 

accessibility and safe movement in and around the centre.   

3.20 Key issues include: 

• Vehicle movements and car parking within the village centre; 

• A need to reduce traffic speeds; 

Page 405



 

10 
 

• A need for improved routes for pedestrians and cyclists; 

• Opportunities for public transport improvements, in particular by 

tram/train between Altrincham and Hale. 

Sale Moor 

3.21 Sale Moor is identified as a district centre in the Trafford Core Strategy 

(2012). The draft Sale Moor Village Place Plan was published for consultation 

in January 2020 and will provide a framework for the centre ensuring good 

transport accessibility and safe movement in and around the centre.   

3.22 Key issues include:  

• The current gyratory system and guard railing which act as a barrier 
and substantial hindrance to overall movement and accessibility within 
the centre; 

• A need to reduce traffic speeds;  

• A need for improved walking and cycling routes through and within the 
village centre and improvements to the public realm.   

 

Timperley 

 

3.23 Timperley is identified as a district centre in the Trafford Core Strategy (2012). 

3.24 Key issues include: 

• Timperley district centre is focused around the junction of Park Road 

and Stockport Road, which consequentially results in a high number of 

vehicle movements through the centre and therefore reduces the 

overall accessibility of the centre for pedestrians;  

 
Major development sites In Trafford 

 

New Carrington  

 

3.25 New Carrington is a proposed allocation in the GMSF, the site is proposed for 

approximately 4,300 dwellings and 350,000 sqm employment floorspace in 

the GMSF plan period to 2037. The development will deliver a new 

sustainable community which is integrated with the existing communities at 

Carrington, Partington and Sale West.  

3.26 Significant transport infrastructure will be required to support the 

development, including the Carrington Relief Road, new bus services, active 

travel links and utilising the route of the disused railway line as a sustainable 

transport corridor.  

3.27 An initial assessment of the interventions that may be required to support this 

site has been undertaken within the Locality Assessments prepared as part of 

Page 406



 

11 
 

the GMSF, and potential interventions are listed within the Appendix of the 

2020-2025 Delivery Plan. 

Timperley Wedge 

3.28 Timperley Wedge is a proposed allocation in the GMSF, the site is proposed 

for approximately 2,400 dwellings and 60,000 sqm office floorspace.  

3.29 The Timperley Wedge allocation will contribute to the delivery of improved 

east – west links between Altrincham and the Airport through a bus rapid 

transit corridor. The site will also be served by the Metrolink Western Leg 

extension. The proposed HS2 Airport station is also located within the site.  

3.30 An initial assessment of the interventions that may be required to support this 

site has been undertaken within the Locality Assessments prepared as part of 

the GMSF, and potential interventions are listed within the Appendix of the 

2020-2025 Delivery Plan. 

Wharfside 

 

3.31 Trafford Wharfside is identified in the Trafford Core Strategy as a Strategic 

Location witihin the Regional Centre opposite Salford Quays. The area forms 

part of MediaCityUK and offers great potential for new economic and 

residential development. It is anticipated that the Wharfside area could deliver 

around 2,000 new homes by 2037. 

Pomona 

3.32 Pomona Island is identified in the Trafford Core Strategy as a Strategic 

Location within the Regional Centre. The sites is remediated land within the 

Manchester Docks area, representing a major opportunity to expand and 

diversify the residential and economic offer of the Regional Centre. It is 

anticipated that the Pomona Area could deliver around 2,500 new homes by 

2037 in line with an approved masterplan for the area. 

Trafford Centre Rectangle 

3.33 The Trafford Centre Rectangle is identified as a Strategic Location in the 

Trafford Core Strategy, within which around 2,000 new homes could be 

delivered in the plan period, including the Trafford Waters development site. 

There are a number of sites in the area that offer significant potential to 

contribute to local and sub-regional priorities. 

Civic Quarter Area Action Plan Area 

 

3.34 An Area Action Plan is being prepared for the Civic Quarter which covers part 

of Stretford and Old Trafford and offers the opportunity to act as a 

regeneration and renewal catalyst in the area creating a sustainable, diverse 

Page 407



 

12 
 

and vibrant mixed use neighbourhood building on existing businesses and 

residential neighbourhoods. The Civic Quarter AAP could deliver around 

2,800 new homes in the plan period. 

Wider City-Region 

 

3.35 Of trips starting in Trafford 38% are to the wider city-region. 80% of these trips 

are made by private car, whilst 13% are made by public transport (source: 

TRADS database). Trafford has the same walking/cycling modal shift issues 

that have been recognised across Greater Manchester, with short local trips 

by car being a particular problem, for example journeys to and from schools. 

3.36 A number of initiatives in adjacent areas have the potential to benefit Trafford. 

For example, the Manchester to Chorlton cycling and walking route offers 

opportunities for communities in the north of the Borough and possible links to 

this route from Trafford would improve sustainable links to Manchester City 

Centre. There are also opportunities to link these schemes to other Bee 

Network projects in Trafford, for example the Sale – Sale Water Park scheme. 

Public Transport 

3.37 Trafford is relatively well served by Metrolink, by both the Altrincham line and 

the newly opened Trafford Park line. There has been a steady increase in 

users of the Altrincham line, to the extent that there are now capacity issues 

on this line particularly in morning and evening peaks. Upgrades have been 

identified for the route and there will be a move to all double units, as well as 

consideration of using slightly longer vehicles. A Metrolink network study is 

due to commence and may provide recommendations for further 

improvements.    

3.38 The Trafford Park Metrolink line was opened in March 2020 and provides 

access to thousands of jobs and major employers in Trafford Park and the 

Trafford Centre area.  

3.39 Metrolink lines and stops offer a valuable rapid transit route, but the nature of 

the routes means that they are linear and a key challenge for Trafford is to 

spread these benefits to adjacent areas. There are opportunities to provide 

improved active travel links to Metrolink stops, promoting sustainable first and 

last mile journeys, particularly around key interchange stations such as 

Altrincham. Improved bus services to Metrolink stops will also provide 

connections, for example the Sale West bus study proposes improved links 

from Sale West and the development proposals at New Carrington to Sale 

Metrolink stop. The wider GM opportunities around integrated ticketing across 

the public transport network will also make interchanging between bus and 

Metrolink a more attractive option for users.   

3.40 Planned extensions to the Metrolink in Trafford include the Manchester Airport 

Western Leg which is identified in the GM Delivery Plan. This will branch off 

Page 408



 

13 
 

the Manchester Airport line, past Wythenshawe Hospital and to the proposed 

GMSF Timperley Wedge allocation, providing a stop to serve the site, and 

linking to the proposed HS2 / NPR Airport station and Manchester Airport. 

The line will be delivered in stages, with the first phase anticipated to be to 

Davenport Green, serving the Timperley Wedge site and then extended to 

serve the HS2 / NPR station and on to Manchester Airport once HS2 

construction has completed.  

3.41 There are significant opportunities from bus reform in Greater Manchester and 

in Trafford there is a need to improve bus services to areas which are 

currently isolated from the public transport network such as Sale West, 

Carrington and Partington. These are often the most deprived areas as well.  

3.42 In terms of heavy rail, Trafford is served by the Warrington Central / CLC line 

and the Mid-Cheshire line. There are particular capacity issues on the 

Warrington Central / CLC line leading to congestion and overcrowding at peak 

times.  The Delivery Plan proposes improvements for these routes and 

identified the potential for Tram-Train to provide a higher frequency ‘metro’ 

service.  

Highway Network 
 

3.43 Road maintenance and resilience issues exist within Trafford and there is 

some impact on the network as a result of lack of funding. The Council uses 

Department for Transport grant funding to maintain the highway network, this 

funding can support resurfacing and improvements to approximately 5km of 

the network per annum, which equates to less than 1% of the highway 

network in Trafford. The funding is therefore focused on areas which support 

the continued safe use of the road network. In recent years this funding has 

been supported by Council Capital although this is not guaranteed and 

therefore other sources of funding will be applied for when they become 

available.  

3.44 Going forward a priority for Trafford will be to improve the highway network so 

that it can support increased cycling and walking trips. Trafford has secured 

funding for a number of cycling and walking schemes through the Bee 

Network programme and is continuing to expand the cycling and walking 

network at pace through measures introduced through the Emergency Active 

Travel Fund (EATF).

Page 409



 

14 
 

4. Trafford 5-Year LIP Outcomes 

Outcome 1: Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 

made by foot  

4.1 In the next 5 years this means delivering street improvements that create 

attractive, safe neighbourhoods that are pleasant for people to spend time in, 

and support people to make local, shorter journeys by foot. Promoting ease of 

movement for pedestrians in town centres and communities is a priority for 

Trafford and places will be designed in a way that makes active travel the 

most attractive option, by providing safe, attractive, fun and well-proportioned 

streets with high quality public realm and which support the ‘streets for all’ 

principles.  

4.2 Priorities for investment over the next 5 years: 

Investment Priority Description 

Urmston Active 
Neighbourhood 

Trafford Council has identified the Urmston area, also 

covering both Flixton and Davyhulme, as an Active 

Neighbourhood, where sustainable means of travel will 

be quicker and more convenient than private car 

ownership. The aim is a neighbourhood where land 

currently dominated by the motor vehicle will be freed up 

for social and economic activities creating cleaner and 

healthier air quality. 

Proposals for this scheme are currently being developed 

in consultation with the community. 

Further Active 
Neighbourhoods 
schemes 

Identify other opportunities for active neighbourhoods in 
Trafford. 

New / improved 
pedestrian crossings on 
major transport routes 

Identify roads which are a particular barrier to pedestrian 
movements and provide new / improved pedestrian 
crossings. Priorities include the A56 in Sale, Stretford 
and Altrincham town centre and the A6144 through 
Carrington and Partington. 

Outcome 2: Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 

made by foot and bike and enhancing connections between and within the 

Borough’s town centres  

4.3 In the next 5 years this means delivering the Bee Network schemes to provide 

improved active travel links and adopting ‘streets for all’ principles in the town 

centres of Altrincham, Sale, Stretford and Urmston.   

4.4 Priorities for investment over the next 5 years: 

Page 410



 

15 
 

Investment Priority Description 

Talbot Road / White 
City  

Bee Network scheme to provide off carriageway cycle 

lanes and junction improvements. The scheme will 

provide an enhanced walking and cycle route providing 

safer trips for pedestrian/cyclists both as a commuter 

route between Stretford and Manchester and leisure 

movements to the retail and leisure attractions.  

Talbot Road / A56 and 
Great Stone Road 

Bee Network scheme including dedicated cycling and 
walking facilities. Consideration is also being given to a 
CYCLOPS layout at the junction of Talbot Road / Great 
Stone Road. 

Seymour Grove Bee Network scheme to provide a safe walking and 

cycle route linking the Stretford Cycleway and the Old 

Trafford community to Manchester via the Manchester to 

Chorlton Walking and Cycling Route, as part of the 

Made to Move agenda. 

This scheme will provide a segregated cycle route along 

Seymour Grove, and improve the junctions to provide 

quality crossing facilities for walking and cycling. 

Wharfside Way / 
Europa Way 

Bee Network scheme to provide a safe walking and 
cycle route linking Stretford, Trafford Park Rail Station, 
Trafford Park, Media City, The Lowry Theatre and Retail, 
Bridgewater Way, Old Trafford Stadia (Football & Cricket 
grounds), NCN55 and Metrolink (New Trafford Park 
Link).  
 
Proposals include a continuous route across accesses 
and minor junctions, controlled parallel & toucan 
crossings, reconfiguration of a roundabout to create a 
safer junction for all users, landscaped areas of place 
and cycle parking. 

Sale / Sale Water Park Bee Network scheme to provide a safe walking and 

cycle route linking Sale Town Centre, the district centre 

of Sale Moor and Sale Water Park, and its communities 

in between, as part of the Made to Move agenda. 

This scheme will provide a segregated cycle route along 

Northenden Road and Old Hall Road and improve the 

junctions to provide quality crossing facilities for walking 

and cycling. The scheme will also improve the amenities 

and space in Sale Town Centre and Sale Moor by 

making it more attractive to pedestrians and cyclists to 

spend time in those locations. 

Page 411



 

16 
 

Investment Priority Description 

Altrincham Link Bridge Bee Network scheme to provide a safe route linking 

Altrincham Town Centre to the residential areas north of 

Altrincham Town Centre. This will also provide a MCF 

compliant crossing point of the Bridgewater Canal. 

Additionally, the route would link Altrincham to the 

Bridgewater Way, one of the six designated ‘Cycleways’ 

in Greater Manchester and to assist in making cycling 

and walking the mode of choice for short journeys in 

North Altrincham. 

GM Bike Hire Scheme Support the Greater Manchester-wide bike hire scheme 

as a positive opportunity for people to avoid the use of 

cars for short trips. Stage one includes area of Trafford 

within the Regional Centre and priorities beyond stage 

one include Altrincham, Sale, Stretford and Urmston for 

first and last mile and shops/school trips. 

Active travel 
improvements to the 
A56 

The A56 is an important highways corridor in the 
borough and making this route more attractive to walking 
and cycling is a priority. This will need to be achieved 
along the whole route and key areas of focus are: 

• A56 Bridgewater Way 

• A56 between Talbot Road to M60 

• A56 M60 to Dane Road 

 
4.5 The following longer term schemes have also been identified in Trafford to 

deliver significant improvements to the cycling and walking network.  

Investment Priority Description 

White City Circle White City Circle is a critical hub which is the missing 

pedestrian/cycling link connecting A56 Chester Road/ 

A5063 Trafford Road /A5081 Wharfside Way.  

This scheme would provide walking and cycling 

improvements around White City Circle by fully 

segregating pedestrians /cyclists by means of a bridge to 

provide a safer option to navigate around the complex 

junction. The carriageway layout and traffic signal 

configuration will be reviewed and adapted to achieve 

optimum efficiency. 

Trafford Greenway Off highway cycle route along the old rail line linking 
Altrincham, Carrington, Partington, Cadishead and Irlam 
Station.  

Page 412



 

17 
 

Investment Priority Description 

 
This scheme will bring a disused section of the former 
Cheshire rail line, between Timperley and Irlam, back 
into use as a Greenway and will also link to the wider 
New Carrington development proposals. 

 

  

Page 413



 

18 
 

 
Map 3: 5-Year Bee Network proposals 

P
age 414



 

19 
 

Outcome 3: Improved access to bus services across Trafford 

4.6 In the next 5 years this means focusing on improving bus provision on key 

corridors, including the A56, as well as improving bus services to areas of 

Trafford which are poorly served such as Partington and Sale West.   

4.7 Priorities for investment over the next 5 years: 

Investment Priority Description 

A56 bus corridor The A56 will continue to be a focus for improvements 

along different sections of the corridor and opportunities 

will be identified for bus priority measures at key 

junctions. This will include potential improved bus 

connections from Stretford to Manchester city centre. 

Bus rapid transit 
connections between 
Altrincham and 
Manchester Airport 

Develop quality bus transit connections between 
Altrincham and the Airport as part of wider 
improvements to east / west linkages across south 
Greater Manchester and linked to the proposed GMSF 
Timperley Wedge allocation. 

Improved bus 
connectivity to 
Partington, Carrington 
and Sale West 

Maximise opportunities for Partington / Carrington / Sale 

West bus improvements linked to the proposed and 

existing planning permissions in the area for residential 

and employment development, as well as the wider 

GMSF New Carrington allocation in the longer term. 

Improved bus services will be integral to the success of 

the New Carrington allocation and significant 

infrastructure investment will be required to deliver bus 

priority measures which make public transport a 

genuinely attractive alternative to the private car. 

Outcome 4: Streets in Trafford will be clean and green 

4.8 In the next 5 years this means reducing the environmental impact of motor 

traffic in Trafford through interventions that accelerate the uptake of low 

emission vehicles and reduce the emission of air pollutants from vehicle traffic 

across the Borough. 

4.9 Priorities for investment over the next 5 years: 

Investment Priority Description 

Air pollution reduction Measures to reduce the emission of pollutants in areas 

that are expected to exceed air quality limits. 

Electric vehicle 
charging points 

Programme to increase the number of EV charging 
points across the Borough. 

Page 415



 

20 
 

Investment Priority Description 

Local cycling and 
walking investment 
plans 

Local walking and cycling investment plans to improve 

active travel connections between residential areas and 

rail/Metrolink stations.   

Outcome 5: Improving access to Railway Stations and Metrolink Stops  

4.10 In the next 5 years this means delivering improved and new sustainable travel 

routes to railway stations and Metrolink stops in Trafford. The Borough is 

relatively well served by Metrolink with stops on both the Altrincham and 

Trafford Park lines. The Warrington Central/CLC railway line also runs 

through Trafford with stations including Urmston and Flixton, as well as 

railway stations on the Mid-Cheshire line at Altrincham and Navigation Road. 

These routes provide valuable sustainable travel links to the Regional Centre, 

as well as other main town centres and employment locations. Improving links 

to these stations from a wider area will enable more people to travel by 

sustainable modes. 

4.11 This links to the wider Delivery Plan transport priority to increase capacity on 

the Altrincham Metrolink line, as well as longer term objectives to provide 

tram-train services on the Mid-Cheshire line and Warrington Central/CLC line.   

4.12 Priorities for investment over the next 5 years: 

Investment Priority Description 

Improved sustainable 
travel links to Railway 
Stations and Metrolink 
Stops 

Improving walking, cycling and bus links to all rail and 

Metrolink stations from surrounding neighbourhoods, 

including via integrated bus/rail/Metrolink ticketing where 

appropriate. 

Increasing capacity of 
Metrolink  and rail 

Increasing capacity of rail and Metrolink services to the 
Regional Centre and Manchester Airport, through 
improved frequency and additional Metrolink carriages. 

Outcome 6: Streets in Trafford are well-maintained and in good condition  

4.1 This means continuing to invest in maintaining Trafford’s streets for all people 
who use them, from fixing footways, crossings and potholes at the 
neighbourhood level to essential maintenance to structures on Trafford’s key 
road network. 

 

 

 
   

Page 416



 

21 
 

 

4.2 Trafford Capital Investment Programme 2020-23: 

 2020-
21 

2021-
22 

2022-
23 

TOTAL 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Highway Structural Maintenance 1,000 800 700 2,500 

Street lighting programme 650 650 650 1,950 

Highway Tree Programme 50 50  100 

Integrated Transport Strategy 150 150 150 450 

Boroughwide – boundary / village entry 
signs 

35 35 35 105 

 
4.13 The Highway Structural Maintenance investment includes investment in 

structures, drainage and signage across the Borough. 

 

Page 417



 

22 
 

 
Map 4: Trafford Local Implementation Plan Schemes 

P
age 418



 

23 
 

5. Indicators 

5.1 Trafford Council and TfGM will work together to develop a monitoring 

framework to measure the success of the interventions within this Plan. It is 

anticipated that this will include aims and targets to measure success against 

the 5-Year Local Implementation Plan outcomes, carbon targets, and changes 

in mode-share to meet Right Mix targets. 

Page 419



 

1 

Wigan Summary GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20 

1. Introduction  

This Implementation Plan sets out Wigan’s local neighbourhood and town level 

transport priorities for the next five years, as part of Our Five Year Delivery Plan 

(2020-2025).  These have a distinct focus on several key areas, including active 

travel, sustainable transport and town centre access, with some - including new 

infrastructure within the Wigan Bolton Growth Corridor - referenced in the emerging 

Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF).  

These transport objectives are consistent with the Council’s corporate strategy ‘The 

Deal 2030’ which includes an ambition for the borough to become ‘a well-connected 

place’ by 2030, as one of its 10 priorities.  The Deal 2030 has been approved by the 

council and other public sector organisations as a ‘plan for the place’ of Wigan 

borough, and - in partnership with residents - it commits the council and its partners 

to the delivery of the priorities set out in the document. To become a well-connected 

place, it commits to increasing the amount of people using greener travel options 

and improving connectivity in the borough, by: 

• Investing in transport infrastructure to help reduce congestion and improve air 

quality. 

• Working with our partners to improve the public transport offer across the whole 

borough. 

• Keeping traffic moving, maintaining the highways; and providing safe and 

accessible routes for walking and cycling. 

• Promoting flexible working to reduce the number of journeys made by council 

staff. 

Improved connectivity both within the borough and to nearby destinations will 

contribute to making Wigan a more attractive place to live, work, visit and invest, and 

will therefore help the Council to achieve a number of the strategy’s other key 

priorities including ‘an environment to be proud of’, ‘economic growth that benefits 

everyone’, and ‘a home for all’.  

This document sets out some of the steps Wigan will take, with partners and 

stakeholders, to deliver infrastructure improvements and make good progress 

towards our transport vision and priorities in the shorter term.  It complements the 

Greater Manchester-level transport interventions set out in Our Delivery Plan, as 

shown in Map 1, below.  

When it comes to the borough’s local neighbourhood and town level priorities for the 

next five years, we have set five key outcomes to be achieved by 2025. These are:  

Page 420



 

2 

• Outcome 1: Increase the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) made 

by foot and by bike across the borough of Wigan. 

• Outcome 2: Improve access to, and perceptions of, local bus services for people 

who live, work or travel in the borough. 

• Outcome 3: Better management of parking facilities in Wigan’s centres, public 

transport stops and rail stations.  

• Outcome 4: Attractive and well supported town centres with something for 

everyone.  

• Outcome 5: Streets which are well maintained and in good condition. 

Further details of the specific interventions which will enable us to achieve these 

outcomes are summarised later in this document. It is important to emphasise, 

however, that our transport plans for the coming years have a distinct focus on 

several key areas, including: 

• Active travel where Wigan will continue to work through the Mayors Cycling and 

Walking Challenge Fund (MCF) to deliver key walking cycling priorities in Wigan 

as part of the Bee Network;  

• Town centres with a focus on directing development towards the east-west core 

of the borough - including the towns of Wigan, Ince, Hindley, Platt Bridge, Leigh, 

Atherton, Tyldesley, Astley and Ashton-in-Makerfield - in order to achieve 

transformational regeneration, through improved cycling and walking routes and 

wayfinding, better access to public transport and a reduction in 

the negative impacts of road traffic.    

• Sustainable transport including the identification of more bus friendly routes and 

the design and business case development of new public transport links to 

support future development 

 

.

Page 421



 

3 

 
Map 1: Delivery Plan Map 1, 2 and 3 Interventions 

P
age 422



 

4 

 
Map 2: Wigan Transport Network and Land Supply 

P
age 423



 

5 

2. Wigan Borough Strategic Transport Issues  

Wigan’s current Transport Strategy ‘Wigan Borough on the Move’ was launched in 

2011 and sets out the borough’s plans up to 2026. The document is due to be 

refreshed in late 2020 to take account of recent developments, and to ensure 

consistency with the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040.  

The Strategy identifies key strategic transport issues facing the borough, which 

remain highly relevant – including the need for public transport improvements, better 

integration of bus and rail services, walking and cycling, road projects, congestion 

measures and car parking – and sets out key transport solutions and projects 

needed to enable Wigan to deliver its transport vision and achieve its objectives. 

Wigan’s Core Strategy – the principle document within the borough’s Local Plan – 

was adopted in 2013. It sets out the borough’s planning strategy until 2028, including 

how much housing and employment development is needed and where it should go.  

A key focus is the inner ‘east-west core’ of the borough, which stretches westwards 

to the M6 motorway and eastwards to Tyldesley and Astley. This is where most of 

Wigan’s economic and social deprivation is concentrated, and where the 

environment is most degraded. A key priority for Wigan Council is ensuring that 

spatial planning helps to tackle these issues.  Map 2 sets out the existing transport 

network alongside GMSF land supply allocations. 

 ‘Right Mix’ and Carbon Neutral by 2038 

Wigan Council has declared a Climate 

Emergency and is committed to working with its 

neighbours and other key stakeholders to 

ensure the Council is carbon-neutral by 2038 or 

sooner, and that the whole borough is carbon 

neutral by 2050. Wigan supports the current aim 

for 50% of all trips to be made by sustainable 

modes (walking, cycling or public transport) in 

Greater Manchester by 2040.  

Currently, 67% of all trips that start in the borough are made by car or van, 7% by 

public transport and 24% by ‘active travel’.  Active travel means walking or cycling, 

with the vast majority of this comprising walking, rather than cycling.  

The percentage of all trips made by public transport and active travel in Wigan will 

need to increase if the borough, and Greater Manchester, are to meet their 

environmental targets and help to achieve health and air quality benefits for 

residents. We call this working towards the ‘Right Mix’ of transport for Greater 

Manchester.  

Page 424



 

6 

One of the areas with the biggest potential for change is local ‘neighbourhood’ trips 

(of 2km or less) where there are still large numbers of short car journeys which could 

reasonably be switched to walking or cycling. 

 

Transport Mode Share in Wigan and across Greater Manchester (TRADS Yrs567 

2016 – 2018) 

Work to date - to support switches to walking, cycling and public transport - includes:  

• The Bridgewater Canal (Muddy Mile) scheme, which comprises improvements 

to the Bridgewater Canal towpath in Astley including resurfacing the towpath, 

better signage and improved access points. This is now part of the Bridgewater 

Way which encourages people to walk and cycle on towpath from Wigan Pier, 

through Leigh and into Salford. 

• Saddle Junction and Robin Park Road improvement schemes which provide 

safer and more convenient cycling and walking facilities linking Marsh Green, Kitt 

Green and Newtown with Robin Park and Wigan town centre.  

• Pedestrianisation of town centre shopping streets, such as Standishgate in 

Wigan town centre, and Bradshawgate in Leigh. These changes have helped to 

create a better environment for town centre activities and retailers. 

• Support for the regional ‘Safe Streets Save Lives’ campaign to give 

pedestrians and cyclists more space. These measures include temporarily 

extending pedestrian zone times in Wigan and Leigh town centres to help walking 

and cycling movements; introducing 20mph speed limits on some Wigan town 

Page 425



 

7 

centre roads and extending the operating times of the bus lane on Leigh Road 

from peak hours to 24/7. 

• The Standish Mineral Line scheme provides additional and improved sections 

of on and off-road facilities, creating high quality multi-user routes (walking, 

cycling, equestrians and wheelchair).  

• Wigan’s Cycling and Walking Steering Group has recently been set up to 

discuss and remove barriers to active travel with residents and stakeholders.  

Supporting Economic Growth 

Wigan Council is committed to supporting economic growth and recovery from 

COVID-19. Its adopted Core Strategy makes clear that investment needs to be 

directed towards the east-west core of the borough: in and around the towns of 

Wigan, Ince, Hindley, Platt Bridge, Leigh, Atherton, Tyldesley, Astley and Ashton-in-

Makerfield, to create attractive places for people and businesses. Beyond the east-

west core, development should be focused on Golborne and Lowton, and Standish. 

This will enable the borough to capitalise on its strategic location between the growth 

areas of Manchester, Liverpool and Central Lancashire, to be more competitive 

economically and attract businesses, diversify the housing offer and meet housing 

needs, improve transport infrastructure and enable people to take advantage of the 

opportunities for education, jobs and leisure in those locations. 

The borough has experienced high levels of housing growth in recent years, 

including around 4,000 net additional homes built in the last three years (2017-20). 

This is set to continue.  The draft GMSF sets an annual target of 1,126 homes in the 

borough for the period 2020-37, equating to over 19,000 new homes. It also 

proposes the delivery of new, high quality employment sites, including at M6 

Junction 25, to attract investment from the key growth sectors of logistics and 

manufacturing, creating new jobs for local people. 

In future, Wigan will provide a gateway to high speed rail with the West Coast Main 

Line joining the high-speed network just south of Wigan and connecting to Crewe, 

Birmingham and London Euston. Being a HS2 station will support ongoing 

regeneration of Wigan town centre, particularly around the town’s stations and 

Wigan Pier Quarter. Wigan Town Centre is identified as main town centre in the draft 

GMSF with a key role as a local economic driver, a transport hub and a primary 

focus for office, retail, leisure and cultural activity.  

An initial assessment of the interventions that may be required to support these sites 

has been undertaken within the Locality Assessments prepared as part of the 

GMSF, and potential interventions are listed within the Appendix of the 2020-2025 

Delivery Plan. 

Page 426



 

8 

 

Work to date includes: 

• Work on the M58 and A49 link roads to provide better east-west connectivity 

between the M6 and Wigan town centre. 

• Increasing M58/M6 interchange capacity providing better connectivity into 

Wigan.  

• Junction improvements at Victoria Street/Warrington Road to remove the 

traffic merge so that Victoria Street and Warrington Road have their own signal 

stages. Crossing has also been made easier and safer for pedestrians and 

cyclists. 

• Ambitious Town centre plans for Wigan and Leigh.  

• Redevelopment of Wigan Bus Station which has improved the experience of 

people using it and provides an improved gateway into the town centre.  

• Wigan’s emerging HS2 Growth Strategy, being prepared to ensure that as new 

high speed trains start to go through Wigan (from 2026) the delivery of wider 

benefits around the stations and town centre are felt by local people and 

businesses.  

• Wigan Pier Quarter including development of The Edge venue alongside 

residential and commercial development, and an arts and commercial space at 

Trencherfield Mill.  

• Future High Streets Fund bid to support a wider package of regeneration 

proposals for the town centre, which will include the King Street area (adjacent to 

the Wigan North Western station gateway) to provide more space for living and 

working.  

• Work towards procuring a development partner for the Galleries in the heart 

of Wigan town centre, which will see new and diverse uses brought to the town.   

• The proposed allocation of a high quality employment site in the GMSF at 

M6 Junction 25 to capitalise on the borough’s strategic location within the M6 

growth corridor and to attract inward investment from key growth sectors, 

including logistics and advanced manufacturing. 

Page 427



 

9 

Protecting our Environment and Environmental Impact 

Addressing air quality issues in the is a priority for the borough. The Council is 

committed to improving air quality and reducing the effects of climate change as set 

out in ‘The Deal 2030’. Yet in 2018 the following six locations in the borough 

recorded nitrogen dioxide levels in excess of annual limits set by the EU: 

• Newton Road / Winwick Lane, Lane Head, Golborne 

• A49 Warrington Road, Mars Bridge 

• Robin Pak Road, Wigan (near Saddle Junction) 

• Southgate, Wigan 

• School Lane, Standish 

• A577 / Market Street / Lily Lane junction, Hindley 

Despite this, nitrogen dioxide levels have reduced at some of these locations since 

2017, and at other locations including Atherleigh Way / Twist Lane in Leigh and 

along the M6 (north of M6 Junction 24) where levels are now below the EU limit. 

Wigan Council is taking significant steps to reduce the emission of pollutants in these 

areas. 

Work to date includes: 

• The development of the GM Clean Air Plan alongside other Greater 

Manchester local authorities, which aims to reduce nitrogen dioxide levels at the 

roadside in the shortest possible time. 

• Circa £2m investment in walking and cycle routes to offer sustainable 

alternatives to making short trips by car, including the opening of ‘Muddy Mile’ 

down the Bridgewater Canal, as part of the first Bee Network cycling scheme. 

• Delivering the electric vehicle charging point network: by the end of 2020, 

there will be 48 twin electric vehicle charging points across Wigan borough. 

• The introduction of a permanent weight limit on Winwick Lane, Lowton 

southbound from the A580 to help address pollution levels at Lane Head. A 

northbound weight limit is being sought, but this would need to be implemented 

by Warrington Borough Council. 

 

 

Page 428



 

10 

Public Transport Reliability, Capacity and Connectivity  

The borough’s road network causes congestion along key routes and at key 

locations at peak times. Buses have to share the road network with cars and lorries. 

They contribute to, and experience, the same congestion. This has a major impact 

on public transport reliability.  

There are two railway stations in Wigan town 

centre and seven other stations in the 

borough. The two main stations in Wigan are 

separate and lie either side of a busy road. 

There is a lack of integration between them 

and with bus services, too.  

Wigan Council is working in partnership with bus and train operators, TfGM and 

national agencies to develop a better public transport system that is more reliable for 

people who visit, live and work in the borough.  

Work to date includes: 

• Wigan Town Centre bus station. Completed in 2018, this provides a modern 

and accessible transport facility that not only makes travel easier for residents but 

helps boost connectivity across the city region.  

• Park and ride schemes being considered at Hindley rail station and Tyldesley 

stop on the Leigh Guided Busway.  

• Improved accessibility to Daisy Hill, Hag Fold and Atherton rail stations 

from West of Gibfield GMSF allocation to be considered at planning application 

stage. 

Improving the Quality of Life and Reducing Inequalities Across the Borough  

Wigan borough has a lower than average life expectancy (in comparison to the rest 

of England). Life expectancy is 12 years lower for men, and almost 10 years lower 

for women, in the most deprived areas of Wigan than in the least deprived areas. 

Wigan also has higher than average mortality rates from cardiovascular disease. 

There were 300 reported road traffic collisions resulting in 380 casualties in Wigan in 

2018. In 2018 Wigan had the 6th highest number of reported road traffic casualties 

of all 10 local authorities in GM, and the 16th highest of all 24 local authorities in the 

North West. 

Wigan Council is working to tackle the dangers that result in road collisions with 

consequential serious injuries, and the perception of these dangers that discourages 

people from cycling and walking as part of a daily, healthy lifestyle.  

Page 429



 

11 

 
 

Work to date includes:  

 

• The creation of Wigan Council’s ‘Behavioural Change’ team. Formerly the 

Road Safety team, its remit has expanded. The team continues to deliver road 

safety education, training and publicity, as well as promoting and encouraging the 

use of sustainable transport across the Borough. 

• Start of work to deliver ‘active centres’ and ‘active corridors’. Wigan Council 

has, to date, secured circa £20 million from the Mayor’s Challenge Fund to 

deliver walking and cycling schemes that aim to support and improve road safety, 

such as the planned Wigan Central crossing scheme.  

• Development of ‘School Streets’ programme. Trialled in September 2020, it is 

designed to create a safer environment around schools to encourage walking and 

cycling.  

• Safe Streets Save Lives initiative. When travel restrictions were put in place 

following the outbreak of COVID-19, Wigan saw significant increases in walking 

and cycling. Increasing accessibility to transport hubs and town centres are only 

some of the measures being implemented to further encourage modal shift.  

• Poolstock Lane Environmental Scheme. Our aspiration is to make Poolstock a 

less vehicle-dominated, more user-friendly and community-based area using 

Greater Manchester’s ‘Streets for All’ emerging approach.  

• Preparation of a Planning for Health Supplementary Planning Document to 

inform new development and to provide guidance on the successful interpretation 

of Policy CP1 of the Core Strategy which requires the health impacts of new 

developments to be considered at planning application stage.  

3. Spatial Theme Challenges and Opportunities 

3.1 Neighbourhoods 

Nearly half (46%) of all trips starting in Wigan Borough can be classed as 

‘Neighbourhood trips’: short, local trips of less than 2km in length. There are slightly 

more trips of this kind are made in Wigan than in other parts of Greater Manchester 

Page 430



 

12 

(Greater Manchester’s average is 44%). Of these short trips in Wigan, 50% are 

made by car or van (higher than Greater Manchester average).  

Across the borough, road traffic has a significant impact on local walking and cycling 

trips, including actual and perceptions of safety. Major roads are often the source of 

congestion and severance which affects travel by other modes (bus, cycle, walking) 

between neighbourhoods and destinations. Air quality issues, poor street design and 

a lack of dedicated infrastructure sometimes also put people off making short trips by 

active modes.  

There is very little infrastructure for active travel in some areas, including to the north 

east of the town centre (between Scholes and Whelley), Orrell, Pemberton and 

Golborne, and Lowton - although challenges in many of these areas will be 

addressed by Bee Network improvements in future.  

There are a number of opportunities to meet these challenges, including the 

development and delivery of the Bee Network proposals in Leigh/Atherton/Tyldesley 

and Standish/Wigan/Ashton. Wigan’s Cycling and Walking Steering Group has been 

set up to discuss and remove barriers to active travel with residents and 

stakeholders.  

Standish and Golborne and Lowton Infrastructure Assessments are looking to 

improve walking and cycling infrastructure in local areas. A Link Road connecting 

A579 Atherleigh Way to A572 Newton Road is also being considered at Pocket Nook 

GMSF allocation to reduce localised congestion and increase accessibility to public 

transport services. An essential aspect of the through road is the bridge over the 

proposed HS2 line, without this infrastructure, the through road cannot be delivered 

The Council is in ongoing negotiations with HS2 Ltd about these matters. 

3.2 Wider City Region 

Of all trips that start in the borough, ‘Wider City Region’ trips - trips between local 

centres, sometimes crossing into a different borough: from Wigan to Bolton, for 

example, or Ashton in Makerfield to St Helens - are the most frequent type. They 

comprise 49% of all trips made. This is significant when compared to the Greater 

Manchester average for this type of trip (38% of all trips made). Of these ‘Wider City 

Region’ trips that start in Wigan, 82% are made by car or van (slightly higher than 

the GM average) and 13% are made by public transport (12% by bus and 1% by 

train) which is in line with the Greater Manchester average for these trips between 

local centres. 

A key challenge in relation to ‘Wider City Region’ trips that start in Wigan is the 

impact of increased congestion on public transport. Buses get stuck in traffic 

congestion, leading to perceptions of bus travel as unreliable and people opting to 

use private vehicles instead, thus increasing traffic congestion to a greater extent. 

Page 431



 

13 

Parts of the Borough which are particularly adversely affected are between Leigh 

and Wigan at peak times, and the Ince-in-Makerfield and Westhoughton areas. 

Travel between Orrell and other western parts of the Borough and Lancashire and 

Merseyside is also challenging at peak times. Park and Ride facilities at Wigan’s 

stations and Guided Busway stops are at capacity at peak times, causing car parking 

pressures on nearby residential streets.  

There are several opportunities to meet these challenges such as increased service 

provision and additional stops on the guided busway, including North of Mosley 

Common GMSF allocation for example. There are further plans to explore 

opportunities to enhance park and ride facilities at various transport hubs across the 

borough.  

3.3 Wigan Town Centre 

A key challenge for Wigan Town Centre relates to radial approaches into the town, 

where there are often traffic delays and congestion (especially during peak times). 

This, combined with the existence of few crossing points, makes it difficult to access 

to the town centre on foot or by bike.  

Another key challenge is that, although plans are in place for the regeneration of the 

Wigan Pier Quarter, it remains disconnected from the heart of the town. Wigan 

Athletic is another key asset which could help to support the town centre if links were 

improved between the grounds and the station, bringing supporters back into the 

town centre, encouraging people visiting Wigan to stay for longer periods of time, 

and perhaps return in future.   

In terms of opportunities, Bee Network schemes have been developed to reduce 

pedestrian and cycle severance to Wigan Town Centre, by improving key junctions 

along Riverway. Work is also ongoing to develop cycling routes that link the town 

centre with existing investment at the edge of the town centre.  

Wigan Council has been working with Historic England to create a Heritage Action 

Zone on King Street in Wigan Town Centre. £1.3 million has been secured to help 

restore listed buildings to their former glory alongside new opportunities for cultural 

engagement and education. Wigan has bid for funding from the Government’s 

Future High Streets Fund, which aims to revitalise local town centres. 

Finally, work is ongoing to define the development opportunities for the wider town 

centre area, including through the HS2 Growth Strategy and work to maximise the 

land assets in and around the station in anticipation of the arrival of High Speed 2 

and Northern Powerhouse Rail. 

 

 

Page 432



 

14 

3.4 Regional Centre 

Just 2% of all trips from Wigan borough are made to the Regional Centre 

(Manchester City Centre, the Quays in Salford and the Etihad Campus area). This is 

far below the Greater Manchester average of 15%.  

There are a number of challenges when it comes to making these kinds of trips, 

including less comprehensive bus routes and train timetabling between some parts 

of Wigan and Manchester city centre. In addition, public transport services departing 

from Wigan and going into Manchester City Centre are frequently at full capacity, 

forcing people to travel out of the borough to come back in. 

In the next five years, subject to successful pathfinder study work, Wigan Council will 

work in partnership with TfGM to develop plans for Metro/tram-train from Wigan to 

Manchester via Atherton. Tram-train technology – which is common in some 

European countries, but relatively novel in the UK – could enable better use to be 

made of the borough’s existing rail lines, by allowing adapted Metrolink vehicles to 

share sections of track with conventional trains. In addition, possible service 

improvements are planned for the Leigh-Salford-Manchester Guided Busway, 

including the potential to extend it further west (for example, towards Wigan).  

4. Wigan 5-Year LIP Outcomes 

The following section outlines Wigan Borough’s 5-Year LIP outcomes, and priorities 

for investment to achieve these. Map 3, below, shows local investment priorities 

to meet these outcomes.  

Outcome 1: More neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) made by foot and by 

bike across the borough of Wigan.  

In the next five years, this means improving cycling and walking networks to make it 

easier and safer for pedestrians and cyclists to move around the borough, 

encouraging healthy lifestyles, a reduction in carbon emissions and better access to 

facilities, services and retail. People will feel supported to make local trips by foot or 

by bike, rather than by private car.  

We are working closely with GM on this work, including on the Bee Network and the 

GM Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan. In addition, Wigan has some 

significant proposals for improving walking and cycling in and around Wigan Town 

Centre.  

 

 

 

Page 433



 

15 

Priorities for investment over the next 5 years include: 

Investment Priority 

Name  

Description 

Worsley Mesnes 

Active 

Neighbourhood/Low 

Traffic 

Neighbourhood 

(MCF Tranche 5 and 

EATF bid) 

A scheme to provide high quality safe space for 

walking and cycling for all local residents as part of 

a wider estate improvement programme.  

Standish Mineral 

Line Extension (MCF 

Tranche 2) 

Wigan Council has secured funding to extend the 

Standish Mineral Line to connect with the 

Highways England works at Junction 27 of the M6. 

Leigh, Atherton and 

Tyldesley (MCF 

Tranche 4) 

A scheme to improve cycle and walking facilities in 

Leigh, Atherton and Tyldesley.  

Standish to Ashton 

(MCF Tranche 5)  

A scheme to improve cycle and walking facilities 

along the A49 strategic corridor from Ashton to 

Standish.  

Victoria Street 

Junction (MCF 

Tranche 1)  

A scheme to provide a more coherent, direct and 

safe cycling and pedestrian route, giving people a 

better experience when negotiating a busy junction. 

Road to Wigan Pier A scheme to improve walking and cycling links 

between Wigan town centre and Wigan Pier 

Quarter 

Saddle Junction to 

Alexandra Park 

Cycleway 

Various schemes to improve the cycle network 

connectivity around Wigan town centre.  

Eastern Gateway  A scheme to ‘open up’ the Eastern Gateway and 

ensure that pedestrian and cycling linkages to the 

town centre and the Scholes area are significantly 

improved. 

Wigan Central 

crossing scheme 

(MCF Tranche 3) 

The scheme will provide safe road crossing 

facilities including five Toucan Crossing upgrades 

on existing key junctions along Gidlow Lane, 

Springfield Road, Kenyon Road/Walkden Ave, Park 

Road, and Frog Lane. 

Page 434



 

16 

Investment Priority 

Name  

Description 

Wigan Town Centre 

Masterplan 

Proposals 

Improving connections from Wigan town centre to 

adjoining neighbourhoods and beyond is a priority, 

including by enhancing cycle and pedestrian 

crossings.  

Leigh Town Centre 

Masterplan 

Proposals 

Planned improvements to cycle and pedestrian 

environments in the Leigh-Westleigh Waterfront 

area. 

Active 

Neighbourhoods in 

Leigh Neighbours 

(MCF Tranche 4), 

North Wigan (MCF 

Tranche 5) and 

Ashton (MCF 

Tranche 5).  

Schemes to make it easier, safer and more 

pleasant for people to travel by bike or on foot in 

and around these parts of the borough, through the 

introduction of measures such as new or upgraded 

crossings, new cycle parking, protected cycle 

infrastructure and modal filters. 

Behaviour Change 

Activities 

Deliver behaviour change to support the Bee 

Network, active neighbourhoods, and new 

development. 

School Streets Establish and progress delivery of School Streets 

programme across Wigan Borough 

GMSF allocations 

walking and cycling 

improvements 

Improvements to walking and cycling connections 

including Public Rights of Way bounding or near to 

the GMSF allocations (detailed proposals to be 

determined at planning application stage). 

Improvements to 

local junctions to 

mitigate traffic 

associated with 

potential GMSF 

allocations  

A number of junctions on the local road network 

have been identified through the GMSF Locality 

Assessments as potentially requiring improvements 

in order to accommodate the generated traffic from 

allocations and provide facilities for all users 

(specific junctions/designs to be determined at 

planning application stage). 

Page 435



 

17 

 

Map 3: Bee Network in Wigan

P
age 436



 

18 

Outcome 2: Improve access to, and perceptions of, local bus services for 

people who live, work or travel in the Borough 

In the next 5 years, this means a focus on improving the reliability, comfort and 

attractiveness of bus journeys, with a particular focus on: better integration for 

services linked to the guided bus way; improved bus access to some stations and 

key employment and ensuring that all new developments are accessible by bus. 

Priorities for investment over the next 5 years include: 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   

Investment Priority Name  Description  

Review of Bus Services 

Linked to the Guided 

Busway.  

For example, those serving the Trafford Centre and 

Salford Quays and consider how to ensure they are 

better integrated with other services.  

Improved Access to Rail 

Stations by Bus.  
Hag Fold, Atherton.  

Enhanced Bus Connectivity 

to key Employment Sites.  

 

To support employment opportunities at M6 J25 and 

Haydock.  

Development of Bus Priority 

Measures  

Develop opportunities to deliver bus priority across 

the borough. 

Bus services to support 

GMSF allocations 

 

 

The development of new, extended and enhanced 

bus services and infrastructure to serve the GMSF 

allocations where required (detailed service design 

to be determined at planning application stage). 

Outcome 3: Better management of parking facilities in Wigan’s centres, public 

transport stops and rail stations. 

Over the next 5 years, Wigan Council will continue to focus on reducing the impact of 

parked vehicles, especially in key centres, to create more pleasant environments 

and remove obstacles to pedestrian, cyclist and public transport movement.  

Wigan will continue to work with and other partners to consider what can be done to 

turn rapid transit stops into ‘Mobility Hubs’, with not just improved parking facilities, 

but also better cycle parking and cycle access, better pick-up and drop-off provision, 

and better links with flexible on-demand transport. More work also needs to be done 

to ensure all drivers of electric vehicles in Wigan can access public charging 

infrastructure that is affordable, efficient and reliable to meet local and national 

carbon targets.  

 

Page 437



 

19 

Priorities for investment over the next 5 years include:                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          

Investment Priority Name  Description  

Improved Parking Provision 

in Standish 

To improve accessibility to Standish’s retail and 

hospitality offer and resolve ongoing parking 

availability issues caused by lack of publicly 

available provision.  

Park and Ride 

  

Explore opportunities to enhance park and ride 

facilities around Hag Fold, Atherton, Hindley, Leigh 

and Tyldesley. Encourage people to access park 

and ride facilities and reduce parking demand on-

street.  

Increase quantity of safe 

cycle storage in Wigan’s 

town centres. 

This will encourage cycling by reassuring those 

who wish to do so that there is safe storage for 

their bikes when visiting the borough’s town 

centres 

Electric Vehicle Charging 

Points 

Work towards increasing the number of electric 

vehicles charging points across the borough. 

Outcome 4: Attractive and well supported town centres with something for 

everyone.  

Alongside Wigan town centre, the Borough has seven smaller town centres: Ashton-

in-Makerfield, Atherton, Golborne, Hindley, Pemberton, Standish and Tyldesley. This 

means there are specific issues in relation to the way these local centres - and the 

communities which surround them – develop. Wigan Council is working with 

community groups to address these issues, and to make changes residents want to 

see, at the most local level possible.  

Priorities for investment over the next 5 years include: 

Investment Priority Name Description  

Standish Neighbourhood 

Plan  

Standish Neighbourhood Forum, known as 

Standish Voice, has worked with the local 

community and Wigan Council to prepare a 

neighbourhood plan for Standish. The Standish  

 

The Plan sets out a Vision for Standish, and 

objectives around: improving Standish’s retail and 

hospitality offer by supporting existing businesses 

and attracting new ones, reducing traffic 

congestion through new transport initiatives and 

Page 438



 

20 

Investment Priority Name Description  

better parking, enhancing, and improving access 

to, open space (to improve residents’ health), 

promote sustainable and high quality housing, 

maximising government and private developer 

funding from developments and  promoting health 

and wellbeing within a sustainable community.  

Abram Neighbourhood Plan  

Abram Communities Together is working to 

prepare, in partnership with Wigan Council, a 

Neighbourhood Plan for Abram.  

 

The aim of the plan is to inspire Abram Ward 

Residents to take greater ownership of their 

community and create an area where everyone is 

welcomed. 

Golborne and Lowton 

Neighbourhood Plan  

Golborne and Lowton West Voice is working to 

prepare a neighbourhood plan to enable Golborne 

and Lowton West to grow as a strong community, 

help local people shape the area in which they live 

and work and support new development proposals. 

‘Our Town’ campaign 

The ‘Our Town’ campaign intends to build on 

residents deep sense of belonging to their 

individual wards by developing a package of 

improvement measures to address the issues 

raised during the ‘Big Listening Project’ in 2018.  

 

Each area will be deep cleaned, including jet-

washing, weeding and pruning to tidy up the 

streets. New flower planters will be installed along 

with new trees. Other measures such as repainting 

and replacing street signs and benches, new or 

improved street-lighting and repainting road 

markings will be implemented where appropriate. 

Outcome 5: Streets which are well maintained and in good condition. 

The Council will continue to invest in maintaining Wigan’s streets and roads for all 

people who use them, from fixing footways, crossings and potholes at the 

neighbourhood level to essential maintenance to structures on Wigan’s Key Road 

Network.   

 

Page 439



 

21 

Priorities for investment over the next 5-years include:  

Investment Priority  Description  

Pothole repair   Local walking / cycling investment plans to improve active 

Delivery of Central Government Pothole funding 

programme.  

Highway Maintenance  Continued Council capital investment in the structure of 

the highway by way of an asset management-

based approach to road resurfacing.  

  

Page 440



 

22 

 

Map 4: 5 Year Local Implementation Plan Interventions

P
age 441



 

23 

5. Implementation Plan Indicators 

Wigan Council and TfGM will work together to develop a monitoring framework to 

measure the success of the interventions within this Plan. It is anticipated that this 

will include aims and targets to measure success against the 5-Year Local 

Implementation Plan outcomes, carbon targets, and changes in mode-share to meet 

Right Mix targets. 

Page 442



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 142 

APPENDIX C: GMSF allocations and their 
transport interventions 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

GMA01.1 Northern Gateway 
(Heywood/Pilsworth) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic  

• Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) corridor linking 
Manchester city centre and Rochdale via 
Heywood Old Road/ Manchester Road 

Supporting Local:  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation  

• M66 Junction 3 / Pilsworth Road junction 
upgrade 

• M62 J19 / A6046 Heywood Interchange – 
pedestrian and cycle measures 

• M66 Junction 2 / A58 additional lane 

• M66 Link Road 
Necessary Local  

• Pedestrian and cycle facilities 

• Introduction of local bus services 
to/from/within the allocation 

• Moss Hall Road / Pilsworth Road (South) 
junction upgrade 

• A6045 Heywood Old Rd / Whittle Lane 
additional traffic management measures 

• Moss Hall Road / Pilsworth Road (North) 
junction upgrade 

• Hollins Brow / Hollins Lane junction upgrade 

• Pilsworth Road (Between M66 Link Road 
and “3-Arrows” Junction) upgrade to dual 
carriageway standard 

GMA01.2 Northern Gateway  
(Simister and Bowlee) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic  

• New Metrolink stop on proposed line 
between Crumpsall and Middleton 

• Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) corridor linking 
Manchester city centre and Rochdale via 
Heywood Old Road/ Manchester Road 

Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

Page 443



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 143 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

• M60 Junction 19 / A576 Middleton Road – 
signalisation of the Northern and Eastern 
Arms (A576 N and the M60 West Bound off 
Slip) 

• M62 J19 / A6046 Heywood Interchange – 
pedestrian and cycle measures 

• Corridor improvements on A576 Middleton 
Road / Manchester Old Road in vicinity of 
M60 J19 – interventions to be determined.  

Necessary Local  

• Pedestrian and cycle facilities 

• Introduction of local bus services 
to/from/within the allocation 

• Improvement of A6045 Heywood Old Road / 
A576 junction 

• A6045 Heywood Old Road / Langley Lane 
signalisation  

GMA02 Northern Gateway (Stakehill) Necessary Strategic  

• A627(M) / A664 Rochdale Road (Slattocks) 
roundabout improvement  

Supporting Strategic 

• Potential New Rail Station at Slattocks  

• M62 J19 improvements/ A6046 Middleton 
Road Heywood Interchange 

• M60 J19/ A576 Middleton Road 
improvements 

• A627(M) / Chadderton Way / A663 
Broadway Interchange  

Supporting Local 

• Resurfacing of Thornham Lane 

• Tactile kerb installation between the 
northern site and Castleton Station 

SRN Mitigation  

• M62 J20 
Necessary Local  

• A664 Queensway / A664 Manchester Road 
Signalised junction improvement 

• A664 Queensway / A664 Edinburgh Way 3-
arm roundabout improvement 

• A664 Queensway / A664 Edinburgh Way / 
A627 (M) / Sandbrook Way Signalised 
junction improvement 
- Bus Improvements including new 

Rochdale-Oldham service 

GMA03.1 & GMA03.2 Roundthorn 
MediPark Extension & Timperley 

Necessary Strategic  

• Timperley Wedge Spine Road 

Page 444



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 144 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

Wedge (previously GMA11 & GMA46 
2019 GMSF) 

• Roundthorn Medipark Spine Road 
Supporting Strategic 

• Metrolink Western Leg Extension 

• Airport to Altrincham Bus Rapid Transit 
(BRT) 

• M56 J6 (improvement to be determined) 

• M56 J5 and wider corridor improvement 
(improvement to be determined) 

Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• M56 Junction 3 
Necessary Local  

• Stopping up Whitecarr Lane at its junction 
with Newell Road 

• Stopping up Clay Lane/Barnacre Avenue 
from north of Capenhurst Close 

• Stopping up Clay Lane (at the western end of 
the Timperley Wedge Spine Road)  

• Dobbinetts Lane/Floats Road junction 
upgrade 

• Upgrade Dobbinetts Lane to standard width 
along its length 

• Improvement of Thornley Lane/ Runger 
Lane  

• Upgrade Terminal 2 Roundabout to a 
signalised roundabout 

• Timperley Wedge Spine road Beeway 

• Beeway link to Timperley Wedge Spine Road 

• Spine Road crossing points 

• Improved connections with proposed 
Beeway at Whitecarr Lane towards Newall 
Green 

• Bus service improvements – extending bus 
service 102 through the allocation  

• Clay Lane bus gate  

• BRT proofing Timperley Wedge Spine Road 
and BRT stops  

• Metrolink Western Leg Extension – 
Metrolink stop at Timperley Wedge  

GMA04 Bewshill Farm  Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Local  

• N/A 

Page 445



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 145 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

SRN Mitigation 

• N/A  
Necessary Local  

• Pedestrian and cycle facilities and 
connection to the existing network 

• Contribution towards the Local Link service 

GMA05 Chequerbent North  Necessary Strategic  

• Chequerbent roundabout Link Road or 
junction improvement 

Supporting Strategic  

• Measures (highway connections and/or 
east-west public transport) delivered by 
policy GM Strat 8 

• Metro Tram-train improvements on the 
Wigan-Manchester railway line 

Supporting Local  

• Implementation of the Westhoughton Bee 
Network scheme  

SRN Mitigation 

• Improvement at M61 J5 
Necessary Local  

• Pedestrian and cycle connection between 
the allocation and the existing network  

GMA06 West of Wingates /  
M61 Junction 6  

Necessary Strategic  

• Public transport improvements – Local Link 
established, or bus service frequencies 
increased  

Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local 

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• M61 J5 Improvement 
Necessary Local  

• Blackrod Road/Manchester Road (signal 
timings) 

• A6 De Havilland Way/A6 Chorley Road 
junction improvements 

• Link road and Dicconson Lane roundabout 

• Hall Lane/Bolton Road 

• M61 Junction 6 (associated with the works 
at the A6 De Havilland Way/A6 Chorley 
Road) 

• Mansell Way / De Havilland Way (amended 
signal timings) 

Page 446



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 146 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

• Pedestrian and cycle enhancements external 
to the allocation 

GMA07 Elton Reservoir Area Necessary Strategic   

• Link Road and three access junctions 

• Elton Metrolink Stop and Park & Ride facility  
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local  

• A56/Radcliffe Road signal improvements 

• A58/Ainsworth Road/ Starling Road signal 
improvements 

SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Radcliffe Town Centre Improvements 

• New bus route and associated stops through 
the allocation  

• Pedestrian and cycle facilities external to the 
development – delivery of missing section of 
the Bolton-Bury Cycleway  

GMA09 Walshaw Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• Elton Link Road 
Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Link road providing bus penetration through 
the allocation between Lowercroft Road and 
Scobell Street, via Walshaw Road. 

• Crostons Road/ Tottington Road junction 

• Tottington Road/Walshaw Road priority 
junction  

• Cockey Moor Road junction  

• A58 Bolton Road/Ainsworth Road junction 
improvement 

• A58 Bolton & Bury Road/Starling Road 
junction improvement 

• Introduction of bus services through the 
allocation 

• Provision of off-site active travel 
infrastructure  

GMA10 Global Logistics  Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 

Page 447



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 147 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

Supporting Strategic 

• M56 Junction 6 (improvements to be 
determined) 

Supporting Local 

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• A538/Sunbank Lane (improvement to be 
determined) 

• Sunbank Lane walking and cycling accesses 
and crossing 

GMA11 Southwick Park (previously 
GMA12 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• N/A 

GMA12 Beal Valley (previously GMA14 
2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• New Metrolink Stop and Park and Ride 
facility adjacent to Broadbent Moss and Beal 
Valley allocations 

• Metrolink Overbridge 

• Key internal highway network (spine road) 
Supporting Strategic 

• Improvement of A627 (M) / Chadderton 
Way / A663 Broadway interchange 

• Improvement of Elizabethan Way / A640 
Newhey Road / A6193 Sir Isaac Newton Way 
roundabout interchange 

• A640 Huddersfield Road / A640 Newhey 
Road / A663 Shaw Road / Cedar Lane 
enhancements to the operation of the 
signal-controlled junction 

Supporting Local 

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Improvement of A663 Shaw Road / A671 
Oldham Road junction 

Page 448



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 148 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

• Improvement of A663 Crompton Way / 
Rochdale Road / Beal Lane junction 

• Improvement of B6194 Heyside / Water 
Street / Bullcote Lane junction 

• Provision of bus services within the 
allocation  

• Improvement of walking/cycling facilities on 
Heyside and Cop Road via new Metrolink 
overbridge bridge  

GMA13 Bottom Field Farm 
(Woodhouses) (previously GMA22 
Woodhouses Cluster 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local 

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Cycling and walking improvements  

• Minor Traffic Management improvements 

GMA14 Broadbent Moss (previously 
GMA15 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• New Metrolink Stop and Park and Ride 
facility adjacent to Broadbent Moss and Beal 
Valley allocations 

• Key internal highway network (spine road) 

• Metrolink Overbridge 
Supporting Strategic 

• Improvement of A627 (M) / Chadderton 
Way / A663 Broadway interchange 

• Elizabethan Way / A640 Newhey Road / 
A6193 Sir Isaac Newton Way  

• A640 Huddersfield Road / A640 Newhey 
Road / A663 Shaw Road / Cedar Lane 
enhancements to the operation of the 
signal-controlled junction 

Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Improvement of A663 Shaw Road / A671 
Oldham Road junction 

• Improvement of A663 Crompton Way / 
Rochdale Road / Beal Lane junction 

• Improvement of B6194 Heyside / Water 
Street / Bullcote Lane junction 

Page 449



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 149 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

• Provision of bus services within the 
allocation  

• Traffic calming Vulcan Street 

GMA15 Chew Brook Vale (Robert 
Fletchers) (previously GMA18 Robert 
Fletchers 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local 

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Sustainable access package of off-site 
improvement to walking and cycling routes 

• Access road and bridge over Chew Brook  

• A635 Holmfirth Road access junction 

GMA16 Cowlishaw Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• Improvement of A627 (M) / Chadderton 
Way / A663 Broadway interchange 

• Improvement of A671 Rochdale Road / 
B6195 High Barn Road / A671 Oldham Road 
/ B6195 Middleton Road junction 

Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Improvement of A663 Shaw Road / A671 
Oldham Road junction 

• Improvement of A663 Crompton Way / 
Rochdale Road / Beal Lane junction 

• Upgrade of PRoW to Low Crompton to Bee 
Network standard 

GMA17 Hanging Chadder Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• Improvement of A627 (M) / Chadderton 
Way / A663 Broadway interchange 

• Rochdale-Oldham-Ashton Quality Bus 
Transit corridor 

Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 

Page 450



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 150 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

Necessary Local  

• Cycle connection along A671 between 
Grasmere Rd and Fir Bank Road to Bee 
Network 

• General Traffic Management improvements 

GMA18 Land South of Coal Pit Lane 
(Ashton Road) (previously GMA13 
Ashton Road Corridor 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• Rochdale-Oldham-Ashton Quality Bus 
Transit corridor 

Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Improvement of Coal Pit Lane/A627 Ashton 
Road Junction including localised 
improvement of Coal Pit Lane 

• Pedestrian and cycle route between Coal Pit 
Lane / Ashton Road Junction and White 
Bank Road 

GMA19 South of Rosary Road Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• Rochdale-Oldham-Ashton Quality Bus 
Transit corridor  

Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Permeable network for pedestrian and 
cyclist priority within the allocation & PRoW 
connections to Bardsey Bridleway 

• Minor traffic management improvements 

GMA20 Bamford and Norden 
(previously GMA23 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Norden Road / War Office Road scheme 

• Norden Road pedestrian crossing 

Page 451



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 151 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

• Bus stop upgrades at the Norden Road / War 
Office Road junction 

• Furbarn Road improvements 

• North-South Greenway  

GMA21 Castleton Sidings (previously 
GMA24 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local 

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Manchester Road / Queensway (signal 
alterations) 

• Active travel links beyond allocation 
boundary 

GMA22 Crimble Mill (previously 
GMA25 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Public Transport improvements – bus stop 
upgrades on Rochdale Road East  

• Sustainable travel improvements  

• Crimble Lane improvements  

GMA23 Land North of Smithy Bridge 
(previously GMA26 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• A58 Residential Relief Road 
Supporting Local  

• A58 local improvements 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• A58 Halifax Road / B6225 Hollingworth Road 
/ A6033 Todmorden Road signals 

• A58 Wardle Road signals 

• Hollingworth Lake car park 

• Traffic calming and parking management 
measures along Hollingworth Road 

Page 452



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 152 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

• Secure cycle parking at Littleborough Rail 
Station  

• Bus stop upgrades along Hollingworth Road 
and Lake Bank  

GMA24 Newhey Quarry (previously 
GMA27 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local 

• Improvements to existing bus services 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• A640 Huddersfield Road / A640 Newhey 
Road / A663 Shaw Road / Cedar Lane  

• Elizabethan Way / A640 Newhey Road / 
A6193 Sir Isaac Newton Way  

• Pedestrian crossing on Huddersfield Road 

• Existing residents’ car park  

• Metrolink Park and Ride car park 

GMA25 Roch Valley (previously GMA28 
2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• A58 Residential Relief Road 

• Cycle improvements towards Smithy Bridge 
Rail Station  

• Upgrade to level crossing on Smithy Bridge 
Road 

Supporting Local  

• A58 local improvements  

• Footway/cycleway to the south of the 
proposed access road 

SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• A58 Halifax Road / B6225 Hollingworth Road 
A6033 Todmorden Road signals 

• A58 Wardle Road signals 

• Secure cycle parking at Smithy Bridge Rail 
Station  

• Bus stop upgrades along Smithy Bridge Road 
and Halifax Road 

• Toucan Crossing at Smithy Bridge Rail 
Station 

• Toucan crossing at allocation entrance on 
Smithy Bridge Road 

Page 453



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 153 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

GMA26 Trows Farm (previously GMA29 
2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• M62 Junction 20 
Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• See supporting strategic interventions 
Necessary Local  

• A664 Queensway / Cowm Top Lane 
Signalisation 

• A664 Queensway / A664 Manchester Road 
Signal Junction Staging Amendments 

• A664 Queensway / A664 Edinburgh Way 
Roundabout Widening 

• A664 Queensway / A664 Edinburgh Way / 
A627 (M) / Sandbrook Way Signal Junction  

• Pedestrian and cycle improvements  

GMA27 Land at Hazelhurst Farm 
(previously GMA30 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local 

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• A580 East Lancashire Road/ Moorside Road 
crossing improvements  

• Worsley Road crossing 

• Ramped cycle & disabled access from 
Greenleach Lane to NCN55 

• Local transport/sustainable travel 
improvements 

GMA28 Land East of Boothstown 
(previously GMA31 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Sustainable transport measures 

• Footpath along Leigh Road 

Page 454



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 154 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

• Footpath from canal to Occupation Road 
access 

• Leigh Road active travel crossing 

• Newearth Road active travel crossing 

GMA29 North of Irlam Station 
(previously GMA32 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• CLC Rail line capacity improvements 

• Metro/Tram-train services on the CLC line 
Supporting Local  

• A57 Liverpool Road/ Stadium Way Junction 
improvement 

• Improvements to bus services  

• Cheshire Line Connection / Trafford Green 
Way – Walking & Cycling Improvements 

• Traffic calming & parking management  
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• B5320 Liverpool Road / B5471 Brinell Drive 
junction improvement 

• A57 Cadishead Way / B5311 Fairhills Road 
junction improvement 

• B5320 Liverpool Road / Roscoe Road / 
B5311 Fairhills Road junction improvement 

• Bridge replacement to afford access via 
Moss Lane 

• Station Access - Active Travel Improvements 
between the station and allocation 

• Irlam Bee Network links 

• Increased provision of cycle parking at Irlam 
rail station 

GMA30 Port Salford Extension 
(previously GMA33 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• WGIS infrastructure  

• Rail freight terminal 

• Canal berths & container terminal  

• Link Road between A57 Liverpool Road 
(linked to new junction on the M62) 

• Access to allocation off link road – 
roundabout on link road to provide access to 
Port Salford Extension 

Supporting Strategic 

• CLC Rail line capacity improvements 

• Metro/Tram-Train services on CLC line 

• Metrolink extension to Port Salford  

Page 455



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 155 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

• Rail study improvements  
Supporting Local 

• Improvement at A57 Cadishead Way / 
B5311 Fairhills Road junction 

• Improvements to Local Link services  

• Walking & cycling improvements: Cheshire 
Lines Connection / Trafford Greenway  

SRN Mitigation 

• M60 J11 improvements 

• M60 J10 improvements 

• M60 J12 improvements 

• New junction on M62 
Necessary Local  

• Identification of a scheme at the A57 
Liverpool Road/ Stadium Way junction 

• Bus service improvement  

• Walking & cycling improvements to link to 
the Bee Network  

GMA31 Bredbury Park Industrial Estate 
Expansion (previously GMA34 2019 
GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• See SRN interventions 
Supporting Strategic 

• Remaining elements of the Bredbury 
Economic Corridor Improvements (BECI) 
package  

Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• M60 J25 Improvements (as part of Bredbury 
Economic Corridor Improvements)  

Necessary Local  

• Ashton Road/Bredbury Park Way (north) 
junction 

• Forward visibility improvements on Ashton 
Road 

• Walking, cycling and bus stop infrastructure 
improvements 

• Bus service improvement – divert existing 
322/327 bus service through the allocation  

GMA32 Former Offerton High School 
(previously GMA35 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local 

• Walking and cycling improvements 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 

Page 456



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 156 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

Necessary Local  

• Traffic calming  

• Marple Road / The Fairway junction 
improvements 

GMA33 Heald Green 1 (West) 
(previously GMA37 Heald Green 2019 
GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• Manchester Airport Eastern BRT 

• Highway improvements at key junctions 
along the A34 and A555 corridors 

Supporting Local  

• Provision of a new bridge over the railway 
and provision of a busway between the 
allocation and Styal Road 

• Re-construction of the Wilmslow 
Road/Finney Lane/Etchells Road junction. 

SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Walking and cycling route improvements 

• Traffic calming 

• Public Transport interventions  

GMA34 Heald Green 2 (East) 
(previously GMA40 Stanley Green 2019 
GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• Manchester Airport Eastern BRT 

• Provision for a bus rapid transit corridor 
within the site  

• Link road between a re-modelled Eden Park 
roundabout on the A34 and Wilmslow Road. 

Supporting Strategic 

• New railway station at Stanley Green 

• Highway improvements at key junctions 
along the A34 and A555 corridors 

• Re-modelled A34 Eden Park roundabout  
Supporting Local  

• Provision of bus stops along Wilmslow Road 
and Stanley Road 

• Controlled pedestrian crossing facility on 
Wilmslow Road 

SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Walking and cycling route improvements 

• Stanley Road highway improvements 

• Public transport interventions  

GMA35 High Lane (previously GMA38 
2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 

Page 457



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 157 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• A6 Site Access junction construction 

• Walking and cycling route improvements to 
Middlewood Way 

• Walking and cycling route improvements to 
Brookside and High Lane Primary Schools 

• Public transport – extend 192 bus service  

• Improved / reallocated bus stops  

• New Toucan crossing  

• Foot and cycle path parallel to the A6 

GMA36 Hyde Bank Meadows 
(previously GMA39 Hyde Bank 2019 
GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local  

• Local parking review 

• Bus stop improvements 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Walking and cycling route improvements 

• Traffic calming 

• Compstall Road / Cherry Tree Road junction 
improvements 

GMA37 Woodford Aerodrome 
(previously GMA41 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• Manchester Airport Eastern BRT 
Supporting Strategic 

• Highway improvements at key junctions 
along the A34 and A555 corridors 

• Poynton Relief Road – including overbridges 
for walkers, cyclists and farm vehicles. 

Supporting Local  

• Station car parks  

• Extension of high-quality public realm 
treatment on Chester Road to include 
gateway treatments  

• Improvement to local quiet lanes in the 
vicinity of the allocation 

SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 

Page 458



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 158 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

Necessary Local  

• Walking and cycling route improvements 

• Public Transport: Extension of 42B into 
Woodford site 

• Rapid transit route through the allocation 

• Poynton Access Road: construction of 
junction, access road and improvements 

GMA38 Ashton Moss West  
(previously GMA42 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• A6140 Lord Sheldon Way / Notcutts / A6140 
(this junction forms part of the wider M60 
J23 split interchange) 

• A635 Manchester Road / A6140 / A635 
Signalised Crossroads (this junction forms 
part of the wider M60 J23 split interchange). 

• M60 J23 (North) / A635 Manchester Road 
Necessary Local  

• Walking and cycling measures 

• Enhancement of bus service 217 

GMA39 Godley Green Garden Village 
(previously GMA43 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• Improvement of M60 J24 Denton Island  

• Package of measures along the A560 
(including possibility of Ashton-Stockport 
QBT)  

Supporting Local 

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• Improvement of M67 / A57 Hyde Road / 
A560 roundabout junction  

Necessary Local  

• Walking and cycling measures 

• Provision of direct pedestrian/cycle access 
bridge across the railway line to the vicinity 
of Hattersley Station  

• Provision of bus services within the 
allocation  

GMA40 Land South of Hyde (previously 
GMA44 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

Page 459



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 159 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

• Package of measures along the A560 
(including possible Ashton-Stockport QBT) 

• Improvement of M67 / A57 Hyde Road / 
A560 roundabout junction  

Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Walking and cycling measures  

• Bus improvements along the A560 Stockport 
Road adjacent to the allocation 

GMA41 New Carrington (previously 
GMA45 2019 GMSF)  

Necessary Strategic  

• Carrington Relief Road  

• Carrington Spur widening approach to M60 
J8 

• Flixton Road signalised junction Phase 1 
signalisation 

• Flixton Road signalised junction Phase 2 
signalisation 

• Carrington Link Junction Widening Phase 1 

• Carrington Link Junction Widening Phase 2 

• Isherwood Road Upgrade (part of Eastern 
link road)  

• Southern and Eastern Link   

• Sale West Link   

• Carrington Relief Road widening between 
Isherwood Road and start of Carrington Spur 

Supporting Strategic 

• WGIS infrastructure  

• Trafford Greenway & Bee Network Bridge 
Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• M56 Bowden Roundabout  
Necessary Local  

• A56 Junction / Manchester Road / 
Barrington Road signalised junction upgrade 

• Altrincham / A56 Dunham Road / Highgate 
Road realignment 

• Heatley / Paddock Lane / Bent Lane (widen 
radii) 

• Public Transport Measures: Carrington to 
Stretford (via Urmston) corridor  

• Public Transport Measures: Access to 
Altrincham Package 

Page 460



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 160 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

• Public Transport Measures: Access to Sale 
Package 

• Public Transport Measures: Upgrading an 
extension of the existing bus services – 
including bus priority measures, real time 
information etc.   

• Greenway Link to Sale   

• PROW improvements 

• Controlled pedestrian crossings at the A56 
Dunham Road / Park Road / Charcoal Road. 

GMA42 M6 Junction 25 (previously 
GMA48 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• Signalisation of Bryn Interchange 
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• M6 Junction 24 Improvement  
Necessary Local  

• N/A 

GMA43 North of Mosley Common 
(previously GMA49 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Bridgewater Road/Newearth Road junction 
improvement 

• Manchester Road East / Armitage Avenue 
junction improvement 

• A580 East Lancashire Road / Mossley 
Common Road junction improvement  

• Guided busway stop and services 

GMA44 Pocket Nook (previously 
GMA50 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• Bridge over future HS2 line 
Supporting Strategic 

• Improved bus service connectivity  

• New railway station(s) in local area 

• A580 East Lancashire Road / A579 
Atherleigh Way 

• A580 East Lancashire Road/ A572 Newton 
Road 

• A572 Newton Road/ A579 Winwick Lane  

Page 461



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 161 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

• A580 East Lancashire Road/ A574 
Warrington Road  

Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Develop PRoW connection between Pocket 
Nook Lane and Schools 

• Develop PRoW connection between Pocket 
Nook Lane and Moorfield Crescent 

GMA45 West of Gibfield (previously 
GMA51 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• Chequerbent to Platt Lane link road and 
associated improvements at Chequerbent 
roundabout  

Supporting Strategic 

• Any measures (highway connections and/or 
east-west public transport) delivered by 
policy GM Strat 8 

• Metro/Tram-Train improvements on the 
Wigan-Manchester railway line 

Supporting Local  

• Implementation of the Leigh, Atherton and 
Tyldesley Bee Network scheme  

SRN Mitigation 

• Improvement at M61 Junction 5 
Necessary Local  

• A577/A579/Gibfield Park Way roundabout 
improvements 

• Active travel improvements including link to 
Daisy Hill rail station  

Version - 13/10/20 

 

 

 

Page 462



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 162 

APPENDIX D: 2040 Transport Strategy KPIs 

Network Principles KPIs – Customer Responses 

 Indicator Value Date Change Question Response Source 

In
te

gr
at

e
d

 

Ease of 
making 
multi-mode 
trips 

80% 2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How easy or difficult 
is it for you to use 
different forms of 
transport in one 

journey in Greater 
Manchester 

Easy + Very 
Easy 

MMNP 

Multi-modal 
fares 

59% 2019 
From 
2018: ↓1 
ppt 

The way fares are 
set up allows travel 
by ANY public 
transport and ANY 
operator in Greater 
Manchester 

Agree + 
Strongly 

Agree Fares 
survey 

Real choice 52% 2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How often do you 
feel you have a 

choice of transport?  

Always + 
Often 

MMNP 

Ease of 
interchange  

 
Bus 

Tram 
Train 

75% 
85% 
61% 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How you would rate 
the following 
aspects when 
travelling by 

[mode]?: Ease of 
connecting to 
onward bus/ 

train/tram 
 

Satisfied + 
Very 

Satisfied 
MMNP 

Being well-
informed 

81% 2019 
N/A 

(baseline) 

Overall, I am 
satisfied with the 
travel information 

available in Greater 
Manchester 

Agree + 
Strongly 

Agree  
CTI 

R
el

ia
b

le
 

Journey time 
predictability 

57% 2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How predictable are 
your journey times 

in Greater 
Manchester? 

Always + 
Often 

Predictable 
MMNP 

Stress 23% 2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How often are your 
journeys within 

Greater Manchester 
stressful? 

Always and 
Often 

Stressful 
MMNP 

Punctuality 
at the 
stop/station  

Bus 
Tram 
Train 

62% 
91% 
53% 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How you would rate 
the following 
aspects when 
travelling by 

bus/tram/train?: 
Punctuality of arrival 

Satisfied + 
Very 

Satisfied 
MMNP 

Page 463



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 163 

time at the 
stop/station 

Punctuality 
arriving at 
destination  

 
Bus 

Tram 
Train 

 
 
 

76% 
93% 
62% 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How you would rate 
the following 
aspects when 
travelling by 

bus/tram/train?: 
The bus arrives at 
the destination at 

the time you expect 
it to arrive 

Satisfied + 
Very 

Satisfied 
MMNP 

Car 
punctuality 

53% 2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How you would rate 
the following 
aspects when 

travelling by car?: 
Arriving at the time 
you want to arrive 

Satisfied + 
Very 

Satisfied 
MMNP 

Car 
congestion 

40% 2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How you would rate 
the following 
aspects when 

travelling by car?: 
Traffic congestion 

Satisfied + 
Very 

Satisfied 
MMNP 

H
ea

lt
h

y 

Healthy 31% 2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

Do you agree or 
disagree that 

Greater 
Manchester’s 

transport network 
encourages you to 

walk or cycle as part 
of your trips? 

Agree + 
Strongly 

Agree 
MMNP 

In
cl

u
si

ve
 

Ease of 
access 

All 
Disability 

No car 
74% 
62% 
71% 

 
2019 

 
→0 

↓5 ppts 
↓1 ppt 

How easy or difficult 
do you find 
travelling to 
[selection of 

destinations] (by any 
form of transport)? 

Very easy +  
easy 
(weighted 
average) 

NHT KBI 
03, KBI 
04, KBI 
05 

PT 
affordability 

65% 2019 
From 
2018: 
↓5 ppts 

I can afford to travel 
by public transport 

as much as I like 

Agree + 
Strongly 

Agree 

Fares 
survey 

Fair fares 63% 2019 
From 
2018: 
↑3 ppts 

I get a fair deal for 
the fares I pay 

Agree + 
Strongly 

Agree 

Fares 
survey 

  

Page 464



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 164 

En
vi

ro
n

m
en

ta
lly

 r
es

p
o

n
si

b
le

 

Environment
ally 
responsible 
travel 

43% 2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

Do you agree or 
disagree that 

Greater 
Manchester’s 

transport network 
encourages people 

to travel in an 
environmentally 
responsible way? 

Agree + 
Strongly 

Agree 
MMNP 

Quality of 
local 
environment 

68% 2019 
N/A 

(baseline) 

Composite of: 
• Noise levels from 
traffic: 74% 
• Pollution from 
traffic: 60% 
• My neighbourhood 

has a clean 
environment: 
70% 

Good + 
Very Good/  
Agree + 
Strongly 
Agree 

Neighb
our-

hoods 
survey 

Sa
fe

 

Feeling safe 
from traffic  

Walk 
Bike 

 
 

75% 
51% 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How you would rate 
the following 
aspects when 

walking/travelling by 
bike?: Feeling safe 
from traffic during 

the day 
 

Satisfied + 
Very 
Satisfied 

MMNP 

KSI number 
 

 (all) 
Pedestrians 

Cyclists 
Children 

 
 

683 
227 

87 
77 

2019 

From 
2018: 
↓9% 

↓11% 
↓29% 
↓17% Aged 14 and under 

 
Safer 
Roads 

GM 

KSI rate per 
million km 

Pedestrians 
Cyclists 

0.5 
0.6 

2019 
↓17% 
↓25% 

 

 Safer 
Roads 
GM + 
TRADS 

Se
cu

re
 

Personal 
security 
whilst 
waiting for 
PT (daytime)  

Bus 
Tram 
Train 

83% 
90% 
88% 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How you would rate 
the following 
aspects when 
travelling by 

bus/train/tram?: 
Personal security 

waiting at the 
stop/station during 

the day 
 

Satisfied + 
Very 

Satisfied 
MMNP 

Page 465



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 165 

Personal 
security 
whilst 
waiting for 
PT (night, 
relative to 
day) 

-27% 
points 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

Average % point 
reduction across PT 

modes for above 
question when 
asked about “at 

night” 

Satisfied + 
Very 

Satisfied 
MMNP 

Personal 
security on 
PT (daytime)  

Bus 
Tram 
Train 

87% 
89% 
84% 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How would you rate 
the following 
aspects when 
travelling by 

bus/train/tram? : 
Personal security 

while travelling on a 
bus/train/tram 
during the day 

 

Satisfied + 
Very 

Satisfied 
MMNP 

Personal 
security on 
PT (night, 
relative to 
day) 

-27% 
points 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

Average % point 
reduction across PT 

modes for above 
question when 
asked about “at 

night” 

Satisfied + 
Very 

Satisfied 
MMNP 

Personal 
security 
walking  

Day 
Night 

81% 
*55% 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How would you rate 
the following 
aspects when 

walking?: Personal 
security during the 

day/at night 
* NB women's 
perception of 

personal security is 
significantly lower 

than men's 

Satisfied + 
Very 

Satisfied 
MMNP 

Personal 
security 
cycling  

Day 
Night 

68% 
32% 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How would you rate 
the following 
aspects when 

travelling by bike? :  
during the day/at 

night 
 

Satisfied + 
Very 

Satisfied 
MMNP 

Personal 
security car 
Parking (day) 

Parking 
(night) 

In vehicle 

81% 
57% 
85% 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How would you rate 
the following 
aspects when 

travelling by car?: 
Personal security at 
parking areas during 
the day/at parking 

Satisfied + 
Very 

Satisfied 
MMNP 

Page 466



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 166 

areas at night/in 
your vehicle 

 
R

es
ili

en
t 

Resilience – 
PT 

31% 2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

Do you agree or 
disagree that 

Greater 
Manchester’s public 
transport network is 

able to withstand 
unexpected events 

and weather 
conditions? 

Agree + 
Strongly 

Agree 
MMNP 

Resilience – 
road network 

28% 2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

Thinking about 
Greater 

Manchester’s road 
network now, do 

you agree or 
disagree that it is 
able to withstand 

unexpected events 
and weather 
conditions? 

Agree + 
Strongly 

Agree 
MMNP 

W
el

l-
m

ai
n

ta
in

ed
 

Highway 
condition 

32% 2019 ↑7 ppts 

Thinking about 
roads and transport 
locally, how satisfied 
or dissatisfied are 
you with the 
following…? KBI 23 

Satisfied + 
Very 
satisfied 

NHT 

The condition 
of pavements 

53% 2019 ↑2 ppts 

Thinking about 
roads and transport 
locally, how satisfied 
or dissatisfied are 
you with the 
following…? WCBI 
02 

Satisfied + 
Very 
Satisfied 

NHT 

Condition of 
cycle routes 

53% 2019 ↑1 ppt 

How satisfied or 
dissatisfied are you 
with each of these 
locally…? WCBI 10 

Satisfied + 
Very 
Satisfied 

NHT 

Waiting 
environment 
(shelter, litter 
etc.) 

Bus 
Tram 
Train 

62% 
82% 
79% 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How you would rate 
the following 
aspects when 
travelling by 

bus/tram/train? 
 

Satisfied + 
Very 

Satisfied 
MMNP 

 

Page 467



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 167 

Network Principles KPIs – Operational View 

 Indicator Value Date Change Measurement Source 
In

te
gr

at

ed
 PT Network 

coverage  
82% 

Feb 
2020 

 
Proportion of GM population at 
GMAL Level 4 or better. 

 
In

cl
u

si
ve

 

Travel cost 
by mode, 
relative to 
RPI. 

Bus 
Tram 
Train 

Car 

 
 

+15% 
-4% 

+18% 
-14% 

2019 
From 2018 

↑2.3% 
↑1.5% 
↓0.1% 
↓1.1% 

Index of cost of travel, average 
peak fare, from2001 base. 
 

 

En
vi

ro
n

m
en

ta
lly

 

re
sp

o
n

si
b

le
 NOx & PM 

emissions 

Full details are available from the Clean Air Greater Manchester Annual 
Status Reports: 
https://cleanairgm.com/data-hub/monitoring-reports 

Transport 
CO2 
emissions in 
GM 

4,328 
kilo-

tonnes 
2018 ↓1.6% 

Annual CO2 emissions, all 
transport excl. aviation, shipping 
& military. Excludes CO2 
embedded in construction. 

BEIS 

Se
cu

re
 Crime & ASB 

on transport 
networks 

8,502 2019 

N/A – 
change in 
method 
during 
2018 

Annual all reported crime and 
ASB incidents on the public 

transport network 

TravelSaf
e 

R
el

ia
b

le
 

PT 
punctuality 

Bus 
 

Northern 
Rail* 

 
 
 

Bus 
Tram 

 
  

82.5% 
 

51.1% 
 
 
 
 

1 
49 

Sept 
2019 
 
 
 
 
2019
/20 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
From 
2018/19: 
↑ 7 
↑29 

 
Proportion of bus services 
departing? between 1 min early 
and 6 mins late. 
Proportion of train services 
departing? between 1 min early 
and 1 min late. 
* Refers to whole TOC network 
rather than GM geographical area 
 
 
Average excess waiting time 
(seconds) 

Rail: ORR 
 
Bus: 
TfGM 
surveys 

Highway 
journey time 
reliability 

88.5% 2019 

From 
2018: 
↑0.2ppts 

Proportion of journeys within +/-
25% of median journey time. 

TfGM 
Bluetoot
h 
network 

W
el

l-

m
ai

n
ta

in
ed

 &
 

R
es

ili
en

t KRN where 
maintenance 
should be 
considered 

25.6% 
2018
/19 

↓3.4ppts 
% of KRN with carriageway 
condition classified as red or 
amber. 

GM 
Districts 

  

Page 468

https://cleanairgm.com/data-hub/monitoring-reports


 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 168 

 

Spatial Theme KPIs – Customer Responses 

 Indicator Value Date Change Question Response Source 
G

lo
b

al
 

Non-car 
mode share 
for GM-
originating 
passenger 
journeys to 
airport 

7% 
2017

-
2019 

N/A 

 

 TRADS 

R
eg

io
n

al
 C

e
n

tr
e 

Non-car 
mode share  

79% 2019 
From 2018 
↑1 ppt 

Proportion of 
trips arriving in 
AM peak 

 
Cordon 
counts 

Easy to get to  
(GM 
residents) 

82% 2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How easy or 
difficult is it to 
travel to the 
Regional 
Centre7 in the 
daytime (before 
6pm) 

Easy/very 
easy 

Town 
Centres 

Pleasant 
place to walk 
around and 
spend time in 

Residents 
Visitors 76% 

65% 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How do you rate 
[centre] for the 
following?  
Pleasant places 
to sit outside, 
relax and walk 
around 

Good + 
Very Good 

Town 
Centres 

Feeling safe 
after dark  
Residents 

Visitors 

 
 

42% 
42% 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How do you rate 
[centre] for the 
following? 

Good/ 
very good 

Town 
Centres 

‘Liveability’ 26% 2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

I would not 
consider living 
in the Regional 
Centre 

Disagree + 
Strongly 
Disagree 

Town 
Centres 

Regional 
centre road 
traffic levels  

20,620 2019 
From 
2018: 

↓3.2% 

Number of 
motor vehicles 
arriving in the 
AM peak 

 
Cordon 
counts 

 Theme share 
of trips as per 
Right Mix 

15% 2017 
N/A 

(baseline) 

  
TRADS 

 Active Travel 
+ Public 
Transport 

59% 2017 
N/A 

(baseline) 

  
TRADS 

 
7 Those parts of Manchester & Salford within the Inner Ring Road 

Page 469



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 169 

mode share 
of this Theme 

A
cr

o
ss

 w
id

er
 c

it
y-

re
gi

o
n

 
Easy to 
access town 
centres (8-
centre8 
average) 

90% 2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How easy or 
difficult is it to 
travel to the 
[centre] in the 
daytime (before 
6pm) 

Easy/very 
easy 

Town 
Centres 

Pleasant to 
visit town 
centres 

54% 2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How do you rate 
[centre] for the 
following?  
Pleasant places 
to sit outside, 
relax and walk 
around 

Good/ 
very good 

Town 
Centres 

Ease of 
interchange. 

Bus 
Tram 
Train  

 
75% 
85% 
61% 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How you would 
rate the 
following 
aspects when 
travelling by 
[mode]? Ease of 
connecting to 
onward bus/ 
train/ tram 

Good/ 
very good 

MMNP 

 Theme share 
of trips as per 
Right Mix 

36% 2017  
 

 TRADS 

 Active Travel 
+ Public 
Transport 
mode share 
of this Theme 

17% 2017 
N/A 

(baseline) 

  

TRADS 

N
e

ig
h

b
o

u
rh

o
o

d
s 

Perception of 
safety  

Daytime 
After dark 

 
87% 
59% 

2020 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How do you rate 
your 
neighbourhood 
for the following 
when travelling 
around? 

Good + 
Very Good 

Neighbour-
hoods survey 

Active travel 
as natural 
choice for 
many short 
journeys 

83%  2020 
N/A 

(baseline) 

Which type of 
transport do 
you use most 
frequently to 
get to places 
you visit within 
your 
neighbourhood? 

Active 
travel %  

Neighbour-
hoods survey 

 
8 Altrincham, Ashton, Bolton, Bury, Oldham, Rochdale, Stockport, Wigan.  

Page 470



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 170 

Proportion of 
neighbour-
hood 
journeys 
made by  

Walking 
Cycling 

 
 
 
 
 

52.1% 
2.2% 

2017
-

2019 

 
 
From 
2014-
2016: 
↑0.7 ppts 
↑0.4 ppts 

Proportion of 
trips < 2km for 
which the main 
mode is 
walking/cycling 

 

TRADS 

Perception of 
ease of 
travelling 
around 
neighbourho
ods: 

 
walking 
 cycling 

78% 
33% 

2020 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How do you rate 
your 
neighbourhood 
for the following 
when travelling 
around? 
Ease of walking 
around the 
neighbourhood 
Ease of cycling 
on roads in the 
neighbourhood 

Good/ 
very good 

Neighbour-
hoods survey 

Perceived 
impact of 
traffic on 
local roads  

65% 2020 
N/A 

(baseline) 

Composite of 
“How do you 
rate your 
neighbourhood 
for the following 
when travelling 
around?”: 
Noise levels 
from traffic 
(74%) 
Pollution from 
traffic (60%) 
How close 
vehicles are to 
pedestrians 
(61%) 

Good/ 
very good 

Neighbour-
hoods survey 

Theme share 
of trips as per 
Right Mix 

42% 2017 
N/A 

(baseline) 

% of all trips 
that are 2km or 
shorter 
excluding trips 
with an end in 
the Regional 
Centre 

 

TRADS 

 Active Travel 
+ Public 
Transport 
mode share 
of this Theme 

55% 2017 
N/A 

(baseline) 

  

TRADS 

Page 471



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 171 

 Use of local 
shops/ 
facilities   

83% 2020 
N/A 

(baseline) 

Visit the 
following 
locations at 
least monthly: 
large 
supermarket, 
small 
supermarket, 
local 
newsagents or 
corner shop, 
retail park, shop 
for non-food 
and market(s) 

 

Neighbour-
hoods survey 

 

 

 

 

Page 472



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 172 

 

Page 473



 

1 

Rochdale Summary GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20 

1. Introduction  

This Implementation Plan sets out how we will work towards our priorities including 

economic growth, improving the environment and social inclusion by building on 

Rochdale’s planned and current transport projects, many of which are set out in 

the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 5-Year Delivery Plan (2020-2025). 

While the 5-year Delivery Plan tends to consider large, medium and long-term 

transport schemes, this Implementation Plan is mainly focussed on local, 

neighbourhood level priorities and interventions to 2025. A summary of strategic 

schemes within the 5-Year Delivery Plan are included on Map 1.  

Rochdale Council in its Corporate Plan 2019-2022 “Prosperous People and Places” 

outlines a vision of “Making our Borough a great place to grow up, get on and live 

well”. It places an emphasis on prosperity for people who are healthy, safe, happy 

and available to participate fully in life, in places that grow and change to provide 

strong local economies providing opportunities and enhance quality of life. Indicators 

of success in achieving this are: 

 Accessible quality highways and transport options including cycling and 
walking; 

 Air and land, free from pollution and infrastructure that protects against climate 
change by using natural and renewable resources; 

 More people are physically active including the over 50’s; 

 People have access to good or outstanding places of learning; 

 Reduced crime and anti-social behaviour. 
 
To strive for this prosperity the Council consistent with the GM Strategy is seeking to 
provide: 
 

 Growth in housing, quality employment space and good jobs that are 
sustainable and provide opportunities to progress and develop; 

 a thriving and productive economy that both gets people in to work and 
delivers high value jobs and businesses in all parts of the borough; 

 Continuous improvements towards delivering “World Class” connectivity to 
keep the Borough moving and enhance access opportunities for people and 
goods to jobs amenities and markets; 

 A green environmentally sustainable Borough that meets its carbon targets. 
 
To achieve these ambitions, we have set six key transport-related outcomes which we 

would wish to see achieved by 2025.  These are:  

 Outcome 1: Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 

made by foot and by bike in all townships of the borough of Rochdale 

Page 474



 

2 

 Outcome 2: Enhanced connections to / from and within Heywood, Middleton, 

Littleborough and Rochdale Town Centres by foot, bike, and public transport 

 Outcome 3: Improved access to bus services across Rochdale Borough 

 Outcome 4: Streets in Rochdale Borough will be clean and green 

 Outcome 5: Rochdale Borough residents, workers and visitors have good 

access to Rapid transit connections 

 Outcome 6: Streets in Rochdale are well maintained and in good condition for 

all people who live in or travel within Rochdale 

This document sets out some of the steps Rochdale borough will seek to take with 

partners to make good progress towards these outcomes in the next 5 years. The 

steps are ambitious and the development and delivery of the interventions set out will 

require a significant level of resource and funding. This will require us to prioritise 

measures and to continue working with the GMCA and TfGM to secure the required 

funding from Government to develop and deliver these schemes. 

1.1.  Covid-19 Recovery  

Rochdale Council’s Highways Service have closely monitored the network 

throughout the period affected by COVID-19. The initial key concern was to keep the 

network functioning for emergency and essential services to be able to get about 

quickly. During the lifting of restrictions and early recovery the Highways Service 

have temporarily closed Packer Street in Rochdale Town Centre to provide additional 

space for businesses to use as extra outdoor space where indoor capacity has been 

limited. 

Rochdale Council have submitted bids to Tranche 2 of the EATF for a walking and 

cycling scheme in Milnrow Town Centre, reallocating road space and St Leonard’s 

Street in Middleton which have two point closures put in effectively making it an 

active neighbourhood area. 

Page 475



 

3 

2. Rochdale Borough Strategic Transport Issues  

 

Page 476



 

4 

 

Page 477



 

5 

2.1. Rochdale’s Delivery Plan Schemes 2020 – 2025 

Map 1 below sets out schemes committed for delivery, business case development or option development in Rochdale in GMTS2040 Delivery 

Plan. 

  

P
age 478



 

6 

2.2. Rochdale’s Existing Transport Network and Spatial Allocations –  

Map 2 sets out the current land supply and transport network within Rochdale. This includes the Oldham and Rochdale Metrolink Line to 
Manchester City Centre, that provides a tram every 12 minutes, the Calder Valley Rail Line and the Strategic Road Network in Rochdale, 
alongside existing land supply for residential, office and industry space, and future GMSF allocations.  
 

  

P
age 479



 

7 

3. Spatial Theme Challenges and Opportunities 

3.1. Neighbourhoods 

The majority of trips made in Rochdale Borough that 

start in the District are at neighbourhood level (52%), 

48% of these are under 2km and made by private car. 

Most of these trips are short enough to be taken on 

foot or by bicycle. (Source: TRADS database). 

Road traffic levels and speeds have a significant 

impact on walking and cycling local trips, through 

actual and perceived levels of safety, driver attitudes 

which lack consideration for other users. Major roads 

also create a barrier and cause severance between 

neighbourhoods and destinations and pavement 

parking restricts footway space and pedestrian / cycle 

accessibility. 

There are challenges in areas with dense populations 

outside Rochdale Borough’s main centres, e.g. Milkstone and Deeplish; Langley; 

Kirkholt and Wardleworth. Street patterns mean residences in these areas live close 

together with narrow roads restricting 2-way traffic flows with significant levels of on-

street parking. Despite this, these areas have low levels of car ownership and poor if 

any public transport services in part due to this street design and the inability of 

larger vehicles to pass along the local road network. 

Key destinations, such as Town Centres, are difficult to access on foot and by cycle 

due to road traffic, severance caused by highway infrastructure, the lack of direct 

dedicated cycle / walking infrastructure and wayfinding. Locations where these 

issues occur include Hollingworth Lake, Rochdale Infirmary, Rochdale Railway 

Station, Fairfield Hospital, a number of Schools, and Rochdale, Heywood, Middleton 

and Littleborough town centres). 

Opportunities to address these issues will be delivered through the development of 

the Bee Network and access to and within new development that prioritises active 

travel following “Streets for All” design principles creating streets for people not just 

traffic. Rochdale Station Gateway, Castleton, Middleton, Heywood and Littleborough 

Town Centre Masterplans will also prioritise these principles in their detailed 

development. 

3.2. Rochdale Town Centre 

The Council is continuing to develop a town-core masterplan for Rochdale Town 

Centre following the completion of the first Phase of the Rochdale Riverside project 

in March 2020. This will support delivery of new high-density homes on brownfield 

sites in the Town Centre, better connectivity to and from the town centre to local 

Page 480



 

8 

neighbourhoods, the wider city region, and the regional centre, alongside enhancing 

community and heritage assets. 

Plans for regeneration of Rochdale Town Centre also include potential for 2,000 new 

homes across the wider centre, including a new neighbourhood on Central Retail 

Park Rochdale and Rochdale Riverside Phase 2 and a further 1,000 homes and 

6,250m2 of employment, retail and commercial space planned as part of the 

Rochdale Station Gateway and the former Rochdale Canal Basin. 

 

Key issues for Rochdale Town Centre include: 

- The A58 causes severance from Rochdale Town Centre for neighbourhoods 

to the north, particularly for those making trips on foot or by bike. In 

particular a number of subways present a poor perception of local personal 

safety to / from Spotland, Falinge and other residential areas west of 

Whitworth Road; 

- There are a limited number of routes that cross the railway line to / from 

Rochdale Town Centre from neighbourhoods to the south of the town 

extending the length of trips made on foot and by bike; 

- Distance and topography between Rochdale Railway Station and the town 

centre core is a barrier enhanced by the lack of coherent walking routes;  

- Poor public transport connectivity to the town centre for local trips leads to a 

large number of these short journeys being made by taxi or private car. 

It is estimated that journeys to Rochdale town centre have reduced by 24% since 

2010, 54% of AM peak journeys to Rochdale Town Centre are made by foot, bike 

and public transport (increasing from 48% in 2017, and 35% in 2003) (source: 

TRADS). Continued development of the town centre will maintain the aim of 

attracting people back for retail, commercial and tourism activities, encouraging 

them to travel by sustainable modes of travel.  

3.3. Wider-City Region and Regional Centre 

42% of trips starting in Rochdale borough are to the Wider City Region, for example 

to Bury or Oldham. 47% of these trips are made by private car and only 14% of wider 

City Region City trips made by public transport (source: TRADS database). Rochdale 

also has a lower than average trips to the Regional Centre than other GM boroughs 

(4% compared the GM average of 15%) (source: TRADS database). 

The alternatives to the private car for accessing town centres and neighbourhoods 

are poor, apart from Rochdale Town Centre (particularly to Heywood, Middleton, 

Norden and Bamford and Littleborough). This creates capacity and connectivity 

challenges along the radial and inter-urban routes in the Borough with high levels of 

car use for wider-city and Regional Centre journeys resulting in delays on the 

highway network, affecting public transport services. 

There are several Park and Ride opportunities emerging through recent land 

acquisitions and masterplan development work. e.g. at Rochdale, Castleton, 

Page 481



 

9 

Littleborough and Smithy Bridge Railway Stations, as well as improving access to 

stations, contributing to business cases to justify improved rail services and 

passenger facilities in the Borough 

3.3.1. Wider Town Centres 

In addition to challenges within Rochdale town centre, there are a number of 

challenges across Rochdale’s wider town centres of Middleton, Heywood, 

Littleborough, Castleton, Mills Hill, Smithy Bridge and Slattocks. These are 

summarised in the table below. 

Town Centre Challenges Opportunities 

Middleton 2 950 new homes and around 10 
hectares of commercial and 
employment land planned to be 
delivered by 2035.  
 
Key issues include: 
 
- Severance caused by the highway 

network, particularly the 
roundabout network at the north of 
the town centre and Long Street 

- Poor links to Alkrington Hall and 
Middleton Bus Station 

- Poor public transport connections 
to Rochdale, Bury and Oldham 
town centres, the Regional 
Centre, Mills Hill station, and 
Northern Gateway GMSF site. 

New Masterplan for 
Middleton developed 

Significant level of planned 
development 

Potential to develop 
Metrolink to Middleton 
Town Centre from the 
Bury Line 

Rochdale Rail Corridor 
Strategy (see below) 

Heywood 1,922 new homes and 700,000 m2 of 
commercial and employment land will 
be delivered by 2035. 
 
Key issues in Heywood include: 
 
- The town centre does not meet its 

full potential, and key challenges 
include: 

- A58 York Street has high levels of 
traffic, including high levels of 
commercial vehicles that conflict 
with high street users and poor 
urban realm; 

- Poor wayfinding 

New Masterplan for 
Heywood is currently in 
development. 

M62 Junction 19 Link 
Road will remove traffic 
from the town centre, 
providing opportunities to 
deliver Streets for All 
improvements, enhance 
the commercial, shopping, 
visitor and recreational 
environment. 

The Northern Gateway 
GMSF allocation provides 
an opportunity to introduce 
new rapid transit services 

Page 482



 

10 

Town Centre Challenges Opportunities 

- Footways are narrow and 
constrained, leaving little space 
for shops to spill out; 

- Poor sustainable inter-urban links 
with nearby centres (with the 
exception of bus links to Rochdale 
and Bury) 

- There is currently no direct link 
between Heywood and the 
Regional Centre.   

between Heywood and the 
Regional Centre, and 
Tram Train links to Bury 
and Castleton. 

Rochdale Rail Corridor 
Strategy (see below) 

Littleborough Potential to deliver 645 homes in 
Littleborough, including mixed use 
development around the rail station 
set out in the Rochdale Rail Corridor 
Strategy. 
 
Key issues in Littleborough include: 
 
- Hare Hill Road is heavily trafficked 

and needs a better balance of 
movement and place to better fulfil 
its purpose as Littleborough’s 
main shopping street. 

- Littleborough station has poor 
access to its entrance and public 
realm, capacity issues at the 
station car park causes parking 
management issues and 
congestion in the town centre; 

- There are poor cycling and 
walking connections around the 
town centre and station. 

Littleborough Station 
Masterplan is at an early 
stage and as deliverable 
outcomes emerge then 
they will be included in this 
implementation strategy 
and supporting delivery 
plan. 

Rochdale Rail Corridor 
Strategy (see below) 

Castleton, 
Mills Hill, 
Smithy 
Bridge, 
Slattocks 
 

Projected that over 4,000 homes will 
be built that are accessible to these 
Stations over the next 10 years (2020 
Rochdale Rail Corridor Strategy). 
 
Key issues across these town centres 
include the need to enhance stations 
as a transport hubs for local areas, 
and develop strong sustainable 
transport links to town centres and 
development opportunities. 
 

Development of 
masterplans at each of 
these town centres. 

The GMCA is currently 
undertaking a feasibility 
study into the potential 
development of a new 
station on the railway line 
at Slattocks.   

Rochdale Rail Corridor 
Strategy (see below) 

Page 483



 

11 

An initial assessment of the interventions that may be required to support GMSF 

sites in and around these town centres has been undertaken within the Locality 

Assessments prepared as part of the GMSF, and potential interventions are listed 

within the Appendix of the 2020-2025 Delivery Plan. 

3.3.2. Rochdale Rail Corridor Strategy 

The 2020 Rochdale Rail Corridor Strategy also sets out ambitious plans to deliver 

around 7,000 new homes and commercial space along the Calder Valley Rail 

Corridor, with associated infrastructure investment, including a new station at 

Slattocks.  The Strategy’s focus is on delivering high density living around each 

station on the Calder Valley Railway Line, utilising brownfield sites, increasing 

patronage and bringing the Borough much closer to Manchester City Centre, 

improving access and reducing travel times to wider employment opportunities and 

the local housing market; 

To ensure development contributes to meeting carbon commitments, investment is 

needed along the corridor to improve capacity and quality of rail services (increasing 

frequency and length of trains, new station gateways), alongside new cycling and 

walking networks and other “last mile” access measures connecting local 

communities in Rochdale borough to key destinations, such as e-scooters, car clubs 

and bike hire. 

To support this vision, the GMCA is currently undertaking a feasibility study into the 

potential development of a new station on the railway line at Slattocks.  Following the 

completion of this work, the Council and the GM Stations Alliance will prepare a 

Masterplan to support the development of a station at this location with new and 

improved walking and cycle links to Hopwood Hall College, Stakehill Industrial Estate 

and the surrounding area.  

 

3.3.3. Public Transport 

There has been steady but continuous growth in Rail and Metrolink patronage.  Rail 

Station usage in the Borough has risen on average by over 5% a year over the last 

decade (Source ORR Rail Station Usage data) and Metrolink Patronage has more 

than doubled since the Oldham - Rochdale Line opened in February 2014. Station 

Masterplans demonstrate capacity to deliver up to 7,000 new homes within 800 

metres walking distance of the Borough’s railway stations, together with the 

proposed new station at Slattocks, along this key rail corridor which will continue to 

increase trip demand to / from Regional Centre.  

Key local challenges for public transport also include: 

 Addressing low levels, or no public transport connectivity to destinations, 

neighbourhoods and employment sites outside Rochdale Town Centre 

(including Stakehill Industrial Estate and Heywood Distribution Park / Hareshill 

Business Park, Kingsway Business Park, Fairfield and North Manchester 

Hospitals); 

Page 484



 

12 

 Poor access to rail and tram links to Rochdale Town Centre from surrounding 

neighbourhoods with a significant number of trips made by taxis; 

 Bus connections to Bury and Oldham are slow and unattractive; 

 Potential growth sites are currently poorly connected to the wider-city region 

by public transport e.g. Northern Gateway, Stakehill Industrial Estate / 

Slattocks; 

 Ticketing, integration of services and unaffordable fares discourage people 

from taking many public transport journeys particularly if they have access to 

alternative forms of transport or they can make journeys on foot. 

There are a number of public transport related factors which contribute to low levels 

of journeys to the Regional Centre from Rochdale, and impact our residents access 

to opportunities and quality of life. These include: 

 A lack of direct public transport links and options to Manchester City Centre 

particularly from Heywood; 

 The Calder Valley Railway Line is at capacity at peak times from all the 

Borough stations resulting in people on occasions being unable to board trains 

to Manchester in the morning due to crowding; 

Unreliable line operations and ageing rolling stock also leads to services not 

running or skipping stops. Despite this, passenger demand continues to grow 

and will increase through delivery of future housing growth; 

 At Rochdale Railway Station, the Park and Ride facility demand is over its 

capacity, passenger facilities are poor and its role as a major gateway to and 

from the town, needs to be enhanced; 

Bus access to the south of the station is also poor and there are opportunities 

to provide new bus access for residents from the south of Rochdale into the 

station; 

 Demand for Park and Ride at the Borough’s other railway stations is also 

increasing. The Council has secured land adjacent to Smithy Bridge Railway 

Station and working with the GM Stations Alliance to provide a new facility 

which is expected to be delivered by 2025; 

Increases in Park and Ride capacity is being delivered as part of the Mills Hill 

Railway Station Improvements and the Bee Network scheme in Castleton, as 

well as proposals to expand provision at Littleborough through a new 

masterplan. A major park and ride opportunity accessible to the strategic 

motorway network could be provided through a new station at Slattocks.    

It is important that increased parking provision is controlled so passengers who walk 

or cycle short distances to / from stations continue to do so and are not attracted to 

transfer to car travel due to availability of parking, while also discouraging “rail 

heading” where passengers in neighbouring local authorities drive to a station in 

Greater Manchester. 

Page 485



 

13 

Additionally, currently there is no direct rail / tram access from Rochdale Borough to 

Manchester Piccadilly and Manchester Airport leaving residents with a choice of 

lengthy, difficult journeys by public transport with multiple interchanges or to travel by 

car which is more convenient if carrying heavy baggage. 

3.3.4. Highway Challenges 

The A58 route through the Borough offers an unattractive cycling and walking 

environment, with congestion, particularly at peak times, leading to delays to bus 

journeys, therefore poor access to rail / Metrolink stations and town centres as well 

as to freight and general traffic. There are congestion issues at the junctions with 

Smithy Bridge Road, Albert Royds Street, Featherstall Road, Townhead and Heap 

Bridge roundabout; 

Motorway traffic causes additional congestion and severance for sustainable modes 

(bus, cycle, walking), for example, major flows of through traffic from East Lancashire 

via Whitworth to access M62, as well as the M66 and adjacent local roads used by 

traffic to / from Rossendale, Norden and Bamford, accessing the regional centre via 

Heywood.  

Particular issues of congestion and delay occurs between Littleborough and M62 

Junction 21 via Milnrow, Around M60 Junction 19 and Heywood Old Road, and at 

M62 Junction 18. 

There are low numbers of EV charge points both off and on streets particularly where 

there is no off-road parking which restricts the potential uptake of electric vehicles; 

There are a number of committed projects within Delivery Plan 2020-2025 which will 

contribute in addressing some of these issues. They include M62 Junction 19 Link 

Road, Bee Network proposals, Rochdale Rail Corridor Strategy, Rochdale Station 

Gateway and Castleton Station Masterplans, as well as a potential A58 Residential 

Relief Road, Smithy Bridge. Highways England are also proposing to consult on their 

proposals to tackle capacity issues at the M62 / M66 Simister Island Motorway 

Interchange to be delivered by 2025. 

4. Rochdale 5-Year LIP Outcomes 

This section presents transport related outcomes that Rochdale Council aim to 

achieve over the next 5 years. Each outcome includes a set of priorities investment 

over this timeframe, including schemes to be delivered or developed. These 

schemes are included in Map 4. 

Outcome 1: Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 

made by foot and by bike in all townships of the borough of Rochdale 

In the next 5 years this means delivering street improvements that create attractive, 

safe neighbourhoods that are pleasant for people to spend time in, and support 

people who want or have to make local trips by foot or by bike rather than by private 

car. This will build on the delivery of the Castleton Local Centre Corridor and 

Page 486



 

14 

continuation of the route to Rochdale Town Centre through the MCF programme.  

Map 3 below provides an overview of how the Bee Network will be developed over 

the next 5 years, based on current priorities.  

Priorities for investment over the next 5-years include: 

Investment Priority Description 

Active Neighbourhoods At least one active neighbourhood scheme implemented 
across for each of the townships in Rochdale Borough. 

Rail and Metrolink 
Walking and Cycling 
Links 

Local walking and cycling investment plans better 
connecting residential areas with each Railway Station 
and Metrolink stop. 

School Streets Establish and progress delivery of a School Streets 
programme across Rochdale borough. 

Spotland Masterplan Bee Network in the Spotland area  

Wildhouse Lane Delivery of Bee Network in the Milnrow/Hollingworth 
Lake area  

Littleborough Free 
School 

Bee Network and school access measures associated 
with new school development 

Heywood Old Road Bee Network delivery in the Heywood area 

Mainway Bee Network delivery in Alkrington Garden Village 

Castleton to Rochdale 
town centre, 

Bee Network Proposals to connect Castleton to 
Rochdale town centre. 

Hollingworth Lake Cycle 
Corridor 

Bee Network proposals to deliver cycling and walking 
connections at Hollingworth Lake. 

Valley of the Stone 
Cycleway 

Completion of the Valley of the Stone Cycleway from 

Bacup – Rawtenstall south to Rochdale Town Centre. 

Rochdale Royal 
Infirmary Walking and 
Cycling Links 

Improvement in pedestrian and cycle access to 
Rochdale Royal Infirmary. 

District Wayfinding Wayfinding for local journeys across the Borough. 

Neighbourhood Street 
Maintenance 

Borough-wide maintenance programme. 

Behaviour Change 
Activities 

Deliver behaviour change to support the Bee Network, 
active neighbourhoods, and new development. 

Page 487



 

15 

 
Map 3: Rochdale Committed and Priority Bee Network and Map   

P
age 488



 
 

16 

Outcome 2: Enhanced connections to / from and within Heywood, Middleton, 

Littleborough and Rochdale Town Centres by foot, bike, and public transport 

In the next 5 years this means creating “Streets for All” in the town centres of 

Heywood, Littleborough, Middleton and Rochdale, including at Rochdale Station 

Gateway, through improvements to the Public Realm.  

Access to these centres will also be improved by bus, walking and cycling, as well as 

delivery of the South Heywood link road using an approach that incorporates Streets 

for All principles, detailed within the 2020-2025 Delivery Plan. Priorities for 

investment over the next 5-years include: 

Investment Priority  Description 

Heywood Town Centre 
Masterplan 

Development and delivery of Heywood Town Centre 
Masterplan, applying Streets for All principles to 
improve access by foot, bus, and by bike. 

Littleborough Town 
Centre Masterplan 

Development and delivery of Littleborough Town Centre 
Masterplan, applying Streets for All principles to 
improve access by foot, bus, and by bike. 
 
Phase 1 will include multi-modal package of 
interventions to support Littleborough Town Centre 
Masterplan. Improvements to complex junction to 
alleviate congestion and accommodate development-
generated growth 

Middleton Town Centre 
Masterplan 

Development and delivery of Middleton Town Centre 
Masterplan, applying Streets for All principles to 
improve access by foot, bus, and by bike. 

Rochdale Station 
Gateway Masterplan 

Programme of improved surface level crossings for 
pedestrians and cyclists on the A58 in Rochdale, in 
particular around the Town Centre and links to/from the 
Railway station. 

Town Centre Street 
Maintenance 

Borough-wide maintenance programme. 

 

Outcome 3: Improved access to bus services across Rochdale Borough 

In the next 5 years this means focusing on improving bus provision on the key 

corridors of the A58, A671 and A664 / A6046 and improved access to bus stops in 

the townships in Rochdale Borough. 

Alongside proposals to deliver Quality Bus Transit between Bury and Oldham, and a 

Northern Gateway Bus Rapid Transit service (providing direct connections between 

Heywood and the Regional centre), detailed in the Delivery Plan, priorities for 

investment over the next 5-years: 

Page 489



 
 

17 

Investment Priority Description 

Demand Responsive 
Bus Services – 
Rochdale Town Centre 

Demand responsive bus service to Rochdale Town 
Centre to serve communities surrounding Rochdale, 
reducing the need to travel by private vehicle. 

Enhanced Bus 
Connectivity 

Improved bus connections to key destinations in the 
borough outside Rochdale Town Centre (Littleborough, 
Middleton, Heywood, Fairfield Hospital, Kingsway 
Business Park, Hollingworth Lake). 

Streets for All 
Improvements to Key 
Bus Corridors 

Streets for All improvements to the key bus corridors of 
the A58, A671 and A664 / A6046 to improve reliability, 
quality of bus stops and improved connections to stops 
by foot and bike. 

Addressing Service and 
Fares Issues 

Address fragmentation and dis-integration of bus 
services and unaffordable fares for many journeys. 

Outcome 4: Streets in Rochdale Borough will be clean and green 

In the next 5 years this means reducing the environmental impact of road traffic in 

Rochdale Borough through interventions that accelerate the uptake of low emission 

vehicles and reduce emission of air pollutants from vehicle traffic across the 

Borough. 

Alongside the M62 Junction 19 Link Road Scheme and schemes to deliver Streets 

for All Town Centre proposals detailed in Outcome 2, and improvement of cycling 

and walking connections to Metrolink and Rail Stations, detailed in outcome 1, 

priorities for Investment over the next 5-years are: 

Investment Priority Description 

Air Pollution Reduction 
Actions 

Measures to reduce emission of pollutants in areas that 
are expected to exceed, or are at risk of exceeding air 
quality thresholds, for example the A58. 

Castleton HGV Traffic 
Reduction Measures 

Reduce HGV traffic through Castleton by implementing 
Streets for All / Bee Network improvements. 

Electric Vehicle Charge 
Point 

Programme to increase the number of electric vehicles 
charging points across the Borough. 

E-Scooters To trial a model for shared mobility across the Borough 
to improve first / last mile connectivity to / from transport 
hubs, employment areas and town centres 

Rochdale Valley 
Corridor Improvements 
(Albert Royds St – 
Smithy Bridge Road) 
 

New road to serve new residential areas, avoiding 
increased traffic on A58, on which a Rochdale - 
Littleborough Bus Corridor Upgrade will be implemented 
as part of the improvements.  Includes cycle 
infrastructure alongside new road, with links to 
surrounding cycle network. 

 

Page 490



 
 

18 

Outcome 5: Rochdale Borough residents, workers and visitors have good 

access to Rapid transit connections 

The Rochdale Rail Corridor Strategy identifies land for around 7,000 new homes and 

new employment space to be laid out within 800 metres of the Borough’s existing rail 

stations and will support delivery of a new station at Slattocks to serve Stakehill 

Industrial estate, Hopwood Hall College and surrounding areas.  To support these 

plans, in the next 5 years this means delivering improvements to the accessibility 

and capacity of Rochdale Borough’s rapid transit network, supporting more 

residents, workers, shoppers and visitors to travel to and from the Borough by 

sustainable modes, and enable new Transit Orientated Neighbourhoods to be built 

around our existing and proposed infrastructure.  It will also require new or improved 

walking and cycling routes to be provided into/from rail stations and Metrolink stops 

to promote first/last mile connectivity by foot as well as infrastructure improvements 

at stations.   

Alongside strategic measures in the longer term to improve connectivity to/ from 

Rochdale from cross-GM, such as Northern Gateway Bus Rapid Transit, a rail 

station at Slattocks, Middleton Metrolink and delivery of improved Park and Ride at 

Rochdale Station, Castleton, Smithy Bridge, and Littleborough, alongside 

improvements to rail capacity in Rochdale Borough, priorities for investment over the 

next 5 years are: 

Investment Priority Description 

Rail and Metrolink 
Walking and Cycling 
Links 

Local walking / cycling investment plans to improve 
active travel connections between residential areas with 
each Rail / Metrolink stations.   

Kingsway Mobility Hub Mobility hub at Kingsway Hub, focusing on shared 
mobility interventions and improvements to interchange. 

Rochdale Station 
Mobility Hub 

Mobility hub at Kingsway Hub, focusing on shared 
mobility interventions and improvements to interchange. 

 

Outcome 6: Streets in Rochdale are well maintained and in good condition for 

all people who live in or travel within Rochdale 

This means continuing to invest in maintaining Rochdale’s streets and roads for all 

people who use them, from fixing footways, crossings and potholes at the 

neighbourhood level to essential maintenance to structures on Rochdale’s Key Road 

Network.  

Priorities for investment over the next 5-years: 

Page 491



 
 

19 

Investment Priority Description 

Pothole Repair  Local walking / cycling investment plans to improve 
active Delivery of Central Government Pothole funding 
programme. 

Highway Maintenance Continued Council capital investment in the structure of 
the highway by way of an asset management-based 
approach to road resurfacing. 

Structures Maintenance Continued investment in structures using the Bridges 
Asset Management system and inspections. 

Forward Planning 
Maintenance 

Develop a plan and deliver how Highway Maintenance 
will be delivered in Rochdale from 2022 onwards at the 
conclusion of the current Highways Maintenance Term 
Service Contract. 

Page 492



 
 

20 

 
Map 4: Rochdale Implementation Plan Schemes 

P
age 493



 
 

21 

5. Indicators 

Rochdale Council and TfGM will work together to develop a monitoring framework to 

measure the success of the interventions within this Plan. It is anticipated that this 

will include aims and targets to measure success against the 5-Year Local 

Implementation Plan outcomes, carbon targets, and changes in mode-share to meet 

Right Mix targets 

Page 494



  

 

 

FINAL DRAFT – subject to final 

adoption by GMCA 

Page 495



 

 

Contents 

Part 1: Introduction to our Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 
2040 

 

Overview                                       1 

Our Vision and the Right Mix for 2040    
       

4 

Critical Transport Challenges for Greater Manchester  
  

6 

Supporting Sustainable Economic Growth       6 

Improving the Quality of Life         8 

Protecting our Environment       10 

Developing an Innovative City-Region    
                   

12 

Building on Success          
  

14 

Scope of this Document       16 

Part 2: Supporting Travel in Greater Manchester: Our Strategic 
Principles and Policies 

19 

Introduction        
   

19 

A More Customer-Focused Transport System: Our Network Principles
                

20 

Integration at the Heart of the 2040 Transport Strategy                        21 

An Inclusive Network       
   

27 

Supporting a Healthier Greater Manchester                   
   

30 

Environmental Responsibility                      32 

 A Reliable Network        37 

A Well Maintained and Resilient Network      40 

A Safe and Secure Transport System 41 

 

Our Greater Manchester Modal Principles for 2040    
   

 

44 

Streets for All        45 

The Key Route Network 48 

Goods and Servicing       50     

Page 496



 

 

Priorities for Highways Investment  

 Developing a Comprehensive Walking and Cycling Network 

 Public Transport Integration: Keeping Greater Manchester Moving in 
2040 

 Our Vision for Bus 

51 

59 

63 

 

66 

Part 3: Our 2040 Spatial Themes: Challenges and Interventions                                 78 

Introduction         78 

Global Connectivity        80 

 Manchester Airport and Enterprise Zone      80 

 Atlantic Gateway and Port Salford     
   

83 

Delivering Better City-to-City Links  86 

  Improving North-South Connectivity    
                 

87 

  Transforming Connectivity Across the North   
                 

90 

  City-City Freight Movement      
  

95 

  

Travel to and Within our Regional Centre     97 

  Transport for a 2040 Regional Centre Economy   
                

97 

  Connectivity Within a Rapidly Growing Regional Centre  
                 

103 

  A Liveable Regional Centre      
   

104 

  

Travel Across the Wider City-region      106 

  Supporting Vital and Vibrant Town Centres      107 

  Access to Employment, Services and Leisure   
                 

 

 Providing Attractive Alternatives to Car Travel 

 Delivering a More Reliable Highway Network   
                 

 111 

113 

 Supporting New Development     
                 

115 

  

Connected Neighbourhoods       119 

Page 497



 

 

  Active Neighbourhoods                   120 

  Environmental Quality      
                

122 

  Improving Access  123 

  Inclusive Neighbourhoods                  126 

  

Part 4: Strategy Delivery        128 

Introduction        
             

128 

  Prioritisation                    129 

  New Investment                   130 

  Maintenance and Renewal                  131 

  Service Delivery                   132 

  Policies and Interventions      
            

134 

Policies 134 

  

Funding Mechanisms and New Ways of Working                           136 

Funding Mechanisms                  136 

New Ways of Working       137 

Measuring Performance      
            

138 

Final Conclusions: Next Steps  

 

Appendix - Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 – ‘Right Mix’ 
Technical Note                                                                                                  

143 

 

 

  

Page 498



 

 
Page 499



Page 500



 

1 

Part 1 
Introduction to our Greater Manchester Transport 
Strategy 2040  

Overview 

1. Greater Manchester is changing. Not only is our city-region growing - in terms of population 
and economy - but it is continuing to set the agenda on English devolution. We are leading 
the way in making use of the powers and funds devolved to us by national Government, and 
we are confident that our city-region is on a path towards more powers and funding, 
supported by our directly elected Mayor and ten council leaders. More local decision-making 
leads to greater benefits for our people and communities, including by enabling us to create 
better places and develop a London-style, integrated transport network. 

2. It is in this context that we are continuing to develop and deliver the Greater Manchester 
Transport Strategy 2040 (hereafter referred to as the 2040 Transport Strategy), led by 
Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) on behalf of the Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority (GMCA) and the Greater Manchester Local Enterprise Partnership (GMLEP). The 
initial version of this 2040 Transport Strategy made clear that we would ‘review our Strategy 
on a regular basis to respond to changing trends and new opportunities and priorities’. This 
document has, therefore, undergone a ‘light touch’ policy refresh to reflect work undertaken, 
and the changed context, since 2017. 

3. Transport is crucial in supporting Greater Manchester’s ambitious plans, including those set 
out in the Greater Manchester Strategy (GMS) with its vision ‘to make Greater Manchester 
one of the best places in the world to grow up, get on and grow old’. This Transport Strategy 
supports Greater Manchester’s Plan for Homes, Jobs, and the Environment - the Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) - and the Greater Manchester Local Industrial 
Strategy, as sustainable growth will both need, and be driven by, improved connectivity. This 
is true on both a local and pan-northern level; as Greater Manchester has a fundamental role 
to play in national efforts to ‘level up’ and re-balance the UK economy.  

4. Why 2040? The opportunities offered by devolution and greater local determination of 
policies, funding and delivery allow us to take a much bolder and longer-term view of our 
transport needs. This means we can identify an evidence-based, long-term vision for our 
transport network. This Right Mix vision is for 50% of trips to be made by sustainable modes, 
with no net increase in motor vehicle traffic, by 2040 (further details are set out in the 
Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 ‘Right Mix’ Technical Note – a copy of which can 
be found in the form of an appendix to this document). Our city-region also has a long-term 
environmental ambition for carbon neutrality by 2038. It is vital that we act to reduce the 
impact of transport on the environment.  At every stage, this Strategy takes into 
consideration the actions needed to protect people's health, reduce air pollution and tackle 
the Climate Emergency.  

Page 501



 

2 

5. Our 2040 Vision for Transport, which we consulted on in 2015, set out our ambitions for a 
radical new approach to planning our transport system in support of long-term needs and 
aspirations. This 2040 Transport Strategy builds on that Vision, highlighting the priority 
interventions needed to achieve it.  The Strategy is, in turn, supported by a series of Five-Year 
Transport Delivery Plans which describe the progress made in delivering this Strategy and set 
out our short-term delivery priorities.  

6. Importantly, the 2040 Transport Strategy is not about simply predicting what the future might 
hold and responding accordingly. For example, the spread of Covid-19 throughout 2020 had a 
profound impact on people’s lives and wellbeing in a way that would have been impossible to 
predict. This Strategy is - instead - about helping to shape and create a successful, resilient 
city-region, ready to tackle the challenges, and opportunities, of the 21st century. By being 
clear on our priorities, we can realise them more effectively; we can develop funding 
mechanisms better linked to the benefits of improved connectivity; and we can develop a 
skills base to enable our residents to benefit from employment in the transport sector. 

7. Our priority interventions range from transformational investment in HS2 and new, fast east-
west rail connections across the North; to establishing Greater Manchester as a modern, 
pedestrian and cycle-friendly city-region, including through the Bee Network. There are plans 
to support town centre regeneration through new sustainable transport connections, 
interchanges and crucially, to build on the success of our commuter revolution, with the 
delivery of new and enhanced rapid transit links and a transformed local bus network. We 
also want to make our local road system more reliable and safer for all users, including freight 
and commercial traffic. 

8. Ultimately, all interventions will come together to offer flexible and customer-focused travel 
choices, supported by smart information, ticketing and payment systems, across a truly 
integrated Greater Manchester transport network.  

9. A vision for this integrated, modern and accessible transport system was set out by the 
Greater Manchester Mayor in 2019, through the launch of Our Network. Designed to align 
with the 2040 Transport Strategy, Our Network provides a passenger focused way of 
communicating what we want to achieve in the medium-term on our public transport and 
walking and cycling networks.  

10. Our travelling customers – residents, business and visitors – sit at the heart of this Strategy. 
An effective transport system supports a strong economy by enabling goods to reach 
customers, and businesses to access skills and talent. And it has a major bearing on people’s 
health and well-being by supporting social interaction, encouraging more active travel and 
reducing pollution.    

11. This Strategy focuses on the critical long-term challenges we are facing in Greater 
Manchester, such as global warming, a rapidly growing and ageing population; low 
productivity and the need to reduce poverty and social inequality.  This is supported by a 
more holistic approach to the needs of passengers and freight, with a strong focus on 
integration across different modes of transport, and with wider policy areas, such as spatial 
planning and health. Technology and innovation also have a key role to play.  

Page 502



 

3 

12. We will take a consistent and long-term approach to tackling these major challenges, while 
also reviewing our Strategy on a regular basis to respond to changing trends and new 
opportunities and priorities. This approach is supported by plans that cover the short and 
medium term, including: a series of Five-Year Transport Delivery Plans; Local Implementation 
Plans (for each of the ten Greater Manchester local authorities) and the development of sub-
strategies including : Streets for All, the City Centre Transport Strategy, the Local Bus Strategy, 
the Rapid Transit Strategy and the Freight Strategy.  

13. Our 2040 Vision - and the Right Mix - will not be easy to deliver but, in preparing this long-
term Strategy, we believe we are putting in place the right framework to face up to the 
challenges of the next 20 years.      

  

Page 503



 

4 

Our Vision and the Right Mix for 2040 

14. Our vision is for Greater Manchester to have ‘World class connections that support long-term, 
sustainable economic growth and access to opportunity for all’.  Our approach to achieving 
this was set out in the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040: Our Vision.  

15. As well as meeting the requirements of our travelling customers, our transport system needs 
to help the local economy to flourish and prosper, and our residents to contribute to and 
benefit from that prosperity, as set out in the refreshed Greater Manchester Strategy.  

16. Our transport system must connect people to opportunities and information, entrepreneurs 
with ideas and capital, and employers with talent and skills. It also needs to create better 
places: improving the environment, reducing the dominance of cars and goods vehicles and 
supporting new development and regeneration.   

17. Finally, the role of technology and innovation will be even more important in the period up to 
2040, enabling us to: improve quality of life, reduce costs and resource consumption, 
encourage sustainable travel, reduce overall journeys and support Mobility as a Service, the 
integration of transport services into an accessible on demand, single customer experience 
with simple payment. 

18. The four key elements of our Vision, which represent the goals of our Strategy, are set out 
below. 

 

Page 504



 

5 

19. In 2019, we set out our ambition to improve our transport system so that - by 2040 - 50% of all 
journeys in Greater Manchester are made by public transport or active travel, supporting a 
reduction in car use to no more than 50% of daily trips. This will mean one million more 
sustainable journeys every day in Greater Manchester by 2040, enabling us to deliver a 
healthier, greener and more productive city-region.  We call this the transport ‘Right Mix’.  
Achieving the Right Mix is expected to lead to zero net growth in motor vehicle traffic in 
Greater Manchester between 2017 and 2040. 

The Right Mix for Greater Manchester 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 505



 

6 

  

Page 506



 

7 

Critical Transport Challenges for Greater Manchester 

20. We face challenges in achieving our vision, and these are analysed in depth in our 2040 
Evidence Base, which should be read alongside this 2040 Transport Strategy. They are also 
summarised below. 

 

Supporting Sustainable Economic Growth 
21. Greater Manchester has ambitious growth plans over the coming 20 years, with major growth 

in employment (particularly in knowledge-based industries) leading to a rapidly increasing 
population and an urgent need to build 10, 500 new homes every year from 2020 until 2037.  

 

Page 507



 

8 

22. Significant work has been undertaken to develop Greater Manchester's Plan for Homes, Jobs 
and the Environment - the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) - in a way that is 
closely aligned with this Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 and Our Five-Year 
Transport Delivery Plan. This is vital, to ensure that we correctly identify the transport 
infrastructure needed to support movement across the city-region, taking into account 
current and future travel demands. 

23. Key challenges for our strategy in supporting sustainable economic growth are as follows: 

• Growth will lead to thousands more trips on our transport networks, which could result in 
significant highways congestion and overcrowding on our public transport networks, 
ultimately choking off investment and damaging prosperity. Preventing increased 
congestion will need more people to travel by public transport or to walk or cycle, and 
fewer goods vehicles on our roads during peak periods. This will require a significant 
improvement in the alternatives, providing more capacity and creating a flexible, 
integrated London-style transport network that meets customer needs. Additional 
transport links will be needed to unlock growth areas, particularly as the scale of growth 
means that sites on the edge of the urban area will need to be developed. 

• Access to skills and markets needs to be improved to allow people to take up the new jobs 
on offer, employers to recruit the best workers and businesses to deliver goods efficiently.  

• Journey time reliability on our roads and on public transport is essential, reducing the cost 
to business of delayed deliveries and employees arriving late. The cost of congestion in 
Greater Manchester has been estimated by TfGM to be £1.3 billion per year. 

• Networks need to be well maintained in order to function. We face an increasing challenge 
to keep networks open in the face of adverse weather (linked to climate change), ageing 
infrastructure and more intensive operation.  

• The perception of Greater Manchester as a good place to live, work, invest and visit is vital 
to the economy. We must deliver the sort of efficient, seamless, intelligent and easy-to-use 
public transport enjoyed by leading world cities, and create public spaces that offer a safe, 
attractive and clean environment for walking and cycling. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 508



 

9 

Improving the Quality of Life 

 

24. Economic success, particularly in the Regional Centre and southern parts of Greater 
Manchester, has not yet spread to all areas, and there are significant pockets of severe 
deprivation throughout the conurbation. Many of our residents do not have access to a car 
and therefore rely heavily on public transport.  We also have major challenges in terms of air 
pollution, physical inactivity and road collisions.  This Strategy can make a major contribution 
to improving the quality of life of all our residents by helping to address some of the critical 
challenges highlighted below: 

• Many people do not currently see sustainable modes as realistic alternatives to taking the 
car, and we must continue to work hard to improve the quality of our walking, cycling and 

Page 509



 

10 

public transport and to provide people with the facilities and training to make them 
natural, easy choices. The design of new development also needs to make it easier for 
people to use sustainable modes. 

• Access to jobs and training needs to be improved so that transport is not a barrier to work, 
or moving to a better job. Where businesses operate 24/7 or have variable working hours 
it can be difficult to provide public transport, and the cost of travel is a serious issue for 
those in lower-paid jobs. 

• Good access to services such as education, healthcare, shopping and recreation is 
essential, particularly for disadvantaged groups and people living in isolated areas. Our 
town centres are threatened by changing retail trends and elsewhere many of our services, 
such as healthcare, are becoming more centralised and, in some cases, more difficult to 
reach.  

• Improving health is an area where transport can make a significant contribution by 
increasing levels of active travel and reducing pollution.  Much needs to be done to make 
this a real option by improving safety, providing better infrastructure and building 
confidence through training.  We must make walking and cycling the natural choice for 
everyday shorter trips, many of which are currently made by car.  

• Poor air quality damages everyone’s health, but it can have particularly significant effects 
on the most vulnerable in our communities.  Long-term exposure to elevated levels of 
particulates and nitrogen dioxide can contribute to the development of cardiovascular or 
respiratory diseases, and may reduce life expectancy.  It is estimated that approximately 
5% of deaths in GM are attributable to particulate pollution.  Currently GM is compliant 
with the legal limits of particulate matter, but because of its impact on health it is 
important to ensure that it is reduced as much as possible.   

• Nitrogen dioxide (NO2) is a type of air pollution which is at levels above legal limits at 
numerous sites in Greater Manchester. The main source of NO2 is road vehicles (especially 
older, diesel ones). Reducing these emissions is vital, to clean up the air we breathe and 
prevent people contracting and suffering from serious health conditions.  

• Safety and security are fundamental. Good progress has been made in reducing the 
number of people killed or seriously injured on our roads, but all partners must work hard 
to deliver our vision of reducing deaths to close to zero by 2040. Public transport is a very 
safe way to travel, but some people are deterred from using it by the fear of crime and 
anti-social behaviour, which we must continue to tackle.  

• These quality of life challenges - from struggling to incorporate physical activity into daily 
lives; to poor air quality; to travel delays due to full-to-capacity public transport services 
and congested road networks - need to be addressed in a holistic manner. Greater 
Manchester is pioneering the Streets for All approach, which offers a people-centred way 
of taking decisions about how our streets are designed and managed. When it comes to 
quality of life, local neighbourhood trips offer the greatest potential for change as large 
numbers of short car journeys could be switched to walking or cycling.  

Page 510



 

11 

Protecting our Environment  
25. Motorised transport has brought great benefits to society, giving easy access to a wide range 

of opportunities, but its impact on the environment is very damaging. At a global level, carbon 
dioxide (CO2) emissions are a major contributor to climate change.  

26. All ten Greater Manchester local authorities, and the GMCA, have declared a Climate 
Emergency, making clear that urgent action is needed to put Greater Manchester on a path to 
carbon neutrality by 2038, and for GM to make its fair contribution to a stable global climate 
and to the Paris Agreement of holding the increase in global temperatures to well below 2oC.  

27. Greater Manchester is taking action through the 5-Year Environment Plan (launched in 2019, 
at the second Greater Manchester Green Summit). The Plan includes priorities for improving 
our air quality and reducing emissions in relation to the way we travel, including reducing the 
distance we need to travel, increasing the use of public transport and active travel, phasing 
out fossil fuelled vehicles, establishing a zero-emissions bus fleet and decarbonising road 
freight.  

Page 511



 

12 

 

Further challenges and opportunities when it comes to protecting our environment include:  

• Reducing transport emissions, including by implementing the measures required to meet 
carbon and air quality targets. This needs to be done in the context of economic and 
population growth, which will increase demand. Making the best use of existing 
infrastructure will help to reduce environmental impacts. Locating new development 
where there is good access to public transport and services will reduce car travel and 

Page 512



 

13 

therefore emissions. Road and rail networks must also be used efficiently and be well 
maintained.   

• Protecting natural and built environments from the impacts of transport. Damage to, or 
loss of, habitats as a result of construction, disturbance from traffic noise or street lighting, 
and pollution due to run-off from highways must all be minimised. 

Developing an Innovative city-region 
28.  Without significant capital investment, existing transport solutions will not fully overcome 

obstacles to sustainable and equitable growth in Greater Manchester. A great deal of work is 
currently being undertaken in our city-region, to identify opportunities to develop, test and 
implement new mobility solutions.  

29. Transport innovation in Greater Manchester focuses on three main areas – Intelligent 
Mobility, Smart and Shared Mobility, Connected Infrastructure and Place – all of which are 
achieved through partnership and collaboration. Our city-region participates in many 
collaborative transport innovation projects with UK-based and international partners to 
ensure we remain at the forefront of this area.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 513



 

14 

 

30. Following the completion of multiple successful projects and trials in recent years, several 
‘pathways to innovation’ have been identified using cross-sectoral working to ensure 
developments in Mobility as a Service, Connected and Autonomous Vehicles and shared 
mobility are customised to meet the needs of our residents and visitors. 
 

 

Page 514



 

15 

 

31. We will exploit new technologies and innovative approaches where we believe they add real 
value to the delivery of our Strategy, and particularly in the five key areas shown in the graphic 
below:   

 

32. The development of connected infrastructure, shared services and placemaking has been at 
the forefront of the transport innovation agenda in Greater Manchester. Innovation projects 
are helping us better understand the impact of these services and new mobility solutions and 
overcome any technical, regulatory and commercial barriers. Projects such as eHUBS are 
creating community hubs with access to shared, electric, sustainable mobility solutions, while 
the legacy of the ground-breaking CityVerve project forms the foundation of our ambition to 
be a world-leading smart city.  

33. TfGM’s intention to be at the forefront of developing and implementing new technology can 
also be seen in its involvement in the 5G Create project, which is trialling the use of 5G 
technology and artificial intelligence to improve the efficiency of traffic signals.          

Building on Success 

34. We have already made significant progress when it comes to improving the capacity and 
resilience of our transport network. Details of work completed or progressed to date are 
included in this 2040 Transport Strategy, Our Five-Year Transport Delivery Plan and Our 
Network. 

• In 2019 the Greater Manchester Rail Prospectus set out the city-region’s priorities for its rail 

network. These include improving infrastructure and rolling stock; increasing passenger 

Page 515



 

16 

numbers into the Regional Centre; working with rail and community partners to improve 

stations, increasing services to Manchester Airport and delivering local turn-up-and-go services 

that operate at least four trains an hour. The Prospectus also sets out the opportunities 

provided by rail reform and greater local control. 

• On our highways, we continue to develop our Greater Manchester-wide approach to 

managing, maintaining and improving our Key Route Network of major roads which play the 

biggest role in supporting our city-region economy, and we have been investing heavily in 

innovative real-time traffic management and information systems to improve their reliability.  

• Further expansion and upgrades to Greater Manchester’s Electric Vehicle Charging 

Infrastructure network (GMEV) are planned. Work started in 2020, and more opportunities for 

rapid charging are being rolled out.  As the uptake of Electric Vehicles increases, we will work 

in partnership with the private sector increasing investment to upgrade, expand, operate and 

maintain a re-branded EV charging infrastructure network to make Greater Manchester truly 

EV-friendly and support air quality and carbon reduction targets. Work is also underway to roll 

out Greater Manchester’s Streets for All approach, which strikes a better balance between 

movement demands and place functions on our streets. 

• Greater Manchester is rolling out world-class walking and cycling infrastructure. This includes 
through the Mayor’s Challenge Fund for Cycling and Walking to deliver the Bee Network - a 
plan to connect every neighbourhood and community in Greater Manchester - and the long-
term Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Vision for Greater Manchester, which builds on the 
recommendations made by Greater Manchester’s first Cycling and Walking Commissioner in 
his 2017 Made to Move report.  

• Transport investment will be essential in regenerating Greater Manchester’s town centres. 
Local authorities are working on plans to improve access to, and within, town centres. The 
Mayor’s Town Centre Challenge and other initiatives will help regenerate town centres by 
creating more attractive places to live, with local retail and leisure, supported by transport and 
digital connections.  

• Greater Manchester has invested in modern, attractive interchanges in our town centres, 
supported by programmes of targeted bus priority and passenger facility improvements across 
our bus network. The Bus Services Act (2017) gave Greater Manchester the power to consider 
options to reform its bus market and potentially improve bus availability, reliability and 
affordability. Bus reform also offers opportunities for more integration between the bus 
network and other sustainable and active modes.  

35. The scale of the growth challenge we are facing, however, requires more investment and 
careful planning and management of our transport network, co-ordinated across the different 
elements of Greater Manchester’s sustainable growth and public service reform agenda.   

36. The policies and interventions set out in this document in Parts 2 and 3 have been developed 
to provide a comprehensive toolkit for addressing the challenges outlined above.  As we move 
from broad interventions to specific schemes and funding programmes set out in Our Five-Year 
Transport Delivery Plan, we will need to prioritise measures which best meet our long-term 
goals, with a particular focus on raising prosperity, while establishing sustainable growth.  

Page 516



 

17 

Scope of this Document 

37. This document sets out Greater Manchester’s Transport Strategy for 2016 to 2040. It takes as 
its starting point the Greater Manchester 2040 Transport Strategy: Our Vision, which received 
widespread support through public and stakeholder consultation in the summer of 2015 (the 
results are reported at www.tfgm.com/2040).  The initial version of this Strategy was 
developed by TfGM, in consultation with the ten Greater Manchester local authorities (Bolton, 
Bury, Manchester, Oldham, Rochdale, Salford, Stockport, Tameside, Trafford and Wigan), the 
GMLEP, and approved by the GMCA and the then interim Greater Manchester Mayor in 2017. 
This version of the Strategy was updated in 2020. 

38. We recognise that the world is likely to change significantly over the next twenty years, in 
ways that we cannot always predict. For example, the spread of Covid-19 throughout 2020 had 
a profound impact on people’s lives and wellbeing in a way that would have been difficult to 
imagine. We will continue to refresh our Strategy on a regular basis to reflect new challenges 
and opportunities. In particular we will need to ensure we have the appropriate transport 
infrastructure and services to support future growth in Greater Manchester, while keeping in 
mind our long-term vision for the Right Mix of transport on our network: for 50% of trips to be 
made by sustainable modes  by 2040, supporting a reduction in car use to no more than 50% 
of daily trips.  

39. Greater Manchester has adopted an adaptive, vision-led approach to transport planning. This 
means that the steps needed to achieve our Right Mix vision will be continually monitored and 
adjusted to achieve our goals. This is important, given the potential for our plans to be 
knocked off course by external events. Changes in the way we achieve the Right Mix could lead 
to changes to the type of interventions set out in Greater Manchester’s transport plans. 

40. Greater Manchester’s Plan for Homes, Jobs and the Environment (the Greater Manchester 
Spatial Framework) which will identify new development locations, is still under development 
and so our transport strategy needs to be flexible to enable it to influence and support 
proposals as they are brought forward.  This flexibility can be achieved in a number of ways, 
including through a series of Five-Year Transport Delivery Plans, which accompany this 
Strategy. Each Delivery Plan is updated annually to describe the progress made in delivering 
the 2040 Transport Strategy and to reflect any changes needed. The Delivery Plans have 
appendixes in the form of a Local Implementation Plans for each of the ten local authorities. 
Local Implementation Plans build on the main Delivery Plan to set out further details of each 
local authorities’ transport ambitions, targets and priorities over each five-year period. Taken 
together, the Strategy and Delivery Plans constitute Greater Manchester’s Fourth Local 
Transport Plan, as shown overleaf.  

 
 

Page 517



 

18 

 

41. This Strategy has been developed in line with current Local Transport Plan guidance and 
European best practice in creating Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans. It is based on a thorough 
analysis of supporting evidence, which is presented in more detail in our refreshed 2040 
Evidence Base report.  We have also undertaken an Integrated Assessment of the Strategy to 
ensure that it fully considers environmental, health, habitats and equalities impacts.   

42. Sitting alongside these documents, Our Network is a passenger-focused way of communicating 
of our vision for an integrated, modern, accessible and sustainable transport network. 
Launched by the GM Mayor in 2019, Our Network is designed to bring to life Greater 
Manchester’s planned transport projects and policies, and show how different modes of public 
transport – bus, tram, rail, tram-train – and cycling and walking  - could form a London-style, 
integrated transport network  with seamless connections, simplified ticketing and an 
aspiration for capped fares. 

43. The draft Strategy and first Five-Year Transport Delivery Plan were the subject of a 12-week 
consultation, beginning in July 2016, to which over 80 stakeholder groups and almost 1,690 
members of the public responded. The consultation included a dedicated webpage, an 
animation that distilled the strategy into a three-minute video, strong media coverage, a 
comprehensive social and mainstream media plan, and a well-attended stakeholder event. The 
documents themselves were available online and this included accessible versions: a British 
Sign Language video, Easy Read, Large Print and Audio versions.  

44. Responses to the online questionnaire showed that 72% of respondents either agreed or 
strongly agreed that the Strategy would help to deliver the vision. There was also strong 
support for the principles, priorities, spatial themes and the Delivery Plan. Respondents also 
had the opportunity to answer an open question on ‘What one thing would make travel in 
Greater Manchester easier for you?’ The responses to this question, along with stakeholder 
comments were used to amend the draft documents.  

Page 518



 

19 

45. A report on the consultation outcomes was approved by GMCA in October 2016 and the Final 
Strategy and Delivery Plan were approved in December 2016. 

46. The second Five-year Transport Delivery Plan (setting out Greater Manchester’s transport 
plans for the period 2020 -2025) was published in draft form, for public consultation, in 
January 2019 alongside the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework.  The decision was taken to 
revise the Spatial Framework, to allow for deeper engagement with local communities and 
other stakeholders. A refreshed draft Delivery Plan was published alongside the revised Spatial 
Framework – Greater Manchester’s Plan for Homes, Jobs and the Environment – and a 
refreshed version of this document in November 2020. 

47. The remainder of this document is structured around three key parts: 

• Part 2 sets out our strategic principles and policies for delivering a more customer-focused 
Greater Manchester transport system.  These cover the principles we need to apply across 
our transport system as well as our strategic approach to planning and managing different 
modes of transport, including highways, walking and cycling, and public transport.   

• Part 3 focuses on the five spatial themes which we introduced in our 2040 Vision, 
highlighting challenges, ambitions and interventions for different types of travel in Greater 
Manchester.   

• Finally, our approach to delivery is set out in more detail in Part 4, including our approach 
to funding and prioritisation, and how we will measure performance.   

Page 519



 

20 

Part 2                                                                                         
Supporting Travel in Greater Manchester in 2040: 
Strategic Principles and Policies 

Introduction 

48. Since we published our first Local Transport Plan in 2001, Greater Manchester’s transport 
strategy has had a consistent focus on sustainable transport and regeneration. We have long 
been working hard to tackle the environmental, economic and quality of life challenges 
described in Part 1.  

49. However, we will need to go much further in order to deliver the scale of ambition set out in 
our 2040 Vision document - and in other plans published since then - including the Greater 
Manchester Strategy, Greater Manchester Plan for Homes, Jobs and the Environment and 
Greater Manchester’s long-term environmental vision for carbon neutrality by 2038.   

50. Greater Manchester’s growth and reform agenda, secured through the ground-breaking 2014 
Greater Manchester Agreement, provided us with some of the tools needed to achieve our 
aspirations, through the devolution of powers and funding to a locally elected Greater 
Manchester Mayor. Subsequent devolution deals gave Greater Manchester more powers - 
including over additional elements of the transport system - and notably, in 2017, powers to 
manage the city-region’s health and social care budget.  

51. We will build on our existing successful transport strategy and continue to develop and apply 
consistently a series of strategic principles and policies across our transport system.  These are 
set out in more detail within this section and along with a framework within which we can 
bring forward measures to tackle issues in different parts of Greater Manchester, as described 
in Part 3. 

  

Page 520



 

21 

A More Customer-Focused Transport System: Our 
Network Principles  

52. Meeting the transport needs of our residents, businesses and visitors is at the heart of our 
2040 Transport Strategy.  We are mindful that our transport system carries both people and 
goods, and we must consider the needs of both as we plan for the future.   

53. We have therefore established seven mutually reinforcing principles, set out below, which we 
will apply consistently as we improve Greater Manchester’s transport system to ensure that it 
meets the needs of all customers: 

 

 

 

Page 521



 

22 

 

Integration at the Heart of our GM Transport Strategy 2040  

54. A fundamental aspiration of the 2040 Transport Strategy is to provide Greater Manchester’s 
residents, visitors and businesses with real choice in their mode of travel and how goods are 
transported.  We must provide sustainable travel options that offer an attractive alternative to 
the private car and minimise the negative impacts of road freight on our city-region.  Tackling 
these issues will enable Greater Manchester to deliver its economic growth, environmental 
and quality of life goals without traffic congestion and pollution undermining its long-term 
success. 

55. A major barrier to enabling people and goods to travel more sustainably is the lack of 
integration across the different parts of the transport network.   This makes it difficult for 
customers to understand what travel options are available to them; how they access and pay 
for these; and how to move between different modes of transport for more complex journeys.  
Much of this is due to the complexity of different institutions and transport operators involved 
in planning and delivering our transport system.  This fragmented nature – which means 
passengers changing between Metrolink, train and bus have to buy multiple tickets from 
different companies, with no coordination between services – was a key reason for the 
development of Our Network, which sets out our ambition for a London-style integrated 
network with seamless connections between different modes of transport. Developing a more 
joined-up approach to planning and delivering transport is at the heart of Greater 
Manchester’s devolution and reform agenda.   

An Integrated Transport Network 

56. While the concept of integration is not new, the delivery of a truly integrated transport system 
has, in the last 30 years, been beyond our reach due to regulatory and institutional barriers.    

57. Through this Strategy, we will stop viewing different modes of transport as separate networks, 
with individual asset management, service planning, and fares and ticketing regimes, and 
instead plan our transport system as a single, highly-connected entity that all customers can 
move through seamlessly. This will allow us to prioritise transport improvements more 
effectively, based on the needs of different travel markets and to save resources by minimising 
duplication of expenditure and activity. 

58. A network approach will also enable us to meet a much wider variety of travel demands, 
facilitating easier interchange at key nodes on our transport network and, along with improved 
services, enabling people to make orbital, as well as radial, movements much more easily.   

59. We will enhance our public transport so that bus, rail and tram services and facilities are 
planned and delivered in a much more integrated way to minimise the time and cost of 
changing between services. It is hoped that steps taken by Greater Manchester to reform bus 
services in the city-region could drive the development of this more joined up public transport 

Our Ambition:  To enable people to move seamlessly between services and modes of 
transport on a single, high quality, easy-to-use network; maximising choice and supporting 
low-car lifestyles, made possible by integrated land use and transport planning.     

Page 522



 

23 

network. A franchising scheme for the whole of Greater Manchester - for which there was a 
large amount of public support during the 2019 consultation - would enable decisions about 
routes, frequencies, timetables, quality standards and ticketing to be taken at a local level. 

60. We will develop comprehensive and easy to understand cycle and walking networks that 
access a range of destinations and integrate well with public transport, including Greater 
Manchester’s Bee Network and the emerging city-region-wide bicycle hire scheme. We will 
also continue to develop and roll out our Streets for All approach to planning and maintaining 
our strategic and local highways networks, to meet the sometimes conflicting needs of 
different users and considering the role - both positive and negative - of highways in shaping 
local places. 

61. Over the coming years, we will continue to focus on significantly improving people’s travel 
experience.  Our aim is to enable customers to make their journeys in the most flexible way, 
using multiple modes of transport, through innovative new ways of planning and paying for 
travel and through access to real-time information. The latter will enable customers to make 
informed choices about their travel, putting them in control and encouraging sustainable 
journeys.  We are also working towards transforming Greater Manchester’s rapid transit stops 
into Travel Hubs, including better pick up and drop off provision, cycle facilities and electric 
vehicle charging points.  

62. Technological developments open new opportunities for delivering an integrated and 
customer-focused transport system to meet future customer needs. Greater Manchester is 
working to deliver connected and autonomous vehicles (CAVs) projects that could move 
people around the city-region in a more efficient, inclusive and sustainable way.  

63. Such an approach also blurs the traditional boundaries between public and private transport, 
and TfGM’s role will have an increasing focus on enabling mobility and improving connectivity 
for everyone no matter how they choose to travel. 

64. We recognise that there are parts of the current transport offer in Greater Manchester that 
are under-developed, thereby making car use essential, rather than optional. Later in this 
document, we set out the types of improvement needed for different transport modes. 
However, there is also potential to exploit the increasingly popular sharing economy concept 
to enable people to access a car or a bike for occasional trips, even if they do not own one.  
Hence, we want to see a more comprehensive low-emission car club offer, as well as 
continuing to develop our bicycle hire scheme.  This will provide a more comprehensive travel 
offer to our residents and businesses, and has potential to reduce the number of cars on the 
roads and parking needed. 

65. We also recognise the importance of other supporting modes of transport, such as taxis, 
private hire and demand responsive services, which can fill gaps in our transport system. 
Specialist accessible transport is also essential for people who have mobility impairments and 
cannot easily use conventional public transport.   

66. Again, the development of new demand responsive technologies and applications will make it 
easier for people to plan, book and pay for journeys, potentially as part of longer multi-modal 
trips. We will continue to work with commercial and community transport operators to ensure 
that these supporting modes of transport are fully embedded into our Transport Strategy and 

Page 523



 

24 

are seen as an integral part of a fully integrated, accessible transport system in Greater 
Manchester.  

Policy 1: We will work with partners to ensure that modes of transport such as taxis, private 
hire vehicles and other demand responsive services - as well as shared mobility solutions 
such as car clubs, cycle hire and other forms of shared transport - are available and fully 
integrated into the Greater Manchester transport network.  

 

Integrated Information, Fares and Ticketing 

67. Journey planning and wayfinding tools need to be available to customers 24/7 and they should 

provide customers with consistent, simple and straightforward information about their travel 

options.  TfGM will adopt a digital first approach, with technology increasingly enabling these 

apps and web-based tools to be tailored to the needs of individual customers. Where feasible, 

we will make our data available as Open Data to allow third parties to develop apps which will 

benefit our customers.  

68. TfGM and its partners will focus on developing travel planning tools to improve customer 

information, make this information available in more places and to enable us to respond more 

quickly to transport incidents.   Future developments could include adding data on roadworks, 

incidents/events, and a predictive function to warn customers of potential impacts on their 

journey, eg  adverse weather. Expansion of CCTV and other sensor coverage will allow better 

real-time monitoring and enable more accurate travel information.   

Fares and Ticketing Objectives  

• Simplicity: Customers can easily understand and choose options to pay for their journey, 

including for multi-modal travel 

Page 524



 

25 

• Convenience: Transactions are easy for the customer; one payment allows multi-modal 

travel and delivers efficiencies to the operator 

• Value for Money: Passengers see fare as fair for the service they get. 

• Transparency and Trustworthiness: Customers have clear understanding of pricing and 

product 

• Inclusivity: Related to the affordability of travelling by public transport and informed by 

concessions policy 

• Balanced Funding: Fares should raise the revenue needed to balance costs with available 

subsidy 

69. We will continue to provide information in a range of formats, recognising that not everyone 
has access to digital devices. We will develop a much more consistent approach to transport 
information and payment systems to allow customers to search and pay for a range of 
different travel services, such as public transport, car clubs, cycle hire and parking.  This 
approach could involve the development of a multi-modal, account-based travel platform, 
sometimes referred to as Mobility as a Service (MaaS). MaaS could be delivered through a 
smartcard, credit/debit card, mobile phone or other cashless technology.  Such an approach 
could also support a more sophisticated and responsive approach to managing demand on 
our transport networks through nudging travel behaviour. 

70. We will develop a set of multi-modal principles to inform decisions relating to fares and 
ticketing. This will support the development of a much more consistent approach to pricing if 
and when we receive the necessary powers. Decisions relating to fares and the ticketing will 
be informed by customer feedback, surveys, sales data and the evaluation of schemes and 
interventions, as well as by the 2040 Transport Strategy and other GM policies. 

 

Integrated Sustainable Journeys 

71. To make effective use of our transport networks and obtain value from public investment, we 
need people to be able to make informed decisions about their travel and which mode best 
suits their needs.   

72. We will focus on measures that encourage people or freight to travel most efficiently on our 
transport network, making the best use of available capacity, particularly during peak periods. 
This will include a holistic look at travel behaviour, such as encouraging more home working 
rather than commuting. Future demand management will encourage people to make at least 
some of their journeys by public transport, walking and cycling, which has long been at the 
heart of Greater Manchester’s transport strategy. In addition to physical measures (bus 
priority, reallocating road space for pedestrian and cycling infrastructure, car share schemes, 
and constraints on long-stay parking), a range of supporting behaviour change measures will 
be needed.  

Policy 2: Working with partners, we will seek to deliver integrated pricing and 
payment systems across the transport network, including smart ticketing for public 
transport, to encourage use of public transport in line with the GM Transport Strategy 
2040.  

 

Page 525



 

26 

73. A consistent, long-term approach to travel choices, promotions and marketing will provide 
people and businesses with the information, training and incentives to make better informed 
travel decisions and the impact of their choices.  It will also seek to improve travel horizons 
for those whose life and employment choices may be constrained by a lack of travel 
awareness. Greater Manchester already has a Sustainable Journeys programme which works 
with businesses to encourage their staff to travel sustainably; helps jobseekers travel to 
interviews and to their workplace during the initial period of employment; encourages 
individuals and communities to use public transport, cycling or walking infrastructure in their 
area; and promotes walking and cycling in schools. A continuing programme of broadening 
travel choices will be important in complementing the interventions described in Part 3 and 
we will seek partnership funding for this, including developer contributions, to focus on:  

• Reducing the carbon and environmental cost of journeys; 

• New ways of working which make the best use of the transport network; 

• Maximising the benefit of new, integrated transport infrastructure and services; 

• Delivering public health benefits through enabling more active travel;  

• Supporting town and city centre economic vitality and sustainability;  

• Improving access to key services and jobs; 

• Maximising sustainable travel in new developments; and 

• Becoming more resilient to disruption. 
 

74. Future programmes will be targeted at locations and population groups where progress to 
our Right Mix target can be maximised. For example, to make the best use of the existing 
transport network, target areas might include commuter corridors and economic centres, 
while target groups could comprise commuters, parents of school children, those with the 
potential to switch mode, or those who are at lifetime transition points such as moving house 
or starting a new job.  We will also target travel choices programmes at areas with poor air 
quality.    

75. 

We also need to reduce demand on road space from the road freight sector, particularly 
during peak periods, through measures such as freight consolidation, delivery and servicing 
plans, freight routing strategies and use of sustainable modes. This is discussed in more detail 
later in this document.  

 Integration with Spatial Planning 

76. Greater Manchester is a rapidly growing city-region and has a key role to play in a levelling up 
the national economy to help reduce the disparities in productivity and earnings across the 
UK. It is likely that Greater Manchester will have a population in excess of 3 million (currently 
2.7 million) by the mid-2030s.  Further devolution of transport and spatial planning powers to 
Greater Manchester provides an important opportunity to plan our development and 
transport in a more integrated way. 

Policy 3: We will maintain a conurbation-wide programme of interventions designed to 
encourage people to make sustainable journeys, supported by journey planning tools 
and information; to encourage travel behaviour change and mode shift, in order to make 
the most efficient use of available capacity, particularly during peak periods. 

 

Page 526



 

27 

77. Greater Manchester’s Plan for Homes, Jobs and the Environment (the Greater Manchester 
Spatial Framework) is currently in development, and will set the scale and distribution of 
housing and employment growth across Greater Manchester over the next twenty years.  It is 
clear that the challenges involved in achieving the expected growth are considerable.  

78. Accommodating this scale of growth without significant additional congestion - while 
supporting measures to reduce carbon and emissions on our already busy transport networks 
will be a huge challenge.  We will need to identify not only development locations that are 
well served by public transport, walking and cycling, but less accessible locations where a 
sufficient scale and density of development could support new public transport provision. 

79. A further fundamental aspect of this this will be minimising the need to travel. This will be 
achieved by creating local neighbourhoods where people can live, work and access services 
and shops, alongside behavioural change, such as mode shift and flexible and home working. 

80. Integration with spatial planning is critical in influencing people’s travel choices. 
Fundamentally, the transport network needs to connect the places people live with the places 
where they work, study, play, shop, visit, and access services like healthcare. Locating housing 
close to facilities and public transport tends to reduce car use. While most places in Greater 
Manchester are served by public transport, some developments have been designed around 
the car making them difficult to reach in any other way.   

81. The car will continue to play an important role in supporting economic growth and opening 
up opportunities for people to improve their quality of life. However, many of the negative 
impacts of transport, such as congestion, high emissions, noise and road traffic casualties, are 
a consequence of our over-reliance on cars, and the planning decisions that made car use the 
most convenient, or only choice for some journeys.  

The design of developments, eg the availability of parking, safe and direct walk/cycle routes, 
secure cycle parking and EV charging points, also influences travel choices. 

82. The draft GM Spatial Framework is also clear that, although connectivity has historically been 
about transport, digital connectivity is increasingly fundamental to our lives, enabling us to 
connect with people irrespective of location, and to access an unparalleled range of learning, 
employment and retail. 

83. TfGM and local planning authorities will continue to work with developers to better integrate 
transport and new development in accordance with the principles of: 

• Reducing the need to travel; 

• Reducing the need to travel by car, and the distance travelled; 

• Maximising accessibility by sustainable modes; 

• Making the best use of existing infrastructure, particularly through increasing the density of 
development close to public transport nodes; 

• Maximising opportunities to provide additional public transport; and 

• Designing to encourage active travel.  

Page 527



 

28 

 

An Inclusive Network 

84. To meet the scale of ambition set out in the Greater Manchester Strategy, we must ensure 
that everyone in Greater Manchester is able to access a range of employment, training, health 
and leisure to enable them to lead productive, healthy and fulfilling lives.  In 2018, 4% of the 
GM population was claiming Disability Living Allowance, but the number of people with some 
form of mobility impairment will be much higher.  Therefore, we must make sure that our 
transport network is as inclusive and accessible as possible.  An accessible transport network 
will become even more critical as our elderly population continues to grow over the coming 
decades. Consistent standards of vehicles, facilities and customer care are also needed to give 
disabled people the confidence that they can make their journey on public transport. 

85. In line with our responsibilities under the Equality Act, 2010, we will continue to ensure that all 
new transport infrastructure, vehicles and information are designed to be as accessible as 
possible to all our customers, regardless of their age and mobility.  We will also continue to 
deliver accessibility improvements to our existing transport networks, targeting those parts of 
our transport system which most require improvement and cause most disadvantage to those 
with a mobility impairment. To help us do this most effectively, TfGM set up a Disability Design 
Reference Group (DDRG) in 2008. The DDRG is actively involved in transport-improvement 
projects. It has advised on a wide range of features to improve journeys, including strong 
colour-contrasting infrastructure, clear signage and audio information.  

 

86. The importance of good street design and management to support people who walk and cycle 
has gained greater prominence in recent years. In Greater Manchester, this includes design 
criteria set out in the GM Cycling and Walking Commissioner’s Made to Move guide, such as 
ensuring that all proposed pavement and public realm improvements pass the test of being 
accessible to all, especially pedestrians, the partially sighted and a parent with buggies. 
Alongside this guidance, Greater Manchester’s Streets for All approach sets out a people-
centered way of thinking to how our streets are designed and managed so that people are 
encouraged to travel sustainably and spend more time on them. Engaging communities in 
scheme design is also at the core of the GM Mayor’s Cycling and Walking Challenge Fund.     

 

 Our Ambition: To develop a fully inclusive and affordable sustainable transport system for 
all. 

Policy 4: We will work with developers to ensure that new developments are 
accessible by sustainable modes, and to reduce transport emissions and impacts on the 
highway network.  

Policy 5:  We will work with public transport operators and Network Rail to ensure that 
all of transport infrastructure, vehicles and information are as accessible as possible for 
all our customers, regardless of their age and mobility.  

 

Page 528



 

29 

 

87. Affordability of transport is also an important issue, particularly for residents on limited 

incomes, many of whom depend on public transport. Season tickets can offer good value to 

people who need to travel five days or more a week, but these do not benefit part-time 

workers, who have to pay higher daily fares.  We are now seeing increasing numbers of people 

working or studying on a part-time, flexible or short-term contract basis, or homeworking a 

few days a week. This means that flexible ticketing options are vitally important to support our 

rapidly changing economy.  In response to this, TfGM has introduced the Clipper Metrolink 

ticket, which provides 10 one-day travel cards that have to be used within 28 days. Clipper 

saves customers money if they are working flexibly or travelling less often than the 

conventional Monday to Friday working week.  

88. We must also ensure that our transport system is priced in a way that encourages sustainable 
travel and manages demand effectively on our constrained networks. More flexible fares and 
ticketing are a critical part of our Vision for Bus (see section 170). The GMCA’s proposed bus 
franchising scheme may help to provide greater value for money for customers, which could 
also enable investment to further improve bus services.  

89. Concessionary fares play an important role in meeting people’s travel needs. The national 
scheme provides free weekday bus travel after 9.30 am for those who have reached 
pensionable age or have a disability. In Greater Manchester, older people can also choose to 
pay £10 for a year’s unlimited off-peak travel on Metrolink and trains within the city-region.  
We also recognise the importance of public transport for young people. TfGM, on behalf of the 
GMCA, has supported a trial of Our Pass, launched by the GM Mayor, which enables 16-18 
year olds to travel by bus for free across Greater Manchester (for a one-off £10 administration 

Page 529



 

30 

fee). TfGM also supports apprentices across the city-region with a free 28-day travel pass, valid 
on bus and Metrolink services. The Women’s Concessionary Travel Pass, launched by TfGM in 
2018, enables women affected by the change in the state pension age to free off-peak travel 
on bus, train and tram.  

90. For those without access to a car, the availability of public transport may determine whether 
they can access jobs or training or attend medical appointments without having to use more 
costly individual travel options. This can be a particular issue for people working in the night-
time economy. TfGM provides support for a network of socially necessary bus services, which 
would not otherwise be provided, but this is limited by budget. We will continue to work with 
bus, rail and Metrolink operators to ensure that the network meets peoples’ needs as far as 
possible. We will also work with partners to better co-ordinate the provision of door-to-door 
transport, to increase its availability to disabled customers.  

91. For those who can cycle, we will strongly promote cycling as a low-cost alternative for travel to 
work and education, including developing cycle links to key employment areas.  

 

Policy 6:  We will work with partners to better integrate accessible travel services across 
Greater Manchester, to increase availability and convenience for customers.  

 

Policy 7: As we plan our transport network, we will support the creation of a more 
inclusive economy for GM by considering how best to improve the prospects of people 
living in deprived communities - including by ensuring that more people can access jobs, 
education, skills training and childcare. 

Page 530



 

31 

Supporting a Healthier Greater Manchester 

 
Our Ambition:  To develop a transport system that supports people in leading active, healthy 
lives.  

92. Transport can have a major impact on people’s health. It provides access to healthcare and 
other services, enables people to visit friends and family, and links them with green spaces. On 
the negative side, motorised transport can make people less active, leading to obesity; cause 
severe traffic accidents and produces damaging emissions which either affect health directly or 
through climate change. 

93. The huge potential of walking and cycling to reduce car mileage, improve access to key 
facilities, and improve public health, is now widely understood. While recognising the role of 
personal choice in travel, we will encourage people who are able to do so to travel actively in 
order to improve their health, as discussed in Part 1. This is particularly important in tackling 
childhood obesity - establishing active travel behaviour early in life for day-to-day journeys or 
for leisure can greatly improve health later in life.  

94. 

In recent years, reduced local authority budgets have made it increasingly difficult to provide 
socially necessary bus services, including door-to-door services provided for people with 
disabilities, which are not provided by commercial operators. We will continue to monitor the 
impact of this on social isolation and to safeguard against health problems such as depression 
or the inability to attend health appointments.  

95. The devolution of health and social care to Greater Manchester has enabled a much more 
joined-up approach to health by linking it to other aspects of life. People who are more active 
will enjoy better health and be less likely to need medical intervention and this will bring 
savings to health budgets.  

96. We know that air pollution is linked to a wide range of serious illnesses and health conditions. 
It contributes to the equivalent of 1,200 deaths a year in Greater Manchester. NO2 is a type of 
air pollution which is at levels above roadside legal limits at numerous sites in Greater 
Manchester. Government has instructed many local authorities across the UK, including those 
that make up Greater Manchester, to take quick action to reduce harmful NO2 levels. Here, the 
ten local authorities, the GMCA and TfGM have worked together to consider measures to 
tackle air pollution, alongside a charging Clean Air Zone. Together, these form the Greater 
Manchester Clean Air Plan, which aims to bring NO2 emissions within legal limits as quickly as 
possible. 

97. Encouraging walking and cycling - especially for short, daily trips, is also key to improving 
people’s health and fitness. The Bee Network and the long-term Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plan for Greater Manchester are vital to enable healthy lifestyles by making 
walking and cycling attractive, convenient and safe ways to travel. The Greater Manchester 
Cycling and Walking Commissioner’s Made to Move report (see section 159) sets out an 

Policy 8:  We will work with partners to deliver transport interventions that improve the 
health of Greater Manchester residents, including: mitigating against pollution from motor 
vehicles; increasing levels of physical activity; improving access to healthcare; and reducing 
social isolation. 

 

 

Page 531



 

32 

ambitious vision for more active travel across the city-region.  The goals are to double and 
double again levels of cycling and to make walking the natural choice for as many short trips as 
possible. Working with the Mayor, TfGM, councils and other partners, the Commissioner aims 
to make Greater Manchester one of the world’s best places for cycling and walking.  

98. We have also been very successful in securing funding and establishing new partnership 
arrangements, for example with Sustrans, to deliver major improvements to our active travel 
infrastructure, such as significant expansion of our network of cycle routes and cycle parking, 
together with supporting activities such as cycle training and maintenance, and promoting 
walking for health. 

 

99. While cycling is increasing much more needs to be done to achieve the desired scale of change 
and more investment is essential to provide safe and convenient routes that connect people to 
jobs, services and recreation. In view of the serious health consequences of inactive lifestyles, 
and the significant numbers of very short trips which are currently being made by car (88% of 
trips within Greater Manchester are of five miles or less, and more than half of these are by 
car) we have forged strong partnerships to work across sectors in an attempt to further 
increase levels of walking and cycling.  

100. The focus of activity to drive much higher levels of active travel is influenced by available 
funding.  At present, the GM Mayor’s Challenge Fund (made possible through national 
Government’s Transforming Cities Fund) supports schemes set out in  Our Five-Year Transport 
Delivery Plan (2020-2025), the Made to Move report and the Bee Network infrastructure 
proposal. This fund has so far made £160 million available to deliver schemes across Greater 
Manchester until 2022.  

Page 532



 

33 

  

Page 533



 

34 

 

Made to Move 
 
Made to Move, published in 2018, is a a 15-step plan to transform how people travel in Greater 
Manchester.  
 
Its goal is to double and then double again cycling in Greater Manchester, and to make walking 
the natural choice for as many short trips as possible. We must do this by putting people first, 
creating 
world-class streets for walking, building one of the world’s best cycle networks, and creating a 
genuine culture of cycling and walking throughout the city-region.  

Made to Move sets out steps towards:  

• Encouraging the two thirds of people who currently use their car as their main mode of 

transport 

to walk and cycle more often; 

• The creation of a Greater Manchester Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Proposal (published 

in summer 2018); 

• Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Proposal plans, which have now been published online. 

TfGM and the ten local authorities are continuing to develop and refine these proposals, in 

collaboration with local residents.  

 

Environmental Responsibility  

Our Ambition:  For Greater Manchester to be known for the quality of its urban areas, 
natural environments with transport emissions reduced to near zero, and new transport 
schemes delivering environmental enhancements whenever possible.  

101. Local air pollution and carbon emissions cause significant harm to health and the environment. 
Evidence suggests that poor air quality harms everyone in the long-term and in the short-term 
impacts the most vulnerable, including children, older people, those with existing respiratory 
or cardiovascular disease and those living in areas of depravation. Greater Manchester’s air 
pollution mostly consists of NO2 (Nitrogen Dioxide) and particulates in the form of PM2.5 and 
PM10 (small particles which are harmful even in low concentrations). In Greater Manchester 
80% of roadside NO2  is caused by traffic. Long-term exposure to both of these may contribute 
to respiratory illness, as well as cardiovascular problems and cancer, leading to thousands of 
early deaths in Greater Manchester every year.   

102. Climate change - mainly caused by CO2 and other greenhouse gas emissions – is causing an 
increase in warm spells and heavy rain and a decrease in cold spells. More extreme weather 
patterns could potentially impact food and water supplies and lead to increased flooding. Road 
transport is a major source of all three emissions in the conurbation. 

Page 534



 

35 

 

103. The GMCA, and ten local councils, have each declared a Climate Emergency and that urgent 
action is needed to put Greater Manchester on a path to carbon neutrality by 2038. Greater 
Manchester has demonstrated a clear commitment to achieving this target, including through 
the 5-Year Environment Plan, launched in March 2019 during the second Greater Manchester 
Green Summit. The Plan sets out Greater Manchester’s long-term environmental vision and 
the actions we all need to take, over the next few years, to achieve this. 

104. Greater Manchester is also working in collaboration with international partners, and is a 
signatory to three International commitments on climate change: The Integrated Covenant of 
Mayors, The Compact of Mayors, and the Under 2 Memorandum Of Understanding. 

105. At present (in 2020), the UK is in breach of EU air quality standard for NO2. A single Greater 
Manchester Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) was declared in May 2016 (replacing the 
previous ten District AQMAs), covering the areas where the legal level of NO2 are exceeded (or 
are at risk of being exceeded) and where there is risk of exposure to the general population.  
These are mainly areas close to the motorway network and the major roads converging on the 
Regional Centre and town centres, as shown on the map below. 

106. Government has instructed many local authorities across the UK, including those that make 
up Greater Manchester, to take quick action to reduce harmful NO2 levels.  The Greater 
Manchester local authorities, alongside GMCA and TfGM, have developed a Clean Air Plan 
that aims to meet nationally specified standards in the shortest time possible. The Clean Air 
Plan builds on the commitments in our existing Low Emission Strategy and Air Quality Action 
Plan (2016-21).  

Page 535

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/news/mayor-sets-out-bold-ambition-for-greater-manchester-to-be-carbon-neutral-by-2038/


 

36 

 

GREATER MANCHESTER Air Quality Management Area 

 

107. Greater Manchester’s Outline Business Case (OBC) for its Clean Air Plan was submitted to 
Government in 2019, and proposed the introduction of a Greater Manchester-wide Clean Air 
Zone: a designated area within which the most polluting vehicles would pay a daily charge. It is 
hoped the Clean Air Zone will reduce the number of polluting vehicles in Greater Manchester 
and also encourage drivers to upgrade to cleaner vehicles. 

108. Greater Manchester’s Clean Air Plan also proposes: a funding package to support local 
businesses to upgrade to cleaner vehicles and trebling the number of electric vehicle public 
charging points to support people, businesses, and other organisations across Greater 
Manchester to play their part in reducing air pollution from transport.  

109. Following a public consultation - and if approved by Government - the Greater Manchester 
Clean Air Plan Full Business Case (FBC) proposals will be rolled out over the coming years.  

110. While our primary ambition is to encourage a shift to more sustainable modes of travel – 
particularly for shorter journeys - we recognise that some journeys will always need to be 
undertaken on the highway network.  In these instances, our priority is to reduce the harmful 
emissions and population exposure levels. Greater Manchester’s Streets for All approach to 
network planning is underpinned by the need to ensure the right movement is happening on 
the right streets. For example, the M60 and other motorways within Greater Manchester 

Page 536



 

37 

should be carrying larger vehicles on longer journeys to ensure pollution caused by motorised 
traffic on local, residential streets is minimised. 

111.  The ambition for smaller vehicles is a shift to a fully electric fleet.  Greater Manchester is 
already home to an extensive electric vehicle infrastructure network and we will expand this 
further as funding allows. For heavy vehicles, we will work with Government and other city-
regions to establish a consistent policy framework to encourage an accelerated uptake of 
alternatively fuelled vehicles. Within GM we will work with infrastructure providers and fleet 
operators to encourage a shift to alternatively fuelled vehicles, or a retrofit of existing vehicles.  

 

 

112. In addition to climate change and pollution, the noise from motorised traffic can impact on the 
quality of life in residential areas and deter people from walking and cycling. Defra has 
identified Noise Important Areas (NIA)  in all the major cities where noise is a problem. While 
electric vehicles will reduce this problem in the medium to long-term, we will take 
opportunities to reduce noise through design (including the use of noise-reducing surfacing) or 
traffic management where possible.  

113. Greater Manchester and its surrounding areas contain statutory nature conservation sites of 
European level importance. These include Special Areas of Conservation, Special Protection 
Areas, Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and Ramsar sites. In addition to these areas 
protected under the European Habitats Directive, there are many locally important sites and 
green spaces, which both support wildlife and contribute to people’s wellbeing. These 
locations are vulnerable to the effects of motorised traffic and the development of new 
infrastructure.  

114. A high-quality environment is increasingly seen as the key to attracting and retaining the best 
businesses and skilled workers, and ‘liveability’ is therefore an important issue. It is influenced, 
to some extent, by transport.  Urban areas with a rich cultural heritage and diverse green 
infrastructure, which are attractive and safe for people to walk and cycle in, and have access to 
efficient public transport, are generally more pleasant living environments. Creating attractive 
public realm to reduce the dominance of the car and create visual interest at street level can 
create safer neighbourhoods with more opportunity for social interaction and they can also 
attract economic investment.  

115. Reducing the impact of traffic, by increasing the use of public transport and through effective 
traffic management, will be essential if we are to achieve this. It will improve quality of life by 
reducing noise, severance and pollution. Transport is already contributing to regeneration, 
including through the expansion of Metrolink, which is stimulating investment in surrounding 
areas, and through transforming Greater Manchester’s rapid transit stops into Mobility Hubs, 

 Policy 9: We will work with partners and key stakeholders to bring nitrogen dioxide (NO2) 
levels on local roads within legal limits, and to reduce levels of particulate matter - both of 
which are emitted from internal combustion engines. 

 

 

Policy 10: We will play our part in delivering carbon neutrality, including by working 
towards: implementing measures that will mitigate against climate change, improving air 
quality, encouraging responsible consumerism, ensuring net environmental gain wherever 
possible and making sure our future built environment is resilient to the impacts of 
climate change.  

Page 537



 

38 

to include better pick up and drop off provision, cycle facilities and electric vehicle charging 
points. 

116. Greater Manchester is fortunate in having great countryside, such as the Peak District National 
Park, within a relatively short distance. More needs to be done, however, to improve access to 
this countryside through better public transport or active travel provision so that everyone, no 
matter their means or mobility, can enjoy it.  

  

 

117. New transport infrastructure can negatively impact on natural spaces and habitats. This can be 
through construction on these sites; construction and operational disturbance (such as noise, 
light and vibration pollution) and emissions and other pollution (air, water, soil). They also 
provide opportunities to incorporate and support nature. We will look for opportunities to 
enhance biodiversity and green infrastructure through our transport schemes, for example, 
through planting. TfGM is a partner in the City of Trees1 project, which aims to plant a tree for 
every man, woman and child who lives in Greater Manchester within a generation. 

118. Transport can pose a risk to water quality eg through runoff from highways following gritting. 
Pollution of water bodies (including groundwater) and increased risk of flooding must be 
prevented, both during the construction and operation of transport projects. This could be 
through Sustainable Urban Drainage schemes, bio-remediation and use of tree pits. 

 

1 http://cityoftrees.org.uk/ 

Page 538



 

39 

119. Transport infrastructure and traffic can have a significant effect on the built environment and 
through this be detrimental to people’s quality of life. New transport projects need to be 
designed sensitively to be sympathetic with the existing urban environment’s character and 
opportunities for improving their setting and share public spaces should be examined. 

120. Any development that would have an adverse impact on an important environmental site 
should be avoided as far as possible. If this cannot be achieved, the adverse impacts will be 
adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for.  In the case of European 
designated sites, a Habitat Regulations Appropriate Assessment is required for any proposal 
likely to have significant effects on the site.  

121. 

Our aim is to minimise the impact of transport on the built and natural environment. Large 
transport schemes will be subject to a statutory Environmental Assessment, as required by the 
planning process. We will also continue to apply our established principles for the design of 
new infrastructure projects, as described in the Delivery Plans that support this Strategy. 

A Reliable Network 

122. Reliable transport networks are essential to allow the economy to function and grow. Journey 
times by road need to be predictable, particularly when journeys are time critical. Public 
transport needs to be regular and dependable if people are going to have confidence in it and 
cycle network need to be well maintained. 

123. The cost of congestion on the highway network in Greater Manchester has been estimated at 
£1.3 billion a year2. In addition to frustration for motorists and delays for business, highway 
congestion can have a significant impact on bus journey times, making public transport less 
attractive. Reducing congestion can therefore help the planning and management of more 
fuel-efficient transport, particularly for freight. 

124. Road works are a major contributor to congestion and disruption. In 2013 the Greater 
Manchester Road Activities Permit Scheme was introduced to better co-ordinate the timing of 
road works and to monitor their impact. In the future there is the potential to make greater 
use of this data for journey planning, enabling people to change their route or mode of travel 
to avoid disruption. 

125. The existing traffic signal network is operated and controlled by Greater Manchester’s Urban 
Traffic Control team through TfGM’s Control Centre which uses technologies - including SCOOT 
(Split Cycle Offset Optimisation Technique) and MOVA (Microprocessor Optimised Vehicle 
Actuation) - to optimise traffic signal control and manage traffic congestion.  

 

2 Cost of Congestion in Greater Manchester, TfGM HFAS Report 1853, 2015 

Our Ambition: To develop a transport network that offers reliable journey times and gives 
people the confidence to use public transport.     

Policy 11: We will work with partners, including the Canals and Rivers Trust, to 
enhance green and blue infrastructure to provide a safe and attractive environment for 
walking and cycling.  
 

Page 539



 

40 

126. We will continue to monitor the performance of the highway network and to identify 
improvements, such as changes to signal timings or redesign of junctions at hotspot locations. 
In a dense urban area, however, the solution to increasing demand will need to involve a shift 
to sustainable modes rather than the provision of additional highway capacity. This may 
include re-allocating road space to public transport and cyclists in order to maximise capacity. 

127. The Greater Manchester Congestion Deal followed a congestion ‘conversation’ between the 
Greater Manchester Mayor and people living in the city-region in 2017. Transport for Greater 
Manchester, the ten local authorities and a reference group of transport experts developed 
the Deal by assessing new ideas and identifying existing schemes that could be expanded or 
brought forward for implementation over three years (to 2021).  This included measures to 
improve the way the road network is managed and to provide better use of road space and 
non-traditional transport solutions, such as working with businesses and other employers to 
enable more flexible working so that fewer people have to travel at peak times. 

128. Interventions which form part of the Congestion Deal include a 24/7 control centre to 
monitor Greater Manchester’s roads, and new traffic cameras and technology that work 
smartly to ease road congestion. These have been trialled to keep buses running on time 
along some of Greater Manchester’s busiest corridors.  

129. On the public transport network, we will continue to monitor reliability and work with 
operators to improve it. On rail and Metrolink, reliability is closely linked to resilience (which is 
discussed in more detail later in this document).  

130. The GM Mayor’s Our Network vision has a strong focus on improving public transport 
reliability, and makes the case that, in order to achieve this, other public transport modes 
should be run based on the principles which underpin the Greater Manchester-owned 
Metrolink network: 

• Convenient: Reliable and regular services. 

• Affordable: Integrated fares and ticketing across bus, rail, tram and bike hire. 

• Sustainable: Zero emissions and powered by renewable energy. 

• Accessible: Fully accessible to all residents. 

• Accountable: Run for the people of GM and locally accountable. 

 

 

 

Policy 12:  We will aim to minimise the impact of transport on the built and natural 
environment - including townscape, the historic environment, cultural heritage, 
landscape, habitats and biodiversity, geodiversity, water quality, pollution, flood 
risk and use of resource - and will seek to deliver environmental enhancements and 
biodiversity net gain where possible. 

Page 540



 

41 

 

A Well Maintained and Resilient Network 

131. The economic performance of the city-region depends on a functioning transport network. All 
assets, whether they are roads, rail lines, signals, interchanges, bus stops or cycle routes, need 
to be well maintained both to keep them in a safe and useable condition and to avoid the cost 
of replacing them unnecessarily. 

132. If a section of road, or a structure, is allowed to deteriorate, the impact on collisions (and 
therefore safety), vehicle damage, network resilience, travel comfort, network performance 
and the ‘liveability’ of an area, can be significant. Recent winter weather has caused severe 
and unpredictable damage, and exacerbated maintenance issues for roads and structures.  

133. On the rail network, a lack of spare capacity and alternative routes means that the impact of 
incidents is all the more disruptive. We will work to identify the locations where additional 
capacity could be beneficial in helping the network to recover from major incidents.  

134. Transport networks need to continue to provide a service even when planned or unplanned 
events intervene. When rail or tram services are unavailable due to a fault or engineering 
works, well publicised alternatives need to be available eg flexible ticketing allowing transfer to 
other modes/operators, or replacement services. When roads are closed (including closures 
due to flooding or snow) clearly signed diversionary routes are needed, along with information 
on the availability of alternative modes. Finally, when there are major visitor events the whole 
network needs to be managed (including provision of additional capacity where appropriate) 
to cope with much greater demand.   

135. In the winter, key roads have to be gritted and cleared of snow and gullies cleared, while rail 
and tram routes have to be de-iced. We will also need to adapt to different, or more extreme, 
weather, such as increased flooding, as a result of climate change.  Measures to reduce run-off 
from the highway will be important, eg planting trees, which have the potential to reduce run-
off by as much as 80% compared to asphalt. 

  

136. In addition, we recognise that oil is a finite resource and that there is a risk that future price 
volatility will impact on the cost of travel and hence the economy. Our proposals to encourage 
a shift to sustainable modes will reduce this risk. However, we also need to recognise that the 
increased electrification of transport, which brings environmental benefits, may place pressure 
on power supply in some areas and we need to work with the electricity industry to ensure 
that there is capacity. 

 

Our Ambition: To bring the transport network into a good state of repair, maintain it in that 
state and ensure that it is able to withstand unexpected events, exceptional demand and 
severe weather conditions. 

Policy 13: We will continue to deliver measures, and put in place appropriate 
management systems, to improve the reliability of the transport network. 
 

Page 541



 

42 

A Safe and Secure Transport System 

Improving Safety 

137. Safety is a fundamental requirement of any transport system.  The immediate aim is to 
contribute to the achievement of national forecasts and targets, as appropriate for road safety, 
but our ultimate ambition must be to eliminate road deaths, as far as we can. We will also 
focus on preventing serious injuries to vulnerable groups, including addressing the dangers 
posed by motorised traffic.  

138.  
Working through the Safer Roads GM (SRGM) Partnership, which comprises the ten local 
authorities; TfGM; Greater Manchester Police (GMP); Highways England; the Greater 
Manchester Fire & Rescue Service; the North West Ambulance Service; and GM Health, we 
have been successful in reducing deaths and serious injuries to road users. The most 
vulnerable road users are pedestrians, cyclists, young drivers and their passengers, and 
motorcyclists. There is historic under-reporting of collisions involving pedestrians and cyclists, 
so the figures may be higher than we know.  

139. A key source of danger on our roads comes from motorised traffic.  Excessive speed is 
considered to one of the biggest problems in road safety.  Not only does it contribute towards 
the severity of injuries, but it also stops more people walking and cycling.  We will work 
closely with GMP to continuously improve data and intelligence to assist in the prioritisation 
of resources and interventions aimed at education and compliance.  We are also delivering 
education; training and/or engagement to audiences including motorcyclists; younger drivers 
and passengers; and older road users.  We also use geodemographic data to assist in the 
targeting safer roads marketing campaigns on careless driving; drink and drug driving; 
wearing a seatbelt; not using a mobile phone and speed. 

140. In 2020, we started work - alongside GMP - to conduct an in-depth study into the root cause 
of fatal traffic collisions, to develop an evidence base that will significantly improve our 
understanding and assist in the prioritisation of interventions and resources.  Work is also 
ongoing to develop an Outline Business Case (OBC) for a programme to upgrade the safety 
camera technology used to encourage compliance with speed limits.   

141. Safety must also be a fundamental consideration in the design of all new transport schemes 
and programmes. Where these involve the highway network, the needs of a range of 
different users need to be considered, making it particularly important to reduce conflicts 
between the most vulnerable road users and other traffic. TfGM’s Road Safety Audit 
procedure has been developed in collaboration with the ten local authorities, to ensure that 
Road Safety Audits are carried out in a consistent and systematic way across GM.  It sets out 

Our Ambition: To reduce deaths on our roads as close as possible to zero and ensure that 
poor perceptions of personal security are no longer a significant barrier to people using 
public transport or walking and cycling 

Policy 14: Working with partners, including through the Safer Roads GM 
Partnership, we will deliver initiatives aimed at improving safety on the highway 
network, with a particular focus on the most vulnerable road users. 

 

Page 542



 

43 

the key principles for undertaking Road Safety Audits on Greater Manchester’s Key Route 
Network (KRN). The Road Safety Audit procedure ensures that operational road safety 
experience is applied during the design and construction process of new highway schemes on 
the KRN.  The procedure also applies to all relevant TfGM sponsored schemes such as 
Metrolink and transport interchanges. Maintenance also has safety implications, with 
potential for injury to pedestrians and cyclists from broken pavements or potholes. Safety 
must be a key consideration in our strategy to get more people walking and cycling. It is also 
vital in the design and operation of public transport services and waiting facilities, 
underpinning our mode shift ambitions. 

Improving personal security 

142. We recognise that security - and the perception of security - is an important element in 
persuading people to travel by public transport, or to walk or cycle. Personal security is also an 
important consideration in terms of the growth of jobs in the night-time economy, as people 
are travelling at a time when they may feel more vulnerable.   

143. We will continue to prevent and tackle crime and antisocial behaviour on Greater 
Manchester’s bus and tram network through partnership working between TfGM, local 
authorities, operators, Greater Manchester Police, Local Community Safety Partnerships, 
British Transport Police and Network Rail, to share information and safeguard the network. 
The pilot Travelsafe Partnership was launched in 2015, providing a dedicated team of police 
constables, police community support officers, special constables and security personnel to 
provide regular patrols.  Led by TfGM and GMP, the scheme uses data on crime and antisocial 
behaviour provided by contributing operators to target patrols in hotspot areas at key times 
and support front line staff. Where appropriate, legal powers are used to ban offenders from 
public transport and deliver restorative justice schemes following, or as an alternative to, 
prosecution. There is also a focus on preventative measures and youth education as to the 
dangers, impacts and consequences of crime and anti-social behaviour on public transport. 

144. Personal security is also an important element in the design of public transport vehicles and 
infrastructure. We will continue with programmes to upgrade interchanges through measures 
such as removal of blind spots, improved lighting, CCTV and customer help points, developing 
consistent standards across all our public transport networks. It is also important for 
pedestrians and cyclists, and personal security is therefore a key consideration in the design of 
new walking and cycling routes, eg in terms of lighting and natural surveillance. There is 
evidence that personal safety and security is a greater barrier to walking and cycling for certain 
age groups, such as teenagers. These concerns need to be addressed to increase levels of 
active travel.  

145. 

Security of property is also important and ensuring that car parks and cycle parking are secure, 
with good natural surveillance or CCTV, is essential for encouraging people to use them. 

  

Policy 15: Working through Safer Roads Greater Manchester (SRGM), we will 
facilitate the delivery of interventions to address road safety issues, with a focus on 
supporting those who are walking and cycling.  
 

 

Page 543



 

44 

Our Greater Manchester Modal Principles for 2040 

146. Our GM Transport Strategy 2040 focuses principally on creating an integrated, well-co-
ordinated transport system which supports a wide range of different travel needs.  However, 
there are some modal principles which cut across the entire strategy and define our specific 
aspirations for bus, rail, Metrolink, active travel and highways. These are summarised in the 
graphic below, and explored further in the following sections. 

  

  

Page 544



 

45 

Streets for All 
 

147. Streets for All provides an overarching framework for everything we do on streets in Greater 
Manchester. It is about making our streets easier to get around - and more pleasant to be in - 
for everyone who uses them, while achieving our ambition for 50% of all journeys in Greater 
Manchester to be made by walking, cycling and public transport by 2040. 

148. This people-centred approach to street design and road network management is needed to 
address the challenges that GM residents face: from not getting enough exercise - such as 
walking and cycling - to poor air quality and delays due to overcrowded public transport and 
congested roads.  

149. It is important to be aware that there is not a one size fits all solution to improving Greater 
Manchester’s streets, because they have different roles. Many of them also change in 
character throughout the day, across the week and along their length – at school drop off and 
pick up times, for example, or at times of the day when goods are being delivered to 
businesses.  

150. Some streets need to better fulfil their role as places, in which people come together to spend 
time: this means creating more opportunities for people to sit, relax, play and socialize; more 
plants and trees and less traffic dominated streets. Other roads – such as motorways, and 
other strategic roads – are much more about movement and need to carry vehicles on longer 
journeys to ensure that the impact of motorised traffic on local streets is minimised. The 
illustration below shows different types of streets in Greater Manchester.  

 

151. The biggest potential for change is for local neighbourhood trips (of 2km or less) where there 
are still large numbers of short car journeys which could reasonably be switched to walking or 
cycling. The commitments set out in Greater Manchester’s emerging Streets for All Strategy, 

Page 545



 

46 

therefore, focus on enabling these types of journeys through good urban planning and 
measures to make streets safer and more welcoming, as follows:  

•  Our streets will provide a safe and connected cycling experience; 

• Our streets will enable people to benefit from an attractive and inclusive walking 
environment;  

• Goods will reach their destinations on time, with minimal impact on local communities;  

152. Our streets will facilitate a reliable, integrated and accessible public transport network, 
including reallocation of road space for bus priority, on-street tram routes, cycle lanes and 
wider footways.  Where we upgrade highways, we will include improvements for pedestrians, 
bus users and cyclists. We will also continue to support the introduction of 20mph speed limits 
in residential and other built-up areas where there is local support.  Such interventions will 
actively assist these modes by making them more reliable and safer and will help to make best 
use of available highways capacity by enabling more people to be moved more safely and 
more efficiently (see graphic below). It is important, however that the design of interventions 
is suitable for the function of the road, in terms of the amount of through traffic and whether 
it is a bus route. 

153. The shared use of highway space has the potential to cause conflicts between different users 
there is limited space available, for example crossing points. We will design schemes to 
reduce these conflicts as far as possible to protect the most vulnerable road users in 
particular. 

154. Such measures will, over time, change the look and feel of our local centres, encouraging more 
short trips that may be made on foot or by cycle rather than car.  The role of our roads in 
creating more attractive local places will increasingly be recognised rather than simply viewing 
them as transport links that allow the rapid movement of high volumes of vehicles.   Severance 
created by road traffic will also be reduced and the environment for local residents, businesses 
and their customers significantly improved. 

Future role of the car    

155. Greater Manchester’s population is expected to reach 3 million by 2030.  We need to plan for 
this population growth to ensure that it is not accompanied by a similar level of growth in the 
use of cars, which would have major negative impacts in terms of worsening congestion, road 
safety, air quality and carbon emissions. 

156. Over the coming years, Greater Manchester will invest in, and expand, its electric vehicle 
charging network to support the transition to electric vehicles. Work has been undertaken to 
guide the future expansion of a GM electric vehicle charging infrastructure network to 
support the promotion of sustainable travel, re-purposes existing public sector assets and 
avoids the risks with on-street charging, while also providing low cost charging and reduces 
maintenance costs. As part of Greater Manchester’s emerging Electric Vehicle Charging 
Infrastructure Strategy, we have set out some principles which are well aligned with this GM 
Transport Strategy 2040:  

Page 546



 

47 

• Integrated 

• Environmentally Responsible 

• Inclusive and Customer Focused 

• Well Maintained and Resilient 

• Safe and Secure 

• Reliable 

• Healthy 

• Viable 

 

157. Even with a rapid move towards electric and low emission vehicles however, unconstrained 
growth in car use will not be an efficient use of our limited highways and will continue to cause 
congestion and conflict with vulnerable road users.  We must therefore design our urban areas 
around the needs of people and not traffic, requiring us to think differently about the long-
term role of our critical highways networks.   

158. At the same time as our population is growing, attitudes to owning and using a car are also 
evolving.  Many younger people no longer see car ownership (or indeed holding a driving 
licence) as essential. Growing, ageing and more affluent populations will also choose different 
ways to travel.  The growth of car clubs, the advent of online taxi dispatch companies, and the 
use of social media to arrange shared transport can provide transport on demand without the 
costs and responsibilities of car ownership and will help to shift attitudes over time.  This 
provides a great opportunity to develop a more integrated and flexible transport system which 
responds to the changing needs of Greater Manchester residents and businesses. 

 

159. Technological innovations in vehicle design will also change the way we use and operate our 
roads by 2040.  Smart vehicles equipped with technology that supplements the driver’s actions 
with autonomous safety features are already available. These can detect safety hazards and 
obstructions, maintain lane discipline and vehicle spacing, and override the driver’s control in 
certain situations such as when a possible collision is detected. There is potential to apply this 
technology to public transport. Companies are developing further stages of this technology 
that will take us towards fully autonomous vehicles connected to each other and to highway 
infrastructure, although this is some way off being proven in all road situations and there 
remain significant social, technological, legal and policy issues to resolve before it could be 
implemented.  We also need to be extremely cautious about the risks associated with fully 
autonomous vehicles, particularly if it results in higher levels of car ownership and use, as they 
may make modal shift much more challenging.  

160. By 2040, the widespread use of even semi-autonomous vehicles could significantly change the 
way in which we travel and the impacts of road transport.  If deployed carefully and based on 
long-term strategic objectives they have the potential to reduce road casualties, to make 
better use of limited road capacity, to smooth traffic flows, and to cut journey times and 
energy use.  Such benefits will only be achieved through partnership working between the 
public and private sector to ensure that vehicle technology development delivers Greater 

Page 547



 

48 

Manchester’s wider objectives.  

 

161. Vehicle connectivity could be a significant future source of travel data enabling us to better 
manage demand and plan future needs.  The technology will also support changes to models 
of vehicle ownership and has the potential to extend access to opportunities for the young, the 
elderly and those with mobility difficulties. As the technology develops, it is also likely to bring 
significant changes to bus operations and to the freight and logistics sectors, improving levels 
of service and reducing costs.  We will work with partners to realise these benefits, which may 
be significant, but some caution will be required to ensure that this new technology is fully 
integrated into our transport system and does not undermine our multi-modal objectives. 

The Key Route Network  

162. Greater Manchester has a network of 9,000 kilometres of local highways and 180 kilometres 
of Highways England routes, which brings a particularly complex set of challenges, including 
managing demand for local, commuter and long-distance travel; balancing the needs of all 
users; in making sure our streets are as safe; and mitigating the environmental impact of 
traffic.  

 

163. The city-region’s road network is managed by a multiple agencies: ten local highway 
authorities, TfGM (who manage the traffic signals), and Highways England. Through the 2014 
Greater Manchester Growth Deal, the Greater Manchester highways authorities agreed to 
establish a Key Route Network (KRN) of local authority roads.  Since April 2015, TfGM has had 
responsibility for monitoring the performance of the KRN at a city-region level, under the 
oversight of GMCA. This monitoring will inform the development of consistent policies for 
network management and operation, and approaches to asset management and 
infrastructure investment and development for the roads most critical for the city-region’s 
economic development. The local authorities remain the Highway and Traffic Authorities for 
the KRN, however, with the associated duties and powers. They are also responsible for the 
other (non-KRN) local roads, which provide important links in, and between, neighbourhoods, 
centres and other destinations.  

164. The KRN comprises over 600km of highways, which represent about 7% of all local authority 
roads by route and 48% of A and B roads in Greater Manchester.  It carries around 64% of 
annual traffic using these A and B roads. The core of the KRN is provided by the Primary Route 
Network (marked in green on most road maps).  To this base have been added other sections 
of network considered of strategic importance to Greater Manchester, including:  

Policy 16: We will set out a clear strategy for the EV charging infrastructure network 
required to provide greater confidence to residents and businesses to invest in 
electric vehicles. 

Policy 17: We will provide a unified, Greater Manchester approach to managing the Key 
Route Network (KRN) of roads, in line with our Streets for All Strategy principles, and work 
with Highways England to co-ordinate this with the management of the Strategic Route 
Network (SRN). 

Page 548



 

49 

• Significant road links to strategic employment sites and to adjacent areas outside the 

Greater Manchester boundary; 

• Bus priority corridors and high frequency bus routes;  

• All road links serving motorway junctions; and 

• Manchester Ship Canal crossings.  

 

165. TfGM, on behalf of GMCA, promotes the KRN, alongside the HE’s Strategic Road Network 
(SRN), to complement local rail, Metrolink and bus systems. This helps to improve network 
performance and supports economic growth. Consistent performance monitoring and 
reporting across the KRN will helps to shape integrated network management and 
maintenance policies that support strategic traffic movements across the KRN and SRN; 
safeguard the needs of adjacent communities; and promote GMCA’s modal shift policies.  

166. As part of the Greater Manchester Congestion Deal3, additional measures have been 
implemented to improve the way congestion is managed, including a 24/7 control centre to 
monitor Greater Manchester’s roads, investment in new traffic cameras and technology that 
work smartly to ease congestion and the implementation of specialist technology to keep 
buses running on time along the busiest corridors. 

167. An integrated approach to planning whole corridors, across local authority boundaries, will 
enable a coordinated approach to investment, so that highway improvements will be 
considered in a consistent way alongside public transport improvements. This will ensure that 

 

3 Details of the Greater Manchester Congestion Deal can be found at: tfgm.com/congestion 

Page 549



 

50 

our highways investment and maintenance programmes are fully aligned in support of growth 
objectives.  

168. The non-KRN local roads will continue to be managed by the ten Local Highway Authorities to 
maintain and improve the efficiency, reliability and resilience of the network and balance the 
needs of all road users. This means ensuring communities have safe and easy access to work, 
healthcare, education and leisure and the impact of traffic on residential areas is minimised. 
The network needs to support the economies of town and district centres and accommodate 
the needs of new development. Our approach is based on making the best use of the existing 
network, and only building additional road capacity where it clearly supports economic 
growth. 

Goods and Servicing 

169. The economy depends on the efficient movement of freight - supplying goods for 
manufacturing, stock for retailers and other businesses, and home deliveries to residents.  

170. The industry is almost entirely owned and operated by the private sector and is highly 
competitive. It has a strong interest in achieving low cost, on-time deliveries, and initiatives 
and interventions will only be adopted if they do not impose disproportionate additional 
costs. Most freight is carried by road and these movements can cause congestion, carbon 
emissions, poor air quality and noise as well as leading to potential conflict with vulnerable 
road users such as cyclists. Road freight is a significant contributor to poor air quality due to 
the dominance of diesel fuelled vehicles. This is a problem in congested areas, as HGV 
emissions are markedly worse at lower speeds. The last mile of deliveries will, in many cases, 
need to be by road, but shifting more freight to sustainable modes would be desirable. 

171. However, Greater Manchester has very few rail or water-connected distribution sites and 
constraints on the rail network limit rail freight growth.  In the future, Northern Hub rail 
enhancements will increase freight capacity, enabling a tripling of freight trains to operate in 
Greater Manchester, should there be a demand for the available routes. In addition, the 
regeneration of the Manchester Ship Canal, to provide low cost access by water to Port of 
Liverpool (Liverpool 2), has the potential to take a proportion of freight traffic off the roads 
between the two cities. Port Salford incorporates a new railhead capable of handling 16 
container trains per day together with a new berth capable of handling existing barge traffic 
from the Port of Liverpool with short sea feeder ships.  

172. The structure of the Greater Manchester economy is changing towards a greater focus on high 
value-added manufacturing and service industries. Along with the rise of e-commerce, in 
particular for groceries and personal shopping, these changing trends in consumer markets 
have an impact on both the location of warehousing and goods handling facilities and the way 
goods are distributed, eg to homes and collection points as well as more traditional delivery to 
retail stores. The former trend has seen the rise of light commercial vehicles, rather than 
HGVs. 

Our Ambition: To enhance the role that freight plays in contributing to economic growth and 
ensure that it becomes increasingly sustainable, minimising its impact on the environment 
and on communities in Greater Manchester. 

Page 550



 

51 

173. The challenge is particularly great in the Regional Centre where the very rapid growth in 
residents and workers will generate an increase in last-mile logistics. There will be a need to 
balance this demand for roadspace, with increasing demand from bus, Metrolink and active 
modes. A further issue is that increasing walking and cycling could increase the risk of collisions 
with freight vehicles. The timing of freight to minimise peak hour congestion needs to be 
balanced with the need to minimise the noise of deliveries on residents and the needs of 
businesses to receive goods at particular times.  

174. The expansion of logistics is as an opportunity for the Greater Manchester economy and the 
emerging Greater Manchester Spatial Framework has identified broad areas for future 
distribution and warehousing growth. This will increase the number of goods vehicle journeys, 
placing additional demand on the strategic road, KRN and local road networks, potentially 
increasing the need for additional maintenance and renewal. New logistics sites should ideally 
be accessible by rail and/or water, but some goods cannot be transported by these modes and 
for others it would not be practical due to timescales, routes and other issues. A further 
consideration is that any increase in rail freight will have an impact on demand for rail paths, 
potentially reducing capacity for growing passenger services. 

175. Through our Freight and Logistics Strategy we will aim to maximise freight’s contribution to 
economic growth and competitiveness.  In the period up to 2025 this will involve: improving 
journey times and reliability; keeping costs low; ensuring infrastructure is capable of meeting 
future growth and demand; increasing integration between modes and distribution centres 
and increasing Greater Manchester’s share of the logistics market. At the same time, the 
Strategy aims to minimise the social and environmental impacts of the industry by reducing 
emissions from road transport, reducing noise, traffic disruption and congestion for residents 
and improving safety for cyclists. Over the longer term we will seek to encourage modal shift. 

176. Better information is central to achieving our objectives. Our understanding of freight across 
Greater Manchester will be enhanced by working with partners such as Highways England and 
industry representatives. Meanwhile, we can assist the industry with operational planning 
through the sharing of live traffic data and encourage sustainable distribution through 
awareness campaigns, eg air quality, and driver training.  Our understanding of the needs of 
the industry will be improved through speaking to the sector though the logistics forums, both 
electronically and at events.  

177. A key intervention will be to maximise consolidation, whereby deliveries to the same location 
are bundled together or where goods are delivered to locations for onward distribution by 
smaller, low emission vehicles (including cycles or electric-assisted cycles in town and city 
centres) or for collection by individuals. This will reduce the numbers of large goods vehicles 
entering the city and town centres, reducing noise, congestion and air pollution. Supporting 
changes in procurement practices, such as in commercial waste collection and across the 
public sector will also have an effect. Proposals for freight and logistics are also discussed in 
Part 3 in relation to our spatial themes.  

 

Policy 18:  We will work, including through the GM logistics forums, to improve journey 
times and reliability for deliveries, and to reduce the environmental impact of logistics, 
including the promotion of modal shift. 

Page 551

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/info/20018/greater_manchester_spatial_framework


 

52 

Priorities for highways investment 

178. Future investment in highways across Greater Manchester will reflect the vital role that the 
KRN plays in the economy and will ensure that that interventions required to maintain the 
reliability and safety of the network for all users – motorised and non-motorised - are brought 
to the fore.   

179. We will continue to explore investment in next generation technological in signalling and 
predictive traffic management, supported by real time operational intelligence across the 
network, and prepare for advances in vehicle-to-vehicle and vehicle-to infrastructure 
communications (eg autonomous vehicles).  We will also seek to invest in innovative junctions 
which support different modes in and around our local centres eg pedestrian count-down and 
pedestrian and cycle SCOOT4. 

180. Experience suggests that high growth in road traffic is not inevitable.  Between 1996 to 2013, 
traffic growth in Greater Manchester was only moderate at 10%, and off the motorway 
network there was a reduction in the distance travelled by motor vehicles. Improved provision 
for cycling, walking and public transport is required to make using active and sustainable 
modes a realistic alternative While building capacity in the existing highway network. New 
links and/or additional highway capacity will be needed in some locations, particularly to 
support new development. 

Role of Travel Demand Management in Reducing Highway 
Congestion 

181. We recognise that simply increasing highway capacity to meet an ever growing demand for car 
travel is not sustainable or, indeed, physically or financially practical. Instead we will 
increasingly need to apply travel demand management measures (TDM) to make better use of 
the capacity that is available, particularly during peak periods. Such demand management will 
also be vital to controlling demand for road trips and minimising congestion during periods of 
disruption, eg caused by roadworks or special events. 

182. We will continue to work with Highways England and with planning authorities to ensure that 
the impact of new development on the SRN, in terms of congestion, reliability and safety, is 
mitigated by ensuring appropriate measures are identified and delivered at an early stage. We 
will also work with partners, including operators, to identify measures which might contribute 
to managing demand, both short-term during planned events and works, and more 
permanently.  Short-term measures may encourage permanent changes in behaviour, so we 
will monitor the effectiveness of these measures. These may include marketing and 
communication behaviour change campaigns, engagement with businesses to encourage 

 

4 SCOOT – Split Cycle Offset Optimisation Technique; Pedestrian Scoot enables the adjustment of traffic signal timings 
automatically to extend the green pedestrian phase when large numbers of people are waiting, allowing more people 
to cross the road. ‘Cycle SCOOT’ detects the numbers of cyclists travelling along a route. This enables the traffic signal 
timings to be adjusted to give more green time when there are high numbers of cyclists at key junctions during peak 
times. Trials of this technology are underway in London. 

 

Page 552



 

53 

retiming of journeys and car-pooling/car share; improved travel information; building facilities 
within new development to support public transport, walking and cycling; constraints on long-
stay parking in our key centres; and prioritising sustainable travel. 

 

183. We will continue to work with the Department for Transport and Highways England to 
maximise the potential to use Variable Message Signs to transmit messages about travel 
choices (eg stations with park and ride facilities), and to identify opportunities for improving 
access to public transport from the SRN.  We will also continue to work with partners to 
improve access to public transport, including enhanced park and ride provision and the 
evolution of park-and-ride towards multi-modal travel hubs that improve access and 
integration.  

Page 553



 

54 

  

 

 

 

 

Policy 19: We will ensure our streets will be welcoming and safe spaces for all 
people, enabling more travel on foot, bike and public transport while creating better 
places that support local communities and business.  

 

Page 554



 

55 

 

 

Bus priority and infrastructure 
184. As noted earlier, the bus has a very important role to play in the movement of people in 

Greater Manchester.  However, the potential value of buses can be reduced by traffic 
congestion. Providing the right conditions for buses While accommodating other demands on 
the road network is not straightforward. To support our aim of running a strong and reliable 
bus network, bus priority and infrastructure will continue to be a key focus. The movement of 
buses to, from and through town centres and into interchanges will be a priority as congested 
centres are often where buses are delayed the most. These centres also require a balancing of 
priorities with multiple competing demands such as parking, servicing, pedestrian- and cycle-
friendly facilities, public realm and landscaping.  

185. We will complete the delivery of the current programme of bus priority measures and we will 
continue to explore ways in which appropriate interventions such as bus lanes, adjustments to 
traffic signals, and changes to waiting and loading restrictions can help to free buses from 
congestion and improve their attractiveness to existing and new customers. We must also 
continue to improve our bus stops to improve the waiting environment for all passengers and 
to improve accessibility for those with mobility impairments.   

186. ‘Quality Bus Transit’ is a term used to describe whole-route upgrades of busy bus corridors, 
with an emphasis on quality, reliability, and integration into the urban realm.  In future, in 
Greater Manchester, it will offer similar quality of design to that of best-practice street-running 
light rail transit with bus priority to achieve reliable services, attractive stops and interchanges, 
and high-quality electric vehicles.  The high-specification double-deck vehicles used on the 
Vantage Leigh-Salford-Manchester bus rapid transit service have been very well-received by 
users, and vehicles of similar quality are likely to be appropriate for Quality Bus Transit 
services.    

Page 555



 

56 

187. Quality Bus Transit is particularly suitable for busy bus corridors where a high proportion of 
trips are short, and it is therefore particularly relevant for routes connecting town centres. 
Since the orbital links between adjacent town centres need particular attention, Quality Bus 
Transit services are a high priority within the network improvements that we aim to deliver 
within the next decade.  These are shown in the Our Network vision launched by the Mayor of 
Greater Manchester in 2019. 

188. Following the introduction of the Bus Services Act (2017), the GMCA asked TfGM to carry out 
an assessment of a bus franchising scheme. After its completion and the conclusion of an 
independent audit the GMCA decided to proceed to with a consultation on a proposed scheme 
which ran from October 2019 to January 2020. Following consideration of responses from that 
consultation, the Mayor will be able to use the powers provided by the Act to make a decision 
on whether or not to introduce the proposed franchising scheme. 

189. Reforming the bus market could potentially improve bus availability, reliability and 
affordability. It also provides opportunities for more integration between the bus network and 
sustainable and active modes. This will be especially important as Greater Manchester 
recovers from the social and economic effects of Covid-19 and we move to rebuild a greener 
and more sustainable city-region. 

190. Work will also continue to investigate the detail of bus routeing around and through our major 
centres and to identify any interventions that can improve reliability. Supporting the 
movement of buses in and around these centres will complement the wider investment we 
will continue to make in transforming interchange and bus station facilities across Greater 
Manchester. 

 

Cycle infrastructure 
191. Our cycling strategy is to develop and deliver a Greater Manchester-wide network of 

dedicated, high quality, newly built or enhanced cycle routes. The Bee Network is the longest 
planned walking and cycling network in the UK and when complete, it will connect every 
neighbourhood of Greater Manchester with continuous, high-quality infrastructure for walking 
and cycling. It will provide a viable and attractive alternative to driving, enabling people to 
leave the car at home, visit friends on foot or ride to the shops.  The network is made up of 
three core components:  

i. Protected Space on main road corridors and town centre streets with protected links, 
junctions and public realm improvements;  

ii. Removing points of severance: crossings of busy roads or other points of severance to 
connect quieter streets; and 

iii. Filtered neighbourhoods, where walking and cycling is prioritised 

Policy 20:  Where feasible we will introduce appropriate bus priority measures on 
the highway network to improve bus reliability and will keep existing measures 
under review to ensure effectiveness.  This will include developing proposals for 
“Quality Bus Transit” corridors on key routes.   

 

Page 556



 

57 

Powered two-wheel vehicles  

192. Powered two-wheel vehicles (PTW) - including power-assisted cycles, motorcycles, scooters 
and mopeds - have an important role as part of the overall transport mix. Their efficient use of 
road space means that they reduce congestion and they are also a lower cost form alternative 
to cars. They are particularly ideal for short journeys in urban areas. Small commuter scooters 
and motorcycles can provide better flexibility for longer journeys, and some e-bikes can be 
used for longer distance commuting. PTW users face many of the same issues as cyclists, 
however, particularly with safety, and accident rates are high.  

193. Micromobility vehicles – including as e-scooters and e-bikes – will increasingly form part of 
the solution to the congestion and air quality challenges our city-region faces. The use of e-
scooters, in particular, has become a more common sight on our streets, although using a 
private e-scooter vehicle on a public road remains illegal in the UK. In 2020, Government 
announced that rented e-scooters would be allowed on roads and cycle lanes for a trial 
period. Greater Manchester is supportive of this, subject to several conditions, including that 
the vehicles are safe, fulfil a useful function (modal shift away from private vehicles, for 
example) and are subject to appropriate regulation. 

194. We will continue to seek to improve the safety of PTW users through education initiatives such 
as Ridesafe Backsafe.  We will encourage adequate and secure parking for PTW in key 
locations, such as our town centres, and in new developments. Conditions for PTW using our 
main roads will be improved through our focus on investing in maintenance and on improving 
the resilience of the network.  

Maintenance and renewal 

195. With the development of the KRN, there is an increasing awareness of the economic value of 
our highways, and more importantly the future implications of neglecting it. If a section of 
road, or a structure deteriorates there can be a significant impact on collisions, vehicle 
damage, network resilience, travel comfort, performance and the ‘liveability’ of an area.  
Where this deterioration is on the economically vital KRN, the effects are magnified and start 
to have regional and national level impacts. 

196. We will work to improve and maintain the condition of our road network drawing on best 
practice, such as that set out within the Highways Maintenance Efficiency Programme 
(HMEP)5.  We will also continue to pursue a policy of Invest to Save.  Invest to Save is an 
approach to maintenance whereby capital investment funded through borrowing is used to 
renew highway infrastructure in order to overcome maintenance backlogs, arrest decline and 
bring the condition of the asset up to a high standard.  The renewed assets then require less 
maintenance work in the short/medium term thereby reducing future maintenance costs.  The 
objective is to reduce the total lifespan cost of the assets, and hence the overall unit cost per 
km of highway.  

 

5 HMEP is a £6 million, Department for Transport funded and sector led transformation programme which provides 
the tools and resources to generate ideas and help transform delivery of roads and services through greater 
efficiencies. 

Page 557



 

58 

197. We will continue to explore opportunities to improve the efficiency of delivery in highways 
maintenance operations through collaborative working.  This will enable unit costs to be 
reduced, resulting in the delivery of more maintenance work on our roads than could have 
been achieved for a given budget under individual local highway authority management.  

 Resilience of the highway network 

198. A resilient network is one of our network principles. The highway network is highly sensitive to 
incidents and changes in demand; for example, peak hour flows can vary by 13% between 
summer holiday traffic and non-holiday levels. When combined with our growing economy 
and population, failure to make the road network resilient could result in the deterioration or 
failure of assets, increasing journey times and declining reliability, increased collisions and 
vehicle damage, and third-party costs.  

 

199. We will keep the vulnerability of our highway structures and road surfaces under constant 
review and ensure that new infrastructure is designed with in-built resilience.  In recognising 
that climate change will have an increasing impact over the period to 2040, we will work with 
partners to determine the key infrastructure assets (including roads) that might be at 
significant risk, identify and implement appropriate mitigation and agree service levels for 
various tiers of road infrastructure.  

200. We will continue to liaise with stakeholders to develop the highway works permit system 
(GMRAPS) to ensure effective coordination and to reduce the impact of works on the Highway 
Network. 

201. To ensure our customers are kept informed on the usability of our road network and the 
availability of alternatives, we will continue to develop our network management and travel 
information systems and provide real time open data to support development of travel 
planning by third parties.  These systems will be supported by a growing network of Variable 
Message Signs, passive detectors, traffic counters, ANPR6 and CCTV cameras, monitored and 
controlled through our Traffic Control Centre, and by our Roadwork Permit System (GMRAPS).  
These systems will also allow us to monitor our progress in meeting targets for the 
performance of the KRN in areas such as reliability, delay and network speed.  

 

6 Advanced Number Plate Recognition 

Policy 21: We will work to improve and maintain the condition and resilience of our 
road network, drawing on best practice. 

Page 558



 

59 

  

Page 559



 

60 

Developing a Comprehensive Walking and Cycling Network 

202. Throughout our 2040 Strategy, we place a strong emphasis on enabling people to travel more 
easily and safely on foot and by bike.  Achieving this will help to increase physical activity as 
well as reducing the significant numbers of very short car trips currently made in our towns 
and neighbourhoods, making them more attractive places to live, work and visit.  This will, in 
turn, reduce harmful emissions and traffic noise.  

203. This approach is strongly supported by national policy, as set out in the DfT’s Cycling and 
Walking Investment Strategy (CWIS)7. In 2017, that document set out ambitions to deliver:  

• Better Safety: ‘A safe and reliable way to travel for short journeys’; 

• Better Mobility: ‘More people cycling and walking- easy, normal and enjoyable’; and 

• Better Streets: ‘Civilised places where people come first’.  

204. In July 2020, DfT updated the CWIS by publishing ‘Gear Change: a bold vision for cycling and 
walking’8. The plan sets out actions required - to achieve its vision to ‘make England a great 
walking and cycling nation’ – under four broad themes:  

• Better streets for cycling and people; 

• Cycling and walking at the heart of decision-making; 

• Empowering and encouraging local authorities; 

• Enabling people to cycle and protecting them when they do.  

 
205. The Gear Change document is supported by the introduction of a comprehensive set of 

national guidance for cycling infrastructure: Local Transport Note 1/20, Cycle Infrastructure 
Design. This document breaks new ground in UK cycle planning by adopting a set of bold 
principles for cycle infrastructure design which bring UK design standards in line with those 
used in the Netherlands. 

206. National ambitions for walking and cycling are reflected in our Greater Manchester Transport 
Strategy 2040, with Part 3  showing the part that active travel needs to play in each of our five 
spatial themes: from access to public transport for longer distance journeys; to providing 
access to employment, education and other facilities; and, most importantly, becoming a 
mode of choice for short local journeys. Our Bee Network is already being constructed using a 

 

7 Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy, DfT: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cycling-and-walking-investment-strategy 
8 Gear change: a bold vision for cycling and walking, DfT: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cycling-and-walking-plan-for-england 

Our Ambition: To  create a comprehensive network of on and off-road walking and cycling 
routes (known as the Bee Network) that make it easy and safe for people to walk and cycle 
to key local destinations, such as local centres, jobs, healthcare and education, for leisure 
purposes and to access public transport.   

Page 560



 

61 

set of design standards which reflects, and even stretches further, the new national guidance 
contained in Local Transport Note 1/20. 

 

        

 

207. There has been significant investment in walking and cycling infrastructure in Greater 
Manchester in recent years, including transformational schemes such as those on the Oxford 
Rd/Wilmslow Rd corridor between central Manchester and Didsbury.  

208. In 2017, the Greater Manchester Mayor appointed the city-region’s first Cycling and Walking 
Commissioner, Chris Boardman. The Commissioner’s, Made to Move, report detailed fifteen 
essential steps required for Greater Manchester to see a step-change in walking and cycling. 

209. Following this, Greater Manchester’s local authorities used innovative planning techniques to 
develop the Bee Network: a bold plan to connect all communities in Greater Manchester by 
the UK’s first fully joined-up cycling and walking network. Importantly, the network was 
developed by the people who live, work and travel in Greater Manchester, with wide-ranging 
public consultation to refine and improve the plan.  

210. At 1,800 miles in length, the Bee Network will be the country’s largest walking and cycling 
network, taking 10 years to deliver at a total cost of £1.5 billion. When complete, it will 
connect every neighbourhood of Greater Manchester. With continuous, high-quality provision 
for walking and cycling, people will have a viable and attractive alternative to driving, enabling 
them to leave the car at home, visit friends on foot or ride to the shops.   

211. In 2019, the GMCA approved the allocation of £160 million from the Transforming Cities Fund 
to deliver walking and cycling infrastructure in line with the proposals in the Bee Network 
infrastructure plan and the emerging Streets for All strategy. Since then, a pipeline of c£500m 
of cycling and walking schemes has been developed, with a prioritised programme drawn 

Page 561



 

62 

from this pipeline currently being developed for delivery by 2022. Continued efforts to secure 
further funding are needed, however, to to turn the bold vision of the Bee Network into 
reality. 

212. There is much more to do to create an environment which is truly pedestrian and cycle 
friendly.   In order to help deliver a higher proportion of journeys made by walking and 
cycling, Greater Manchester's authorities will support a range of measures, including:  

• Creating a cycling and walking network which is coherent, direct, safe, comfortable and 
attractive – the Bee Network – connecting every neighbourhood and community across 
Greater Manchester; 

• Ensuring routes are direct, easily navigable and integrated with the highway and public 
transport network;  

• Ensuring that pavements are easy to walk on and accessible to all, not blocked by parked cars 
and other obstructions; 

• Making our town and city centres pedestrian-focussed, where the impact of motor traffic on 
streets is reduced, creating attractive places to live, work and visit; 

• Creating, where needed, dedicated separate space for people cycling, with pedestrians and 
cyclists given priority at junctions using our new CYCLOPS (Cycle Optimised Protected Signal) 
junction. The first of these junctions was opened in summer 2020 in Hulme, and many more 
are prioritised for delivery by 2022; 

• Increasing the capacity of the walking and cycling network in locations where significant 
growth in the number of short journeys is anticipated, and where quality of place 
improvements are proposed;  

• Utilising and enhancing green infrastructure, including canals, parks and recreation grounds, 
to create opportunities for walking and cycling; and 

• Ensuring that new developments are fully integrated into the walking and cycling network, 
and are planned such that walking and cycling are the principal modes of access.  

213. The Bee Network will connect communities and key destinations with high-quality walking and 
cycling routes, suitable for use by an unsupervised competent 12-year-old cyclist, or a parent 
pushing a double buggy.  This can be achieved through:   

• Connecting existing quiet streets with new high-quality crossing points of busy roads and 
other sources of severance such as watercourses and railways. 

• Use of traffic-free routes, such as through parks or on former rail lines; 

•  Providing physically protection for cycle lanes on major roads using additional kerbs or 
other features  

• Creating low traffic active neighbourhoods through removal of through motor traffic by 
introducing modal filters 

214. Routes should not be shared by pedestrians and cyclists adjacent to motor traffic. Where 
routes are shared by pedestrians and cyclists away from motor traffic, for example on 

Page 562



 

63 

bridleways or paths through parks, the safety of both sets of users must be considered in the 
design. This can be a particular issue for disabled people. In designing any new routes, we will 
also take opportunities to enhance public realm, and we will identify opportunities to provide 
new cycle facilities as part of new public transport routes. Principles for the development of 
the Bee Network, and all streets in Greater Manchester, are set out in our Streets for All 
guidance. The guidance will be periodically reviewed and updated to ensure it keeps pace with 
this rapidly developing area of highways infrastructure.   

215. Safety and security are of prime importance for pedestrians and cyclists. Our road safety 
programmes will continue to focus on reducing collisions involving the most vulnerable road 
users, which include these groups. We will also continue to introduce 20mph zones, where 
these have local support, including on Bee Network routes. Reduced traffic speeds will 
encourage more people to walk and cycle, and provide a safer catchment for the cycle 
network. However, 20mph speed limits alone may not be enough to reduce vehicle speed and 
we will seek to reduce motor vehicle volumes and speeds on residential streets through 
increased use of modal filters, which retain local access for all vehicles but allow only 
pedestrians and cyclists through access.  

216. Personal security is a key consideration in the design of new walking and cycling routes and 
cycle parking needs to be secure, well located close to key destinations, and with good natural 
surveillance. We will work to ensure that every cycling journey begins and ends with a 
convenient, secure and high-quality cycle parking facility. We also recognise that poor air 
quality can deter people from walking or cycling, and will work to reduce emissions as set out 
throughout this document. 

217. The school journey is one that can often be made on foot or by bike, and encouraging more 
active travel in this area is important in improving children’s health, as described in section 75. 
We will therefore work with secondary schools and Further Education colleges to improve 
cycle parking and access and promote a culture of cycling in the next generation. 

218. Almost all journeys involve an element of walking: to/from the station or stop or from the car 
park. Walking routes within our town centres need to be safe, secure and well signed. The 
legibility of our centres is important in making them attractive places to visit and in supporting 
the growing visitor economy and we will introduce wayfinding schemes accordingly.  

 

 

 

  

Policy 22: We will work with partners to improve walking and cycling facilities across Greater 
Manchester, including development of a strategic walking and cycling network (the “Bee Network”), 
wayfinding and cycle parking, and supporting “Streets for All” design guidance to ensure consistently 
high quality standards across the network. 
 

 

Page 563



 

64 

Public Transport Integration: Keeping Greater Manchester 
Moving in 2040 

219. Improved public transport will need to play a major role in delivering Greater Manchester’s 
sustainable growth agenda up to 2040. An attractive, efficient and well-integrated London-
style public transport network is an essential element within the city-region’s infrastructure 
and at the heart of the Our Network vision.  Together with active travel, it can provide the 
significantly enhanced connectivity that our city-region requires for success.  It can encourage 
growing numbers of people out of their cars for more of their journeys (helping to reduce 
emissions and congestion), and it can provide access to employment, education and 
opportunities for the third of households without access to a car.  Crucially, however, our 
approach also opens the way for a future where car ownership is not considered to be 
essential, and residents can choose from a range of sustainable and efficient travel options – 
public transport, ride sharing, car sharing/hire, walking, cycling or taxi. 

220. 

Building on our recent investment, we will aim to deliver further transformational change in 
the quality, ease of use, coverage, accessibility and integration of our public transport 
networks to ensure we have a system fit for a modern, world-class city-region.  

Interchange 

221. In order to develop a more coherent access and interchange strategy for Greater Manchester, 
we have identified the most critical points of interchange on the public transport network, 
based not on transport mode but on the travel opportunities our interchanges facilitate.  Our 
approach builds on the principles of our five 2040 Spatial Themes (described in Part 3) to 
embed our transport interchanges far more into local places using the following tiered 
approach:  

Interchange 
Category 

Description 

1. Global 
Gateway 

Manchester Airport – provides the key entrance to Greater 
Manchester for international travellers, providing first and last 
impressions of our city-region.   

2. National 
Hubs 

Major interchange locations providing direct, mainline city-to-city 
rail connections. 

Our Ambition:  To develop a fully integrated, customer-focused, low-emission public 
transport network, with simple, integrated ticketing, that provides an attractive and 
accessible alternative to travelling by car to key Greater Manchester destinations.  

Policy 23: Working with partners, we will seek to establish and promote one integrated 
Greater Manchester public transport network (Our Network), making it easy for customers 
to plan, make and pay for their journeys using different modes and services. 

 

Page 564



 

65 

3. Greater 
Manchester 
Hubs 

Our key town centres and other strategic employment locations, 
that provide opportunities for interchange to facilitate both radial 
and orbital public transport travel across Greater Manchester. 

4. Local Hubs Smaller local centres, and employment destinations, with 
potential for providing more local interchange  

5. Neighbourh
ood 
Gateways 

Local points of access to our Greater Manchester public transport 
network, such as local Metrolink stops, rail stations and key bus 
stops.  

222. The most strategic interchanges (Global Gateway, National Hubs and Greater Manchester 
Hubs) are highlighted on the map below.  This also shows key radial links and the orbital 
connections we need to improve in order to radically improve connectivity across Greater 
Manchester. There is significant potential for these interchanges to support far more orbital 
and radial travel if other barriers are addressed.  

 

223. We will build on the good work that has already been undertaken to ensure that our 
interchanges are of a consistent standard, with criteria developed for: walking and cycling 
(including wayfinding); parking (including drop-off for car and taxi passengers); passenger 
facilities; safety and security; information; and access for those with mobility impairments. Our 
approach will be tailored to local requirements, but will seek to provide a much more 
consistent and high-quality customer experience across Greater Manchester.   

Page 565



 

66 

224. As we seek to improve the physical aspects of both local and strategic interchanges we will 
develop more detailed principles for each category of interchange, based on the following 
elements: 

• Excellent customer experience – making it easy and stress-free to access and move 
through an interchange, focusing on the design of entrance points, movement within an 
interchange, and opportunities for commercial or community use. 

• Reinforcing a sense of place – this means embedding the Greater Manchester transport 
network better within the local area by ensuring it is well connected and related to the 
surrounding area through high quality walking and cycling routes, appropriate car and cycle 
parking, and excellent wayfinding provision. 

• Inclusive and accessible – enabling everyone to use public transport equally, confidently 
and independently. 

• Minimising differentiation between modes, both physically, in terms of better integrating 
service patterns and information, and introducing a simple, integrated ticketing system, 
and in terms of perception, through consistent branding and communication.  

• Simplicity – through provision of easy-to-use information and easy-to-navigate design. 
Provision should be tailored to the unfamiliar customer, for the benefit of all users. 

• Tailored – to the needs of the customer and the local area.  

• Attractive – ensuring that customers feel safe, secure and confident in using the 
interchange and that there is a pleasant atmosphere.  

• Enhancing access through park and ride, or drop-off facilities - To be effective - and 
financially sustainable - park and ride needs to intercept cars before they reach congested 
urban roads and transfer their drivers to a fast and frequent public transport service. We 
will therefore identify additional park and ride and drop-off outside, or close to, the M60 
on existing or future rapid transit routes.  
 

 
225. The characteristics of the different public transport modes mean that each has strengths which 

make it best suited to particular travel markets. Bus, with its frequent stops, is best suited to 
serving shorter distances (up to around 6 kms), in dense urban areas. It provides direct travel 
into city and town centres and to major employment areas as well as access to rapid transit 
stations and stops, via interchanges. Sometimes it might be necessary to switch between 
modes to make a complete trip, and we want to make this as easy and integrated as possible. 
Over longer distances, (6-50kms) rapid transit offers significantly faster journey times than bus, 
while rail, with a limited number of stops, is the best option for long distance journeys. In 
planning new infrastructure and services, our aim is to make the best use of public funding by 
prioritising the modes which best serve each market. 

 

Policy 24: We will seek to ensure a consistent standard of facilities at transport hubs, 
appropriate for their size and function, and will work with partners to improve access to 
them by all modes. 

 

Page 566



 

67 

Our Vision for Bus 

226. Bus travel currently accounts for four in every five public transport journeys in Greater 
Manchester. It plays a vital role in reducing congestion and improving accessibility for people 
who have no access to a car, but has the potential to contribute more effectively to our overall 
public transport strategy. In Greater Manchester, we have invested heavily in bus 
infrastructure and services. Modern, high quality interchanges have been built or are under 
construction in our main town centres, and this programme of renewal is almost complete. We 
have also provided extensive bus priority, through a network of Quality Bus Corridors and 
through the Bus Priority Package, which includes the Leigh to Ellenbrook Guided Busway.   

227. Working with bus operators, we have introduced smart ticketing for multi-operator tickets and 
to support this we have provided smart ticketing equipment to smaller bus operators. We have 
also provided support for a network of socially necessary services, which would not otherwise 
be provided by operators on a commercial basis, and provided concessionary fares in excess of 
the national statutory requirements. 

228. Despite considerable and long-term public investment in bus infrastructure, subsidy and 
service support - as well as investment by the major operators in new vehicles - patronage has 
dropped. This is despite significant population growth - and in sharp contrast with the growth 
experienced on rail and Metrolink.  

 

Our Ambition: To develop a modern low-emission accessible bus system, fully integrated 
with the wider Greater Manchester transport network on which everyone will be willing to 
travel regardless of their background or mobility level. 

Page 567



 

68 

 

229. We need bus to attract more people out of their cars and to play a full role within an 
integrated public transport network to ensure that growth in locations like the Regional Centre 
is not undermined by congestion.  However, the multiplicity of operators means the bus 
network lacks a consistent identity and cannot be marketed either as a recognised brand, like 
Metrolink, or as part of a wider public transport network.  Moreover, a complex and ever-
changing ticketing offer, with higher fares charged for the tickets that allow passengers to use 
bus services provided by different operators, has done nothing to encourage passenger 
growth. This is in contrast with most other European cities where a simple and integrated 
ticketing offer is at the heart of their public transport.   

230. A review of secondary evidence on the barriers to bus travel, carried out for TfGM, shows that 
for people who have a choice in how they travel, the main reasons for not making more use of 
buses are as follows: 

Page 568



 

69 

  

 

231. Since the introduction of bus deregulation, using its powers under the Transport Act 1985 and 
various instruments of partnership provided by the Transport Act 2000 and Local Transport 
Act 2008, TfGM has worked with bus operators to improve services, particularly with regard 
to bus priority, reliability and punctuality, vehicle standards and fares. 

232. Overcoming these barriers continues to be essential to enabling bus to fully play its part in 
realising the 2040 Transport Strategy. This means that it is vital to maintain investment in the 
bus network and improve public transport connectivity to employment and essential services, 
as well as improving the customer experience.  To do this, demand for public transport, 
including bus, must grow, facilitating modal shift from car to public transport, reducing 
congestion and harmful emissions.  To fully achieve these outcomes, evidence from other 
cities suggests that improved integration and investment can increase use of public transport 
and bring attendant benefits.  

233. Our vision for bus in Greater Manchester is based on four objectives. Our first objective is 
network integration – how physically integrated the services are between themselves and 
with other modes.  Our second objective is to deliver for passengers a simplified and 
integrated fares system, including transparency and operation across modes.  For passengers, 
our next objective is to offer a great customer experience. Finally, an efficient and growing 
network would achieve value for money, enabling investment to improve services.  These 
objectives define what is required of the bus network to enable it to fully play its part in the 
2040 Transport Strategy. They were endorsed by the Greater Manchester Combined Authority 
in 2018. Further detail is set out below. 

Network Integration 

• The bus network will be dynamic, developed in response to demand for travel, particularly 
to and from new areas of housing, employment, and education and training. It will include 
the provision of bus services where current or anticipated demand might not support 
commercially viable services, in order to achieve important social or economic objectives.  

• An integrated public transport network where services complement each other, will 
maximise connectivity opportunities. Buses acting as feeder services to rail and Metrolink 
services will extend commuting options and wider travel opportunities. This will create a 
clear and logical set of travel options for passengers. 

Page 569



 

70 

• Appropriate levels of resource provided on routes will be aligned with levels of demand. 
Frequencies will be increased on some routes and at some times of day to better meet 
people’s needs, particularly for access to work and training. 

• Passenger convenience will be maximised, and journey times minimised, through the 
optimal location of interchanges, hubs and bus stops to ensure passengers can complete 
journeys requiring more than one trip or mode. 

• Network stability will be a key feature, giving customers the confidence to rely on their bus 
service. Changes to the network will be carefully considered, and their effects on the 
network as a whole understood before being made. 

 
234. Simplified and Integrated Fares 

• Bus passengers will benefit from a simple, integrated ticketing system that complements 
and enhances the integration of the transport network. It will be easy to understand for 
passengers, incorporating a simplified fare bands, and will allow flexible use of tickets 
across different bus services and other modes. This will enable longer and multi-modal 
journeys to be completed without excessive cost.  

• A ticketing strategy that allows the best possible demand management within and 
between modes will allow for best possible management of highway, rail and tram 
capacity. 

• Passengers will benefit from easy means of transaction, and swifter boarding, through 
more use of new technology, including their mobile devices and bank cards. It is important 
to ensure that ticketing adequately reflects changing travel patterns – eg Carnet products 
for those not working a five day week. 
 

Customer Experience 

• The bus network will be easy to navigate for all passengers, including visitors. It will also 
benefit from a unified brand within an overarching identity for the wider public transport 
network, making the system clearer for everyone.  

• The whole public transport network will be promoted effectively – travel choices will be 
simple to understand, and customers will be able to make informed choices, using the 
sophisticated travel information through digital as well as traditional methods. 

• A consistent and good journey experience will be achieved through high standards for on-
board facilities.  The journey experience will be further enhanced through passenger 
waiting stops and interchanges that are accessible, convenient, clean, comfortable and 
safe. 

• Passengers will feel confident that the bus will get them to where they want to be, on time, 
and that buses will turn up when they are scheduled to do so.  

• Bus performance will be improved through investment in bus priority on the highways. 
Management of the network in real time - through technology, to minimise service 
disruption and maintain an even service – will be rolled out further.  

• A modern, especially electric bus fleet to reduce harmful emissions to improve air quality 
and the customer experience. 

 
 

 

Page 570



 

71 

Value for Money 

• The bus network will deliver optimal value for money both from the fares paid by 
passengers, and the different forms of subsidy.  

• By avoiding over-provision of buses on busy corridors, there will be more resources 
available for investment into the bus system, which could be used to deliver new services 
and passenger facilities. 
 

235. Following the introduction of the Bus Services Act (2017), the GMCA asked TfGM to carry out 
an assessment of a bus franchising scheme. After its completion and the conclusion of an 
independent audit the GMCA decided to proceed to consultation on a proposed franchising 
scheme which ran from 14 October 2019 to 8 January 2020.  

236. The Covid-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on Greater Manchester’s bus market, 
including timetables, revenues, passenger numbers and the public’s attitudes to public 
transport. Due to this, further work will be undertaken to assess the impact of coronavirus on 
the bus reform process. This work will involve further engagement and consultation with 
stakeholders. 

 

 
 

Policy 25: We will seek to make best use of powers included in the Bus Services Act, as 
well as our existing powers, to give effect to our vision for bus. 

Page 571



 

72 

Coaches and Taxis 

237. Chartered coaches play a vital role in Greater Manchester’s visitor economy, bringing people in 
to visit shopping centres, leisure and cultural attractions and to attend events. Visitor numbers 
are growing, and we will work with operators and local authorities to ensure that coaches can 
set down and pick up close to their destinations and that accessible coach parking locations, 
with appropriate facilities and hours of operation, are provided and well signed.  

238. 

Scheduled coaches provide a lower cost alternative for longer distance journeys and have 
traditionally been popular with students and retired people. We believe, however, that there is 
scope for this role to grow in importance as we deliver our Vision for Bus. We will therefore 
explore the feasibility and scope for coaches or express buses to provide some of the medium 
to long distance journeys, to places like the Airport or the Regional Centre, on corridors where 
rail or Metrolink would not be feasible or affordable. This would probably entail bus services 
operating on a limited-stop basis. 

239. Taxis and private hire vehicles provide people with the flexibility of door-to-door transport on 
demand, without needing to use or own their own vehicle, and this role is likely to increase. 
They are therefore an essential component of the transport network: facilitating  journeys 
where there is no suitable bus service, supporting the night-time economy by allowing people 
to leave their cars at home; providing the final leg of a journey by rail or air; and acting as a 
backup when a change is needed to travel arrangements. As described in section 126, the 
growth of on demand companies is revolutionising private hire by providing customers with 
greater flexibility. Greater Manchester needs a vibrant and high-quality taxi/private hire 
service and we will explore with the industry how new booking systems might be included in 
our Travel Choices offer. 

240. In recognition of their role in supplementing the public transport network, hackney cabs are 
allowed to use ‘with-flow’ bus lanes in Greater Manchester (as they can be ‘hailed’ - so can 
pick up on the street). This freedom cannot be extended to private hire vehicles for a number 
of reasons. There is no limit on the number of PHVs that can be licensed (there are currently 
around 16,000 in Greater Manchester), and allowing a significant number of additional 
vehicles into bus lanes would erode the benefit to buses, which is their primary purpose, and 
create additional conflicts with pedestrians and cyclists. Also, if selective vehicle detection bus 
priority, such as at pre-signals, were to be introduced, the signal would turn green for buses, 
but a PHV in the bus lane would not activate the signal, leading to the danger of red light 
running.  

241. Hackney cab licenses are issued by each of the ten licencing authorities, who also determine 
the location of taxi ranks. Each authority sets its own standards; eg the number of licenses 
issued, the age of vehicles and the area in which they can operate. Our long-term aim is to 
achieve more consistency across the conurbation, in order to provide a better, more 
integrated service to the customer and to ensure that taxis entering the Regional Centre and 
main town centres meet the highest environmental standards. We will work with the ten 
licensing authorities and the taxi/private hire industry to develop more consistent standards, 
building on best practice from elsewhere in terms of policy/regulation and operation. There 

Policy 26: We will seek to ensure that accessible coach parking and set down/pick-up 
points are available at key locations. 

Page 572



 

73 

will however be a need to ensure that higher standards are not undermined by vehicles 
registered in neighbouring authorities operating in Greater Manchester.  

 

242. Our network of canals provides traffic-free routes through the urban area and may have 
potential to add to the transport offer by enabling water taxi services, which can be attractive 
for leisure trips. Where private sector proposals of this type are developed, we will seek to 
ensure integration with the wider transport network. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Our 2040 Rapid Transit strategy 

 

243. Rapid transit – which presently comprises Metrolink, suburban services on the National Rail 
network, and bus rapid transit – has been a critical in supporting economic growth and housing 
market renewal in Greater Manchester. Metrolink has proved highly popular carrying over 40 
million trips per year with services that are accessible, fast, and frequent with a high degree of 
segregation from other traffic.  

 

244. Building on the core Metrolink network, serving routes from Manchester City Centre to 
Altrincham, Bury, Eccles and MediaCityUK, further extensions have now been completed and a 
Second City Crossing through central Manchester opened in 2017. A further line to Trafford 

Our Ambition: To extend the benefits of rapid transit to more areas of Greater Manchester 
and provide the capacity and reliability needed to support growth in the economy.  

Policy 27:  We will work with the taxi and private hire industry to develop minimum 
standards for policy, regulation and operation across Greater Manchester, and work 
with Government to strengthen national legislation. 

What is Rapid Transit? 

We define rapid transit as a public transport service that is mainly focused- on middle-distance trips (of 
6km to 40km) and which therefore needs to be significantly faster than an all-stops bus service.   

Metro services are turn-up-and-go rail-based rapid transit services which provide excellent access to the 
network hubs that they serve. One example of this is Metrolink in Greater Manchester.  

  

Page 573



 

74 

Park opened in 2020, and we are investigating whether this can be extended towards Port 
Salford, where future development is planned. 

245. The Metrolink Second City Crossing has helped to increase capacity at the heart of the 
Metrolink network.  The Second City Crossing has also improved system flexibility and 
resilience in the critical core area of the Metrolink network. The potential disruption caused by 
future maintenance and replacement works will be mitigated by having more than one route 
across the city centre. System reliability and resilience will be a recurring theme for Metrolink 
over the period of the 2040 Transport Strategy. Further interventions will be identified and 
developed where they represent value for money and have clear potential to enhance the 
performance of the network. We will manage our Metrolink systems and assets in accordance 
with sustainable development principles, including their long-term financial, societal and 
environmental impacts. The effectiveness of TfGM’s approach to delivering Metrolink services 
including stewardship of the assets will be measured and improvements identified. By 
reviewing and adjusting our approach to operations, maintenance and renewals we will ensure 
Metrolink network consistently delivers the required services.   

246. We will aim to expand the coverage and capacity of our rapid transit network to deliver 
improved access to employment and other opportunities within the city-region. This will 
support a transformational level of growth in the conurbation, for example by connecting 
residents of the north of Greater Manchester with jobs in the centre and south. Further rapid 
transit improvements will need to both shape and respond to future development.  The high 
cost of constructing and operating new rapid transit lines means that we must undertake 
detailed analysis of potential, based on future patronage and the scope for offering 
substantially faster journeys than could be achieved by an all-stops bus service.  We will also 
need to significantly improve rapid transit capacity within central Manchester, to ensure that 
current capacity constraints do not affect Metrolink’s ability to accommodate long-term 
growth on existing and future lines (see section 288). 

247. 

For rail-based rapid transit – whether Metrolink, suburban National Rail services, or other 
potential future types of metro - we will aim to deliver at least a 15-minute service frequency 
on all key corridors into the city centre throughout the day (Mondays to Saturdays, 0700-
2330).   We will consider the potential for converting appropriate suburban National Rail 
services to metro operation.  That could be achieved by operating tram-train services on the 
National Rail network, or the introduction of other types of metro service using new 
infrastructure in the Regional Centre, potentially including a metro tunnel.  Conventional heavy 
rail services on the National Rail network will remain very important, and improvements to 
both the capacity and connectivity of those services will be needed. 

 

248. Over the period up to 2040, we will be taking a much broader view of rapid transit, focusing on 
delivering the most appropriate, integrated public transport network to meet the needs of 
different parts of the city-region.  More detail on how rapid transit will be developed to create 
that network is set out in the Rapid Transit Strategy. 

Policy 28: We will seek to expand the coverage and capacity of our rapid transit network 
(Metrolink, Rail and Bus Rapid Transit), to deliver improved connectivity to employment and other 
opportunities within the city-region. 

Page 574



 

75 

 

 

249. Changes in rapid transit technology and operating practices mean that the traditional 
boundaries between heavy and light rail and bus will become increasingly blurred.  That 
enables us to focus on providing the right rapid transit system to meet existing and future 
travel markets to support significant population and economic growth.  

250. In the medium term, tram-train offers the potential to deliver metro services to more areas 
without building new rail lines.  A tram-train approach can help to improve access to the core 
of the city centre at peak and off-peak times, while also releasing valuable capacity on the 
National Rail network.   

251. Where demand is not sufficiently high for rail-based rapid transit, bus rapid transit or express 
bus services - typically utilising a mix of segregated busways and other forms of bus priority - 
can offer many of the same benefits with much lower infrastructure costs. They may also serve 
to build up demand for rapid transit to a point where a Metrolink extension can be justified in 
the future.  

252. The Regional Centre will continue to be the major hub for rapid transit services due to its high 
concentration of trip attractors, and its role as the key interchange in Greater Manchester’s 
public transport network.  As new city-to-city rail services are introduced (eg HS2 and Northern 
Powerhouse Rail services), the Regional Centre’s role as a hub will become even more 
important.  A key objective of the Rapid Transit Strategy is to improve connectivity with 
network hubs, maximising the benefits of new inter-urban rail services to Greater Manchester 
by fully integrating them with our existing and future public transport network.   

253. In the longer-term, the growth of Manchester Airport and the Enterprise Zone means that the 
Airport has the potential to become a second rapid transit hub in Greater Manchester. Airport-
focused rapid transit services could provide more orbital travel for Greater Manchester’s 

Page 575



 

76 

residents and visitors.  We will continue to explore opportunities for delivering more orbital 
rapid transit services via the Airport over the coming months and years.    

254. Our priorities for extending the capacity and coverage of the rapid transit network will include: 

• Providing additional cross-city capacity in the Regional Centre for existing and future rail-
based rapid transit services, potentially by means of tunnelling. 

• Converting those suburban rail lines serving the Regional Centre which have a relatively 
poor financial performance to metro-style services, where there is a good financial case 
and the potential to attract both peak and off-peak patronage, achieved by track-sharing 
between light and heavy rail services.    

• Providing additional capacity to accommodate growth on remaining suburban National Rail 
rail services to the Regional Centre.  Capacity on the National Rail network will be released 
by converting selected suburban rail lines to create new metro services that avoid the 
Northern Hub rail bottleneck, but other capacity enhancements on the National Rail 
network will also be needed. 

• Ensuring excellent local rapid transit connections with Northern Powerhouse and HS2 Rail 
services via a network hub at Piccadilly. 

• Building new sections of rapid transit route, but only where there are opportunities to 
provide substantially faster journeys to major population or employment centres than 
could be achieved by a stopping bus service.  

• Developing new bus-based rapid transit routes to serve major population and employment 
centres poorly served by existing rapid transit. 

 
• Developing Manchester Airport as a second Greater Manchester rapid transit hub in 

support of the Airport’s growth strategy, which will create opportunities for new orbital 
bus- or rail-based rapid transit services from other Greater Manchester network hubs, and 
support growth areas in GMSF.     
 

  

Page 576



 

77 

National Rail services 

Our Ambition: To develop a rail network with the capacity, reliability, speed, resilience and 
quality to support growth in the Northern economy and extend the benefits of HS2 and 
Northern Powerhouse Rail throughout Greater Manchester. 

255. The National Rail network in Greater Manchester plays an important role in supporting 
economic growth, in particular providing quick access into the Regional Centre and main town 
centres and linking the conurbation to other major cities.  Suburban services on the National 
Rail network form an important part of Greater Manchester’s rapid transit network.  Greater 
Manchester is also served by an extensive network of rail inter-urban services – both for 
regional trips to nearby cities and long-distance services to destinations such as London, 
Glasgow, and Edinburgh.    

256. In recent years, there has been a significant growth in patronage, increasing by over 30% in the 

last decade. The rate of growth in the use of rail in the North, especially into major centres, has 

in fact outpaced that in the South East. Prior to Covid-19, this overall trend was continuing 

despite extended periods of poor performance and disruption. 

257. Improving reliability will be key in continuing this role, but there is a need to address the 
resilience of the network. The dis-investment in the UK rail network from the 1960s through to 
the 1990s saw spare capacity beyond that required to operate a limited service pattern 
removed from the network. The renaissance in rail use since then has meant that significantly 
more trains are running through the same network, so that disruption is magnified and there is 
limited scope to avoid major incidents or seek alternative routes. We will continue to assess 
the key vulnerable locations on the network where additional capability could bring a step 
change in network recovery from such incidents, ensuring much greater resilience. 

258. Lack of investment means that the capacity needed for both resilience and future growth is 

increasingly an issue. In addition, the quality of rolling stock and passenger facilities is 

inconsistent, often offering a poor experience to the public. While some of these issues have 

been addressed by the Northern and Transpennine rail franchises that began in April 2016 and 

as part of the Northern Hub package of work undertaken by Network Rail, there still exists 

significant opportunities to improve the network and services. 

259. In 2019 the Greater Manchester Rail Prospectus set out the city-region’s priorities for its rail 

network. These included improving infrastructure and rolling stock; increasing passenger 

numbers into the Regional Centre; working with rail and community partners to improve 

stations, increasing services to Manchester Airport and delivering local turn-up-and-go 

services that operate at least four trains an hour. The Prospectus also sets out the 

opportunities provided by rail reform and greater local control. 

260. While Greater Manchester has benefitted from recent major Network Rail investment in the 

Northern Hub, which included the construction of the Ordsall Chord and the electrification of 

the North West Triangle to Liverpool and Preston via Bolton, there are still a significant 

number of delayed or postponed infrastructure projects. These include the delivery of 

Page 577



 

78 

enhancements to the Castlefield corridor between Manchester Piccadilly and Oxford Road and 

the Transpennine Route Upgrade between Manchester and York. 

261. The Northern Rail franchise, which commenced in 2016, represented a significant step towards 
achieving many of Greater Manchester’s strategic rail priorities.  It included commitments for 
major investment in new rolling stock for local services and a step-change in service levels on 
many local routes, especially during the inter-peak, evening, and weekend periods. While the 
franchise was terminated early in 2020 and replaced by a government run Operator of Last 
Resort (OLR), we will continue to lobby for these commitments to be delivered as planned. 

262. The long-term sustainability of the local heavy rail network is likely to depend on continuing 

recent progress in reducing its need for subsidy. Some of the lines that are likely to be the 

weakest financially may also offer some of the best prospects for attracting additional demand 

via light-rail metro-style operation. This can – as seen recently with the conversion of the 

Oldham Loop line to Metrolink where patronage has more than tripled – attract more demand 

and revenue outside the travel-to-work peak periods.  

 

263. The Government has recognised the need for faster journeys between the major northern 

cities. Local authorities and TfN are working together to agree what is needed to benefit that 

wider area, with the aim of developing a Northern Powerhouse Rail network. Improvements 

would be delivered progressively, through franchise specifications and input to ongoing 

railway planning processes and through supporting activities of local authorities. 

264. The fact that many of Greater Manchester’s rail stations offer poor customer facilities deters 

some users. Because rail franchises are relatively short-term, train operators have little 

incentive to invest and improve access as there is insufficient time to recoup that investment. 

We therefore believe that the interests of the customer would be best served by TfGM 

operating stations on a long lease instead. This would enable longer-term programmes to be 

developed to bring stations up to a consistent standard that align with the standard provided 

for other modes.   

 

 

 

  

Policy 29: We will continue to work with DfT, Network Rail, train operators and with other local 
authorities across the North of England in order to secure our strategic priorities and to deliver 
greater local accountability for all rail-based services.  

 

Policy 30:  We will continue to work with DfT, Network Rail and Transport for the North to secure 
greater local control of rail stations within Greater Manchester exploring the use of any opportunities 
which may arise from the Williams Review of the Rail industry. 
 

Page 578



 

79 

Part 3                                                                                         
Our 2040 Spatial Themes: Challenges and Interventions 

Introduction 

265. This section builds on the Greater Manchester-wide strategic principles and policies set out in 
Part 2.  Part 3 is structured around five types of trip (called spatial themes - as introduced in 
our 2040 Vision) to enable an integrated set of interventions to be developed to address 
specific issues in different parts of the city-region and for different types of travel: 

Our 2040 Spatial Themes 

 

 

266. Besides local connectivity, Part 3 covers the need for better links to ports, airports and the 
Channel Tunnel to improve our overseas trade and tourism connectivity, alongside 
transformed links to other UK cities to deliver the crucial access to markets for labour and 
goods that our city-region needs. 

267.  Within Greater Manchester, the Regional Centre has a critical role as a major transport hub as 
well as being the largest centre for employment and a major focal point for long-term 
economic and residential growth, and it therefore has specific transport needs.  Also important 

Page 579



 

80 

is access to the main town centres and other employment locations as well as to facilities like 
hospitals and colleges.  Within neighbourhoods, the short trips made from home to local 
centres and facilities are essential to quality of life.  Access to public transport – whether to rail 
stations, Metrolink stops, or bus stops – also requires attractive links, especially for walking, at 
a neighbourhood level.  The five journey-types shown in the diagram above, and the 
improvements we plan to make for each of them, are discussed in more detail in the following 
pages. 

268. To reflect their specific characteristics, it is intended to add a sixth spatial theme, comprising 
trips between and within major town centres in Greater Manchester.  That will require some 
further technical work. A common theme throughout Part 3 is the need to allocate roadspace 
efficiently on our transport networks and minimise the negative impacts of traffic on our 
communities, particularly as our city-region experiences economic growth over the coming 
decades.  This will need a concerted effort to improve the attractiveness of our sustainable 
transport networks by providing the right infrastructure to support our growth agenda and 
locating new development in locations that do not depend on cars, while also carefully 
managing demand across our transport system.     

 

  

Page 580



 

81 

Global Connectivity 

Our Ambition is to support growth at the Airport and the adjacent Enterprise Zone by: 
bringing many more people within a 1hr and 2hr rail journey time; to improve the reliability 
of the highway network near the Airport; and to ensure that public transport services better 
meet the needs of Airport customers and employees. Fewer people will drive to work at the 
Airport, with transformed sustainable transport connectivity from across Greater 
Manchester and beyond.       

The Atlantic Gateway corridor will be developed to maximise the sustainable movement of 
goods by water and rail.  We support the development of the Port Salford area as a tri-modal 
(rail, water and road) logistics park and development zone to improve access to global 
markets via the Port of Liverpool.   

269. In our 2040 Vision for Transport, we highlighted the importance of Greater Manchester’s 
connectivity to global markets to enable our city-region to compete effectively on the world 
stage and to rebalance the UK’s economy.  The Greater Manchester brand is already strong 
around the world and we have a huge opportunity to capitalise on this by attracting further 
international inward investment and tourism.   

270. Greater Manchester is also an important strategic location for international freight through 
our excellent connectivity by air, sea, road and rail. Through further targeted investment in our 
transport infrastructure and services, we can build on this strategic advantage to the benefit of 
our residents and businesses.   The rest of this section focuses on how Greater Manchester can 
support improved global connectivity for freight and passengers via Manchester Airport and 
the Manchester Ship Canal. Improving access to global gateways will, of course, also depend 
on improved access from across Greater Manchester and to and from other city-regions, 
notably to London for the Channel Tunnel (see Delivering Better City-to-City Links) and to Hull 
and the North East Ports. 

Manchester Airport and Enterprise Zone 

271. Manchester Airport plays a pivotal role in providing access to international markets from 
Greater Manchester and across the North of England, and is therefore central in delivering a 
strong economy.  Before the Covid-19 pandemic, it employed more than 20,000 people on 
site, with an estimated further 45,000 supported jobs in the wider region and a GVA 
contribution to the UK economy in excess of £925m. As the third busiest airport in the UK, 
and with c.8.9 million people living within a one hour drive-time, and nearly 22 million within 
a two hour drive-time, Manchester Airport is also a major asset for the whole of the UK. 

272. The Airport already provides access to a range of international destinations: before the Covid-
19 pandemic, over 70 airlines operated to around 200 destinations worldwide. Direct flights 
are operating or planned to important growth economies around the world: North America, 
the Emirates, Singapore, Hong Kong and mainland China.  It also offers highly flexible, 
affordable short-haul access to European cities and attracts passengers from across the North, 
North Wales and parts of the Midlands.  The Airport plays an important freight role handling 
over 117,000 tonnes of air cargo annually, much of it high value or time sensitive.   

Page 581



 

82 

273. Manchester Airports Group (MAG) has ambitious plans to grow its passenger market from 24 
million trips per annum in 2016 to 45 million, delivering over £2bn to the UK economy and 
providing up to 60,000 jobs in the wider region.  Unlike major UK airports in the south-east, 
Manchester Airport has spare runway capacity and therefore has enormous potential to 
rapidly expand its role without the need for major investment in potentially contentious new 
runway capacity.  MAG is delivering a transformational £1bn investment plan into its Airport 
facilities to maintain and enhance its world-class position and to secure further new airlines 
and routes into Manchester.   

274. However, the full potential of Manchester Airport will only be realised if local and regional 
access to the gateway matches the quality of the transformed Airport.  Although there has 
already been significant investment in connectivity to the Airport in recent years more will 
need to be done.  In particular, we will need to improve connectivity by public transport to 
enable both passengers and employees to travel easily and seamlessly to the Airport without a 
car, coupled with demand management, to ensure that congestion does not undermine the 
Airport’s long-term growth.  Connectivity improvements and demand management will also 
support sustainable economic growth at the Greater Manchester Enterprise Zone (GMEZ), and 
at Davenport Green (which has potential for office and residential development), both 
adjacent to the Airport.    

 

A Gateway to the North of England 

275. Global connectivity, particularly via Manchester Airport, is vital to supporting long-term 
economic growth in the North of England.   Better rail connectivity to Manchester Airport is 
particularly important to allow quick and easy access from throughout the North of England to 
a wide range of international destinations served by the Airport. 

276. HS2 and Northern Powerhouse Rail proposals will transform rail connectivity to the Airport 
from across the North of England and the UK, unlocking new jobs and productivity.  More 
frequent and faster rail services will help to increase the effective population catchment area 
of the Airport, supporting the case for introducing new inter-continental trade routes, and 
thereby boosting the economic potential of the North of England. 

277. Any new rail connections must be carefully planned to ensure that they integrate well with 
existing rail and road networks.  Committed electrification and infrastructure schemes in the 
North West provide enhanced links to Huddersfield, Leeds, and York using faster and longer 
trains, while completion of the committed Northern Hub capacity improvements will permit 
better cross-Manchester rail links to the Airport.  Supporting infrastructure improvements, 
such as platform lengthening at key rail stations in the North, will be necessary to maximize 
the benefits of these rail improvements.   

The Greater Manchester Enterprise Zone (GMEZ) 

The GMEZ comprises a number of sites, including Airport City North,; the World Logistics Hub (with 
potential for 1,500 jobs); an advanced Medipark to the south of Wythenshawe Hospital; and a string of 
other developments, which cover areas such as Roundthorn Industrial Estate, Wythenshawe Town 
Centre and Atlas Business Park.  Davenport Green, the proposed location of the Airport HS2 station, is 
another longstanding potential major development site to the west of the M56 which will require 
significant investment in sustainable transport.  

Page 582



 

83 

 

 

278. TfGM, Transport for the North and other key transport agencies - such as Highways England 
and Network Rail - continue to work closely with MAG to identify opportunities to improve the 
quality of the entire door-to-door passenger travel experience, from providing excellent 
information on how to travel to the Airport (and on travel times and delays); through to 
seamless, integrated smart ticketing.  We must make it as easy as possible for people to plan 
their whole journey in advance and to encourage the use of more sustainable travel wherever 
possible. 

279. The strategic road network also plays a crucial role in accessing the airport.  Reliability of 
journey times to the airport is particularly important.   We will need to work closely with 
Highways England to maximise the benefits to connectivity and capacity from the A556 
improvement and M56 Junctions 6-8 Smart Motorway; and to develop strategic priorities for 
improving airport access, better managing demand for travel by car, and dealing with existing 
and potential bottlenecks on our motorways.   

Links to the Regional Centre 

280. Excellent connectivity from the Regional Centre to Manchester Airport is vital in order to 
maximise global trade with Greater Manchester.  Travel between the Regional Centre and the 
Airport must be as seamless and as customer oriented as possible to secure the greatest 
benefits.  This must include fast, high-quality rail links, with journey times competitive with the 
car, and seamless interchange both at the Airport and within the Regional Centre.  Public 
transport services should be tailored to integrate with flight times and with worker shift 
patterns as much as possible, which will require 24-hour a day operation on key services.    

Page 583



 

84 

281. We will consider other potential travel options, such as express bus and coach services; new 
models of car club operation and car sharing; and taxi provision to provide alternatives for 
international travelers.  All travel options must be carefully designed and marketed to make 
them as easy to use as possible, particularly for those unfamiliar with Greater Manchester.   

Access to employment at Manchester Airport 

282. If Greater Manchester is to benefit fully from access to global trade and new jobs at the 
Airport and Enterprise Zone, the area must be accessible from across the city-region.  This will 
require improvements to both orbital and radial public transport, supported by appropriate 
ticketing and fares.  This will need investment sustainable transport to attract workers out of 
their cars.  Car sharing could also have a major role to play in improving access to employment 
at the Airport.  Use of public transport and car sharing can be further incentivised through 
carefully car parking management, which will be crucial as activity in the area increases and 
the local highways come under further pressure.    

283. Local connections from surrounding areas (such as Wythenshawe, Baguley and Benchill) are 
also very important to ensure good access from more deprived areas to jobs at the Airport.  
Improvements to walking and cycling will be high priorities.  

• Key Supporting Evidence 

• Manchester Airport Sustainable Development Plan forecasts significant long-term growth 
in demand for travel from Manchester Airport. 

• Data on time of travel for passengers arriving and departing the airport suggests a 
significant peak in demand before the morning peak period (eg between 6-7am) and early 
to mid-afternoon.  

• Vehicle flow data for M56 shows that airport traffic (staff and passenger car trips) do 
contribute to peak hour congestion and increasingly unpredictable journey times are 
forecast over the coming years on the SRN in the vicinity of the airport. 

• Journey to work data for the Airport and surrounding area highlights extremely high levels 
of car dependence for commuter trips.  

• If Manchester Airport reaches its goal of 45million passengers per year and achieves its 
mode share targets, there would be c.60% more car trips by airport workers than at 
present (the increase may be somewhat lower if airport worker productivity significantly 
increases).  This does not include additional traffic from Airport City, A556, A6MARR, 
Wythenshawe Hospital and HS2. 

• Public transport journey times from most of Greater Manchester (except Wythenshawe 
area, Manchester City Centre and Stockport Town Centre) are significantly greater than by 
car during off-peak periods, and from many areas are longer than most people would be 
prepared to spend travelling to work.    

 

Atlantic Gateway and Port Salford 

284. Port Salford is located on the western edge of Greater Manchester and is part of the Atlantic 
Gateway Economic Growth Corridor, which connects the Port of Liverpool with Greater 

Page 584



 

85 

Manchester via the Manchester Ship Canal.   The location has been identified as the ideal 
location for a tri-modal freight interchange enabling waterborne, rail and road freight access to 
a large-scale logistics park. 

285. The development of the Liverpool 2 super container facility at the Port of Liverpool has 
enabled the Port to handle the much larger deeper water container vessels that operate on 
trans-Atlantic routes following the widening of the Panama Canal. This will enable Liverpool to 
establish itself as the UK’s leading transatlantic port and to deliver much stronger trade 
connections between the North West and overseas markets.  We must maximise the 
sustainable opportunities for onward movement of goods via the Manchester Ship Canal into 
Greater Manchester, to reduce the congestion and carbon impacts of freight on our highways.   

286. Port Salford is served by major transport routes including the Manchester Ship Canal, the 
Manchester-Liverpool (Chat Moss) railway, the M62 / M602 / M60 motorways, and the A57.   
Port Salford will play an important role in delivering improved global connectivity due to its 
role as part of the infrastructure of global supply chains, with particular potential for serving 
European container ships.   

287. Rail access improvements to the Atlantic Gateway are planned, including a link from Port 
Salford to the Chat Moss (Liverpool-Manchester via Newton-le-Willows) rail line. This would 
enable freight trains to serve regional and UK markets from Port Salford and support trans-
shipment activities there. 

288. The achievement of the potential of the Port Salford and the Atlantic Gateway growth area is 
being pursued through joint working, including developers/landowners, Salford City Council, 
Trafford Metropolitan Borough Council, TfGM and Highways England.   

 
 

Page 585



 

86 

289. In addition to Port Salford, significant logistics and employment developments planned in 
Trafford Park, Carrington and around the M58/M6 area in Wigan will place increased pressure 
on already congested parts of Greater Manchester’s transport network including the M62, A57 
and western sections of the M60 motorway. Much more will need to be done to improve the 
reliability of our highways, through development of a holistic access strategy incorporating 
public transport, local walking and cycling and highways improvements.   

290. The completion by the developer of a future Metrolink-compatible local highway crossing of 
the Manchester Ship Canal as part of the Western Gateway Infrastructure Scheme has helped 
to mitigate the impacts of the first phase of Port Salford. Further interventions to improve 
access to, and the performance of, our highway network in the Atlantic Gateway area, 
particularly around the connection between the Key Route Network and the Strategic Road 
Network is required. It is hoped that the M60 Northwest Quadrant Strategic Study, led by the 
Department for Transport and with participation from Transport for the North and Greater 
Manchester partners will assist in identifying the interventions that may be required to 
support economic growth in the Atlantic Gateway.   

291. We will also need to ensure that workers can access the new jobs at Port Salford and in the 
Atlantic Gateway corridor without having to travel by car. We are exploring the potential to 
extend the completed Trafford Park Metrolink line towards the Atlantic Gateway.  

292. Providing improved cycling and walking connections from surrounding areas (such as Peel 
Green, Patricroft and Irlam) will also be a high priority to ensure good access from more 
deprived areas to jobs in the Port Salford and the Atlantic Gateway area. The Port Salford 
Greenway provides safe traffic-free connections, and further infrastructure to complement 
this scheme is proposed through Greater Manchester’s Bee Network. 

293. Proposed interventions supporting Global Connectivity are set out in Our Five-Year Transport 
Delivery Plan. 

 

  

Page 586



 

87 

Delivering Better City-to-City Links 

294. The Greater Manchester city-region lies at the heart of the North, with the large conurbations 
of Liverpool, Leeds and Sheffield all within 45 miles of our Regional Centre.  Our connections to 
major city-regions across the North, and to other major cities, such as Birmingham, London, 
Glasgow and Edinburgh are also crucial to our long-term success, supporting the critical flow of 
goods, skills and information that will enable the UK to boost its long-term productivity.   The 
constrained capacity, speed and reliability of our existing city-to-city road and rail connections 
prevent Greater Manchester fulfilling its potential.   We will continue to work closely with 
partners to deliver the transformational improvements to our city-to-city links we need to 
achieve our 2040 Transport Vision and to play a key role in delivering a strong Northern 
economy. However, for the benefits of these improvements to be felt across Greater 
Manchester, we will also need to improve connections across the city-region to enable people 
to access motorways and National Hub interchanges.  

The Right Mix for City to City Links 

 

295. We are targeting a 5% reduction in car mode-share for City to City trips, achieved through 
improvements to inter-urban public transport.  Many City to City trips include journeys that 
neither start nor end in a city centre, and there is little potential for these to be made by public 
transport. However, we expect the major proposed improvements to inter-urban public 

Our ambition is to see an increasingly productive, inclusive and prosperous region, 
supported by transformed connectivity between the major cities of the North of England, 
and to the Midlands, London and Scotland. There will be a step-change in quality, speed and 
reliability of our city-to-city rail links, allowing travel to Liverpool, Leeds and Sheffield in 30 
minutes or less and to London in just over an hour.  The strategic highway network will offer 
more reliable journey times.  More freight will be moved by rail and water. Transformed 
infrastructure, smart ticketing and customer information will encourage more trans-
northern journeys to be made by public transport. 

Page 587



 

88 

transport to substantially reduce car use for trips that do involve travel to and from a major 
city centre. 

Improving North-South Connectivity 

High Speed 2 

296. The West Coast Main Line (WCML) linking London to the North West and onwards to Scotland 
is the busiest mixed-use 125 mph railway in Europe.  The line is under considerable stress 
because there is more demand for train services than there are train paths available. This 
limits capacity and means there are trade-offs deciding which services can run. We expect 
demand for rail travel to continue to grow over the coming years (both for freight and 
passengers) and the need for new rail infrastructure will become ever more pressing as we 
move towards 2040.    

297. The pressure on the WCML underpins the strategic case for HS2.  The current proposal is to 
deliver HS2 in three phases: Phase 1 from London to Birmingham, Phase 2a from the West 
Midlands to Crewe and Phase 2b comprising a western leg from Crewe to Manchester with an 
intermediate station at Manchester Airport and an eastern leg from the West Midlands to 
Yorkshire.  

298. Alongside HS2, Northern Powerhouse Rail (NPR) - the east-west rail network across the North 
is also vital to boost our city-region’s economy. NPR will significantly improve capacity, 
frequency, speed and services between the North’s six main cities and Manchester Airport.  

299. In 2018, we launched our growth strategy for high-speed rail, The Stops are just the Start, 
which details how HS2 and Northern Powerhouse Rail (NPR) can support new jobs, new 
homes and new opportunities for Greater Manchester. TfN has also set out its vision for the 
NPR network, in its Strategic Transport Plan for the North. Our 2019 Prospectus for Rail also 
makes the case for the full delivery of HS2 and NPR. It explains that if HS2 is not delivered, 
Northern Powerhouse Rail (NPR) alone will not be able to support the economic growth our 
city-region, the North and the country needs.  

300. Without HS2 and NPR to release capacity on our current network, we won’t be able to run 
more frequent local services. The delivery of high-speed rail and associated growth strategies 
at Manchester Piccadilly, Manchester Airport, Stockport and Wigan remains crucial to the 
successful delivery of our 2040 Transport Strategy. We are working collaboratively with 
Government to refine the plans for high speed rail and ensure they are funded in a way that is 
sustainable, equitable, and aligned with both local and national policy. 

301. The Greater Manchester authorities support HS2 and NPR, and want to ensure the proposals 
have no detrimental impact on local services. TfN is also investigating the potential for a 
Manchester Airport Western link; this would serve a strategic role beyond Greater 
Manchester and we would look to TfN to act as the promoter for any future proposals.  

302. Detailed plans for the Phase 2 route were released by HS2 Ltd in November 2016. The 
November 2016 plans no longer provide for a west to east link in the north west which would 
have allowed for trains between Manchester and Wigan and onwards to Scotland to run 
much faster via the HS2 route, and therefore will no longer offer the opportunity to relieve 

Page 588



 

89 

capacity on the congested Manchester-Wigan/Bolton/Preston lines, which will instead need 
to be addressed by other means. A map of the current proposals is shown below. 

303. The opportunities for sustained growth offered by HS2 cannot be delivered by any other 
alternative.  However, the case for HS2 extends well beyond simple transport economics. HS2 
is a strategic economic game-changer that will uplift productivity through enhanced labour 
market and business-to-business connectivity; increased network capacity; and improved 
international connections through the HS2 station at Manchester Airport. It will stimulate 
regeneration in areas adjacent to HS2 stations, and also establish the basis for a renaissance 
in engineering skills development and act as a major stimulus for a domestic supply chain, 
with up to 350,000 jobs being directly related to the project at its peak. 

304. In February 2020, the Government announced that HS2 would proceed in full. The Oakervee 
rail review concluded that for Phase 2b of HS2 (the route from Birmingham to Manchester 
and Leeds) a Y-shaped network was the right strategic answer for the country. The review 
also concluded that Phase 2b needs to be considered as part of an Integrated Rail Plan (IRP) 
for the north and Midlands which also includes Northern Powerhouse Rail, Midlands Rail Hub, 
and other major Network Rail schemes to ensure these are scoped, designed, delivered, and 
can be operated as an integrated network.  

305. HS2 is vital in increasing the capacity and connectivity of Britain’s rail network. Manchester 
Piccadilly and Manchester Airport are the optimal locations for new HS2 stations, 
supplemented by a Hub location at the existing Wigan North Western station to the north of 
the conurbation. From Manchester, journey times to London are anticipated to be as low as 
68 minutes, with three trains per hour to London and two trains per hour to Birmingham. 
Journey times to Wigan would also be reduced, by almost a half. We wish to see the benefits 
of HS2 realised as soon as possible.  In the intervening years, however, we will continue to 
work hard to deliver improved north-south rail connectivity in and out of Greater 
Manchester, including identifying improvements to services on the existing WCML through 
future franchise specifications; and ensuring that Greater Manchester’s key stations are 
served by HS2 classic compatible services that can run on both HS2 lines and the WCML 
following delivery of Phase 1 of HS2 (from London to Birmingham). 

M6 Motorway 

306. North-south strategic road links are provided by the M6 motorway, which runs through the 
west of Wigan and just to the south of Trafford. The M6 is a critical strategic highway corridor 
for both people and freight, and we must maintain good access to this corridor from across 
Greater Manchester. The M6 - immediately to the south of Greater Manchester – has been 
converted to a Smart Motorway. The link into central Manchester and Manchester Airport, via 
the M56, is also being upgraded through improvements to Junction 19 and work will 
commence on the M56 Junction 6 to 8 Smart Motorway scheme shortly. In future, the M58 
link road will provide a direct link from the M58/M6 J26 to the A571. However, J25 currently 
has southbound access and northbound egress, and we want to make this an all movements 
junction, allowing the closure of J24, which would relieve congestion in Ashton-in-Makerfield.  

307. The South Manchester Highway and Transport Study will look at impacts of and mitigation for 
HS2/GMSF/Airport growth with a focus on the M56 from J5 to J6. This is intended to cover the 
Local Road Network and multi-modal solutions, as well as the Strategic Road Network. The 

Page 589



 

90 

South East Manchester Junction Improvements Study is also looking at possible improvements 
to M60 junctions. 

 

.  

Key Supporting Evidence 

• The combined population of Northern England is 15 million (larger than London).  The 
current combined GVA9 of the North is £343bn, 19% of the UK total.  However, the 
GVA per person in the North is now 18% below the UK average. 

• UK Cities account for 9% of land use, but 54% of population, 59% of jobs and 61% of 
output.  (Centre for Cities). 

• 10 million people live within 40 miles of Greater Manchester (2 million of these are 
graduates) 

• With HS2 and Northern Powerhouse Rail network lies the potential to at least close 
the productivity gap between the North and South, which Treasury has estimated 
would equate to in excess of £40 billion additional GVA by 2030. 

• The Spatial Economics Research Centre found that commuting between the Greater 
Manchester and Leeds city-regions is about 40% lower than expected given the 
characteristics of the two cities and the physical distance between them. 

• By road, it takes 44 minutes to travel 34 miles to Liverpool from Manchester, but 1 
hour 12 minutes to travel 38 miles to Sheffield.  

 

 

10 Transport for the North’s Strategic Transport Plan: https://transportforthenorth.com/wp-content/uploads/TfN-final-strategic-transport-
plan-2019.pdf 

Page 590

https://transportforthenorth.com/wp-content/uploads/TfN-final-strategic-transport-plan-2019.pdf
https://transportforthenorth.com/wp-content/uploads/TfN-final-strategic-transport-plan-2019.pdf


 

91 

 Transforming Connectivity Across the North 

308. Through Transport for the North, Greater Manchester has worked in close partnership with 
other northern local authorities and with Department for Transport, Highways England and 
Network Rail, to develop the Strategic Transport Plan (STP) for the North, focused on the 
critical investments needed to transform city-to-city connectivity with a view to delivering a 
Northern Powerhouse economy which is equal to or exceeds the UK’s average growth rate.   

Transport for the North 

Transport for the North (TfN) brings together Local Authorities across the North of 
England to enable the North to speak with a single voice on the important transport 
projects needed to fully realise the region’s economic potential.  

In February 2019, TfN published its statutory Strategic Transport Plan (STP)10 for the 
North. The Plan makes a robust case for transformational transport investment across 
the entire North of England, to help rebalance the UK economy.  

The long-term strategic programme detailed in the Plan sets out proposals for rail, 
highways, freight, inter-city connectivity, and integrated transport services, designed 
to deliver significant benefits for commuters, businesses and the wider economy of 
the North.  

Within the Plan, TfN identifies seven Strategic Development Corridors for the North of 
England. Each represents an economic area where evidence suggests the most 
progress towards growth could be made by bringing forward major road and rail 
investment.  

The corridors are designed to encompass the needs of people, business, freight and 
logistics. 

 

Northern Powerhouse Rail (NPR) Network  

309. Excellent rail provision is essential to enable people to move quickly and easily to jobs and 
business destinations in our Northern city-regions, as well as supporting the efficient 
movement of goods by rail.  Transformational rail service improvements are a key part of 
vision, linking Greater Manchester with the major cities in the North of England through 
development of a Northern Powerhouse Rail (NPR).    

Transpennine Route Upgrade and Manchester Rail Task Force 

The upgrade of the Trans-Pennine route to Leeds is a national priority, with up to £3bn of 
investment earmarked by the Secretary of State for medium-term delivery in advance of 
Northern Powerhouse Rail. Electrification from Manchester to Huddersfield and beyond, 

 

10 Transport for the North’s Strategic Transport Plan: https://transportforthenorth.com/wp-content/uploads/TfN-final-strategic-transport-
plan-2019.pdf 

Page 591

https://transportforthenorth.com/wp-content/uploads/TfN-final-strategic-transport-plan-2019.pdf
https://transportforthenorth.com/wp-content/uploads/TfN-final-strategic-transport-plan-2019.pdf


 

92 

coupled with improved local train service frequency, is a priority for Greater Manchester on 
this route. In 2020, the scheme was allocated additional funding by Government to ease 
congestion and improve reliability, with an ambition for full electrification, digital signalling 
and additional freight capacity.   

The rail network is extremely congested around central Manchester, leading to conflicts 
between services and unreliability both in Greater Manchester and the North of England. 
Previously, the solution to this problem was the full implementation of the Northern Hub 
proposals. Certain parts of these proposals have been constructed - such as the Ordsall 
Chord - but not the most critical element: the reconfiguration of Manchester Oxford Road 
station and new platforms 15 and 16 at Piccadilly station. The impact of this partial 
provision of Northern Hub planned infrastructure was evident with the implementation of 
the May 2018 timetable which saw an increase in trains along the Castleford Corridor (the 
line between Manchester Piccadilly, Oxford Road and Deansgate), but without the 
supporting infrastructure, and resulted in a major deterioration in train performance.  

In recognition of this poor performance, the cross industry Manchester Recovery Task 
Force (MRTF) was set up in 2019 with a remit to examine both short and long term 
solutions. TfGM is a stakeholder in the task force, and continues to provide technical 
direction and support to the process in order to achieve a much improved level of 
performance in the short term, and to press for the necessary investment in additional 
infrastructure in the longer term. 

310. Building on the Northern Hub schemes, the rolling stock and service improvements in the 
Northern and Trans-Pennine rail franchises, and HS2 proposals; the TfN Strategic Transport 
Plan envisages transformational improvements to the frequency of trains, passenger capacity 
and to journey times across the North. 

311. To deliver these ambitious journey times and aspirations for improved frequency, options are 
also being explored to deliver new lines or major rail bypasses as well as making use of 
proposed HS2 infrastructure.  It is anticipated that significant sections of new line would be 
needed on routes between Manchester and Leeds and Manchester and Sheffield, for example.  
Existing rail infrastructure would then be freed up on our current rail networks to provide 
express, semi-fast, local and freight services.   

312. Delivery of a seamless public transport network across the North of England is also to be 
supported by a smart Northern ticketing system that makes it simple and easy to travel across 
the North by any mode of public transport.  This will be enhanced by real-time travel 

Rail North 

Rail North is a partnership of 29 Local Transport Authorities who will, alongside DfT, 
manage the new Northern and TransPennine Express franchises from April 2016.  The Rail 
North partnership agreement includes important mechanisms to enable the local 
authorities to make decisions on changes to their local rail services and to make 
investments in these franchises to drive improvements.  Responsibilities for Rail North will 
also relate to concessionary travel, multi-modal ticketing schemes and smart transactions 
and to important performance management issues.   

Page 592



 

93 

information and a simplified fare structure.  We will ensure that this emerging Northern smart 
ticketing system is compatible with our future Greater Manchester smart ticketing and fares. 

Future development of our national rail hubs 

313. In Part 2, we set out our approach to improving interchange on our public transport system, 
highlighting different categories of interchange which are needed to support a seamless 
Greater Manchester transport network.  Our Global Gateway at Manchester Airport, and 
Greater Manchester National Hubs, are critical in supporting excellent city-to-city links and we 
will develop proposals to improve interchanges at these locations to ensure that national rail 
services are well integrated into our city-region transport network.   

314. With the introduction of HS2 and Northern Powerhouse Rail services, Manchester Piccadilly 
will become the most intensive strategic transport interchange in the North. An integrated 
approach is needed, as set out in the HS2 and NPR growth strategy The Stops are just the 
Start11 - to ensure that these connectivity benefits are spread across the city-region and, 
critically, that the immediate area around the station delivers on its potential.  We want to see 
the stations and the surrounding area transformed in time for the start of HS2 Phase 1 
operations in 2026, so as to maximise early city-to-city connectivity benefits and accelerate 
regeneration. The adjacent Piccadilly and Mayfield areas have the potential for commercial 
development that could secure up to 30,000 additional jobs, alongside scope for more housing 
and regeneration. 

315. There are other interchanges in Greater Manchester that are vital for the successful 
implementation of improved city-to-city rail links, including Manchester Airport, Wigan and 
Stockport. Investment in high quality access and interchange at these hubs will be critical to 
ensure that travellers from across Greater Manchester have excellent access to city-to-city rail 
services, that are well integrated into our city-region transport system. 

City-to-city highways connectivity   

316. City-to-city links by road are provided primarily by the Strategic Road Network of motorways, 
supported by the nationally designated Major Roads Network and Greater Manchester’s Key 
Route Network of locally important roads. The Strategic Road Network is operated by 
Highways England and in Greater Manchester comprises some 180km of motorways and all-
purpose trunk roads.  

 

 

11 The Stops are Just the Start: https://tfgm.com/press-release/hs2-npr-growth-strategy  

Page 593

https://tfgm.com/press-release/hs2-npr-growth-strategy


 

94 

Partnership with Highways England 

Highways England and TfGM have signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) which 
provides a unique opportunity to establish complementary network management and 
development arrangements.  The MOU aligns the management of the Greater Manchester 
Key Route Network with that of the Strategic Road Network to deliver the most efficient 
management of the highway network; and provides a partnership approach to investment 
to ensure it supports local and national economic growth priorities.   We are working closely 
with Highways England to develop strategic priorities, better manage demand for travel by 
car, more closely integrate the operation of the Strategic Road and Key Route Networks, and 
deal with existing and potential bottlenecks on key highway links. 

317. The Strategic Road Network that links Greater Manchester to other northern cities contains 
some of the busiest and least reliable roads in the country.  The M60, for example, which plays 
a vital part in the life of Greater Manchester, is ranked second only to the M25 in England with 
respect to congestion.   The strategic highway network around Greater Manchester is 
particularly critical to the delivery of a more reliable northern highways network that can 
support the future movement of people and goods across the North of England.   

318. There has been significant investment in Greater Manchester’s strategic road network in 
recent years, primarily through the Government’s first Road Investment Strategy (RIS1).  RIS1 
covered the period 2015 to 2020, and contained a number of improvements to the strategic 
road network to improve its performance and reliability.  This included rolling out Smart 
Motorways on key sections of the M60 and M62. The second Road Investment Strategy (RIS2, 
2020-2025) will continue this roll-out, with Smart Motorway schemes on the M6 and M56 and 
on the trans-Pennine section of the M62. RIS2 will also see delivery of improvements at 
Junction 18 of the M60 (Simister Island); and delivery of the Mottram Moor Link Road and the 
adjacent A57(T) to A57 Link.   

319. We will work with our partners to help develop the Government’s investment plans over the 
longer-term and define the content of future Road Investment Strategies, through continuing 
work on major strategic studies of the Northwest Quadrant of the M60 and the Trans-Pennine 
Tunnel  and the  South Manchester Highways and Transport Study and M60 South-East 
Junction studies (announced in RIS2), and through Route Strategies to inform RIS3. In doing so 
we will seek to ensure that SRN schemes do not impact adversely on the local road network. 
We will also work with partners to identify the potential of travel demand management , 
including park and ride, to reduce congestion on the motorway network and KRN.   

320. The Major Road Network (MRN) was designated by the Government following a consultation 
in 2018. It incorporates the country’s busiest and most economically important local authority 
A-Roads and forms a middle tier sitting between the SRN and the rest of the local road 
network. The MRN has five central objectives which build on the commitments made by 
Government in the Transport Investment Strategy. Those objectives are to reduce congestion; 
to support economic growth and rebalancing; to support housing delivery; to support all road 
users, including cyclists, pedestrians and disabled people; and to support the Strategic Road 
Network. For Greater Manchester, the MRN includes important A-roads connecting key 

Page 594



 

95 

centres to the SRN and providing cross boundary links, including, for example, the A6, A34, 
A58, A580 and A666.  Substantial sections of the Inner Relief Route also form part of the 
MRN. 

321. A specific new funding stream was dedicated to improvements on MRN roads.  As with the 
RIS for the SRN, this is allocated in five year blocks and draws on the National Roads Fund. The 
schemes to be funded in the first five-years of the MRN (subject to completion of business 
cases) were announced in 2019, drawing on Regional Evidence Bases (REB) created by the 
sub-regional transport bodies such as Transport for the North. In Greater Manchester, two 
schemes were included in this first tranche – the A34 Cheadle-Handforth Improvement Plan 
Phase 1 in Stockport and the Wigan East-West Strategic Route, the latter being designated a 
Large Local Major (LLM).  We will work with our key partners to help bring these schemes to 
fruition and to shape and develop both the structure of the MRN and further schemes and 
investment plans over the longer-term. 

What are Smart Motorways? 

Smart Motorways use increasingly sophisticated technology-driven techniques to increase 
capacity and reduce delays on our motorway network by using variable speed limits, ‘all lane 
running’, and variable message signing to smooth traffic flows, provide more reliable 
journey times, provide better information to drivers, reduce collisions , and reduce noise 
and vehicle emissions.  These techniques enable us to get much more capacity out of our 
existing highways infrastructure and improve journeys for drivers.  

Page 595



 

96 

City to City Freight Movement 

  

322. Freight and logistics have a significant role to play in the economic growth of the region and 
present an emerging Northern golden triangle of warehousing and logistics activity. Greater 
Manchester lies at the heart of this golden triangle, with the Manchester Ship Canal providing 
a strategic western gateway to Greater Manchester and the Northern Powerhouse.  Port 
Salford and other logistics developments in areas such as Trafford Park, Carrington and 
Heywood, will be a major asset in achieving the freight and logistics objectives of Transport 
for the North’s Strategic Transport Plan.  

323. The strategic resilience of the motorway network, with a major focus on delivering 
transformational improvements the M60, will be critical to supporting the reliable movement 
of goods.    Improvements to our city to city rail connectivity are also becoming increasingly 
urgent, not just to support movement of people, but to help transport more freight by rail 
rather than road.  

324. Furthermore, Airport City and the World Logistics Hub will create significant opportunities for 
freight and distribution linked to the Airport, and there is potential for other new and enlarged 
sites across Greater Manchester, as identified in the GMSF. 

325. Transport for Greater Manchester, alongside partners, will continue to cooperate on 
development and delivery of inter-urban freight strategies which look at all aspects of this 
complex sector and seek to deliver any interventions identified to improve connections between 
our city-regions for the sustainable movement of goods.  

Page 596



 

97 

326. Proposed interventions supporting improved City-to-City links are set out in Our Five Year 
Transport Delivery Plan (2020-2025). 

Page 597



 

98 

Travel To and Within Our Regional Centre 

 

327. The Regional Centre (which comprises Manchester City Centre and the adjacent areas of The 
Quays to the west, the Oxford Road Corridor to the south, and the Etihad Campus/Manchester 
Life to the east) is, and will continue to be, a major driver of economic growth in Greater 
Manchester.  Over recent decades this area has been transformed from a prosperous core, 
surrounded by an area of poor urban quality and neglected former industrial areas, to a much 
larger and thriving focal point for knowledge-based and creative industries; retail and leisure; 
and education and healthcare.  The number of people living here has grown exponentially over 
the past two decades, transforming it into an important residential, as well as employment 
and leisure, location.  Further planned growth will mean that this area will increasingly 
function as a single major economic driver at the core of the conurbation, and our transport 
strategy needs to help support this. 

328. The City Centre is also the major hub for our Greater Manchester transport network, and many 
of our public transport networks converge there, providing excellent connectivity from across 
the city-region and beyond.   

329. The rapid growth in housing and employment experienced in recent years is set to continue 
over the period to 2040.  From a transport perspective, concentrating high levels of compact 
development in such an accessible and well-connected part of Greater Manchester is 
welcomed, but there are significant challenges ahead in terms of managing traffic congestion, 
ensuring excellent connectivity across our Regional Centre, and ensuring a high quality of life 
for residents, visitors and workers. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Our ambition is for a well-connected, zero-carbon Regional Centre at the heart of the North 
(served by HS2 and Northern Powerhouse Rail Services), offering residents, employees and 
visitors a great place to live, work and visit.  To support our Right Mix vision, we are aiming 
for 90% of morning peak trips into the city centre to be made on foot, by bicycle or public 
transport before 2040. This means fewer cars in the Regional Centre so we can give more 
space for people to walk and cycle and to create more liveable, cleaner and greener places.  
Freight and servicing will also be better managed to minimise the negative impacts of 
commercial vehicles on the Regional Centre.   

Page 598



 

99 

 

The Right Mix for travel to and within our Regional Centre 

 

330. We are targeting a 35% increase in the number of Regional Centre trips, with an increase in the 
mode share of walk, cycle, and rail transport, including Metrolink.  Bus travel to the Regional 
Centre is also targeted to increase, despite a reduction in its mode share.  We expect to 
achieve that in part through more people living in the Regional Centre, many of whom will also 
work there, leading to more active travel, encouraged by a better environment for walking and 
cycling.   Also needed will be a step-change in the capacity and connectivity of rail-based rapid 
transit, potentially achieved by a Regional Centre metro tunnel.  Increased priority will be 
needed for buses, including new terminus facilities.  An increase in the number of cross-city 
bus services will improve bus access to the Regional Centre.  

Key Supporting Evidence 

• c.70,000 people live in Manchester City Centre.   

• There could be 50,000 more homes there by 2040 

• Over 200,000 people work in Manchester City Centre, with a total of 290,000 in the 

Regional Centre as a whole. 

• By 2040, more than 400,000 people are expected to be working in the Regional 

Centre 

• In 2019, 79% of morning peak inbound trips into the City Centre were by public 

transport, cycling or walking. This equated to nearly 100,000 inbound trips by these 

modes over a two hour period. 

• By 2040 Salford Quays could have 15,000 additional jobs and 15,000 more homes 

• The Right Mix target for the Regional Centre anticipates an increase in walk, cycle, 

and public transport trips from 560,000 per day in 2017 to 970,000 per day in 2040, 

with car trips reduced from 390,000 per day to 310,000 per day. 

 
 

Page 599



 

100 

 

 
Regional Centre themes 

331. Our transport strategy for the Regional Centre is focused around three key themes (sustainable 
long-term economic growth, transformed connectivity and improved liveability), to ensure 
improvements are targeted towards meeting wider aspirations for the area, as set out below.   

Transport for a 2040 Regional Centre Economy 

Supporting a Northern Powerhouse Economy 
332. For Greater Manchester to play its full part in the levelling up agenda, and the delivery of a 

Northern Powerhouse economy over the period to 2040, improved connectivity between our 
northern city centres is critical.  The arrival of High Speed 2 (HS2) and Northern Powerhouse 
Rail services into the Piccadilly Hub will support transformational growth of our Greater 
Manchester economy and further boost the attractiveness of our Regional Centre as a focus 
for investment.  Improved city-to-city connectivity, particularly by rail, will support growth of 
the Regional Centre’s knowledge-based economy, enabling more rapid exchange of knowledge 
and ideas, improving access to skills and labour, and supporting greater levels of productivity 
and innovation in our great Northern towns and city-regions. 

333. We are already planning how we can fully integrate these transformational infrastructure 
improvements with our wider local and regional transport networks to maximise the benefits 
for Greater Manchester.  While Manchester City Centre is well connected, regionally, 
nationally and internationally (via its rail link to the Airport), there will be a need to ensure The 
Quays, home to the BBC and ITV, has the connections its businesses need. 

Transformation of Piccadilly Hub  

Piccadilly Station will be transformed into a world-class interchange, and gateway into the 
city centre. There is more work to do to assess the role that rail is likely to play in the future 
shape of the city centre, and work with the rail industry to improve the rail offering where it 

Page 600



 

101 

does not currently meet the needs of the area. A major new transport hub at Piccadilly 
Station will encompass: 

• a new HS2 station and access arrangements for Northern Powerhouse Rail and other 
heavy rail services;  

• rapid transit access strategy, encompassing Metrolink, tram-train and potential rail 
tunnel proposals; 

• transformed public realm and walking and cycling connectivity; 

• improved bus and coach access; and 

• highways and vehicular access arrangements for servicing, taxis and cars.   

334. Our Regional Centre transport hubs will need to expand their role as key gateways to Greater 
Manchester, creating a crucial first impression of our city-region. They must be designed to 
meet rapidly evolving customer service and experience expectations.  Our transport hubs must 
also allow seamless interchange between transport services and be well integrated with 
surrounding areas, particularly through local pedestrian and cycling connections.   In addition 
to Piccadilly Hub; Victoria, Oxford Road Salford Central and Salford Crescent stations will all be 
important Regional Centre gateways, providing access to national, regional and local transport 
services, and will be major focal points for growth and regeneration in their own right over the 
period to 2040.   The sheer growth in passenger numbers flowing into, through and out of 
these interchanges will require a step-change improvement in capacity, quality and legibility of 
provision, for pedestrians in particular.   

Accommodating growth in commuter travel 
 

335. By 2040, the City Centre is expected to have an additional 50,000 homes over and above what 
exists today. There could also be 100,000 more jobs in the City Centre by this date. At The 
Quays, MediaCityUK will be double its current size. Our transport systems will therefore need 
to accommodate a dramatic increase in commuter trips into and across the Regional Centre.  
We must plan now for this growth to avoid the Regional Centre becoming more congested 
with traffic.   

336. In a constrained urban environment, there is only limited opportunity to provide significant 
additional transport capacity on our road and rail networks.  Hence, much of the additional 
capacity will need to be provided by making more efficient use of the transport networks we 
already have, to maximise the movement of people into and across the area.    

337. In the City Centre, our aim is to deliver the desired economic growth without any further 
growth in peak period car traffic.  We recognise that this is a major challenge, particularly as 
we estimate that we will need to accommodate around 68,000 additional commuter trips in 
the morning peak period by 2040.   Car commuting to The Quays is currently much higher than 
in the City Centre, reflecting the sparser public transport network. Here, our aim is to reduce 
significantly the proportion of trips made by car. Our focus is on improving the quality and 
capacity of our public transport and walking and cycling networks to encourage as many 
people as possible to travel to the Regional Centre by these modes. We must also ensure that 

Page 601



 

102 

our streets can cope with the huge increase in public transport passengers who will be walking 
or cycling from interchanges to their final destination.   

338. We have undertaken a detailed review of the role of our Regional Centre highways network - 
with a particular focus on the relationship between our key orbital highways systems - 
Manchester and Salford Inner Relief Route (MSIRR), the intermediate ring road, and the M60 - 
to understand how we can make best use of the capacity that we already have and how we 
can minimise the negative impacts of roads and traffic on the quality of life within the Regional 
Centre.  The highway network around The Quays is congested at peak times, with Trafford 
Road the only north-south route across the Manchester Ship Canal and Regent Road the main 
link between the City Centre, The Quays and the M602. Tackling congestion on corridors into 
and across our Regional Centre will be a major priority through a range of demand 
management measures, and measures to encourage modal shift, including park and ride 
provision, better walking and cycling infrastructure, and bus priority.   

339. We have also undertaken detailed analysis of the role of our rapid transit networks (including 
heavy rail, Metrolink and bus rapid transit) in delivering the additional capacity we need, and 
to complement proposed improvements to HS2 and Northern Powerhouse Rail services.  The 
work we have done to-date has concluded that, by 2040, we will need significant additional 
cross-city capacity. This capacity may best be delivered through the construction of new rail 
tunnels beneath the city centre to enable us to deliver the excellent connectivity and faster 
journey times we need without taking up valuable land or creating further severance by 
building new lines at street level.   

340. We have identified a phased approach to enhancing our Regional Centre rapid transit 
networks to meet the long-term needs of our rapidly growing economy as follows: 

i. Short-term (to mid-2020s): Completion of Northern Hub works and introduction of 
enhanced, higher-capacity heavy rail services; and increased capacity on the busiest 
Metrolink lines by running more double-unit vehicles; 

ii. Medium-term (to 2030): Develop and deliver tram-train to improve rapid transit 
connectivity into and across the Regional Centre and develop potential cross-city metro 
proposals; develop proposals for our suburban rail network to complement Northern 
Powerhouse Rail network; and  

iii. Long-term (from mid-2030s): Implement cross-city rapid transit capacity enhancements, 
potentially through tunnelled metro services, and deliver suburban rail enhancements to 
complement Northern Powerhouse Rail.    

341. Buses will also need to play a much bigger role in accommodating the growth in trips into and 
across the Regional Centre. While bus is ideally suited to shorter journeys, it needs to play an 
increased role on corridors where there is no rapid transit, especially for journeys of up to 10 
km. We need to transform buses into a mode of transport that all travellers are happy to use 
(as is the case in London), through provision of high quality, reliable services and clean, 
comfortable vehicles, supported by simple, integrated, affordable and smart ticketing. At the 
same time, we need to ensure buses are providing the links between deprived communities 
close to, but currently poorly connected with, the new jobs. 

Page 602



 

103 

342. Walking and cycling are both critical to the success of our Regional Centre.  Investment in 
quality provision for pedestrians and cyclists is relatively low-cost, enables the movement of 
high volumes of people in a constrained urban environment, and will help to create a healthier 
and cleaner city-region.  We will continue to invest in high-capacity and high-quality walking 
and cycle routes into and across the City Centre to enable higher proportions of trips to be 
made. Easy movement around the City Centre on foot is also important for those arriving by 
public transport or by car and this will bring economic benefits by improving access to key 
attractions and improving the image of the city. In the Quays, the Manchester Ship Canal acts 
as a barrier to pedestrian and cycle movement and better links across it will be needed, both 
to provide links with adjacent communities and to maximise the benefits of the Trafford Park 
Metrolink extension, which provides additional commuter capacity.      

343. We will also need to carefully manage demand for travel, to encourage people to think about 
how and when they travel into the Regional Centre.  Smart, tailored customer information will 
be a crucial part of this, as will managing the availability and cost of car parking.  We will also 
have to make difficult decisions on how we make best use of the limited highways capacity we 
have within the Regional Centre to maximise the efficiency of our transport networks.  
Without carefully targeted demand management (see section 133), we will simply not achieve 
the levels of growth that we aspire to, and the Regional Centre will become choked by 
congestion and pollution.  We are also developing detailed plans to determine when and how 
freight and servicing vehicles access the Regional Centre, to minimise negative impacts on 
congestion and quality of life. 

Supporting the night-time and weekend economy   
 

344. Our Regional Centre already has a vibrant 24/7 economy; and leisure, retail and tourism 
activities are critical to the future economic success of Greater Manchester. Different parts of 
the Regional Centre have their own unique characteristics from a leisure and tourism 
perspective.  The Etihad Campus area of East Manchester has established itself as a major 
sporting complex of international reputation.  The Quays is one of the main tourism 
destinations in Greater Manchester, with The Lowry theatre, galleries and shopping centre, 
Imperial War Museum North, MediaCityUK , and the adjacent Old Trafford stadium and 
museum attracting significant numbers of visitors.  The City Centre itself has a variety of major 
retail, entertainment and leisure attractions.   

 

Page 603



 

104 

345. The transport network must be carefully designed to support this economy, focusing on the 
needs of different markets at different times of the day and the week, and ensuring that the 
transport offer is as integrated and easy to understand as possible, particularly for visitors who 
are less familiar with the Regional Centre.  As well as providing public transport services that 
operate for all or much of the night,  travel by all modes of transport must be safe and secure, 
and we must make the right provision, available, for example the allocation of pick up/drop off 
zones and  parking/waiting areas, for supporting transport services, such as chartered coaches, 
hackney cabs and private hire vehicles. A carefully designed car parking management strategy 
will also be critical to the success of our night-time and weekend economy.   

 
Embracing innovation  

346. In delivering our aspirations for the Regional Centre, there is a significant opportunity to 
embrace the latest thinking in transport innovation and technology to improve customer 
experience and to maximise the performance, resilience and safety of our transport networks.  
We want Greater Manchester to be recognised as a world leader in transport innovation, and 
the size of the Regional Centre provides the scope to use new technology to maximise the 
capacity, efficiency, resilience and safety of our transport networks and to deliver 
transformational change to customers through improvements to travel information, ticketing 
and payment and wayfinding.   We will also explore technologies that support more efficient 
use of kerbside space and improve the management of deliveries and servicing within the 
Regional Centre. 

347. In 2020, changes were made to the Road Traffic Act and other regulations to enable e-scooter 
hire trials. As Greater Manchester recovered from the Covid-19 pandemic, e-scooters were of 
particular interest because they provided a flexible means of travel while maintaining social-
distancing. E-scooters can also improve first/last mile and intermodal connectivity, and act as a 
catalyst to encourage active travel.  We will continue to explore the role of e-scooters in 
improving connectivity into and within the Regional Centre, through the implementation of 
trials and by carefully monitoring and evaluating their use over time.  

348. We also want to ensure that the use of digital communication is widely adopted and that we 
utilise live information and data to monitor and respond to periods of peak demand and 
feedback on network performance and reliability.  People will be able to access real-time 
information about their journeys so they can make informed choices on their travel options 
into and within the city centre. 

Connectivity within a rapidly growing Regional Centre 

349. High levels of well-designed new development will be accommodated in this highly accessible 
and sustainable location, prioritising the use of previously developed land. Raising the quality 
of these places will depend on tackling issues such as congestion and air quality, which are 
typically more severe than in many other parts of the city-region. 

350. We will continue to support the transformation of brownfield sites on the periphery of the City 
Centre, many of which are currently used for low-cost, informal car parks, into high-quality and 
high-density development. The loss of informal parking provision will be a major catalyst in 

Page 604



 

105 

reducing the attractiveness of car travel to the Regional Centre, but will need to be supported 
by provision of alternative travel options.  

351. There are regeneration frameworks already in place for many of these sites, containing 
ambitious plans for a variety of mixed-use developments, including significant volumes of new 
housing.  As more peripheral Regional Centre sites are developed, we must ensure that they 
are carefully stitched into the fabric of the surrounding urban area and ensure excellent 
connectivity to our major city centre transport interchanges.  We will fully embed sustainable 
travel into new developments by ensuring that excellent walking and cycling facilities are 
provided; developing tailored parking and servicing management strategies; engaging with 
occupiers to encourage sustainable travel behaviour from the outset; and providing other 
supporting interventions, such as car clubs.     

352. We will also continue to focus on improving connectivity between the City Centre and both 
The Quays and the Etihad Campus area.  The relatively short distances involved provide an 
excellent opportunity to promote higher levels of walking and cycling, through ongoing 
investment in pedestrian and cycle networks, including exploiting the potential of our 
waterways by providing better facilities along the River Irwell and our extensive canal network.  
This investment will be supported by comprehensive and consistent on-street and digital 
wayfinding infrastructure.   

353. We are considering a range of potential improvements to rapid transit connections from our 
major city centre interchanges to key destinations across the Regional Centre, including Salford 
Quays, MediaCityUK and Old Trafford; and the Etihad Campus and Manchester Life areas of 
East Manchester. These will be further bolstered by increased bus coverage within the 
Regional Centre, which we will target towards areas with increasing residential populations 
such as the areas around Salford Central and Greengate.  

354. Streets leading to the city centre require significant improvement for people using public 
transport and cycling in particular. Greater Manchester’s emerging City Centre Transport 
Strategy, and Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan, set out plans to improve these radial 
routes.  
 

355. The rapidly expanding City Centre will quickly extend beyond the confines of our existing major 
transport infrastructure, and particularly the MSIRR, which comprises the Mancunian Way, 
Miller Street, Great Ancoats Street and Trinity Way and which in some areas creates a 
significant barrier to movement between the City Centre and the wider Regional Centre.  As 
this expansion occurs, we will continue to review the role and function of major highways, 
such as the MSIRR, and will seek to minimise the severance effects of such barriers for people 
moving into and out of the city centre on foot or by bike.  

 

A Liveable Regional Centre 

356. The economic success of our Regional Centre is closely linked to the quality of the urban 
environment.  If we want it to be an attractive place to live and invest in, we must ensure that 
the urban realm is attractive and clean; that the city is not choked with traffic; and that we 
offer a safe and secure environment at all times.  A Regional Centre which offers a high quality 
of life will enable us to attract and retain the skills and talent that our city-region needs to fulfil 

Page 605



 

106 

its long-term potential.  It will also help to build on Greater Manchester’s existing role as a 
major visitor attraction, by creating a strong, positive first impression to those visiting the city 
for business or leisure. 

357. As well as an attractive built environment, we must provide the right supporting green and 
blue infrastructure and open spaces, which enable the city to breathe and provide a welcome 
escape from the hustle and bustle of urban living.  Such infrastructure will also provide active 
travel opportunities, enabling people to move easily and directly through the city on direct and 
traffic free corridors.  This urban environment must be as inclusive as possible, to enable those 
of all ages and with a range of mobility impairments to enjoy the opportunities and facilities 
offered within our Regional Centre.  All transport improvements must therefore be designed 
with inclusivity and accessibility in mind.      

358. Creating a more liveable Regional Centre will also require concerted action to tackle our 
existing Air Quality problems and, over time, we want all vehicles entering the city centre core 
to be ultra-low emission vehicles (ULEVs).   

359. Proposed interventions supporting travel to and within our Regional Centre are set out, in 
detail, in Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan.  

Page 606



 

107 

Travel Across the Wider City-region 

360. Beyond the Regional Centre, Greater Manchester is polycentric, with a diverse mix of town 
centres, employment areas, major hospitals, educational establishments and visitor 
attractions, which generate highly complex commuting, business, logistics and leisure travel 
patterns across the city-region and to and from neighbouring areas. 

The Right Mix for travel across the Wider City-region 

 

361. We are targeting an overall reduction in the number of trips across the Wider City-region, 
with rapid transit taking an 8% mode-share and cycling taking a 5% mode share.  An 
important driver of the overall reduction in wider city-region trips will be an increase in the 
number of neighbourhood trips, in part due to more people living in high-density locations 
such as town centres. At present, car is the dominant mode of travel for wider city-region trips, 
with car and taxi accounting for an estimated 83% of them in 2017.  We expect to achieve the 
targeted changes in mode of travel through transformational cycling policies and a step-
change in the capacity and connectivity of rapid transit, so that rapid transit modes are used 
for longer wider city-region trips that are at present made by car via the M60. 

362. In future, we expect to adopt different targets for wider city-region trips to and from town 
centres, to support the Mayor’s vision in Town Centre Challenge, that “We need to build a new 
future for those towns through higher density mixed and affordable housing, with local retail 

Our ambition is that our regenerated town centres are easy to get to, particularly by 
sustainable modes, and pleasant to walk around and spend time in.  Journeys across the 
area, between centres or to other major destinations will be made easier through improved 
orbital public transport and cycle connections and less congested roads. Road collisions will 
fall, year on year, moving towards our goal of reducing deaths and serious injuries as close as 
possible to zero. The significant new development expected in Greater Manchester will be 
accessible by sustainable modes of transport, so that the impact of the extra trips on the 
road network is minimised. 

Page 607



 

108 

and leisure facilities and supported by transport and digital connectivity.”  Defining Right Mix 
targets for town centre trips will require further work. 

The patterns of movement across the Wider city-region 

363. There are specific and dense commuting flows to the centre of the conurbation, with 38% of 
employment located inside the M60. However, there are increasingly important local flows 
between adjacent local authority areas, with all parts of the conurbation becoming less self-
contained than in the past and more reliant on flows of people and goods to and from other 
parts of Greater Manchester. Specialisation in the provision of healthcare and 
education/training across the conurbation has further emphasised the importance of mobility 
across traditional municipal boundaries. The diagram below shows commuting flows between 
Greater Manchester local authority areas, and from neighbouring authorities into Greater 
Manchester, in 2011. 

364. The range of work and business opportunities in Greater Manchester means that there are 
significant further flows to and from neighbouring areas to the south, west and north in 
particular; flows into the east are more limited, with the Pennines reducing connectivity. 
Increasingly, business and commuter travel patterns will also be influenced by strategic 
developments: the growth potential of the Atlantic Gateway in the west; the growth of 
Manchester Airport and the arrival of HS2 in the south; the potential of the West Coast Main 
Line to boost the economy of the north west, via its link to HS2; and the potential for the east 
to develop in relation to Leeds and Sheffield as a result of Northern Powerhouse connectivity. 
Improving travel across the city-region is therefore an integral part of improving city-to-city 
links and links to global gateways. 

365. In addition, the leisure economy of Greater Manchester has continued to grow, establishing 
parts of the conurbation as major sporting, entertainment, heritage, retail and other event 
destinations with new patterns of leisure traffic both within and into the conurbation. This 
growth has started to blur distinctions between traditional peak and off-peak periods of 
demand for travel in some of the city-region’s most important corridors. 

366. Our 2040 Vision identified the need for effective connections to make it easier to reach key 
destinations by public transport, to improve journey times on the busiest local roads and to 
make walking and cycling more attractive for short trips. It also highlighted the importance of 
supporting the economies of town centres through high quality public transport links and 
attractive walk and cycle routes, since these centres play a vital role in providing local services 
as well as well as acting as transport hubs. 

Supporting Vital and Vibrant Town Centres 

367. The eight main town centres (Altrincham, Ashton-under-Lyne, Bolton, Bury, Oldham, Rochdale, 
Stockport and Wigan) provide a critical mass of facilities and services and are the hubs of local 
public transport networks, making them highly sustainable locations. Significant investment 
has been made, or is planned, in improved public transport infrastructure and services in the 
form of new interchanges and Metrolink extensions. They are now facing a fundamental 
challenge due to changes in the retail sector (particularly the growth of online shopping).      

Page 608



 

109 

368. All the centres have regeneration strategies aimed at widening their appeal through a better 
quality offer, broadening the range of uses by including housing, recreational and community 
facilities and so increasing footfall to the retail areas. Transport has an important role to play in 
supporting this regeneration through provision of good quality public transport infrastructure 
and services, safe cycle and pedestrian routes, secure and convenient car parking, and access 
for servicing and deliveries. In addition, a more pleasant environment can be created for 
visitors by reducing the dominance of the car in and improving pedestrian routes. 

369. Each centre faces different challenges, and each is responding by creating a more distinct role. 
Oldham is investing in a comprehensive regeneration initiative, the ‘Creating a Better Place’ 
vision, to improve and diversify the town centre through investment in the leisure, retail and 
cultural offer, with housing as the catalyst. Major investment in the eastern gateway will bring 
new retail and residential development, and will need to be supported by an improved 
transport interchange. 

370. Rochdale has developed a riverside, heritage-based offer with tourism potential, along with 
major re-development, while Ashton-under-Lyne is delivering its ‘Vision Tameside’ strategy, 
focussing on serving its primary catchment area and providing a focus for shopping, access to 
transport, education and skills through the re-location of the college into the central area. 
There is a need to improve the public realm and unite different parts of the centres, making it 
easier for pedestrians to move between retail areas, car parks, public transport interchanges, 
cultural and educational facilities. 

  

Page 609



 

110 

371. Bury has become a very successful retail centre, attracting visitors from across Greater 
Manchester but with a catchment extending into East Lancashire. Parts of the expanded retail 
area are not well linked to the Interchange, and there is an opportunity to regenerate the 
surrounding area as well as redeveloping the Interchange to provide the higher standard 
facilities now available in other centres, and to improve access to the Metrolink platforms. 
Improvements to connectivity across the centre are also needed to help maintain its 
competitive position.  In addition, pinch points at Bury Bridge and Rochdale Road/Heap Bridge 
lead to congestion on the approaches to the centre. 

372.  Bolton and Stockport both have potential to be the focus for office and commercial growth in 
the north and south of the conurbation respectively and this will need to be supported by an 
improved transport offer. Both require improved public transport interchange, and links from 
the interchanges into the town centre. Stockport also needs improved connectivity across the 
centre, principally by taking traffic off the A6 and giving more priority to pedestrians, cyclists 
and public transport.  In Altrincham, the emphasis is on developing a role as a modern market 
town, and capitalising on the strong demand for town centre housing. For this there is a need 
to continue to improve access and movement around the town centre, linking new 
development to the existing retail core.  

373. Wigan has suffered less from competition, due to its more isolated position, and is considered 
to be less at risk from retail trends than other key centres. However, to maintain its position it 
needs to attract customers from adjacent parts of Lancashire and Merseyside. As well as 
better road links there is a need to improve integration between its two rail stations and to 
improve links across the centre to support regeneration.  

374.  

Page 610



 

111 

 

 

Access to Employment, Services and Leisure 

375. Although Greater Manchester has an extensive public transport network, there are many 
locations where access to employment, services and leisure facilities is difficult without a car. 
Major out-of-town employment areas are often difficult to serve by bus, especially where shift 
working or 24/7 operation are prevalent, which makes the demand too dispersed for viable 
services. Affordability is also an issue for many people, as referenced in section 70. 

 

376. While major employment sites have good access from a local town centre, or from the 
Regional entre, they can be difficult to reach from many communities, particularly where 
orbital public transport links are unattractive. Jobs in the major employment concentrations 
of Trafford Park/Trafford Centre, Salford Quays, the Airport/Enterprise Zone and the future 
Port Salford are difficult to reach by non- car modes, particularly from the north and east of 

Key Supporting Evidence  

• The eight main town centres provide over 10% of jobs in Greater Manchester 

• Over 155,000 people travel into Greater Manchester each day to work, with around 130,000 
travelling outwards.  Greater Manchester is a net importer in terms of commuting 

• The largest cross boundary flows are with Cheshire East, with over 23,000 people commuting in, 

are around 16,000 travelling in the opposite direction. 

• The second largest cross boundary flows are with Warrington which sees 16,000 Greater 

Manchester residents travelling outbound, and 13,000 commuting in. 

 

Page 611



 

112 

the conurbation, but also more locally where public transport may not easily connect 
disadvantaged communities to these locations. Other significant employment areas such as 
Logistics North in Bolton, Heywood Distribution Park and Kingsway Business Park in Rochdale, 
Ashton Moss in Tameside and Hollinwood in Oldham, as well as smaller sites across the 
conurbation, have similar problems. There is a need to improve access to existing and any 
future additional large scale out-of-centre employment areas by public transport, active travel 
links and measures such as car club /cycle hire as well as using behaviour change 
interventions to make people aware of their travel options.  

377. The re-organisation and centralisation of public services also presents people with access 
problems, leading to longer and more complex journeys to reach hospitals and colleges. 
Colleges too are consolidating and becoming more specialised, leading to more travel. There 
is significant cross- border travel by students, eg from Lancashire to Salford and Manchester 
Universities, or from the Wigan area to colleges such as Myerscough. 

378. The Peak District National Park, which extends into Oldham, is a natural and recreational 
resource of both local and national importance and a significant trip attractor. Chew Brook 
Vale (Robert Fletchers) in Greenfield has been identified as a location in the GMSF for mixed 
use development that will support tourism and leisure facilities connected to its gateway 
location to the Peak District National Park. Leisure trips add to localised congestion in 
communities on the eastern fringe of the conurbation, where the roads also form part of vital 
trans-Pennine routes. Pressure on the road network in this area is increasing as incidents on 
the motorway cause motorists to seek alternatives. There is also a need to improve access for 
leisure without causing damage to the environment, and improved evening  and weekend 
public transport services would be beneficial. 

Providing Attractive Alternatives to Car Travel 

379. Greater Manchester’s public transport network is effective in linking people with the main 
town and city centres, and has been enhanced by recent investment in Metrolink. However 
this is not the case for many of the more orbital movements: between centres, or to out-of-
town locations. Bus services may not exist, due to low demand, or may be unattractive: 
because congestion results in long or unreliable journeys; or because the lack of integration 
between public transport services and modes makes people unwilling to interchange. Cross-
border journeys can also be a problem because of differing ticketing and fares. This is a 
significant issue for communities living close to the Greater Manchester boundary, such as in 
the Pennine areas of Oldham, where people wish to access towns such as Huddersfield. Part 2 
has set out our vision for integrated ticketing and a bus network that supports our economy 
and communities, as well as our approach to improving facilities at five classes of interchange.  

380. As a result of these issues, travel to work at locations such as Trafford Park, the Airport and 
many smaller business parks and industrial estates, is dominated by the car and people who do 
not have access to one are often unable to consider working there. This contributes to high 
levels of car use and congestion as well as creating a barrier to opportunity. There is no single 
solution to the problem, and we will need to identify the best way to improve orbital journeys 
on a case-by-case basis. Where there is a high demand and a fast route can be identified 
linking to a very major trip attractor (ie Manchester city centre or, in the future, Manchester 
Airport) it may be possible to develop new rapid transit routes, using either Metrolink, tram-
train (see section 196) or bus rapid transit.  

Page 612



 

113 

381. However, given the very high cost, rapid transit is most likely to be justified where it serves 
existing concentrations of middle-distance trips: in such cases, rapid transit may be able to 
support significant new development.  A number of routes have been identified as having 
potential for tram-train or other metro-type services, for example: Manchester to Marple; 
Manchester to Glossop; Manchester to Wigan via Atherton; and Stockport to Altrincham.  
Work has recently been carried out to identify the potential to provide rapid transit between 
Oldham/Ashton and Stockport, which is a national/regional transport hub. 

382. On corridors where there are high volumes of mostly short-distance trips, Quality Bus Transit 
can provide a step-change in the public transport offer, especially for travel between adjacent 
town centres and intermediate locations.  As described earlier in this document, Quality Bus 
Transit comprises whole-route upgrades of busy bus corridors, with the emphasis on quality, 
reliability, and integration into the urban realm.   It will offer similar quality of design to that of 
best-practice street-running light rail, with bus priority to achieve reliable services, attractive 
stops and interchanges, and high-quality vehicles. 

383.  We therefore need to make sure that bus priority and other bus infrastructure is in place 
throughout Greater Manchester to support existing and future jobs in the town centres and 
key employment areas and to give easier access to interchanges for onward travel.  Bus 
Corridor Upgrades – focused on achieving faster and more reliable bus services - are proposed 
on several sections of busy highway where Quality Bus Transit is not feasible due to the need 
to accommodate high volumes of general traffic.  In some places it may be possible to 
introduce short sections of segregated route to bypass congestion. Bus priority will also benefit 
middle- distance trips by bus to/from areas outside Greater Manchester such as East 
Lancashire, for which there is no viable rail alternative. 

384. We will also need to work with the rail industry to improve rail services for local journeys, 
bearing in mind the fact that limited capacity often means that a choice has to be made 
between improving local stopping services and long distance ones.  In the future, additional 
capacity may be released following the arrival of HS2.  Improvements to rail services have the 
potential to relieve the road network for middle- and long-distance journeys both within 
Greater Manchester and to neighbouring areas. Increased capacity and speed on the line to 
Warrington central would make rail more attractive for journeys to the Birchwood and Omega 
employment areas, while improvements to the Clitheroe-Manchester rail line would benefit 
both commuters and students. The Preston-Bolton-Manchester line will become increasingly 
important for commuters with the growth of the Buckshaw Village major mixed use 
development near Chorley, while the proposed Skelmersdale rail link and station will reduce 
car traffic in the west of Wigan.  Our Prospectus for Rail contains proposed interventions for 
improving the offer for rail-based transport, both on the National Rail network and the 
Metrolink network. 

385. Interchanges in the major town centres function as Greater Manchester Hubs, facilitating 
travel across the conurbation, and we will continue to make sure that these provide high 
quality facilities. We will also identify locations such as local towns and large employment or 
service sites (eg major hospitals) that can increase their role as Local Hubs, making interchange 
easier for a range of day-to-day journeys. Improvements to the rail stations and Metrolink 
stops that act as Neighbourhood Gateways are also vital in encouraging public transport use 
(see section 167). 

Page 613



 

114 

386. Cycling can provide a healthy, low-cost alternative to car travel. However, cycle routes are 
often fragmented and while strategic routes have been developed inside the M60, investment 
elsewhere has been more piecemeal.  This is now being remedied through the Bee Network, 
which will deliver a Greater Manchester-wide network of dedicated, high quality, newly built 
or enhanced cycle routes. The Bee Network is the longest planned walking and cycling network 
in the UK and when complete, it will connect every neighbourhood of Greater Manchester.  

387. Improvements to infrastructure and services alone will not be enough to achieve a significant 
modal shift. Travel choices interventions will be needed, particularly to persuade people that 
journeys involving interchange have become easier. Our programmes will include: working 
with businesses and their employees to encourage them to use sustainable modes; informing 
jobseekers about how they could travel to jobs, and providing support; promoting the use of 
new transport infrastructure and services; working with key healthcare and education sites 
and tourism venues to promote sustainable travel; and promoting sustainable transport to 
major new developments. 

Delivering a More Reliable Highway Network 

388. The Strategic Road Network around Greater Manchester performs a vital role in supporting 
movement across the city-region as well as providing regional and national links. It is at 
capacity in peak periods in key areas and its use for many local journeys reduces its availability 
for longer distance trips. Problems are particularly acute in Salford, which is at the confluence 
of motorways approaching the Regional Centre. An increase in traffic volumes has had a 
disproportionate impact on journey times in Salford West, and this will be exacerbated by 
planned developments in the area.  Congestion is also a serious problem on the M60 through 
Stockport town centre and around Denton Interchange, around Sharston on the M56, and on 
the M66 past Bury town centre and Heywood Distribution Park to its intersection with the 
M60 and M62 at Simister Island. The limited number of crossings over the Manchester Ship 
Canal also has the effect of increasing traffic flows and congestion on the M60 around Barton 
High Level Bridge.  The resulting congestion in these areas reduces connectivity across the 
conurbation and with neighbouring areas including Warrington, Cheshire East and East 
Lancashire, and leads to overflow onto local roads, with adverse effects on local communities. 

389. There are also congestion hotspots and slow peak journey times on the local road network 
throughout the conurbation, particularly on the approaches to town centres, Manchester city 
centre and the Trafford Centre, and on routes leading to the motorway network. Traffic 
accessing motorway junctions results in congestion in adjacent communities eg Milnrow in 
relation to M62 junction 21. Commuter and through traffic is a major problem in some areas, 
particularly in the Longdendale area of Tameside where traffic from Glossop is added to longer 
distance traffic from the A57 Snake Pass route from Sheffield and A628 Woodhead Pass route 
from Barnsley, and on major routes through Stockport and Trafford, particularly the A34, 
which carry commuter traffic from Cheshire East and High Peak. The capacity issues across our 
road network give rise to issues of congestion, safety for vulnerable road users, poor air 
quality, high carbon emissions and unreliable bus journey times. 

Page 614



 

115 

 

390.  In addition, the nature of the road network is an issue in some areas. In Wigan the major 
roads wind through many small centres, resulting in slow journey times, while in the Pennine 
foothills the roads become rural in nature and many are unsuited to the volume of traffic they 
are now carrying. The lack of good quality alternative routes puts additional pressure on the 
M62, adding to congestion on that road. However major improvements, or new infrastructure, 
could have a damaging impact on the environment of the National Park through which these 
routes run. A further issue is that of resilience, with adverse weather conditions leading to the 
closure of Pennine routes in the winter.  Roads in the Pennine fringe areas have particular 
maintenance problems due to the topography and the weather, with structures such as dry 
stone walls and gullies essential to keeping key arteries open. As climate change continues, 
adverse weather is likely to become a more frequent and widespread issue.  

391. The pressure to move increasing volumes of road traffic efficiently across the city-region as the 
population and economy grows must be balanced with protecting local communities and 
maintaining the viability and accessibility of local centres along key routes, ensuring that they 
are places for people and not just for traffic. Our priority is to make the best use of the existing 
road network through a combination of using technology to better manage traffic flows and 
travel demand management to encourage people to travel at different times, on different 
routes or to switch to public transport or cycling or walking. However, in some cases highway 
improvements will be needed to relieve congestion hotspots, improve safety on key freight 
routes, to facilitate new development or to mitigate the impact of traffic on local communities. 
We will need to ensure that environmental issues arising from new or improved highways are 
mitigated, particularly in terms of air quality and carbon emissions.  

392. As our economy expands, the growth in the logistics sector, through major new distribution 
sites across Greater Manchester and through growth in areas such as internet shopping, will 
potentially add to congestion on the network. We will work with businesses to develop re-
timing strategies to support freight deliveries outside of peak hours and also consider pilots for 

Page 615



 

116 

different types of Urban Distribution Centre. Both measures will reduce congestion and 
improve air quality in town centres. 

Supporting New Development 

393. Greater Manchester’s Plan for Homes, Jobs and the Environment (2020) – The Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) – has set out a blueprint for the scale and distribution 
of housing and employment development through to 2037.  The GMSF Spatial Strategy sets 
out policies across the following areas: 

• Core Growth Area: central Manchester, south-east Salford, and north Trafford 

• Inner Area Regeneration: surrounding inner parts of Manchester, Salford and Trafford  

• Boost Northern Competitiveness: Bolton, Bury, Oldham, Rochdale, Tameside, Wigan, and 
west Salford 

• Sustain Southern Competitiveness: Stockport, most of Trafford, and south Manchester 

394. A significant proportion of housing and employment growth is proposed within the Regional 
Centre combined with housing and employment development to boost competitiveness in 
northern areas of Greater Manchester and to sustain the competitiveness of the south.  

395. The provision of attractive public transport and active travel alternatives, supported by 
behaviour change measures, to reduce the need to travel by car, will be crucial if we are to 
fulfill Greater Manchester’s growth potential in a way that makes the conurbation a highly 
desirable place to live. In the case of employment development, it will also be vital to provide 
non-car access for workers, in order to spread the benefits of economic growth throughout 
the conurbation.  

396. Some major development areas could potentially be served by new rapid transit links 
(including bus rapid transit), subject to the development of a good business case.  In most 
cases, the key to improved public transport connectivity will be to improve access via 
interchange points, not only in the Regional Centre but increasingly through a network of 
Greater Manchester Hubs, served by better integrated services, including orbital services. 
Manchester Airport will have an increasingly important role in enabling improved public 
transport links across the south of the conurbation. Public transport, walking and cycling links 
to local stations close to development areas will also be important in extending the reach of 
the rail network.  

397. The provision of attractive cycle routes linking into existing networks will also have an 
important role to play in providing an alternative to car travel. As well as reducing car trips, 
cycling can offer a low-cost and flexible alternative for access to work, particularly where a 
low level of demand means that there is no public transport. 

398. While some additional road infrastructure, such as access roads or bypasses, will inevitably be 
required to serve very large-scale developments, improvements to the performance and 
resilience of our highways will not be achieved simply through road building.  Appropriate 

Page 616



 

117 

demand management will also be needed to manage traffic flows, particularly during peak 
periods.   

399. The levels of development anticipated across Greater Manchester over the period to 2040 will 
inevitably generate significant amounts of construction traffic and could potentially impact on 
the operation of our transport networks.  For example, the levels and nature of road traffic 
generated could add to congestion and impact on the safety of vulnerable road users.  We will 
work with partners to minimise impacts and safeguard the operation of our networks during 
construction works through, for example, the creation of Construction Management Plans for 
new developments. 

400. The draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) has identified development 
locations and corridors that are strategically significant in terms of their economic importance 
and role in meeting future development needs. Four of these: Manchester City Centre, The 
Quays, Port Salford, and Airport Gateway, have been discussed in previous chapters, however 
other areas have also been identified as strategic locations for development, as detailed 
below:  

The Main Town Centres 

401. The draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) states that the role of the main 
town centres as local economic drivers will continue to be developed, providing the primary 
focus for office, retail, leisure and cultural activity in their surrounding areas and providing 
complementary residential development. Future transport investment to support the role of 
town centres will therefore focus not only on improving access to the centre, in terms of 
public transport, car parking, loading/unloading facilities, cycle routes and signage, but 
creating a high quality environment for visitors, workers and residents to enjoy. This may 
include urban realm enhancements to improve the quality of pedestrian links and public 
spaces, or traffic management measures to reduce the impact of motorised vehicles in key 
areas. 

North-East Growth Corridor 

402. The North-East Growth Corridor which extends eastwards from junction 18 of the M62 will 
deliver a nationally-significant area of economic activity and growth which will be supported 
by a significant increase in the residential offer in this location, including in terms of type, 
quality and mix, thereby delivering truly inclusive growth over the lifetime of the GMSF.  Its 
location on strategic transport corridors, east-west to Liverpool, Leeds and Hull and north to 
Lancashire, will make it an attractive location for new and growing employment sectors such 
as advanced manufacturing and logistics. Significant investment in the transport network will 
be needed to support the scale of development proposed: to improve the reliability of the 
M60/M62, improve the operation of Simister Island, improve access to/from motorway 
junctions (particularly at J3 of the M66, and J19 of the M60), and create new sustainable 
transport links to connect the area in to adjacent residential areas and town centres as well as 
to the wider public transport network.  

403. There is also considered to be a potential opportunity for further expansion of the economic 
offer in the eastern most part of this key gateway location where the GMSF Key Diagram 
identifies the High Crompton Broad Location which has the potential to diversify further the 

Page 617



 

118 

employment and housing offer in Oldham by ensuring truly inclusive growth could be 
achieved which would help to reduce further the levels of deprivation and poverty. 

Wigan-Bolton Growth Corridor 

404. The Wigan – Bolton Growth Corridor will deliver a regionally-significant area of economic and 
residential development. The majority of new development in the corridor will be on 
previously-developed land, within the urban area. However, in order to meet the overall 
spatial strategy, the GMSF also allocates five sites within the area, and supports development 
at Royal Bolton Hospital.  

405. Proposed new highway infrastructure will connect junction 26 of the M6 and junction 5 and 
will improve public transport connections. Measures to improve the provision of bus services 
along the corridor and to increase the use of rail lines will be implemented, potentially 
including a Wigan to Bolton Quality Bus Transit corridor, conversion of the Atherton line to 
allow for metro/tram-train services, and the electrification of the Bolton to Wigan line. 

New Carrington 

406. New Carrington provides a significant opportunity to deliver a transformational mixed-use 
development. This location in the western part of Trafford enables the redevelopment of the 
extensive former Shell Carrington industrial estate, support the regeneration of neighbouring 
Partington and Sale West. The creation of a significant mixed-use development fully 
integrated with the existing communities of Carrington, Partington and Sale West will require 
major investment in active travel, public transport and highways infrastructure.  

407. The former railway line that runs through the site has considerable potential; offering the 
opportunity to deliver a sustainable transport corridor through the site to Timperley / 
Altrincham in the east and also extending through to Irlam / Cadishead in Salford to enable 
better movement across the Manchester Ship Canal. Major improvements in highway access 
will also be required, including the proposed Carrington Relief Road as well as upgrades to the 
Carrington Spur and Junction 8 of the M60 which connect into the development area.  

Other Locations  

408. In addition, there are other locations across Greater Manchester where new transport 
infrastructure will be required, either to open up the site or to provide sustainable transport 
alternatives to reduce the number of car trips generated. In some cases new infrastructure 
may also provide a benefit to the wider area. We will identify suitable measures and seek 
developer contributions as appropriate. 

Neighbouring Areas 

409. The Greater Manchester transport network will also be affected by planned growth in 
neighbouring areas. There are also major and growing employment centres just across the 
Greater Manchester boundary: in Cheshire East, where an additional 6,000 jobs are expected 
by 2030 (including in the North East Cheshire Science Corridor, encompassing Alderley Park 
and Daresbury), at Birchwood and Omega/Lingley Mere in Warrington; and around the M65 
in East Lancashire.  

Page 618



 

119 

410. Existing commuter movements will be increased by major residential development in 
Cheshire East, in the Buxton and Chapel-en-le-Frith areas of High Peak, at Buckshaw Village in 
Lancashire and in Warrington. We are working with neighbouring authorities to provide high 
quality, high capacity sustainable transport alternatives in order to relieve pressure on the 
highway network.  

411. Proposed interventions supporting travel across the Wider City-region are set out, in detail, in 
Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan.  

 

  

Page 619



 

120 

Connected Neighbourhoods 

 

 

412. The places we live have a major influence on our overall quality of life. Neighbourhoods need 
to be places where people can be safe, healthy, interact with their neighbours and have easy 
access to facilities like shops, schools, healthcare, recreation and a range of jobs. Perhaps 
most importantly they need to be inclusive, so that all residents can participate in community 
life and access the facilities they need. Attractive living environments also play a role in the 
economy, by attracting and retaining the diverse labour market that is needed to support 
economic growth.  

413. Neighbourhoods are also the starting point for many of our journeys, whether long or short, 
and local connectivity can have a major influence on our choice of mode. If local public 
transport is poor, or pedestrian/cycle routes are unattractive, longer journeys may well need 
to be made by car. 

Our ambition is for local neighbourhoods to be safer and more pleasant to walk and cycle 
around, with the impact of traffic on local roads reduced and a year-on-year reduction in 
collisions. To achieve our Right Mix vision, we want to make walking and cycling the natural 
choice for short journeys. 

Ensuring that our town centres are attractive and well connected - and that interchanges are 
easier to access - will increase the proportion of journeys made by public transport and 
encourage people to use local shops and other facilities. 

Page 620



 

121 

The Right Mix for Connected Neighbourhoods 

 

414. We are targeting a 15% increase in the number of Neighbourhood trips, with walk and cycle 
taking a higher share of that larger total.  In 2040, we are targeting a 10% cycle mode-share of 
Neighbourhood trips, with a mode-share of more than 50% for walk.  We plan to achieve the 
increase in the number of Neighbourhood trips through more people living in high-density 
housing with excellent access to local facilities, such as in town centres.  Neighbourhood-
focused policies, including Streets for All and the Bee Network, will both increase the 
attractiveness of living in connected neighbourhoods, and increase the mode-share of active 
travel. 

415. While motorised transport will play a role in our future transport network, supporting people 
to make journeys that cannot be made by foot, bike or public transport, its impact on our 
local neighbourhoods needs to be carefully managed to improve safety and reduce noise, air 
pollution, CO2 emissions and severance. We know that that more active lifestyles lead to 
better health outcomes and day-to-day activities like walking or cycling to school or the 
station can be as effective as going to the gym. As well as improving physical health, 
moderate activity can help to combat depression, particularly if it takes place in a pleasant 
environment. Active travel can also provide a low-cost option for people on low incomes. 

416. The way transport is managed in our local neighbourhoods is therefore central to our quality 
of life. The challenges and opportunities described above have informed the development of 
Greater Manchester’s Streets for All approach, which aims to make our streets easier to get 
around and more pleasant to be in, while achieving our ambition for 50% of all journeys in 
Greater Manchester to be made by walking, cycling and public transport by 2040. One of the 
areas with the biggest potential for change is people’s travel in local neighbourhoods.  

Active Neighbourhoods  

417. Areas that are easy for people to walk and cycle around also tend to be good places to live, 
with low traffic speeds, safe links to places like shopping centres, schools, parks, countryside 
and with interesting public spaces. Neighbourhoods that are designed to enable more active 

Page 621



 

122 

travel provide more opportunities for social interaction and can improve a sense of security 
through the presence of other people.  

418. While bus or car are the best option for some people and some trips, if more journeys can be 
made on foot or by bike, the number of car journeys can be reduced, leading to fewer 
collisions, lower emissions and improved health. Most journeys are short, at five miles or less, 
a distance that can easily be walked or cycled by many people. Even the longer commuting 
journeys can start with a short walk, cycle or bus ride to a station or stop. However, for more 
journeys to be made in this way, we need to create the right environment for people to do this 
safely, conveniently and enjoyably through a combination of good urban planning, behaviour 
change campaigns and measures to make streets safer and more welcoming. 

419. First and foremost, people need to feel that it is safe to walk or cycle.  This is particularly 
important for parents deciding whether to allow a child to walk or cycle to school. Barriers to 
walking and cycling were clearly articulated by Greater Manchester’s first Cycling and Walking 
Commissioner in his Made to Move report and include road safety concerns, poor 
maintenance and unpleasant walking environments. People can also underestimate the time 
that a car journey will take, walking or cycling can often be quicker in urban areas.  

420. The Bee Network proposal for a joined-up cycling and walking network that connects all of 
the communities in Greater Manchester, and the long-term Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plan have key roles to play in encouraging cycling and walking, especially for 
short, daily trips. They aim to enable healthy lifestyles, by making walking and cycling 
attractive, convenient and safe for everyone.   

421. The Bee Network proposes a Greater Manchester-wide network of local cycle networks that 
will use a combination of quiet streets, on-highway cycle lanes (segregated from traffic where 
required) and off-road routes, along with the provision of secure parking, will help to make 
cycling a natural choice. As well as parking at key destinations, space is needed in or close to 
homes for secure cycle storage.  

422. For pedestrians, an extensive network of footways and Rights of Way already exists, but safe 
crossings and improvement of footway space are essential, particularly in local centres and 
where residential areas are separated from local shops, schools and other facilities by busy 
roads. Our Streets for All approach, that focuses on how we design streets for people, rather 
than just vehicles, is important. More attractive streets, public spaces and parks, with good 
natural surveillance, will encourage more people to walk. For both pedestrians and cyclists, 
maintenance is important in ensuring that facilities are safe and remain useable in all 
weathers. 

423. Combining benefits for people who walk, cycle and live on our local streets, we will work to 
deliver a network of active neighbourhoods across Greater Manchester, that will create low 
traffic streets, that support and encourage people to spend more time in their streets and 
make journeys by foot and bike. This will be delivered through techniques such as closure of 
residential streets that have high flows of traffic, speed reduction interventions, and 
measures to make our neighbourhoods more attractive and enjoyable places to spend time 
in, such as introducing planting, artwork and seating. 

Page 622



 

123 

424. Traffic speed is a major factor in whether people feel safe to walk or cycle and lower speeds 
reduce the severity of casualties. There is evidence that where 20 mph zones have been 
introduced there can be an increase in walking and cycling. On many roads in Greater 
Manchester 20mph speed limits have been implemented, and are legally enforceable by 
Greater Manchester Police. We will continue to implement speed reduction measures where 
these are supported by local residents, prioritising: residential areas; areas around schools; 
areas adjacent to the local or strategic cycle network, where this will help to create a wider 
network of safer routes; and areas identified as having a high collision risk for vulnerable road 
users.  

425. Where major roads border or pass through residential areas, the needs of through traffic 
clearly need to be accommodated but we will seek to mitigate the impact of that through 
traffic and ensure the safety of vulnerable road users, for example by providing safe crossings 
and segregated cycle lanes as well as trixi mirrors at key junctions to give HGV drivers greater 
visibility of cyclists, where appropriate and feasible.  

Environmental Quality 

426. In addition to safety concerns, the pollution and noise from motorised traffic can impact on 
the quality of life in residential areas and deter people from walking and cycling.  

427. The city-region is one of a several areas across the UK where mean nitrogen dioxide (NO2) 
concentrations exceed statutory limits. Road transport is responsible for 80% of NO2 pollution 
at the roadside, where it is most damaging to health. The youngest, the oldest, those living in 
areas of deprivation, and those living with existing respiratory or cardiovascular disease are 
most likely to be affected by exposure to air pollution. Government has set out a strictly 
defined process with extremely challenging deadlines for such areas to reduce NO2 levels to 
safe limits, and the Greater Manchester local authorities, alongside GMCA and TfGM are now 
developing a Clean Air Plan that can meet nationally specified standards in the shortest time 
possible.  

428. The Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) has identified areas in all the 
major cities where noise is a problem, and although electric vehicles will reduce this problem 
in the medium term, we need to take opportunities to reduce noise through design (including 
the use of noise-reducing surfacing) or traffic management (smoothing traffic flow) where 
possible. 

429. ‘Green infrastructure’ such as parks and roadside trees not only help to create much more 
pleasant places to live, but bring important environmental benefits through reducing 
temperatures, noise and pollution as well as absorbing run-off. Blue infrastructure also 
contributes to our quality of life, and our canals and rivers can provide attractive, traffic-free 
routes for walking and cycling.  

Page 623



 

124 

 

430. Most of our urban environments are already in existence, and improvements will need to be 
made over time as opportunities arise and as funding allows. However, new developments 
offer an opportunity to create environments where walking and cycling can become second 
nature for many people because the streets and public spaces have been designed with active 
travel in mind. Section 65 has described the principles that we believe should be followed for 
new development, and how we will work with developers to achieve this. 

Improving Access 

Access to local facilities 

431. While for many people the daily commute is the journey they are most concerned about, the 
majority of journeys in Greater Manchester are not to work but for shopping, education, 
leisure, or to local services like healthcare. Everyone needs easy access to these facilities to 
meet their day-to-day needs. 

432. Many of these needs are met within local town centres, which are also hubs of the public 
transport network. Travel across the wider city-region highlighted how transport can help the 
main centres to remain competitive by improving access to and around them, including for 
deliveries, while at the same time reducing the dominance of the car to provide a pleasant 
environment for visitors. The same principles apply to our smaller local centres and making 
them more attractive and easier for shoppers and visitors to get around on foot is vital. Our 
aim is to achieve centres that are walkable, with pedestrian-friendly spaces, which 
accommodate access by bike and by public transport but are still accessible by car and are 
viable for business. 

433. Reduced traffic volumes and speeds can greatly add to the vitality of centres, enabling people 
to walk in a leisurely way, or stop at pavement cafes. Despite the fears often expressed by 
retailers, studies in London show that the spending power of pedestrians, cyclists and public 

Page 624



 

125 

transport users is at least as great as for car users and improvements in the quality of street 
design, including the reduction of clutter can also increase both retail rents and residential 
prices.  The benefits of traffic-free streets must be balanced with the need to maintain access 
for cars, buses and servicing. Many local centres are bisected by major roads, which create 
noise, pollution and severance as well as presenting a danger for cyclists and pedestrians, 
particularly children, disabled and older people. While the movement of traffic needs to be 
accommodated, greater emphasis must be given to the needs of ‘the place’, prioritising 
pedestrians, cyclists and bus passengers through crossing facilities, improved links and signage 
from interchanges and car parks, and improved parking for cycles and motorcycles.  Access is 
also needed for the servicing of shops and other businesses. This can add to congestion at 
peak times or in locations where there are no off-highway loading bays (as is often the case in 
older centres). We will promote the adoption of Delivery and Servicing Plans to mitigate these 
issues. 

434. The school journey can have a significant impact on local traffic and transporting children to 
school by car also contributes to reduced levels of fitness and increasing obesity. For journeys 
to primary school, a switch to more walking or cycling would both reduce traffic in residential 
areas and improve the health of our young people.  Journeys to secondary school are generally 
longer, but many could still be made on foot or by bike if safer routes and cycle parking were 
provided. To encourage more school pupils to walk or cycle to school we need to: work with 
the health sector to promote active travel to schools, including the development of school 
travel plans; continue to provide Bikeability training to primary school pupils, as funding 
allows; and work with secondary schools that are located close to local cycle networks to 
encourage cycling, including the provision of secure cycle parking. 

435. Many secondary school journeys are made by public transport, particularly bus. Local 
authorities have a statutory obligation to provide free school transport for journeys over a 
certain length but in addition, fare-paying, dedicated school bus services are also provided to 
some schools by TfGM. In view of the rising cost of this provision, these journeys should be 
integrated as much as possible into the local bus network, with shorter journeys made by 
cycling or walking where possible.  

Page 625



 

126 

 

436. The location of services can affect people’s ability to reach them without a car. The 
reorganisation of healthcare has led to more services being provided at the local level – 
including at ‘super surgeries’ rather than traditional GP surgeries. Good access is vital, as 
missed appointments can lead to poorer health, and for the rising proportion of people in their 
eighties, regular check-ups may prevent the need for a hospital stay. 

437. For education, the recent growth in the under-fives population is feeding through into an 
increased demand for school places in some areas. In the past, falling school rolls resulted in 
school sites being re-developed, and there will now be a need to identify suitable 
replacements within easy reach of residential areas, either on foot/by bike, or with good public 
transport access. 

Access to public transport 

438. Access to public transport is vital to the quality of life for those who do not have access to a 
car. Various studies have shown that lack of transport can be a barrier to taking up work, while 
transport problems can lead to missed health appointments. At the same time, good access to 
public transport is also essential if we are to reduce traffic in neighbourhoods. 

439. Most people in Greater Manchester are within walking distance of public transport. However, 
in an ageing society, an increasing number of people may have difficulty in walking to a station 
or stop. This also applies to people of all ages with disabilities. The quality and safety of the 
route and the waiting environment also affect people’s willingness to use the services on offer. 
Many local stations are therefore not used to their full potential. We need to make them more 
appealing as waiting environments, with a consistent standard of facilities and information 
provision, including signing from the highway and locations such as town centres. In addition, 

Page 626



 

127 

making them more effective as interchanges, through provision of cycle parking, bus links and, 
where appropriate, car parking will increase usage. However, our stations are so much more 
than a gateway to the transport network and offer significant potential to improve local areas. 
We will continue to explore how stations, as community assets, can generate wealth and 
wellbeing, learning from best practice internationally where many stations have been 
developed to support local economic and social development.  

440. The development of station travel plans can maximise access by sustainable modes and raise 
awareness of the station locally. The work of Community Rail Partnerships and Friends of 
Stations groups is also important in this respect and greatly valued.  

441. Park and ride facilities need to be carefully located, as they can lead to people driving further 
before they start their public transport journey. Small station car parks can, however, be 
important locally if on-street parking would cause a problem and can improve access for 
disabled people.   

442. Our policies for the bus network are described in Part 2. Given financial constraints, we must 
recognise that it will never be possible to provide all the services that people would like and 
will need to maximise the potential of local self-help and innovative solutions. In Greater 
Manchester, Local Link shared minibuses and Ring and Ride accessible transport services are 
available for people who find it difficult to use public transport. Some parts of Greater 
Manchester have more local community transport schemes offering group transport in 
communities where deprivation can limit access to transport. There are two broad types of 
operation: group mini-bus hire schemes aimed at charities, elderly or disabled groups, sports 
clubs etc. or; voluntary car schemes which use volunteers’ cars to transport people to hospital 
etc. These schemes are usually part funded locally although are reliant on volunteer drivers 
and office staff and charitable contributions. In the future, the growth of smart technology will 
make it easier for groups of people to come together to provide their own transport through 
crowdsourcing.  

Inclusive Neighbourhoods 

443. Truly connected neighbourhoods enable everyone to access work, local facilities and 
recreation and to interact with other people in a pleasant environment. Designing new 
infrastructure and services to improve accessibility for people with mobility problems will have 
the additional benefit of future-proofing the transport network to meet the needs of an ageing 
society. Our specific policies on improving accessibility are set out in Part 2, however we also 
need to make sure that other schemes do not disadvantage people with mobility problems and 
that they make the most of opportunities to improve accessibility. TfGM already works with 
the Disability Design Reference Group to do this in relation to public transport infrastructure. 
Measures that need to be considered as part of transport schemes include the provision of 
tactile paving and raised bus stop kerbs, extended crossing times at signals, provision of 
seating (including informal seating opportunities such as low walls), toilets and dementia-
friendly design such as clear signage and provision of distinctive landmarks to aid navigation. If 
‘shared space’ schemes are introduced to give greater pedestrian priority in centres, these 
must be made safe for visually impaired people to navigate safely, by including or retaining 
tactile features. 

Page 627



 

128 

444. People living in rural areas also experience specific transport problems. They generally must 
travel further to reach key services and therefore may have less potential to walk or cycle. 
Public transport provision is limited due to the low demand, which means that these areas are 
more car dependent. At the same time, their importance as locations for recreation or their 
position on strategic routes can lead to high traffic volumes on unsuitable roads. To improve 
access in rural areas we need to: improve interchange between rail and bus at rural stations; 
maintain Rights of Way and Bridleways as funding allows; support proposals for speed 
reduction, including ‘quiet lanes’ where this will provide safer walking and cycling links to local 
facilities such as schools and stations; and infill gaps in long distance walking and cycling routes 
that improve access to the countryside. 

445. Our policies for achieving better connected neighbourhoods will make it easier for people to 
travel by sustainable modes, particularly walking and cycling. However, improvements in 
infrastructure and services need to be complemented by behaviour change measures that 
encourage people to choose active travel for short journeys, including journeys to school, 
encouraging the use of local stations, promoting sustainable travel in new developments and 
promoting the use of new transport infrastructure.  

446. Proposed interventions supporting better travel at local neighborhood level are set out, in 
detail, in Our Five-Year Transport Delivery Plan and in the ten Local Implementation Plans 
(LIPs) covering the period 2020 to 2025. Each of the ten councils that make up Greater 
Manchester has its own LIP. The LIPs are designed to complement the GM Transport Strategy 
2040 and Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan, providing details of how their outcomes will 
be achieved locally in each council area, focusing particularly on supporting local trips within 
neighbourhoods and to local centres. TfGM is also committed to supporting the development 
of Neighbourhood Plans when it comes to addressing transport challenges faced by 
communities. 

 

  

Page 628



 

129 

Part 4  
Strategy Delivery  
 
Introduction  

447. Realising our ambitions for 2040 will involve a range of partners. TfGM, the ten Greater 
Manchester local authorities and the GMLEP will continue to work together with the 
Department for Transport, Highways England, Network Rail, train and bus operators, as well as 
private developers, to deliver the interventions needed. This will be particularly important in 
ensuring that the transport network can support the growth identified through the Greater 
Manchester's Plan for Homes, Jobs, and the Environment (the spatial framework).  

448. We recognise that the information and policies contained in this document are at a high level. 
In some cases, more detailed sub-strategies will be published to provide more detailed 
guidance. Ongoing strategy development of this kind will be reflected in the Delivery Plans that 
underpin this Strategy. 

449. An effective transport system for Greater Manchester will require: 

• the delivery of a strong pipeline of transport schemes, rigorously prioritised to support our 
local strategic objectives and delivered to the highest standard, building on our excellent 
capital programme track record; 

• the establishment of best-in-class maintenance and renewal standards that ensure 
maintenance failings- from potholes to public transport breakdowns- are managed down 
and eradicated in the interests of a reliable network and productive economy; and 

• world-class customer service standards across our entire transport system, offering 
effective and attractive travel choices that support modern lifestyles and businesses 
throughout the week.  

Page 629



 

130 

450. These three aspects will be equally critical to our success and all require long term funding:

 

Prioritisation 
451. Greater Manchester has a strong track record in prioritising investment in those transport 

initiatives that can most directly support the city-region’s wider strategic objectives. Through 
our experience in co-designing transport and economic strategies, we have a clear 
understanding of the role of effective and reliable transport networks in connecting businesses 
with their supply chains, their customers, and their labour markets; and in controlling costs, 
promoting competition and spreading opportunity. 

452. This well-developed approach ensures that investment is prioritised in a manner that supports 
the economic performance of the city-region first and foremost, while also ensuring that at a 
programme level, we are able to address the city-region’s wider environmental and well-being 
issues. 

453. As the discussion of policy drivers, set out earlier in this document, demonstrates it will be 
critical for this clear and consistent approach to prioritisation to be maintained. This will 
enable Greater Manchester to achieve its objectives of raising prosperity for all, while 
establishing a sustainable growth path for the city-region.  

454. The Greater Manchester Infrastructure Programme (GMIP) enables infrastructure to be 
developed in a comprehensive, placed-based manner, looking both at local schemes and the 
strategic programmes that support them at a city-region level. The aim is for full integration 
of the process that links planning, prioritisation and then funding and delivery. GMIP is based 
on the following key themes: 

Page 630



 

131 

• A place-based approach: integration of transport, housing and regeneration to give place-
based investment packages/interventions; 

• GM-wide strategic investment packages: delivering at scale, supported by integrated 
procurement, and strong integration with national agencies, infrastructure providers and 
utilities; and 

• Strong governance: over ten years’ experience of robust governance and delivery, and an 
ability to manage and deliver investment with flexibility and hence more quickly. 

455. GMIP is accountable to an official-led Delivery Executive chaired by the GMCA Chief Executive 
and attended by external partners such as United Utilities and the Infrastructure and Projects 
Authority. This regularly reports to the Combined Authority, chaired by the Mayor. 

New Investment 

456. Significant new investment is either underway or planned. Current programmes include: the 
expansion of the Metrolink network; a bus priority programme; new transport interchanges; 
extensive walking and cycling programmes and several highway schemes to tackle critical 
bottlenecks and relieve communities and town centres from through traffic. The widespread 
use of mobile technology and broadband are transforming the way travellers search for and 
receive information as well as the management of our networks. At the same time, 
comprehensive travel choices programmes are encouraging higher levels of active and 
sustainable travel across Greater Manchester. 

 

Page 631



 

132 

457. Notwithstanding the levels of committed investment, this strategy document has 
demonstrated that further interventions will be needed over the period to 2040 if we are to 
achieve our vision of ‘world class connections that support long-term, sustainable economic 
growth and access to opportunity for all’. We will work with partners to maximise the funding 
available to Greater Manchester and bring forward specific schemes in our five-year Delivery 
Plans accordingly. 

Maintenance and Renewal 

458. Maintenance and renewal are vital to the safe and efficient functioning of our highways and 
we recognise that the significant ongoing investment in new infrastructure also increases the 
requirement for spending on maintenance. We need to: 

• address a substantial maintenance backlog on the highway network; 

• renew key structures such as bridges, retaining walls and culverts; and 

• make all our networks more resilient to the effects of climate change.  

To achieve this, it is even more essential that we both increase the level of funding for 
maintenance and increase the efficiency of maintenance operations. 

459. This will require new funding arrangements, combining local and national funding sources to 
establish a consistent, long-term spending platform. In addition, it will require Greater 
Manchester to ensure that we manage the costs of maintenance and achieve economies of 
scale through collaborative working between the ten local authorities, TfGM and Highways 
England, at a city-region level. The highways reform measures in the Greater Manchester 
Devolution Agreement support this approach. We will also continue to develop our delivery 
systems to ensure that Greater Manchester is established as a national centre of best practice 
for highways network maintenance and resilience. 

460. Equally critical is a robust and resilient public transport network. We will establish a whole 
lifecycle planning and delivery process for the tram, train and bus networks that: 

• ensures that timely and funded track/infrastructure renewal plans are built into our 
investment plans; and 

• establishes a robust funding and delivery plan for vehicle renewal and fleet expansion 
across public transport to ensure that life-expired vehicles are replaced before they 
become a threat to the performance or attractiveness of our transport system. 

Page 632



 

133 

 

Service Delivery 

461. We are committed to transforming customer quality across the transport system. The 
transport governance and delivery reforms within this strategy and the Greater Manchester 
Devolution Agreement, alongside our investment programmes, will better enable us to target 
that investment towards our policy priorities and achieve greater efficiency in the use of 
resources. GMCA is continuing to increase the integration of planning and funding across 
economic development, public health, health provision, land use planning and transport.  

462. The Greater Manchester Agreement in 2014 announced the first phase of significant 
devolution to Greater Manchester, including in-principle agreement on three areas of 
transport: highways, rail and bus. Collectively, supported by the long-term funding 
settlements, these reforms will allow GMCA to oversee the delivery of the integrated transport 
network at the heart of this strategy. 

463. On the highway network, the creation of GMCA meant that TfGM was granted initial co-
ordination functions to enable an efficient and co-ordinated approach in several areas, such as 
urban traffic control, cycling and road safety. Agreement has also been reached for TfGM to 
co-ordinate management of a Key Route Network of the strategically important local roads, 
which carry the critical mass of daily commuting and logistics movements. The aim of this is to: 
develop and promote one consistent highways investment pipeline; increase the reliability and 
consistency of service delivery and improve communication with, and information for, all road 
users. Building on this co-ordinated approach, a Memorandum of Understanding between 
TfGM and Highways England aims to ensure co-operation in terms of operational and tactical 
planning across the two networks as well as the development of future strategy. This reflects 

Page 633



 

134 

not only the importance of the SRN to our economy, but the need to integrate the planning 
and management of the whole road network, given that conditions on the SRN affect the local 
network and vice versa. We will need to work closely with both Highways England and 
Transport for the North to identify future investment needs across the SRN and ensure that 
the opportunities for shared investment in infrastructure, to improve access to the SRN and 
between and across the northern city-regions, are fully realised.   

464. On the rail network, we believe that the existing stations in Greater Manchester represent a 
significant opportunity for customers, communities and the taxpayer. The lack of a guiding 
mind for stations and absence of evidence-based decision making has led to poor investment 
choices and stalled the potential to create meaningful step change in the quality of the 
experience at stations. The relatively short-term nature of rail franchises means that operators 
tend to focus on investments which provide a commercial return within these timescales 
rather than taking a longer-term view of the needs of customers and community served by 
that station. Work is now underway - with rail partners - to test working in partnership with 
operators and other industry stakeholders at many Greater Manchester rail stations. We are 
also exerting greater influence over the rail network by working with neighbouring regions 
through Transport for the North and Rail North. 

 

  

Page 634



 

135 

Policies and Interventions 

Policies 

465. Our policies are set out in Part 2 and summarised below.  

Policy 1: We will work with partners to ensure that modes of transport such as taxis, 
private hire vehicles and other demand responsive services - as well as shared mobility 
solutions, including car clubs, cycle hire and other forms of shared transport - are 
available and fully integrated into the Greater Manchester transport network. 

Policy 2: Working with partners, we will seek to deliver integrated pricing and payment 
systems across the transport network, including smart ticketing for public transport, to 
encourage use of public transport in line with the GM Transport Strategy 2040.  

Policy 3: We will maintain a conurbation-wide programme of interventions designed to 
encourage people to make sustainable journeys, supported by journey planning tools and 
information; to encourage travel behaviour change and mode shift, in order to make the 
most efficient use of available capacity, particularly during peak periods. 

Policy 4: We will work with developers to ensure that new developments are 
accessible by sustainable modes, and to reduce transport emissions and impacts on the 
highway network.  

Policy 5:  We will work with public transport operators and Network Rail to ensure that all 
transport infrastructure, vehicles and information are as accessible as possible for all our 
customers, regardless of their age and mobility.  

Policy 6:  We will work with partners to better integrate accessible travel services across 
Greater Manchester, to increase availability and convenience for customers.  

Policy 7: As we plan our transport network, we will support the creation of a more 
inclusive economy for GM by considering how best to improve the prospects of people 
living in deprived communities - including by ensuring that more people can access jobs, 
education, skills training and childcare. 

Policy 8:  We will work with partners to deliver transport interventions that improve the 
health of Greater Manchester residents, including: mitigating against pollution from 
motor vehicles; increasing levels of physical activity; improving access to healthcare; and 
reducing social isolation 

Policy 9: We will work with partners and key stakeholders to bring nitrogen dioxide (NO2) 
levels on local roads within legal limits, and to reduce levels of particulate matter - both of 
which are emitted from internal combustion engines. 

Policy 10: We will play our part in delivering carbon neutrality, including by: implementing 
measures that will mitigate against climate change, improving air quality, encouraging 
responsible consumerism, ensuring net environmental gain wherever possible and making 
sure our future built environment is resilient to the impacts of climate change.  

Policy 11: We will work with partners, including the Canals and Rivers Trust, to enhance 
green and blue infrastructure to provide a safe and attractive environment for walking 
and cycling.  

Policy 12:  We will aim to minimise the impact of transport on the built and natural 
environment - including townscape, the historic environment, cultural heritage, 

Page 635



 

136 

landscape, habitats and biodiversity, geodiversity, water quality, pollution, flood risk and 
use of resource - and will seek to deliver environmental enhancements and biodiversity 
net gain where possible. 

Policy 13: We will continue to deliver measures, and put in place appropriate 
management systems, to improve the reliability of the transport network. 

Policy 14: Working with partners; including through the Safer Roads Partnership, we will 
deliver initiatives aimed at improving safety on the highway network, with a particular 
focus on the most vulnerable road users. 

Policy 15: Working through Safer Roads Greater Manchester (SRGM), we will facilitate the 
delivery of interventions to address road safety issues, with a particular focus on 
supporting those who are walking and cycling.  

Policy 16: We will set out a clear strategy for the EV charging infrastructure network 
required to provide greater confidence to residents and businesses to invest in electric 
vehicles. 

Policy 17: We will provide a unified, Greater Manchester approach to managing the Key 
Route Network (KRN) of roads, in line with our Streets for All Strategy principles, and work 
with Highways England to co-ordinate this with the management of the Strategic Route 
Network (SRN). 

Policy 18:  We will work, including through the GM logistics forums, to improve journey 
times and reliability for deliveries, and to reduce the environmental impact of logistics, 
including the promotion of mode shift. 

Policy 19: We will ensure our streets will be welcoming and safe spaces for all 
people, enabling more travel on foot, bike and public transport while creating better 
places that support local communities and business.  

Policy 20:  Where feasible we will introduce appropriate bus priority measures on the 
highway network to improve bus reliability and will keep existing measures under review 
to ensure effectiveness.  This will include developing proposals for “Quality Bus Transit” 
corridors on key routes.   

Policy 21: We will work to improve and maintain the condition and resilience of our road 
network, drawing on best practice. 

Policy 22: We will work with partners to improve walking and cycling facilities across 
Greater Manchester, including development of a strategic walking and cycling network 
(the “Bee Network”), wayfinding and cycle parking, and supporting “Streets for All” design 
guidance to ensure consistently high quality standards across the network. 

Policy 23: Working with partners, we will seek to establish and promote one integrated 
Greater Manchester public transport network (“Our Network”), making it easy for 
customers to plan, make and pay for their journeys using different modes and services 

Policy 24: We will seek to ensure a consistent standard of facilities at transport hubs, 
appropriate for their size and function, and will work with partners to improve access to 
them by all modes. 

Policy 25: We will seek to make best use of powers included in the Bus Services Act, as 
well as our existing powers, to give effect to our Vision for Bus. 

Policy 26: We will seek to ensure that accessible coach parking and set down/pick-up 
points are available at key locations. 

Policy 27:  We will work with the taxi and private hire industry to develop minimum 
standards for policy/regulation and operation across Greater Manchester, and work with 
Government to strengthen national legislation. 

Page 636



 

137 

Policy 28: We will seek to expand the coverage and capacity of our rapid transit network 
(Metrolink, Rail and Bus Rapid Transit), to deliver improved connectivity to employment 
and other opportunities within the city-region. 

Policy 29: We will continue to work with DfT, Network Rail, train operators and with other 
local authorities across the North of England in order to secure our strategic priorities and 
to deliver greater local accountability for all rail-based services.  

Policy 30:  We will continue to work with DfT, Network Rail and Transport for the North to 
secure greater local control of rail stations within Greater Manchester exploring the use 
of any opportunities arising from the Williams Review of the Rail industry. 

 

Funding Mechanisms and New Ways of Working 

Funding Mechanisms 

466. The main source of funding for transport is from central government and in 2014 Greater 
Manchester was awarded funding from the Local Growth Fund (LGF) of £314 million for major 
schemes (costing more than £5 million) and £15.2 million for small schemes (costing less than 
£5 million) for the period 2015/16 to 2020/21.  With this funding assured, an initial investment 
programme was developed, covering several major schemes and a programme of minor works 
for 2015/16 and 2016/17. This is set out in the Greater Manchester Capital Programme 
2015/16-2020/21 (http://www.tfgm.com/ltp3/Pages/Capital-Programme.aspx). As part of the 
Greater Manchester Devolution Deal we have secured Government commitment to 
establishing a multi-year transport settlement for the medium-term that reflects the growth 
potential of the conurbation. This will enable us to plan ahead and use resources more 
effectively than is possible with short-term funding streams. 

401. A further source of Government funding is via funding competitions targeted at specific policy 
objectives. In the past we have been successful in obtaining funding from a number of these, 
eg Local Sustainable Transport Fund, Cycle City Ambition Grant, Pinch Points, the Green Bus 
Fund and the Pothole Fund. We will continue to put forward strong investment cases for this 
type of funding, alongside additional future Local Growth Fund resources. The Referendum 
decision for the UK to leave the European Union will clearly impact on funding, given that 
Greater Manchester has previously benefitted from several European programmes. We will 
work with the Government to identify alternative means of funding for strategically significant 
projects. 

In recognition of the contribution of transport to the wider Greater Manchester Strategy, 
particularly in terms of economic growth, urban regeneration and improved health, we have 
developed mechanisms to use local resources to lever in additional funding.  The Greater 
Manchester Transport Fund (GMTF), which was established in 2009, demonstrated this by 
committing almost £800 million of local borrowing as part of a £1.5 billion fund targeted at 
schemes that will contribute to economic growth. This is continuing to fund a bus priority 
programme, new town centre transport interchanges, additional park and ride facilities and 
targeted highway network enhancements.   

402. As part of the 2012 City Deal, GMCA agreed the principle of an Earn Back model with 
Government, which builds on the GMTF approach of increasing our self-sufficiency in 

Page 637



 

138 

delivering infrastructure investment. The Earn Back model uses a formula to provide a long-
term revenue stream to support further long-term investment, subject to additional GVA being 
created as a result of our primary GMTF commitments.  This has funded the A6 to Manchester 
Airport Relief Road and Trafford Park Metrolink line. 

403. Funding for specific projects may also be sought from partners where they meet a shared 
objective – for example the health sector has contributed to the introduction of 20mph zones. 
Developer contributions will also be sought for access improvements or measures to mitigate 
the impact of traffic associated with new developments.  

404. The scale of growth envisaged for Greater Manchester means that major new development 
sites will be brought forward and we will work with Government to develop funding packages 
to bring forward the key infrastructure required. Private sector contributions will also be 
required, e.g. through the pooling of contributions from Community Infrastructure Levy or 
other planning obligations. 

New Ways of Working 

405. The Greater Manchester authorities have a long history of joint working, but the creation of 
GMCA in 2011 has provided a framework within which all ten local authorities can work 
together at the strategic level to achieve shared objectives, as set out in the Greater 
Manchester Strategy. This is leading to changes in the way we work. Increasingly authorities 
are working together to provide shared services, where this brings efficiency savings, and 
some functions are being delivered at the Greater Manchester level to ensure both efficiency 
and consistent standards. This approach also ensures that major investment is targeted where 
it will bring the greatest benefit, and new scheme proposals are rigorously assessed to ensure 
that they are helping to achieve shared objectives and providing good value for money. 

406. The first Greater Manchester mayoral election was held on 4 May 2017. Andy Burnham was 
elected as the inaugural Mayor of Greater Manchester and chairs the GMCA. This governance 
model will oversee the further development of this Transport Strategy, alongside the statutory 
spatial plan for the city-region, and the wider public sector reform programme.  

  

Page 638

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/2017_Greater_Manchester_mayoral_election
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Andy_Burnham


 

139 

Measuring Performance 

407. We need to know whether our policies and measures are having the desired effect and are 
helping to deliver our strategy.  

408. In Part 1 we identified several challenges that we face in achieving our vision and for each of 
these challenges there is a particular outcome that we would like to see. We will measure the 
extent to which we are achieving these outcomes through a number of key performance 
indicators. These challenges, outcomes and indicators are summarised in the table overleaf. 
More detail about these indicators, including the current values against which we will measure 
performance, can be found in the Delivery Plan. 

409. The information from these indicators will allow adjustments to be made to the strategy if it is 
not working as well as we hoped. Our progress in relation to each of these indicators will be 
reported in each annual update of our Delivery Plan. 

Page 639



 

140 

 
 Performance Indicators 

Vision Challenge (from Part 1) Desired Outcome KPI 

Su
p

p
o

rt
in

g 
su

st
ai

n
ab

le
 e

co
n

o
m

ic
 g

ro
w

th
 

Growth could result in increased congestion Reduced congestion Journey speed by mode 

Growing economy requires access to wide pool of labour Better access to skills & 
markets 

Sustainable transport catchment 
population of the Regional Centre  & 
other major employment locations  

Businesses require reliable journey times for deliveries 
and workers 

More reliable journey 
times 

Journey reliability by mode 

Networks need to cope with adverse weather, ageing 
infrastructure and increased demand  

 

Resilient and well 
maintained network 

Satisfaction with road maintenance  

Developing a transport system that compares well to that 
of leading European cities 

People see GM as a good 
place to visit & invest 

Perceptions of GM as a place to live, 
visit, do business 

 

Im
p

ro
vi

n
g 

q
u

al
it

y 
o

f 

lif
e 

Good access is needed to jobs and training so that 
transport is not a barrier to opportunity. 

Better access to 
jobs/training  

Sustainable transport catchment 
population for key locations - 
employment / colleges] 

Centralisation of services and changes in retailing can 
make it harder for some people to access education, 
healthcare, shopping etc  

Better access to services Sustainable transport catchment 
population for key locations -town 
centres/hospitals] 

P
age 640



 

141 

Vision Challenge (from Part 1) Desired Outcome KPI 

Encouraging people to improve their health through 
greater levels of activity  

More people travelling 
actively 

No. of walking & cycling trips 

Reducing the number of serious casualties on the roads 
and the amount of crime and anti-social behaviour on the 
transport network. 

Improved safety and  
personal security 

 

KSIs split by vulnerable groups,  

Perception of personal security by 
mode 

P
ro

te
ct

in
g 

th
e 

en
vi

ro
n

m
en

t 

Increasing the use of sustainable transport to reduce the 
negative impacts of car use.   

More people travelling by 
non- car modes 

Mode split 

Economic and population growth will increase the demand 
for travel, and increase harmful emissions 

Reduced emissions of 
CO2, NO2  

CO2 emissions,  NO2 emissions  

Making the best use of existing infrastructure to help 
reduce environmental impacts.  

Accessible locations 
prioritised for new 
development  

% of new homes having >level 4 
accessibility to the public transport 
network12 

Protecting the natural and built environment from the 
impacts of transport.  

Infrastructure designed 
and maintained to 
minimise environmental 
impact 

N/A – assurance is via approved Project 
Management Procedures 

 

 

 

12 Based on Greater Manchester Accessibility Levels (GMAL) in the AM Peak period.  See 
http://www.gmtu.gov.uk/gmbusroute/GMAL%20Calculation%20Guide.pdf for further information.   

P
age 641

http://www.gmtu.gov.uk/gmbusroute/GMAL%20Calculation%20Guide.pdf


 

 
 

Final Conclusions and Next Steps 

410. This strategy document sets out how investment in new transport infrastructure, delivery of 
services and maintenance of existing assets will be focussed to support growth in the widest 
sense, recognising that improving access to jobs and training and improving the health of the 
population are essential aspects of improving productivity, while improving the quality of 
many of our urban areas will be a pre-requisite for attracting investment. The innovative focus 
of the strategy on the requirements of different types of journey, rather than the needs of 
different modes, means that we have been able to take an holistic view of the investment 
needed: to improve connectivity to global markets; transform journey times to other major 
cities; capitalise on the potential of a rapidly growing  Regional Centre, create better linkage 
between jobs and homes across the wider city-region and provide ‘first and last mile’ 
connections within neighbourhoods that will make sustainable travel an attractive option.  

411. Our Five-Year Transport Delivery Plan, which sits alongside this document, provides the detail 
of the schemes to be delivered in the period 2020-2025. As additional funding is secured in the 
future, subsequent updates of the Delivery Plan will identify the schemes that provide the 
detail for the interventions identified in this Strategy document.  

Page 642



 

143 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Appendix - 
GMSF Transport 
Study Technical 
Note 

 

GM Transport 
Strategy 2040 Right 
Mix 

GMSF Publication Version 1: 
October 2020 

Transport Strategy 

Page 643



 

144 

 

Version Author Description Issued Reviewer 

0 JL  Base report in the 2019 Draft 
Transport Strategy Evidence. 

  

1 JL GMSF evidence version 05/10/20 JP/NK 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 644



 

145 

 

Contents 

Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 – ‘Right Mix’ Technical Note 146 

Introduction 146 

Background 147 

Relationship to Other GMSF Evidence 147 

Our transport vision for 2040 149 

A pathway for achieving the “Right Mix” 150 

Spatial themes 151 

The steps to achieve the “Right Mix” 155 

Conclusion: the achievability of the 2040 Right Mix 175 

 

 

 

 

Page 645



 

146 

Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 – ‘Right Mix’ 
Technical Note 

Introduction 

1. The GMSF is a joint plan of all ten local authorities in Greater Manchester, providing a 

spatial interpretation of the Greater Manchester Strategy which will set out how Greater 

Manchester should develop over the next two decades up to the year 2037. It will: 

• identify the amount of new development that will come forward across the ten Local 

Authorities, in terms of housing, offices, and industry and warehousing, and the main 

areas in which this will be focused; 

• ensure we have an appropriate supply of land to meet this need; 

• protect the important environmental assets across the conurbation; 

• allocate sites for employment and housing outside of the urban area; 

• support the delivery of key infrastructure, such as transport and utilities; 

• define a new Green Belt boundary for Greater Manchester. 

2. The Plan focuses on making the most of Greater Manchester’s brownfield sites, prioritising 

redevelopment of town centres and other sustainable locations. The Plan is required to 

demonstrate that Greater Manchester has enough land to deliver the homes and jobs 

people require up until 2037, and whilst there is an expectation that the focus of 

development will be on brownfield sites in the early years, it is recognised that some land 

will need to be released from the green belt to fully meet Greater Manchester’s housing 

and employment requirement.  

3. The comments from the Draft GMSF 2019, highlighted respondents’ concerns about the 

ability of the transport network to accommodate growth in Greater Manchester. This note 

explains Greater Manchester’s current pathway to achieving the ‘Right Mix’ transport 

vision to reduce car’s share of trips to no more than 50%, with the remaining 50% made by 

public transport, walking and cycling. This will mean approximately one million more trips 

each day using sustainable transport modes in Greater Manchester by 2040. 

Page 646



 

147 

Background 

4. We recognise that the world around us is likely to change significantly over the next twenty 

years, in ways that we cannot always predict. For example, the spread of COVID-19 

throughout 2020 has had a profound impact on people’s lives and wellbeing in a way that 

would have been difficult to imagine previously. While it is rare for an external event to 

have such a huge impact on people’s everyday lives - and travel behaviours (people 

stopped travelling or changed the way they get around) - there is always the potential for 

our plans to be knocked off course by external events.  

5. That is one of the reasons why Greater Manchester has adopted an adaptive, vision-led 

approach to transport planning. This means that the steps needed to achieve our ‘Right 

Mix’ transport vision will be continually monitored, and adjusted if needed, to achieve our 

goals. The ‘Right Mix’ transport vision involves creating a better transport system for 

Greater Manchester, so that we can reduce car’s share of trips to no more than 50%, with 

the remaining 50% made by public transport, walking and cycling.  

6. Although it is intended that this overall Right Mix vision will remain the same, changes in 

the way we achieve the Right Mix - necessitated by external events such as COVID-19, but 

also factors such as population growth – will lead to changes to the type of interventions 

set out in Greater Manchester’s transport plans. This is one of the reasons we update our 

Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 suite of documents on a regular basis.  

7. This Right Mix Technical Note sets out adjustable steps – a ‘pathway’ – to achieving the 

Right Mix transport vision, in a way that supports existing worldwide trends that are being 

seen in Greater Manchester, including: the increased preference for high-density urban 

living, the growth of major city centres and the increased popularity of travelling by bike, 

rapid transit and inter-urban rail.  

 

Relationship to Other GMSF Evidence 

8. This document is a supporting document for both the Greater Manchester Transport 

Strategy 2040 and the GMSF. For the GMSF it is part of a suite of documents that examine 

the implications of the GMSF on transport in GM. The other documents include: 

• GM Transport Strategy 2040 and supporting 5 Year Delivery Plan. These documents 

together set out our strategic aspirations for transport in GM and articulate our plan 

for delivery.   

• An Existing Land Supply and Transport Technical Note: This note examines the spatial 

distribution of the Existing Land Supply and the transport interventions highlighted in 

the 5-Year Delivery Plan that will support key clusters of growth. 

Page 647



 

148 

• A series of Allocation Locality Assessments. These assessments examine the likely local 

impact of Allocations development on the transport network and identifies where 

mitigation may be needed. 

• GMSF Allocations Strategic Modelling Technical Note. This provides analysis of the 

potential strategic impact of growth on our transport network in a “policy-off” 

scenario. 

9. Together these documents examine the local and strategic implications of growth. This 

Right Mix technical note underpins the GM Transport Strategy 2040 by outlining our 

adaptive vision-led approach to transport planning.  

10. The Locality Assessments focus on identifying the local and strategic interventions 

necessary to deliver each of the individual allocations, while the Existing Land Supply note 

highlights the transport interventions needed to support the delivery of the Existing Land 

Supply.  

11. Finally, we test a worse-case “policy-off” forecast in the Strategic Modelling Technical Note 

so that we can understand the degree to which the GMSF allocations affect the network if 

we were to take no further steps to achieving the ‘Right Mix’. The strategic modelling 

forecast assumes that only committed / funded schemes and those schemes directly 

associated with the allocations proceed – but policy changes such as bus reform, 

integrated ticketing or behavioural change initiatives, and longer-term interventions such 

as Quality Bus Transit, Tram-train, or Metrolink extensions are omitted.  

12. For the avoidance of doubt, the Right Mix vision is not in any sense a ‘rival’ to that forecast. 

The Right Mix is a transport vision for achieving policy objectives, not a forecast. Unlike the 

“policy-off” forecast for the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework, there is no prediction 

that a specific set of interventions will lead to a specific set of outcomes in the future. 

Instead, there is a pathway comprising a set of targets for changes in travel behaviour that 

will be modified in the light of monitoring of progress to achieving the vision for 2040. 

 

Page 648



 

149 

Our transport vision for 2040 

13. Our ‘Right Mix’ vision for 2040 was first set out in January 2019 in the draft Greater 

Manchester Transport Strategy 2040: Delivery Plan (2020-2025).  The proposed pathway to 

the Right Mix was published at the same time in the Evidence-Base Update of the 2040 

Transport Strategy. 

14. It was noted at the time that the steps in the pathway will be reviewed in the light of 

monitoring progress towards achieving the Right Mix.  It is too soon to get any results from 

monitoring, but some changes to the pathway have already been made.  These result from: 

• Changes to population projections for Greater Manchester 

• Improvements and adjustments to baseline data which forms our understanding of 

the present situation 

• Changes and additions to some of the steps to better reflect the potential for 

achieving changes in mode share.  

15. The Right Mix vision itself is unchanged - to improve our transport system so that we can 

reduce car use to no more than 50% of daily trips, with the remaining 50% made by public 

transport, walking and cycling. This will mean approximately one million more trips each 

day using sustainable transport modes in Greater Manchester by 2040 – see  Figure V1, 

which contains some changes to the numbers that underlie the vision compared with the 

2019 version. 

16. Our analysis suggests that achieving this vision will enable us to deliver our economic 

growth ambitions reflected in GMSF without increasing overall motor-vehicle traffic in 

Greater Manchester. 

17. The vision of no net increase in motor-vehicle traffic includes trips by Greater Manchester 

residents, as well as trips by non-residents and goods vehicle movements, which will also 

be influenced by our transport and land-use interventions - but less so. We expect no net 

increase in motor-vehicle traffic to be achieved by a net reduction in residents’ traffic (the 

great majority of motor vehicle-km in Greater Manchester); an increase in light goods 

vehicle movements; and – potentially, but not necessarily – some net increase in car-travel 

by non-residents. 

18. The analysis is based on “TRADS” data which is Greater Manchester’s household travel 

diary survey, in which a representative sample of Greater Manchester residents are 

interviewed about their recent trips.  It is the Greater Manchester equivalent to the DfT’s 

National Travel Survey, although there are some differences in survey methodology. 

  

Page 649



 

150 

 

Figure V1: The Right Mix vision for 2040:  

 

 

A pathway for achieving the “Right Mix” 

19. In this section of the report, a proposed pathway is set out for achieving the Right Mix.  The 

pathway is set out as a series of steps, which would in reality be made at the same time, 

but which are described as separate steps to assist explanation.  It incorporates the 

changes referred to above. 

Page 650



 

151 

20. The steps in the pathway will be reviewed in the light of monitoring progress towards 

achieving the Right Mix.  It is expected that the pathway will change in response to the 

results of monitoring.  The changes could comprise changes in the interventions needed to 

achieve particular steps within the pathway, or changes to the steps themselves.   To take 

one example of how this “adaptive planning” approach will work, there is presently little 

understanding of how “Future Mobility” – which can be broadly defined as disruptive 

technological and social change facilitating new and improved transport services – will 

affect travel behaviour.  There is also much uncertainty about any longer-term effects on 

travel behaviour of the Covid-19 pandemic of 2020.  As those effects become apparent, 

changes will be made to the proposed pathway to the Right Mix. 

Spatial themes 

21. The steps in the pathway to the Right Mix are defined using the framework of the spatial 

themes in the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040.  Trips by Greater Manchester 

residents have been categorised into the spatial themes. 

22. The spatial themes have been represented within the Greater Manchester TRADS Years 3-5 

(2014-2016) person-trip dataset through the application of the following criteria (Table 

V1). 

23. Note: The spatial theme, ‘A Globally Connected City’ (i.e. non-work trips to Manchester 

Airport) has been excluded from the analysis. TRADS surveys cannot accurately pick up 

these trips since residents making trips to Manchester Airport will likely be outside Greater 

Manchester (e.g. on holiday abroad) at the time at which surveys would be carried out. The 

number of ‘A Globally Connected City’ trips is likely to be very small compared to the other 

spatial themes, so this is not considered to have a material impact on the results.  

Page 651



 

152 

24. Figure V2 and V3 show the change in volume of trips by mode for ‘Now’ and ‘2040’ within 

each spatial theme in the Right Mix vision. 

  

Page 652



 

153 

 

Table V1: Allocation of trips to the spatial themes defined in the 2040 Transport Strategy 

Spatial Theme Includes Except 

Neighbourhood Trips less than 2km (straight line) 

with at least one end within 

Greater Manchester 

• Trips with a non-work attraction end at Manchester 

Airport and surrounding developments 

• Trips with an end within the Regional Centre 

Wider City 

Region 

Trips with at least one end in 

Greater Manchester, and both ends 

no more than 10km outside the 

Greater Manchester boundary 

• Trips with a non-work attraction end at Manchester 

Airport and surrounding developments 

• Trips with an end within the Regional Centre 

• Trips under 2km  

Regional Centre  Trips with an end in the Regional 

Centre 

• Trips with a non-work attraction end at Manchester 

Airport and surrounding developments 

• Trips with an end more than 10km outside the 

Greater Manchester boundary 

City to City Trips with one end in Greater 

Manchester, and the other more 

than 10km outside the Greater 

Manchester boundary 

• Trips with a non-work attraction end at Manchester 

Airport and surrounding developments 

 
25. Note: The spatial theme, ‘A Globally Connected City’ (i.e. non-work trips to Manchester 

Airport) has been excluded from the analysis. TRADS surveys cannot accurately pick up 

these trips since residents making trips to Manchester Airport will likely be outside Greater 

Manchester (e.g. on holiday abroad) at the time at which surveys would be carried out. The 

number of ‘A Globally Connected City’ trips is likely to be very small compared to the other 

spatial themes, so this is not considered to have a material impact on the results.  

Page 653



 

154 

Figure V2: “Right Mix Vision” change in volume of trips by mode for ‘Now’ and ‘2040’, by spatial 
theme 

 

 

Figure V3: “Right Mix Vision” change in volume of trips by mode for ‘Now’ and ‘2040’, by spatial 
theme, with Neighbourhood and Wider city-region trips combined 

Comparing Table V2 with Table V3, it can be seen that, outside the Regional Centre, a reduction in 
Wider city-region trips is expected to be outweighed by an increase in Neighbourhood trips. 

Page 654



 

155 

The steps to achieve the “Right Mix” 

26. The steps in the pathway to achieve the Right Mix are as follows.  Steps that have changed 

– or been added - since January 2019 are preceded by a ‘*’. 

• *Step 1: 10% population growth leads to 10% growth in trips (and trip-kilometrage) by 

all modes. 

• Step 2: Land-use and transport policies (plus changes in individual preferences) lead to 

a redistribution of 5% of trips from Wider City Region to Neighbourhood. 

• Step 3: Land-use and transport policies (plus changes in individual preferences) lead to 

a redistribution of 10% of Wider City Region trips to Regional Centre. 

• Step 4: Land use change and transport interventions lead to a higher mode share for 

walking for Regional Centre and Neighbourhood trips. 

• Step 5: Transformational cycling policies lead to a switch to cycle from other modes – 

reaching a 10% mode share for Regional Centre and Neighbourhood trips and a 5% 

mode share for Wider City Region trips by 2040. 

• *Step 6: Improved metro, suburban rail, and bus rapid transit services, plus 

complementary policies, cause these rapid transit modes to increase their mode-share, 

taking 8% of Wider City Region trips.  

• Step 7: Transport policies (including travel demand management) lead to a 5% 

reduction in trip-length of Wider City Region car-trips. 

• *Step 8: Improved inter-urban public transport leads to a 5% reduction in car mode-

share for city-to-city trips. 

27. Each of the steps in the pathway to the Right Mix is described below, together with the 

evidence behind them.  The changes in travel behaviour that they represent comprise a set 

of adjustable targets which will be reviewed and modified within the adaptive planning 

approach outlined in paragraph 6 above. 

 

 

Page 655



 

156 

Step 1: 10% population growth leads to 10% growth in trips (and trip-kilometrage) by all 
modes 

28. Step 1 assumes that the expected 10% growth in Greater Manchester population between 

2017 and 2040 leads to a 10% increase in the number of trips – i.e. that trip-rate per 

person remains constant.  In the early years of this century, trip-rates per person – both 

across England (see Figure V3) and in Greater Manchester (see Figure V4) - declined 

sharply, possibly as a result of the growth of the digital economy.  There are some signs 

that the decline has levelled-off in recent years. 

29. It is not expected that Greater Manchester’s transport and land-use interventions will have 

much effect on trip-rates per person, and that factors outside Greater Manchester’s 

influence will be the main driver of any changes in trip-rates. 

30. Note that in the January 2019 version of the Right Mix, population growth to 2040 was 

expected to be 15%: the change reflects revised population projections. 

 
Figure V3: Trend in trip rates, miles travelled per person and hours per person spent travelling: 
England 1972/73-2017, National Travel Survey (NTS0101) 

 

Page 656



 

157 

Figure V4: Trips per person per year 2005 – 2016 Greater Manchester  

 

31. The table above is based on TfGM analysis of the Department for Transport National Travel 

Survey (2005 – 2016) and TfGM Travel Diary Surveys (2011 – 2016).  N.B. DfT have recently 

changed the method for recording short walks – amended values for the trend for trips in 

England excluding short walks are reported in the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 

2040 Evidence Base - Travel in Greater Manchester section. 

32. In recent years, the effect of falling trip-rates on motor-vehicle traffic has been at least 

partly offset by an increase in light-van movements, with an important cause being the 

growth of the digital economy leading to replacement of shopping-trips by movements of 

delivery vehicles.  The growth of light-van movements has not been explicitly allowed for in 

this analysis, and the assumption that trip-rates will not continue their recent decline 

provides a balancing element of caution in estimating how externally-driven factors will 

affect volumes of motor-vehicle traffic in 2040. 

33. Figure V5 shows that between 1993 and 2016 traffic in Greater Manchester increased by 

around 21% whereas LGV kilometrage on Greater Manchester roads increased by around 

68% in the same period.  LGVs now account for c. 1.7 billion kilometres on Greater 

Manchester roads, representing 13% of all traffic (up from 9% in 1993).   

34. It is important to note that the majority of this growth in LGV traffic has taken place on 

motorways, where the total distance travelled by LGVs has more than doubled between 

1993 and 2016.  In comparison, A roads have seen a 27% increase, and B roads a 21% 

increase over the same period.   In 2016, motorways accounted for 56% of total Greater 

Manchester LGV kilometres travelled, up from 41% in 1993. 

Page 657



 

158 

Figure V5: Growth in Light Goods Vehicle traffic on Greater Manchester roads 

Source: TfGM Highways Forecasting and Analytical Services: Report 1912 Transport Statistics 2016 

Road Traffic Section.

 
 

 

 

Page 658



 

159 

Step 2:  Land-use and transport policies (plus changes in individual preferences) lead to a 
redistribution of 5% of trips from Wider City Region to Neighbourhood 

35. There is a growing body of evidence that highly skilled young professionals want to live in 

attractive walkable urban environments.  For example, in a recent survey of millennials 

aged 18-34 in ten major US cities, three in four said it is likely they will live in a place where 

they do not need a car to get around (Source: Transportation for America (2014), Survey: 

To recruit and keep millennials, give them walkable places with good transit and other 

options. Available from: http://t4america.org/2014/04/22/survey-to-recruit-and-keep-

millennials-give-them-walkable-places-with-good-transit-and-other-options/ 

36. We anticipate that these preferences will translate into more Neighbourhood trips.  

Processes by which that might occur include (as reflected further by Figure V6): 

• Trips to the supermarket being replaced by online delivery plus trips to the local 

convenience stores for top-up shopping. 

• More walk-friendly neighbourhoods causing travel to local restaurants to replace travel 

to more distant eating venues. 

• Reduced car-ownership among younger age-cohorts leading to a switch to 

neighbourhood trips that are more suitable for other modes of transport.  

Figure V6: Evidence from ‘All Change?’ (Commission on Travel Demand) 

 

Page 659

http://t4america.org/2014/04/22/survey-to-recruit-and-keep-millennials-give-them-walkable-places-with-good-transit-and-other-options/
http://t4america.org/2014/04/22/survey-to-recruit-and-keep-millennials-give-them-walkable-places-with-good-transit-and-other-options/


 

160 

Source: Commission on Travel Demand (2018), All Change? The future of travel demand 

and the implications for policy and planning. Available from: 

http://www.demand.ac.uk/commission-on-travel-demand/ 

37. The targeted regeneration of town centres (including - but not confined to - the eight 

largest town centres in Greater Manchester – Altrincham, Stockport, Ashton-under-Lyne, 

Oldham, Rochdale, Bury, Bolton and Wigan.) will reinforce this preference and increase the 

potential for Neighbourhood trips.  More residents in town centres will lead to more 

demand for local services, which will result in more people being employed to provide 

those services. 

38. Many of these local trips will be made by walking.  Figure V7 shows that the vast majority 

of walking trips made by Greater Manchester residents are under 2km in length. 

Figure V7: Main mode and distance travelled, Greater Manchester TRADS Years 3-5 (2014-2016) 

 

39. The Mayor’s Town Centre Challenge will provide a new and concerted effort to support 

Greater Manchester’s local authorities to realise the potential in town centres, with a 

particular emphasis on achieving sustainable communities featuring thriving housing 

markets.  These sustainable communities will provide their residents with greater scope to 

adopt non-car lifestyles by increasing the likelihood of being able to access the majority of 

what they need (across the full spectrum of journey purposes) without needing to travel 

further than 2km.   

Page 660

http://www.demand.ac.uk/commission-on-travel-demand/


 

161 

40. Figure V8 highlights the existing potential of the eight largest town centres and the urban 

area within the M60 for delivering beneficial travel outcomes by showing that residents 

within these areas tend to travel less distance (measured by car-driver-km per head) to 

travel to work (when compared to areas on the periphery of Greater Manchester). 

Figure V8: Average distance travelled to work (km) as car-driver per resident worker, Census 
2011 

 

41. Note that this map shows average car-driver-km to work across all workers in each zone, 

including those who don’t travel by car 

42. To support the 2040 Transport Strategy, Greater Manchester is planning to implement 

“Streets for All”. Streets for All is Greater Manchester’s new way of thinking about the role 

of streets in creating sustainable, healthy and resilient places. It focuses on balancing the 

movement of people and goods alongside the creation of more people-friendly and less 

polluted streets and places. Specific Streets for All investments will depend on the specific 

needs of each locality, but they are likely to reflect a greater emphasis on “place” in 

densely populated residential areas, thereby encouraging the development of walkable 

communities which generate Neighbourhood trips. 

43. Figure V9 shows the tendency within Greater Manchester for densely-populated areas to 

hold above-average (in comparison to Greater Manchester as a whole) concentrations of 

no-car households. This is complemented by Figure V10 which shows how these densely-

populated areas are also generally characterised as having above-average (in comparison 

to Greater Manchester as a whole) levels of public transport accessibility.   

Page 661



 

162 

44. In Figure V10, public transport accessibility is measured by GMAL (Greater Manchester 

Accessibility Levels), which is a detailed and accurate measure of the accessibility of a point 

to both the conventional public transport network (i.e. bus, Metrolink and rail) and Greater 

Manchester’s Local Link (flexible transport service), taking into account walk access time 

and service availability.  GMAL gives particular emphasis to bus accessibility and are not 

affected by the higher speeds offered by National Rail or Metrolink services. 

Figure V9: Total Cars & Vans per head and Resident Population Density, Census 2011 

 

Page 662



 

163 

Figure V10: GMAL (October 2017) and Resident Population Density, Census 2011 

 

45. Together, Figure V9 and Figure V10 highlight the importance of attractive and frequent bus 

services in facilitating non-car-dependent lifestyles. Investment in bus priority will be 

important in facilitating those attractive and frequent bus services.  Figure V11 shows that 

people who don’t own cars are likely to make more Neighbourhood trips.   

Page 663



 

164 

Figure V11: Daily Trips by Spatial Theme: No car households vs. Car available households, 
Greater Manchester TRADS Years 3-5 (2014-2016) 

 

46. Figure V12 shows journey purpose by spatial theme.  This analysis highlights the dominant 

role of education and shopping within the Neighbourhood spatial theme, when compared 

to the Wider City Region and Regional Centre spatial themes where there is a much greater 

emphasis on commuting. 

Page 664



 

165 

Figure V12: Journey Purpose by Spatial Theme (Daily Trips by GM residents, GM TRADS 2014-16) 

 

47. There are some counteracting forces against a move to more Neighbourhood trips: for 

example, increased choice for both primary and secondary education and increased 

centralisation of healthcare facilities.  There are also major employment growth areas in 

locations such as Manchester Airport and M62 North-East Corridor, which will attract most 

of their workers from outside the immediate neighbourhood.  Interventions to minimise 

any growth in motor-vehicle traffic resulting from developments such as these are detailed 

in Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan  

48. In sum, with land-use and transport policies which reinforce strong changes in individual 

preferences, we consider a net redistribution of 5% of Wider City-Region trips to 

Neighbourhood trips by 2040 to be a realistic target. 

 

Step 3:  Land-use and transport policies (plus changes in individual preferences) lead to a 
redistribution of 10% of Wider City Region trips to Regional Centre 

49. Step 2 represented how land-use and transport policies will combine to promote 

sustainable travel outcomes that will be focused upon the regeneration of existing urban 

areas outside of the Regional Centre.  Step 3 accounts for the opportunities provided by 

the intensification of both the residential and employment markets within the Regional 

Centre. 

 

Page 665



 

166 

50. The draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework anticipates a major growth in jobs in the 

Regional Centre.  For example, the GMSF, ‘Greater Manchester’s Plan for Homes, Jobs, and 

the Environment’, notes that baseline economic trends suggest the majority of 

employment growth would be in Salford, Manchester, and Trafford.  

51. It is expected that more jobs in the Regional Centre will lead to more Regional Centre trips, 

not just for work, but for other purposes, for reasons that include: 

• Regional Centre workers will take trip-chaining opportunities to visit Regional Centre 

shopping and leisure attractions (i.e. combining several activities through linked trips – 

e.g. city-centre shopping on the way home from work). 

• More jobs in the Regional Centre will cause an increase in population density in 

locations well-located for travel to the Regional Centre, which will have a relatively high 

propensity to travel to the Regional Centre for other purposes.  This will be an 

additional effect to the increase in Regional Centre walk-trips resulting from more 

residents within the Regional Centre considered in Section 4 below. 

• The developments that create the additional jobs in the Regional Centre will 

themselves attract trips for other purposes. 

52. As will be seen from Figure V3, the net result of the Right Mix trip targets is that Greater 

Manchester area trips wholly outside the Regional Centre are expected to increase, but by 

less than Regional Centre trips. 

53. The growth of Regional Centre trips is expected to take place without any net growth in car 

trips, reflecting the constraints on the highway network and an increased focus on “place” 

in allocating highway space.   Annual counts of movements crossing the MSIRR inbound 

show that car volumes crossing the MSIRR cordon inbound have fallen substantially over 

the past fifteen years, both in the AM peak (see Figure V14) and inter-peak periods. 

54. The growth of Regional Centre trips will place substantial demands on the public transport 

network.  More details of public transport capacity requirements are given under Step 6 

below. 

 

Page 666



 

167 

Step 4:  Land use change and transport interventions lead to a higher mode share for 
walking for Regional Centre and Neighbourhood trips 

55. The population of the Regional Centre is expected to roughly double by 2040, which is 

expected to lead to an increase in the proportion of Regional Centre trips made by walking.  

A cautious allowance has been made for this by increasing the walk mode share of 

Regional Centre trips from 30% in 2017 to 38% in 2040 (an increase of approximately 25%) 

and reducing the mode share of other Regional Centre trips by the same proportion.  Note 

that in the January 2019 pathway to the Right Mix, the share of walking for Regional Centre 

trips in 2017 was only 24%.  That has now been revised upwards after adjusting for under-

recording of trips by residents of Regional Centre apartments.  

56. Greater Manchester’s Streets for All approach will reflect a greater emphasis on “place” at 

the local street level, thereby encouraging the development of walkable communities. This 

is estimated, at a high level, to support an increase in walk mode-share for Neighbourhood 

trips from 50% to 55% (the effect of interventions to improve cycling is allowed for under 

Step 5, “Transformational Cycling Policies” below).  As noted under Step 2, attractive bus 

services – and hence investment in bus priority – will be important in increasing walk-trips. 

57. Figure V13 and Figure V14 indicate how the increase in dwelling density in the vicinity of 

the MSIRR (located in close proximity to the extensive range of facilities offered within the 

city centre) between 2001 and 2011, coincided with a rapid increase in the volume of 

inbound walk movements across the City Centre cordon during the AM Peak.  In 

interpreting Figure V14, it is important to note that the walk movements across the MSIRR 

include walk-egress legs of car trips, by which motorists park outside the MSIRR and walk 

across it to their city-centre destinations.  It is believed that the number of such walk-

egress legs of car trips has reduced over time, and so the increase in walk trips across the 

MSIRR by local residents is probably greater than the overall observed increase in walk 

movements.  

Page 667



 

168 

Figure V13: Residential dwelling density around the MSIRR 

 

Source: TfGM analysis of Census 2001 and 2011 data 

 

Figure V14: Inbound Trips by Mode across the City Centre cordon (AM Peak) 

 

Source: TfGM Highways Forecasting and Analytical Services 

Page 668



 

169 

 

Step 5:  Transformational cycling policies lead to a switch to cycle from other modes – 
reaching a 10% mode share for Regional Centre and Neighbourhood trips and a 5% mode 
share for Wider City Region trips by 2040 

58. The adjustable targets for cycle mode shares for Greater Manchester in 2040 are set out 

below. 

• Neighbourhood: 10% 

• Wider City Region: 5% 

• Regional Centre: 10%. 

59. These cycle mode shares targeted in Step 5 represent Greater Manchester’s ambitious 

aims for growing levels of cycling, in line with current policies. 

Greater Manchester’s current ambitions for cycling 

60. Greater Manchester’s ambitious vision for cycling is set out in the ‘Made to Move’ report, 

by Greater Manchester Cycling and Walking Commissioner Chris Boardman. Among other 

actions, it calls for a ring-fenced, 10 year, £1.5 billion infrastructure fund, starting with a 

short-term Mayor’s Challenge Fund to kick-start delivery for walking and cycling (now 

committed through the Transforming Cities Fund, totalling £160m). The goal of the Made 

to Move report is described as follows: 

“To double and then double again cycling in Greater Manchester and make walking 

the natural choice for as many short trips as possible.” 

61. If this goal is aligned with the suggested 10-year fund, that would mean a 300% increase in 

cycling levels by 2028. Based on the current Greater Manchester cycling mode share (from 

TRADS) of 1.7%, a 300% increase (equivalent to doubling and then doubling again) would 

equal a 6.8% mode share across all spatial themes. This suggests that the adjustable 

targets for mode shares above should be achievable by 2040, if current policies are fully 

delivered. 

62. Interventions needed to achieve these adjustable targets for cycle mode share in Greater 

Manchester will include: 

• Reallocation of road space towards cycling in appropriate locations as part of Greater 

Manchester’s Streets for All approach. 

• Implementation of the Cycling and Walking Commissioner’s proposed Bee Network. 

• Increases in capacity of the cycle network, especially in and around the Regional Centre 

and areas of high cycle demand elsewhere in Greater Manchester. 

• Provision of cycle parking. 

Page 669



 

170 

Evidence from other city regions 

63. Benchmark evidence from other city regions also suggests that rapid growth in cycling 

levels is possible. For example: 

• The central aim of the Mayor of London’s Transport Strategy is to achieve an 80% mode 

share for sustainable (non-car) modes by 2041. Cycle mode share in London was 

approximately 3% in 2018. Current projections prepared by TfL to support the Strategy 

range from a 6% mode share for cycling in the 2041 ‘Core reference case’, through to a 

15% mode share by 2041 in the most aspirational scenario. The Greater London 

Authority (2018), Mayor’s Transport Strategy 2018 is available from: 

https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/transport/our-vision-transport/mayors-

transport-strategy-2018 

• In Seville, cycle mode shares were negligible in 2006 but rose to 5.6% by 2011 following 

the implementation of a cycle investment programme.. Research by Marques, R., 

Hernandez-Herrador, V. and Calvo-Salazar, M. (2014) entitled “Seville: a successful 

experience of bicycle promotion in a Mediterranean context” within The Sustainable 

City, Volume 1, pages 769-781. Available at: 

https://www.witpress.com/Secure/elibrary/papers/SC14/SC14065FU1.pdf?_sm_nck=1 

• In Dublin, less than 2.3% of people travelled into the city centre by bike, in 2006, but by 

2015 this figure had more than doubled to 5.4%. Research from Dublin City Council. 

(2016). Dublin City Council Transport Study. Available at: 

https://consultation.dublincity.ie/traffic...transport/traffic.../Dublin%20City%20Centre 

Abstraction of trips from other modes 

64. DfT’s meta-analysis of studies of abstraction, which has informed DfT’s Active Mode 

Appraisal toolkit (Department for Transport (2018), TAG data book table A.5.4.7. Available 

from: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tag-data-book) – has been used as 

the basis for estimating how cycle trips are abstracted from other modes.  It has however 

been necessary to substantially modify the source-mode shares reported in that analysis in 

order to allow for variations in baseline mode shares by spatial theme.   

65. The abstraction from rail-based modes is very high in the DfT meta-analysis, which suggests 

that it is based on metropolitan areas with higher shares for rail-based modes than Greater 

Manchester.  Since (developed-world) cities with high rail-based mode shares typically 

have relatively low car mode-shares, there is reason to believe that the use of the DfT’s 

values without adjustment would understate the reduction in car trips resulting from 

transformational cycling policies. 

  

Page 670

https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/transport/our-vision-transport/mayors-transport-strategy-2018
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/transport/our-vision-transport/mayors-transport-strategy-2018
https://www.witpress.com/Secure/elibrary/papers/SC14/SC14065FU1.pdf?_sm_nck=1
https://consultation.dublincity.ie/traffic...transport/traffic.../Dublin%20City%20Centre
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tag-data-book


 

171 

 

Table V2: Estimated breakdown of additional cycle trips by mode 

 

 

66. The values in Table V2 – which represent a change from the January 2019 pathway to the 

Right Mix – assume that improved cycling facilities do not affect the overall trip-rate.  The 

changes in mode of travel resulting from improved cycling facilities will partly take place 

through redistribution of trips towards those more suited to cycling.  That will lead to a 

reduction in total person-kilometrage because cycle trips within most of the spatial themes 

(although not Neighbourhood) are shorter than average.  

Step 6:  Improved metro, suburban rail, and bus rapid transit services, plus 
complementary policies, cause these rapid transit modes to increase their mode-share, 
with their share of Wider City Region trips increasing to 8% 

67. At present in Greater Manchester, approximately 60% of metro and suburban rail trips 

have an end in the Regional Centre.  Although the Regional Centre will always be a very 

important trip attractor for rapid transit, Greater Manchester aims that rail-based rapid 

transit (meaning metro and suburban rail) should in the future serve a wider range of trip-

origins and destinations, thus greatly extending the benefits of these rapid transit modes.  

For example, there is a need to provide better rapid transit connections for residents of the 

north of Greater Manchester to reach job opportunities in the southern half of the city-

region, in locations that include Manchester Airport and Trafford Park.  Traffic congestion 

on the highway network and slow public transport links mean that many of these trips are 

at present difficult, especially at peak times. 

Mode 
Wider City-Region: % 
breakdown of cycle trips 
abstracted 

Neighbourhood: % 
breakdown of cycle 
trips abstracted 

Regional Centre: % 
breakdown of cycle trips 
abstracted 

Bus 25 5 23 

Car/taxi 56 41 23 

Rail 7 0 17 

Metro 8 3 14 

Walk  4 51 24 

Total 100 100 100 

Page 671



 

172 

68. The present limited focus of metro and suburban rail on the Regional Centre reflects: 

• Limited peak capacity has in the past prevented offering attractive metro fares to cross-

city trips serving a wider range of trip-origins and destinations.  These trips will be more 

fare-sensitive because alternative modes to metro are typically more attractive than for 

travel to Manchester City Centre – e.g. car-parking is much cheaper outside 

Manchester City Centre. 

• Journey-times through the city centre are slow on the street-running section of 

Metrolink, and cross-city connections for suburban rail are often difficult. 

• Fares for mixed-mode trips are high: many non-Regional-Centre trips require travel on 

more than one mode if made by public transport. 

69. At present, Greater Manchester TRADS data shows that about 2% of Wider City Region 

trips use metro or National Rail services, a majority of which will comprise short trips 

within corridors.  To attract as many as 8% of Wider City Region trips to rapid transit 

modes, it would be necessary to attract demand from a much wider base than just intra-

corridor trips served by metro, bus rapid transit, or National Rail lines.  Instead it would 

need to attract the middle-distance trips – especially longer middle-distance trips – for 

which rapid transit can compete with car.  These are mostly trips that would route via the 

M60 if using car, and would route via the Regional Centre if using rapid transit.   

70. Therefore Step 6, together with Step 3 above (redistribution of 10% of Wider City Region 

trips to Regional Centre without any increase in Regional Centre car trips) will have 

substantial implications for public transport capacity and service-levels on rapid transit 

services to and through Manchester City Centre.  Several considerations indicate that only 

a major increase in metro capacity in the city centre - probably through a Regional Centre 

metro tunnel - would create a sufficient step-change to achieve these adjustable targets.  

This was the rationale in the January 2019 pathway to the Right Mix of focusing the target 

specifically on metro services.  However, reflecting the potential to increase usage of 

National Rail and bus rapid transit services, Step 6 now applies also to these forms of rapid 

transit. 

71. A step-change in metro capacity in Manchester City Centre would enable shorter-distance-

focused suburban rail services to be converted to metro, releasing capacity on the National 

Rail network to accommodate demand growth on remaining National Rail services, which 

would remain a very important part of the overall rapid transit service-offer. 

72.  Besides providing a step-change in metro capacity, a Regional Centre metro tunnel would 

also reduce the journey-times of cross-city trips by avoiding the city-centre street-running 

of the existing Metrolink system, whilst retaining its high service-frequencies.  That will be 

very important in achieving the target of 8% of Wider City-Region trips using metro or 

National Rail. 

Page 672



 

173 

73. To achieve 8% Wider City-Region trips using metro or National Rail, these networks would 

need to be supported by better access to stops and stations, since many Wider City-Region 

trips have at least one end located outside easy walking-distance to a rapid transit service.  

Future Mobility has great potential to improve access to the “first and last mile” of rapid 

transit journeys.  Finally, integrated fares between public transport modes will be 

important in increasing the use of rapid transit, and especially for Wider City-Region trips. 

74. The greatest capacity requirements in achieving the targets in Step 3 and Step 6 will be 

placed on metro.   Initial analysis by TfGM suggests that a Regional Centre metro tunnel 

accommodating 24 trains per hour in each direction using trains of 150m length would be 

sufficient to meet the adjustable targets in Step 3 and Step 6.  That would mean using 

trains that are more than twice as long as a present Metrolink double unit (two vehicles 

coupled together).  

75. National Rail services would also need to accommodate substantial demand growth.  As 

noted above, a step-change in metro capacity in Manchester City Centre would release 

capacity on the National Rail network to accommodate demand growth.   There is also 

considerable scope for increasing National Rail network capacity in Greater Manchester by 

running longer trains. 

76. Buses are expected to make a substantial contribution to accommodating the growth of 

travel demand to the Regional Centre. However, the growth in the metro network – as 

discussed above – would abstract demand from bus. Integrated fares between bus and 

metro would also reduce bus travel into the city centre by increasing use of buses as 

feeders to metro, rather than as a mode for travelling all the way into the city centre.  

77. Despite the above negative factors, a net increase in bus travel to the city centre is 

nonetheless expected to be necessary to achieve the targets in the Right Mix.  

78. Bus capacity constraints are more flexible than for rail-based transport, in that they can be 

overcome by allocating more roadspace to bus, and there is potential to introduce such 

measures in response to demand growth.  Bus terminus capacity in Manchester City Centre 

is another constraint which will need to be resolved: plans for accommodating buses in the 

city centre are contained within the City Centre Transport Strategy. 

 

Page 673



 

174 

Step 7:  Transport policies (including travel demand management) lead to a 5% reduction 
in trip-length of Wider City Region car-trips 

79. Trip redistribution – leading to either longer or shorter trips – is the main driver of long-

term change in travel behaviour.   For example, the roughly ten-fold increase in car travel 

in the UK since 1950 is almost entirely due to trip redistribution, with short trips by walk 

and bus being replaced by much longer car trips.  Trip redistribution also caused average 

car trip-length to increase during the second half of the twentieth century. 

80. Trip redistribution effects are allowed for in Steps 2 to 5 above, represented by Wider City 

Region trips redistributing to Neighbourhood (Step 2) and Regional Centre (Step 3).  Steps 

4 and 5 allow for a shortening of Neighbourhood and Regional Centre trips due to greater 

use of active modes.  

81. Step 7 allows for a shortening of average car trip-length in the Wider City-Region category, 

due to roadspace reallocation to improve “place” and prioritisation of modes that make 

most efficient use of limited roadspace through Greater Manchester’s Streets for All 

approach. 

 

Step 8:  Improved inter-urban public transport leads to a 5% reduction in car mode-share 
for city-to-city trips  

82. City-to-city trips (see Figure V2) show a very high car mode-share, which reflects the fact 

that most of these trips are not between city centres, for which the public transport mode 

share is much higher than the average for this spatial theme (see the definition of “City to 

City” under “Spatial Themes” at the start of this chapter). 

83. Major rail projects – notably HS2 and Northern Powerhouse Rail – can be expected to 

increase already-high rail mode share for travel between city centres.  They can also be 

expected to redistribute trips, leading to an increase in the proportion of city-centre-to-

city-centre trips within city-to-city trips.  The land-use changes and other policies and 

interventions referred to in Step 3 can also be expected to increase rail mode-share to the 

Regional Centre for longer-distance commuting trips – from locations such as Blackpool 

and Chester, which are included within the city-to-city spatial theme. 

84. A reduction in car mode-share by five percentage points has therefore been targeted: this 

spatial theme is expected to remain dominated by long car trips dispersed across a very 

wide range of trip origin-destination combinations.  The targeted public transport mode-

share represents an increase of approximately 50% in trip-volumes from the present. 

 

Page 674



 

175 

Conclusion: the achievability of the 2040 Right Mix 

85. Greater Manchester has many possible pathways available to achieving its Right Mix vision 

for 2040.  Following an adaptive approach facilitates changes in policies and interventions 

to respond to the many uncertainties that lie ahead, avoiding the risks inherent in an 

inflexible plan.  The pathway set out in this report aims to enhance existing trends that 

support the achievement of the Right Mix, including the increased preference for high-

density urban living (Steps 2 and 4, facilitated by interventions that will support Step 7); 

the growth of major city centres (Step 3); and the increased popularity of travelling by 

cycle, rapid transit, and inter-urban rail (Steps 5, 6, and 8).  

 

 

  

Page 675



 

176 

 

Page 676



 

Report to Council 
 

 

Date of Meeting 16 December 2020 
Portfolio Councillor Dalaat Ali 

(Cabinet Member for 
Healthy Lives) 

Report Author Monitoring Officer 
Public/Private Document Public 

 

 

Appointment of Director of Commissioning /Director of Adult 
Social Services (‘DASS’) 

 

 

Executive Summary 

 
1. The current Director of Commissioning will be retiring from the Council at the 

end of January 2021. The role also incorporates the statutory function of the 
DASS.The Council is required to appoint a Council officer to discharge this 
statutory function.  

 

Recommendation 

 
2. 

 
That Claire Richardson be appointed as the Council’s DASS in accordance 
with Section 6 of the Local Authority Social Services Act 1970 with effect 
from I February 2021.  

 

Reason for Recommendation 

 
3. The Council is under a statutory duty to appoint a DASS . 

 

Key Points for Consideration 

 
4.        
 
 
5. 
 
 

The current Director of Commissioning will be retiring from the Council at the 
end of January 2021.   
 
Under Section 6 of the Local Authority Social Services Act,  there is a duty 
on the Council to designate one of its officers as the DASS to discharge the 
functions set out in the Act.   
 
 

  6.      A recruitment process was undertaken during September and October,  
           involving the Chief Officer Employment Committee, Leadership Team, and  
           stakeholders. Following completion of that process Claire Richardson was  
           appointed as the Director of Commissioning. This post discharges the 
 

Page 677

Agenda Item 8



           statutory functions of the DASS and this element is a full Council  
           appointment.             
                    

           Costs and Budget Summary 

 
7.        Salary costs will be funded from within the existing approved staffing budget 

on a shared cost basis between the Council and the CCG. 

 

Risk and Policy Implications 

 
8.  The appointment of a DASS is a statutory requirement. 

 

Consultation 

 
9. Members of Cabinet,the Shadow Portfolio Holder and stakeholders. 

 

Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 

10. The background papers contain 
exempt information. 

 

 

For Further Information Contact:  David Wilcock 
david.wilcock@rochdale.gov.uk 
 

 

Page 678

mailto:david.wilcock@rochdale.gov.uk


 

Report to Council 
 

 

Date of Meeting 16 December 2020 
Portfolio Councillor Wardle 

(Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Delivery) 

Report Author Michael Garraway 
Public/Private Document Public 

 

 

Appointment of Independent Person 
 

 

Executive Summary 

 
1. The Council is required to make arrangements for external and independent 

appointments to committees in line with legislation and national best practice 
guidance. 
 
The proposed appointees must be able to demonstrate a related professional 
field alongside political neutrality. 
 
In accordance with the Localism Act 2011 the Council must appoint at least 
one Independent Person, who must be consulted before making a decision 
on a Member conduct complaint that has been investigated. The Council may 
also consult with that person when deciding whether to accept or reject a new 
complaint when it is received.  An Independent Person will also be available 
for consultation by the Member who is the subject of the complaint. 

 

Recommendation 

 
2. 

 
That Miranda Carruthers-Watt be appointed as Independent Person under 
the Localism Act 2011 for a 2 year term ending in December 2022 with the 
option to extend for a further 2 year period. 

 

Reason for Recommendation 

 
3. Council is required to determine the appointment of external members to 

Committee. 

 

Key Points for Consideration 

 
4. 
 
 
 
 

The Localism Act 2011 established a requirement for the council to appoint at 
least one Independent Person to assist the council in dealing with complaints 
that the Code of Conduct may have been breached. If the council has decided 
to investigate an allegation that the Code of Conduct has been breached then 
the views of the Independent Person must be sought, and taken into account, 

Page 679

Agenda Item 9



before the council makes its decision on any such allegation. The Committee 
of Standards in public life recently made recommendations on the term of 
appointment of the Independent Person.  In accordance with their 
recommendations, it is proposed that the term of appointment should be for a 
2 year period with the option to extend this for a further 2 years. 
 
Due to the potential for conflict of interests within the role (e.g. where an 
Independent Person is a friend or relative of a complainant) or for practical 
reasons (e.g. where an Independent Person is on holiday) it is once again 
recommended Council appoints 2 Independent Persons. 
 
The Independent Persons act as non-voting co-opted Members of the Audit 
and Governance Committee in respect of elected Member conduct issues.  
 
Recommended appointee profile 
 
Miranda Carruthers-Watt is a qualified solicitor with over 30 years’ experience 
in providing legal advice, leadership and management support to both the 
public and private sectors. She has a significant, governance and regulatory 
background within Greater Manchester. 
 
Alternatives Considered 
 
The Council could opt not to appoint.  This would expose the Council to risks 
for non-compliance with the Localism Act 2011 in relation to the appointment 
of the Independent Person for standards related matters.   

 

Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5. The Independent Person roles attract an annual remuneration of £600 gross.  

All other positions qualify for reimbursement of travel and expenses 
associated with attendance at meetings. All associated costs are met from 
within existing budgets. 

 

Risk and Policy Implications 

 
6. The Council is required to appoint at least one independent person under 

the Localism Act 2011 and would be open to challenge if the requirement 
was not met.   
 
It is considered best practice across Audit and Scrutiny fields to include 
where possible, independent appointments with a relevant professional field 
to support and add value to the work of committees. 
 

Consultation 

 
7. Council had previously been consulted and approved the inclusion of 

independent members on the Audit & Governance Committee. 
 
 

 

Page 680



Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 

8. None N/A 

 

For Further Information Contact: Michael Garraway 
01706 924718 
Michael.garraway2@rochdale.gov.uk 
 

 

Page 681

mailto:Michael.garraway2@rochdale.gov.uk


 

Report to Council 
 

 

Date of Meeting 16 December 2020 
Portfolio Leader of the Council 
Report Author Michael Garraway  
Public/Private Document Public 

 

 

Cabinet Portfolios and Responsibilities 2020/2021 
 

 

Executive Summary 

 
1. 
 
 
1.1 

This report sets out a number of changes which the Leader has made to 
Cabinet Portfolios. 
 
It also notifies Council of the Leader’s appointment of Cabinet Members and 
Assistants to portfolio holders for 2020/2021. 

 

Recommendation 

 
2.1 
 
 
 
 
2.2 

 
That Council receives for information, details of the Leaders’ appointments to 
Cabinet positions, the allocation of portfolios to Cabinet Members and the 
appointment of Assistants to Portfolio holders as detailed at the Appendix 
attached to this report. 
 
That the Leader re-affirms the joint arrangements and delegation of executive 
functions to individual cabinet members, Township Committees and Officers 
as set out in Part 3 (Scheme of Delegation) of the Council’s Constitution. 

 

Reason for Recommendation 

 
3. The Leader is able to modify Cabinet responsibilities and undertakes to 

notify Council of any such changes. 

 

Key Points for Consideration 

 
4. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Council has adopted a Leader and Cabinet Governance model.  The 
Leader, being appointed for a period of 4 years, holds the responsibility for 
determining the size and membership of their Cabinet and the roles that 
individual cabinet members may undertake, including any delegations that are 
specific to them. 
 

Page 682

Agenda Item 10



4.1 
 
 
 
 
4.2 
 
 
 
 
4.3 

Councillor Allen Brett was appointed as the Leader of the Council for a period 
of 4 years on 13th December 2017.  All Executive functions are vested in the 
Leader and it is their responsibility to determine how such functions shall be 
undertaken.  Council is provided with this information on an annual basis. 
 
The Leader has made some changes to the remit of portfolios for the 
remainder of the 2020/2021 Municipal Year.  These are detailed at the 
Appendix to the report. 
 
Alternatives Considered 
None – this is a matter for the Leader to determine. 

 

Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5. 
 
 
 
5.1 

The Members Allowance Scheme as approved by the Council on 14th 
December 2016.  The scheme contains special responsibility allowances for 
the Leader, Cabinet Members and Assistants to Portfolio Holders. 
 
Special responsibility allowances will be met from within existing budgets. 

 

Risk and Policy Implications 

 

 
 
7. None – this is a matter for the Leader to determine. 

 

Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 

8. None n/a 

 

 

 

6. None associated with this report. 
 
 

Consultation 

Page 683



Appendix 1 

Leader of the 
Council 
 

Councillor Allen Brett 
 

Service 
responsibilities 

Communications 
Covid-19 Recovery 
Transformation 
Public Service Reform 
Cooperative Agenda 
Social Value 
Corporate Policy 
Special Projects 
 

Corporate Plan 
ways of working 

Cooperation - Public services, partners, citizens, businesses and the voluntary and community sector will share decision 
making and jointly design and deliver services 
 
Strengthening community assets - Individuals and families will use their skills, experiences and kindness to develop and 
improve their own communities 
 
Prevention and intervention - Public services, citizens and businesses will take action to stop problems from arising or 
becoming worse  
 
Collective change - Individuals will practice self-help and make choices so that they are able to look after themselves and 
others  
 
Integrated and local - Public services, partners and the voluntary and community sector will share skills, expertise and 
resources to deliver services at the right time and in the right places  
 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 684



Portfolios 
 

Corporate Plan 
responsibilities 

GM Strategy 
responsibilities 

Council 
Service 
responsibilities 

Cabinet 
Member  

Assistant  Directorate Lead Movements 

Healthy Lives  
(Deputy) 

People get a 
good start 
More mothers 
breastfeeding 
for longer 
 
Fewer mothers 
smoking in 
pregnancy 
 
People are 
healthy 
More people are 
physically active 
including the 
over 50’s 
 
More people are 
a healthy weight 
 
Reduced harm 
from drugs, 
alcohol and 
smoking 
 
Fewer people 
dying early from 
diseases  
 
More children 
have good oral 
health 
 

Healthy lives, 
with quality care 
available for 
those that need 
it 
 
An age-friendly 
Greater 
Manchester 
 
Taking Charge 
GM 
 
GM Health 
devolution 
 
 

Public Health 
 
Public Health 
Commissioning 
 
Health and 
Wellbeing Board 
 
Integrated 
Commissioning 
Board 
 
Greater 
Manchester 
Health and 
Social Care 
Devolution 
 
Relationship 
management for 
Link for Life 
 
Culture Strategy 
Drugs & Alcohol 
Commissioning 
 
Integrated 
Mental Health 
and Learning 
Disability 
Services 
Commissioning 
 
LCO 
 

Councillor 
Daalat Ali 

Councillor 
Pat Dale 
 

Public Health 
 
Adult Care 
 
Strategic 
Commissioning 
health and care 
in Public Health 

Andrea 
Fallon 
 
Sally 
McIvor 
 
Neil 
Thornton 

Out: Public 
Protection 
 
In: STAR 
 
 
 

P
age 685



Fewer older 
people suffering 
from falls 
 
Fewer people 
experiencing  
lengthy hospital 
stays through 
reablement and 
care at home 
 
People are 
resilient 
Fewer people 
have common 
and severe 
mental health 
disorders 
People have 
good levels of 
social contact 
and are not 
lonely or 
isolated, 
including adult 
care users, older 
people and 
carers 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

STAR 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 686



Climate 
Change and 
Sustainability 
(Deputy) 
 
 

Place is 
welcoming 
Air and land free 
from pollution 
and 
infrastructure 
that protects 
against climate 
change by using 
natural / 
renewable 
sources 
 
Addressing the 
climate 
emergency - 
Public services, 
partners, 
citizens, 
businesses and 
the voluntary 
and community 
sector will help 
to address the 
climate 
emergency by 
increasing their 
efforts to 
remove carbon 
dioxide from the 
atmosphere and 
reducing their 
own impact on 
the planet 
 
 

All 10 GM 
priorities 

Deliver on the 
Council’s 
Climate Change 
Strategy to 
achieve; Social, 
economic and 
environmental 
sustainability 
 
Public 
Protection 
Low Carbon 
 

Councillor 
Sara 
Rowbotham 
 

Councillor 
Wendy 
Cocks 

Neighbourhoods Mark 
Widdup 

In: 
Sustainability/Low 
Carbon, Public 
Protection  

P
age 687



Corporate 
Delivery 

Place supports 
sustainable 
growth 
Maximised 
income through 
investment, 
sponsorship, 
funding and 
rates and 
through better 
use of the local 
environment, 
heritage and 
buildings 
 
People spending 
money on local 
goods and 
services to keep 
more of the 
Rochdale pound 
in Rochdale 
Healthy, stable 
and quality 
workforces, 
particularly in 
key sectors 
(care, social 
work etc.) 
 
Service delivery 
models making 
use of 
technology and 
data 
 
Improved 
availability and 

World-class 
connectivity that 
keeps Greater 
Manchester 
moving 
 
Good jobs, with 
opportunities for 
people to 
progress and 
develop 
 
 

Finance 
Legal 
Audit 
Governance 
Human 
Resources 
Payroll 
Health & Safety 
ICT and Digital 
 

Councillor 
Carol 
Wardle 
 
 

Councillor 
Faisal 
Rana 
 
 

Resources 
 
Neighbourhoods  

Neil 
Thornton 
 
Mark 
Widdup 

In: Finance 
 
Out: STAR, 
Corporate Policy, 
Special Projects 
 
 

P
age 688



reliability of 
online access 
including better 
internet speeds 
and public wifi 
 

Getting a 
Good Start  
 

People get a 
good start 
More children 
school ready 
 
All pupils 
achieving at all 
key stages 
 
More young 
people 
participating in 
apprenticeships 
and learning 
 
People are 
healthy 
More people are 
physically active  
 
More people are 
a healthy weight 
 
Reduced harm 
from drugs, 
alcohol and 
smoking 
 
Fewer people 
dying early from 
diseases  
 

Children starting 
school ready to 
learn 
 
Young people 
equipped for life 

Education 
Children’s 
Social Care 
Children’s 
Safeguarding 
Schools and 
Joint 
Commissioning 
– Children 

Councillor 
Kieran 
Heakin 

Councillor 
Rachel 
Massey 

Children’s 
 
Public Health 
 

Gail 
Hopper  
 
Andrea 
Fallon 

 

P
age 689



More children 
have good oral 
health 
 
People fulfil their 
potential 
People have 
access to good 
or outstanding 
places of 
learning 
 
People are 
protected 
Reduced risk of 
deliberate harm, 
accidental injury 
and neglect for 
children  
 
Reduced rates 
of children 
needing 
protection and 
care  
 
Fewer children 
and young 
people entering 
the youth justice 
system 
 
More people 
with Special 
Educational 
Needs and 
Disabilities 
supported to 

P
age 690



know their rights 
and receiving 
joined up 
support  
 
More families 
staying together 
through early 
intervention 
 
More carers 
receiving 
appropriate 
support 
 
People are 
resilient 
Children and 
young people 
have high self-
esteem and are 
satisfied with 
their life, 
including being 
free from 
bullying at 
school 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 691



Social Care 
and Ageing 
Well 

People are 
protected 
Reduced risk of 
deliberate harm, 
accidental injury 
and neglect for 
adults 
 
Reduced rates 
of adults 
needing 
protection and 
care  
 
More people 
with Special 
Educational 
Needs and 
Disabilities 
supported to 
know their rights 
and receiving 
joined up 
support  
 
More carers 
receiving 
appropriate 
support 
 
People are 
healthy 
Fewer older 
people suffering 
from falls 
 
Fewer people 
experiencing  

Healthy lives, 
with quality care 
available for 
those that need 
it 
 
An Age Friendly 
Greater 
Manchester 

Adult 
Safeguarding 
 
Adult Social 
Care 
 
Joint 
Commissioning 
and Care 
Strategy 
 
Accommodation 
Strategy 
 
Adult Care 
Commissioning 
 
Integrated 
Mental Health 
and Learning 
Disability 
Services 
Commissioning 
 
Commissioning 
for all vulnerable 
and Disabled 
Groups within 
Care Act 
Commissioning 
 
Ageing Well 
Strategy 
 
 

Councillor 
Iftikhar 
Ahmed 

Councillor 
John 
Hartley 

Adult Care 
 

Sally 
McIvor 

 

P
age 692



lengthy hospital 
stays through 
reablement and 
care at home 
 
Place is age 
friendly 
People 
supported to live 
well with 
dementia 
 
People have 
access to quality 
home care, 
residential and 
nursing care 
services 
 

Quality of 
Place 
 

People are 
resilient 
More 
households 
prevented from 
becoming 
homeless 
 
Fewer 
households 
living in fuel 
poverty 
 
Place is 
welcoming 
More and a mix 
of affordable 
and higher value 
homes, 

World-class 
connectivity that 
keeps Greater 
Manchester 
moving 
 
Safe, decent 
and affordable 
housing 
 
A green city-
region and a 
high quality 
culture and 
leisure offer for 
all 

Highways 
Environmental 
Management 
Street Lighting 
Client 
Facilities 
Management 
Property 
Services 
Strategic 
Housing 
RBH Client 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Councillor 
Neil 
Emmott 
 

Councillor 
Linda 
Robinson 

Neighbourhoods 
 
 

Mark 
Widdup 
 
 

 

P
age 693



including land 
being made 
available to 
support 
development 
 
Sustainable 
homes that have 
age and 
environmentally 
friendly features 
 
More empty 
homes being 
brought back 
into use and an 
improved private 
rented sector 
 
Accessible, 
quality highways 
and transport 
options, 
including cycling 
and walking 

 

A Safer and 
Inclusive 
Community 
 

Place is 
inclusive 
People come 
together through 
creative and 
cultural 
opportunities  
 
More people 
engaging in 
volunteering, 
acts of kindness 

A green city-
region and a 
high quality 
culture and 
leisure offer for 
all 
 
Safer and 
stronger 
communities 
 

Townships 
Libraries 
Community 
Safety 
Voluntary 
Sector 
Community 
Cohesion 
Community 
Centres  
Culture 
Events 
Equalities 

Councillor 
Janet 
Emsley 
 

Councillor 
Sue 
Smith 

Neighbourhoods 
 
Children’s 
 
Public Health 

Mark 
Widdup 
 
Gail 
Hopper 
 
Andrea 
Fallon 

In: Equalities, 
Integrated Place 
work 
 
 

P
age 694



and doing things 
for each other 
 
Fewer people 
experiencing 
discrimination 
and greater 
consideration of 
the needs of 
people who are 
disadvantaged 
or suffer 
inequality 
 
More people 
living in 
harmony 
together, 
whatever their 
background, 
religion or 
culture  
 
Place is 
welcoming 
Reduced crime 
and antisocial 
behaviour 
 
People fulfil their 
potential 
More people 
engaging in 
meaningful 
activity during 
the working day 
 

An age-friendly 
Greater 
Manchester 
 
Healthy lives, 
with quality care 
available for 
those that need 
it 

Integrated Place 
work 
Engagement 
Coroners & 
Registrars 
 
 

P
age 695



Place is age 
friendly 
Younger and 
older people 
engaging in 
intergenerational 
activities 
 
More people 
aged 50-64 
engaging in 
volunteering 
 
More older 
people 
participating in 
community 
activities  

A Thriving 
Economy  
 

People fulfil their 
potential 
People have 
higher levels of 
qualifications 
and skills, 
including being 
able to access 
and use 
technology 
 
More people 
have higher 
earnings 
 
People have 
access to good 
or outstanding 
places of 
learning 

A thriving and 
productive 
economy in all 
parts of Greater 
Manchester 
 
Good jobs, with 
opportunities for 
people to 
progress and 
develop 
 
World-class 
connectivity that 
keeps Greater 
Manchester 
moving 
 
A green city-
region and a 

Jobs 
Skills 
Businesses 
Planning 
Town Centres  
Regeneration 
RDA 
Planning and 
Building Control  
Strategic 
Estates and 
Assets 
 
 
 

Councillor 
John 
Blundell 

Councillor 
Ali Ahmed 

Economy 
 
 

John 
Searle 
 
 

In: Strategic 
Estates and 
Assets, Planning, 
Building Control 
 
Out: 
Sustainability/Low 
Carbon 
 

P
age 696



 
Place provides 
opportunities 
More jobs 
created and 
good quality 
apprenticeships 
 
Higher 
proportion of 
skilled work in 
the labour 
market  
 
Town centres 
offer a balance 
of employment, 
commercial, 
leisure, 
community, 
housing, 
healthcare and 
educational use 
 
More 
businesses 
relocating, 
starting up or 
expanding in the 
borough 
 
More land and 
sites for 
employment   
 
People are 
resilient 

high quality 
culture and 
leisure offer for 
all 

P
age 697



Fewer people 
living in 
deprivation, 
suffering the 
impact of 
Welfare Reform 
or living in 
poverty in later 
life 
 
Place is age 
friendly 
More people 
aged 50-64 in 
employment or 
training  
 
Place supports 
sustainable 
growth 
More Rochdale 
employees 
receiving the 
living wage, 
getting a fair 
day’s pay for a 
fair day’s work  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 698



 

Report to Council 
 

 

Date of Meeting 16 December 2020 
Portfolio Leader of the Council and 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 

Report Author Carolyn Goddard 
Public/Private Document Public 

 

 

Calculation of 2021-22 Taxbase 
 

 

Executive Summary 

 
1. 
 
 
 
1.1 
 
1.2 

To agree the statutory Council Tax Base calculation for 2021/22, calculated in 
accordance with The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) 
(England) Regulations 2012 as part of the 2021/22 Estimates process. 
 
For the Local Council Tax Support Scheme to remain unchanged for 2021/22. 
 
To approve the precept payment dates for 2021/22. 

 

Recommendation 

 
2. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.1 

Council are requested to approve: 
 
a. The Council Tax base expressed as “Band D equivalent properties”, be 

recommended as 54,637 for 2021/22 (55,745 2020/21) as detailed at 
Appendix 1. 
 

b. The Local Council Tax Support Scheme for 2021/22 remains unchanged. 
 
The proposed precepts payment schedule detailed in paragraph 4.2. 

 

Reason for Recommendation 

 
3.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.2 
 

Rochdale Borough Council, as a Council Tax billing authority, is required each 
year to make statutory calculations specified in Section 33 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended). The Local Authorities 
(Calculation of Council Tax Base) (England) Regulations 2012 require 
authorities to calculate the Council Tax base (number of taxable properties), 
expressed as "Band D equivalent properties". Approval of these calculations is 
required by 31st January in each financial year.  
 
The Local Government Finance Act 1992 prescribes the procedures to be 
adopted in setting precept payment dates. The Act requires billing authorities 

Page 699

Agenda Item 11



 
 
 
 
3.3 
 

to notify precepting authorities of a proposed payments schedule. This 
notification must be given before 31st December in respect of the following 
financial year. The final payments schedule is then confirmed by 31st January. 
 
The calculation of the tax base has to be made by 31st January and notified to 
the major precepting and levying authorities. Under Section 84 of the Local 
Government Act 2003 the determination can be delegated to a committee or 
sub-committee in accordance with Section 101 of the Local Government Act 
1972. This report recommends that Cabinet considers this report for 
submission to Council on 16 December 2020. 

 

Key Points for Consideration 

 
4.1 
 
4.1.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.1.2 
 
 
 
 
 
4.1.3 
 
 
 
 
4.1.4 
 
 
 
4.1.5 
 
 
 
 
4.2 
 
4.2.1 
 
 
 
 

Calculation of the Council Tax Base 
 
The calculation of the tax base starts with the number of recorded 
properties in each tax band (A to H) as at 14 September 2020, adjusted 
for:  

 changes expected to occur up to 31 March 2022 as a result of 
appeals, demolition and new home construction;  

 estimated number of disabled person’s reductions;  

 discounts allowed for single person households, students and 
empty/exempt properties. 

 
Following on from the resulting figure from the application of the 
process outlined in paragraph 4.1.1, the tax base calculation also takes 
account of the additional charges resulting from the local discount 
scheme in place for empty properties and second homes, along with 
the impact of the Local Council Tax Support scheme. 
 
The calculated number of properties in each band is then multiplied by 
a factor specified in the regulations to give an "equivalent number of 
band D properties" and then by an estimate of the likely collection rate 
for 2021/22 to give the tax base. 
 
The Council Tax base is used by the precepting authorities to apportion 
their net expenditure to their constituent authorities and by Rochdale 
Borough Council to set the level of Council Tax for 2021/22. 

 
The Council's net budgeted spending, including precepts and levies 
and after taking account of receipts of Business Rate income, is divided 
by the tax base to produce the Council Tax level for Band D properties, 
which is the headline tax figure. 
 
Local Council Tax Support Scheme 
 
Schedule 1A of the Local Government Finance Act 2012 requires local 
authorities to annually review their local scheme; with any revisions to 
the scheme requiring a period of consultation and must be agreed by 
Council by 31st January each year. There are no requirements to 
consult, should the scheme remain unchanged. 

Page 700



 
4.2.2 
 
4.3 
 
 
4.3.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.4 

 
It is proposed that the Scheme continues unchanged for 2021/22. 
 
Precepting Authority and Payment Dates 2021/22 

 

From 2018/19 elected Combined Authority Mayors were able to raise 
additional resources through a precept (or additional charge) on local 
Council Tax bills. The Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) 
sets a precept with two separately identified elements for the Mayor’s 
general functions, including the precept previously made for GM Fire & 
Rescue Authority, and for Police & Crime Commissioner functions.  
 

For 2021/22 the precepting authorities will continue to be: 
 

a) Rochdale Borough Council – General Functions 
b) Rochdale Borough Council – Adult Care 
c) GMCA Mayoral Police & Crime Commissioner 
d) GMCA Mayoral (including Fire Services) 

 
The Local Government Finance Act 1992 prescribes the procedures to 
be adopted in setting precept payment dates. The Act requires billing 
authorities to notify precepting authorities of a proposed payments 
schedule. This notification must be given before 31st December in 
respect of the following financial year. The final payments schedule is 
then confirmed by 31st January. 
 
The proposed payments schedule, is in line with the one operating in 
the current year, which was agreed by all Greater Manchester 
Authorities: 
 

20th April 2021 20th October 2021 

20th May 2021 22nd November 2021 

21st June 2021 20th December 2021 

20th July 2021 20th January 2022 

20th August 2021 21st February 2022 

20th September 2021 21st March 2022 

 
Alternatives Considered 
 
No alternative is available, as the Council has a statutory requirement to 
calculate and approve a Council Tax base each financial year. 
 

 

Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5.1 
 
5.2 
 
 

The detailed calculation of the tax base is set out in Appendix 1. 
 

The total number of properties has increased by 478 from 94,729 to 95,207 in 
the year ending on 14 September 2020. In the previous two years the net 
change had been increases of 743 (2019) and 609 (2018). There continues to 

Page 701



 
 
 
 
5.3 
 
 
 
 
5.4 
 
 
 
5.5 
 

be a level of new build across the Borough, and whilst some of this is offset by 
demolitions, this further increase shows a continuing growth in the overall 
property numbers. 

 
The Local Council Tax Support scheme forecast provided in the tax base is 
based on the 2020/21 local scheme which was approved by Council on 18 
December 2019. The 2020/21 scheme includes a banded income scheme for 
working age residents in receipt of Universal Credit. 

 
The overall estimated collection rate is reducing to 97% to reflect the forecast 
on-going financial impact of the Covid 19 pandemic on the borough’s residents 
(98% in 2020/21). 
 
An estimate of the outturn for 2020/21 Council Tax income will be compared to 
the 2020/21 budgeted baseline amount. Differences between the budget and 
the projected actual outturn for 2020/21 will be considered as part of setting 
the 2021/22 Estimates process.  
 
The Local Authorities (Collection Fund: Surplus and Deficit) (Coronavirus) 
(England) Regulations 2020 come into force on 1 December 2020. The 
regulations require the repayment of Collection Fund deficits arising in 
2020/21 to be spread over the next three years, 2021/22 to 2023/24, rather 
than the usual period of a year.  Council Tax precept payments will be 
adjusted to reflect the requirements of the regulations. 
 

 

Risk and Policy Implications 

 
6.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.2 

It is necessary to comply with Section 33 of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992 (as amended); The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax 
Base) (England) Regulations 2012; Section 84 of the Local Government Act 
2003 and Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972, to ensure that there 
is no risk of the authority acting ultra vires in relation to its Council Tax 
arrangements.   
 
It is necessary to comply with Section 33 of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992 (as amended) and The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax 
Base) (England) Regulations 2012, to ensure the Council Tax Base is 
correctly calculated. 
 

Consultation 

 
7. This report is part of the budget setting process and consultation is 

undertaken with stakeholder groups, staff and service users as appropriate 
throughout the budget process. 
 
 
 
 

 

Background Papers Place of Inspection 

Page 702



 

8. There are no background papers  

 

For Further Information Contact: Carolyn Goddard, Tel: 01706 926051, 
Carolyn.Goddard@Rochdale.Gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 703



Appendix 1 – Calculation of the Council Tax base for 2021/22 

1.1 Property Details 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) 

Band Valuation * 
Properties @ 14th 
September 2020 

Adjusted number of properties, 
after discounts, exemptions etc. 

(see 1.2 below) 
Factor 

Band D 
Equivalent 

A (Disabled) £40,000 99 89 5/9 49 

A £40,000 50,985 30,577 6/9 20,385 

B £52,000 16,581 13,276 7/9 10,326 

C £68,000 12,570 10,832 8/9 9,628 

D £88,000 7,944 7,359 1 7,359 

E £120,000 4,428 4,060 11/9 4,962 

F £160,000 1,674 1,552 13/9 2,242 

G £320,000 870 779 15/9 1,298 

H 
over 

£320,000 
56 39 18/9 78 

TOTAL   95,207 68,563   56,327 

 
* Valuations based on property values as at 1st April 1991. 
 
1.2 The total number of properties at 95,207 on 14th September 2020 (column 3) compares to 94,729 last year, reflecting that new 

house building developments within the Borough were greater than demolitions during the year, resulting in a net growth in the 
overall number of properties. Adjustments are made to reflect the forecast level of discounts and exemptions given to Council 
Tax payers: 

 
 
 
 

P
age 704



 

1.3   To calculate the statutory tax base, the number of Band D equivalent properties (column 6) is multiplied by the estimated eventual        

  collection rate for income raised relating to 2021/22. The estimated collection rate used for 2021/22 is 97% (2020/21: 98%). 

 

1.4   Applying a 97% collection rate gives a 2021/22 statutory tax base calculation of 54,637 Band D equivalent properties (56,327 x        

  97%). 

 

1.5  The proposed 2021/22 statutory tax base of 54,637 Band D equivalent properties has reduced by 1,108 properties from the 

equivalent for 2020/21 of 55,745 properties. Although the overall number of properties liable for Council Tax charges has 

increased, the impact of the Covid- 19 pandemic has resulted in an estimated increase in the level of Local Council Tax Support 

discount to be given, and a reduction in the estimated Council Tax collection rate. This has resulted in the reduction of the Council 

Tax base calculated. 

 

1.6 Variations in the outturn tax base due to the under/over achievement of the collection rate, or differences between theassumptions 

and  actuals  in calculating the number of Band D equivalent properties, will result in a surplus or deficit on the Collection Fund. 

This is shared between Rochdale Borough Council and the precepting bodies. 

 

Properties at 14th September 2020       95,207 

Forecast for net new growth (after demolitions) 599 

Forecast for exemptions  (1,800) 

Forecast for adjustments relating to Single Person discounts, Local Council Tax Support, and Empty/other 
discounts  (25,443) 

Net adjusted number of properties to be used in calculation of the Council Tax Base 68,563 

P
age 705



 

Report to Council 
 

 

Date of Meeting 16 December 2020 
Portfolio  Cabinet Member for 

Corporate Delivery 
Report Author Carolyn Goddard 
Public/Private Document Public 

 

 

Council Tax Empty Property Charges 
 

 

Executive Summary 

 
1. This report seeks approval to increase the council tax empty property premium 

from 200% to 300% with effect from 1 April 2021 for properties that have been 
empty in excess of 10 years. 

 

Recommendation 

 
2. That the empty property premium increase be approved.  

 

Reason for Recommendation 

 
3. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.1 
 
 
 
 
3.2 

In April 2013, Government gave local authorities power to determine the level 
of empty property discounts in dwelling classes B, C and D (Section 12 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 2012). The power included an option to charge 
a premium of up to 50% where a property has been empty in excess of two 
years. The Council decided to introduce a 50% premium with effect from 1 
April 2013 and increased this to 100% with effect from 1 April 2019. 
 
From 1 April 2020, Government increased the optional maximum empty 
property premium charge to 200% for properties that have been empty in 
excess of 5 years.  The Council decided to introduce this 200% premium with 
effect from 1 April 2020.  
 
From 1 April 2021, Government is increasing the optional maximum empty 
property premium charge to 300% for properties that have been empty in 
excess of 10 years. 

 

Key Points for Consideration 

 
4. 
 
 

In April 2013, there were 552 properties in the Rochdale borough which were 
subject to the empty property premium charge; this has reduced by 202 to 350 
by November 2020, 46 of which have been empty in excess of 10 years. 

 
 
 

Page 706

Agenda Item 12



 
4.1 
 
 
4.2 
 
 
 
 
4.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.4 
 
 
 
 
 
4.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.6 
 
 
 
4.7 
 
 
 
 
4.8 
 
 

 
The charging of a premium is part of the Council’s overall strategy of bringing 
long-term empty homes back into use at the earliest opportunity. 
 
Long-term empty homes have a negative impact on surrounding homes and 
areas, and while tackling empty homes will not provide a solution to the need 
for new homes, it is an important part of making best use of the existing 
housing stock. 
 
Other benefits include: 

 Improving housing conditions and reducing anti-social behaviour in the 
vicinity of the empty properties. 

 Reducing pressure on the existing housing stock. 

 Providing opportunities for local suppliers in the property and 
construction trades, and on a larger scale can support training and 
employment by local companies carrying out any necessary renovation 
and building work. 

 
On implementation of the Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and 
Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Act 2018, Local Government Minister, Rishi 
Sunak, said: “It is simply wrong that, while there are 200,000 long-term empty 
properties across the country, thousands of families are desperate for a 
secure place to call home.” 
 
“This new power will equip councils with the tools they need to encourage 
owners of long-term empty properties to bring them back into use – and at the 
same time tackle the harmful effect they have on communities through 
squatting, vandalism and anti-social behaviour.” 
 
Alternatives Considered 
 
The empty property premium could remain at 200%. However, Government 
has identified that additional measures are needed to continue the 
improvements already made and have amended the legislation.  
 
Of the 350 properties that are currently subject to the premium, 95 have been 
empty in excess of 5 years and a further 46 in excess of 10 years, so there are 
still problems locally that need to be addressed and the 100% and 200% 
premiums aren’t working in these cases.  
 
The 141 long-term empty properties that have been empty in excess of 5 
years and the other 209 that have been empty more than 2 years are causing 
problems in their communities and adding pressure on the overall housing 
stock. 

 
 

 

Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5. This change is expected to raise an additional £67,000 in council tax income 

in 2021/22. This amount reflects the fact that this measure should help to 
further reduce the overall number of long-term empty properties. 

 

Page 707



Risk and Policy Implications 

 
6. 
 
 
 
 
 
6.1 
 
 
 
 
 
6.2 

The proposals are permitted under the Rating (Property in Common 
Operation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Act 2018. The purpose of 
these wider powers is to encourage owners of long term empty properties to 
find ways of bringing them back into use. The powers are not specifically 
designed by government to increase revenue. 
 
The premium cannot apply to homes that are empty due to the occupant 
living in armed forces accommodation for job-related purposes, or to 
annexes being used as part of a main property. There are also specific 
statutory exemptions for properties left empty for a specific purpose, for 
example, when a person goes into care. 
 
There is a risk that some owners may refuse to pay the increased premium 
charge, but there are adequate legislative powers in place to enforce 
collection. These include Charging Orders, Empty Dwelling Management 
Orders, Enforced Sale Proceedings or Compulsory Purchase Orders. 
 

Consultation 

 
7. No consultation is required. However, the owners of these 46 properties are 

already known to officers and contact will be made with them to advise of the 
change and to promote some of things the Council can offer to assist them in 
bringing the property back into use. 

 

Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 

8. There are no background papers 
for this report 

 

 

For Further Information Contact: Carolyn Goddard, Tel: 01706 926051, 
Carolyn.Goddard@Rochdale.Gov.Uk 

 

Page 708



 

Report to Council 
 

 

Date of Meeting 16 December 2020 
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Corporate Delivery 
Report Author Carolyn Goddard  
Public/Private Document Public 

 

 

2021/22 Setting the Business Rate Base 
 

 

Executive Summary 

 
1. This report seeks approval from Council on 16 December 2020, for the setting 

of the Business Rates baseline for 2021/22 in accordance with the Local Government 

Finance Act 1988 and the Non-Domestic Rating Regulations 2013; and approval of  
the precept payment dates for 2021/22. 

 

Recommendation 

 
2. To approve: 

 
a) The draft Business Rate baseline figure of £63.251m for 2021/22, 

subject to any changes which may result from: 
 

 the provisional Local Government Finance Settlement 2021/22. 

 a change to the current pilot scheme for 100% retention of 
Business Rates 

 the issue of the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 
Government (MHCLG) guidance on completion of the 2021/22 
Business Rates baseline return (NNDR1), due in January 2021. 

 
b) The Chief Finance Officer, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 

Finance, to be authorised to conclude and agree the final Business 
Rates baseline return (NNDR1) due on 31 January 2021, should the 
final information yet to be received from MHCLG change the baseline 
figure for 2021/22. 
 

c) That the precepts payment schedule detailed in paragraph 4.2 be 
approved. 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 709

Agenda Item 13



Reason for Recommendation 

 
3.1 
 
 
 
 
 
3.2 

The Non-Domestic Rating (Rates Retention) Regulations 2013 (SI 2013/452) 
require billing authorities to notify the Secretary of State and their major 
precepting authority of their calculation of non-domestic rating income for the 
following financial year and the estimated surplus/deficit on the Collection 
Fund by 31st January each year. 
 
The figures are produced subject to the MHCLG guidance being published 
and provided, following which the figure in this report may have to be revisited. 
 

 

Key Points for Consideration 

 
4.1 
 
4.1.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.1.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.1.3 
 
 
 
 
4.1.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.1.5 
 
 
 

Setting the Business Rates Baseline 
 
From 1st April 2013 the Business Rates Retention Scheme (BRRS) was 
introduced as part of the move to localise and stimulate business 
growth at a local level. Under the original BRRS the Authority paid 50% 
of its Business Rates income to Central Government, 1% to Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) – Fire Services, and retained 
the remaining 49%. 
 
The Local Government Settlement 2017/18 included the introduction of 
the 100% retention of Business Rates for identified regional pilot 
authorities, including Greater Manchester. The Council is awaiting 
confirmation from the government that the GM pilot scheme will 
continue in 2021/22. Under the pilot scheme 100% of the Business 
Rates income is retained locally, in lieu of Revenue Support Grant and 
Public Health Grant. The precept arrangement under the pilot scheme 
is 99% to Rochdale BC and 1% to GMCA Mayoral General (including 
Fire Services).  

 
Central Government has assessed potential retained Business Rates 
income and provided a “top up” grant within the local government 
finance settlement to bridge the gap in funding as a result of the move 
to the BRRS. 

 
The BRRS is accounted for within the Collection Fund. This account 
reflects the statutory requirements for the Council to maintain a 
separate Collection Fund, in relation to the operation of the BRRS and 
Council Tax. The Fund records all the transactions for billing, payments 
by Council Tax/ Business Rates payers, reliefs granted, write offs and 
payments to the precepting authorities. At the end of each year the 
surplus/deficit on the Fund is allocated to the precepting authorities on 
the basis of their level of precept on the Collection Fund. 

 
In January of each year the Authority is required to set an estimated 
Business Rates income yield for the following year which is to be used 
to inform the precepting authorities of their precept on the Fund. If the 
current pilot scheme for 100% retention of Business Rates continues, 

Page 710



 
 
 
 
 
4.1.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.2 
 
4.2.1 
 
 
 
 
4.2.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3 
 
4.3.1 
 

the income yield will be allocated as follows:  
 
Rochdale BC – General Fund                                            99% 
GMCA Mayoral General (including Fire Services)               1% 

 
A Central Government standard form is used (known as the NNDR1) to 
ensure a common approach for the collection of the Business Rates 
income forecast. The return to be used for the completion of the 
2021/22 estimate has not yet been made available by MHCLG. The 
setting of the baseline for 2021/22 has been prepared on a draft basis 
until further clarification is received from MHCLG. 
 
Precept Payment Dates 2021/22 

 
The Business Rates retention regulations require that the local authority 
should agree a precept schedule with the precept authority, which in the 
case of Rochdale Council will be GMCA Mayoral General (including 
Fire Services). 

 
It is proposed that the same payments schedule be adopted as set out 
for the Council Tax precept, which is detailed below: 
 

20th April 2021 20th October 2021 

20th May 2021 22nd November 2021 

21st June 2021 20th December 2021 

20th July 2021 20th January 2022 

20th August 2021 21st February 2022 

20th September 2021 21st March 2022 

 
 
Alternatives Considered 
 
No alternative is available, as the Council has a statutory requirement to 
estimate and set a Business Rates Baseline each financial year. 

 

Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A final NNDR1 must be agreed by the Chief Financial Officer and returned to 
MHCLG by 31st January each year.  The final return must include: 

 
a) the anticipated gross income to be billed to businesses in 2021/22; 
b) estimates for any growth in Business Rates anticipated in 2021/22, net 

of any demolitions; 
c) forecast  for any increases in Business Rates relief including empty 

reliefs; 
d) changes in amounts to be collected should those premises that still 

have outstanding appeals from the rateable value revaluation changes 
in 2005, 2010, and 2017 be resolved; 

e) changes in amounts to be collected from premises that are subject to a 
reduction as a result of the appeals process or Valuation Office Agency 
(VOA) adjustments. 

 

Page 711



 
5.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.3 
 
 
 
 
5.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.5 
 
 
5.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
A final baseline position for 2021/22 cannot be included in this report, as the 
final guidance will be issued by MHCLG in mid-January 2021. Members are 
requested to approve that the Chief Finance Officer, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Finance, be authorised to conclude and agree the final 
Business Rates baseline return (NNDR1), due on 31 January 2021, should the 
final information yet to be received from MHCLG change the baseline figure 
for 2021/22. 
 
The Government will set out the 2021/22 provisional Business Rates 
multiplier; this will be confirmed after either the Local Government Finance 
Report for 2021/22 has been approved by the House of Commons or 1 March 
2021, whichever is earlier. 

 
Using the estimated Business Rates multipliers currently assumed in the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy, the Business Rates baseline for 2021/22 
would be £63.251m split between: 
 
 
 

 
 

 
The 2021/22 estimated Business Rates baseline takes into account the latest 
forecast for 2020/21, and estimated changes in the baseline for 2021/22. 
  
An estimate of the outturn for 2020/21 Business Rates income to be collected 
will be compared to the estimated baseline amount provided in the NNDR1 for 
2020/21. Differences between the estimate and the projected actual collected 
will be considered as part of setting the 2021/22 Estimates process.  
 
The Local Authorities (Collection Fund: Surplus and Deficit) (Coronavirus) 
(England) Regulations 2020 come into force on 1 December 2020. The 
regulations require the repayment of Collection Fund deficits arising in 
2020/21 to be spread over the next three years, 2021/22 to 2023/24, rather 
than the usual period of a year. Business Rates precept payments will be 
adjusted to reflect the requirements of the regulations. 

Rochdale Borough Council £62.619m 

GMCA Mayoral (including Fire 
Services)    

£0.632m 

Total £63.251m 

 

Risk and Policy Implications 

 
6.1 
 
 
 
 
6.2 
 
 
 
 

It is necessary for the Council to comply with the Non-Domestic Rating (Rates 
Retention) Regulations 2013 (SI 2013/452) to ensure that it does not act ultra 
vires in relation to its arrangements for the setting of the Business Rates Base 
for 2021/22.  
 
Subject to government confirmation, in 2021/22 the Council will continue to be 
part of the GM pilot to retain 100% of Business Rates. The 100% Business 
Rates pilot will mean that the Council will take 99% of the risk for the 
collection of all Business Rates rather than 49% under the previous system. 
Major changes to Business Rates, such as awards of mandatory reliefs for 

Page 712



 
 
6.3 
 
 
 
6.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.5 
 

schools converting to academies, will be borne mainly by the local authority.  
 
As part of the 100% pilot the Council will be responsible for 99% of the cost of 
changes to rateable values as a result of appeals, which introduces further 
volatility to the Business Rates income collected. 

 
There are still a number of rateable value appeals outstanding where 
businesses have appealed against the values set by the Valuation Office 
Agency in 2005 and 2010. These may have a significant impact for the 
business rates to be collected and retained by the local authority, including the 
costs of any backdated amounts. A provision is held to support the ongoing 
mitigation of this risk.   
 
Businesses now use the check, challenge and appeal process against 
rateable values that came into effect on 1 April 2017 which may have a 
financial impact on business rate income. A provision is held to offset the 
possible impact of successful appeals, and other rateable value reductions 
made by the Valuation Office Agency. 
 

Consultation 

 
7. This report is part of the budget setting process and consultation is 

undertaken with stakeholder groups, staff and service users as appropriate 
throughout the budget process. 

 

Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 

8. There are no background papers  

 

For Further Information Contact: Carolyn Goddard, Tel: 01706 926051, 
Carolyn.Goddard@Rochdale.Gov.uk 

 

Page 713


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	6 Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026
	Append. 1 for Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026
	Append. 2 for Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026

	7 2040 Transport Delivery Plan/District Local Implementation Plan
	Append. 1 for 2040 Transport Delivery Plan/District Local Implementation Plan
	Bolton GMTS 2040 Implementation Plan  - 15.10.20.pdf (p.1-17)
	Bury GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20.pdf (p.18-40)
	Manchester GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20.pdf (p.41-59)
	Oldham GMTS 2040 Implementation Plan  - 15.10.20.pdf (p.60-87)
	Rochdale GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20.pdf (p.88-108)
	Salford GMTS LIP 15.10.20.pdf (p.109-137)
	Stockport GMTS 2040 Implementation Plan - 15.10.20.pdf (p.138-162)
	Tameside GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20.pdf (p.163-182)
	Trafford GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20.pdf (p.183-205)
	Wigan GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20.pdf (p.206-228)

	Append. 2 for 2040 Transport Delivery Plan/District Local Implementation Plan
	Append. 3 for 2040 Transport Delivery Plan/District Local Implementation Plan

	8 Appointment of Director of Commissioning /Director of Adult Social Services ('DASS')
	9 Appointment of Independent Person
	10 Cabinet Portfolios and Responsibilities 2020/21
	Cabinet Portfolios 2020 final

	11 Calculation of 2021-22 Taxbase
	12 Council Tax Empty Property Charges
	13 2021/22 Setting the Business Rate Base



